

CALIFORNIA WORKERS' COMPENSATION SPORTS LAW CASES (January 2025 Edition)

Pearlman, Brown & Wax, L.L.P. (http://www.PBW-law.com)
Editor: Raymond F. Correio, Senior Associate,
Workers' Compensation Judge (retired) © 2025 All Rights Reserved

Table of Contents

			<u>Page</u>	
Introd	luction.		4	
1.	California WCAB Jurisdictional Issues			
	1.1	Overview of California Contract Formation	5	
	1.2	Contract Formation Cases and Impact on	. 7	
	1.3	Exemption/Exclusion from California Jurisdiction under Labor Code Section 3600.5 and Related Insurance Coverage Issues	64	
	1.4	Personal Versus Subject Matter Jurisdiction	134	
	1.5	Validity of Contractual Choice of	158	
	1.6	Jurisdictional Constitutional Due Process Issues	176	
2.	AB 1309 Operative Effect			
3.	Stays and Consolidations			
4.	Validity and Scope of Releases and Settlements			
5.	Venue			
6.	Statute of Limitations			
7.	Injury	Injury AOE/COE		
8.	Labor	Labor Code §§ 5412 and 5500.5		
9.	Contribution			
10.	Permanent Disability			
11.	Apportionment323			
12.	Medical-Legal (Admissibility and Costs)			

Table of Contents (Continued)

13.	Bifurcated Trials for Dispositive Issues	334
14.	Dismissals, Joinder & Rejoinder	335
15.	Employment Issues.	342
16.	Reimbursement Issues	344
17.	Legislative Developments.	346
	Table of Cases.	347

NOTICE TO READERS

This case law summary is not intended or designed to provide legal advice. Distribution and use of this material is for educational purposes and use only and is not intended as consideration for future business. This entire document is the property of Pearlman, Brown & Wax and may not be further distributed without express written permission.

INTRODUCTION

Prior to 2013, the number of Applications filed for California workers' compensation benefits by professional athletes has increased exponentially. Predictably with the dramatic increase in the number of cases filed, litigation increased as manifested in Status Conferences, Mandatory Settlement Conferences, Trials and Appeals both to the WCAB and the Appellate Courts. The enactment of AB1309 in 2013 and the related intricate and complex exemption provisions of Labor Code section 3600.5 also added another dimension to litigating workers' compensation sports cases.

As a direct consequence there has been an expanding body of sports related case law in the form of WCAB Panel Decisions, writ denied cases and appellate decisions focused on this narrow but complicated area of workers' compensation practice. With the large number of decisions being issued, it is difficult even for the most seasoned and talented members of the bench and bar to track and organize cases in a manner that will not only facilitate analysis but will help to illustrate and illuminate rapidly developing themes, trends, and potential problem areas.

This outline is designed to compile and analyze recent California workers' compensation sports law and related cases to provide a resource that will hopefully benefit everyone in the workers' compensation community who engages in or has an interest in California sports related litigation.

This case law outline is a work in progress. The author invites anyone to submit cases for possible inclusion in the outline that may impact on California workers' compensation sports litigation. Cases can be sent to editor at rfc@4pbw.com.

1. California WCAB Jurisdictional Issues

1.1 Overview of California Contract Formation Principles and Issues

Contract formation issues and their relationship to subject matter jurisdiction generally focus on Labor Code sections 5305 and 3600.5. Labor Code 5305 may provide the basis for California subject matter jurisdiction "where...the contract of hire was made in this state." Labor Code section 3600.5(a) also establishes California subject matter jurisdiction in situations where an employee/applicant was hired in California even if the injury or injuries occurs outside of the State of California.

If one approaches contract formation issues in workers' compensation and the establishment of California WCAB subject matter jurisdiction and attempts to analyze the facts under strict common law principles of contract formation, one will not only become extremely frustrated but the analysis and conclusions will be directly at odds and inapposite with long standing California case law holding that traditional common law contract formation principles do not apply in determining the scope and applicability of the California Workers' Compensation Act as a whole. This being said, even under what will be described as flexible non-traditional common law contract formation principles, there will still be a determination as to precisely when a contract for hire is formed. One merely has to develop a mindset that strict common law contract formation principles related to issues such as conditions subsequent or precedent and other traditional contract formation concepts do not control or strictly apply in workers' compensation employment contract formation scenarios.

As stated by the court in *Laeng v. WCAB* (1972) 6 Cal. 3d 771, 37 Cal. Comp. Cases 185 the WCAB "is not confined...to finding whether or not the [defendant] and [applicant] had entered into a traditional contract of hire. The *Laeng* court also indicated that "Given the broad statutory contours of the definition of employee,...an 'employment' relationship sufficient to bring the California Workers' Compensation Act into play cannot be determined simply from technical contractual or common law conceptions of employment but must instead be resolved by reference to the history and fundamental purposes underlying the Act."

However, it is important to note the Court of Appeal's decision in the recent case of *Tripplett v. WCAB* (2018) 25 Cal. App. 5th 556, 83 Cal. Comp. Cases 1175, review denied 10/24/18) In *Tripplett*, applicant also argued that two California Supreme Court cases, *Laeng v. Workmen's Comp. Appeals Bd.* (1972) 6 Cal.3d 771 as well as *Arriaga v. County of Alameda* (1995) 9 Cal.4th 1055, supported his contention that he was "hired" when his agent completed negotiation of the terms of his applicant's employment contract on the telephone from California.

In *Tripplett*, the Court of Appeal also distinguished both *Laeng* and *Arriaga* by indicating that neither of the cases "addressed the purposes or policies underlying section 3600.5(a) or 5305, explained how courts should construe the meaning of the word "hired" as used in those statutes." The Court of Appeal indicated that both of these cases were focused on a much broader issue which was establishing the scope of an "employment" relationship under workers' compensation law in assessing whether an injured worker could be potentially eligible for compensation even

though the worker had not entered into any contract with the employer for which he was performing services. The Court of Appeal in *Tripplett* further stated that:

While *Laeng* and *Arriaga* explain in some detail why the specific definition of "employee" contained within the workers' compensation law, combined with the policies underlying that law, support a broader interpretation of the "employment" relationship than exists in the general common law, their rationale does not automatically support a similar departure from contract law in determining whether an employee was "hired" in California or was hired elsewhere. See, *Tomb v. Balboa City Schools; Oak River Ins. Co., C/O Berkshire Hathaway* 2022 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS_____(WCAB panel decision 7/8/22) (WCAB remanded case for further development of the record on the issue of subject matter jurisdiction and employment status and possible dual employment in case where teacher injured in China but hired by a company from California while applicant was in Florida when he accepted the contract).

Bowen v. WCAB (1999) 73 Cal. App. 4th 15, 64 Cal. Comp. Cases 745 involved a California resident who was a professional baseball player. It was undisputed applicant signed his baseball contract while he was in California. However, the specific terms required the contract to be approved and signed by the Commissioner of Baseball in New York and also signed by the employer baseball team who were both outside California. In finding the contract was formed when the applicant signed it in California, the court characterized the signatures of the employer team and even the Commissioner of Baseball as conditions subsequent and the contract was formed when applicant signed the contract in California. The fact Bowen signed his contract in California was sufficient standing alone to establish subject matter jurisdiction even though he suffered his injuries or injury outside California. Again, it is important in analyzing these contract formation cases to engage in some "analytical gymnastics" in re-characterizing what would normally be a condition precedent, as an unnecessary condition subsequent to actual contract formation.

The fact there are contingencies, even ones characterized as important or critical contingencies, such as pre-employment physicals, drug testing, questionnaires, physical agility testing such as a tryout or workout, and the actual signing of a contract outside the State of California may, depending on the facts, be found to be conditions subsequent and the contract will be deemed to have been formed when the applicant/employee signed the contract in California before all of the above significant events or conditions. Numerous cases have also found acceptance of the contract in California even if it was a verbal contact formed over the telephone.

In the *Reynolds* case, the Court of Appeal indicated the contract for hire was made in California when the applicant accepted the employment offer in California even though he was required after his acceptance, to perform certain significant activities outside of California in Nevada. After accepting his contract in California, applicant was required to go to Nevada and fill out a lengthy questionnaire, obtain a security clearance and the employer retained the exclusive power to reject the applicant when he actually reported to work in Nevada. (*Reynolds Electrical & Engineering Co. v. WCAB (Egan)* (1966) 65 Cal. 2d 429, 31 Cal. Comp. Cases 415) A similar result is exemplified in the *Janzen* case. In *Janzen*, the contract for hire was deemed formed in California based on a telephone conversation between a Wyoming employer and the applicant even though it was expressly discussed that employment was contingent upon the applicant performing a crop-

dusting test run satisfactorily. Applicant traveled to Wyoming and passed the test but unfortunately died a few days later in a crash. California subject matter jurisdiction applied with respect to the death claim. (*Janzen v. WCAB* (1997) 61 Cal. App. 4th 109, 63 Cal. Comp. Cases 9)

All of the above referenced cases and many more stand for the proposition that non-common law "flexible" principles of contract formation will in many instances serve to establish California workers' compensation subject matter jurisdiction even in situations where the employer or carrier attempts to characterize actions and conditions to be consummated out of the State of California as conditions precedent. The "flexible" contract formation principles will essentially relegate any attempt to characterize these as condition precedents as futile.

Under California's "flexible" contract formation principles, every case is fact specific and often dependent on circumstantial evidence. However, the common linking theme appears in many situations to be the applicant was a California resident or a long-term California resident at the time the contract was formed. There are also scenarios and situations where the synergistic effect of the applicant(s) being California residents and regular employment activities performed in California will result in California WCAB subject matter jurisdiction even if there is overwhelming evidence that it may appear the contract(s) were otherwise formed outside of California.

However, the recent decision by the Court of Appeal in *Tripplett v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd.*, *Indianapolis Colts et al.*, (2018) 25 Cal.App. 5th 556, 83 Cal. Comp. Cases 1175, 2018 Cal. App. LEXIS 652 (review denied 10/24/18) and subsequent cases interpreting and applying *Tripplett* to contract formation disputes, has limited and circumscribed the applicability of the pre-*Tripplett* "flexible" contract formation cases such as *Laeng* and *Arriaga* with a stricter contract formation assessment standard.

1.2 Contract Formation Cases and Impact on California Jurisdiction

<u>Serwanga v. New York Giants; Indianapolis Colts; Travelers Indemnity Ins., Co.,</u> 2023 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 365 (WCAB panel decision)

Issues: WCAB rescinded the WCJ's Amended Finding and Award issued on October 1, 2019 and returned the matter to the trial level for further proceedings. The pertinent issues in the case are:

- 1. Whether the record should be developed related to the medical reporting of the AME in internal medicine with respect to deferred body parts/systems of hypertension, chronic renal insufficiency, and headaches.
- 2. Whether there is California subject matter jurisdiction over applicants cumulative trauma claim based on a contract for hire made allegedly made in California by way of applicant's "agent" accepting a contract offer on applicant's behalf.
- 3. Whether the WCJ's disability ratings and apportionment analysis are correct.

Factual & Procedural Overview: Applicant filed a cumulative trauma claim for a variety of body parts, conditions, and systems while employed as a professional football player by the New York Giants from September 5, 2003, through February 28, 2004, and the Indianapolis Colts from

August 31, 2004, to September 5, 2004. Both teams were insured by Travelers Insurance. Travelers disputed California jurisdiction and denied injury AOE/COE.

The parties selected AME's in orthopedics and internal medicine. There was also additional medica-legal reporting from "regular physicians" in neurology, psychiatry, and neuropsychology.

Trial proceedings were concluded and the case submitted for decision. However, the WCJ vacated the submission and ordered further development of the record on January 27, 2011 in the form of additional reporting from multiple specialties. The matter was not resubmitted for decision until June 27, 2019!

During trial, applicant testified that he was a permanent resident of California throughout his NFL career. He was also represented by an agent throughout his NFL career whose offices were located in Los Angeles, California. Applicant initially played for the New England Patriots and then the Washington Redskins. Before the end of the 2002 NFL season, applicant's agent negotiated a contract for him with the New York Giants. Applicant played for the Giants for two seasons under two separate one year contracts both negotiated by his agent. Applicant testified he was in California when he learned of the terms of one of the Giant contracts and "advised his agent to accept the contract on his behalf, which his agent did." Applicant played in 13 games for the Giants in 2003.

However, in December of 2003 while playing for the Giants he suffered several significant injuries. Applicant was waived by the Giants following treatment for his injuries. In 2004, applicant was physically in California when his longtime agent presented him with terms of a proposed contract with the Indianapolis Colts. Applicant testified that he "gave his agent authority to accept the proposal, which his agent did." He also testified he only called his agent at his agent's business phone. After accepting the offer from the Colts, he flew to Indianapolis had a physical examination and signed a "packet of documents."

The WCJ's Decision: The WCJ in her October 1, 2019 Amended Findings and Award found that there was California subject matter jurisdiction over applicant's claim. She also found injury AOE/COE to a multiplicity of body parts, systems, and conditions but not to applicant's brain or psyche. The WCJ also entered findings of permanent disability and need for future medical treatment but deferred issues of PD with respect to hypertension, chronic renal insufficiency and headaches for development of the record.

With respect to California Jurisdiction over applicant's claim, the WCJ determined jurisdiction was established primarily on the fact that applicant was a California resident at the time his contracts for hire were negotiated along with his trial testimony related to his oral contracts with various teams formed in California. The WCJ also found that all of applicant's PD and need for medical treatment arose solely out of his employment with the Giants and not the Colts.

Petitions for Reconsideration by Applicant and Defendant: Applicant filed for Reconsideration arguing that the medical reporting from the AME in internal medicine was sufficient to decide PD related to the deferred body parts/systems and there was no need for the WCJ to develop the record. Applicant also proposed that the Board should give leave to the parties to submit an interrogatory to the internal medicine AME in lieu of fully developing the record.

Defendant in their Petition for Reconsideration raised two issues. The first was that there was no California jurisdiction over applicant's claim because the evidence failed to establish that applicant's contract for hire was made in California. Second, defendant contested the WCJ's PD ratings and apportionment analysis.

With respect to the applicant's contract for hire, defendant's primary argument was that the evidentiary record fails to establish where applicant's agent was physically located when he "accepted" the contract or contracts for hire on behalf of the applicant. Defendant failed to raise the issue of whether applicant's agent had the legal authority to accept a contract on applicant's behalf even if applicant purportedly gave him such authority.

The WCAB's Decision: The WCAB initially discussed the basic statutory framework and applicable case law related to employment contracts of hire formed on California including oral contracts of hire. The Board pointed out the WCJ's analysis related to applicant being a California resident at the time one or more of his employment contracts were being negotiated as a factor as to why she found California jurisdiction over applicant's claim. In that regard the WCAB noted the residency requirements of LC 5305 are in direct conflict with the privileges and immunities clause of the United States Constitution as determined by the California Supreme Court in 1920. (citation omitted).

Accordingly, the residency requirement of section 5305 "has been nullified by the decision in *Quong Ham Wah Co. v. Industrial Acc. Com.* [citations], which held that the federal Constitution extended the benefits of the act to nonresidents also. (*Alaska Packers Asso. v. Industrial Acci. Com.* (1934) 1 Cal.2d 250, 255 [1934 Cal. LEXIS 358].) Thus, the applicant's residency at the time of his contract negotiations is not dispositive of the issue of California jurisdiction. (emphasis added).

Whether California Jurisdiction is Established by the Existence of an Oral Contract for Hire Made in California: Applicant acknowledged that he signed all of his various written NFL contracts outside of California. As a consequence, the focal issue in this case is whether before he signed his written contracts outside of California, applicant "formed an enforceable oral contract with the Giants." Applicant on appeal argued he was physically present in California when he authorized his agent, who was also physically present in California, to accept the offered contracts of hire.

The Board noted that defendant acknowledges that applicable California case law supports that the "oral acceptance of a contract [leads] to a finding that an injured workers was hired in California." (citations omitted). However, defendant argued that "the record in this matter does not support the formation of an oral contract of hire, because the evidence does not establish the physical location of applicant's agent at the time he accepted the contract with the Giants on behalf of the applicant."

The WCAB acknowledged that applicable case law holds that "an acceptance of an offer of employment in California by the injured worker or his agent supports a finding of hire in California under sections 3600.5 and 5305. (citations omitted). However, in the instant case even if applicant instructed his agent to accept the terms of the offer on his behalf, and the agent thereafter conveyed applicant's acceptance to the NFL team making the offer it may not have created an oral contract of hire. The crucial element that is missing is that "the record does not establish that the agent was in California at the time he communicated applicant's acceptance of the offer of employment."

(citations omitted). The Board also pointed out that "none of the actual written contracts have been offered in evidence by the parties." In terms of the record neither the WCJ or the Board commented on the fact that it does not appear any of the contracts between applicant and his agent were offered in evidence either.

Development of the Record: Based on the deficiencies in the record the WCAB in addition to rescinding the WCJ's Award in its entirety remanded the case for further development of the record on the contract formation issue as well as multiple other issues including permanent disability and apportionment.

Editor's Comments: What appears to have been completely overlooked as an issue in this case is the potentially dispositive issue of whether applicant's agent had the legal capacity and authority to bind the applicant to an oral contract even if applicant allegedly gave him the authority to do so. The issue is based on the fact that applicant is an NFL player and more importantly his agent pursuant to the Collective Bargaining Agreement falls under the auspices of the of the NFL Players Association Regulations governing "contract advisors" aka "agents". All agents representing NFL players and potential players must be certified by the NFL Players Association to legally function in that capacity

Pursuant to the express provisions of the NFLPA regulations governing NFL certified contract advisors/agents and as expressly reflected in the mandatory Standard Representation Agreement between the contract advisor and the player, contract advisors/agents are expressly prohibited from and have no authority to bind a player to any contract without the actual execution by the player.

In order to challenge and defeat any assertion that an NFL certified contract advisor has the authority to accept a proposed oral contract of hire critical and essential documentation must be obtained and introduced into evidence including but not limited to the applicable NFL Collective Bargaining Agreement, the NFLPA Regulations Governing Contract Advisors, and the NFLPA required Standard Representation Agreement entered into by the player and the contract advisor/agent.

There is a body of case law relevant to the issue of whether an NFLPA certified contract advisor/agent has the authority accept and to bind a player to an oral contract of employment. See *Tripplett v. W.C.A.B.*, (2018) 25 Cal.App. 5th 556, 235 Cal. Rptr. 3d 879, 83 Cal. Comp. Cases 1175, where the fact that the applicant retained a right to reject his player's contract negotiated by his California agent negated the verbal contract negotiations conducted by the applicant's agent in California and there was no binding oral contract formed in California.

In *Tripplett*, the WCAB agreed with the WCJ's conclusion that the agency contract between the applicant and his agent categorically stated that the agent had no authority to bind applicant to any agreement. "The explicit language of the Standard Player-Agent contract coupled with an inconsistent record regarding whether applicant's agent had the authority to bind him to a contract provides a reasonable basis for the determination of the WCJ that Mr. King could not bind applicant to a contract for hired in California." Pursuant to the terms of the Player-Agent contract, the only way applicant's agent could bind applicant to an offer of employment was with applicant's written consent. There was no evidence presented that any written consent was given by the applicant to his agent prior to the execution of the contracts with the defendants.

See also, Brown v. Arizona Cardinals, Saint Louis Rams, Carolina Panthers, Detroit Lions et al., 2019 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 460; Telemaco v. Philadelphia Phillies, Arizona Diamond Backs et al., 2018 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 541 (WCAB panel decision); Christman v. Seattle Mariners, Ace American Insurance Co., et al., 2019 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 363 (WCAB panel decision); Konan (Matthew) v. WCAB., (2022) 88 Cal.Comp.Cases 47; 2022 Cal.Wrk.Comp. LEXIS 64 (Writ denied)

See also *Kropog v New York Giants et al.*, 2020 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 112 (WCAB panel decision) (The WCJ and WCAB found no contract of hire formed in California even though applicant was represented by a California based sports agent/advisor. Applicant signed all of his employment contracts outside of California and based on the testimony of applicant, his agent as well as the standard representation agreement between the applicant and his California agent/advisor, the agent did not have the authority to bind the applicant to any of the employment contracts applicant signed while outside of California even though his agent signed the contracts in California.

For a non-sports case applying *Tripplett*, see *Moradi v. Northwest Colorado Transport*, *LLC* 2018 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 576 (WCAB panel decision). In this writ denied case the Court of Appeal affirmed the WCAB's split panel decision finding that applicant's agent did not have the authority to bind the applicant to an employment contract, and that the contracts with the defendants were formed outside of California where they were accepted and executed by the applicant.

In *Moore v. Browns*, 2023 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 74 the WCJ found that applicant's NFL contract was not formed in California when it was unclear whether applicant was actually in California when he spoke with his California agent and purportedly accepted an offer of employment from the Browns. An ancillary issue was whether applicant's agent under the applicable NFLPA regulations governing contract advisors permitted an agent to accept an offer of employment on a player's behalf so as to bind the player to a contract of hire.

Applicant's counsel in *Moore* was successful on reconsideration and the WCAB reversed the WCJ and found that a contract of hire was formed in California. Defendant(s) as newly aggrieved, filed their own Petition for Reconsideration and were able to persuade the WCAB that the admissible evidence and the trial record did not fully address the factual basis for whether a contract for hire was formed in California specifically as it related to where the applicant's exact physical location was at the time he purportedly accepted the Browns offer of employment. The WCAB agreed and remanded the case back to the trial level deferring the issue of whether a contract of hire was formed in California sufficient to establish subject matter jurisdiction over applicant's claim pending further development of the record on that issue.

Rohrbach v. Colorado Rockies; Ace American Insurance Company Southern 2022 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P. D. LEXIS 102 (WCAB panel decision)

Issues and Holding: Whether there is California WCAB subject matter jurisdiction based on an oral contract for hire even if important contract terms were not negotiated and agreed upon but that the essential terms of a contract have been agreed upon orally by the parties and whether such an

oral agreement can be invalidated by an integration clause in a subsequent written contract signed outside of California by the parties. In reversing the WCJ who found no subject matter jurisdiction, the WCAB rescinded the WCJ's Findings of Fact and held that based on the facts in this case, the parties formed a valid oral contract for hire over the telephone while applicant was in California.

The WCAB also found that the integration clause in a subsequent written contract signed by the parties in Colorado did not operate to preclude California subject matter jurisdiction because such jurisdiction was conferred when the parties entered into a contract for hire within California. In finding the integration clause in the written contract did not supersede or invalidate the prior valid oral contract the Board indicated a contrary conclusion by the Court of Appeal in *Tripplett v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd.* (2018) 25 Cal.App.5th 556 [83 Cal.Comp.Cases 1175], was "based on "mere" dicta and therefore not binding.

Factual and Procedural Overview: Applicant was employed as a professional athlete from June 6, 2014 to March 4, 2016 by the Colorado Rockies (Rockies) baseball team. He was born and raised in California and also paid taxes in California and had a California driver's license. At trial he testified that on June 8, 2014, a representative of the Rockies called him on the telephone while he was at his father's home in Valencia, California. The Rockies' representative said he was calling to see if applicant would be available to be drafted by the team in the 9th round of the Major League Baseball draft. The representative from the Rockies and applicant discussed a signing bonus, a college scholarship fund as well as travel arrangements to Denver. Applicant testified that he accepted the offer over the telephone which led the applicant to believe that he was a member of the Rockies organization. He also testified that the Rockies representative stated, "we have a deal" and that arrangements would be made for applicant to travel to Colorado to sign a contract over the next few days. Applicant's testimony was unrebutted.

Applicant never saw a written employment contract until he arrived in Denver, Colorado. It was at that time he first learned what he would actually be paid and the term of the contract was for six years. He testified that on June 12, 2014, he signed the written contract without reading it. The WCJ in his Opinion on Decision, indicated the written contract signed by applicant contained terms addressing "rate of compensation; scope, timing, and location of work to be provided; mandatory activities; prohibited activities; how bonuses were to be paid or taken away; and how and where workers compensation issues were to be addressed." The WCJ noted that none of these terms were discussed or negotiated by the applicant and the agent for the Rockies during the phone call on June 8, 2014. There was also an integration clause in the contract signed by applicant.

The WCJ's Decision: The WCJ found a lack of subject matter jurisdiction on the basis that none of the terms expressly addressed in the written contract signed by the parties in Colorado were not discussed or negotiated by applicant and the agent for the Rockies over the telephone on June 8, 2014. This led the WCJ to conclude that the essential terms of the contract including performance, location and compensation were presented to and approved by applicant for the first time in Colorado. The WCJ also indicated that even if applicant's acceptance of the signing bonus over the phone while in California was considered to have formed an oral contract, that the integration clause in the written contract operated to supersede any oral contract and there was also an addendum that all workers' compensation issued "shall be subject to the laws of the State of

Colorado exclusively." As a consequence the WCJ ruled that the WCAB did not have subject matter jurisdiction over the claim.

Applicant's Petition for Reconsideration: In his Petition for Reconsideration, applicant made the following contentions:

- 1. That the Court of Appeal's decision in *Tripplett* was wrongly decided and not supported by prior precedent;
- 2. That common law contract analysis has no bearing on California Workers' Compensation and the strong policy of the Legislature is to provide benefits to applicant's hired in California; and
- 3. That interpreting the integration clause in applicant's written contract to supersede a prior oral employment contract "is tantamount to usurpation of California jurisdictional authority, and is expressly barred under Labor Code section 5000."

The WCAB's Decision on Reconsideration: It is important to note that the Findings and Award in this case issued on August 21, 2018. It took the WCAB more than three years to issue their decision and shortly after the California Applicant's Attorney's Association filed a writ alleging that the WCAB's practice of granting reconsideration for further study and then not issuing a timely decision amounted to a denial of due process. This is one of many delayed decisions issued by the WCAB after CAAA filed their writ.

The WCAB Panel's Analysis of Applicable Constitutional, Statutory, and Case Law Authority: The Board began their analysis by providing an overview of the California workers' compensation system being a creature of the California Constitution which confers on the Legislature the plenary power to provide for a complete system of workers' compensation as codified in Labor Code section 3200 et seq. In terms of subject matter jurisdiction, the WCAB has subject matter jurisdiction over claims of industrial injury when the injury occurs in California; when a worker employed in another state is injured while working in California and also over claims of cumulative industrial injuries when a portion of the injurious exposure causing the cumulative trauma injury occurred in California (citations omitted).

Also a hiring in California pursuant to sections 3600.5 and 5305 embodies a public policy that provides California with a strong interest and sufficient connection to exercise subject matter jurisdiction over such a claim. "The formation of a contract for hire standing alone, is sufficient to confer California jurisdiction over an industrial injury that occurs outside the state."

"[T]he creation of the [employer-employee] status under the laws of this state is a sufficient jurisdictional basis for the regulation of that relationship within this state and the creation of incidents thereto which will be recognized within this state, even though the relation was entered into for purposes connected solely with the rendition of services in another state." (*Palma, supra*, 1 Cal.2d 250; *Benguet Consol. Mining Co. v. Industrial Acci. Com.* (1939) 36 Cal.App.2d 158, 159 [1939 Cal. App. LEXIS 28]; *McKinley, supra,* 78 Cal.Comp.Cases 23; *Jackson v. Cleveland Browns* (December 26, 2014, ADJ6696775) [2014 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 682].)

Formation of a Valid Oral Contract of Employment in California is Sufficient to Confer Subject Matter Jurisdiction Under Labor Code section 5305: "[A]n oral contract consummated over the telephone is deemed made where the offeree utters the words of acceptance." (Janzen v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd. (1997) 61 Cal.App.4th 109, 114 [71 Cal.Rptr.2d 260], citing Coakley, supra, 68 Cal.2d 7, 14.) Pursuant to Civil Code section 1583, "[c]onsent is deemed to be fully communicated between the parties as soon as the party accepting a proposal has put his acceptance in the course of transmission to the proposer, in conformity to the last section. (Cal. Civ. Code, § 1583.).

A valid oral contract for hire for purposes of California jurisdiction can be formed even though not every term has been negotiated, "so long as the essential terms of engagement have been agreed upon." [Globe Cotton Oil Mills v. Industrial Acc. Com. (1923) 64 Cal.App. 307, 309-310 [1923 Cal. App. LEXIS 130] (valid contract of hire formed in Calexico, California to perform work outside of California even when the parties to the agreement did not reach an agreement on applicant' wages until after applicant had already been working several days). The court in Globe found a valid contract of hire reached a meeting of the minds regarding employment, despite issues related to the rate of pay having not yet been negotiated.

The California Supreme Court in *Reynolds Electrical & Engineering Co v. Workers' Comp.* Appeals Bd. (Egan) (1966) 65 Cal.2d 429 [31 Cal.Comp.Cases 415] (Egan), held that a valid oral contract for hire was formed in California even when there were several out of state contingencies in Nevada that had to be satisfied and complied with at a date subsequent to the oral agreement made in California. These conditions subsequent included the completion of a lengthy questionnaire in Nevada, applicant obtaining a security clearance once in Nevada before he could commence work, and where the employer could reject applicant when he appeared at job site in Nevada.

In another case involving an oral contract for hire, the Supreme Court in *Travelers Ins. Co. v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd. (Coakley)* (1967) 68 Cal.2d 7, 12-13 [32 Cal. Comp. Cases 527] (*Coakley*) found a valid contract for hire formed in California established subject matter jurisdiction where the applicant was to work in Wyoming even though the employer required the completion of additional documents and conditions. The oral California agreement included the essential terms of the contract including: the parties, time and place of employment, salary, and the general category of employment.

What was not agreed upon during the telephone call and was required to be done later in Wyoming was "the completion of additional documents and conditions, including, inter alia, documents specifying applicant's work, addressing patent rights, requiring four weeks' notice of termination, completion of a W-2 form and completion of both a medical examination and a driver's test. Moreover, applicant's job title was changed following the initial agreement from Geological Aid/Technician to Assistant Engineer - Mud Logging."

In *Coakley*, the court held that since the oral California agreement included the essential terms of of the contract that the terms that remained to be agreed upon and to be fulfilled did not invalidate the original oral contract of hire. "[A]n alteration of details of the contract which leaves

undisturbed its general purpose constitutes a modification rather than a rescission of the contract. (citations omitted).

Bowen v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd. (1993) 73 Cal.App.4th 15 [64 Cal. Comp. Cases 745] involved a written contract sent by the employer to the applicant in California. In Bowen, the court of appeal determined that a written contract for hire between a player and a major league baseball team signed by the player in California was formed in California, conferring California jurisdiction, notwithstanding the need for the contract to be ratified by the baseball Commissioner. Citing the St. Clair workers' compensation treatise, the court of appeal observed:

T]he fact that there are formalities which must be subsequently attended to with respect to such extraterritorial employment does not abrogate the contract of hire or California jurisdiction. Such things as filling out formal papers regarding the specific terms of the employment or obtaining a security clearance from the federal government are deemed 'conditions subsequent' to the contract, not preventing it from initially coming into existence. [Citations.]" (*Bowen, supra,* at 22.)

The WCAB in Overruling the WCJ Found That Based on the Record in this Case, the Applicant while Physically Located in California and the Agent for the Colorado Rockies Reached an Agreement as to the Essential Terms relevant to a Valid Oral Employment Agreement During their Telephone Discussion on June 8, 2014: The WCAB based on a review of applicant's unrebutted testimony at trial determined that applicant and the agent for the Rockies "discussed" whether applicant was available to be drafted in the 9th round of the Major League Baseball draft. They also "discussed the terms of an employment agreement, including a signing bonus, the amount of a college scholarship fund, and travel arrangements to Denver."

No specifics were discussed during the telephone call related to the actual salary applicant would be paid nor the length or term of the contract. Applicant testified he assumed during the telephone conversation he would be paid the "minor league rate." The actual amount of any signing bonus was not discussed. Based on this discussion, applicant testified he accepted the "offer" and regarded himself as a member of the Rockies. The representative from the Rockies was quoted by applicant to have said "we have a deal," and that the Rockies would arrange for applicant to travel to Colorado to sign the contract. "At trial, the Colorado Rockies did not call any witnesses to specify any additional terms discussed beyond those described by applicant's testimony."

Applicant went to Denver Colorado and was presented with a written employment contract for the first time. It was at that time that applicant "learned" his salary would be the minor league rate which he had only assumed previously. He also learned for the first time that the contract granted the Rockies employment rights for six years. The "Minor League Uniform Player Contract" presented to the applicant also had a variety of other standard terms. The Board noted that Addendum B the *only* section of the contract that reflected negotiated terms contained the actual signing bonus and tuition allowance discussed during their telephone call. Applicant testified at trial "that after he arrived in Denver, there were no additional terms negotiated, and he signed the contract without reading it." The employment contract the applicant signed without reading it also contained an express "integration clause," that confirms the written contract to be the only valid, recognized agreement, obviating any other understandings or agreements made before or after.

Based on these facts and applicant's unrebutted testimony, the WCAB concluded "that a valid oral contract was formed in California, because it was "the last act done by either of the parties essential to a meeting of the minds." (citing, *Globe Cotton Oil Mills v. Industrial Acc. Com., supra*, at 309, 310.)

The WCAB Found the Instant Case factually distinguishable from the Court Of Appeal's Decision in *Tripplett v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd.* (2018) 25 Cal.App.5th 556 [83 Cal.Comp.Cases 1175]: The WCAB described the issue or question in *Tripplett* as "whether applicant met the burden of proof of establishing a contract of hire made in California." In *Tripplett* the jurisdictional question was decided adversely to to applicant because he *did not meet his burden of proof.*" (original emphasis). There were significant "factual discrepancies in the record that did not support a finding that either applicant or his agent were present in California at the making of the contract for hire."

Also in *Tripplett* the applicant retained his ability to reject any contract his agent negotiated and therefore the agent could not bind the player. Thus, applicant retained the ability to reject any contract that his agent negotiated in California.

However, in the instant case the "uncontested facts" in the record demonstrate that the Colorado Rockies negotiated the essential terms of the contract directly with applicant, forming a contract for hire, and conferring California jurisdiction over the claimed injuries." (citations omitted).

Additionally, applicant testified without rebuttal to his subjective belief that he had reached an employment agreement with the Colorado Rockies at the conclusion of the telephone call on June 8, 2014, and that the agent for the Rockies stated, "We have a deal." (May 16, 2018 Minutes, at 3:25; 4:3.) The evidence thus demonstrates both an objective agreement to the essential terms of an employment agreement as well as the parties' contemporaneous subjective beliefs that a contract for hire had been agreed upon.

The WCAB Reversed the WCJ's Determination that the Integration Clause in the Written Contract Signed by Applicant in Colorado Superseded and Invalidated any Prior Oral Contract for Hire Formed in California: The Board did not dispute the fact that a section of applicant's written contract signed in Colorado contained an "integration clause" that confirms the written contract to be the only valid recognized agreement invalidating any other understandings or agreements made before or after. However, the Board indicated that the WCJ relied on the Court of Appeals "conclusion" in *Tripplett* in determining "that the integration clause invalidates any prior agreements, including an oral contract for hire."

The WCAB characterized the WCJ's reliance on the conclusion in *Tripplett* that an integration clause operates to invalidate any prior agreements, including oral contracts for hire as "misplaced."

Why Did the WCAB find the Court of Appeal's Conclusion in *Tripplett* that the Integration Clause in a Written Contract Such as the one Signed by Applicant in Colorado did not Void and Invalidate Applicant's Oral Contract for Hire made in California?

The simple answer is that the WCAB panel determined that the conclusion reached by the Court of Appeal in *Tripplett* and relied upon by the WCJ "is obiter dictum, and therefore not binding." The WCAB acknowledged that while dictum may not be biding, it may constitute persuasive authority in certain situations. However, dictum is not persuasive authority "for propositions they did not consider or address." (citing *Gomez v. Superior Court* (2005) 35 Cal. 4th 1125, 1153 [29 Cal. Rptr. 3d 352]; *People v. Alvarez* (2002) 27 Cal.4th 1161, 1176 [46 P.3d 372, 119 Cal. Rptr. 2d 903]; *Chevron U.S.A., Inc. v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd. (Steele)* (1999) 19 Cal.4th 1182, 1195 [969 P.2d 613, 81 Cal. Rptr. 2d 521] [64 Cal.Comp.Cases 1].)

In support of their decision that the Court of Appeal's conclusion in *Tripplett* that an integration clause can operate to invalidate a prior oral contract for hire was mere dicta, the Board stated that:

The issue of whether an integration clause can invalidate a prior oral agreement for contract for hire in California was neither raised nor discussed at the trial level in *Tripplett*, nor was it raised or discussed in subsequent WCAB proceedings. (See *Tripplett v. Indianapolis Colts* (March 1, 2017, ADJ6943108) [2017 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 123] (WCAB panel decision).)

The only caveat and cautionary note expressed by the WCAB with respect to what they described as dicta in *Tripplett* and whether it should be regarded as persuasive authority was as follows:

Of course, the question of whether the dictum expressed in *Tripplett* should be followed warrants careful consideration in each case, and we note the California Supreme Court's subsequent denial of petition for review in *Tripplett*. (*Tripplett v. Workers' Compensation Appeals Bd.*, 2018 Cal. LEXIS 8421.) "To say that dicta are not controlling...does not mean that they are to be ignored, on the contrary, dicta are often followed. A statement which does not possess the force of a square holding may nevertheless be considered highly persuasive, particularly when made by an able court after careful consideration, or in the course of an elaborate review of the authorities, or when it has been long followed." (9 Witkin, Cal. Procedure (3d ed. 1985) Appeal, § 785, p. 756.)

The WCAB panel then engaged in an extensive discussion of what they describe as a significant body of law on the issue of the "interplay between California's public policy-driven decision to extend jurisdiction based on a "contract of hire" and traditional principles of contract formation...."

Among the numerous cases the Board panel discussed on this issue, they focused particular attention on the Supreme Court's decision in *Laeng v. Workmen's Comp. Appeals Bd.* (1972) 6 Cal.3d 771 [37 Cal.Comp.Cases 185] which specifically "addressed the interplay between common law principles of contract formation and California public policy interests in extending workers' compensation benefits to all persons hired in California." In that regard the panel stated:

Laeng thus provided for the application of traditional principles of contract formation within a workers' compensation context, but further provided that any such application should be in furtherance of the principles and public policy informing the legislature's implementation of the California workers' compensation system. While we acknowledge that the decision in Laeng addressed fundamental issues of what constituted employment under section 3351, the decision in Laeng is instructive for its conclusion that common law principles of contract formation may inform, but should not limit, California's interests in extending its workers' compensation benefits for the protection of persons injured in the course of their employment. (Cal. Lab. Code § 3202.)

The WCAB concluded with the statement that given their factual determination that an oral contract for hire was formed in California, what they described as applicant's subsequent "ratification" of a written employment contract even with an integration clause does not serve to invalidate California statutory jurisdiction over the claimed injuries.

Another case dealing with whether an enforceable oral contract of employment was formed in California is *House v. Green Bay Packers; Great Divide Ins. Co.*, 2023 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 265. Subject matter jurisdiction was the sole issue set for trial. The main issue was whether there was a binding oral contract of hire formed over the telephone on draft day based on a verbal offer of employment made by the coach of the Green Bay Packers and an acceptance by applicant in California even though he actually signed the contract of employment in Wisconsin. The WCAB found an oral contract of hire was formed over the phone resulting in the WCAB's having subject matter over applicant's CT claim. Defendant filed a Petition for Reconsideration which was denied by the WCAB who affirmed the WCJ's decision and incorporated the WCJ's Report on Reconsideration in its entirety.

Also of interest in this case is that defendant raised for the first time in a trial brief but not as an issue at trial federal preemption by contending that the WCAB is preempted by federal law from determining when and how a contract of hire is formed with a player in the NFL. The WCJ and the WCAB found that by failing to raise the preemption issue at trial it was waived. However, even if not waived the WCJ and WCAB discussed the case raised by defendant to support their preemption argument and found it inapplicable. The WCAB ruled that the Collective Bargaining Agreement (CBA) is only applicable to rates of pay, wages, hours of employer and other conditions of employment which only apply when employment is established. The WCAB determined that "conditions of employment does not involve jurisdictional issues of where the creation of the contract of employment was made. This Court has sole discretion in determining jurisdictional issues in accordance with Labor Code § 5305."

Defendant also raised the choice of forum selection clause issue and cited the WCAB's en banc decision in *McKinley* to support their argument. However, the WCAB distinguished *McKinley* from the present case since in the instant case, applicant's employment contract was formed in California and the applicant was a resident of California. In *Mckinley*, "all of the contracts were formed in Arizona....."

Editor's Comments: With respect to the *Rohrbach* case I have several comments and observations to make regarding the WCAB's panel decision in this case as follows:

1. **A Brief Procedural History**: While the Board in its decision indicates that the Supreme Court denied review in *Tripplett* on October 24, 2018, it is important to note that many of the issues raised by applicant's attorney in his Petition for Reconsideration in the instant case were also previously unsuccessfully raised in his Petition for Review filed in the Supreme Court in *Tripplett*. Another interesting note is that Commissioner Razo, the author of the panel decision in this case was also the author of a prior split panel decision in *Tripplett* in which the Board reversed and rescinded the WCJ's decision in which she erroneously found subject matter jurisdiction on a hiring in California based on applicant's agent/representative allegedly having the authority to negotiate and bind applicant to a contract which applicant signed later outside of California. (see, *Tripplett v. Indianapolis Colts et al.*, 2017 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 123)

The majority of the panel in *Tripplett, supra* (Commissioners Razo and Zalewski) reversed the WCJ's decision on the basis a preponderance of the evidence did not support a finding that applicant was hired in California and applicant's contract for hire was formed outside of California. So it is somewhat ironic that Commissioner Razo four years later is the lead Commissioner in a decision that reverses a WCJ's decision based on *Tripplett*!

- 2. **The State of the Record:** In *Tripplett*, unlike the instant case, defendant by way of cross-examination and rebuttal testimony by the employer representative who negotiated the contract with applicant were able to rebut applicant's testimony. As a consequence, applicant was unable to meet his burden of proving a contract for hire was made in California. However, defendant in this case may have made a strategic decision not to call any rebuttal witnesses or perhaps no rebuttal witnesses were available to rebut applicant's self-serving testimony and instead defendant was forced to rely entirely on the integration clause in the written contract applicant signed in Colorado as a basis to invalidate what the WCAB found to be a valid oral contract of employment made in California.
- 3. Was an Oral Contract for Employment Actually Formed in California During a Telephone Call? Based on the record in this case and considering the totality of applicant's trial testimony, which was not rebutted, there is something about the totality of facts that makes it a challenging decision for any trier of fact to conclude that all the essential terms necessary to form a valid oral contract for employment was discussed, negotiated, and agreed to in the telephone conversation between applicant and the representative from the Rockies. This was one of the main reasons the trial WCJ found that no contract for hire was formed in California. Contrary to the WCJ's decision, the WCAB on this record found that applicant and the agent for the Rockies "reached an accord as to the essential terms relevant to an employment agreement...." during their telephone conversation. The WCAB gave credence to applicant's "subjective belief that he had reached an employment agreement with the Rockies at the conclusion of the telephone call...." Based on the agent for the Rockies stating, "we have a deal."

However, in the editor's mind the question is a "deal" to what? It is undisputed that during the telephone call between applicant and the agent for the Rockies no specifics were discussed as to essential terms regarding the applicant's salary, the actual amount of any signing bonus and how

it would be paid, duration of the contract, place or places of employment. Given the fact that none of these essential terms were discussed how could there be a meeting of the minds and an "accord" as described by the Board? The trial record confirms that during the telephone call, none of the **specifics** related to the essential terms required for **any** valid employment contract were actually discussed, negotiated, offered and accepted! With respect to salary, the applicant testified that during the telephone call he assumed he would be paid the minimum minor league contract salary even though the specific amount was not discussed at all during the call.

The record does not reflect applicant testified that he asked even one question of the Rockies representative during the telephone call related to any of the critical essential terms indicated hereinabove. He then goes to Denver and when presented with a written contract learns for the first time the actual amount his minor league salary would be. More importantly he learned for the first time that the term of his employment under the written contract would be six years! Since the amount of the bonus was not specified in the June 8, 2014 telephone call it is assumed that applicant learned for the first time in Denver the actual amount of his signing bonus and how it would be paid as well as where he would be assigned to play in the Colorado organization.

Given the fact the employment contract was for six years and applicant was to receive only a minor league minimum salary, that some further detailed negotiations would have taken place in Denver related to the actual amount of the signing bonus i.e.., low salary for extended term of employment may equate to greater signing bonus at the front end. It is also difficult to fathom or comprehend applicant's testimony that he did not read the written contract including any of the addenda before he signed it.

The editor fails to understand how the Board on this record even based on applicant's unrebutted testimony of what transpired during the telephone call is sufficient to support the WCAB's conclusion that "[t]he evidence thus demonstrates both an objective agreement to the essential terms of an employment agreement as well as the parties contemporaneous subjective beliefs that a contract for hire had been agreed upon," during the telephone call between applicant and the representative of the Rockies.

4. **The Integration Clause Issue: Dicta in** *Tripplett* **or Not?** Perhaps the most controversial aspect of the Board's decision in the instant case is their rejection of the Court of Appeals decision in *Tripplett* on the specific issue of whether an integration clause or provision in a written contract for hire entered into outside of California subsequent to an "assumed" valid oral contract for hire previously formed in California can provide a legal basis for superseding "any" valid oral contract for employment formed in California. The language in *Tripplett* can be broadly interpreted as the WCJ did in the instant case to apply to factual scenarios different from those found in *Tripplett* and used as a basis for a valid integration clause in a subsequent written employment contract to supersede or obviate a prior valid oral employment agreement formed in California.

I agree with the Board that the *Tripplett* decision is factually distinguishable from the instant case. In *Tripplett* both the WCAB and Court of Appeal found that there was no evidence that a binding employment agreement was formed between Tripplett and the employer in California before he signed a written employment contract outside of California. In the instant case however, there was a determination by the WCAB that there was a binding oral employment contract between

applicant and the Rockies formed in California before applicant went to Colorado and signed a written contract with contained the integration clause. The trial WCJ stated in his Opinion on Decision consistent with *Tripplett*, that even if applicant entered into a valid oral contract of employment with the Rockies the integration clause in the written contract he signed in Colorado would supersede and negate the oral employment contract formed in Colorado.

I also agree with the WCAB in *Rohrbach* that the two paragraph portion of the Court of Appeal's decision and conclusion in *Tripplett* based on **assumed facts** as opposed to the actual facts of the case before it may indeed be dicta but not for the multiple reasons stated by the Board. One of the main reasons the WCAB characterized the contract integration conclusion by the *Tripplett* Court that an integration clause can invalidate a prior valid oral agreement in California as dicta was that this issue "was neither raised nor discussed at the trial level in *Tripplett*, nor raised or discussed in subsequent proceedings."

However, Tripplett's written employment contract was in evidence at trial and part of the record on appeal. It contained the integration clause/provision in question. The WCJ in *Tripplett* based on an argument raised by applicant erroneously concluded that Tripplett's signing of the written contract outside of California was a condition subsequent to the prior acceptance by Tripplett's agent assumed to be in California. The Court of Appeal in *Tripplett* rejected this contention raised by applicant because "Tripplett's employment agreement was in writing and specified that it became effective only after execution." Applicant's attorney also cited both the *Laeng* and *Arriaga* decisions from the Supreme Court in support of his arguments in *Tripplett*. The Court of Appeal in *Tripplett* analyzed both cases extensively concluding they did not address the key "purposes or policies underlying section 3600.5(a) or 5305, or explained how courts should construe the meaning of the word "hired" as used in those statutes. Instead both cases were focused on a broader issue related to establishing the scope of the employment relationship under workers compensation law, for the purpose of assessing whether an injured worker could be eligible for compensation even though the worker had not entered into any contract the employer for which he was performing services."

In contrast to the reasons set forth hereinabove in the instant case that the WCAB relied upon in reaching their "only dicta" determination, an additional argument can be made that the conclusions the *Tripplett* Court made related to the integration clause in the applicant's written contract were not directly related to the salient issue before the Court that being the determination of whether Tripplett was "hired" in California. As framed by the WCAB on reconsideration and reiterated by the Court of Appeal in *Tripplett*, the issue "was whether he or his agent executed the written employment agreement in this state" (i.e.., California). Addressing the issue of whether the integration clause in the employment contract applicant signed outside of California can supersede any prior alleged oral employment agreement is incidental and not directly related to or necessary to resolve the actual issue framed by both the WCAB and Court of Appeal in *Tripplett*. As such it required the *Tripplett* Court to assume facts that were not relevant to the issue as clearly defined by both the WCAB and the Court of Appeal. This is a classic case of dicta which is not binding but as the WCAB points out may be persuasive.

Generally legal propositions in a judicial opinion are not dicta if they are necessary to the court's logic in order to reach a holding in the case i.e., the case's *ratio decidendi* which is Latin for "the

reason for deciding." In contrast dicta is a description of those portions of a judicial opinion incidental and not necessary to resolution of the specific questions before the court. They are often a court's of opinion on a point other that the precise issue involved in determining a case. Dicta can also be defined as "a judicial comment made while delivering a judicial opinion but one that is unnecessary to the decision in the case and therefore not precedential although it may be considered persuasive. "Dicta frequently take the form of statements which are unnecessarily broad." (Encyclopedia Britannica, Article: Obiter Dictum, March 5, 2018).

In the future, other trial court decisions from WCJ's, as well as decisions from other WCAB panels and the Court of Appeal will ultimately have to determine whether the part of the *Tripplett* decision dealing with whether a valid integration integration clause in a written contract of employment made after a valid oral contract is made in California can supersede it and whether the *Tripplett* courts conclusion on the issue was dicta.

As briefly summarized hereinafter, while there have been a number of decisions from the WCAB subsequent to *Tripplett* that have followed the holding in the case, none of them have squarely addressed the issue as the instant case has of whether an integration clause in a subsequent written employment agreement can supersede a previous valid oral contract of employment made in California.

For other recent sports cases applying Tripplett, see Brown v. Arizona Cardinals, Saint Louis Rams, Carolina Panthers, Detroit Lions et al., 2019 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 460 (WCAB panel decision summarized in detail hereinafter), and Telemaco v. Philadelphia Phillies, Arizona Diamond Backs et al., 2018 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 541 (WCAB panel decision) (Overwhelming evidence that applicant's California based agent did not have the authority to bind the applicant to an employment contract and that applicant had the final say on acceptance of the employment offer and applicant was outside of California when he accepted the contract.); Christman v. Seattle Mariners, Ace American Insurance Co., et al., 2019 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 363 (WCAB panel decision). (Applicant was physically in New York and his contract advisor/agent was in California during contract negotiations. The applicant signed all of his contracts in New York. Applicant testified he relied on his contract advisor's recommendations but that he made the final decision to accept any offers that were made. The applicant always maintained the ability to accept or reject any offers made by various teams. No evidence was introduced that applicant's contract advisor had the authority to bind him to any contract. The WCAB in finding that applicant's employment contracts were not formed in California held that "[t]he ability to negotiate on behalf of the applicant is not equivalent to being able to execute a contract on behalf of the Applicant and bind him." The WCAB also stated "[t]here was no final meeting of the minds until the applicant accepted by signing the contracts and the employer executed the contracts. While an offer was made and terms negotiated, similar to the Tripplett case, the contract was not formed until executed."

See also *Kropog v New York Giants et al.*, 2020 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 112 (WCAB panel decision) (The WCJ and WCAB found no contract of hire formed in California even though applicant was represented by a California based sports agent/advisor. Applicant signed all of his employment contracts outside of California and based on the testimony of applicant, his agent as well as the standard representation agreement between the applicant and his California

agent/advisor, the agent did not have the authority to bind the applicant to any of the employment contracts applicant signed while outside of California even though his agent signed the contracts in California.

For a non-sports case applying *Tripplett*, see *Moradi v. Northwest Colorado Transport*, *LLC* 2018 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 576 (WCAB panel decision) the full summary of the case is on page 14 of the July 2021 edition of the PBW California Sports Case Outline.

<u>Konan (Matthew) v. WCAB.</u>, (2022) 88 Cal.Comp.Cases 47; 2022 Cal.Wrk.Comp. LEXIS 64 (Writ denied)

Issues and Holding: Whether a valid oral contract of hire was formed in California with either the Flyers or the Oilers where applicant's agent while located in California negotiated employment contracts for him but the standard agency agreement between the player and the agent expressly stated that the agent had no authority to to bind the applicant to a player contract without applicant's written consent. Applicant a professional hockey player was located outside of California when he accepted and executed the written employment contracts which also contained an integration clause which stated that the signed written employment contracts superseded any prior agreements and constituted the sole understanding between the parties.

In this writ denied case the Court of Appeal affirmed the WCAB's split panel decision finding that applicant's agent did not have the authority to bind the applicant to an employment contract, and that the contracts with the defendants were formed outside of California where they were accepted and executed by the applicant.

Factual & Procedural Overview: Applicant a professional hockey player was represented by a California based agent. He never played or practiced in any games in California for either the Flyers or the Oilers. While applicant was playing in Canada, his agent orally negotiated and accepted verbal employment contracts on applicant's behalf which were later executed by applicant outside of California without any further negotiations. At trial applicant's California agent testified that he believed he had full authority to orally bind applicant to the terms of player contracts despites a standard agency agreement that he had with the applicant that expressly provided that he had no authority to bind the applicant to a player contract without applicant's written consent.

The written employment contracts signed by the applicant had an integration clause which expressly provided that the signed employment contract superseded any prior agreements and constituted the sole understanding between the parties. The WCJ found that applicant did not meet his burden of showing an employment contract was accepted in California as to either the Flyers or the Oilers. On reconsideration the WCAB compared this case to *Tripplett v. W.C.A.B.*, (2018) 25 Cal.App. 5th 556, 235 Cal. Rptr. 3d 879, 83 Cal. Comp. Cases 1175, where the fact that the applicant retained a right to reject his player's contract negotiated by his California agent negated the verbal contract negotiations conducted by the applicant's agent in California and there was no binding oral contract formed in California.

The WCAB agreed with the WCJ's conclusion that the agency contract between the applicant and his agent categorically stated that the agent had no authority to bind applicant to any agreement.

"The explicit language of the Standard Player-Agent contract coupled with an inconsistent record regarding whether applicant's agent had the authority to bind him to a contract provides a reasonable basis for the determination of the WCJ that Mr. King could not bind applicant to a contract for hired in California." Pursuant to the terms of the Player-Agent contract, the only way applicant's agent could bind applicant to an offer of employment was with applicant's written consent. There was no evidence presented that any written consent was given by the applicant to his agent prior to the execution of the contracts with the defendants.

Editor's Comment: In both sports and non-sports cases, the issue of whether an employment contract for hire is formed in California is intensely fact specific and nuanced. A good example is the case of *Moore v. Browns*, 2023 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 74. In *Moore*, the WCJ found that applicant's NFL contract was not formed in California when it was unclear whether applicant was actually in California when he spoke with his California agent and purportedly accepted an offer of employment from the Browns. An ancillary issue was whether applicant's agent under the applicable NFLPA regulations governing contract advisors permitted an agent to accept an offer of employment on a player's behalf so as to bind the player to a contract of hire.

Applicant's counsel in *Moore* was successful on reconsideration and the WCAB reversed the WCJ and found that a contract of hire was formed in California. Defendant(s) as newly aggrieved, filed their own Petition for Reconsideration and were able to persuade the WCAB that the admissible evidence and the trial record did not fully address the factual basis for whether a contract for hire was formed in California specifically as it related to where the applicant's exact physical location was at the time he purportedly accepted the Browns offer of employment. The WCAB agreed and remanded the case back to the trial level deferring the issue of whether a contract of hire was formed in California sufficient to establish subject matter jurisdiction over applicant's claim pending further development of the record on that issue.

See also Stallworth (Dec'd) v. Washington Capitols et. al., 2024 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 240. Applicant petitioned for reconsideration of a Findings and Order issued on May 30, 2019 upon which the WCAB granted for further study but not issuing a decision until May 16, 2024. The WCAB affirmed the decision of the WCJ finding that applicant's employment contracts were not entered into or formed in California and that under Federal Insurance Co. v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd. (Johnson) (2013) 221 Cal.App.4th 116 [78 Cal.Comp.Cases 1257].), California did not have a legitimate and substantial interest in applicant's claim sufficient to compel defendant to adjudicate the claim under the laws of California.

Applicant filed an Application for Adjudication back in 2013, but passed away in 2017 while the case was still being litigated and before the Findings and Order issued on May 30, 2019. With respect to contract formation, applicant testified during his deposition that he signed only two contracts over the course of his entire career and those were signed in New York and Maryland. In stark contrast, applicant's wife's testimony at trial was that applicant told her in 1995 that he had signed a contract in 1965 at his mother's house in California and that applicant was in California at that time to appear on the Glen Campbell show and signed the contract before that appearance. Confronted with these diametrically opposed accounts, the WCJ and the Board found applicant's deposition testimony the more reliable and persuasive despite applicant's counsel's assertion that applicant was incompetent at the time he was deposed. In that regard the Board stated, "[f] ollowing our independent review of the record, including the trial testimony of applicant's spouse, and the deposition of the applicant taken on November 16, 2015, we discern

no evidence of considerable substantiality that would warrant disturbing the WCJ's determinations as to the credibility of the witnesses or the relative weight of the evidence. Accordingly, we decline to disturb the WCJ's determination that "applicant's contracts were entered into outside of the State of California." (Finding of Fact No. 3.)."

<u>Tripplett v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Board, Indianapolis Colts et al. (2018)</u> 25 Cal. App. 5th 556; 83 Cal. Comp. Cases 1175, 2018 Cal. App. LEXIS 652 (review denied 10/24/18);

Issue: Whether the fact applicant's agent/contract advisor initially negotiated contract terms with the Colts telephonically while the agent was in California and the applicant was physically located outside California during negotiations constituted an actual acceptance necessary for an employment contract or agreement to be formed in California in the absence of evidence the agent was authorized to both negotiate and to accept an offer of employment by the Colts on behalf of the applicant.

Holding: Applicant's employment contract was not accepted and formed until both the applicant and his agent/contract advisor signed the written employment agreement when both of them were outside of California. The Court of Appeal held the mere fact applicant's agent/contract advisor was in California when he entered into preliminary negotiations with the employer was insufficient to establish that an oral employment contract was actually formed when there was no evidence the applicant's agent/contract advisor had the authority to bind the player to an employment agreement or to accept on his behalf.

Procedural & Factual Overview: Applicant's NFL career spanned approximately six years. He played for three different teams. He played for the Indianapolis Colts from 2002 to 2006, the Buffalo Bills from 2006 to 2008, and then briefly for the Seattle Seahawks in 2008. During his NFL career he played in approximately 110 games but played only two games in California.

There were two trials. The first was in January 2012 and the second on September 14, 2015. At the first trial the only issue was whether or not there was California subject matter jurisdiction over the Buffalo Bills and Seattle Seahawks.

At the first trial, applicant testified that his agent was located in California and negotiated all of his contracts. Applicant also testified that when he signed his Player Contract with the Indianapolis Colts, he was in his agent's Newport Beach office in California. Following applicant's testimony applicant's counsel moved to elect against the Indianapolis Colts on the basis that, "jurisdiction was not contested by the Colts." Counsel for the Colts objected to applicant's election of the Indianapolis Colts, which was allowed by the Trial Judge.

Applicant's written employment agreement with the Indianapolis Colts was signed by the applicant, a Colts' team representative, and applicant's agent/contract advisor. All three signatories to the employment agreement signed the agreement on July 26, 2002. Applicant and the Colts' representative both signed on the same page on July 26, 2002. However, applicant's agent/contract advisor signed a different copy of the signature page on July 26, 2002, faxed from a telephone number located in Buffalo, New York.

At the second trial in September of 2015, applicant testified he was a California resident when he was hired by the Colts. He also testified that to the best of his knowledge he had signed his Colts employment agreement at his agent's office in California.

However, on cross-examination applicant was shown an actual copy of the written employment agreement indicating that both he and his agent signed separate copies of the signature page. The applicant then acknowledged for the first time that he could not remember where he signed the Colts' employment agreement. Applicant also testified that although he put a lot of trust in his agent to negotiate his employment agreements, that with respect to actual acceptance of any contract, he "had the final say."

The Colts' witness testified he negotiated the terms of the employment agreement over the phone with applicant's agent whose principal place of business was in California. He also testified that applicant likely signed the contract in Indianapolis while attending the team's minicamp. More importantly, he testified that applicant's agent had transmitted his signature of the employment agreement from a facsimile machine located in Buffalo, New York. The Colts' witness also testified applicant was not eligible to play for the Colts until he signed the agreement, and that the NFL requires that any who is an unsigned player on a team's reserve list cannot report, play, or be in training camp until they sign a written NFL Player Contract.

Following the second trial, the WCJ held that the WCAB had subject matter jurisdiction over the applicant's cumulative trauma claim. The WCJ also found that applicant's agent negotiated the employment contract in California and there were no changes with respect to the negotiated terms and the terms of the final written employment agreement based on the testimony of the defense witness. The WCJ also characterized the signing of the actual written employment contract as a "condition subsequent" to the acceptance by the agent who the WCJ assumed to be in California. Applicant was awarded 67% permanent disability related to a cumulative trauma to multiple body parts.

The WCAB's Decision: The Colts filed a Petition for Reconsideration which was granted by the WCAB. The Board reversed the WCJ and found there was no California subject matter jurisdiction since applicant's contract was formed outside of California. In reversing the WCJ on the jurisdictional issue, the Board stated that the evidence established "that neither [Tripplett] nor his agent was in California when the employment was accepted, and the contract was signed."

The Board acknowledged that while it is not necessary that all the terms of an employment agreement be finalized within California in order for the WCAB to obtain subject matter jurisdiction pursuant to §§3600.5(a) and 5305, there still "must nevertheless be evidence sufficient to support a finding that a hiring occurred in California by the acceptance of employment within the state and in order for that jurisdictional basis to apply." In essence, the WCAB said that negotiation by applicant's agent while he was located in California is insufficient to establish an oral employment contract or agreement when there is no evidence that the agent was authorized to accept a contract on applicant's behalf. Applicant filed a writ with the Court of Appeal.

The Court of Appeal's Decision: Applicant argued to the Court of Appeal that he had been hired in California based on the fact his agent had completed the negotiation of his contract terms, which

presumptively occurred in California at the agent's principal place of business. Applicant characterized the actual signing of the written employment agreement as a condition subsequent to the prior oral acceptance of the contract by the agent. The Court of Appeal rejected this argument on the basis that, "Tripplett's employment agreement was in writing and specified that it became effective only after execution. Moreover, there was no evidence any party agreed that a binding agreement had been formed prior to execution of the written document."

Applicant also argued that two California Supreme Court cases *Laeng v. Workmen's Comp. Appeals Bd.* (1972) 6 Cal.3d 771 as well as *Arriaga v. County of Alameda* (1995) 9 Cal.4th 1055, supported his contention that he was "hired" when his agent completed negotiation of the terms of his applicant's employment contract on the telephone from California.

However, the Court of Appeal distinguished both *Laeng* and *Arriaga* by indicating that neither of the cases "addressed the purposes or policies underlying section 3600.5(a) or 5305, explained how courts should construe the meaning of the word "hired" as used in those statutes." The Court of Appeal indicated that both of these cases were focused on a much broader issue which was establishing the scope of an "employment" relationship under workers' compensation law in assessing whether an injured worker could be potentially eligible for compensation even though the worker had not entered into any contract with the employer for which he was performing services.

The Court of Appeal further stated that:

While *Laeng* and *Arriaga* explain in some detail why the specific definition of "employee" contained within the workers' compensation law, combined with the policies underlying that law, support a broader interpretation of the "employment" relationship than exists in the general common law, their rationale does not automatically support a similar departure from contract law in determining whether an employee was "hired" in California or was hired elsewhere.

The Court of Appeal was also careful in distinguishing preliminary contract negotiations from an actual offer and acceptance of a contract offer.

The Court of Appeal cited another California Supreme Court case, *Reynolds Elec. etc. Co. v. Workmen's Comp. App. Bd.* (1966) 65 Cal.2d 429 (*Egan*), which dealt with an oral employment agreement. In *Reynolds*, the employee accepted an offer of Nevada employment conveyed by a representative of his Union who had the authority to accept on his behalf while the Union representative was physically located in the Union Hiring Hall in California. "The Supreme Court explained that the case was "governed by the same rules applicable to other types of contracts, including the requirements of offer and acceptance." In *Reynolds*, the Supreme Court concluded that the contract had been formed in California because "the Union was the agent of the employer for the purpose of transmitting offers of employment to its members and the employee accepted the employer's offer when he received his dispatch referral slip and departed for the jobsite."

The Court of Appeal also cited *Bowen v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd.* (1999) 73 Cal.App.4th 15, for the premise that in *Bowen* the Court of Appeal relied on traditional principals of offer and

acceptance to conclude the contract had been formed in California. In *Bowen*, the team sent a written contract to Bowen while he was in California making him an offer of employment, which was signed by the player in California and then mailed back, and as a consequence the written offer was accepted in California and the contract formed at that point.

However, the Colts never sent a proposed written employment agreement to Tripplett in California. He did not sign any written employment contract in California. "Indeed, no parties signed the agreement in California." The Court of Appeal indicated that the mere fact that Tripplett's agent negotiated the contract terms in California does not establish that Tripplett was hired in California absent proof that the agent had the actual authority to both negotiate and accept an offer of employment from the Colts on applicant's behalf.

Applicant's Agent lack of Authority to Accept an Offer of Employment on Applicant's Behalf: One of applicant major arguments was that the mere fact his agent negotiated the contract terms while the agent was physically in California established that he was hired in California. The WCAB and the Court of Appeal both rejected this argument. Applicant's trial testimony was extremely significant on the issue or question of whether his agent had the authority to both negotiate an employment contract with the Colts and to accept an offer of employment from the Colts while the agent was physically in California during telephone negotiations and the applicant was physically located outside of California. "Tripplett also testified that although he "put a lot of trust in [his] agent" to negotiate his employment agreements, and "whatever he advised me to do, that's what I signed," It was Tripplett himself who "had the final say." (Emphasis added).

In support of their analysis and holding on this issue, the Court of Appeal discussed and distinguished *Jenkins v. Arizona Cardinals* 2012 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. Lexis 189 (WCAB panel decision). In *Jenkins*, the agent both negotiated and signed the employment agreement in California. However, the WCAB held that no contract could be formed even in this situation unless the "agent was authorized to bind his client." "Given that Jenkins had the ability to *entirely reject* the contract after it was negotiated, we conclude that his signature on the contract was *not* a mere condition subsequent that did not prevent the formation of a contract. Every contract requires the actual consent of both parties." (Original emphasis and citations omitted). The Court emphasized that "[T]here must be "evidence to show that the contract was actually accepted, and thus became binding, within California's borders."

As with the player in *Jenkins*, "Triplett retained the ability to reject any contract his agent negotiated." Moreover, the Court stated, "...Tripplett's agent's negotiation of terms to be included in a written employment contract was not sufficient to bind Tripplett to anything. And because those negotiations were the only contract related activity that took place in California there is no basis to conclude the contract was formed in this state."

Applicant's NFL Player Status: The Court of Appeal indicated that the evidence offered by the Colts witness supported the requirement of a written employment agreement in part-based applicant's NFL player status. "The NFL constitutes (sic) that anybody that is an unsigned player on your reserve list cannot report, play or be in training camp until they sign the NFL Player Contract." The Court indicated this "testimony was consistent with the written contract itself, which specified it "will begin on the date of execution, or March 1, 2002, whichever is later."

The Court also rejected Tripplett's reliance on *Paula Insurance Co. v. Workers' Comp. Appeal Bd.* (2000) 65 Cal.Comp.Cases 426. "But *Paula* is distinguishable because the agreement in that case was an oral rather than written. While a binding oral agreement could be formed over the telephone, Tripplett's written agreement with Indianapolis which specified it was effective only when executed could not."

The Significance of the Contract Integration Clause: With respect to the significance of the integration clause in the Colt's contract superseding any prior oral agreement the Court stated, "Moreover, the outcome here remains the same even if we assume that Tripplett's agent had some authority to bind him to an oral employment agreement at the conclusion of the agent's negotiation with Indianapolis. Tripplett's written employment agreement includes an integration clause that specifies it supersedes any prior oral agreement entered into between the parties. Thus, the written agreement Tripplett signed while attending the team's minicamp in Indianapolis was the only agreement governing his employment relationship with the team." (Emphasis added).

With Respect to Contract Formation the Fact Applicant was a California Resident was irrelevant under the facts of this case: Applicant argued that his contract should be deemed to have been formed in California because he was a resident of California. Mere residency alone cannot determine where a contract is formed. What is determinative is where the applicant was when he accepted the offer of employment. It was undisputed that applicant was not in California at the time he signed the written NFL Player Contract and was not in California during the negotiations conducted by his agent. "WCAB jurisdiction cannot be conferred or withheld on the basis of residency within the state." (Quong Ham Wah Co. v. Industrial Accident Com. (1939) 36 Cal.App.2d 158.

For other recent sports cases applying Tripplett, see Brown v. Arizona Cardinals, Saint Louis Rams, Carolina Panthers, Detroit Lions et al., 2019 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 460 (WCAB panel decision summarized in detail hereinafter), and Telemaco v. Philadelphia Phillies, Arizona Diamond Backs et al., 2018 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 541 (WCAB panel decision) (Overwhelming evidence that applicant's California based agent did not have the authority to bind the applicant to an employment contract and that applicant had the final say on acceptance of the employment offer and applicant was outside of California when he accepted the contract.); Christman v. Seattle Mariners, Ace American Insurance Co., et al., 2019 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 363 (WCAB panel decision). (Applicant was physically in New York and his contract advisor/agent was in California during contract negotiations. The applicant signed all of his contracts in New York. Applicant testified he relied on his contract advisor's recommendations but that he made the final decision to accept any offers that were made. The applicant always maintained the ability to accept or reject any offers made by various teams. No evidence was introduced that applicant's contract advisor had the authority to bind him to any contract. The WCAB in finding that applicant's employment contracts were not formed in California held that "[t]he ability to negotiate on behalf of the applicant is not equivalent to being able to execute a contract on behalf of the Applicant and bind him." The WCAB also stated "[t]here was no final meeting of the minds until the applicant accepted by signing the contracts and the employer executed the contracts. While an offer was made and terms negotiated, similar to the *Tripplett* case, the contract was not formed until executed."

See also *Kropog v New York Giants et al.*, 2020 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 112 (WCAB panel decision) (The WCJ and WCAB found no contract of hire formed in California even though applicant was represented by a California based sports agent/advisor. Applicant signed all of his employment contracts outside of California and based on the testimony of applicant, his agent as well as the standard representation agreement between the applicant and his California agent/advisor, the agent did not have the authority to bind the applicant to any of the employment contracts applicant signed while outside of California even though his agent signed the contracts in California.

For a non-sports case in this outline applying *Tripplett*, see *Moradi v. Northwest Colorado Transport*, *LLC* 2018 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 576 (WCAB panel decision).

Editor's Comments and Practice Pointers:

- 1. The Court of Appeal in *Tripplett* illuminated and clarified existing longstanding case law dealing with contract formation principles as to when a contract is formed for "purposes of workers' compensation."
- 2. *Tripplett* does not change the fact that all contract formation cases are fact intensive and fact specific. The credibility of witnesses and the nature of supporting documentary evidence will still be outcome determinative in many cases.
- 3. Documentary evidence especially in the form of a copy of any contract between a player and their agent is essential since it deals with the pivotal issue of what authority if any the agent has to bind a player to a contract that the agent is negotiating on behalf of a player. In NFL cases this is especially true, since the applicable NFLPA regulations governing contract advisors/agents expressly prohibits the agent from binding the player to a contract. This is further reinforced by the actual express language of the contract that the NFLPA regulation mandates all agents to use between the player and the agent.
- 4. In *Tripplett*, based on a combination of testimony, documentary evidence, and skillful advocacy by defense counsel, the evidence supported a finding that the agent who was physically located in California during the contract negotiations did not have the authority to bind the player to any oral or written contract offered by the Colts since the player was outside of California during the negotiations and had the final say as to whether to accept the Colt's offer of employment.
- 5. The integration clause as well as Tripplett's NFL player status during the contract negotiations was also important. The language of the integration clause in the Colt's written employment agreement specified the written employment agreement superseded any prior oral agreement entered into by the parties. The inclusion of a similar integration clause in every proposed employment agreement is strongly recommended even though standing alone it may not be controlling in all cases depending on the specific facts and evidence that develops during the course of litigation.

Brown v. Arizona Cardinals, Saint Louis Rams, Carolina Panthers, Detroit Lions et al., 2019 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 460 (WCAB panel decision).

Issues and Holding: In a post-*Tripplett* decision the WCAB affirmed the WCJ's finding that there was no California subject matter jurisdiction over applicant's cumulative trauma claim since applicant did not meet his burden of proving his contract for hire with the Detroit Lions (Lions) was formed in California based only on the fact his California based contract advisor/agent negotiated his contract with the Lions from California but where the contract advisor/agent based on persuasive documentary and testimonial evidence, did not have the authority to bind the applicant to a contract with the Lions.

The WCAB held that the contract was not formed until it was executed by the applicant in Michigan based on the fact applicant was informed by his contract advisor/agent that his contract would not be binding without applicant's final signature and also that even before he signed the employment contract in Michigan applicant understood that he could change his mind about the contract. There was also an integration clause/provision in the employment contract that was consistent with the collective bargaining agreement (CBA) between the National Football League Players Association (NFLPA) and the NFL Management Council (NFLMC).

Factual & Procedural Overview: Applicant filed a cumulative trauma claim for the period of 9/27/02 through 9/5/09. During his seven-year NFL career he played for five different NFL teams. However, applicant under LC 5500.5 elected against the Lions. Applicant was only employed by the Lions during the 2009 preseason for less than a month from 8/13/09 through 9/5/09 when he was terminated by the Lions. Applicant signed a one-year employment contract with the Lions on 8/13/09 in Michigan at the Lions facility.

Applicant testified he never lived in California and never played for any California based teams during his NFL career. While he was living in Arizona, applicant employed a California based NFLPA certified contract advisor. Applicant signed an NFLPA Standard Representation Contract (SRA) with his California contract advisor/agent. The California contract advisor represented applicant with respect to all contract negotiations with the Lions and he negotiated with the Lions from California. During negotiations, the contract advisor was in California and applicant was outside of California. Applicant testified that his agent advised him that the contract of hire would not be binding without applicant's final signature. However, applicant also testified he had a subjective belief that his agent's acceptance of the terms of the contract on his behalf bound him in spite of the express language to the contrary in the SRA and related NFLPA regulations.

The Lions paid his travel expenses from Arizona to Michigan. When he arrived at the Lion's facility he performed a tryout and underwent a pre-employment physical exam. As a result of that exam, the Lions requested an injury waiver for applicant's entire spine, but his agent negotiated the injury waiver to include only applicant's low back. Applicant was in Michigan while his agent was negotiating with the Lions from California. He knew he was not an employee of the Lions during the tryout because his agent had not finished negotiating the contract at that time.

Applicant's contract advisor/agent testified he had negotiated hundreds of contracts for athletes. He also acknowledged that he had signed over 100 NFLPA Standard Representation Agreements (SRA's). The contract advisor also testified he was required to abide by both the terms of the

SRA's as well as the NFLPA rules governing contract advisors. He admitted the required NFLPA SRA contains an express provision forbidding contract advisors/agents to bind or commit a player to enter into a contract without the execution of the contract by the player. That provision expressly states "...a contract advisor shall not have the authority to bind or commit a player to enter into any contract without the execution thereof by player." Notwithstanding this language, the agent further testified he believed this language in the required NFLPA SRA merely described a process and that once he reached or negotiated agreed upon contract parameters he believed he had the authority to bind the player. However, the agent also testified that he could not stop applicant from signing with another team after the agent conveyed his acceptance to the Lions.

The witness for the Lions testified that an NFLPA certified contract advisor is bound by the NFLPA rules and regulations and therefore could not independently bind the applicant to an NFL contract. "Based on the NFLPA rules and regulations and the usual and customary practice in the industry, the contract became effective only when the player signed it." He also testified that the Lions employment contract with the applicant contained an integration clause consistent with the Collective Bargaining Agreement (CBA).

Discussion: The WCAB in incorporating and adopting the WCJ's report on reconsideration characterized the Court of Appeal's decision in *Tripplett v. Workers' Comp. Appeal Board, Indianapolis Colts et al.* (2018) 25 Cal.App.5th 556, 83 Cal.Comp.Cases 1175 as controlling based on the facts of this case and that the integration clause in the employment contract between applicant and the Lions was significant. In that regard the Board stated:

The Court in *Tripplett, supra*, held that applicant failed the burden of proof in the showing that his contract of hire was formed in California, which provided that the hiring became effective only after execution by applicant, when both the player and his agent were outside of California and applicant retained the ability to reject any contract his agent negotiated. The mere fact that the player's agent negotiated the contract terms in California was not enough to establish he was hired in the state. The Tripplett court went on to affirm the validity of the integration clause in the Standard Representation Agreement. It stated that even if we assume that the agent has some authority to bind applicant to an oral employment agreement, the written employment agreement includes an integration clause that specifies it supersedes any prior oral agreement entered into between the parties. Thus, the written agreement signed by applicant while attending the team's minicamp out of state was the only agreement governing his employment relationship with the team.

The WCAB also expressly discussed and rejected several arguments by applicant as to why *Tripplett* was not controlling as it related to the facts of the instant case. The WCAB also found "....that the subjective belief of applicant and his agent on the binding effect based on the conveyance of acceptance by applicant in Michigan by way of his agent in California before the actual execution of the contract by applicant was not convincing."

The WCAB held that "....it is determined that the employment contract signed by applicant and the Lions on 8/13/09 in Michigan (Joint Exhibit X) was the only enforceable contract binding applicant and the Lions."

Moradi v. Northwest Colorado Transport, LLC 2018 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 576 (WCAB panel decision)

Issues and Holding: In this non-sports case, the WCAB reversed and rescinded the WCJ's decision finding there was no California subject matter jurisdiction based on the fact that applicant's contract was formed in North Dakota where applicant signed a written employment agreement. Although applicant was a California resident at the time he submitted his employment application, he signed his contract in North Dakota after passing a background check, drug test, and driving test. In reversing the WCJ the WCAB relied on the Court of Appeal's decision in *Tripplett v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd.* (2018) 25 Cal.App. 5th 556, 83 Cal.Comp.Cases 1175.

Procedural and Factual Overview: Applicant testified he found out about an employment opportunity working as a truck driver with defendant Northwest Colorado Transport LLC (NCT). While in California, applicant contacted an NCT agent over the telephone. He was told to fill out an employment application that could be obtained online. Applicant filled out the employment application in California and faxed it to NCT. The employment application applicant faxed to NCT from California stated that it was only an application for employment, and that certain conditions needed to be satisfied before employment could occur. Applicant further testified that NCT's agent told him over the telephone "you're hired" and told him to come to North Dakota to complete the hiring process.

The NCT agent that spoke with applicant over the telephone also testified. The NCT agent denied that he told the applicant that he was hired over the telephone. He testified that he told the applicant it was necessary to him to come to North Dakota to satisfy several conditions including a driving test, drug test, and background check before he could be hired. Applicant traveled to North Dakota and after passing the driving test, drug test, and background check he signed a written employment agreement in North Dakota. The employment agreement applicant signed in North Dakota expressly provided that it was "effective for all purposes and in all respects as of" March 28, 2014, the date it was signed in North Dakota. Applicant claimed he suffered a specific injury on 5/24/14 and a cumulative trauma for the period of 3/27/14 through 5/26/14.

Discussion: The WCJ erroneously found that the driving and drug tests and background search conducted in North Dakota were conditions subsequent to applicant being hired in California when he allegedly agreed over the telephone to travel to North Dakota It is important to note that the Court of Appeal's decision in *Tripplett* issued after the WCJ's decision.

In reversing the WCJ the WCAB relied on the Court of Appeal's decision in *Tripplett*. The *Tripplett* court distinguished a number of the cases relied upon by the WCJ. In *Tripplett* the employment contract was in writing and specified that the hiring was effective only after execution of the written contract. There was also no evidence in *Tripplett* that any party believed that a binding agreement had been formed prior to the execution of the written employment contract that was signed outside of California. The Court of Appeal stated:

In the instant case, "[t]he written employment agreement was concluded in North Dakota, applicant's testimony that he accepted employment in California is not controlling, notwithstanding that the WCJ found that testimony to be credible. Nor do the decisions in

Cochran, Egan and Laeng change the analysis in this case. None of those cases involved a written employment contract, as in this case and in *Tripplett*."

The WCAB further noted that "In this case, as in *Tripplett*, the employee's initial agreement to pursue an employment opportunity was superseded by the conclusion of a written employment contract signed in another state."

More importantly the WCAB indicated that ".... [A]s in *Tripplett*, the injury occurred after the written employment agreement was made. In the absence of a contrary decision of the Supreme Court or a published opinion of another Court of Appeal, the holding in *Tripplett* is determinative in this case and the WCAB is bound to follow it." (citations omitted).

Editor's Comment: For other recent cases applying Tripplett, see Telemaco v. Philadelphia Phillies, Arizona Diamond Backs et al., 2018 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 541 (WCAB panel decision, 11/7/18) (Overwhelming evidence that applicant's California based agent did not have the authority to bind the applicant to an employment contract and that applicant had the final say on acceptance of the employment offer and applicant was outside of California when he accepted the contract.); Christman v. Seattle Mariners, Ace American Insurance Co., et al., 2019 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 363 (WCAB panel decision, 8/16/19) (Applicant was physically in New York and his contract advisor/agent was in California during contract negotiations. The applicant signed all of his contracts in New York. Applicant testified he relied on his contract advisors' recommendations but that he made the final decision to accept any offers that were made. The applicant always maintained the ability to accept or reject any offers made by various teams. No evidence was introduced that applicant's contract advisor had the authority to bind him to any contract. The WCAB in finding that applicant's employment contracts were not formed in California held that "[t]he ability to negotiate on behalf of the applicant is not equivalent to being able to execute a contract on behalf of the Applicant and bind him." The WCAB also stated "[t]here was no final meeting of the minds until the applicant accepted by signing the contracts and the employer executed the contracts. While an offer was made and terms negotiated, similar to the *Tripplett* case, the contract was not formed until executed."

<u>Penrose v. Denver Gold, North River Insurance Company, et al.</u> 2018 Cal.Wrk.Comp.P.D. Lexis 290 (WCAB Panel Decision); see also *Penrose II-Penrose v. Denver Gold, North River Insurance Co., et al.,* 2023 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 256 (WCAB panel decision) hereinafter in Chapter 8 dealing with the LC 5412 date of injury issue and other issues based on the WCAB's remand of those issues in this case *Penrose I.*

Issue and holding: WCAB held there was California subject matter jurisdiction over applicant's entire cumulative trauma claim for the period of 1976 to the beginning of 1985. During the cumulative trauma period, applicant signed two of his employment contracts with two different teams in California. Applicant's hiring in California was a sufficient connection standing alone to support WCAB subject matter jurisdiction pursuant to Labor Code sections 3600.5(a) and 5305. This allowed allocation of liability in accordance with Labor Code section 5500.5(a) to different employers for which applicant played for during his entire period of cumulative trauma injurious exposure including the Denver Gold even though his contract with the Denver Gold was not signed in California.

Factual and procedural overview: The WCJ found California subject matter jurisdiction and awarded application 83.25% permanent disability after apportionment and a need for future medical treatment. Applicant played for several teams during the cumulative trauma period from April 8, 1976 to February 1985. Applicant signed his contracts with the Denver Broncos and the Arizona Wranglers while he was in California. None of his other employment contracts were signed in California. While applicant was with the Broncos he came to California eight times. When he played for the Jets he came to California once. While he was playing in the USFL for the Denver Gold he played four games in California, two in 1983 and two in 1984. His last game for the Denver Gold was played in Oakland California in May 1984. On reconsideration, the carrier for the Denver Gold raised a number of issues, including statute of limitations and also there were two separate cumulative traumas. Defendant's main issue on appeal was their contention that there was no liability on their part since its contacts with California were insufficient to support the adjudication of applicant's claim in California consistent with due process and based on the Court of Appeals decision in *Johnson*.

Applicant also filed for reconsideration alleging the WCJ had committed error with respect to determining the correct date of injury under Labor Code 5412. Applicant argued that the correct date of injury should be August 2011 when applicant filed his claim for workers' compensation benefits. Applicant also claimed that the rate an effect on that date should apply to any permanent disability. Applicant also contended that the COLA was applicable to applicant's life pension.

Subject matter jurisdiction: The WCJ relied on the decision by the Court of Appeal in *Macklin* and also a WCAB panel decision in *Pierce* as the basis for finding there was California WCAB subject matter jurisdiction over applicant's entire cumulative trauma claim. "With regard to the defendants, Denver Gold and New York Jets whose contracts were not signed in California as per the finding in the case of *New York Knickerbockers v. Workers' Compensation Appeals Board (Macklin)* 240 Cal.App.4th 1229 [80 Cal.Comp.Cases 1141] (*Macklin*) insofar as jurisdiction is established over applicant's 'claim,' based upon the hiring in California during the period of injurious exposure, this allows allocation of liability to a different employer during the period of injurious exposure in accordance with Labor Code 5500.5(a) without violating and due process.

The WCAB also reinforced the WCJ's subject matter jurisdiction analysis and ruling by holding that "[T]he WCJ correctly determined that the WCAB has subject matter jurisdiction over applicant's claim because he was hired in California as shown by the record and sections 3600.5 and 5305 support jurisdiction when the hiring and contract of hire is made in this state. In that the WCAB has subject matter jurisdiction over applicant's claim of cumulative trauma injury, the Denver Gold are properly identified as a party defendant based upon the liability allocation provisions of section 5500.5, and notwithstanding that employer's limited contacts with this state, consistent with the holding of the Court of Appeal in *Macklin* as discussed by the WCJ in the Defendant's report."

Only one cumulative trauma: Based on substantial medical evidence, the WCAB also affirmed the WCJ's decision that there was only one cumulative trauma injury sustained by the applicant and not two separate cumulative trauma injuries as argued by one of the defendants. In doing so, the WCAB relied on the *Coltharp* and *Austin* cases from the Court of Appeal. The WCAB also

held the WCJ correctly concluded that applicant's claim was not barred by the statute of limitations.

The Labor Code section 5412 issue: With respect to the correct date of injury under Labor Code section 5412, the WCAB remanded the case in order for the WCJ to make an express determination and finding of the date of injury pursuant to section 5412. The WCAB noted that while the WCJ discussed the date of injury, the WCJ erroneously equated applicant's knowledge that he suffered two specific injuries to his knees, and they were "caused by his work as a football player with knowledge that he had sustained a cumulative trauma injury." The WCAB stated "[t]he question of the period of injurious exposure is relevant to the issue of liability under section 5500.5, but knowledge of a specific industrial injury is not equivalent to knowledge of the right to file a claim of cumulative trauma industrial injury."

The COLA issue: The WCAB also remanded the case on the COLA issue. The Board stated it was "necessary for the WCJ to determine if the injury occurred on or after January 1, 2003, and whether any award a permanent disability indemnity is to include a COLA in conformity with section 4659(c)."

<u>Hafkey v. American Airlines, Inc., National Fire Insurance Company of Pittsburgh</u> 2018 Cal.Wrk.Comp P.D. Lexis 283 (WCAB panel decision)

Issues and Holding: In this non-sports case, both the WCJ and the WCAB found California subject matter jurisdiction over applicant's specific injury claim based on the fact applicant's employment contract with the defendant was formed in California when he accepted an oral offer of employment made over the telephone with an American Airlines representative even though the employment contract and other documents were signed in Arizona. The fact that applicant suffered a specific injury outside of California and initially filed a claim for Workers' Compensation benefits in Arizona before filing for Worker's Compensation benefits in California, did not negate California WCAB subject matter jurisdiction over his claim.

Factual and Procedural Overview: Applicant suffered a specific injury to his neck and back on December 26, 2014, when he was flying for defendant American Airlines on a route over the Midwest on the way to San Diego and encountered turbulence. Applicant was a resident of California and received surgery and medical treatment in California. Although defendant admitted the injury occurred, they denied the claim based on an alleged lack of subject matter jurisdiction based on the fact applicant signed his employment contract outside of California in Arizona and that his injury occurred outside of California. They also argued that since applicant initially filed his claim for Worker's Compensation benefits in Arizona, there was a lack of California subject matter jurisdiction over his claim.

Contract Formation: Applicant's credible and unrebutted testimony established that when he was hired by defendant he was living in California. He testified he was interviewed at length over the telephone by defendant's representative and offered a job which he accepted. It was his understanding he was hired by the defendant. He was then brought to Arizona by defendant to complete the hiring process including signing an employment contract in Arizona. With respect to applicant being a resident of California, the WCAB indicated that residency was not a relevant

factor in determining subject matter jurisdiction notwithstanding the language in Labor Code section 5305. The WCAB cited numerous appellate decisions holding that "[i]t has long been held that basing WCAB jurisdiction on residency is a denial of the equal protection of the law to non-residents." (citations omitted).

The applicant's presence in California at the time he accepted employment with defendant as opposed to his residency is a relevant factor in determining whether he accepted employment with defendant. "Section 3600.5(a) extends the coverage of California workers' compensation laws to "an employee who has been hired" in the state but is injured outside the state. Section 5305 provides for WCAB jurisdiction over a claim of industrial injury when the "contract of hire" is made in California." The WCAB emphasized that "there is no requirement in the law that an employment agreement be signed or that all the terms of employment be finalized in California in order for a hiring to occur in this state as described in sections 3600.5(a) and 5305." (citations omitted). The WCAB stated that the *Palmer*, *Bowen* and *Johnson* decisions collectively stand for the proposition that "applicants hiring in this state is sufficient connection with California to support WCAB jurisdiction over a claim for workers' compensation benefits.

Applicant's initial filing of his workers compensation case in Arizona: The WCAB held that the fact applicant filed his initial injury claim in Arizona does not change or alter whether the WCAB has subject matter jurisdiction due to the fact the applicant was hired in California. "It does not matter where a claim is first filed or in which state workers' compensation benefits are first provided." (*Thomas v. Washington Gas Light Co.*, (1980) 448 US 261 [65 L.Ed.2d 757; 100 S.Ct. 2647].). Based on applicable case law, an employee hired in California is entitled to pursue a claim in California, notwithstanding the existence of a claim in another state. (*Penn. v. WCAB (Myers)* (1997) 62 Cal.Comp.Cases 1128 (writ denied). The Board also noted that Worker's Compensation proceedings in Arizona have not been shown to be truly adversarial and judicial in nature. (citations omitted). The WCAB stated Defendant's remedy was to claim a credit for any workers' compensation benefits applicant may have received in Arizona.

<u>Pierce v. Washington Redskins, ACE American Insurance and Travelers</u> 2017 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P. D. LEXIS 244 (WCAB panel decision)

Issues: Whether applicant's employment contract was deemed formed in California when both the applicant and his agent were physically in California during the contract negotiations and if the contract was deemed formed in California whether that constitutes a sufficient connection to California to support WCAB jurisdiction pursuant to §§3600.5 and 5305, notwithstanding the number of games the applicant may have played in this state. Also, whether applicant's hiring in California establishes more than a "limited connection" with California for purposes of whether or not a forum selection clause in an employment contract should be enforced.

Holding: Both the WCJ and the WCAB determined applicant was hired in California for purposes of jurisdiction since both the applicant and his agent were physically present in California at the time applicant accepted employment. Moreover, since applicant's hiring was in California, it establishes a sufficient connection to support WCAB jurisdiction, notwithstanding the number of games applicant may have played in California, and it also establishes more than a "limited connection" with California for purposes of not enforcing a forum selection clause in applicant's

contract. Moreover, applicant's hiring in California during the period of injurious exposure may allow allocation of liability to a different employer during the period of injurious exposure in accordance with Labor Code §5500.5(a). (Withrow v. St. Louis Rams 2017 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 249 (WCAB panel decision) (subject matter jurisdiction over the injury and claim found where applicant accepted employment offered over the telephone while he was in California) see also, Paddio v. Cleveland Cavaliers, et al. 2017 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 242, see also 2017 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. Lexis 375 (WCAB panel decision). (WCAB reversed WCJ and found applicant's contract was formed in California where both the applicant and his agent were in California during contract negotiations with the Cavaliers and applicant authorized his agent to accept an employment offer on his behalf. The fact applicant subsequently signed the written contract in Nevada was regarded as a condition subsequent).

Discussion: Applicant was employed by the Washington Redskins and New York Football Giants, Inc., from April 27, 2001 to February 10, 2010. Although the WCJ determined applicant was a former and current resident of California, the WCAB indicated this fact is relevant only to applicant's testimony that he was in California when he accepted employment with Washington and New York. The WCAB noted that applicant's residence is not a basis for WCAB jurisdiction, since basing WCAB jurisdiction upon residency is a denial of equal protection of the law to non-residents. (citations omitted).

The WCJ found applicant to be credible in that he testified that both he and his agent were in California when he accepted Washington's offer of employment. Applicant's credible testimony was unrebutted. There were three contracts. The applicant was first employed by the Washington Redskins even though he apparently signed the contracts outside of California.

Given applicant's hiring in California the number of games he may have played or not played in California is irrelevant since the Board has jurisdiction over injuries and injurious exposure occurring even outside the state. Under *Federal Insurance Company v. WCAB (Johnson)* (2013) 221 Cal.App.4th 1116 [78 Cal.Comp.Cases 1257] (*Johnson*), applicant's hiring in California is a sufficient connection to support WCAB jurisdiction pursuant to §§3600.5 and 5305, irrespective of the number of games applicant may have played in this state. The court in *Johnson* wrote as follows:

"[T]he creation of the employment relationship in California, which came about when [Mr. Palma] signed the contract in San Francisco, was a sufficient contact with California to warrant the application of California workers' compensation law." (*Id*, 221 Cal.App.4th at p. 1126, italics added.)

Moreover, applicant's being hired in California is in itself a sufficient contact with this state for the WCAB to legitimately exercise jurisdiction over the applicant's workers' compensation claim, and at the same time it renders unreasonable for California to enforce a choice of law/forum selection clause in applicant's employment contract.

With respect to defendant's argument regarding allocation of liability to a different employer, the WCAB indicated that based on the hiring in California during the period of injurious exposure may allow allocation of liability to a different employer during the period of injurious exposure in

accordance with §5500.5(a) without violating due process as described in *Johnson*. (*New York Knickerbockers v. WCAB (Macklin)* (2015) 240 Cal.App.4th 1229 [80 Cal.Comp.Cases 1141] (Macklin). (see also, *Paddio v. Cleveland Cavaliers et al.* 2017 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 242, see also 2017 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 375 (WCAB panel decision). (WCAB subject matter jurisdiction established over applicant's "claim" based upon a hiring in California during the period of injurious exposure then allows allocation of liability to a different employer during the period of injurious exposure in accordance with §5500.5(a) without violating due process, citing *Macklin*); see also, *Withrow v. St. Louis Rams* (2017 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 249 (WCAB panel decision).

<u>Clemons v. Indianapolis Colts</u> 2017 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P. D. LEXIS 187 (writ denied).

Issues: Whether for purposes of Labor Code §§3600.5(a) and 5305 applicant was deemed "hired" in California based on the fact his agent's office was located in Beverly Hills, California and the agent negotiated with the employer and orally accepted an offer of employment on behalf of applicant who was not in California at the time the offer was made and who later signed the written employment contract in Texas.

Holding: The WCAB in reversing the WCJ found that applicant was hired in California for purposes of Labor Code §§3600.5(a) and 5305 since applicant's credible testimony indicated he had authorized his California-based agent to bind him to an employment agreement with defendant. Since applicant was hired in California there is WCAB jurisdiction over applicant's claim even though he played no games in this state.

Discussion: After playing briefly for one NFL team and then a Canadian football league team, applicant entered into an agreement with a California based sports agent whose office was located in Beverly Hills in the hopes of returning to play in the NFL. Applicant testified he gave his agent "authority to bind him to an employment agreement with the Indianapolis Colts." The agent then negotiated with the Colts on applicant's behalf. In December of 2003, applicant participated in a tryout in Indianapolis with the Colts. After the tryout applicant returned to his residence in Texas when he was contacted by his agent who told him, "Congratulations, you are a Colt." Applicant then signed his Player Contract with the Colts in Texas on January 5, 2004. There were conflicting provisions in the NFL Player Contract and a separate document entitled "Players Negotiation Location" as to where employment was actually accepted by either the applicant or applicant's agent. Applicant did not participate in any games or practices in California during his professional football career.

The WCJ found applicant's testimony credible that he gave his agent authority to bind him to an employment agreement. However, the WCJ also indicated that in his opinion the applicant's subjective belief as to contract formation was not determinative as to whether there was an actual acceptance of employment in California. Moreover, the judge felt the documentary evidence merely showed that negotiations were conducted to some extent in California but did not indicate applicant's agent actually accepted the contract on applicant's behalf in California. Moreover, applicant testified he could not recall the terms of the player/agent agreement that he signed with his California agent. Based on all of these factors the WCJ found that applicant was not hired in

California. Applicant filed a Petition for Reconsideration which was granted by the WCAB. The WCAB reversed the WCJ and found that applicant was hired in California.

The WCAB focused on the judge's finding applicant to be a credible witness and that the applicant testified credibly he gave his California agent authority to bind him to an employment contract with the Colts. The WCAB reviewed numerous cases, indicating that an acceptance of employment in California under §§3600.5 and 5305 can occur even without a written employment contract being executed in California.

The WCAB distinguished the *Barrow* case which the WCJ mistakenly relied upon. In that regard, the WCAB stated:

In addition, the facts in this case are different than in *Barrow*. In this case, the record supports findings that applicant's agent was authorized to accept employment on applicant's behalf, and that the agent was in California when he conveyed applicant's acceptance of the employment terms offered by Indianapolis. This is unlike what occurred in *Barrow*, where the record showed that the agent did not have authority to accept an employment offer on behalf of his client.

Since applicant was hired in California, it constituted a sufficient connection with California to support WCAB jurisdiction pursuant to Labor Code §§3600.5 and 5305, notwithstanding the fact applicant played no games and did not practice in California. See also, *Gorgen v. BKK Sports LLC*, *dba Camden Riversharks* 2023 Cal.Wrk.Comp P.D. LEXIS 141 (WCAB panel decision) both the WCJ and WCAB in a single defendant case found a basis for California WCAB personal jurisdiction over applicant's claim based on the undisputed evidence that he signed two separate contracts for hire with the Camden Riversharks while he was in California. Defendant tried to argue there was no personal jurisdiction based on the fact that applicant played no games in California for the Riversharks (thus no injurious exposure) and never traveled with the team to California. Both the WCJ and WCAB citing the Court of Appeal's decision in *Bowen*, found that a hiring in California is a sufficient interest in and of itself in terms of due process to establish personal jurisdiction over applicant's claim even if applicant's injury or injuries were suffered outside of California. Not sure why defendant in this single defendant case tried to argue there was no personal jurisdiction in light of *Bowen* and a legion of cases following *Bowen*.

However, if there were multiple defendants in this case as opposed to just a single defendant and one or more of those defendants/employers could establish they had no contract of hire formed with applicant in California then they may have been able to assert a lack of personal jurisdiction since personal jurisdiction unlike subject matter jurisdiction is not derivative and must be established for each and every defendant in a multiple defendant case.

Editor's Comment: The results in this case can be attributed to a defense failure of proof. The National Football League Players Association (NFLPA), which governs agents/contract advisors, has regulations which expressly prohibit all agents certified by the NFLPA from binding players to any employment contract. Moreover, the player/agent contract itself, which is uniform and mandatory, has a provision that expressly prohibits any NFL agent or contract advisor from binding a player to a contract. It appears neither the NFLPA regulations nor any provisions of the collective bargaining agreement between the NFL Management Council and the NFLPA, or an

actual copy of the contract that was entered into between applicant and his agent or a specimen copy from the NFLPA regulations were introduced into evidence. In the absence of this documentary evidence, the outcome of this case was based on applicant's testimony, which both the WCJ and the WCAB found credible.

<u>Fauria v. Carolina Panthers</u> 2017 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P. D. LEXIS 263 (WCAB panel decision)

Issues: Whether applicant's contract with the Carolina Panthers was formed in California when there was insufficient evidence that his contract advisor/agent was in California at the time of acceptance of the contract offer from the Panthers. Moreover, given the fact applicant had no injurious exposure in California while employed by the Panthers whether it was reasonable or consistent with due process to apply California workers' compensation law against the Panthers under *Johnson*.

Holding: It was applicant's burden to prove that the employment contract was formed in California. There was insufficient evidence to support a finding that an actual hiring occurred in California by the acceptance of employment within the state. The WCAB also determined there was insufficient evidence applicant's employment contract was formed in California under *Johnson* since applicant played no games in California for the Panthers there was an insufficient connection between the Panthers and California and applicant's injury to make application of California workers' compensation law reasonable and not a denial of due process.

Procedural and Factual Overview: This case has a long and complex procedural history. There were a number of trials. However, as indicated hereinabove, the two primary issues were whether or not applicant's employment contract with the Panthers was formed in California and whether under *Johnson* from a due process standpoint given the fact that applicant suffered no injurious exposure in California while employed by the Panthers, whether it would be reasonable or consistent with due process to apply California's workers' compensation law against the Panthers.

Based on a cumulative trauma claim from July 17, 1995 to February 28, 2000, the WCJ found that applicant was hired in the State of California based on the WCJ's finding that applicant's agent accepted the offer of employment on behalf of applicant. The WCJ awarded applicant 93% permanent disability. Defendant filed a Petition for Reconsideration which was granted by the WCAB who **reversed** the WCJ and found that applicant's employment contract was not formed in California.

The Contract Formation Issue: Applicant played for a number of NFL teams during the course of his career, including the Seattle Seahawks, the New England Patriots, and Washington Redskins as well as the Carolina Panthers. The Carolina Panthers were the terminal employer. The three other codefendants were dismissed prior to trial without any objection.

Applicant testified he was initially contacted about a potential contract with the Panthers when he was in Hermosa Beach, California. His agent advised him he thought the Panthers wanted to sign him. Before the essential terms of any contract were discussed, applicant traveled to Carolina for a physical and a tryout. He then flew back to Massachusetts and was subsequently contacted by

his agent by phone in Massachusetts and advised that an agreement had been reached. Applicant also testified he signed the NFL Player Contract with the Panthers in Carolina. Of significance is the fact that applicant testified he did not know where his agent was when the agent signed the contract.

The actual NFL employment contract with the Panthers was offered into evidence. The applicant's address on the contract was listed as Newport Beach, California. Although the contract was faxed by defendant to California, there was also a fax stamp indicating the contract was also faxed to a number in South Carolina. A defense witness testified he had no knowledge of where applicant's agent was located at the time the agent signed the contract on behalf of applicant.

The WCAB in finding there was insufficient evidence to support the determination by the WCJ that applicant's contract was formed in California noted that, "The North Carolina fax number on applicant's employment contract indicates that applicant's agent was in North Carolina when he agreed to the terms of employment on applicant's behalf and signed the contract. No additional evidence was received following the January 14, 2016 decision after reconsideration. Thus, the evidence concerning applicant's hiring by Carolina is still in dispute and it is still insufficient in support of finding a hire in this state."

The WCAB acknowledged that while it is not necessary that all the terms of an employment agreement be finalized in California in order for the WCAB to obtain jurisdiction pursuant to §§3600.5(a) and 5305, the Board also noted that, "There must nevertheless be evidence sufficient to support of finding that a hiring occurred in California by the acceptance of employment within the state in order for that jurisdictional basis to apply." (citations omitted)

The WCAB also noted that the burden of proof was on the applicant to prove he was hired in California, citing Labor Code §5705. The WCAB also noted applicant had many opportunities at both trials to present evidence showing he was hired in California, but that a preponderance of the evidence did not support such a finding. It is not enough that there was a "mere possibility" that applicant was hired in California by Carolina.

The Board indicated that if subject matter had been hired in California, there would have been no requirement that he had to suffer injurious exposure within California since a contract formed in California gives the WCAB jurisdiction over any injury or injuries that occurred outside of California based on a number of cases, including *Alaska Packers Assn. v. Industrial Acc. Com.* (*Palma*) (1934) 1 Cal.2d 250, 252, affd. (1935) 294 U.S. 532, *Bowen v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd.* (1999) 73 Cal.App.4th 15, 21-22 [64 Cal.Comp.Cases 745], and (*Laeng v. Workman's Comp. Appeals Bd.* (1972) 6 Cal.3d 771 at p. 777, [37 Cal.Comp.Cases 185].

Johnson Due Process Distinguished from Personal Jurisdiction: On reconsideration the WCAB was careful to distinguish personal jurisdiction i.e., the power to hear and determine the case against a party. In terms of personal jurisdiction, the WCAB noted as follows:

There is no question that Carolina has sufficient contact with California for the WCAB to have "personal jurisdiction" over it in its most fundamental sense. (*International Shoe Co. v. Washington (1945) 326 U.S. 310 [66 S. Ct. 154, 90 L. Ed. 95]; Martin v. Detroit*

Lions, Inc. (1973) 32 Cal.App.3d 472 [professional football team contacts with California sufficient for court to have personal jurisdiction over it in suit by former player for breach of contract]; *Ballard v. Savage* (9th Cir. 1995) 65 F.3d 1495.)

In contrast with respect to the *Johnson* due process issue, the WCAB noted that, "The issue in this case is whether the connection between the defendant, this state, and applicant's injury claim is sufficient to make application of California's workers' compensation law reasonable and not a denial of due process." So, in other words, California had the power in terms of personal jurisdiction to hear the case, but with respect to a separate aspect of due process under *Johnson*, since applicant was not hired in California and that during the applicable Labor Code §5500.5 liability period, applicant played no games and had no injurious exposure in California while employed by the Panthers, it would not be reasonable or consistent with due process to apply California workers' compensation law against the Panthers under *Johnson*.

Editor's Comment: With respect to the WCAB's personal jurisdiction analysis it is extremely important to be cognizant of the United Supreme Court's decision in *Bristol-Myers Squibb v*. Superior Court of California, et al. (2017) 582 U.S. 256, 137 S.Ct. 1773. Bristol-Myers shifted the analytical focus from a pure "minimum contacts" and "purposeful availment" assessment to one in which specific personal jurisdiction is confined or limited to adjudication of issues derived from or connected with the controversy and the specific claims at issue. Where there is no such connection "specific" personal jurisdiction is lacking regardless of the extent of defendants unconnected activities in the state."

<u>Langdon v. New Jersey Devils, Montreal Canadiens, Federal Insurance Company</u> (2017) 82 Cal.Comp.Cases 928, 2017 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P. D. LEXIS 196 (WCAB panel decision)

Issue: Whether the WCAB had jurisdiction over multiple defendants, many of whom were insured by the same carrier when applicant was hired in California by a California-based roller hockey team, and whether such jurisdiction extends over all of applicant's alleged injuries suffered subsequent to his California employment no matter where injurious exposure occurred.

Holding: With respect to California WCAB jurisdiction versus liability of a particular employer, the WCAB found there was both personal and subject matter jurisdiction over multiple professional hockey teams as well as the carrier since applicant not only played for a California-based team, but was hired in California, which extends jurisdiction and potential liability to later employers during the period of injurious exposure pursuant to Labor Code §5500.5(a).

Procedural and Factual Overview: The following factual and procedural overview should be read in the context that this is both a "roll forward" and "rollback" case.

Applicant was employed by the New York Rangers from 1993 to 2000, the Anaheim Bullfrogs in 1994, the Carolina Hurricanes from 2001 to 2003, and the Vancouver Canucks from 2003 to 2003. He then played for the Montreal Canadiens from October 28, 2003 to April 29, 2004, and the New Jersey Devils from April 29, 2004 to November 8, 2005.

In terms of applicant's employment and hiring in California, during one period of time while the applicant was with the New York Rangers from 1994 to 1995, there was a hockey lockout for half a year. During that summer he played for a professional roller hockey team, the Anaheim Bullfrogs. He was advised to play in this particular league by his agent, and the agent spoke to the Rangers and applicant was advised to do something to stay in shape. He signed his employment contract with the Bullfrogs in Anaheim. He played 21 games for the Bullfrogs. In addition to the 21 games, he also participated in practices in California.

In addition to the games and practices he played in California for the Bullfrogs when he played later for other NHL teams, he played at least 16 games in California and some practices. While employed by the Montreal Canadiens from October 28, 2003 to April 29, 2004, he played three games plus practices in California. However, during the period he was employed by the New Jersey Devils from April 29, 2004 to November 8, 2005, he played no games or practices in California.

Following trial, the WCJ awarded applicant 38% permanent disability after apportionment and further medical treatment. The award was made in "favor of applicant against defendant." No particular defendant was indicated or identified with respect to liability.

The Effect of Applicants Hiring in California by a California-Based Team: Notwithstanding the fact applicant's hiring in California occurred in 1994, eleven years before his last injurious exposure playing for the New Jersey Devils, the WCAB noted that when an employee is hired in California, a workers' compensation claim may be brought in California regardless of where any injury occurred. In that regard, the Board stated as follows:

The WCAB has subject matter jurisdiction over applicant's injury and claim under sections 3600.5(a) and 5305 because he was hired in California by Anaheim, where he sustained cumulative trauma that contributed to his injury, and because he sustained additional cumulative trauma both inside and outside of this state while employed by other teams. It is undisputed that applicant was hired in California by Anaheim and that he regularly worked in this state while employed by that team.

Also, based on applicant's hiring in California it was not disputed that subsequent to his employment in California for Anaheim he sustained injurious exposure resulting in a cumulative industrial injury as a professional hockey player by a number of professional hockey teams he played for subsequent to 1994, including the New Jersey Devils and the Montreal Canadiens.

The "Roll Forward" Liability Issue: Defendant disputed and argued there was no basis to roll liability forward ten or eleven years from the time applicant played for Anaheim in California to when he was employed in 2004 and 2005 by the Canadiens and by the New Jersey Devils. However, with respect to that issue the Board stated:

Moreover, the existence of WCAB jurisdiction over an injury and claim because the applicant was hired in California by an earlier employer allows allocation of liability to a later employer during the period of injurious exposure in accordance with section 5500.5(a). (New York Knickerbockers v. Workers' Compensation

Appeals Board (*Macklin*) (2015) 240 Cal.App.4th 1229 [80 Cal.Comp.Cases 1141] (*Macklin*).)

Personal Jurisdiction: Defendant on reconsideration raised the issue that the WCJ's award made "no mention of jurisdiction over particular parties." In response the WCAB noted that it was not necessary for the judge to issue findings of "jurisdiction over particular parties" because all parties consented to personal jurisdiction without objection. In addition to the fact that all parties not only consented and in effect waived any objection to personal jurisdiction, the WCAB indicated that personal jurisdiction also existed because of the defendant's other contacts with the state, citing *International Shoe Co. v. Washington* (1945) 326 U.S. 310; *Calder v. Jones* (1984) 465 U.S. 783; *Martin v. Detroit Lions.* (1973) 32 Cal.App.3d 472 [professional football team contacts with California sufficient for court to have personal jurisdiction over it in suit by former player for breach of contract]; *Ballard v. Savage* (9th Cir. 1995) 65 F.3d 1495.

Editor's Comment: With respect to the WCAB's personal jurisdiction analysis above, it is extremely important to be cognizant of the United Supreme Court's recent decision in *Bristol-Myers Squibb v. Superior Court of California, et al.* (2017) 582 U.S. 256, 137 S.Ct. 1773. *Bristol-Myers* shifted the analytical focus from a pure "minimum contacts" and "purposeful availment" assessment to one in which specific personal jurisdiction is confined or limited to adjudication of issues derived from or connected with the controversy and the specific claims at issue. Where there is no such connection "specific" personal jurisdiction is lacking regardless of the extent of defendants unconnected activities in the state."). In *Bristol-Myers*, the USSC found a lack of specific personal jurisdiction over the numerous non-California plaintiffs since they never purchased Plavix in California and did not suffer any injury or harm from Plavix in California. See also the USSC's decision in *Ford Motor Co. v. Montana Eighth Judicial District Court et al.* 592 U.S._____(2021), 1415 S.Ct. 1017.

The Issue of Liability and the Interaction of Labor Code §§5500.5 and 5500.5(e): The carrier, Federal Insurance (Federal) argued that the New Jersey Devils should not be held liable under §5500.5(a) because applicant did not participate in any games or practices in California and did not incur injurious exposure in California while employed by New Jersey.

In a very refined and extensive discussion of the interplay/interaction of Labor Code §5500.5(a) and Labor Code §5500.5(e) (contribution proceedings) the WCAB noted that Federal's argument regarding liability under §5500.5(a) was premature since there had been no finding or determination related to contribution proceedings under Labor Code §5500.5(e). Therefore, Federal as the carrier was not aggrieved by a "final order, decision, or award" concerning liability in order to obtain reconsideration. In clarifying and elucidating the complex relationship between Labor Code §5500.5(a) and Labor Code §5500.5(e), the Board indicated the following significant procedural and substantive guidelines:

The lack of express identification of the liable employer(s) by the judge was not necessary and did not support reconsideration by a defendant. In that regard the Board stated: [injured employee may "obtain an award for the entire disability against any one or more of successive employers or successive insurance carriers if the disease and disability were contributed to by the employment furnished by the employer chosen or during the period covered by the insurance even though the particular employment is not the sole cause of the disability"]; *Tidewater Oil Co. v. Workers*'

Comp. Appeals Bd. (1977) 67 Cal.App.3d 950, 957 [42 Cal.Comp.Cases 220] [employers and/or insurers have with a corresponding right to seek apportionment and contribution from earlier employers and/or insurers].)

In that Federal is the insurer of both New Jersey and Montreal, it has liability for the award in the absence of a different determination following a section 5500.5(e) supplemental proceeding.

The Relation Back Aspect of the Case is Dependent on Subsequent Contribution Proceedings under Labor Code §5500.5(e):

The WCAB noted that given the fact that Federal was the insurer for both the New Jersey Devils and the Montreal Canadians it has liability for the award in the absence of and pending a determination following a Labor Code §5500.5(e) supplemental proceeding related to contribution.

The WCAB agreed with the argument made by applicant's counsel that even if New Jersey was not liable under \$5500.5, liability would relate back to Montreal because Montreal is the next employer identified in the statute and applicant did participate in hockey games and practices in California while employed by Montreal. The WCAB in support of the relation back analysis cited the following cases: (See, *Rex Club v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd. (Oakley-Clyburn)* (1997) 53 Cal App 4th 1465 [62 Cal.Comp.Cases 441]; *County of Riverside v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd. (Sylves)* (2017) 10 Cal.App. 5th 119, 126-127 [2017 Cal.App. LEXIS 269] [supplemental proceeding in section 5500.5(e) intended to mitigate the delay, expense, and hardship incurred by a disabled employee where multiple employers or insurance carriers are involved].)

The WCAB also indicated Federal's *Johnson* due process argument as it related to the rollback team, the Montreal Canadiens, may not be viable even in subsequent contribution proceedings. In that regard, the WCAB cited both the *Sylves* and *Macklin* cases. The WCAB noted that subjecting Montreal as the rollback team to California workers' compensation law even though applicant only practiced and played three games in California would be reasonable and not a denial of due process:

This is because Montreal has sufficient connection to this state with regard to applicant's injury and claim to support the application of California law against it consistent with due process. As the Court held in *Macklin*, "California has a legitimate interest in an industrial injury when the applicant was employed by a California corporation and participated in other games and practices in California for non-California NBA teams, during the period of exposure causing cumulative injury." (*Macklin*, *supra*, 240 Cal.App.4th at p. 1232.)

In addition to referencing *Macklin*, the WCAB also indicated that Federal's reliance on *Johnson*, alleging that the 3 games and practices in California for the Canadiens was de minimis was not persuasive. Of significance to the Board was the fact that applicant was employed by a California-based team. Therefore, under *Macklin* the Court of Appeal's holding in *Johnson* was not strictly applicable. In that regard, the Board stated:

However, in light of applicant's employment by a California-based team, it is not necessary to determine if the other activities in California are sufficient by themselves to make the application of California workers' compensation law reasonable, although those activities are more than the one game that the Court in *Johnson* concluded was de minimis. (See, *Macklin, supra*, 240 Cal.App. 4th at p. 1239.)

The Date of Injury Argument: Defendant also argued that applicant only sustained "injurious exposure" while working in California and the actual date of injury under §5412 did not occur until applicant was outside of the state and incurred disability. The WCAB found that contention without merit and cited several cases which undermined defendant's argument. The WCAB also pointedly indicated the distinction between the Labor Code §5412 date of injury related to the statute of limitations in contrast to Labor Code §3208.1. Under Labor Code §3201, a cumulative injury occurs over a period of time, not on a specific date, as argued by Federal. More to the point, the WCAB stated:

Contrary to defendant's assertions, the "date of injury" defined by section 5412 is not when a cumulative injury is caused. Instead, it is a date used for statute of limitation and liability purposes in adjudicating cumulative injury claims because it identifies when the cumulative injury manifested itself through compensable temporary disability or permanent disability with the employee's knowledge that the disability was caused by industrial injury. (citations omitted).

The WCAB also noted that based on the record applicant's last date of injurious exposure was *prior* to the date of injury defined by §5412. In that regard, since Federal was the insurer for the employer for more than one-year preceding the last day of injurious exposure, the judge properly concluded that it had the liability for the cumulative injury pursuant to §5500.5.

Editor's Comment: This is a very complex multi-layered, multi-factorial case. Not stressed by the WCAB was the fact applicant's employment contract was formed in California, in itself may have been a basis for finding the holding in *Johnson* inapplicable.

If this case can be distilled down into one important lesson, it is that in cases where you have multiple employers or insurance carriers in order to mitigate the delay, expense, and hardship incurred by an applicant the multiple employers and carrier have a potential remedy for contribution or reimbursement in supplemental proceedings under Labor Code §5500.5(e).

<u>Walker v. WCAB</u> (2016) 81 Cal.Comp.Cases 461; 2016 Cal.Wrk.Comp. LEXIS 53 (writ denied)

Issue and Holding: In this non-sports case, applicant was physically present in Georgia when he accepted an offer of employment sent from Utah via email. He never performed any work in California and suffered a specific injury in Utah. The fact that applicant's employer was headquartered in California and deducted California taxes from his wages, and he was required to join a California union did not serve as a basis to establish California subject matter jurisdiction.

Factual Overview: It was undisputed the employer was headquartered in California. Applicant received an offer of employment while he was living in Georgia. The offer of employment was sent to applicant in Georgia by email from applicant's supervisor who was located in Utah. The email offer of employment was made via the employer's email account. However, the applicant received the email offer of employment from Utah on his own individual Hotmail.com account and also used that same account to transmit his acceptance of the employment offer back to the employer. Applicant never worked in California and suffered a specific injury in Utah.

Applicant asserted there was a basis for California subject matter jurisdiction since the employer issued applicant's paychecks from California and deducted California taxes. Applicant was also required to join a union in California and defendant's Human Resources headquarters was located in California. The WCJ and the WCAB found that even if these various factors were true, it was insufficient to justify California's exercise of subject matter jurisdiction since applicant never worked in California and no contract for hire was made in California.

The WCJ determined the time and place of applicant's acceptance of the contract for hire was in Georgia, citing *Ledbetter Erection Corp. v. WCAB* (1984) 156 Cal.App. 3d 1097, 49 Cal.Comp.Cases 47. In *Ledbetter*, applicant's telephonic acceptance of an employment contract in Nevada was sufficient to establish that the contract was formed in Nevada. "The California Court of Appeal in *Ledbetter* observed that the issue was controlled by a "well-established principle of contract law that a contract is formed at the time and place the offeree accepts and communicates his or her acceptance to the offeror." The WCJ also indicated that, "the fact that a California-based employer is a party to the employment contract is insufficient, in itself, to confer California jurisdiction."

Since applicant never worked in California, the only way for applicant to establish California subject matter jurisdiction pursuant to Labor Code §5305 was to show the contract of hire was made in California.

The WCAB in granting reconsideration affirmed the WCJ's decision that there was a lack of California subject matter jurisdiction. The WCAB stated as follows:

Labor Code §3600.5(a) extends California worker's compensation laws to "an employee who has been hired" in California but is injured outside the state, and Labor Code §5305 provides for WCAB jurisdiction over a claim of industrial injury when the contract of hire is made in California. Although the location where the employment contract is signed is not always determinative of the place of hiring as described in Labor Code §§3600.5(a) and 5305 because there may be conditions subsequent to the hiring in California that need to be completed before finalization of the contract, the WCAB emphasized that there must be a hiring in California for the WCAB to have jurisdiction, and that, when an employee hired outside of California sustains injury outside of this state, the WCAB does not have jurisdiction over a resulting claim for worker's compensation benefits, even if the employer and the employee's union are based in California and the employee pays California taxes.

<u>Royster v. NFL Europe</u> 2014 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 445 (WCAB panel decision)

Issues: Whether applicant's contract with an NFL Europe team was formed in California, and if so, whether a contract of employment formed in California as a matter of public policy mandates that any Choice of Forum/Choice of Law in the provisions of the contract should not be enforced.

Holding: Both the WCJ and the WCAB determined applicant's contract was formed in California orally over the telephone. Since applicant's contract was formed in California, the Choice of Law/Choice of Forum provisions in the employment contract were not enforceable as a matter of public policy.

Procedural & Factual Overview: Applicant, a resident of California, was at home in California when he received a telephone call from the head coach for the Scottish Claymores of NFL Europe. During the course of the conversation, applicant was told/advised that the Claymores had a right to hire him based on a prior NFL Europe draft and that all NFL Europe players except quarterbacks received a standard one-year contract for a fixed amount of money and there was no negotiation regarding the amount of money and the length of the contract.

Applicant was invited to come to training camp in Georgia. He accepted the offer over the telephone. NFL Europe paid for his airfare to Georgia and his room and board. There were also some critical undisputed facts, in that applicant's conversation with the Claymores' coach was not a guarantee that he would be on the team. He did not actually sign his contract with NFL Europe/the Claymores until he was in Georgia at training camp, and that the training camp in Georgia was merely a tryout and his contract would be terminated if he failed to pass a physical examination and certain other tests, including drug testing, or failed to demonstrate sufficient football skills in training camp.

The WCJ determined applicant was a credible witness. Defendant was unable to actually call the head coach from the Claymores to testify, but instead produced two witnesses, neither of who were parties to the telephone conversation between the applicant and the head coach for the Claymores. These two witnesses testified essentially to what the head coach told them about the conversation between the head coach and applicant. In denying defendant's Petition for Reconsideration, the WCAB discussed and analyzed all of the key California contract formation cases. They started with Labor Code §§5305, and 3600.5(a). Basically, these statutes indicate the WCAB has jurisdiction over claims for out-of-state injury if the contract for hire was made in California.

Moreover, the WCAB repeated the frequently cited principle that the WCAB is not confined to finding whether or not there was a traditional contract of hire entered into between the applicant and the employer given the broad statutory contours of the employment relationship sufficient to bring the California Workers' Compensation Act into play. Therefore, the formation of a contract is not determined simply from technical contracts or common law conceptions of employment but must instead be resolved in reference to the history and fundamental purpose of the underlying the act. The WCAB cited among a number of cases, including *Laeng v. WCAB* (1972) 6 Cal.3d 771; 37 Cal. Comp. Cases 185, as well as *Bowen*.

The WCAB also pointed out that in determining whether a contract was made in California the critical question is whether actual acceptance took place in California. Moreover, the Board pointed to many non-sports cases where California has adopted a rule and found that oral contracts consummated over the telephone are deemed made when the offeree utters the words of acceptance. Most importantly, if the offer of employment is accepted in California, even over the telephone, "a contract of hire will be deemed to have been made here even if the actual contract is signed out of the state." (*Travelers Ins. Co. v. WCAB (Coakley)* (1967) 68 Cal.2d 7, 14 [32 Cal. Comp. Cases 527].

The WCAB also emphasized that even though there are other out-of-state contingencies to be completed after the oral formation and acceptance of the contract for hire in California, these will not prevent the formation of a contract. These conditions subsequent were described, including filling out lengthy questionnaires, obtaining a security clearance, and the actual signing of a contract and taking a physical after the oral acceptance.

The Validity of the Forum Selection Clause: Of interest in this case was applicant's actual contract with NFL Europe was not entered into evidence, but rather a specimen contract since it appears to have been NFL Europe's policy to destroy all contracts after seven years. The WCAB discussed the *McKinley* case, indicating that in general, a reasonable mandatory forum selection clause in the employment contract specifying that claims for workers' compensation be filed in a forum other than California will be upheld if there is a limited connection to California with regard to the employment and the claimed cumulative trauma injury.

However, based on Labor Code §§5305 and 3500.5(a) the WCAB has jurisdiction over a workers' compensation claim where the contract of hire was formed and made in California. The WCAB noted that in both the *McKinley* and *Johnson* cases, the employment contracts were not made in California. The WCAB conducted an extensive analysis of the applicable cases and indicated that given the fact applicant's contract was formed in California, this is an exception to the general rule under *McKinley* that a reasonable Choice of Law/Choice of Forum clause will be enforced. The WCAB also looked at the newly enacted provisions of AB 1309 and reached the conclusion that the forum selection clause in the NFL Europe contract should not be enforced and would be violative of California public policy since applicant's contract was formed in California.

Editor's Comment: See also Finn v. New York Football Giants 2017 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 132 (WCAB panel decision). (Applicant's contract deemed formed in California based on telephone negotiations and acceptance of essential terms of contract when applicant physically located in California and negotiated directly with team's general manager who was in Hawaii. As a consequence, the forum selection clause in the contract not enforceable under McKinley.); Douglas v. New York Giants; World League of American Football, et al. 2012 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 510 (WCAB panel decision) (Applicant found to have been hired in California when his multiple employment contracts formed or made in California during the course of telephone negotiations and acceptance before applicant signed his contracts in Florida.)

<u>Soward v. Jacksonville Jaguars</u> 2014 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 140 (WCAB panel decision)

Issue: In National Football League (NFL) cases whether the parties must sign an enforceable written NFL player contract that is recognized by the NFL within California in order for the WCAB to have subject matter jurisdiction over applicant's claim.

Holding: Under long established California case law and under Labor Codes §§3600.5 (a) and 5305 there is no requirement that an enforceable written contract recognized by the NFL be executed in California to confer WCAB subject matter jurisdiction. An enforceable contract can be formed and accepted in a variety of ways including telephonically. Written employment contracts and other documents following and acceptance and formation of an oral contract in California are construed to be condition subsequent. Moreover, the specific location where a contract is signed is not determinative of the actual place of origin or acceptance of the contract under Labor Code sections 3600.5 (a) and 5305.

Factual and Procedural Background: Applicant was a California resident represented by a California agent. Both were within the State of California during contract negotiations with the Jaguars. Applicant accepted the employment terms offered by the team while he was within California and both the WCJ and the Board found the contract was offered and accepted telephonically in California notwithstanding the fact applicant signed the contract subsequently in Florida.

Defendant introduced evidence that "the only binding employment contract recognized in the National Football League [NFL] is the NFL player contract. In a footnote, the WCAB indicated that regardless of what the NFL regards or recognizes as a binding contract "jurisdiction in this case is based upon §§3600.5(a) and 5305, and those sections do not require that an "enforceable written employment contract be signed within the state." The Board went on in addressing defendant's contentions by stating "there is no requirement in either section that the parties must sign an "enforceable" written contract that is "recognized" by the NFL within California in order for the WCAB to have jurisdiction over an injury claim. The WCAB cited *Laeng v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Board* (1972) 6 Cal 3d 771 [37 Cal Comp Cases 185]; *Arriaga v. County of Alameda* (1995) 9 Cal. 4th 1055, 1061 [60 Cal Comp Cases 316].

The WCAB also indicated that "finalizations of written employment contracts and documents following a hiring in California have been construed to be conditions subsequent to the hiring." (Citations)

The defendant in this case argued as many do, that it is the location where the contract is signed that is determinative as to where a contract is deemed accepted and formed. However, the WCAB indicated that "it has also been long recognized that the location where a contract is signed is not determinative of the place of hiring or making of the contract of hire as described in sections 3600.5(a) and 5305." (Citations) "Instead, the finalizations of written employment contracts and documents following a hiring in California have been construed to be conditions subsequent to the

hiring." (Citations) The Board in citing numerous cases and a critical treatise stated:

The fact that there are formalities which must be subsequently attended to with respect to such extra territorial employment does not abrogate the contract of hire or California jurisdiction. Such things as filling out formal papers regarding the specific terms of the employment or obtaining a security clearance from the Federal Government are deemed "conditions subsequent" to the contract, not preventing it from initially coming into existence.

Defendant also unsuccessfully relied on and, in the WCAB's opinion, misconstrued the case of *Barrow v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Board* (2012) 76 Cal Comp Cases 988 (writ denied). The WCAB noted the:

"WCAB in *Barrow* concluded there was no California subject matter jurisdiction because there was insufficient evidence to support applicant's contention that his employment contract was made in California because applicant's agent testified he had no authority to accept an employment offer on the applicant's behalf. More importantly and what was ignored by the defendant in this case was that the WCAB Panel in *Barrow* further indicated that it was not necessary for an employee to sign a written contract in California in order for the WCAB to obtain jurisdiction under §§ 3600.5(a) and 5305."

The WCAB also indicated that in this case not only was applicant and applicant's agent in California when the contract was negotiated and accepted but more importantly, applicant was a California resident. Therefore, the facts in this case were similar to other cases finding California subject matter jurisdiction where both the athlete and the agent were in California, specifically, *Tampa Bay Devil Rays v. WCAB (Luke)* (2008) 73 Cal Comp Cases 550 (writ denied) (Luke). WCAB also cited several other cases where valid employment contracts were accepted and formed telephonically in California even though actual employment contracts and other significant events occurred outside of California. (*Janzen v. WCAB* (1997) 61 Cal. App, 4th 109, 115[63 Cal. Comp. Cases 9]; *Bundsen v. WCAB* (1983) 147 Cal. App. 3rd 106 [48 Cal. Comp. Cases 673]).

Comment: This case as indicated, affirms an extensive line of California cases that have consistently applied Labor Code §§ 3600.5(a) and 5305 in liberally construing and extending benefits under California workers' compensation laws. There is no strict adherence to common law contract formation principles of offer and acceptance. However, in dicta it is interesting to note the WCAB indicates that in the absence of contrary evidence, there is an inference that the employer is the offeror because it has the superior bargaining power that normally dictates the terms of the employment. The author questions the soundness of the reasoning or conclusion in professional sports cases. In professional sports cases the athlete/applicant is usually represented by an agent who in many instances is an attorney, and who is certified, as in this case, by the NFL Players Association. The cases cited by the WCAB in support of an inference that the employer is in a superior bargaining power did not involve scenarios or situations where the applicant was highly compensated and represented by an agent. (see also, *Smith v. St Louis Rams, et al.*, 2016 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 250 (WCAB panel decision).

Randle v. Seattle Seahawks, Permissibly Self-Insured, Administered by CCMSI; Minnesota Vikings 2014 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 106 (WCAB panel decision)

Holding/Issue: Whether on remand from the WCAB, there is evidence to establish applicant was hired in the State of California pursuant to Labor Code sections 3600.5(a) and 5302 so as to preclude enforcement of a contractual choice of law/forum clause.

Factual and Procedural Background: The WCAB, on November 25, 2013, initially affirmed the WCJ's findings there was California subject matter jurisdiction based on the fact applicant was hired in the State of California and that since he was hired in the State of California, unlike the applicant in the *McKinley* case, the choice of law/choice of forum clause in the applicant's Seattle Seahawks' contract should not be enforced. Moreover, in its original decision the Board found the statute of limitations did not apply and that two out of three AME reports constituted substantial medical evidence. However, in response to the Board's original November 25, 2013 Opinion and Decision after Reconsideration, both applicant and defendant the Seattle Seahawks' filed Petitions for Reconsideration. Applicant's Petition for Reconsideration involved the WCAB's decision that the AME report of Dr. Jay in internal medicine did not constitute substantial medical evidence, and the Board should have ordered further development of the record.

Defendant, the Seattle Seahawks, filed their Petition for Reconsideration of the Board's original November 25, 2013, Opinion and Order on the issue of whether or not applicant was hired in California pursuant to Labor Code sections 5302 and 3600.5(a). Defendant further contended that the Minutes of Hearing and Summary of Evidence in the case from the trial level did not accurately reflect the testimony of the applicant on that issue. Defendant obtained a trial transcript and requested the WCAB reevaluate their analysis in light of the trial transcript. After reviewing a partial transcript, the WCAB was persuaded that the record regarding whether or not the applicant was hired in California should be reconsidered. As a consequence, the WCAB rescinded their previous decision of November 25, 2013, in order to allow the WCJ to re-determine whether the WCAB has jurisdiction over applicant's claim based on his contention that he was hired in California.

The WCAB also directed the trial judge to also consider not only the *McKinley* and *Carroll* en banc decisions, but also the Court of Appeal certified for publication decision in *Federal_Insurance Co. v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd. (Johnson)* (2013) 221 Cal. App. 4th 1116. Moreover, the WCJ was to determine whether or not the Minnesota Vikings had been dismissed or whether they were still a party to the case.

<u>Allen v. Milwaukee Bucks, et al.</u> 2013 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 138 (WCAB panel decision)

Issue: Whether there was substantial evidence that an employment contract was actually formed and accepted in California as opposed to mere discussions or negotiation.

Holding: There was a lack of substantial evidence to support a finding that applicant's California agent accepted a contract on applicant's behalf while applicant was physically outside the State of

California, as opposed to the agent merely negotiating and discussing terms of the proposed contract.

Factual & Procedural Overview: Following trial, the WCJ found a basis for California jurisdiction in that applicant's contract was formed in California and awarded applicant 85.75% permanent disability with no apportionment. Defendant filed a Petition for Reconsideration.

The facts indicate applicant played for various NBA teams over three seasons, from 1995 through 1999. After his NBA career was over he played in Europe for approximately eleven seasons, from 1999 through 2009. Applicant never resided in California, and he never signed any of his contracts in California. There was evidence that applicant, while negotiating with at least two NBA teams, was represented by two different agents who had offices in California. However, when each of the agents was negotiating applicant's contracts, applicant was physically outside the State of California.

In reversing the WCJ's determination that applicant's contract had been accepted and formed in California, the WCAB indicated the critical/pivotal question to be determined as to whether or not a contract for hire occurred or was formed in California, is whether the actual "acceptance" took place in California, citing numerous cases.

Although applicant testified he had authorized his agents to negotiate on his behalf while he was outside the State of California, the extent of the authorization was in question. With respect to that issue, the Board stated:

Here, there is some evidence that applicant "authorized" his agent to form a contract with the Milwaukee Bucks, but the extent of that authority is unknown. It is unclear whether the agent actually "accepted," in a contractual sense, before applicant signed a written contract in Milwaukee.

The Board did reaffirm the essential contractual formation principle applicable in California, that the WCAB is "not constrained in interpreting the provisions of the Workers Compensation Act by the common law contractual doctrine." (*Laeng v. WCAB* (1972) 6 Cal. 3d 771, 37 Cal. Comp. Cases 185)

While acknowledging there was no requirement of proof that the agent's words created a contract enforceable in civil court, the Board under the facts of this case indicated, "However, there must be substantial evidence that employment was actually accepted in California, not merely discussed or negotiated."

The basis for the remand back to the WCJ to further develop the record was based on the fact the existing record did not allow the Board to determine whether one of the applicant's agents accepted employment in California on behalf of applicant for the purposes of §§3600.5(a) and 5305.

<u>Perez v. WCAB</u> (2013) 78 Cal.Comp.Cases 729; 2013 Cal. Wrk. Comp. LEXIS 91 (writ denied)

Holding: In this non-sports case, no California subject matter jurisdiction found notwithstanding applicant's primary residence was in California and the employer was based in California where the contract for hire was formed in Arizona and applicant performed no work or job duties in California.

Factual Background: Applicant's primary residence was in California. Defendant was a California based employer. It was undisputed that the job offer, and acceptance were both made in Arizona. No work was performed in California. Applicant suffered an injury while he was in Arizona and received initial treatment while he was in Arizona. At some point after the injury, he moved back to California which was the state of his primary residence. Applicant did receive some medical treatment in Arizona for a short period of time. When applicant moved back to California, defendant also authorized further medical treatment in California.

Following a period of medical treatment, applicant was offered a light work position and returned to Arizona to work. The injury was initially accepted by defendant. However, they later disputed and contested liability on the basis there was no California subject matter jurisdiction.

Following trial, the WCJ determined there was no California subject matter jurisdiction. Applicant filed a Petition for Reconsideration which was denied and then subsequently filed a Petition for Writ of Review which was also denied.

Discussion: Although this is not a sports case, it is an excellent example of the fundamental principles of contract formation and California subject matter jurisdiction. Although the applicant's primary residence was in California and there was a California based employer, the job offer, and acceptance was finalized while the applicant was physically present in Arizona and not in California. He was then injured outside California having never been employed in California let alone regularly employed or temporarily employed in California.

It also appears that at trial applicant's attorney raised the Labor Code section 5402 rebuttable presumption of compensability in that there was no denial of the injury within 90 days of knowledge by the employer. However, the WCAB noted Labor Code section 5402 "merely creates a presumption that a compensable industrial injury was sustained" and does not establish subject matter jurisdiction. The Board then cited a number of cases indicating subject matter jurisdiction may be raised at any time and that jurisdiction cannot be conferred by consent, waiver, or estoppel. (Sullivan v. Delta Air Lines, Inc. (1997) 15 Cal. 4th 288, and Summers v. Superior Court (1959) 53 Cal. 2d 295)

In essence, applicant failed to meet his burden of proof showing there was a basis for California subject matter jurisdiction since he failed to establish that his contract of hire was made in California or that he was regularly employed in California and was injured outside of California.

<u>Mora v. Trident Seafoods Corp.</u> 2013 Cal. Wrk. Comp. PD LEXIS 388 (WCAB panel decision)

Holding: In this non-sports case, the WCAB found California subject matter jurisdiction reversing the decision of the WCJ on the basis that, although applicant suffered an injury in Alaska, her contract of hire was made in California and she was a resident of California.

Factual and Procedural Background: Applicant suffered a specific admitted wrist injury on August 25, 2011, while employed as a seafood processor in Alaska. Following Trial, the WCJ found there was no California subject matter jurisdiction. Applicant filed a Petition for Reconsideration, which was granted. The WCAB reversed the WCJ and found a basis for California subject matter jurisdiction.

Contract Formation Facts: Applicant worked for defendant as a seasonal seafood processor. Including the season where she was injured on, August 25, 2011, it was her third seasonal employment with Trident. While applicant, a resident of California, was in California, she received an email from defendant entitled, "Conditional Offer Extended" and then received a second email stating, "Congratulations, you have been hired to work at the Sand Point shoreplant... You must report to Trident Seafoods Human Resources office in Seattle to sign your contract on January 24, 2011 at 7:00 A.M. PLEASE BE PROMPT! If you do not arrive at your appointed time, your job may be filled by other applicants."

In addition, applicant testified she received other documents at her home in California providing the details of her employment including her wages and work location. She admitted that required employment documents were actually signed in Seattle, but everyone who showed up in Seattle with proper identification and a completed I-9 Form were then sent to Alaska for employment. The actual employment agreement was mailed to the applicant's home in Oxnard, California, but she could not recall where she was when she physically signed the documents.

Discussion: In reversing the WCJ and finding California subject matter jurisdiction, the WCAB focused on Labor Code § 5305. Labor Code § 5305 extends California subject matter jurisdiction where contracts of hire are actually made in California, even in situations where the contract is accepted telephonically, and where all the essential terms of the contract are transmitted and accepted in California even though there may be an actual signing of an employment contract or agreement outside of California. "Furthermore, a person who accepts employment in California is hired in California, even if paperwork or other personnel requirements must be completed outside the state." Reference was also made to Labor Code § 3600.5(a). The Board, in citing a number of cases noted that, "A contract of hire may be formed in California even if employment is contingent on conditions which must be satisfied elsewhere." Applying these principles to the facts of the case, the WCAB noted that defendant offered applicant a position by sending information about the job including proposed wages to her home in California. The Board found that applicant actually accepted defendant's offer when she departed for Seattle from California in order to complete required employment documents. The Board stated:

"Although applicant filled out some forms at the corporate headquarters, she was still hired in California for the purposes of sections 5305 and 3600.5(a). Trident Seafoods employees

were hired before they visited the Seattle headquarters, since every person who showed up there with adequate identification was sent to Alaska. Furthermore, a person who accepts employment in California is hired in California, even if paperwork or other personnel requirements must be completed outside the state."

The WCAB also noted it appeared the WCJ confused personal jurisdiction principles with subject matter jurisdiction principles. The WCAB concluded by stating, "Applicant's contract of hire was made in California, so the WCAB has jurisdiction over her claim for industrial injury sustained in Alaska under sections 5305 and 3600.5(a).

Comment: While this is not a sports case, it is still instructive with respect to California's "flexible" contract formation principles in Workers' Compensation cases, especially when the case involves a California resident.

<u>ACIG Insurance Company, insurer for KS Industries, L.P. v. WCAB (Brock)</u> (2013) 79 Cal.Comp.Cases 68; 2013 Cal. Wrk. Comp. LEXIS 192 (writ denied)

Holding: In this non-sports case, California subject matter jurisdiction was found based on multiple offers and acceptance by a California resident via telephone, even though defendant contended there was no offer or acceptance until applicant underwent mandatory drug screening.

Factual Background: Applicant's primary residence was in Long Beach, California. The primary employer was KS Industries, L.P. located in Bakersfield. Applicant initially applied for employment with KS Industries online and then there was a follow-up telephone call related to employment. His initial job was in Wyoming working for KS Industries. Prior to working in Wyoming he was required to undergo drug testing and agreed to various company policies, and rules. He also signed his employment contingency document in Wyoming. He finished working at the Wyoming job site when the job ended and returned to California where he resided and collected California unemployment benefits.

While still residing in California, he was offered another job by KS Industries, this time in North Dakota as a pipe fitter. He accepted the employment offer telephonically and acknowledged that he was required to undergo drug screening when he arrived in North Dakota. He executed another employment contingency document and started work in North Dakota on December 6, 2010. After working several hours on his first day of work in North Dakota, he was sent for drug screening. Applicant continued to work in North Dakota until he suffered a work-related injury.

Defendant argued there was no California subject matter jurisdiction since there was no employment offer or an acceptance until applicant arrived in North Dakota and underwent a drug screening test. The WCJ, as well as the Board, found that contrary to defendant's arguments and contentions, the drug screening applicant was required to undergo in North Dakota was not a condition precedent to applicant's employment because applicant had commenced work in North Dakota before he underwent drug testing. Moreover, the applicant was deemed to be an employee when he accepted the offer of employment when offered and accepted over the telephone from his residence in Long Beach, California. The WCJ and the WCAB concluded the offer and acceptance of employment occurred in California not in North Dakota.

<u>Jenkins v. Arizona Cardinals, Dallas Cowboys, Arizona Rattlers, et.al.</u> 2012 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 189 (WCAB panel decision) (No California subject matter jurisdiction found)

Case Summary: In this case the WCAB found that notwithstanding the fact applicant's contract for hire with the Arizona Rattlers was negotiated by the applicant's agent in California, applicant was not bound by the terms negotiated by his California agent due to the fact he still had the discretion to entirely reject the contract after it was negotiated resulting in the contract being formed and executed in Arizona and not California.

From a procedural standpoint, the Board originally issued a decision in the case on October 19, 2011. Three different co-defendants filed a Petition for Reconsideration of the Board's original decision pointing out applicant's agent signed the employment contracts in California and again renewed their original arguments and contentions that the applicant's employment contract with the Arizona Rattlers was formed in California when the agent negotiated and signed the employment contract on October 19, 2004. There was no dispute that applicant actually signed his Rattlers' contract in Arizona. He was represented by a California agent and at trial applicant testified that in his mind and it was his belief his agent, who was in California, was authorized to negotiate his contracts and to bind him to those contracts by the agent's signature alone. The applicant testified he had no opportunity to reject contract terms negotiated by his agent with the Rattlers and he believed the negotiations were finalized and the contracts were "done deals" when he received them to sign. However, he also testified that "he had the ability to decline the contract negotiated by his agent if he didn't want the job." The WCAB interpreted this to mean the applicant had the ability to entirely reject the contract after it was negotiated and therefore his signature could not be properly characterized as a condition subsequent. They also pointed out that every contract requires the actual consent of both parties (Civil Code Sections 1550, 1565).

Discussion: While this is only a WCAB Panel Decision it is essential reading in that there is an extensive scholarly discussion and explanation of basic contract formation principles in the context of a workers' compensation claim and why strict common law contract formation principles do not control in a workers' compensation setting. The WCAB concluded that "where an employee has a right to entirely reject a written contract and does not unequivocally accept the contract until signing it outside of California, then the contract of hire is not made here."

The Board acknowledged there are situations and scenarios where there may be California subject matter jurisdiction even if the injured worker/applicant does not actually sign a written contract in California. The Board cited *Luke v. Los Angeles Dodgers* 2007 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 125 (WCAB panel decision) where it was found that a professional baseball player's contract of hire was made in California notwithstanding the fact he actually signed his contract in Indiana because the essential terms of the contract were agreed to by telephone through a California agent while the player was in California with the agent. Therefore, the actual signing of the contract in Indiana was deemed to be a condition subsequent.

They also discussed The Travelers Insurance Co. v. W.C.A.B. (Coakley) (1967) 68 Cal. 2d 7, 32 Cal. Comp. Cases 527 involving a California geologist who traveled to Colorado. While in Colorado he contacted an employment agency and then returned to California. He was then contacted by the Colorado employment agency by telephone of the employment opportunity which he accepted in California. However, in that case it was found the contract was formed in Colorado and there was no California jurisdiction due to the fact it was an employment agency that communicated the acceptance to the employer in Colorado. The WCAB also distinguished the instant case from the facts in Reynolds Electrical & Engineering Co. v. WCAB (Egan) (1966) 65 Cal.2d 429 [31 Cal. Comp. Cases 415] where the California Supreme Court determined that a contract of hire was made in California where a union ironworker was dispatched out of a hiring hall in Southern California to work in Nevada. In Egan it was the employer who could reject the employee when he arrived at the out of state job site. However, in the instant case, it was the professional athlete who retained the right to reject the contract and he was not required to travel to a distant worksite before he could exercise the right to reject. Moreover, in Egan, the applicant was paid regular wages for the time expended in traveling to the jobsite in Nevada while in the instant case the professional athlete was not paid wages by the Rattlers to travel to Arizona before he signed the contract there.

Moreover, the Board indicated that applicant's contract for hire was not made in California but instead in Arizona when he signed the contract was consistent with another Appeals Board decision in *Ioane v. Oakland Raiders* 2010 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 416 (WCAB panel decision). (The fact applicant had a California based agent who negotiated his contract was not sufficient standing alone to establish jurisdiction when applicant was not in California when he signed the contract.) See also, *Barrow v. WCAB* (2012) 77 Cal.Comp.Cases 988 (writ denied); *Banta v. Detroit Lions* 2017 Cal.Wrk.Comp.P.D. LEXIS 232 (WCAB panel decision). (No subject matter jurisdiction where California agent did not have authority to accept employment on applicant's behalf when applicant accepted employment outside of California and agent merely communicated applicant's acceptance of that offer); cf. *Fauria v. Carolina Panthers* 2016 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 17 (WCAB panel decision).

In an interesting footnote, the WCAB noted that the WCAB's subject matter jurisdiction statutes appear to be predicated on California's interest in the injured employee. They questioned whether in adopting sections 5305 and 3600.5(a) the Legislature intended or contemplated it would have a sufficient interest in the alleged injury of a professional athlete if the state's only connection to the employee's claim is that his or her agent negotiated the contract in California, even if the agent had the authority to fully and finally bind the player. They indicated they did not need to reach that question given the facts of this particular case.

In emphasizing why common law rules of contract formation in terms of offer acceptance are not strictly applicable in a workers' compensation scenario the Board stated as follows:

Preliminarily, we do not agree with the Rattlers' assertion that "[t]he place where the contract is made is determined by the law of contracts, not the Labor Code. As stated in *Laeng v. Workmen's Comp. Appeals Bd.* (1972) 6 Cal. 3d 771, 776-777 [37 Cal. Comp. cases 185, 188]: "[The WCAB is] not confined...to finding whether or not the [defendant] and [applicant] had entered into a traditional contract of hire...[P] Given the broad

statutory contours [of the definition of 'employee'],...an 'employment' relationship sufficient to bring the [California Workers' Compensation] [A]ct into play cannot be determined simply from technical contractual or common law conceptions of employment but must instead be resolved by reference to the history and fundamental purposes underlying the ...Act." (Accord: *Bowen v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd.* (1999) 73 Cal. App.4th 15, 25 [64 Cal. Comp. Cases 745, 753] (*Bowen*).)

<u>Johnson v. San Diego Chargers</u> 2012 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 354 (WCAB panel decision) (No California subject matter jurisdiction found)

Case Summary: Applicant played for three different NFL teams. Following Trial, the WCJ found applicant had sustained a cumulative trauma injury from June 15, 1986, through September 12, 1995, resulting in 64% permanent partial disability. The WCJ also found applicant's employment contracts were made in California and this provided a basis for the WCAB to exercise jurisdiction over applicant's claim against all three NFL teams he played for. The WCJ also concluded applicant was "regularly employed" in California by two of the teams but not the Kansas City Chiefs. The sole basis for finding California jurisdiction over the Chiefs was the WCJ's finding that applicant's employment contract was formed and accepted in the State of California by virtue of the applicant having a California based agent who negotiated the applicant's contract via telephone from California.

Two of the defendants filed a Petition for Reconsideration. The Kansas City Chiefs argued applicant's contract of employment was formed in Missouri. The WCAB granted reconsideration and rescinded the Findings & Award and Orders and determined the WCAB lacked subject matter jurisdiction over applicant's claim against the Kansas City Chiefs and returned the matter to the trial level for further proceedings and a decision by the WCJ.

Discussion: A number of facts were not disputed. Applicant never resided in California. He performed no work in California while employed by the Kansas City Chiefs. He was only employed by the Kansas City Chiefs for a little over two months from June 13, 1995, to August 21, 1995. Moreover, applicant signed his employment contract with the Kansas City Chiefs in the State of Missouri. It was also undisputed his agent had an office and operated out of California. It was from this office applicant's agent negotiated applicant's multiple NFL contracts including his contract of employment with the Kansas City Chiefs.

During the course of his deposition, applicant's agent gave conflicting and what was described by the Board as "mixed testimony." The agent confirmed applicant was not in California during the time he negotiated the Kansas City Chiefs' contract but had authorized the agent to enter into the contract on his behalf. The agent also acknowledged he could negotiate with several teams on behalf of one player and if he reached an agreement with multiple teams it would be up to the player to pick among the various teams. The agent also testified the applicant himself had the sole authority to determine which team's contract he wished to accept. Moreover, no player was obligated to play for a team even after negotiations were completed until the player actually signed a contract. The player could refuse any negotiated contract. He also stated that after he negotiated the applicant's contract with the Kansas City Chiefs from his office in California he discussed the negotiations with the applicant and if the applicant agreed then the agent would sign off. However,

the agent also stated he believed the contract between the Kansas City Chiefs and the applicant was binding once the agent signed the contract, even before the applicant traveled to Kansas City, Missouri to sign the actual contract. In conflicting or mixed testimony, he also stated the written contract was not binding unless it contained the signatures of both the applicant and the agent.

Much of the Board's discussion and analysis focused on the Player Representative Agreement between the applicant and the agent as opposed to the actual NFL Employment Contract. Quoting from a pertinent part of the contract between the applicant and his agent the Board stated:

The Member Contract Advisor shall be the exclusive representative for the purpose of negotiating player contracts for Player. However, the Member Contract Advisor shall not have the authority to bind or commit Player to enter into any contract without actual execution thereby by the Player.

During the course of the Trial, applicant's testimony in many respects contradicted the deposition testimony of his agent. He testified his agent had the full authority not only to negotiate but to accept his employment contracts with any NFL team.

The Board discussed Labor Code section 5305 which extends the jurisdiction of the WCAB over injuries suffered outside California in cases where the injured employee is a resident of the state at the time of the injury and the contract of hire was made in the State of California. "If an employee who has been hired or is regularly employed in this state" sustained an industrial injury outside of California, the employee "shall be entitled compensation according to the law of this state." (Labor Code section 3600.5(a)) The Board also noted that generally, cases finding jurisdiction over out of state injuries based on California contracts of hire have been premised on the employee's acceptance of employment while present in California.

The WCAB noted the WCJ, in erroneously finding California jurisdiction over the Kansas City Chiefs, determined the contract was formed in California relying on the general concept of agency that an agent may bind a principal to a contractual agreement. However, the Board emphasized that in workers' compensation cases the WCAB is not bound, by or constrained in interpreting the provisions of the Workers' Compensation Act by the common law contractual doctrine of offer and acceptance but must instead be guided by the purposes of the legislation at issue.

The critical question as articulated by the WCAB was to determine whether applicant's contract for hire and acceptance took place in California. The WCAB concluded the evidence in this case showed the contract between the applicant and the Kansas City Chiefs was not accepted by the agent in California but rather when the applicant signed his contract in Missouri. The Board focused on the contract between the applicant and his agent which they characterized as stating unequivocally the agent did not have the authority to bind or commit the player to enter into any contract without actual execution by the player. Therefore, applicant was <u>not</u> hired within California under Labor Code section 5305 and the WCAB cannot properly exercise jurisdiction over applicant's claim against the Kansas City Chiefs for any injuries sustained outside of the State of California.

Practice Pointer: For other cases dealing with the role of an agent in the contract formation process see *Barrow v. WCAB* (2012) 77 Cal. Comp. Cases 988 (writ denied) where applicant's California based agent negotiated the contract but then testified he did not believe he had the actual authority to accept or reject an offer from the potential team/employer. Based on these facts, applicant failed to meet his burden of proof that he was hired in California under Labor Code section 5305. See also, *Allen v. Milwaukee Bucks* 2013 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 138 (WCAB panel decision). In *Allen*, the WCJ found applicant's California agent accepted the contract even though applicant signed the contract in Wisconsin and never played any games in California. The WCAB granted defendant's Petition for Reconsideration and remanded for further development of the record on whether there was substantial evidence that employment was actually accepted in California as opposed to merely being discussed or negotiated by the California based agent.

<u>Cash v. Detroit Lions, Atlanta Falcons</u> 2011 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 567 (WCAB panel decision) (California subject matter jurisdiction found)

Case Summary: Following Trial the WCJ issued Findings and Award and Order indicating applicant sustained 63% permanent disability with need for further medical treatment and there was California jurisdiction over both the Atlanta Falcons and Great Divide Insurance Company. Defendant filed a Petition for Reconsideration essentially arguing there was no California jurisdiction since applicant physically signed his contract in Georgia after he went there for a tryout.

Discussion: The first critical fact in this case is that applicant was characterized as a lifelong resident of California. He returned to California every off season during his NFL career. He had a California residence, California driver's license and filed income tax returns and was registered to vote in California. Also, during the course of his NFL career, applicant was represented by an agent whose office was located in California.

<u>Both</u> applicant and his agent were in California when telephone contact was initiated by the Atlanta Falcons and after which applicant traveled to Georgia for a tryout. It is significant to note his transportation costs to the tryout were paid by the Falcons. After his tryout in Georgia, he physically signed his employment contract with the Falcons. Applicant also participated in off season conditioning in California and also returned to California to workout following an arm injury in September of 2006, during the course of his contract with the Falcons.

The WCAB indicated it was undisputed applicant signed his written contract while he was physically in Georgia and not in California. However, this begs the question, and it is not

determinative as to when his contract was actually accepted and formed. The WCAB pointed out there are a number of cases that hold the act of an employer or potential employer in providing transportation costs is a pivotal factor in determining where the contract was executed. They also noted there is case law indicating an employment tryout is for the benefit of the employer and injuries from the resulting risk are compensable industrial injuries.

The WCAB found there was a verbal acceptance of employment with the Falcons when he accepted the travel to Georgia for the tryout during which he participated in physical activities reflective of those during the term of the written contract. Applicant then suffered a cumulative

trauma injury during the tryout which was subsequent to the verbal acceptance of employment and preceded the contract signature which the WCAB indicated "is not controlling as to the date of hire".

Defendant also argued the mere representation by a California agent is insufficient to confer California jurisdiction. However, the Board distinguished the facts of this case from a previous case which found representation by a California agent without more, is insufficient to confer California jurisdiction. They also noted in that case, *Ioane v. Oakland Raiders* 2010 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 416, applicant was not a California resident and there was insufficient evidence in the record to determine the role of the California agent in the communication of the employment offer.

The WCAB also distinguished between personal jurisdiction over the employer as opposed to subject matter jurisdiction pursuant to Labor Code § 5305. There was clearly personal jurisdiction over the Falcons. Therefore, based on a multiplicity of factors including California residency, California agent, and the fact the employer provided transportation for an out of state tryout, all established California subject matter jurisdiction.

1.3 Exemption/Exclusion from California Jurisdiction and Labor Code Section 3600.5 and Related Insurance Coverage Issues

Cirillo v. Arizona Diamondbacks; Minnesota Twins; San Diego Padres; Seattle Mariners; Milwaukee Brewers; Insured by Ace American Ins., Co./Chubb et al. 2024 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 376 (WCAB panel decision; see also, Rohm v. Atlanta Braves; Ace American Insurance, 2024 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 389 (WCAB panel decision); Zapata v. Arizona Diamondbacks, Los Angeles Dodgers, Los Angeles Angels et al., 2024 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 374 (WCAB panel decision); Carper v. New York Yankees, 2024 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 328 (WCAB panel decision).

Issues: Defendant Ace American Insurance/CHUBB for the Arizona Diamondbacks; Minnesota Twins, San Diego Padres, Seattle Mariners, and Milwaukee Brewers, sought reconsideration of the WCJ's Findings of Fact and Orders of July 1, 2024. The main issues were subject matter jurisdiction, whether LC 3600.5(b) precludes WCAB subject matter jurisdiction over the Diamondbacks, determining the correct date of injury under LC 5412, and the admissibility of a number of reports from applicant's treating physicians.

Holding: The WCAB affirming the WCJ's determination that applicant was hired in California on multiple occasions, which standing alone is sufficient to confer subject matter jurisdiction under sections 3600.5(a) and 5305. The Board also held that the formation of a California contract of hire obviates any need for further analysis under section 3600.5(c) and (d). The WCAB clarified that the date of injury under section 5412 was May 16, 2016, the date when applicant received a medical report from his treating physician. The Board affirmed the WCJ's FF&O except for amending/correcting the WCJ's determination of the date of injury from a date range to the specific date of May 16, 2016.

Factual Overview: Applicant, a professional baseball player claimed a cumulative trauma injury to multiple body parts, conditions, and systems while employed by the Arizona Diamondbacks, Minnesota Twins, Milwaukee Brewers, San Diego Padres, Seattle Mariners, and Colorado Rockies from June 5, 1991 to October 1, 2007. Reporting physicians included an Orthopedic AME and QME as well applicant's PTP and secondary treating physicians in a number of specialties.

With respect to the issue of whether applicant was physically located in California when he was hired by multiple teams, it appears it was undisputed that applicant "signed his first professional baseball contract in 1991 at his parents' home in Van Nuys, California. (Transcript of Proceedings, dated July 25, 2023, at p. 38:11.) In addition, applicant agreed to an offer of employment for a four-year contract with the Milwaukee Brewers while in California in 1997. (*Id.* at p. 41:3.) Applicant further testified that he reached an agreement as to the essential terms for a contract extension with the Brewers while in California in 2000. (*Id.* at p. 4:2.)."

The WCAB's Decision

Subject Matter Jurisdiction: Defendant argued that while the applicant was employed by the Diamondbacks, he was hired outside of California and was only working temporarily in California during a part of his CT. The WCAB citing *New York Knickerbockers v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd. (Macklin)* (2015) 240 Cal.App.4th 1229 [80 Cal.Comp.Cases 1141] (*Macklin*) as well as *Worrell v. San Diego Padres* (2020) 85 Cal.Comp.Cases 246, 254 [2020 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 1, 13-14, clarified that in a multi-defendant cumulative trauma claim "our inquiry into subject matter jurisdiction over the presented controversy is not limited to the facts arising out of applicant's employment by a single team during his cumulative injury claim, but instead we examine the issue in the context of the entire subject matter of controversy, which is applicant's claimed injury from June 5, 1991 to October 1, 2007."

The WCAB also pointed out that based on applicable statutes (LC§§ 3600.5(a); 5305) and longstanding case law, that a hiring in California establishes a 'sufficient connection to the employment to support adjudication of a claim of industrial injury before the WCAB. (*Alaska Packers Assn. v. Industrial Acc. Com.* (*Palma*) (1934) 1 Cal.2d 250, affd. (1935) 294 U.S. 532 (*Palma*); *Bowen v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd.* (1999) 73 Cal.App.4th 15, 27 [64 Cal.Comp.Cases 745] ["an employee who is a professional athlete residing in California, such as Bowen, who signs a player's contract in California furnished to the athlete here by an out-of-state team, is entitled to benefits under the act for injuries received while playing out of state under the contract"]; *Johnson, supra,* 221 Cal.App.4th 1116, 1126 ["the creation of the employment relationship in California, which came about when [Mr. Palma] signed the contract in San Francisco, was a sufficient contact with California to warrant the application of California workers' compensation law."

Most importantly a hiring in California in and of itself is sufficient to confer California jurisdiction over an industrial injury that occurs outside the state. "[T]he creation of the [employer-employee] status under the laws of this state is a sufficient jurisdictional basis for the regulation of that relationship within this state and the creation of incidents thereto which will be recognized within this state, even though the relation was entered into for purposes connected solely with the rendition of services in another state." (*Palma, supra,* 1 Cal.2d 250; *Benguet Consol. Mining Co. v. Industrial Acci. Com.* (1939) 36 Cal.App.2d 158, 159 [1939 Cal. App. LEXIS 28]; *McKinley, supra,* 78 Cal.Comp.Cases 23; *Jackson v. Cleveland Browns* (December 26, 2014, ADJ6696775) [2014 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 682].)"

The Inapplicability of the LC 3600.5 Exemption Provisions: The WCAB held that a contract of hire formed in California negates the applicability of the exemption analysis and provisions of Labor Code section 3600.5(c) and (d). Those provisions should only apply to professional athletes with "extremely minimal California contacts" whose claims the Legislature sought to exempt." The WCAB concluded their analysis by stating "We therefore conclude that in conjunction with section 5305, the conferral of subject matter jurisdiction under section 3600.5(a) based on a hiring in California obviates the analyses that would otherwise be required under section 3600.5(c) and (d)."

The Correct Date of Injury Under Labor Code 5412 is Always a Specific Date and not a **Period of Time:** Defendant argued that the WCJ's determination of a LC 5412 date of injury of June 15, 1991 to May 16, 2016 is erroneous and also that applicant due to his multiple injuries and

surgeries over his entire career which resulted in compensable disability should have known his disabilities were work related.

The Board discussed applicable case law related to how to correctly determine a date of injury under LC 5412 noting both the "knowledge and disability" components of the statute. The employer has the burden with respect to proving the employee had both the requisite knowledge and disability components required by LC 5412.

The burden of proving that the employee knew or should have known rests with the employer. This burden is not sustained merely by a showing that the employee knew he had some symptoms. (*Johnson*, *supra*, 163 Cal.App.3d 467, 471.) This is because "the medical cause of an ailment is usually a scientific question, requiring a judgment based upon scientific knowledge and inaccessible to the unguided rudimentary capacities of lay arbiters." (*Peter Kiewit Sons v. Industrial Acci. Com.* (*McLaughlin*) (1965) 234 Cal.App.2d 831, 839 [30 Cal.Comp.Cases 188].)

The Board found defendant had not met their burden of proof on this issue. However, the WCAB noted the WCJ erroneously found the LC 5412 date of injury to be a period of time spanning the period of June 15, 1991 to May 16, 2016. However, a Labor Code 5412 date of injury is always a specific date and not a period of time. Relying on the medical reporting of applicant's primary treating physician, the WCAB found the correct LC 5412 date of injury was May 16, 2016 which was when the applicant obtained "the first medical advice as to the existence of a cumulative injury arising out of his professional baseball career when applicant received the reporting of PTP Dr. Fonseca...." As a consequence the Board found the correct LC 5412 date of injury to be May 16, 2016.

The Admissibility of Applicant's Medical Reporting: Defendant argued the medical reporting from applicant's treating physicians were inadmissible since these reports were really medicallegal reports and these physicians were located outside a reasonable geographic distance from where applicant resided. The WCAB relying on the analysis of the WCJ rejected these arguments and found the reports admissible noting that:

The WCJ's Report observes, however, that while reporting of Dr. Fonseca follows a medical-legal format, the contents of the reporting are "well within the scope of a treating physician[']s duties by even a cursory reading of Title 8 California Code of Regulations §§ 9785, 10682 and Labor Code §4628." (Report, at p. 9.) The WCJ also observes that in any event, the reporting of applicant's treating physicians are admissible pursuant to *Valdez v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd.* (2013) 57 Cal.4th 1231, 1239 [78 Cal.Comp.Cases 1209] (*Valdez*), which held that the Appeals Board is broadly authorized to consider the reports of attending or examining physicians.

<u>Kouzmanoff v. Texas Rangers; Miami Marlins; et al.</u>, 2024 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 189 (WCAB panel decision)

Issues and Holding: Applicant, a professional baseball player, filed Applications for Adjudication for a specific injury on April 23, 2014 and a cumulative trauma injury for the period of June 4, 2003 through October 17, 2014 over the course of his career. Multiple defendants were involved, including the Texas Rangers, Miami Marlins, Kansas City Royals, Oakland Athletics, Colorado Rockies, San Diego Padres, Ace American Insurance, and Cleveland Indians. The trial WCJ found that applicant was not hired in California by at least one of his employers and therefore his cumulative trauma claim could not be brought in California since the exemption provisions of subdivisions (c) and (d) of section 3600.5 applied. The WCJ also found applicant's CT and specific injury claims were barred by the statute of limitations. However, based on applicant's Petition for Reconsideration, the WCAB rescinded the WCJ's decision and ordered further development of the record on the issues of contract formation and whether applicant was hired in California as well as the correct LC 5412 date of injury in order to determine whether the statute of limitations was applicable to applicant's CT claim.

The WCAB's Decision: Based on a lengthy analysis of legislative history and intent, the Board determined that regular employment in California did not automatically shield applicant from the application of section 3600.5 (c) and (d). The WCAB also found applicant's specific injury claim was not time-barred and that further proceedings were required for his cumulative trauma claim. The court returned the matter to the trial level for further proceedings to determine if applicant was hired in California and to establish a date of injury for his cumulative trauma claim pursuant to LC 5412.

Factual and Procedural Overview: Applicant played for for seven different teams during his career including two California based teams the San Diego Padres and the Oakland Athletics.

The stipulations of the parties identified three issues for trial: (1) whether the applicant filed both claims within the statute of limitations; (2) whether the cumulative trauma claim was barred by section 3600.5; and (3) whether the Miami Marlins were exempt from liability under section 3600.5, subdivision (b). The applicant was the only witness who testified. He provided testimony regarding his employment history, contracts, injuries sustained, and his understanding of his rights. Applicant testified about his employment and contract negotiations with various teams. He had two different California based agents at different times who negotiated contracts on his behalf. The applicant signed all of his employment contracts outside of California at different locations, including Texas, Arizona, and Colorado.

The WCJ issued a first Findings of Fact on May 3, 2018, concluding that the applicant was not hired in California on any of his contracts and therefore California lacked jurisdiction over the cumulative trauma claim, and that both claims were barred by the statute of limitations. The applicant filed a Petition for Reconsideration, and in response the WCJ rescinded the Findings of Fact, leading to further argument and resubmission of the matter. On October 26, 2018, the WCJ issued a second Findings of Fact and again found applicant was not hired in California and as a consequence, California lacked jurisdiction over applicant's CT claim based on LC 3600.5. Specifically the WCJ's decision was based on a conclusion that "section 3600.5, subdivisions (c) and (d) applied to the claim, and that applicant could not meet the requirements of subdivision (d)

because he played for more than seven seasons with non-California based teams." In addition, the WCJ found both of applicant's claims were barred by the statute of limitations.

The Issue of Regular Employment in California: On reconsideration, the Board had to determine whether applicant was "regularly employed" in California and whether regular employment in California shields a claim from the exemption provisions of section 3600.5 subdivisions (c) and (d). The WCAB discussed that historically, a California contract of hire and regular California employment have been treated as two interchangeable paths to establish subject-matter jurisdiction. However, the Board found that enactment of subdivisions (c) and (d) of section 3600.5 represented a clear legislative intent to limit access to the California workers' compensation system for certain professional athletes.

The WCAB noted that these subdivisions specifically apply to professional athletes bringing occupational disease or cumulative injury claims and create exceptions to the general rule of jurisdiction based on regular employment. The language and legislative history and intent of subdivisions (c) and (d) suggests they were intended to apply to athletes with regular employment in California. However, there is a failsafe mechanism provided in subdivision (d)(1)(A) and (B) which applies to athletes who have worked two or more seasons for a California-based team or 20% or more of their career duty days in California or for a California-based team.

A review of the legislative history and intent of subdivisions (c) and (d) shows that the original bill aimed to restrict the ability of professional athletes to file claims in California. However, the final statute enacted into law included an express statement of legislative intent to retain the holding of *Bowen v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd.*, (1999) 73 Cal.App.4th 15 which affirmed the exercise of jurisdiction based on a hire in California. However, the WCAB held that regular employment in California does not operate to shield the applicant from the application of the exemption provisions of Labor Code section 3600.5, subdivisions (c) and (d). An applicant's claim will be barred unless he or she can establish that they were hired in California. "In summary, subdivisions (c) and (d) of section 3600.5 do apply to athletes who have had a period of regular employment in California during the relevant injury period. This interpretation best accords with both the plain language of the statute, and the expressions of legislative intent we have reviewed."

Was There a Hire in California: The issue of whether the applicant was hired in California, is relevant to determining the applicability of certain provisions in section 3600.5. Acceptance of an offer of employment in California by the injured worker or his or her agent supports a finding of hire in California under sections 3600.5 and 5305. This means that if the applicant accepted a job offer while in California, it would establish a California contract of hire. "If the evidence shows that an agent had the authority to bind the player and exercised that authority, the agent's presence in California at the time of acceptance can be sufficient to create a California contract of hire for purposes of sections 5205 and 3600.5 subdivision (a).

The burden of proof rests with the applicant to establish acceptance of an offer within California. The applicant must provide evidence that they or their agent accepted the contract while in California, such as through testimony or documentation.

The Board emphasized that the time and place of contract formation are crucial factors in determining whether there is California jurisdiction over a claimed extraterritorial injury. The

location of the contract formation is determined by the injured worker's location at the time of acceptance, whether that acceptance occurred orally or in writing. The fact that a subsequent written contract may have been signed in a different state does not preclude the possibility that a prior oral contract was formed in California. If an oral contract was formed in California, it establishes a California contract of hire, regardless of any subsequent written contract.

The WCAB found that the record was insufficiently developed on a factual basis to determine whether the applicant was hired in California on at least one of his contracts during the relevant cumulative trauma injury period. The testimony provided by the applicant regarding the authority of his agents in this case and the formation of contracts is ambiguous and requires further clarification. Due to the lack of clarity in the testimony and the absence of evidence from the applicant's agents or the teams involved in the contract negotiations, the Board held that the record needed further development on the question of whether the applicant was hired in California. The WCAB determined that the matter should be returned to the trial level for additional proceedings to gather more evidence on this key question.

Davis v. Oakland Athletics; Ace American Ins. Co. 2023 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS _____ (WCAB panel decision)

Issues: This case involves the following issues:

- 1. Whether there was California subject matter jurisdiction over applicant's CT claim pursuant to LC 3600.5(a) based on the applicant "regularly working" in California during the one season he Played for the Oakland Athletics (Athletics) during the entire eleven season period of his claimed cumulative trauma injury.
- 2. If there is subject matter jurisdiction based on applicant's "regularly working" theory whether it negates in its entirety the application of LC sections 3600.5(c) and (d) related to a "duty day" analysis of whether the duty days applicant played for a California team were less than the required 20 percent threshold of section 3600.5(d).

Factual & Procedural Overview: Applicant a professional athlete filed a cumulative trauma claim for the period of June 1, 2008 to October 1, 2017. During the claimed CT period, applicant played one season for the Athletics but never entered into a California contract of hire with the Athletics or any of the other teams he played for.

The WCJ's Decision: The WCJ issued a Findings and Order on October 9, 2023 finding that California lacked subject matter jurisdiction over applicant's claimed injury. In doing so, the WCJ found that applicant did not meet the exception provided by LC 3600.5(d) to the exemption of section 3600.5(c). The WCJ noted that applicant only played one season out of eleven seasons for a California-based team. Applicant filed a Petition for Reconsideration.

The WCJ's report on Reconsideration indicated that the applicant's duty days played for the Athletics were less than the 20 percent threshold of section 3600.5(d). The WCJ also stated that his interpretation of the "term "regularly working" as used in 3600.5(a) encompasses applicant's entire professional career....." The WCJ also indicated that the "duty days" calculation contemplate work for California based teams.

The WCAB's Decision: The WCAB started their analysis by noting that LC 3600.5(a) "provided for subject matter jurisdiction over injuries sustained by employees hired or regularly working in California. The Board also referenced 3600.5(d) for claims of injury filed after September 15, 2013, noting the exemption and exception provisions related to professional athletes who over the course of their professional athletic career, worked for two or more seasons for a California-based team or teams or "over the course of his or her professional athletic career, worked 20% or more of his or her duty days either in California or for a California-based team.

The Board reviewed the panel decision in *Farley v. San Francisco Giants* related to exemptions and also *Wilson v. Florida Marlins* related to the legislative intent of the 2013 amendments of section 3600.5. The WCAB then framed the issues as follows:

Here, we must consider whether the statutory grant of jurisdiction for employees "regularly working" in California is sufficient to obviate consideration of subsections (c) and (d) of section 3600.5. Our prior jurisprudence has addressed the jurisdictional implications of a contract of hire formed within California's territorial jurisdiction pursuant to subsection (a). However, we must consider the question of whether a professional athlete who has not entered into a California contract of hire but was nonetheless regularly working in California must overcome the requirements of subsection (d) as a prerequisite to the exercise of California subject matter jurisdiction.

With respect to these issues the WCAB did not make a final decision. Instead, they deferred making a final decision "..... based on our preliminary review, it appears that further development of the record may be appropriate." The Board granted applicant's Petition for Reconsideration and ordered "that a final decision after reconsideration is *deferred* pending further review of the merits of the Petition for Reconsideration and further consideration of the entire record in light of applicable statutory and decisional law."

For another recent case dealing with the issue of "duty day" and its interaction with a "California based team", see *Brock v. San Francisco Giants et al.*, 2023 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 291.

Editor's Comment: This is another example of the WCAB's fairly new "grant and defer" policy that replaced their prior procedural practice of "granting for further study" which was prohibited by the Court of Appeal in two decisions *Earley v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd.* (2023) 94 Cal.App.5th 1 and *Zurich American Ins. Co., v. Workers' Compensation Appeals Bd.* (2023) 97 Cal.App.5th 1213.

However, the question that must be determined on a case by case basis is whether in grating and deferring a final decision to some future unspecified date the WCAB has complied with Labor Code sections 5906 and 5908.5 by clearly and adequately stating what evidence the Board is relying on also the specific reason or reasons for deferring a final decision are adequate or sufficient from a due process standpoint.

In this case the Board indicated it was deferring a final decision to "develop the record" but provided no specifics or details as to what part of the record needed to be further developed as opposed to a general need for "further consideration of the entire record in light of the applicable statutory and decisional law" which the editor interprets to mean further research.

<u>Ruhl v. Kansas City T-Bones</u>, 2022 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 372 (WCAB panel decision)

Issues: This case involves the interpretation and application of the exemption provisions of Labor Code section 3600.5 which the WCAB panel in this case appropriately characterized as a statute which "is convoluted and difficult to understand for petitioners and judges to apply...." With that in mind, the multiple issues in this cumulative trauma case involving a professional baseball player resulted in the following determinations by the Board:

- 1. The WCAB found that applicant's work for the Los Angeles Dodgers out-of-state affiliate minor league teams qualified as work for a California based team for purposes of Labor Code section 3600.5(d)(1)(A).
- 2. The Board found that the time the applicant spent while employed by the Tampa Bay Devil Rays (Rays) (including time dispatched to the Rays California-based minor league affiliates qualified as time spent playing for a non-California team. The WCAB also found this time counted towards the calculation of California duty days under Labor Code section 3600.5(d)(1)(B)'s seven seasons requirement.
- 3. The Board held that the fact the WCAB lacked subject matter jurisdiction over non-California minor league teams the Newark Bears and the Kansas City T-Bones was not a basis to exclude the time the applicant played for those out-of-state teams from the calculation of the "seven seasons" requirement in Labor Code section 3600.5(d)(1)(B).
- 4. The WCAB found that applicant's 1997 season when he was employed by the Rays must be counted as a "season" of work for an out-of-state team even though the applicant was injured during pre-season training and could not play the entire season, based on Labor Code section 3600.5(g)(4) defining a "season" of work as a "contract year" under the athlete's employment contract.
- 5. The Board held that based on the fact applicant spent 20% or more of his duty days over the course of his career either employed by a California-based employer or working less than seven seasons for out-of-state teams he was barred under Labor Code section 3600.5(d)(1)(B) from the California workers' compensation system.

Factual & Procedural Overview: Applicant while employed as a professional baseball player sustained a cumulative trauma injury to various body parts during the period from 1996 to 2005. During the course of his career, applicant was employed by the following teams:

Tampa Bay Devil Rays June 12, 1996 to August 9, 2002 Cincinnati Reds August 16, 2002 to December 16, 2002 Los Angeles Dodgers December 16, 2002 to August 10, 2004 Newark Bears Approximately 1 month circa August 2004 Kansas City T-Bones June 2005 to September 2005

While employed by the Tampa Bay Devil Rays (Devil Rays) applicant was dispatched to a variety of minor league affiliates among which two were based in California. While employed by the Dodgers, he did not actually play for the Dodgers major league club, but instead played for a number of Dodger out-of-state minor league affiliates. He also played in the Australian Winter League for the 2001 and 2002 Winter League Season. It was undisputed that none of applicant's employment contracts with any of these teams were signed or formed in California.

The WCJ's Decision: The WCJ issued her Findings & Decision on August 10, 2018. She found that applicant's workers' compensation claim was barred because he spent seven or more seasons working for teams based outside of California, pursuant to section 3600.5(d)(1)(b).

Applicant filed for reconsideration contending the WCJ erred in determining that he spent at least seven seasons playing for teams based outside of California.

The WCAB's Decision: Following an introductory review of statutes and cases related to the required statutory conditions of when benefits are to be provided for industrial injuries when statutory conditions of compensation are met, the WCAB addressed the primary issues directly related to the additional requirements applicable to professional athletes filing workers' compensation claims involving occupational disease or cumulative trauma injuries pursuant to LC section 3600.5(d). The Board also noted that the parties did not dispute that section 3600.5(d) applies to applicant's claims. Where the parties differed was their interpretations of how to apply the statute to applicant's claim. The parties disagreement related to three main issues which the WCAB identified as follows with one additional issue identified and refined by the Board:

1. Whether applicant's time spent under contract to the Dodgers but playing for out-of state affiliates should be credited as time spent working for a California-based team, or as time spent working for out-of-state teams.

In addressing the time applicant was employed with the Dodgers, the Board indicated that the characterization of this time "is key to determining both whether applicant had 20% or more duty days in California or with California-based teams, and whether he had seven or more seasons with teams based outside California."

If this time is considered time worked for a California-based team, applicant meets the 20% duty-day threshold of subdivision (d)(1)(A). Conversely, if this time is considered time spent working for teams based outside California, applicant has no hope of meeting either prong of the statute - he would not have two or more seasons or 20% or more duty days with a California-based team, and he would clearly have seven or more seasons with teams based outside California.

Applying fundamental principles of statutory interpretation in construing the legislative intent and purpose of the statute the Board stressed that the language of the statute references "work" for both California and non-California teams as opposed to "playing" for those teams. Since applicant's employment contract was with the Dodgers, the WCAB indicated it is difficult to argue that

applicant ceased working for the Dodgers during the periods he was dispatched to Dodger out-of-state affiliates, even if he was playing for these same minor league affiliate teams. With respect to duty days the statute defines a duty day in part that services must be performed "under the direction and control of his or employer pursuant to a player contract." (Section 3600.5(g)(3).). Given that applicant was working at all times during this period under an employment player contract with the Dodgers, they were the "employer" in terms of "exercising direction or control over applicant's services even while he was assigned by the Dodgers a California based team to any of their out-of-state affiliate teams.

In addition, the Board also noted that in other cases (citations omitted) they previously held in interpreting a different provision of the same statute, "that periods of play for an out-of-state minor league affiliate do not transform an applicant's employment into employment for a non-California team when the applicant remains employed by a California team." It was noted in these cases that applicant's employment activities while assigned to these out-of-state affiliates "were subject to the direction and control of the Dodgers, and performed for their benefit." The WCAB also stated:

Most significantly, the Dodgers, as applicant's uninterrupted California employer, retained control over applicant during his period of play for out-of-state affiliates, including the power to recall him at any time. Moreover, applicant's time with these affiliates was for the Dodgers' benefit. It would be incongruous to hold that an applicant's work while employed by a California employer, for that employer's benefit, takes applicant's claim outside of the jurisdiction of the California workers' compensation system, simply because that work occurred out of state while dispatched to an affiliate team.

The subsidiary issue of applicant's employment with the Tampa Bay Devil Rays: The Board described this issue as the converse of the analysis they applied to applicant's employment with the Dodgers. While employed by the Devil Rays a non-California team, applicant was dispatched to their California based minor league affiliates. The Board panel stated:

Here, we believe the most consistent approach is to apply the same rationale as above - namely, to consider this time as time spent playing for applicant's employer, the Devil Rays, and therefore as time spent playing for a non-California-based team. But this time must also clearly be considered as California duty days for purposes of subdivision (d)(1)(A), and therefore ends up contributing toward both (d)(1)(A) as California duty days, and toward (d)(1)(B) as time spent playing for a non-California based team.

The Board acknowledged the analysis they applied to the Devil Rays is an oddity to the extent that it results in "the time spent playing in California while employed by an out-of-state team can count both for and against an applicant in establishing the applicant's right to file a workers' compensation claim in California." Per the language of the statute such time "must be credited both as time spent playing for an out-of-state team, and as time spent playing in California."

With respect to this subsidiary issue the Board concluded that they believed "the best approach is to count time applicant worked for the Dodgers as time for a California-based team. Similarly, we will count applicant's work for the Devil Rays as work for an out-of-state team, with the caveat that such time could also count as California duty days if the work was performed in California."

2. Whether applicant's time spent working for the Bears and T-Bones should be included when determining whether he played seven or more seasons for out-of-state teams.

With respect to this issue the WCAB rejected applicant's arguments and "was not convinced that a lack of subject-matter jurisdiction over applicant's employment with the Bears and T-bones should result in ignoring them when calculating applicant's career history. Again the Board looked at the legislative intent and purpose of subdivision (d)(1)(B) stating that:

The purpose of subdivision (d)(1)(B) appears to be to bar the claims of athletes who, although they may have played at least two seasons or 20% of their duty days in California, nevertheless have such strong ties to out-of-state teams that they should be required to file their claims in those states, rather than here. It would undermine the entire purpose of the subdivision to exempt from that calculation out-of-state teams with no ties to California - the entire purpose of the subdivision being to count such employment, in order to determine where an athlete should be required to file their claim. We therefore reject this contention - the clear text of the subdivision, as well as the purposes for which it was enacted, compel us to include all time spent by athletes playing for out-of-state teams.

The Board stated that "the clear test of the subdivision, as well as the purposes for which it was enacted, compel us to include all time spent by athletes playing for out-of-state teams."

3. Whether applicant's 1997 season with the Devil Rays, during which he was injured and testified he did not receive compensation, should count as a season for purposes of section 3600.5(d)(1)(B), or whether it should be omitted from the calculations.

At trial applicant testified that while he was under contract with the Rays during the 1997 season, he was injured only a couple of weeks into the 1997 spring training camp. As a consequence, he did not play at all during the 1997 season, and was not paid any salary for spring training or during the entire season itself, other that room and board during the brief two week period prior to his injury. Applicant argued that his lack of compensation should exempt the 1997 period from being included towards the seven-season limit calculation.

In rejecting applicant's argument, the Board noted that based on Labor Code Sections 3351 and 3357 for purposes of the California Workers' Compensation system, "it is services provided that determine the existence of an employment relationship, not the provision of compensation." The WCAB also noted that a "season" as defined in "section 3600.5(g) includes preseason team activity, meaning that applicant's injury occurred during the "season" for purposes of the statute, not prior to the season. (See section 3600.5(g)(4)."

The Board also noted that if applicant had been working in California at the time of his 1997 injury he would have been entitled to file for workers' compensation benefits despite not being paid compensation. (citation omitted). As a consequence the WCAB could not see any persuasive reason why the 1997 season would not be counted for purposes of of the seven-season limit.

4. The WCJ's calculations related to whether applicant's claim should be exempt were affirmed in part and clarified in part by the WCAB. The WCAB affirmed the WCJ's calculations in determining whether applicant's claim was exempt based on the requirements of

3600.5(d)(1)(A) related to two or more seasons with a California based-team, or 20% or more duty days for a California-based team.

The LC 3600.5(d)(1)(B)-less than seven seasons with teams based outside of California calculation: However, with respect to the whether applicant's claim was correctly found exempt based on whether applicant meets the requirements of 3600.5(d)(1)(B)-less than seven seasons with teams based outside of California was characterized by the Board as less straightforward because it requires a determination of which periods of applicant's employment constituted seasons for purposes of the statute, "as well as whether some of those periods amounted to less than full seasons."

The Board indicated this calculation requires a determination of "which periods of applicant's employment constituted seasons for purposes of the statute, as well as whether some of those periods amounted to less than full seasons." That in turn requires reference to how the statute defines "season." Section 3600.5(g)(4) defines "season" as "the period from the date of the first preseason team activity for the contract year, through the date of the last game the professional athlete's team played during the same contract year."

However, the WCJ and the parties instead of being guided by section 3600.5(g)(4)'s definition of "season" erroneously "measured applicant's seasons not by his ultimate employer, but instead by the specific affiliate teams to which he was dispatched." The Board noted that the language of the statute "appears to tie the calculation of each season to the season of the athlete's actual employer, not of the team they may have been dispatched to."

For future guidance to litigants dealing with this complex issue the Board stated that "[b]ecause we are first and foremost charged with following the plain language of the statute, we think the best approach in cases such as these is to measure seasons by reference to their contract with the employer."

Focusing on the season of the athlete's employer provides practical benefits, as well. Because the length of seasons of affiliate teams may differ from the length of the season of the athlete's employer, or from the length of the seasons of other affiliates, focusing solely on the season of the employing team makes it much easier to resolve the question of how to calculate the time of an athlete who was dispatched to an affiliate for only part of the season, or to more than one affiliate during a single season. Section 3600.5 is convoluted and difficult enough for practitioners and judges to apply without also mandating complicated calculations to determine how many seasons an athlete has played for a given team. All parties benefit from a more straightforward system of calculation, because it provides more certainty in the outcome of cases, and therefore more ability for the parties to predict the likely outcome without the need for costly and time-consuming litigation.

Based on this analysis the Board expressly held "that the reference to "contract year" in subdivision 3600.5(g)(4), the start and end date of seasons for purposes of section 3600.5 should be based on upon the season of the athlete's employing team."

Applying this formula to the facts of the case, applicant's total of 8.2 seasons worked for out-of state teams "exceeds the requirement of subdivision (d)(1)(B) that an athletes must have worked for "fewer than seven seasons" for out-of-state teams, this means that applicant cannot establish his entitlement to the exception, and his claim is barred from the California workers' compensation system, as the WCJ correctly determined in the F&O."

Editor's Comment: One indicator or measure of both the importance and complexity of the LC section 3600.5 exemption provisions is that as a topic/section with its own heading in the Table of Contents it encompasses the most pages of any topic in the entire outline! A few weeks before the WCAB issued their decision in (*Ruhl*) on 12/30/22, they issued another decision on 12/2/22 related to the exemption provisions of LC section 3600.5, *Riggs v. Miami Marlins, Ace American Ins. Co.*, (2022) 88 Cal.Comp.Cases 170; 2022 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 343. In *Riggs*, even though the applicant was employed by multiple professional baseball teams and their affiliates, applicant's attorney only filed the Application against the terminal team the Miami Marlins.

In *Riggs*, the WCAB found that even though the Marlins the terminal carrier in the final year of the claimed injury were exempted from proceedings before the WCAB, the WCAB still had subject matter over the applicants claim and that applicant could still establish an exception to section 3600.5(c) by meeting the requirements of section 3600.5(d). Relying on their previous decisions in *Grahe* and *Worrell*, the WCAB determined that applicant:

Having met both requirements set forth in section 3600.5(d)(1) of two seasons or more played for a California based team, and fewer than seven seasons played for any other teams, applicant has met the requirements of section 3600.5(d)(1), and the liability for applicant's claimed occupational disease or cumulative injury shall be determined in accordance with section 5500.5. (Cal. Lab. Code § 3600.5(d)(2).)

Since applicant met the requirements of section 3600.(d)(1), the WCAB determined that he could pursue liability for his claimed injury based on section 5500.5, pursuant to section 3600.5(d)(2). To accomplish this, applicant would have to name and join one or more of the other teams who employed the applicant before the Marlins.

<u>Hansell v. Arizona Diamondbacks, et al.</u> 2022 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 83 (WCAB panel decision)

Issues and Holding: Whether applicant's cumulative trauma claim was exempt and barred because his employment with the Arizona Diamondbacks was covered by Labor Code sections 3600.5 subdivisions (c) and (d), specifically that his employment with the Diamondbacks was covered by subdivision (c), and that his employment with a Mexican baseball team was covered by subdivision (d)'s reference to an exemption according to "any law" because of a lack of personal jurisdiction over that team. The WCJ in his Findings and Order issued on July 31, 2018, found that applicant's claim was exempt and could not be brought in California due to the application of Labor Code section 3600.5 subdivisions (c) & (d).

Perhaps the most complex issue involved the question of whether subdivisions (c) and (d) of section 3600.5 override the general jurisdictional provisions of sections 3600.5(a) and 5305 that

provide for jurisdiction where there is a California hire during the period of injury, or do these subdivisions apply only to claims where there is no California hire?

In granting applicant's Petition for Reconsideration, the WCAB rescinded the WCJ's F&O and remanded the case back to the WCJ for further proceedings. In reversing the WCJ, the WCAB held that subdivisions (c) & (d) are not applicable to applicant's claim because he was hired in California, creating subject matter jurisdiction over the entire CT claim pursuant to subdivision (a) as well as Labor Code section 5305. The WCAB also concluded that applicant's cumulative trauma claim could be brought in California since Labor Code section 3500.5 subdivisions (c) and (d) only apply to applicants who have not been hired in California. Since it was undisputed applicant was hired in California multiple times during the cumulative trauma injury period, the WCAB could properly exercise jurisdiction over the entire CT injury period.

With respect to 3600.5 (d) as a basis for exempting and barring applicant's claim the Board concluded it did not apply since it does not refer to a hire at all and more importantly "because in this particular case defendant relies on the exemption of subdivision (c) to trigger subdivision (d) with regard to the Diamondbacks." However, subdivision (c) is limited to cases where there is no hire in by any employer during the claimed CT period, and therefore it would not matter if subdivision (d) applies more generally in the abstract.

Procedural Overview: The case was tried on the single issue of "jurisdiction." And whether that jurisdiction extends to all of the teams the applicant played for or whether some of the teams are exempt from jurisdiction. Exhibits were admitted without objection and applicant was the only witness. There were eight codefendants in the case.

Important Procedural Note: The WCAB's Long Delay in Issuing its Decision after Granting for Further Study.: It is extremely important to note that the WCJ's F&O issued on July 31, 2018. While the date the WCAB granted reconsideration for further study is not specified in the public EAMS system, it appears that after granting reconsideration for further study, the WCAB delayed issuing their Opinion & Decision after Reconsideration for 3.5 years on April 7, 2022! Between the WCJ's F&O in 2018 and the WCAB's decision in 2022, many arguments similar to the ones raised by defendants in this case were made in other cases dealing with Labor Code section 3600.5. The WCAB issued numerous decisions on these same issues while the instant case was pending "further study." (see, *Neal v. San Francisco 49ers* 2021 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 68 (WCAB panel decision); *Wilson v. Florida Marlins et al.*, 2020 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 30 (WCAB panel decision); *Grahe v. Philadelphia Phillies et al.*, (2018) 84 Cal.Comp.Cases 123 (WCAB panel decision); and *Carreon v. Cleveland Indians et al.*, 2019 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 428 (WCAB panel decision).

Factual Overview: During the alleged cumulative trauma period from June 5, 1989 to October 15, 2004, applicant played professional baseball for approximately sixteen major league and minor league baseball teams. Three of the teams were located outside the USA. Multiple contracts for hire were formed in California. Applicant was employed by the Los Angeles Dodgers for five years having signed multiple employment contracts with them. He was also employed in California by the San Francisco Giants and the Oakland Athletics. He also signed his first professional baseball contract with the Boston Red Sox in California. He was born and raised in California.

His contract with the Diamondbacks was formed in Arizona and while employed by them he came to California for a five-game series but testified he did not play in those games, but did participate in all the team activities.

DISCUSSION

The Significance of a Contract for Hire in California: Independent of section 3600.5 the WCAB discussed the applicable statutory and decisional basis for the WCAB to assert subject matter jurisdiction over a workers' compensation injury claim. "The [California Workmen's Compensation] Act applies to all injuries whether occurring within the State of California, or occurring outside the territorial boundaries if the contract of employment was entered into in California or if the employee was regularly employed in California." (citations omitted).

In general, the WCAB may assert its subject matter jurisdiction in a given workers' compensation injury claim when the evidence establishes that an employment related injury, which is the subject matter, has a significant connection or nexus to the state of California. (See §§ 5300, 5301; *King, supra,* 270 F.2d at 360; *Federal Insurance Co. v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd. (Johnson) (2013)* 221 Cal.App.4th 1116, 1128).) Whether there is a significant connection or nexus to the State of California is best described as an issue of due process, though it has also been referred to as a question of subject-matter jurisdiction. (*New York Knickerbockers v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd. (Macklin)* (2015) 240 Cal.App.4th 1229, 1238; *Johnson, supra,* 221 Cal.App.4th at 1128.)

The Board stressed that subject matter jurisdiction over an injury claim can extend over injuries occurring outside of California in certain circumstances as set forth in Labor Code sections 3600.5(a) and 5305 where an employee hired in California **or** regularly working in California.

It has long been recognized that a hiring in California within the meaning of Labor Code sections 3600.5(a) and 5305 provides this state with sufficient connection to the employment to support adjudication of a claim of industrial injury before the WCAB. (Alaska Packers Assn. v. Industrial Acc. Com. (Palma) (1934) 1 Cal.2d 250, affd. (1935) 294 U.S. 532 (Palma); Bowen v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd. (1999) 73 Cal.App.4th 15, 27 [64 Cal.Comp.Cases 745] ["an employee who is a professional athlete residing in California, such as Bowen, who signs a player's contract in California furnished to the athlete here by an out-of-state team, is entitled to benefits under the act for injuries received while playing out of state under the contract"]; Johnson, supra, 221 Cal.App.4th at p. 1126.)

The WCAB emphasized that it has been established law for a considerable period of time that a hiring in California provides a basis for WCAB subject matter jurisdiction over a claim of injury and any attendant benefits even if the injury or injuries are suffered outside the state:

For nearly a century, it has been established law that a hiring in California within the meaning of Labor Code sections 3600.5(a) and 5305 provides this state with sufficient connection to the employment to support adjudication of a claim of industrial injury before the WCAB. (*Alaska Packers Assn. v. Industrial Acc. Com. (Palma)* (1934) 1 Cal.2d 250,

affd. (1935) 294 U.S. 532; *Bowen v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd.* (1999) 73 Cal.App.4th 15, 27 [64 Cal.Comp.Cases 745] ["an employee who is a professional athlete residing in California, such as Bowen, who signs a player's contract in California furnished to the athlete here by an out-of-state team, is entitled to benefits under the act for injuries received while playing out of state under the contract"]; *Johnson, supra*, 221 Cal.App.4th at p. 1126.)

The Additional Requirements Applicable to Professional Athletes Under Labor Code Sections 3600.5(c) and (d): The Board noted the additional requirements applicable to professional athletes who file workers' compensation claims involving occupational disease or cumulative trauma injuries under both sections 3600.5 (c) and (d). With respect to section 3600.5(d), the WCAB noted that it cannot be interpreted in isolation but must be construed in the context of 3600.5 in its entirety. "As section 3600(d)(1) makes clear by reference, an important provision for determining the meaning of section 3600,5(d) is section 3600.5(c)." Section 3600.5(c) expressly states that it only applies to CT claims asserted by professional athletes hired outside of California when that athlete is temporarily doing work in California (citations omitted.) With respect to section 3600.5(c), the Board stated that:

This statutory provision applies to a cumulative trauma claim asserted by a professional athlete who is hired in a state other than California, when that athlete is temporarily doing work in California. (See, e.g., *Carroll v. Cincinnati Bengals* (2013) 78 Cal.Comp.Cases 655, 660 (Appeals Board en banc); *Dailey v. Dallas Carriers Corp.* (1996) 43 Cal.App.4th 720, 727.)

Whether sections 3600.5 (c) & (d) are "Jurisdiction Statutes" and Whether a Lack of Personal Jurisdiction is an Exemption Based on the "Any other Law" Language in Subdivision (d): Contrary to the arguments of defendant and the WCJ's statement that sections 3600.5 (c) & (d) are not jurisdiction statutes the WCAB in overruling the WCJ empathically concluded that for a variety of reasons which they discussed in detail, section 3600.5 is a subject matter jurisdictional statute.

Section 3600.5(a) goes beyond that statute, however, in further providing for jurisdiction where the injured worker was either hired in California or regularly employed here: "If an employee who has been hired or is regularly working in the state receives personal injury by accident arising out of and in the course of employment outside of this state, he or she, or his or her dependents, in the case of his or her death, shall be entitled to compensation according to the law of this state." (§ 3600.5(a).) Without this affirmative grant of jurisdiction, we would be unable to exercise jurisdiction over claims based upon regular employment in this state. Section 3600.5 is, therefore, a jurisdictional statute. Subsection (a) is an affirmative grant of jurisdiction, while subsections (b), (c) and (d) are limitations that, under the appropriate circumstances, serve to deprive the WCAB of subject-matter jurisdiction in cases where it could otherwise exercise such jurisdiction if not for those subsections.

As to the "any other law" language in section 3600.5(d) the WCAB indicated that although subdivision (d) exempts some defendants from liability for workers' compensation benefits if they

meet certain requirements, "but nothing in the text of the subdivision makes any reference to personal jurisdiction."

This is with good reason, because employers over whom the WCAB cannot exercise personal jurisdiction would have no reason to need the exemption of subdivision (c) in the first place. Subdivision (d), meanwhile, states that a claim is "exempt from this division when all of the professional athlete's employers in his or her last year of work as a professional athlete are exempt from this division pursuant to subdivision (c) or any other law," unless the exceptions of (d)(1)(A)&(B) are met. A lack of personal jurisdiction over a defendant does not render an employer "exempt" from the substantive provisions of California workers' compensation law; it merely indicates that a particular defendant cannot be required to defend a claim in this state. (emphasis added).

The WCAB noted that unlike personal jurisdiction, subject matter as a general rule "cannot be given, enlarged, or waived by the parties." The Board reasoned that "If a lack of personal jurisdiction were an exemption from the substance of California workers' compensation law, it would not be subject to waiver, and a general appearance would not suffice to confer applicability of that substantive law over a party." As a consequence a lack of personal jurisdiction cannot operate as a "trigger" for an exemption from California workers' compensation law based on section 3600.5 (c) & (d).

Mixed Claim Statutory Ambiguity Issue: The Fundamental Dispute Between the Parties as to Whether Subdivisions (c) and (d) of section 3600.5 Override the General Jurisdictional Provisions of Sections 3600.5(a) and 5305 that Provide for Jurisdiction Where there is a California Hire During the Period of Injury, or do These Subdivisions Apply Only to Claims Where There is no California Hire?

The complexity of this issue caused the WCAB to devote almost half of their decision to addressing it. The WCAB previously comprehensively addressed this same issue in *Wilson v. Florida Marlins, et al., ACE American Ins., administered by Sedgwick Claims Mgt. Services* 2020 Cal.Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 30 (WCAB panel decision).

An extensive analysis and summary of the WCAB's decision in *Wilson* is in this section of the outline. While expanding their analysis in *Wilson* related to the statutory ambiguity issue, the WCAB based on the facts of the instant case reached essentially the same decision they did in *Wilson* by concluding that the exemption provisions of section 3600.5 (c) and (d) do not apply to exempt a cumulative trauma claim where an applicant was hired in California by one or more employers.

Legislative Intent: With respect to determining or discerning legislative intent the Board did an overview of the relevant principles and related case law used "to ascertain the Legislature's intent in order to effectuate the law's purpose."

Cumulative Trauma Claims Suffered While Employed by a Single Employer: The Board stated that there was no statutory ambiguity with respect to the §3600.5(c) exemption of a professional athlete and his or her employer when the professional athlete has been hired outside

of California and is injured while temporarily employed in California in situations involving cumulative trauma claims sustained while the professional athlete is employed by a single employer. "When applied to a cumulative trauma claim sustained while employed by a single employer, this clause is unambiguous in that it applies only when the contract of hire is made outside the state of California."

The "Mixed Claim" Statutory Ambiguity Issue: The WCAB indicated a problem arises under 3600.5(c) when it is applied to a "mixed claim" which they described as "where the applicant was hired in California for some of the cumulative trauma period, but also signed a contract outside of California with the employer asserting it is exempt under subdivision (c)." In this type of situation, the statute is less clear and therefore ambiguous. The Board noted the wording of 3600.5(c) was susceptible to various interpretations and therefore was ambiguous as it relates to a mixed claim situation.

Resolving the Ambiguity: In resolving the inherent ambiguity related to "mixed claims" the Board analyzed and discussed the amendments to section 3600.5 by AB1309. Based on the amendments to section 3600.5, the WCAB indicated the purpose of "the amendments to section 3600.5 was to limit the ability of "out of state professional athletes" with "extremely minimal California contacts" to file workers' compensation claims in California."

The WCAB engaged in a lengthy analysis related to Legislative intent and concluded that:

[W]e believe the most reasonable interpretation of section 3600.5 subdivisions (c) and (d) is that they are intended to apply only to athletes who cannot establish jurisdiction under section 3600.5, subdivision (a) or section 5305. Because it is undisputed that applicant was hired in California multiple times during the cumulative trauma injury period, we may properly exercise jurisdiction over his claim pursuant to those sections, and we will reverse the WCJ's finding to the contrary, and return the matter to the trial level for further proceedings.

The Board indicated that the more plausible interpretation of the Legislature's true intent with respect to the exemption provisions of section 3600.5 ".....was intended to render the subdivision applicable only to athletes without a California contract of hire, and therefore to bar only claims from those athletes without the strong contact with California that is created by a California contract of hire."

<u>Levrault v. Milwaukee Brewers; Miami Marlins et al.</u> 2022 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 116; 50 CWCR 83 (WCAB panel decision)

Issues/Holding: The primary issue in this case was whether applicant's cumulative trauma claim which was filed before September 15, 2013, was barred by former Labor Code §3600.5(b). The WCJ in her Findings and Order concluded that former section 3600.5(b) operated to bar applicant's CT claim. The WCAB on Reconsideration characterized the primary dispute as to whether former section 3600.5(b) barred applicants claim turned on "whether former section 3600.5(b)'s reciprocity requirements must be satisfied at the time of the injurious exposure, or whether it is sufficient that reciprocity exists at the time a claim is filed.

The WCAB reversed the WCJ and found that applicant's claim was not exempt/barred by former section 3600.5(b) since Florida's reciprocity statute effective on July 1, 2011 did not exist at the time that applicant was temporarily within California while working for a Florida employer. The Board indicated that §3600.5(b) on its face requires that the conditions required by the statute must exist, "while the employee is temporarily within this state doing work for his or her employer." For a similar holding see, *Piurowski v. Dallas Cowboys; Miami Dolphis; Tampa Bay Bandits et al.*, 2024 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 173 (WCAB panel decision)

With respect to the separate contentious issue of whether applicant's post-surgery QME medical reports which were obtained after the MSC were admissible, the WCAB reversed the WCJ and found there was good cause under section 5502(d)(3) that the medical reports were admissible since they could not have been discovered by the exercise of due diligence prior to the mandatory settlement conference.

Factual & Procedural Background: Applicant was employed as a professional baseball player from June 10, 1996 to June 27, 2003. During that time he was employed by the Milwaukee Brewers, Oakland Athletics, Miami Marlins, and the Seattle Seahawks as well as some California-based minor league affiliates of the Athletics and the Brewers specifically the Stockton Ports and the Sacramento River Cats.

At trial applicant testified that he suffered wear and tear injuries to various body parts while playing in California and received related medical treatment. He also was on the disabled list for for approximately one month while playing for the River Cats in July of 2002 due to right shoulder tendonitis. He testified that based on game logs the Marlins played six games in California while he was with the team. Applicant played his last game in California for the Marlins.

With respect to the admissibility of the post-surgery QME medical reports, applicant testified that he had right shoulder surgery five days before the original trial date scheduled for July 17, 2017. His surgery was already scheduled at the time he purchased a ticket to fly to California. He did not inform his doctors that he planned to fly to California five days after his surgery. With respect to the July 17, 2017 trial date, applicant's counsel continued the trial based on "representations from applicant's attorney that applicant could not travel to California during for trial because of his recent surgery. However, applicant did travel to California during that period to attend the QME examinations which resulted in the post-surgery QME reports in question." While in California applicant did not appear for the July 17, 2017 trial but instead went to three QME evaluations.

The WCAB's Decision on Whether Former Labor Code Section 3600.5(b) Exempted/Barred Applicant's Cumulative Trauma Claim: The Board initially analyzed both the statutory and case related basis for California to assert subject matter jurisdiction over a claim of industrial injury before the WCAB.

It has long been recognized that a hiring or regular employment in California within the meaning of sections 3600.5(a) and 5305 provides this state with sufficient connection to the employment to support adjudication of a claim of industrial injury before the WCAB. (Alaska Packers Assn. v. Industrial Acc. Com. (Palma) (1934) 1 Cal.2d 250, affd. (1935) 294 U.S. 532 (Palma); Bowen v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd. (1999) 73 Cal.App.4th 15, 27 [64 Cal.Comp.Cases 745] ["an employee who is a professional athlete residing in California, such as Bowen, who signs a player's contract in California furnished to the athlete here by an out-of-state team, is entitled to benefits under the act for injuries received while playing out of state under the contract"]; Johnson, supra, 221 Cal.App.4th at p. 1126.)

However, the Board was careful to point out that section 3600.5 may operate to limit these general principles based on specific circumstances. Former section 3600.5(b) which was in effect prior to September 15, 2013 and applicable to applicant's claim states:

(b) Any employee who has been hired outside of this state and his employer shall be exempted from the provisions of this division while such employee is temporarily within this state doing work for his employer if such employer has furnished workmen's compensation insurance coverage under the workmen's compensation insurance or similar laws of a state other than California, so as to cover such employee's employment while in this state; provided, the extraterritorial provisions of this division are recognized in such other state and provided employers and employees who are covered in this state are likewise exempted from the application of the workmen's compensation insurance or similar laws of such other state.

The WCAB in overruling the WCJ found that former section 3600.5(b) was not applicable to applicant's cumulative trauma claim since "the plain language of former section 3600.5(b) requires that the conditions for application of the exemption – including the reciprocity provisions of subdivision (b)(1)(A) & (B) - apply "while such employee is temporarily within this state doing work for his or her employer[.]" (former § 3600.5(b)(1), emphasis added.) It is undisputed that Florida's reciprocity statute did not exist at the time applicant was temporarily within this state while working for a Florida employer."

The Board indicated their interpretation of former section 3600.5(b) in this case is consistent with and in accord with a number of their past holdings on the same issue as reflected in *Roberts v. Tampa Bay Lightning* (2016) 2016 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 404; see also *Love v. Tampa Bay Buccaneers* (2015) 2015 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. Lexis 668; *Favell v. Colorado Rockies* (2018) 2018 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 352.

Based on this analysis the WCAB reversed and rescinded the WCJ's Finding & Order and found that former section 3600.5(b) did not operate to bar/exempt applicants claim.

The WCAB's Ruling on Whether Applicant's Post-Surgery QME Reports Obtained After the Mandatory Settlement Conference were Admissible at Trial: The WCAB reviewed the provisions of LC section 5502(d)(3) which provides that "the parties shall file a pretrial conference statement listing the exhibits and disclosing witnesses." It also provides that "discovery shall close on the date of the mandatory settlement conference (MSC). Any evidence not disclosed or obtained after the date of the MSC "shall not be admissible unless the proponent of the evidence can demonstrate that it was not available or could not have been discovered by the exercise of due diligence prior to the settlement conference."

The Board pointed out that according to the WCJ the primary reason she found applicant's post-MSC QME medical reports inadmissible was based on her "belief that applicant's attorney had misled the court about applicant's ability to appear for the original July 2017 trial date." Based on applicant's attorney's representations that applicant could not travel to California for trial due to his recent surgery she continued the trial date. However, applicant did travel to California but attended three QME exams instead of the scheduled trial.

While the Board sympathized with the WCJ's "frustration, they disagreed that the proper and appropriate remedy was to exclude medical evidence that appeared to be undoubtedly relevant to assessing the the applicant's permanent disability. Instead of excluding applicant's QME reports the WCAB indicated that "[i]f the WCJ believed that applicant's attorney had misled the court in order to obtain a continuance of the trial under false pretenses...." that may have constituted bad faith tactics, the appropriate remedy would be possible sanctions against applicant's attorney, pursuant to section 5813 rather than to punish the applicant.

In ruling applicant's post-MSC QME reports were admissible, the Board stressed that given the facts and chronological sequence of events, "it was not possible to obtain the post-surgery medical reports in question prior to the settlement conference because the surgery did not actually occur prior to the settlement conference. On remand the WCAB ordered the QME reports to be admitted "along with any other development of the record that may be necessary to ensure that any resulting award is based upon substantial evidence.

<u>Neal v. San Francisco 49ers</u> 2021 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P. D. LEXIS 68 (WCAB panel decision)

Issues and Holding: Whether an alleged lack of WCAB personal jurisdiction over the last two employers during the applicant's last year as a professional athlete precludes the exercise of WCAB subject matter jurisdiction over applicant's cumulative trauma claim based on the exemptions in Labor Code Sections 3600.5 subdivisions (c) and (d).

In denying defendant's Petition for Reconsideration, the WCAB upheld the Findings and Order of the WCJ that applicant's cumulative trauma claim could be brought in California since Labor Code section 3500.5 subdivisions (c) and (d) only apply to applicant's who have not been hired in California. In this case applicant was hired by defendant in California during the alleged cumulative trauma period which is sufficient in itself to establish WCAB subject matter jurisdiction over applicant's entire alleged cumulative trauma claim.

The WCAB held that Labor Code section 3600.5 (c) and (d) operate as subject matter jurisdiction exemptions/exclusions and are not dependent on the presence or absence of personal jurisdiction over a defendant. Also, Labor Code 3600.5(c) was not applicable in this case since the defendant failed to introduce any evidence that the applicant was temporarily employed in California by either of his last two employers the Tampa Bay Storm or the Carolina Cobras and that even if applicant had been temporarily employer in California by these two teams, defendant failed to prove the other mandatory elements to establish any appliable exemptions.

Procedural Overview: The case was tried on the single issue of "jurisdiction." The WCJ issued a Findings and Order on July 19, 2017, finding that there was WCAB subject matter jurisdiction over applicant's cumulative trauma claim for the period of 5/2/95 to 7/21/2000. The basis for the WCJ's decision was that Labor Code section 3600.5 subdivisions (c) and (d) "do not operate to exempt his claim because those sections apply only to applicants who have not been hired in California by at least one employer during the cumulative trauma injury period." Defendant filed a timely Petition for Reconsideration.

Factual Overview: During the alleged cumulative trauma period from May 2, 1995 to July 21, 2000, applicant played professional football for eight different teams including the San Francisco 49ers ("49ers") from July 21, 1998 through September 23, 1998. During the last year of his professional career, he played briefly for two teams, the Tampa Bay Storm, and the Carolina Cobras.

In terms of applicant's employment contract with defendant the 49ers, they provided him with a plane ticket and flew him to California from New Jersey. After a workout session in California, they offered him a three-year contract which he accepted in California. No contract terms were ever discussed while he was in New Jersey. He was never a resident of California and did not have a California based sports agent or contract advisor. He never signed any other contracts in California.

Defendant's Arguments at Trial and on Reconsideration: In a trial brief defendant argued that section 3600.5(d) precludes WCAB subject matter jurisdiction over a claim if the WCAB cannot exercise personal jurisdiction over at least one employer during the applicant's last year of employment as a professional athlete. In that regard, defendant argued the WCAB lacked personal jurisdiction over applicant's last two employers, the Tampa Bay Storm, and the Carolina Cobras and therefore applicant's claim is barred from being adjudicated in California.

On reconsideration, defendant further argued that applicant's CT claim is barred by both 3600.5(c) and (d) based on the fact that applicant did not spend more than 20% of his duty day in California during his last year as a professional athlete and was not hired in California by any employer who employed him during that year. Defendant also argued that 3600.5(c) and (d) apply to all cumulative trauma claims by professional athletes, notwithstanding the fact they have a previous hire in California, in effect carving out an exception to 3600.5 (a) as well as section 5305, which provide that an employee who has been hired in California can recover under California workers' compensation law for injuries sustained outside of California based upon the location of the contract of hire.

Applicant's Arguments: Applicant did not file an Answer to defendant's Petition for Reconsideration. However, applicant in a trial brief argued that section 3600.5(d) "only applied to applicants who have not been hired in California on at least one of their contracts during the cumulative trauma injury period." Applicant also argued that in situations where there is a contract of hire formed in California, subject matter jurisdiction may be exercised under both section 3600.5(a) and section 5305.

Discussion: Independent of section 3600.5 the WCAB discussed the applicable statutory and decisional basis for the WCAB to assert subject matter jurisdiction over a workers' compensation injury claim. "The [California Workmen's Compensation] Act applies to all injuries whether occurring within the State of California or occurring outside the territorial boundaries if the contract of employment was entered into in California or if the employee was regularly employed in California." (citations omitted).

In general, the WCAB may assert its subject matter jurisdiction in a given workers' compensation injury claim when the evidence establishes that an employment related injury, which is the subject matter, has a significant connection or nexus to the state of California. (See §§ 5300, 5301; *King, supra,* 270 F.2d at 360; *Federal Insurance Co. v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd. (Johnson)* (2013) 221 Cal.App.4th 1116, 1128).) Whether there is a significant connection or nexus to the State of California is best described as an issue of due process, though it has also been referred to as a question of subject-matter jurisdiction. (*New York Knickerbockers v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd. (Macklin)* (2015) 240 Cal.App.4th 1229, 1238; *Johnson, supra,* 221 Cal.App.4th at 1128.)

The Board stressed that subject matter jurisdiction over an injury claim can extend over injuries occurring outside of California in certain circumstances as set forth in Labor Code sections 3600.5(a) and 5305 where an employee hired in California or regularly working in California.

It has long been recognized that a hiring in California within the meaning of Labor Code sections 3600.5(a) and 5305 provides this state with sufficient connection to the employment to support adjudication of a claim of industrial injury before the WCAB. (Alaska Packers Assn. v. Industrial Acc. Com. (Palma) (1934) 1 Cal.2d 250, affd. (1935) 294 U.S. 532 (Palma); Bowen v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd. (1999) 73 Cal.App.4th 15, 27 [64 Cal.Comp.Cases 745] ["an employee who is a professional athlete residing in California, such as Bowen, who signs a player's contract in California furnished to the athlete here by an out-of-state team, is entitle to benefits under the act for injuries received while playing out of state under the contract"]; Johnson, supra, 221 Cal.App.4th at p. 1126.)

The Additional Requirements Applicable to Professional Athletes Under Labor Code Sections 3600.5(c) and (d): The Board noted the additional requirements applicable to professional athletes who file workers' compensation claims involving occupational disease or cumulative trauma injuries under both sections 3600.5(c) and (d). With respect to section 3600.5(d) the WCAB noted that it cannot be interpreted in isolation but must be construed in the context of 3600.5 in its entirety. "As section 3600(d)(1) makes clear by reference, an important

provision for determining the meaning of section 3600,5(d) is section 3600.5(c)." Section 3600.5(c) expressly states that it only applies to CT claims asserted by professional athletes hired outside of California when that athlete is temporarily doing work in California (citations omitted.)

Defendant's "Conflation" or Blending of Personal and Subject Matter Jurisdiction: Given the fact that much of defendant's argument on appeal alleged a lack of WCAB personal jurisdiction as a basis for an alleged lack of subject matter jurisdiction and also as an exception to section 5305 and 3600.5(a) the Board felt it necessary to elaborate on the distinctions between personal and subject matter jurisdiction.

The Exemptions or Exclusions under Sections 3600.5(c) and (d) are Subject-Matter Exemptions: For purposes of clarifying this issue the WCAB stated:

The exclusions under section 3600.5, subdivisions (c) and (d) are subject-matter jurisdiction exclusions, and do not depend on the presence or absence of personal jurisdiction. Subdivision (c) exempts some defendants from liability for workers' compensation benefits if they meet certain requirements, but nothing in the text of the subdivision makes any reference to personal jurisdiction. This is with good reason, because employers over whom the WCAB cannot exercise personal jurisdiction would have no reason to need the exemption of subdivision (c) in the first place.

Subdivision (d), meanwhile, states that a claim is "exempt from this division when all of the professional athlete's employers in his or her last year of work as a professional athlete are exempt from this division pursuant to subdivision (c) or any other law," unless the exceptions of (d)(1)(A)&(B) are met. A lack of personal jurisdiction over a defendant does not render an employer "exempt" from the substantive provisions of California workers' compensation law; it merely indicates that a particular defendant cannot be required to defend a claim in this state. (emphasis added).

Waiver versus Non-Waiver: The Board stated that one of the main distinguishing features between personal and subject matter jurisdiction is that personal jurisdiction is easily waived by a general appearance in a case while subject matter jurisdiction cannot generally be waived or consented to by the parties. "If a lack of personal jurisdiction were an exemption from the substance of California workers' compensation law, it would not be subject to waiver, and a general appearance would not suffice to confer applicability of that substantive law over a party."

Choice of Law is Distinct from Personal Jurisdiction: The Board stated that the issue or question of whether a state may apply its laws to a claim is a choice of law issue and "is separate and distinct from the question of whether it may exercise personal jurisdiction over a defendant. (Allstate Ins. Co. v. Hague (1981) 449 U.S. 302, 317, fn. 23.) Therefore, a lack of personal jurisdiction over a party does not equate "to an exemption from the substantive law in questions; it is possible that such law could be applied by a different court that does have personal jurisdiction over the party in question."

Based on the lengthy analysis of the distinctions between subject matter and personal jurisdiction hereinabove, the WCAB concluded that "we disagree that a lack of personal jurisdiction over a defendant is an "exemption" from California workers' compensation law, and therefore a trigger for subdivision (c) or (d) of section 3600.5."

The WCAB Rejected Defendant's Argument that Applicant's Last Two Employers, the Storm, and the Cobras, are Exempt Pursuant to section 3600.5(c): The Board noted that defendant had the burden to prove the application of section 3600,5(c) that applicant was temporarily in California doing work for his or her employer if "during the 365 days immediately prior to the professional athlete's last day of work for the employer within the state, the athlete performs less than 20% of his or her duty days in the state." (§ 3600.5(c)(3).)

However, the WCAB state the critical flaw in defendant's argument is that in the instant case the applicant never performed any work activities for the Storm or Cobras in California. "If the athlete never worked in this state for the relevant employer, subdivision (c) cannot apply, because there is no 365-day period to evaluate whether the athlete meets the twenty percent threshold. The fact that zero days is less than twenty percent is irrelevant, because there is no date from which to measure." And since the record does not establish "that applicant was ever temporarily within this state while performing work for either team, defendant fails to prove that subdivision (c) applies to either the Storm or the Cobras.

Moreover, prior case law which became codified in 3600.5(c) confirms that:

"...the exemption applies only when the applicant's entitlement to benefits depends on a theory that injury was sustained in this state while the worker was here temporarily. For example, in *McKinley*, the Appeals Board stated the exemption applies "if all of the following four conditions are satisfied: (1) the employee was only temporarily working in California" (*McKinley v. Arizona Cardinals* (2013) 78 Cal.Comp.Cases 23, 29 (Appeals Board en banc).) In enacting the amendments to section 3600.5, the Legislature specifically stated: "It is the intent of the Legislature that the changes made to law by this act have no impact or alter in any way the decision of the Workers' Compensation Appeals Board in *McKinley v Arizona Cardinals* 78 Cal.Comp.Cases 23." (Stats 2013, ch. 653, § 5.)

The WCAB stated that even if applicant had been temporarily employed in California and his work contributed to his CT injury it would still not be a sufficient basis to trigger the exemption since defendant failed to prove the other required additional elements "that the Storm and the Cobras had workers' compensation policies or their equivalent that would cover injuries sustained in this state while here temporarily. (See § 3600.5(c)(1)(A), (c)(1)(B); *McKinley, supra*, 78 Cal. Comp. Cases 29.)

The WCAB's Concluding Analysis: The Board in affirming the WCJ's finding of subject matter jurisdiction stated that given the fact that the applicant was hired in California by defendant 49ers was "standing alone, sufficient to establish WCAB subject matter jurisdiction over his claim, because subdivisions (c) and (d) of 3600.5 apply only to athletes who cannot establish jurisdiction under section 3600.5 subdivision (a) or section 5305."

The Provocative footnote 3 of the Boards Decision: In footnote 3 at the end of their concluding analysis the WCAB stated that based on defendant's failure to establish the factual predicates necessary to establish the exemption provisions of 3600.5(c) or (d) that there would be a sufficient basis to find subject matter jurisdiction "even if applicant had not been hired in California. With respect to a more involved analysis of this issue the Board cited to *Wilson v. Marlins* 2020 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 30 (WCAB panel decision).

Editor's Comments:

The WCAB's Long Delay in Issuing its Decision: It is important to note that the WCJ's F&O finding a basis for WCAB subject matter jurisdiction over applicant's entire alleged CT claim was in September of 2017 as was the defense Petition for Reconsideration. However, the WCAB did not issue its decision until 3 ½ years later on March 9, 2021! In the interim, similar arguments made by the defendant in this case in 2017 were made in other 3600.5 cases and were rejected by the Board while this case was pending decision by the WCAB. (see, Wilson v. Florida Marlins et al., 2020 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 30 (WCAB panel decision); Worrell v. San Diego Padres, 2020 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 1 (WCAB panel decision); Grahe v. Philadelphia Phillies et al., (2018) 84 Cal.Comp.Cases 123 (WCAB panel decision); and Carreon v. Cleveland Indians et al., 2019 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 428 (WCAB panel decision).

Personal Jurisdiction: With respect to personal jurisdiction the WCAB concedes two important points. First, "a lack of personal jurisdiction over a defendant does not render an employer "exempt" from the substantive provisions of California workers' compensation law; *it merely indicates that a particular defendant cannot be required to defend a claim in this state.*" *emphasis added*) The Board also notes there is no reference to personal jurisdiction in 3600.5(c). "This is with good reason, because employers over whom the WCAB cannot exercise personal jurisdiction would have no reason to need the exemption of subdivision (c) in the first place." (emphasis added).

While the defendant 49ers alleged there was no personal jurisdiction over applicant's last two employers the Storm and the Cobras they did not represent these employers and did not actually prove there was no WCAB personal jurisdiction over these two employers. It is easy to allege a lack of personal jurisdiction, but it is an issue that is complex and difficult to prove in many cases since it is fraught with procedural and substantive complexities and pitfalls for the unwary.

By way of example while the WCAB addressed defendant's conflation of personal and subject matter jurisdiction by providing various distinguishing characteristics and attributes, it did not mention the fact that while subject matter jurisdiction under the *Macklin* line of cases can be derivative, personal jurisdiction is not derivative and must be established as to each individual defendant in a multi-defendant case.

The author has yet to see a recent trial level decision or WCAB panel decision in a sports case squarely addressing an alleged lack of personal jurisdiction over one or more defendants in a multi-defendant/team case based on recent decisions from the United States Supreme Court in *Ford Motor Co. v. Montana Eighth Judicial District Court ET AL.* 592 U.S.____ (2021), 1415 S.Ct. 1017 and *Bristol-Myers Squibb Co. v. Superior Court of Cal., San Francisco City* 582 U.S.256 (2017), 137 S.Ct. 1773.

An assertion of a lack of WCAB personal jurisdiction based on these cases and California Appellate cases interpreting and applying these decisions may in certain select factual scenarios involving non-resident applicant's with no injurious exposure in California and whose employment contracts were not formed in California to provide a basis for non-California teams to extricate themselves at the outset of a CT claim from the potential broad net of subject matter jurisdiction cast by the *Macklin* line of derivative subject matter jurisdiction cases over an applicant's entire alleged CT claim.

Farley v. San Francisco Giants; Ace American Insurance (Farley II) 2020 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 292 (WCAB panel decision); see also Farley v. San Francisco Giants 2020 Cal.Wrk.Comp. LEXIS 94 as well as the WCAB's prior panel decision in Farley v. San Francisco Giants; Ace American Insurance (Farley I) 2020 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 173 (WCAB panel decision, 4/29/20).

Holding: The WCAB denied applicant's Petition for Reconsideration of the their previous Opinion and Decision denying Reconsideration issued on April 29, 2020 for the same reasons discussed in the WCAB's previous April 29, 2020 Opinion and Decision as well as based on the additional reasons discussed in their new Opinion and Order denying reconsideration that the WCAB did not have subject matter jurisdiction over applicant's claim of industrial injury while playing professional baseball for the San Francisco Giants.

Applicant's "conflation" of three distinct but related legal issues: Before the Board addressed the specific arguments raised by applicant's counsel on reconsideration, the WCAB noted that applicant's petition as a whole conflated three distinct, but related legal issues described as:

- 1. Whether there is general statutory subject-matter jurisdiction over a claim,
- 2. Whether, despite the presences of statutory subject-matter jurisdiction, a claim may not be heard in California for reasons of due process, and
- 3. The specific statutory provisions that provide further limitations on the WCAB's subject-matter jurisdiction with regard to claims made by professional athletes.

The WCAB initially addressed these "conflated issues raised by applicant's petition for reconsideration.

The WCAB's fundamental subject matter jurisdiction is limited by statute: Since the WCAB is solely a creation of the Legislature its fundamental subject matter jurisdiction is limited by statute. (citations omitted). In the absence of a statute conferring subject matter jurisdiction over a claim to the WCAB, the Board cannot exercise jurisdiction over the claim. (citation omitted).

The fact that there may be WCAB statutory jurisdiction does not mean that as a matter of due process it may still be unreasonable for the Board to adjudicate the case in the California workers' compensation system "if there is an insufficient connection between the State of California and applicant's injuries." (citing *Federal Insurance Co. v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd. (Johnson)* (2013) 221 Cal.App.4th 1116, 1128; and also *New York Knickerbockers v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd.* (2015) (*Macklin*) 240 Cal.App.4th 1229.)

Further limitations of the WCAB's fundamental subject matter jurisdiction by the specific statutory exemptions codified in Labor Code section 3600.5: Even where the WCAB has general statutory subject-matter jurisdiction over the claim of a professional athlete, section 3600.5 subdivisions (c) & (d) operate as specific statutory exemptions to such subject-matter jurisdiction. "These subdivisions are not grants of statutory subject-matter jurisdiction themselves; rather they serve to limit the general grants of statutory subject-matter jurisdiction for certain claims by professional athletes." Also, "the fact that a professional athlete's claim is not barred by section

3600.5, subdivisions (c) or (d) does not establish statutory subject-matter jurisdiction over the claim; it merely means the claim in not subject to the exemptions of those particular subdivisions."

In this case the WCAB's lack of jurisdiction over applicant's claim is based on a lack of statutory subject matter jurisdiction and not upon any determination that there are insufficient connections between California and applicant's injuries: The Board opined that they agreed with applicant's argument "that there are sufficient connections between the State of California and applicant's injuries to satisfy due process." However, the required jurisdictional analysis in this case is not dependent on cases that consider the *Johnson* due process requirement since those cases miss the point. "However, without statutory subject-matter jurisdiction, such connections cannot themselves create California jurisdiction over the claim."

The WCAB's decision that it lacks statutory subject-matter jurisdiction over applicant's claim is not inconsistent with the writ denied cases in *Stinnett* and *Totten*: Applicant argued that the Board's decision that it lacked subject-matter jurisdiction was "wholly inconsistent" with *Stinnett v. Los Angeles Dodgers* 2015 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 644 (writ denied) and *Ace American Ins. v. WCAB (Totten)* (2018) 83 Cal.Comp.Cases 1902 (writ denied). However, the Board pointed out that both cases are not statutory subject-matter jurisdiction cases.

In *Stinnett* there was no viable issue of whether or not there was statutory subject-matter jurisdiction because the applicant suffered injurious exposure in California. *Totten* on the other hand involved the question of whether the claim was specifically exempted under Labor Code 3600.5(d). The Board pointed out that in *Totten* there was no specific reference as to what subject-matter jurisdiction was premised on such as injurious exposure in California, "that without such general subject-matter jurisdiction there would have been no reason to consider the question of an exemption under section 3600.5, subdivision (d)."

The WCAB also elaborated on the fact the applicant took out of context a reference to the WCJ's Report on Reconsideration in *Totten* that applicant never played a game in California when the WCJ actually meant the reference by the WCJ was to Totten's last year of employment as opposed to the entirety of his career. "The Dodgers asserted that Applicant's claim was exempt from California jurisdiction under Labor Code § 3600.5(d) because Applicant did not play for any California-based teams and played no games in California *during his last year of employment as a professional baseball player*." (original emphasis).

Based on their analysis of the holdings in both *Stinnett* and *Totten*, the WCAB stated that, "[a]ccordingly, neither case supports applicant's assertion that employment by a California-based employer, standing alone, is sufficient to establish statutory subject-matter jurisdiction over a claim. We therefore reject applicant' assertion that our decision in this matter is inconsistent with any of the cases cited." (emphasis added).

Applicant's assertion that he was hired in California is not factually correct and also incorrect as a matter of law: Applicant argued that he was hired in California and this served to establish general subject matter jurisdiction over his claim. Applicant based this argument on the fact that the contract was signed by the Giants in California. The Board characterized this argument as "simply incorrect as a matter of law." The WCAB stated that based on binding appellate precedent, "the location of hire for the purposes of sections 3600.5(a) and 5305 is the location the offeree accepts the offer of employment." (See *Bowen v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd.* (1999) 73

Cal.App.4th 15, 21-22; *Tripplett v Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd.* (2018) 25 Cal.App.5th 556, 565-66.)

Applicant once again cited to *Stinnett* arguing that the applicant in *Stinnett* was hired in California. The Board stated this was "factually incorrect" since "nowhere in the *Stinnett* decision did any Court find that the applicant was hired in California." However, the Board did make one important observation regarding the impact of a hiring in California by stating that if applicant had been hired in California, which he was not, this would have been "sufficient not only to establish statutory subject-matter jurisdiction, but also to meet the Johnson due process requirement." (*Johnson*, supra, 221 Cal.App.4th at p. 1126).

The Board concluded their analysis of applicant argument that applicant had been hired in California by stating that "the location of contract formation is the location the offeree accepts the contract. Here, applicant has not contested that he was offered a contract by defendant, which he then accepted; as such, the location of contract formation was the place that applicant accepted the contract, which was not in California."

Applicant's arguments related to the WCAB's decision created an absurd result related to claim form issues and the *Neu* panel decision: Applicant argued that the Board's decision created an absurd result because it requires California teams to provide a player with notice of a worker's right to file a claim in California knowing they will be denied because they were filed in California. Applicant' argument was based on the panel decision in *Neu v. Los Angeles Dodgers* 2015 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 603 where a California based team was required to provide notice under section 5401 where the player was dispatched by the Dodgers to an out of state affiliate. The Dodgers in *Neu* unsuccessfully argued they were not required to provide notice under section 5401 to an athlete injured while employed by the Dodgers but playing for an out of state affiliate.

The Board rejected this argument pointing out that Section 3600.5(e) exempts out-of-state employers of professional athletes from the notice requirement of section 5401(a). The WCAB also found that applicant's reliance on *Neu* to support their argument was not persuasive. In *Neu*, the Dodgers did not dispute they were the employer.

The Board stated in that:

Therefore, the *Neu* decision did not require California-based employers to give notice under section 5401, subdivision (a) to athletes injured while playing for out-of-state teams—it merely confirmed that the exemption in section 3600.5(e) applies only to out-of-state teams. Far from modifying the law, *Neu* simply confirms that the statutory provisions in question say what they seem to say: that employers must give notice of potential eligibility for benefits when they learn an employee has sustained an allegedly work-related injury, unless specifically exempted by statute.

In conclusion the Board stated "[w]e therefore disagree that the Legislature intended to grant statutory subject matter jurisdiction to any claim by an individual who receives a notice of potential eligibility under section 5401, subdivision (a)."

Applicant's argument that there is statutory subject matter jurisdiction over his claim based upon Labor Code section 3600.5(d)(1): The Board seemed somewhat perplexed and "curious" by applicant's argument that the section 3600.5(d)(1) should be read "as expanding the subject matter jurisdiction of the WCAB with regard to professional athletes rather than limiting it." What applicant was advocating in his interpretation of the statute was that "subdivision (d) actually provides greater statutory subject-matter authorization for the claims of professional athletes than for other injured workers, in the specific circumstances where the requirements of (A) and (B) are met."

The WCAB did not agree with applicant's reading of the statute. Based on principles of statutory interpretation the Board plainly stated that "[t]he language of the subdivision is clearly intended to limit the general grants of subject matter jurisdiction found in sections 3600, 3600.5, subdivision (a), and 5305, not to expand them."

The WCAB held that:

.....[W]e conclude the most reasonable reading of section 3600.5, subdivision (d) is that it serves to limit the general jurisdiction statutes governing subject matter jurisdiction, not to expand them. When an athlete meets the requirements of (A) and (B) of the subdivision and therefore avoids its application, it merely means that the athlete's claim is not *exempted* by the subdivision. It does not mean that the subdivision *authorizes* a claim when it would otherwise lack subject-matter jurisdiction. (original emphasis).

<u>Farley v. San Francisco Giants; Ace American Insurance (Farley I)</u> 2020 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 173 (WCAB panel decision)

Issues and Holding: The WCAB in reversing and annulling the WCJ's decision on Reconsideration found there was no statutory basis for California to exercise subject matter jurisdiction over the applicant's cumulative trauma claim since there was no California contract of hire and no injurious exposure suffered by the applicant in California. In the absence of a contract of hire formed in California or injurious exposure suffered by the applicant in California, subject matter jurisdiction cannot be based solely on the fact the California based employer exercised supervision and control over the employee while he was working exclusively for various San Francisco Giants affiliate minor league baseball teams located in other states.

Factual and Procedural Overview: Applicant filed a cumulative trauma claim for the period of June 2012 through April 1, 2015 while he was employed by the San Francisco Giants (Giants). The matter went to trial only on the bifurcated issue of whether or not there was California subject matter jurisdiction over applicant's cumulative trauma claim.

Applicant's Employment History: During his entire professional baseball career, applicant was employed by the Giants. While employed by the Giants, he attended spring training in Arizona, but during each baseball season he was assigned to a Giant's affiliate team located outside of California. The parties stipulated the applicant never played a game in California while employed by the Giants.

Employment Contracts: Applicant entered into four employment contracts with the Giants. Each contract was sent by the Giants from California to the applicant who was located outside of California. Applicant signed all four of his employment contracts with the Giants while he was outside of California. It was also undisputed the Giants controlled and supervised applicant's employment from California while he was working with their affiliate teams outside California. Applicant also received paycheck stubs from the Giants home office in California.

Medical Treatment: While employed by the Giants, applicant never received any medical treatment in California. When he needed medical treatment, the Giants would send a team doctor from California to treat the applicant outside of California. If any medication was required, it would be sent to the applicant from California.

Discussion and Analysis: In reversing and annulling the WCJ's decision, the Board began their analysis by noting that benefits under California workers' compensation law for industrial injuries are contingent upon the statutory conditions of compensation being met. The Board indicated the primary applicable statutes are Labor Code §§ 3600 et seq., 5300 and 5301. "The California Workers Compensation Act applies to all injuries whether occurring within the state of California or occurring outside of California if the contract of employment was entered into in California or if the employee was regularly employed in California." (citing *King v. Pan American World Airways* (9th Cir. 1959) 270 F.2d 355 [24 Cal.Comp.Cases 244], cert den., 362 US 928 (1960).)

In terms of a general rule "....the WCAB can assert subject matter jurisdiction in an alleged worker's compensation injury claim when the evidence establishes that an employment related injury, which is the subject matter has a sufficient connection or nexus to the state of California." (See §§ 5300, 5301; *King, supra,* 270 F2d at 360; *Federal Insurance Co. V. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd. (Johnson)* (2013) 221 Cal.App. 4th 1116, 1128 [165 Cal.Rptr.3d 288]).)

When an applicant sustains injurious exposure in California, subject matter jurisdiction is generally established under section 5300. However, with respect to injuries occurring outside of California, there is also a basis for California subject matter jurisdiction over those injury claims in certain circumstances. Based on section 3600.5(a) "......[I]f an employee who has been hired or is regularly working in the state receives personal injury by accident arising out of and in the course of employment outside of this state, he or she, or his or her dependents, in the case of his or her death, shall be entitled to compensation according to the law of this state."

The Board also noted that under section 5305, the WCAB may exercise subject matter jurisdiction for injuries suffered by an applicant outside of California in those cases where the injured employee is a resident of California at the time of the injury **and** the contract of hire was made in California.

The Applicant Was Not Hired in California: The WCAB found that the WCJ had erroneously found that applicant's employment contracts with the Giants were formed in California on the basis that the Giants signed the contracts in California even though the applicant signed all the contracts while he was outside of California. In reversing and rescinding the WCJ's decision, the WCAB found that the dispositive factor was that the Giants only made offers of employment to the applicant when he was outside of California. However, he accepted and signed all of the contracts outside of California.

Based on applicable appellate case law and statutes the Board found that "the location of hire for the purposes of sections 3600.5(a) and 5305 is the location the *offeree* accepts the offer of employment." (See *Bowen v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd.* (1999) 73 Cal.App.4th 15, 21-22; *Tripplett v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd.* (2018) 25 Cal.App.5th 556, 565-66.) The contracts were formed upon applicant's signature when he was outside California. The WCAB also indicated that when the applicant returned the signed contracts to the Giants in California, the Giants signature to the contracts we are conditions subsequent to contract formation. As a consequence, all of applicant's employment contracts were formed outside of California and therefore sections 3600.5(a) and 5305 do not provide a statutory basis for subject matter jurisdiction over his cumulative trauma claim.

The Giant's Control and Supervision Over Applicant's Employment with the Giant's Non-California Affiliate Teams is Legally Insufficient for California to Assert Subject Matter Jurisdiction: The WCAB reiterated that "fundamental subject matter jurisdiction is limited by Statute." "Thus, in the absence of a statute affirmatively confirming subject matter jurisdiction over a claim to the WCAB, we cannot exercise jurisdiction over the claim. (*Tripplett, supra*, 25 Cal.App 5th at 562.)

The Restatement Second of Conflicts of Laws Issue: The Board noted that while the Restatement Second Conflict of Laws indicates a state may consistent with due process constitutionally exercise subject matter jurisdiction over a worker's compensation claim on the basis an employer supervised and controlled the employee from another state. However, this is legally insufficient in California since the Legislature has not enacted a statute establishing that subject matter jurisdiction can be based on the fact the California employer supervised the out of state employee from California. The Board noted that the Restatement Second of Conflict of Laws is not incorporated into California statutory law and therefore cannot serve as independent legal authority or authorization absent such a statute being enacted by the Legislature.

Burden of Proof: Since the applicant is the party seeking to establish WCAB subject matter jurisdiction, applicant has the burden to identify a statute of statutes that authorizes the exercise of subject-matter jurisdiction over his claim. On reconsideration, applicant attempted to rely on Labor code section 3600(a) as a basis for the WCAB to exercise subject matter jurisdiction. However, the WCAB indicated that section 3600(a) does not authorize the exercise of jurisdiction itself, but merely provides for compensation where such jurisdiction already exists based upon some other statute.

Past Decisions of the WCAB Have Led to Confusion and "Muddied the Waters": The WCAB panel candidly stated that past decisions of the Board on this subject have led to some degree of confusion with respect to the issues in this case "....by overlooking the fundamentally limited nature of the WCAB's jurisdiction, or by using imprecise language susceptible to different interpretations when divorced from its context." In this regard and by way of examples the WCAB discussed a number of cases.

The WCAB's Analysis and Discussion of the *Stinnett* and *Macklin* Cases: With respect to the issue of past WCAB decisions in this area muddying the waters and causing confusion, the Board pointed to *Stinnett v. Los Angeles Dodgers* (2015) 2015 Cal.Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 664 (writ denied) as an example. In *Stinnett*, the WCAB stated that for purposes of subject matter jurisdiction, California had a significant and legitimate interest in claims involving a California-

based employer. *Stinnett* in turn relied on *New York Knickerbockers v. Workers' Comp.Appeals Bd. (Macklin)* (2015) 240 Cal.App. 4th 1229.

With respect to *Stinnett*, the Board in retrospect said the part of their decision in *Stinnett* that California subject matter jurisdiction existed on the basis that a California based employer exercised supervision over an employee out of state and for the employer's benefit, was mere dicta and standing alone is not a valid statutory basis for the WCAB to exercise subject matter jurisdiction. In *Stinnett*, the applicant actually sustained injurious exposure in California and therefore there was subject matter jurisdiction established based on Labor Code section 5300. The Board stated that:

Moreover, in citing to *Macklin*, the panel in *Stinnett* was conflating two separate questions. Pursuant to the holding in *Johnson*, even where jurisdiction over a claim is authorized by statute, as a matter of due process, the WCAB may be unable to exercise jurisdiction over the claim if there is an insufficient connection between the State of California and the applicant's injuries. (citing, *Johnson*, 221 Cal.App.4th at 1128.)

The WCAB stressed that the *Macklin* decision addresses the second question in the equation that being the question of due process. "Macklin therefore stands for the proposition that where statutory subject-matter jurisdiction is *already established*, employment by a California-based employer is sufficient to meet the *Johnson* due process requirement. It does not stand for the proposition that employment by a California-based employer is a basis for statutory subject-matter jurisdiction." (original emphasis).

The WCAB stressed the fact that their decision in this case "....is limited to the question of whether the Legislature has provided statutory authorization for the exercise of jurisdiction over workers' compensation claims in the absence of a California Contract of hire or California injurious exposure, based solely on the fact that the employer is based in California and exercised supervision over the employee from this state."

The Board concluded by stating that there was no basis for the WCAB to exercise subject matter jurisdiction over the applicant's claim, because there was no specific statute that "provides for the exercise of jurisdiction based solely on the fact that the defendant is a California-based employer that supervised applicant's employment from this state."

Editor's Comments: This panel decision would seem to call into question the Board's panel decision and writ denied case in *Totten v. Los Angeles Dodgers, Ace American Insurance* 2018 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 366 (writ denied). In *Totten*, relying in part on the prior WCAB panel decisions in *Stinnett* and *James*, the WCAB found that California had subject matter jurisdiction over applicant's entire CT claim based on the fact that applicant played for an affiliate of a California based team but did not play a single game in California. The facts in *Totten* and *Farley* appear to be similar and therefore based on *Farley*, there would be no basis for WCAB subject matter jurisdiction since there was no injurious exposure in either case.

However, in *James v. Angels Baseball, L.L.C.*, 2015 Cal.Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 634, although applicant played for an affiliate of the Angels a California based team there was an independent basis to establish subject matter jurisdiction since he suffered a portion of his CT injury in

California unlike the applicant in *Totten* and *Farley* where neither applicant suffered injurious exposure or injury in California.

Wilson v. Florida Marlins, et al., ACE American Ins., administered by Sedgwick Claims Mgt. Services 2020 Cal.Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 30 (WCAB panel decision)

Issues and Holding: WCAB affirmed the WCJ's decision that applicant's cumulative trauma claim was not exempt from California subject matter jurisdiction pursuant to Labor Code § 3600.5 subdivisions (c) and (d) since they do not override the general subject matter jurisdiction provisions of sections 3600.5(a) and 5305 which provide the basis for California WCAB subject matter jurisdiction where there is a California hire during the alleged CT period. The Board held that section 3600.5 subdivisions (c) and (d) only apply when there is no hire in California.

The WCAB also held that the language in 3600.5(c) exempting a professional athlete who has was hired outside of California as well as his or her employer is ambiguous when applied to a claim where the applicant has contracts of hire formed in California but not with the particular employer who is claiming the exemption from subject matter jurisdiction.

Based on principles of statutory construction as well as the legislative history and intent, as well as the public policy behind the statutes, the WCAB held that the most reasonable interpretation of sections 3600.5(c) and (d) is that they were intended to apply only to professional athletes who cannot establish subject matter jurisdiction under sections 3600.5(a) and 5305. Since the applicant in this case was hired in California by multiple teams during the alleged cumulative trauma period and was regularly employed by California based teams, the WCAB may properly exercise subject matter jurisdiction over the alleged CT claim.

Factual and Procedural Overview: Applicant grew up in California and remained a long time California resident until approximately the year 2000. He alleged a CT claim for the period of June 20, 1991 to September 4, 2006 while employed as a professional baseball player. Over the course of his career, he played for 11 different professional baseball teams. He signed several of his employment contracts with various teams, including California based teams while he was in California. He was regularly employed in California-by-California based teams including the Oakland Athletics, the Los Angeles Dodgers, and the San Diego Padres. He last played for the Dodgers in 2004, less than two years before his retirement in 2006.

Applicant's last two employment contracts with the Colorado Rockies and Florida Marlins were signed in Arizona. Applicant's career ended when he was released by the Marlins on October 15, 2006. While employed by the Marlins he played for one of their minor league affiliates located in Albuquerque, New Mexico. While he was with the Marlins minor league affiliate in New Mexico, he played more than two but less than ten games in California. He also played games in California while he played for the Rockies and his last game for them was on September 3, 2005 and was released by the Rockies on approximately October 15, 2005.

Following trial, the WCJ found that applicant's CT claim was not exempt from California WCAB subject matter jurisdiction under sections 3600.5(c) and (d). The WCJ's finding that applicant's CT claim was not exempt was based on a judgment that sections 3600.5(c) and (d) do not override sections 3600.5(a) and 5305 "which provide that California compensation benefits for injuries

sustained outside this state where the contract of hire is signed in this state." The Marlins filed a Petition for Reconsideration that was denied by the WCAB who affirmed the WCJ's decision.

Defendant's Issues and Arguments: At trial and on reconsideration, the Marlins argued that applicant's CT claim was exempt pursuant to sections 3600.5 subdivisions(c) and (d) because all of applicant's employers during his last year as a professional athlete are exempt from California jurisdiction. Defendant contended those sections apply to all cumulative trauma claims by professional athletes, irrespective of the fact a professional athlete was hired in California by one or more employers during the alleged CT period.

Defendant argued that sections 3600.5(c) and (d) operate to carve out an exception to sections 3600.5(a) and 5305 which provide that an employee who has been hired in California may recover under California workers' compensation law for injuries outside of California based upon the fact the location of the contract of hire was in California.

Applicant's Issues and Arguments: Applicant in his trial brief argued that section 3600.5(d) only applies to applicants who have not been hired in California based on at least one of their contracts during the alleged cumulative trauma period and if there is at least one contract of hire in California during the alleged CT period then California WCAB subject matter jurisdiction can be exercised under sections 3600.5(a) and 5305.

The WCAB's Decision

Overview of the Statutory Basis for WCAB Subject Matter Jurisdiction for Injuries Sustained Inside and Outside of California: The WCAB initially discussed the applicable statutory conditions of compensation including sections 3600 et seq., 5300, and 5301 as well as applicable case law that establish the scope of the WCAB's subject matter jurisdiction that "reflect a legislative determination regarding California's legitimate interest in protecting industrially-injured employees." As a general rule the WCAB stated "[t]he [California Workmen's Compensation] Act applies to all injuries occurring within the State of California, or occurring outside the territorial boundaries if the contract of employment was entered into in California or if the employee was regularly employed in California." (citation omitted).

From a due process standpoint, the WCAB can assert subject matter jurisdiction over an alleged workers' compensation injury claim if the "evidence establishes that an employment related injury, which is the subject matter, has a sufficient connection or nexus to the state of California." (citing sections 5300, 5301; and *King v. Pan American World Airways* (9th Cir. 1959) 270 F.2d 355, 360, 24 Cal.Comp.Cases 244 and *Federal Insurance Co. v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd. (Johnson)* (2013) 221 Cal.App.4th 1116, 1128).

The Board also discussed sections 3600.5(a) and 5305. With respect to 3600.5(a), it is applicable to out of state injuries if the employer has been hired in California or is regularly working in California. Labor Code 5305 applies to injuries suffered outside of California in 'cases where the injured employee is a resident of this state at the time of the injury and the contract of hire was made in this state." The WCAB did note in footnote 3 that the residency requirement of section 5305 has long been recognized as unconstitutional citing *Bowen v. WCAB* (1999) 73 Cal.App.4th 15, 20, fn.6 [64 Cal.Comp.Cases 745].)

Special Rules for CT Claims under Sections 3600.5(c) and (d) by Professional Athletes Exempting Their Claims in Certain Circumstances

Section 3600.5(d)(1)(A): With respect to CT injuries, both professional athletes and their employers shall be exempt from California WCAB subject matter jurisdiction when all the employers in the professional athletes last year of work as a professional athlete are exempt pursuant to subdivision (c) or any other law, unless two conditions are both satisfied as reflected in subdivisions 3500.5(d)(1)(A) and (B).

Those first of these two conditions apply if the professional athlete has over the course of their professional career worked "for two or more seasons for a California based team or the professional athlete has, over the course of his or her professional athletic career, worked 20 percent or more of his or her duty days either in California or for a California based team." There is a specific formula for determining the duty days worked.

Section 3600.5(d)(1)(B): The second condition that must be satisfied by the professional athlete to defeat the exemption is whether the professional athlete has over the course of his professional career, "worked for fewer than seven seasons for any team or teams other than a California-based team or teams as defined in this section."

If both conditions are met and the claim is not exempt from California jurisdiction that liability for the CT injury is determined in accordance with section 5500.5.

An Essential Provision for Delineating the Meaning of 3600.5(d) is 3600.5(c) Where the Professional Athlete is Hired Outside of California and is Injured While Only Temporarily Working in California: Labor Code § 3600.5(c) is an exemption that applies to cumulative trauma claims asserted by professional athletes who are hired in a state other than California, and when the professional athlete is temporarily doing work in California. (*Carroll v. Cincinnati Bengals* (2013) 78 Cal.Comp.Cases 655 (Appeals Board en banc); *Dailey v. Dallas Carriers Corp.* (1996) 46 Cal.App.4th 720.).

If both of the conditions for establishing the exemption related to workers' compensation insurance coverage or its equivalent being furnished under the laws of another state and the professional athlete being temporarily in California doing work for their employer as defined in 3600.5(c)(3) are met, the professional athlete and their employer "shall be exempted from the provisions of this division...."

The Question or Issue in This Case is One of Pure Law: The WCAB framed the issue by stating "...the core dispute of the parties is a pure question of law..." and that the question is whether subdivisions (c) and (d) of section 3600.5 override the general subject matter jurisdictional provisions of sections 3600.5(a) and 5305 that provide for subject matter jurisdiction where the professional athlete is hired in California during the period of the alleged injury, "or do these subdivisions apply only to clams where there is no California hire?" The resolution of this question of law turns on statutory interpretation and legislative intent.

Legislative Intent: With respect to determining or discerning legislative intent the Board did an overview of the relevant principles and related case law used "to ascertain the Legislature's intent in order to effectuate the law's purpose."

Cumulative Trauma Claims Suffered While Employed by a Single Employer: The Board stated that there was no statutory ambiguity with respect to the § 3600.5(c) exemption of a professional athlete and his or her employer when the professional athlete has been hired outside of California and is injured while temporarily employed in California in situations involving cumulative trauma claims sustained while the professional athlete is employed by a single employer, since 3600.5(c) only applies "when the contract of hire is made outside the state of California." The statutory ambiguity issue arises in situations where there is what the Board characterized as a "mixed claim."

The "Mixed Claim" Statutory Ambiguity Issue: The WCAB indicated a problem arises under 3600.5(c) when it is applied to a "mixed claim" which they described as "where the applicant was hired in California for some of the cumulative trauma period, but also signed a contract outside of California with the employer asserting it is exempt under subdivision (c)." In this type of situation, the statute is less clear and therefore ambiguous. The Board noted the wording of 3600.5(c) was susceptible to various interpretations and therefore was ambiguous as it relates to a mixed claim situation. The WCAB stated:

In light of all of the above, we must conclude that the phrase "a professional athlete who has been hired outside of this state" in section 3600.5, subdivision (c) is ambiguous as applied to a claim like this one, where the applicant has California contracts of hire, but not with the particular employer that is asserted to be exempt pursuant to the subdivision.

Since the language of 3600.5(c) is ambiguous and susceptible to multiple interpretations with respect to "mixed claims" scenarios, "we must consider the purpose of the statute, the legislative history, and public policy in determining which interpretation is more persuasive." (citation omitted).

Resolving the Ambiguity: In resolving the inherent ambiguity related to "mixed claims" the Board analyzed and discussed the amendments to section 3600.5 by AB1309. Based on the amendments to section 3600.5, the WCAB indicated the purpose of "the amendments to section 3600.5 was to limit the ability of "out of state professional athletes" with "extremely minimal California contacts" to file workers' compensation claims in California."

In resolving the ambiguity the Board also stated the Legislature provided "specific notes of its intent" by stating "[i]t is the intent of the Legislature that the changes made to law by this act shall have no impact or alter in any way the decision of the court in *Bowen v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd.* (1999) 73 Cal.App.4th 15." (Stats. 2013 ch. 653 (AB1309) § 3.). The WCAB indicated that the primary holding in *Bowen*, "affirming sections 3600.5(a) and 5305, is that a contract of hire in this state will support the exercise of California jurisdiction even over a claim based purely on an out-of-state injury, and that a player's signing of the contract while in this state constitutes hire in this state for that purposes." (*Bowen, supra*, 73 Cal.App.4th at 27.)

The Board felt that these two expressions of legislative purpose and intent suggested that:

.....the Legislature did not intend for subdivisions (c) and (d) to apply to athletes who have been hired in California by at least one employer during the cumulative trauma injury period. The Legislature appears to have been mainly concerned with athletes

who were not hired in this state, who were filing claims and recovering benefits under the law as it existed prior to Johnson based upon a small handful of games. The reference to *Bowen* demonstrates the Legislature recognized and approved of the long-standing principle of California law, stretching back close to a century, that a contract of hire in California is *itself* a compelling connection to the state that validates the exercise of jurisdiction. (original emphasis, citation omitted).

The Board reasoned that since a hire in California is a compelling connection to the state, then by definition athletes hired in California during the alleged CT period would and should not be placed in the same category "of those with extremely minimal California contacts whose claims the Legislature sought to exempt." "If the Legislature had intended to depart from the position that California will exercise jurisdiction over a claim if the applicant was hired in California, we think the Legislature, would clearly have said as much, and, at a minimum, would not have reaffirmed that principle by referencing *Bowen*."

The 20% Duty Day Threshold in §3600.5(c) and (d) Also Supports a Legislative Intent Not to Exempt Professional Athletes Who Were Hired in California During the Alleged CT Period: Subdivision (c), uses the 20% threshold for the purpose of determining the strength of the injured athlete's connection to California. The use of the 20% threshold is to determine "whether a worker injured here while working for an out-of-state team on an out-of state contract is within the state "temporarily."

This focus on how much work time in the state transforms an injured worker's status from "temporary" to "regular" mirrors the due process concerns identified in *Johnson* with ensuring a sufficient connection to the state-concerns which *only apply where* there is not a hire in California at some point during the cumulative trauma period. (emphasis added).

Subdivision (d) sets the 20% duty day threshold for duty days worked "either in California or for a California based team" over an athlete's career in order to meet the first prong of the exception to the exemption. (3600.5(d)(1)(A)." Alternatively, and more importantly, this prong of the exception to the exemption "may also be met by a showing that the athlete has worked "two or more seasons for a California-based team or teams." In that regard the WCAB stated:

Notably, the two-season requirement of work for "a California-based team or teams" does not require that the work be in the state of California. Because professional athletes in some of the covered sports are regularly dispatched out of state for a variety of purposes, it is not as rare as one might think that an athlete could be employed by a California-based team without being regularly employed in California. Therefore, the fact that subdivision (d) mentions two seasons or more of work for a California-based team does not show it is meant to apply even to athletes who were hired in this state or regularly employed here. Instead, a careful reading of the statute suggests that subdivision (d)(1) is concerned with determining under what circumstances an athlete who *does not* meet the requirements of section 3600.5, subdivision (a) or section 5305 should nevertheless be able to bring a claim in California, because their relationship to the state is sufficiently strong *despite* the lack of a hire in California or regular California employment. (original emphasis).

The WCAB's Characterized Their Interpretation and Application of §3600.5 (c) and (d) as the Most Reasonable Since It Better Reflects the Legislature's True Intent and Leads to Results More Reasonably in Accord with That Intent: The Board acknowledged the principle that where a statute is amenable to multiple interpretations, the one that leads to a more reasonable result should be selected.

Based on the applicant's strong lifelong connections to California prior to the year 2000 and the multiple employment contracts he entered into and were formed in California as well as playing for California-based teams, including the Dodgers as recently as 2004, "it strains credibility to characterize applicant's contacts with this state as "extremely minimal," and we do not think the Legislature had claims like his in mind when it sought to limit access to the California compensation system by out of state athletes with minimal connections to this state."

The WCAB's Holding: Notwithstanding the complexity of the issue and their struggle with discerning legislative intent, the WCAB held as follows:

However, for all the reasons referenced above, we believe the most reasonable interpretation of section 3600.5 subdivisions (c) and (d) is that they are intended to apply only to athletes who cannot establish jurisdiction under section 3600.5, subdivision (a) or section 5305. Because it is undisputed that applicant was hired in California multiple times during the cumulative trauma injury period, we may properly exercise jurisdiction over his claim pursuant to those sections, and we will affirm the WCJ's finding that section 3600.5 does not bar his claim.

Worrell v. San Diego Padres, Ace American Insurance Company/Chubb. 2020 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 1 (WCAB panel decision)

Issues & Holding: Whether under Labor Code Section 3600.5(d)(1)(A) applicant met the exception to the application of the 3600.5(d) exemption of applicant's entire claim from California workers' compensation law based on having worked 20% or more of his duty days either in California or for a California based team or their out-of-state affiliates and having worked for fewer than seven seasons for any team or teams other than a California-based team or teams as defined in 3600.5(d)(1)(B).

Since the record was fatally defective with respect to relevant evidence on the "duty days" issue, the WCAB rescinded the WCJ's Amended Findings of Fact and remanded the case for further development of the record related to properly calculating whether applicant worked 20% or more of his duty days either in California or for a California-based team or their out-of-state affiliates.

Factual and Procedural Overview: Applicant a professional baseball player filed a cumulative trauma claim for the period of 6/19/2004 to 5/8/2013. During the CT period applicant was employed by the St. Louis Cardinals, San Diego Padres, Seattle Mariners, and Baltimore Orioles. While playing for these teams he was also dispatched or assigned to a number of their minor league affiliates. He also played for a Mexican team the Diablos Rojos del Mexico for about 6 days in May of 2013. In addition, he also played off-season "Winter Ball for a number of foreign teams in Mexico and the Dominican Republic. None of applicant's contracts during his professional career were formed in California. In his professional career, he pitched approximately 8 Major League games, and approximately 323 Minor League Games.

While with the Padres, he was assigned to the Portland Beavers a minor league affiliate of the Padres located in Portland Oregon. Applicant testified credibly that while he was employed by the Padres "all decisions regarding his career —where he was to be assigned, when he would be called up to the major league team or sent down to a minor league affiliate-were made by the Padres. All decisions were made by the Padres' team personnel, general managers, coaches, and training staff. He just followed their orders.

On November 13, 2016, the WCJ issued her initial Findings and Order finding California jurisdiction over applicant's claim but later rescinded it after Defendant filed a Petition for Reconsideration in order to develop the record further related to applicant's playing career. The case was then resubmitted for decision and the WCJ issued Amended Findings of Fact finding that applicant's claim was **not exempt** based on section 3600(a) or section 3600.5(d) but deferred a final determination of subject matter jurisdiction on the basis there was no medical evidence of applicant having suffered a cumulative trauma injury. However, the WCAB indicated that the WCJ's Opinion on Decision made clear that the WCJ believed that applicant met the requirements of section 3600.5(d) because he spent more than 20% of his duty days playing in California or for a California-based team, and less than seven seasons for other teams.

The Padres filed a Petition for Reconsideration arguing that applicant did not work at least two seasons for a California-based team or 20% of his duty days in California or for a California-based team, and because applicant allegedly worked at least seven seasons for teams based outside of California. The WCAB granted Reconsideration.

Discussion and Analysis: The WCAB discussed and analyzed the general provisions of both 3600.5(d) and 3600.5(c) noting that section 3600.5(d) cannot be interpreted and construed in isolation and must be construed in the context of the entire statute of which it is a part. The Board stated that "[a]s section 3600(d)(1) makes clear by reference, an important provision for determining the meaning of section 3600.5(d) is section 3600.5(c)." Labor Code section 3600.5(c) applies to a cumulative trauma claim asserted by a professional athlete who is hired in a state other than California, when that athlete is temporarily doing work in California. More importantly, 3600.5 also defines a number of critical terms such as "professional athlete" (3600.5(g)(1), "California-based team" (3600.5(g)(2), "Duty day" (3600.5(g)(3), and "season" (3600.5(g)(4).

Were all of applicant's employers in his last year of work as a professional athlete exempt pursuant to 3600.5(c) or any other law based on 3600.5(d)(1)?: On this issue the Board indicated that applicant's last year of employment as a professional athlete was the one-year period ending in May 2013 when applicant last played briefly for the Rojos Mexican team. More importantly the Board stated that 3600.5(c)(1) applies only to an injury sustained while 'temporarily within this state." Section 3600.5(c)(1) "could not possibly apply to applicant's employment with the Rojos, because it is undisputed applicant never played for the Rojos in California; one cannot be "temporarily within this state doing work" for an employer if one is not actually in the state."

There is no exemption of the Rojos pursuant to "any other law" as referenced in 3600.5(d) due to an alleged lack of personal jurisdiction over them: The Padres argued that because applicant was not hired in California and did not sustain any injurious exposure in California while employed by the Rojos there is no basis for California subject matter jurisdiction over applicant's injuries with the Rojos. In response to this argument the Board stated that the Padres confused

personal jurisdiction and subject matter jurisdiction. "Defendant's conflation of personal and subject-matter jurisdiction is neither helpful nor accurate as applied to subdivision (d) of section 3600.5." The mere fact there may be a lack of personal jurisdiction does not create an exemption from California workers' compensation law but simply indicates that a particular defendant cannot be required to defend a claim in California.

The Board explained that 3600.5(d) "....states that a claim is "exempt from this division when all of the professional athlete's employers in his or her last year of work as a professional athlete are exempt from this division pursuant to subdivision (c) or any other law," unless the exceptions of (d)(1)(A)&(B) are met." On this alleged lack of personal jurisdiction argument, the Board concluded that "In short, therefore, we disagree that a lack of personal jurisdiction over a defendant is an "exemption" from California workers' compensation law, and therefore a trigger for subdivision (d) of section 3600.5."

The Rojos were exempt based on a lack of subject matter jurisdiction: However, the WCAB agreed with defendant that a lack of subject matter jurisdiction over a defendant, in this case the last employer the Rojos "is an "exemption" from California workers' compensation law, and therefore a trigger for subdivision (d) of section 3600.5." Since applicant was never hired in California by any employer and that his employment with the Rojos during his last year as a professional athlete and also during the 5500.5 liability period, the Board found the Rojos were "exempt" from applicant's claim, triggering section 3600.5(d).

Triggering the built-in exceptions to the "exemption" contained in section 3600.5(d): With respect to triggering the built-in exceptions to exemption the Board stated:

To trigger the exception to 3600.5(d), the athlete must first have worked two or more seasons for a California-based team or worked 20 percent or more of his or her duty days either in California or for a California based team. (Section 3600.5(d)(1)(A).) Additionally, the applicant must also have "worked for fewer than seven seasons for any team or teams other than a California-based team or teams as defined in this section." (Section 3600.5(d)(1)(B).) When *both* of these conditions are met, the entire claim is not exempt, and "liability for the professional athlete's occupational disease or cumulative injury shall be determined in accordance with Section 5500.5." (Section 3600.5(d)(2).)

Applicant did not meet the two or more season's exception: With respect to the season-based criteria for the exemption exception in 3600.5(d)(1)(A), the Board indicated that "....it is clear from the record that applicant did not work two or more seasons for a California-based team. Even assuming for purposes of discussion that the entirety of applicant's employment with the Padres counts towards satisfying this requirement, applicant left the Padres in June 2010, roughly halfway through the season. Therefore, at best, applicant spent one-and-a-half seasons with a California-based team, which is insufficient to meet the "two or more seasons" specified in the statute."

Applicant worked fewer than seven seasons for any team or teams other than a California-based team or teams: The evidence established that applicant worked "fewer than seven seasons for any team or teams other than a California-based team or teams as defined in 3600.5(d)(1)(B), and therefore satisfied that requirement as a basis to meet one of the criteria to establish an exception to 3600.5(d). Applicant's employment history reflects that "[a]t best, this amounts to

somewhat short of six seasons-four and a half with the Cardinals, one with the Orioles, and then somewhere in the region of an additional quarter of a season divided between the Mariners and the Rojos."

The Board rejected defendant's argument that the time applicant spent training in Arizona and with the Portland Beavers should be counted towards the seven-season limit. With respect to training camp in Arizona the Board indicated that "[t]he fact that applicant's job duties were undertaken outside of California does not mean he was not working for a California-based team."

As to the time applicant spent with the Portland Beavers, the WCAB stated this was a more difficult issue. There was no dispute that the Beavers are an out of state team. "The question becomes whether applicant's time with the Beavers was time "worked" for the Padres, a California-based team, or with the Beavers, and out-of-state-team." The Board concluded this question was purely academic since even if the roughly three months applicant was with the Beavers is credited as out-of-state time, "......it would still amount to "fewer than seven seasons for any team or teams other that a California-based team," and therefore applicant meets the requirement of subdivision (d)(1)(B)." Given the fact applicant met the fewer than seven season's prong, the only remaining hurdle he

had to meet to establish a complete exception and to refute the defense argument that his claim was exempt from the provisions of the California workers' compensation system was to establish that he "worked 20 percent or more" of his "duty days either in California or for a California-based team." (3600.5(d)(1)(A).

The WCAB's Analysis as to the correct methodology to calculate the "duty days" basis for the exception to 3600.5(d): The Board began its analysis by referencing section 3600.5(d)(1)(A) as follows:

As the statute instructs, this percentage "shall be determined solely by taking the number of duty days the professional athlete worked for a California-based team or teams, plus the number of duty days the professional athlete worked as a professional athlete in California for any team other than a California-based team, and dividing that number by the total number of duty days the professional athlete was employed anywhere as a professional athlete.

In terms of the proper method of calculating duty days the Board stated:

Therefore, based on the clear language of the statute, in order to determine whether applicant's claim may be brought in California each day of applicant's career must be considered and categorized: first, as to whether it was a duty day, and second, if so, whether it should be put in the California column, if it was a day worked either for a California-based team or in California, or out-of-state column, if it was not. The duty days in California or for a California-based team then become the numerator, while the total duty days over the athlete's career become the denominator. If the resulting fraction is 1/5 or greater, the claim may be brought in California; if it is not, the claim is exempt.

The problem the Board identified was that the existing trial record was deficient to allow for the day-by-day accounting of applicant's entire professional career as mandated by the statute. As a

consequence, it was necessary to rescind the WCJ's Amended Findings of Fact, and to return the matter to the trial level to determine the pivotal issue of whether the applicant met the 20% threshold. However, to assist the parties and the WCJ on remand to correctly determine the "duty days" issue and to aid in framing the scope of the inquiry on this critical issue, the WCAB suggested a set of guidelines.

What the phrase "duty day" means: The Board indicated that defining what a "duty day" is for determining the 20% threshold is not a simple one. Pursuant to subdivision (g), ".....the phrase "duty day" means "a day in which any services are performed by a professional athlete under the direction and control of his or her employer pursuant to a player contract." (Section 3600.5(g)(3).). However, to be a duty day, ".....it is not enough that applicant was employed under a contract on that day; he must also have actually performed work, whether it be playing in a game, training under the employer's direction, travelling at the employer's behest, or any other activities under the direction or control of the employer."

Work outside the United States: The Board also indicated that time worked outside the United States should be included and not excluded in the calculation and in so doing rejected applicant's argument based on 3600.5(c) that time worked outside the United States should be excluded from the equation. The Board noted that 3600.5(c) is not relevant to the definition of a duty day but instead addresses insurance coverage.

A duty day is not limited to days during the professional season: The WCAB indicated that the definition of a duty day "....is not limited to days during the professional season, it includes employment outside that period, including not only Winter Ball but any other time applicant performed services as a professional athlete under the direction and control of an employer on a player contract."

Proper categorization and calculation of duty days related to "working" for a California-based team or their out-of-state affiliates: The most significant aspect of the WCAB's guidance relates to how to correctly calculate duty days related to professional athletes "working" for California-based teams and their out-of-state affiliates. Based on a tripartite application of statutory interpretation, legislative intent, and prior case law, the Board concluded that periods when a player is assigned to and working for a non-California minor league affiliate of a California based team may count as duty days played for a California-based team.

In terms of statutory interpretation and construction the Board stated:

Turning first to the language of the statute itself, subdivision (d) of section 3600.5 refers to "work" for California or non-California teams not to "playing" for those teams. (See 3600.5(d)(1)(A)&(B).) Given that applicant's contract of employment was with the Padres even during his period of dispatch to the Beavers, it is difficult to argue that applicant was no longer "working" for the Padres during those periods, even if he was "playing" for the minor league affiliate. Furthermore, the definition of duty day states that services must be performed "under the direction and control of his or her employer pursuant to a player contract." Because applicant was never actually employed by the Beavers, it is difficult to say they were the "employer" for purposes of exercising direction or control, or that services were performed "pursuant to a player contract." Accordingly, the plain language of the statute

appears to favor an interpretation that would include these duty days as duty days for a California-based team. (emphasis added).

The WCAB also noted that in interpreting a different provision of the same statute they have previously held "that periods of play for an out-of-state minor league affiliate do not transform an applicant's employment into employment for a non-California team, when the applicant remains employed by a California team." The key aspect is whether the applicant's employment activities while working for the non-California affiliate were subject to the direction and control of the California based team. (*Neu v. Los Angeles Dodgers* 2015 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 603).

The Board felt their analysis in *Neu* was compelling given the facts of the instant case. In that regard the Board stated:

Most significantly, the Padres, as applicant's uninterrupted California employer, retained control over applicant during his period of play for Beavers, (sic) including the power to recall him at any time. Moreover, applicant's time with the Beavers was for the Padre's benefit. It would be incongruous to hold that an applicant's work while employed by a California employer, for that employer's benefit, takes applicant's claim outside of the jurisdiction of the California workers' compensation system, simply because that work occurred out of state while dispatched to an affiliate team.

The Board also indicated their review and analysis of AB 1309's legislative history did not undermine their conclusions with respect to calculating duty days related to work performed by a professional athlete for non-California affiliates of California based teams.

Editor's Note: Based on the Court of Appeal's decision in *New York Knickerbockers v. W.C.A.B.* (*Macklin*) (2015) 240 Cal.App.4th 1229, 1238-1239, the editor questions the WCAB's conclusion that there was no basis for the WCAB to exercise subject matter jurisdiction over the Mexican team, the Diablos Rojos Del Mexico and on this basis the Rojos were somehow "exempt" from California WCAB jurisdiction under 3600.5(d). In *Macklin* and virtually every subsequent panel decision from the WCAB dealing with *Macklin* and subject matter jurisdiction, if an applicant either played for a California based team or an employment contract was formed in California at any time during the alleged cumulative trauma period, then the WCAB has subject matter jurisdiction over the entire alleged cumulative trauma claim. Under *Macklin*, subject matter jurisdiction is not based on an employer-by-employer assessment or analysis but rather is based on the entire alleged CT claim. Whether there was a basis for personal jurisdiction over the Rojos is a completely different issue.

In the instant case there seems to be no dispute that applicant played for a California based team, the Padres during the alleged CT period and therefore there is WCAB subject matter jurisdiction based on *Macklin* over the entire CT claim including applicant's employment with the Rojos.

However, from both a procedural and practical standpoint, it is highly unlikely that the WCAB would be able to exercise personal jurisdiction over the Rojos. While lack of personal jurisdiction may not operate as a ground for a defined "exemption" under 3600.5(d) from California workers' compensation law, the Rojos would not be required to defend the claim in California.

<u>Audette v. Los Angeles Kings, Dallas Stars, Atlanta Thrashers et al.,</u> 2019 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 137 (WCAB panel decision); subsequent history defense Petition for Reconsideration denied on 7/30/19, Audette v. WCAB, Montreal Canadiens, Florida Panthers, Los Angeles Kings, et al., 84 Cal.Comp.Cases 829, 2019 Cal.Wrk.Comp. LEXIS 63

Issues & Holding: Whether the applicant's CT claim was exempt pursuant to the provisions of Labor Code sections 3600.5(c)(1)(A)&(B) based on the insurance policies issued to the Montreal Canadians and the Florida Panthers both of whom employed the applicant during his last year of employment. Applicant was hired outside of California by both teams. On Reconsideration the WCAB rescinded the WCJ's Findings & Award and returned the matter to the trial level for development of the evidentiary record on whether the insurance policies issued to the Montreal Canadians and the Florida Panthers met the requirements for exemption under Labor Code section 3600.5(c)(1)(A)&(B). (all references are to the Labor Code unless otherwise indicated).

Factual and Procedural Overview: In an F&A issued on October 31, 2016, the WCJ found California had subject matter jurisdiction over the applicant's CT claim for the period of 6/17/89 to 4/4/04. In the F&A the WCJ "rolled back" the 5500.5 liability period to 3/13/99 to 3/13/2000 when the applicant was employed by the Los Angeles Kings and played sufficient games in California to confer jurisdiction over the Kings. At trial "Information Pages" related to insurance policies issued by Federal Insurance Company to the Panthers and the for the Sabres were introduced into evidence to support an argument that applicant's claim was exempt under 3600.5(d). Multiple defendants filed Petitions for Reconsideration alleging applicant's claim was exempt pursuant to 3600.5, subdivisions (c) and (d). The WCJ as reflected in the Report on Reconsideration admitted error and recommended that the defense petitions be granted, and that California lacked jurisdiction over applicant's CT claim.

The WCAB's Decision on Reconsideration: Section 3600.5(d): Preliminarily, the WCAB analyzed the 3600.5(d) exemption provisions related to CT claims which exempts both the athlete and his or her employer when all of the athlete's employers in the last year of work are exempt from this division pursuant to subdivision (c) or any other law, unless both of the conditions of subdivisions 3600.5(d)(A)&(B) are satisfied. If both of those subdivisions are satisfied, then liability for the occupational disease or CT injury shall be determined in accordance with 5500.5.

However, in construing and applying the provisions of 3600.5(d), the WCAB indicated it could not be construed in isolation and must be construed in the context of the entire statute of which it is a part and therefore by clear reference an essential provision for assessing and determining the meaning of section 3600.5(d) is section 3600.5(c).

Section 3600.5(c) Reciprocity: The WCAB set forth the provisions of 3600.5(c) in full which they summarized and characterized as a statutory provision that "applies to a cumulative trauma claim asserted by a professional athlete who is hired in a state in a state other than California, when the athlete is temporarily doing work in California." (See, e.g., *Carroll v. Cincinnati Bengals* (2013) 78 Cal.Comp.Cases 655, 660 (Appeals Board en banc); *Dailey v Dallas Carriers Corp.* (1996) 43 Cal.App.4th 720,727.)

Applicant's Argument(s): Applicant argued that 3600.5(c) applies only to employers located within the United States since this section requires proof of an insurance policy or its equivalent "under the laws of a state other than California." Since the Montreal Canadiens are located in Canada, the statute cannot possibly apply to applicant's employment with them. The WCAB rejected this argument by noting that the term "state" is not defined in section 3600.5 or in the Labor Code as a whole. Therefore, they turned to the definition in Black's Law Dictionary which broadly defines a "state" in such a way that "encompasses both individual states of the United States of America as well as foreign countries and/or their subdivisions."

Also examining various provisions of 3600.5, the WCAB stated that "[i]f the Legislature had intended to limit application of the statute only to employers based in one of the states of the United States of America, we think it would have chosen to do so more explicitly, or at least to repeat this phrasing elsewhere within the statute." The WCAB also stated that if they were to adopt applicant's interpretation of the phrase "state other than California" it would also lead to strange results. They provided an example of such a strange result concluding that "[t]herfore, we reject applicant's argument that section 3600.5 applies only to employers based within the United States."

Panthers were Insured: The defendants argued that the parties joint stipulation that the Canadiens and the Panthers were both insured by Federal Insurance and administered by Chubb was sufficient to meet the requirements of 3600.5 (c)(1)(A)&(B). The WCAB discussed several significant cases dealing with the effect of a mutual stipulation of the parties. (citations omitted).

However, the WCAB based on the both the language of the stipulations, the stipulated finding, as well as course of conduct of the parties, ruled that there was no mutual "intent to stipulate that the employers' general insurance coverage met the requirements of subsection (c)(1)(A)&(B)." If the parties wanted to enter into such a stipulation "we think the parties would have explicitly stated as much."

Insufficiency of the Evidence in the form of the Insurance Information Pages: Since the WCAB found no intent by the parties to stipulate to the application of subsection (c)(1)(A)&(B), the WCAB assessed the "Information Pages" related to insurance policies issued by Federal Insurance to the Florida Panthers for the 2003 and 2004 calendar years. The WCAB noted that these pages "do not clearly show which states are covered under the policies; they instead direct the reader to review other documents not introduced into evidence, for lists of states covered." Moreover, the WCAB noted that "no information related to any workers' compensation insurance policy issued to the Montreal Canadiens was introduced at all."

The WCAB characterized the current record as insufficient and that they could not "determine whether either the Montreal Canadiens or the Florida Panthers meet the requirements for exemption under section 3600.5(c)(1)(A)&(B)." As a consequence, the WCAB rescinded the WCJ's F&A and returned the matter to the trial level so the WCJ could set the case for further hearing and admit new evidence to determine whether the insurance policies issued to the Montreal

Canadiens and the Florida Panthers meet the requirements for exemption under Labor Code section 3600.5(c)(1)(A)&(B).

Editor's Comments: Many cumulative trauma injuries in sports cases are filed for alleged injuries that go back decades. As a consequence, there are inherent issues in trying to obtain documentary evidence of workers' compensation insurance coverage and the nature of such coverage especially for employers/teams located outside of California. Two recent cases illustrate this problem. Both cases indicate that where liability for an out of state defendant is contingent on proof of coverage early bifurcation and submission for mandatory arbitration pursuant to Labor Code section 5275 on the coverage issue should proceed early in the case if possible in order to move cases forward expeditiously and to avoid years of litigation that end up being remanded back to the trial level or to arbitrators for further proceedings on coverage disputes. Also coverage disputes and related delays can be avoided in some cases if an applicant makes a strategic election early in the proceedings since related contribution and coverage issues related to the liability of the non-elected defendant(s) can proceed at a later time.

In Zeber v. New York Yankees; Travelers Indemnity Company, (2022) 88 Cal.Comp.Cases 489; 2022 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 11 (WCAB panel decision); subsequent history see Travelers Indemnity Co., v. W.C.A.B. (Zeber) (2023) 88 Cal.Comp.Cases 489; Court of Appeal vacated WCAB's 9/13/22 order and matter was remanded to trial level for determination of insurance coverage issues before award could properly issue; see also subsequent WCAB Opinion and Decision after Remand issued by the WCAB on 3/1/24 in Zeber v. New York Yankees where the WCAB issued a new decision in place of its prior September 13, 2022 wherein they rescinded and deletes the Award pending further proceedings and final determination of the outstanding substantive issues at the trial level). Defendant Travelers on Reconsideration and later via writ proceedings contended in part that the New York Yankees were not illegally uninsured as found by the WCJ. Travelers indicated that there was sufficient proof that the Yankees were insured by United States Fidelity & Guaranty Co., adjusted by Travelers. The WCAB granted reconsideration and determined that the issue of whether the Yankees had a valid workers' compensation insurance policy during a portion of the alleged CT period should be deferred pending mandatory arbitration pursuant to Labor Code section 5275. The WCAB remanded the case back to the trial level for mandatory arbitration.

Nokes v. Joliet Jackhammers; Liberty Mutual Ins. Co., et al., 2022 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 295 (WCAB panel decision), dealt with an arbitrator's decision finding that workers' compensation policies issued by United States Fidelity & Guaranty Co., for the Joliet Jackhammers and the Schaumberg Flyers did not provide coverage in California. At issue was whether the workers' compensation policies issued by United States Fidelity & Guaranty Co., for both teams provided coverage for injuries that occurred outside the state of Illinois, specifically whether the policy endorsements or actual contract provisions included or excluded coverage for injuries occurring in California. The WCAB granted reconsideration and remanded the case back to the arbitrator for further proceedings and development of the record. The Board indicated that if California is included in the policy, the arbitrator must analyze whether there are conditions for coverage that are not met, and, if so, whether the failure to meet those conditions results in the policy not providing coverage for injuries suffered in California.

Grahe v. Philadelphia Phillies et al., (2018) 84 Cal. Comp. Cases 123, 2018 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 480 (WCAB Panel Decision); see also Carreon v. Cleveland Indians, et al., 2019 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 428 (WCAB panel decision) (similar holding as in Grahe with respect to defendant failing to carry its burden to prove up an exemption based on Labor Code 3600.5(c) or "any other law" pursuant to 3600.5(d)(1) where the WCAB stated "......it is true that subdivision (d) references possible exemption not only according to subdivision (c), but also according to "any other law." (3600.5(d)(10.) However, defendant fails to identify any "other law" which allegedly exempts the employers during applicant's last year as a professional athlete, much less to prove such an exemption.").

Issues & Holding: Whether in a situation where an employer establishes an exemption pursuant to Labor Code §3600.5 and that employer is in the Labor Code §5500.5 liability period, are they alone exempt from liability or if the exemption is established, whether the applicant's entire claim is barred by Labor Code §3600.5(d).

The WCAB held there was subject matter jurisdiction over the applicant's entire cumulative trauma claim based on the fact he played for a period of time for a California based team, and it also appeared he signed at least one of his employment contracts in California with the California Angels. The Board also held that the Philadelphia Phillies who employed the applicant during the applicable Labor Code §5500.5 liability period, were exempt from liability based on the fact the Phillies met all of the conditions for an exemption pursuant to Labor Code §3600.5(c). Moreover, since there was no other team other than the Phillies liable under Labor Code §5500.5, the WCAB held that applicant's claim could still advance before the WCAB and while liability could not be assessed against the Phillies, liability could "rollback" and be assessed against the previous employer over whom California could assert jurisdiction, pursuant to the *Patterson* case and establish precedent.

Factual & Procedural Overview: Applicant a professional baseball player filed a cumulative trauma claim for the period of June 1, 1990 through September 1, 2000. The case was set for trial only on the bifurcated issue of whether or not the WCAB could assert jurisdiction over the Philadelphia Phillies. ("Phillies")

The parties stipulated to applicant's dates of employment with the teams he played for during his career. During his career, he played for seven different teams. Six of those were non-California based teams. The only California based team was the California Angels. ("Angels") The Angels were his first employer for a stipulated period from September 10, 1989 to November 26, 1994. While applicant was employed by the Angels he also played for five of the Angels affiliates all located outside of California, four of them in Canada and another out of state affiliate only referred to as the "Midland Angels."

The Phillies were the applicant's last employer for the period of January 25, 1999 to October 15, 2000. The Phillies were the only employer during the Labor Code §5500.5 liability period.

The applicant testified he could not remember signing any of his employment contracts with various professional teams in California aside from the contract with the Angels. While he was employed by the Phillies during the Labor Code §5500.5 he played a four-game series in San

Francisco. On July 6, 2015, the workers' compensation judge ("WCJ") issued his first Findings and Order, finding that the WCAB had subject matter jurisdiction over the Phillies. The Phillies filed a Petition for Reconsideration. The WCJ rescinded the original Findings and Order. The parties were then ordered to file supplemental briefs. On November 23, 2015, the WCJ issued Findings of Fact concluding once again that the WCAB had subject matter jurisdiction over the Phillies. In response the Phillies filed their second Petition for Reconsideration which was granted by the WCAB.

The WCAB's Analysis and Decision

The WCAB has subject matter jurisdiction over applicant's alleged cumulative trauma claim:

The WCAB ruled there was California WCAB subject matter jurisdiction over applicant's entire alleged cumulative trauma pursuant to Labor Code §5300 and 5301 based on the fact that it was undisputed applicant was an employee of a California employer who allegedly suffered employment-related injuries while working in California. In addition, even though the Board expressly found applicant was employed by a California based employer, the facts also appear to establish that applicant signed at least one of his employment contracts with the Angels in California which would have been an independent basis for the WCAB to exert subject matter jurisdiction.

However, the Board indicated that although there was California WCAB subject matter jurisdiction over applicant's entire alleged cumulative trauma claim, the provisions of Labor Code §3600.5 may operate to exempt applicant's claim either in its entirety or against one or more particular employers.

The Application and Interaction of Labor Code Sections 3600.5(d) and 3600.5(c):

The WCAB indicated that Labor Code $\S3600.5(d)(1)$ clearly reflects that an essential provision for determining the meaning of section 3600.5(d) is section 3600.5(c). The two sections cannot be understood independently of each other. The Board then set out in full Labor Code $\S3600.5(c)$ and characterized it as a statutory provision that applies to a cumulative trauma claim asserted by a professional athlete who is hired in a state other than California, when the athlete is temporarily doing work in California. (citations omitted) The WCAB also noted that section 3600.5 defines terms used in 3600.5(c)(d). There are specific definitions for a "California-based team" ($\S3600.5(g)(2)$), and "season" ($\S3600.5(g)(4)$.)

The WCAB noted there was no dispute whatsoever that the Phillies met all of the conditions for an exemption pursuant to subdivision 3600.5(c). The four conditions outlined by the WCAB that qualified the Phillies for the exemption where as follows:

- 1. Applicant was hired outside of California by the Phillies.
- 2. The applicant played games in California during his period of employment with the Phillies.

- 3. Applicant spent less than 20% of his duty days in California during the one-year period preceding his last date of employment in California while employed by the Phillies.
- 4. The Phillies provided workers' compensation insurance coverage under the laws of a state other than California, and that insurance covered applicant's injuries while temporarily employed within this state.

Scenarios where the applicant's entire claim may become exempt pursuant to 3600.5(d) and applicable exceptions:

The WCAB indicated there is an intricate and complex interplay between subdivisions 3600.5(d) and 3600.5(c). The WCAB stated that "subdivision 3600.5(d) ordinarily operates in conjunction with subdivision 3600.5(c) – when all the employers during the athlete's last year of employment are exempt according to subdivision 3600.5(c), the entire claim becomes exempt according to subdivision 3600.5(d) and the entirety of an athlete's case must therefore be brought in an appropriate forum of the other state, not before the California WCAB (§3600.5(d)(1).)"

The WCAB then indicated that there is a built-in exception in subdivision 3600.5(d) that in some situations would prevent the dismissal of the applicant's entire claim.

The WCAB indicated that in order to trigger the §3600.5(d) exception two conditions had to be established as follows:

- 1. The athlete must first have worked two or more seasons for a California-based team, or worked 20% or more of his or her duty days either in California or for California-based team. (3600.5(d)(1)(A).)
- 2. Additionally, the applicant must have also "worked for fewer than seven seasons for any team or teams other than a California-based team or teams as defined in this section." (3600.5(d)(1)(B).)

The Board indicated that only when both of these conditions are met, "liability for the professional athlete's occupational disease or cumulative injury shall be determined in accordance with section 5500.5" (3600.5(d)(2).) The WCAB found that it was undisputed applicant met both of the requirements of subdivision §3600.5(d)(1). "[h]e worked for two or more seasons for a California based team, or that he worked more than 20% of his overall duty days for a California-based team in California. Applicant was employed by the Angels for roughly four years. However, with respect to subdivision §3600.5(d)(2) whether applicant "worked for fewer than seven seasons for any team or teams other than a California-based team or teams as defined in this section" is a more complicated question.

The problem the Board struggled with was that during the four seasons applicant was employed by the Angels, he also played for their out-of-state minor league affiliates for significant periods of time. If these periods of employment for the out-of-state minor league affiliates of the Angels, were counted as periods of work for non-California teams, "and added to this six seasons applicant

worked for non-California teams applicant worked for more than seven seasons for non-California teams, the requirements of subdivision §3600.5(d)(2) would not be met and applicant's entire claim would be barred in California."

However, the Board based on combination of statutory construction and prior case law found that it was the legislative intent that for the periods of time a player played for out-of-state affiliates of a California team, and while the athlete remains employed by the California team, subject to recall at any time, that these periods should be counted as time working for a California team for purposes of the seven-season limit. The Board also held that consistent with such legislative intent several periods of work for out-of-state affiliates of California teams could be cobbled together in order to equal one or more whole seasons, even though each individual period is less than one season in length.

The WCAB noted a critical distinction in the statutory language of section 3600.5(d) which refers to "work" for California or non-California teams, which the Board indicated is not synonymous with "playing" for those teams.

Given that the parties stipulated to applicant's uninterrupted employment with the Angels during the periods he was dispatched to out-of-state minor league affiliates, it is difficult to argue that applicant was no longer "working" for the Angels during those periods, even if he was "playing" for the minor league affiliate. Accordingly, the plain language of the statute favors an interpretation that applicant's seasons employed by the Angels be counted solely as seasons of "work" for a California team, even if they were punctuated by several dispatches to out-of-state minor league affiliates.

To support its statutory interpretation, the Board cited their prior decision in *Neu v. Los Angeles Dodgers* 2015 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. Lexis 603 (WCAB Panel Decision). In *Neu*, the Dodgers argued they were exempt from providing the mandatory notice of subdivision 3600.5(e) based on the argument that the employer team was an out-of-state affiliate which they argued was an out-of-state team and therefore no notice was required. The WCAB rejected such an argument in *Neu* based on the fact the Dodgers were applicant's employer for purposes of providing notice, even though the injury might have occurred while playing for the Dodgers Nevada affiliate. The essence of the Board's holding in *Neu* was that applicant's professional baseball activities were subject to the direction and control of the Dodgers and he performed such activities for the Dodgers benefit.

The same considerations that compelled the finding in *Neu* apply here. Most significantly, the Angels, as applicant's uninterrupted California employer, retained control over applicant during his periods of play for the various out-of-state minor league affiliates, including the power to recall him at any time, as they did on several occasions. Moreover, applicant's time spent with these affiliates was for the Angels' benefit. It would be incongruous to hold that an applicant's work while employed by a California employer, for that employer's benefit, takes applicant's claim outside of the jurisdiction of the California workers' compensation system, simply because that work occurred out of state. When the Legislature wrote "fewer than seven seasons for any team or teams other than a California-based team," we do not think it intended that periods of play for out-of-state affiliates of the California team would be counted as time towards the seven season limit.

Also, with respect to legislative intent, the WCAB held that it was wholly consistent with the legislative purpose and intent to calculate duty days carefully, but seasons more broadly, based upon an athlete's employer and not the precise location where work is performed at the behest of the employer.

Therefore, we hold that when an athlete is employed by a California-based team and is dispatched to a minor-league affiliate outside the state of California, such time is counted as time working for a California-based team for purposes of calculating the two seasons of California employment, and the seven seasons of non-California employment that determine whether subdivision 3600.5(d)(1)(B) applies. Here, the parties stipulated that applicant was employed by the Angels for the entirety of the period he played for the minor league affiliates in question; accordingly, such time is counted as time working for a California team. Applicant therefore meets the requirements for application of subdivision 3600.5(d)(1) – he worked for a California-based team for four seasons, and for non-California based teams for six seasons.

The interplay between Labor Code §3600.5(c) and Labor Code §5500.5:

Since the WCAB determined the Phillies were exempt pursuant to subdivision 3600.5(c) the critical question was whether the Phillies had any liability under Labor Code §5500.5 and if not, how is liability determined under Labor Code §5500.5.

The Phillies argued that because they were exempt pursuant to subdivision 3600.5(c) that the WCAB has no jurisdiction over any portion of the claim that was asserted against them and that any liability under Labor Code §5500.5 must be assessed against the last employer over whom California may exercise jurisdiction citing *Employers Mutual Liability Ins. Co. v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd.* (1987) 52 Cal.Comp.Cases 284 (writ denied). (*Patterson*). See also *San Francisco 49ers v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd.* (1996) 61 Cal.Comp.Cases 301 (writ denied). In contrast, the Angels and the WCJ mistakenly argued that even if the Phillies were exempt under 3600.5(c) that because the applicant met the requirements of subdivision 3600.5(d) it overrides the exemption in subdivision 3600.5(c), and there is still a basis for jurisdiction over the Phillies who would otherwise be exempt according to subdivision 3600.5(c).

The WCAB concluded that the Phillies argument reflects the correct interplay between Labor Code §3600.5(c) and Labor Code §5500.5 since there is no statutory support for the position advocated by the Angels and the WCJ. In that regard the Board stated:

The text of subdivision 3600.5(c) could not be clearer when it states that "the benefits under the workers' compensation insurance or similar laws of the other state, and other remedies under those laws, shall be the exclusive remedy against the employer for any occupational disease or cumulative injury[.]" (§3600.5(c)(2), emphasis added.) Similarly, subdivision 3600.5(d)(2) makes no claim to override the exemption of subdivision 3600.5 (c); it merely states that when the applicant meets the requirements, the claim may still be brought in California, with liability determined according to section 5500.5. (§3600.5(d)(2).) Pursuant to Patterson and the line of cases following it, when the WCAB

has no jurisdiction over the party that would normally be liable under section 5500.5, liability is instead assessed against the last employer over whom the WCAB can assert jurisdiction. (*Patterson*, *supra*, 52 Cal.Comp.Cases 284.)

Therefore, the Board concluded that since the Phillies were exempt pursuant to subdivision 3600.5(c) they cannot be found liable by the WCAB and that any remedy against the Phillies must be sought in the workers' compensation system of another state.

However, applicant's workers compensation claim is still viable and may advance before the WCAB and that when liability is determined pursuant to section 5500.5 it may not be assessed against the Phillies but "should be assigned against the next last employer over whom California may assert jurisdiction, pursuant to *Patterson* and established precedent." Based on the Board's holding and analysis, liability in all likelihood would "rollback" to the Angels.

<u>Sutton v. San Jose Sharks; Federal Insurance Company c/o Chubb Group of Insurance Companies</u> 2018 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. Lexis 249 (WCAB Panel Decision)

Issues: Whether the cumulative trauma claim of a professional hockey player is entirely exempt from the California Workers' Compensation system pursuant to Labor Code § 3600.5 and also whether Labor Code § 3600.5(d) is limited to only non-California based professional sports teams, and whether applicant's entire cumulative trauma claim is exempt based on the fact the final employer in the case was allegedly exempt based on either Labor Code § 3600.5(c) or "some other law."

Holding: There was no basis to apply the Labor Code § 3600.5(c) exemption to applicant's employer during the last year of his professional hockey career based on the fact the applicant was not working temporarily in California for them and as a consequence there is no basis to trigger the section 3600.5(d) exemption. Defendant also failed to identify any "other law", which exempts applicant's entire cumulative trauma claim. As a consequence, applicant's claim for benefits is within the California Workers' Compensation System. Moreover, by virtue of applicant having played for a California based team, the WCAB has subject matter jurisdiction over the applicant's entire CT claim.

The WCAB did find merit with one of defendant's arguments and held that subdivision 3600.5(e) does not limit the application of section 3600.5 solely to cases involving out-of-state teams. Accordingly, the WCAB rescinded the WCJ's F&O and substituted a new Order finding the applicant's cumulative claim was not exempt pursuant to section 3600.5(d).

However, the WCAB also indicated they were making no findings as to the possible applicability of subdivision (c) against employers other than the defendant (San Jose Sharks) and the applicant's last employer, a German team the Ingolstadt Panthers.

Factual Overview: Based on the pleadings, applicant filed a cumulative trauma claim for the limited period of December 7, 1997 to May 1, 1998, against the San Jose Sharks. Applicant played 17 total seasons as a professional hockey player. Notwithstanding his long employment as a

professional hockey player from approximately June 17, 1989 to April 2006, he only filed a cumulative trauma claim for the approximately five months he played for the San Jose Sharks. With respect to the last three years of his professional hockey career, applicant played for the Ingolstadt Panthers, a German team, from April 18, 2003 to approximately April 2006. Other than his employment with the San Jose Sharks, applicant was never employed with any other California based hockey team.

Defendant San Jose Sharks did not dispute it was a California based employer and that applicant was employed by the Sharks from December 7, 1997 through August 26, 1998. Applicant played for six different professional hockey teams before he played for the Sharks and four different professional hockey teams after he played for the Sharks.

Procedural Overview: A number of issues were raised at trial, but many of them were deferred by the WCJ. The Findings & Order issued by the WCJ on December 2, 2015, found that the WCAB could assert both personal and subject matter jurisdiction over applicant's claim. The WCJ also rejected defendant's argument that Labor Code § 3600.5(d) exempted the applicant's claim from WCAB jurisdiction. Also, the WCJ found Labor Code § 3600.5(d) relates back to the out-of-state employee and employer exemption contained in section 3600.5(c). The Judge also ruled that because the Sharks did not qualify for the exemption contained in section 3600.5(c), 3600.5(d) did not apply. Defendant filed a Petition for Reconsideration.

The WCAB's Decision and Discussion: The WCAB began their analysis by stating the California Workers' Compensation Act applies to all injuries whether occurring within the state of California or occurring outside California if "the contract of employment was entered into in California or if the employee was regularly employed in California" (citing *King v Pan American World Airways* (9th Cir. 1959) 270 F.2d 355, 360 [24 Cal.Comp.Cases 244].)

Since it was undisputed the applicant was an employee of a California based employer who allegedly suffered employment related injuries while working in California, the WCAB stated it had subject matter jurisdiction over the applicant's entire CT claim pursuant to Labor Code § 5500 as well as 5301, unless the claim is exempt pursuant to Labor Code § 3600.5. The WCAB then analyzed the provisions of both Labor Code § 3600.5(d) as well as Labor Code Section 3600.5(c).

In terms of statutory construction in determining whether applicant's claim was exempt under Labor Code § 3600.5, the WCAB indicated they could not interpret or view the provisions of section 3600.5(d) in isolation and that section must be construed in the context of the entire statute of which it is a part, "As section 3600(d)(1) makes clear by reference, an essential provision for determining the meaning of section 3600.5(d) is section 3600.5(c)."

With respect to Labor Code § 3600.5(c), the Board characterized this provision as applying to "a cumulative trauma claim asserted by a professional athlete who is hired in a state other than California, when that athlete is temporarily doing work in California. (See, e.g., *Carroll v. Cincinnati Bengals* (2013) 78 Cal.Comp.Cases 655, 660 (Appeals Board en banc); *Dailey v. Dallas Carriers Corp.* (1996) 43 Cal.App.4th 720, 727.)

Defendant's Argument and Contention that Labor Code § 3600.5 Applies to Both California Teams and Out-Of-State Teams: The WCJ rejected defendant's argument that Labor Code § 3600.5 applied to both California teams and out-of-state teams. At trial defendant argued that Ingolstadt, the German team applicant played for the last three years of his professional hockey carrier was exempt pursuant to Labor Code § 3600.5(c). The Board indicated they did not agree with the WCJ's reasoning. The WCAB noted that subdivision (e) of Labor Code § 3600.5, exempts out-of-state employers or professional athletes from certain notice provisions of the California Workers' Compensation system. In holding that Labor Code § 3600.5 applies to both California teams and out-of-state teams, the WCAB stated that 3600.5(e) "does not evidence any intent to limit the application of section 3600.5 as a whole to only out of state teams." As a consequence, the WCAB found that it was error for the WCJ to find jurisdiction based partly upon subdivision (e). The WCAB stated "we agree with defendant that section 3600.5 may potentially apply to California teams: if a claim is exempt according to subdivision d), the applicant may not bring the claim in this forum, regardless of whether the claim includes employment with California teams."

Defendant's Other Exemption Arguments: Defendant also argued that applicant's employer during his last year as a professional athlete for the German Ingolstadt Panthers, was exempt pursuant to Labor Code § 3600.5(c). However, the WCAB stated that defendant's argument related to the exemption of the applicant's last employer was not clearly spelled out in the Petition for Reconsideration and from what the WCAB could glean from the record, defendant was arguing the exemption was premised on subdivision 3600.5(c)'s reference of professional athletes spending less than 20% of their duty days during the relevant period in California. Defendant argued that because applicant spent none of his duty days in California during the last year he was employed by the German team, which is less than 20%, that based on subdivision (c), applicant's entire claim was exempt based on subdivision (d) "in other words, defendant appears to be asserting that the worker can be "temporarily within this state doing work for his or her employer" even if he or she never actually set foot in California during the relevant period, because zero is less than twenty percent."

The Board characterized this argument as "superficially attractive" but that it could not be reconciled with the actual statute. The express unambiguous wording of the statute is that the employment has to be "within the state" in other words, "subdivision (c) defines the relevant 1-year period based on the professional athlete's last day of work within the state for the given employer. If the athlete never worked in this state for the relevant employer, subdivision (c) cannot apply, because there is no 365-day period to evaluate whether they athlete meets the 20% threshold." The Board also characterized defendant's argument as being at odds with the normal plain meaning of the phrase "temporarily within the state doing work for his or her employer." If a professional athlete or an applicant has never been within California doing work for one's employer, it is not possible to have been here "temporarily". Actual presence in the State is required under the statute. "Here, applicant, by all accounts, never performed *any* work in California for the Ingolstadt Panthers; as a result, subdivision (c) cannot exempt applicant and the Ingolstadt Panthers from the California worker's compensation system."

The WCAB also noted that prior case law interpreting the exemption found in present Labor Code § 3600.5(c) also emphasized that the exemption applies only when the applicant's entitlement to

benefits depends on a theory that the injury was sustained in this state while the worker was here temporarily.

The WCAB also indicated that in enacting the amendments to section 3600.5 under AB 1309 the legislature was specific that any changes made to the statute would have no impact or alter in any way the prior decision of the Board in *McKinley v. Arizona Cardinals* (2013) 78 Cal.Comp.Cases 23).

The WCAB emphasized the fact that even if the applicant's claim had involved temporary employment in California that had contributed to his injury, the record did not reflect that defendant proved the other necessary elements to establish the exemption specifically whether Ingolstadt had a worker's compensation policy or its equivalent that would cover injuries sustained in this state while here temporarily. Since Labor Code § 3600.5(c) cannot be applied to Ingolstadt the applicant's employer, during the last year of his professional hockey career, subdivision (c) cannot be used to create a blanket exemption for the entire claim under subdivision (d).

Defendant's "any other law" Argument: Defendant asserted that subdivision (d) operates independently of subdivision (c) based on the argument that it references not only an exemption pursuant to subdivision (c), but according to "any other law" (Section 3600.5(d)).

Defendant asserted that the reference to "any other law" transforms subdivision (d) into a jurisdictional statute which bars the ability of the WCAB to assert jurisdiction over an individual employer in the same manner that the WCAB does not have subject matter jurisdiction over an individual employer under any other law including Labor § 3600.5(b), which defendant argued included a *Johnson* due process analysis for a lack of an employment contract or any work activities in California. However, defendant failed to establish any facts that supported their argument that the Ingolstadt Panthers were exempt according to "some other law" and that the entire cumulative trauma claim is exempt.

The WCAB rejected defendant's argument as follows:

First, defendant's assertion that an employer might be exempt according to subdivision (b), and therefore the entire claim might be exempt according to subdivision (d), is essentially a red herring. Subdivision (b), which applied to all workers, not just to cumulative trauma claims by professional athletes, is essentially a more restrictive form of subdivision (c); in addition to the requirement of subdivision (c), the employer must also demonstrate that the other state recognizes the extraterritoriality provision of this state, and offers a similar exemption for California workers temporarily within that State. (See § 3600.5(b)(1)(A) & (B).) It is difficult to see any circumstances in which an employer could be exempt according to subdivision (b) but not also exempt according to subdivision (c). Since subdivision (c) is specifically mentioned as a trigger for subdivision (d), the contention that the employer might also be exempt according to subdivision (b) is essentially just icing on the cake-the employer would already be exempt under subdivision (c), and therefore the claim would already be exempt under subdivision (d). As a result, although defendant may technically be correct that an exemption according to subdivision

(b) could be an exemption according to "some other law" for purposes of subdivision (d), it is essentially a distinction without a difference.

The WCAB characterized defendant's further examples as unconvincing because defendant appeared to misinterpret holdings of the Board's prior cases on this issue. The WCAB did note defendant was correct that when there is a California contract of hire, the WCAB will have jurisdiction. "The amendments to section 3600.5 did not alter this path to finding subject matter jurisdiction."

AB 1309 expressly indicates the legislative intent that the amendments would not impact or alter in any way the decision of the Court of Appeal in *Bowen v. WCAB* (1999) 73 Cal. App.4th 15.

Defendant's "employer by employer" Subject Matter jurisdictional argument: Defendant argued that in the absence of a California contract of hire, there must be some other significant connection or nexus to the state of California in order to establish subject matter jurisdiction. Moreover, defendant also argued that such a "significant connection or nexus" to the state of California must be conducted on an employer-by-employer basis as opposed to the applicant's claim as a whole.

The WCAB summarily rejected this argument by stating:

It has never been the law that each and every employer who is potentially liable must have a significant connection or nexus to the state of California in order for the WCAB to assert subject-matter jurisdiction; as long as the claim as a whole has such a connection or nexus, the requirement is met. For example in *Johnson*, the Court of Appeal phrased the inquiry thus: "If this state lacks a sufficient relationship with Johnson's injuries, to require the petitioner-the employer-to defend the case here would be a denial of due process such that the courts of this state do not have authority to act. This may be referred to as a lack of subject matter jurisdiction (*Johnson*, supra, 221 Cal.App.4th at 1128.)

The Board indicated that for purposes of subject matter jurisdiction, the focal issue: "...[I]s not the extent of the employers' connection to the state; it is the extent of the relationship between applicant's injuries and the state."

"Subsequent jurisprudence has explicitly confirmed that whether California can exercise subject matter jurisdiction over a claim does not depend on a significant nexus between every single employer and the state. (citing *New York Knickerbockers v. WCAB (Macklin)* (2015) 240 Cal.App.4th 1229, 1238-1239." The WCAB summarized the Court of Appeals holding finding that the operative question was the relationship between the applicant's injuries and the state, not the relationship between any one employer and the state. Because the applicant was employed by the San Jose Sharks, a California based team during the cumulative trauma period; there was a sufficient connection with the state to justify the exercise of subject matter jurisdiction.

Editor's Comments/Practice Pointers

- 1. Initially, what stands out about this case is that applicant's counsel did not file a cumulative trauma claim encompassing the applicant's entire 17 seasons as a professional hockey player from June 17, 1989 to April 2006. Instead, applicant's counsel filed a five-month CT claim only for the period of December 7, 1997 to May 1, 1998, when the applicant played for the San Jose Sharks, a California based team/employer. None of the other 10 teams/employers the applicant played for appeared to be parties to the case. Consequently, the Sharks had to base a large part of their "exemption" argument from WCAB jurisdiction argument on behalf of not only another employer, but an employer based in Germany.
- 2. There was no evidence applicant's contract with the Sharks was formed in California. As a consequence, California subject matter jurisdiction was premised on the fact applicant played for a California based team.
- 3. Under the best of circumstances, it is an evidentiary challenge to prove up the various elements to establish a basis to exempt an applicant and employer from a claim when you represent the actual employer. In this case however, defense counsel for the Sharks had the added burden of trying to prove up an exemption on behalf of a non-United States based team they did not represent.
- 4. The 3600.5(d) exemption cannot be construed or applied in isolation. Both its meaning and application must be determined in conjunction with Labor Code § 3600.5(c).
- 5. Applicant never performed any work in California for the Ingolstadt Panthers, the German based team that employed him for the last three years of his professional hockey career.
- 6. In certain limited circumstances, Labor Code Section 3600.5(d) may operate and apply to more than simply cases where subdivision (c) applies to the last employees or employers. However, defense counsel failed to establish any relevant facts that would meet the examples they cited including a *Johnson* analysis, lack of an employment contract formed in California or any work activity performed in California by the applicant.
- 7. Unlike personal jurisdiction, subject matter jurisdiction relates to the power of the WCAB to hear the "claim". The required significant nexus or connection to California in the absence of a California contract for hire is not conducted on an employer-by-employer basis, but on the CT claim as a whole. As long as the CT claim as a whole has such a connection the requirement is met. As the Board indicated, defendant's argument in this regard was based on a misunderstanding and misapplication of the holdings in both *Johnson* and *Macklin*.

For purposes of subject matter jurisdiction, the pivotal question is not the extent of each employer's connection to the state; it is the extent of the relationship between applicant's injuries and the state. As the WCAB indicated in *Macklin*, the Court of Appeal rejected the argument made by the New York Knickerbockers that California could not exercise subject matter jurisdiction over them, because applicant had only played in California for them a

handful times. In rejecting that argument, the Court of Appeal found the operative question was the relationship between the applicant's injuries and the state, and not the relationship between any one employer and the state. In *Macklin* because the applicant had been employed by a California team during the period of the claimed CT injury there was a sufficient connection with the state to justify the exercise of jurisdiction over the entire CT claim. The important lesson in this case as the Board pointed out is that a *Johnson* analysis is conducted as to the claim as a whole, not to any individual employer and is separate and distinct from the analysis performed under section 3600.5, which depends on findings as to individual employers. Under the facts of *Sutton*, since applicant was regularly employed by a California based team and that fact alone establishes a significant connection to the state to allow for the exercise of subject matter jurisdiction under *Johnson* over the applicant's entire CT claim. However, a Labor Code § 3600.5 exemption analysis can be made by each individual employer under specific factual scenarios and also whether all of the required elements for any claimed exemption are met.

- 8. This case also illustrates the situation where various employers/teams are all insured by the same carrier and how it may impact a case significantly. Under the right set of facts there still may be a viable basis for a blanket exemption of an entire claim under Labor Code § 3600.5.
- 9. The only positive aspect of this case from a defense perspective is that the Board agreed with defendant that subdivision 3600.5(e) does not limit the application of 3600.5 solely to cases involving out of state teams.

<u>Carroll v. Cincinnati Bengals, PSI, et.al.</u> (2013) 78 Cal.Comp.Cases 655; 2013 Cal. Wrk. Comp. LEXIS 102 (WCAB en banc decision)

Issue/Holding: Both an employer and employee (applicant) are exempt from California subject matter jurisdiction and California workers' compensation laws when all of the enumerated statutory conditions of Labor Code section 3600.5(b) are established.

Factual/Procedural Background

Facts: Applicant's NFL career spanned the period from 1991 through 1995. He initially signed a three-year contract with the New Orleans Saints and played for them for two seasons from July 14, 1991, to August 30, 1993, when he was released, and his contract was assigned to the Cincinnati Bengals. While applicant was employed with the New Orleans Saints he played five of his thirty-two football games in California. While employed by the Cincinnati Bengals, for approximately seven months from September 1, 1993, to April 12, 1994, the Bengals played one of sixteen games in California, specifically on December 5, 1993, versus the San Francisco 49ers. After being released by the Bengals on April 12, 1994, applicant was employed briefly by the Indianapolis Colts and the Kansas City Chiefs in 1994 and 1995 but did not make the final teams and played no games. Subsequent to his NFL career, he played briefly in the Canadian Football League and in 1996 decided to end his professional football career and return to his home state of Florida.

It was undisputed applicant was hired outside of California and was never a resident of California.

Procedural Background: The initial Findings, Award and Order issued on March 17, 2009, finding applicant suffered a cumulative trauma injury while employed by the Saints from July 14, 1991, to August 30, 1993, and by the Bengals from September 1, 1993, to April 12, 1994. In the original Findings, Award and Order, the WCJ specifically found the Bengals were not exempt from California workers' compensation laws and there was California subject matter jurisdiction. The Bengals filed a Petition for Reconsideration which was granted by the WCAB. The WCAB rescinded the WCJ's decision and remanded the case for development of the record specifically for further evidence as to whether or not the statutory conditions specified in Labor Code section 3600.5(b) were satisfied.

Further proceedings were conducted with respect to the potential application of section 3600.5(b) to the Bengals and applicant. The Bengals submitted additional documentary evidence.

The WCJ then issued his second Findings, Award and Order on January 24, 2011, again finding the Bengals were not exempted by section 3600.5(b) under the provisions of California workers' compensation law and that the WCAB has subject matter jurisdiction to award benefits against both the Bengals and the Saints. Once again, the Bengals' Petition for Reconsideration was granted leading to the Board's en banc decision in this case.

Discussion/Analysis: The WCAB held that when an employee is hired outside of California and all of the following statutory conditions are met, both the employee and his or her employer are exempt from California jurisdiction by the express provisions of Labor Code section 3600.5(b), the Board identified and articulated those conditions as follows:

- (1) The employee is temporarily within California doing work for the employer,
- (2) The employer furnished coverage under the workers' compensation or similar laws of another state that covers the employee's employment while in California,
- (3) The other state recognizes California's extraterritorial provisions, and
- (4) The other state likewise exempts California employers and employees covered by California's workers' compensation laws from the application of its workers' compensation or similar laws.

Temporary Versus Regular Employment in California: The WCJ in his Findings, Award and Order and Report and Recommendation on Petition for Reconsideration acknowledged the section 3600.5(b) exemption applies only to an injured worker who is deemed to have been temporarily employed in California. However, the WCJ then indicated that, in his opinion, the statute did not apply since his analysis indicated the applicant was "regularly employed" in California. The WCJ's analysis of "regular employment" was premised on the reasoning that both the Saints and Bengals played football games in California as part of their regular season NFL schedule and also because California income tax was deducted from a portion of the applicant's salary attributed to

the games he played in California. The WCAB found neither argument nor rationale precluded the application of the section 3600.5(b) exemption from California subject matter jurisdiction. The WCAB also noted the WCJ's reliance on section 3600.5(a) was misplaced since that particular subdivision only addresses employees who are hired or regularly employed in California and who are injured while outside the State of California. Since it was undisputed applicant was not hired in California, section 3600.5(a) does not apply.

The Board, in applying a common sense and practical definition of temporary and temporary employment in California, relied on fundamental rules of statutory construction and the plain meaning of the word "temporary". They referred to the dictionary definition of temporary and applied it to the particular facts in the case. They noted a substantial majority of applicant's work duties while he was with the Bengals were performed in Ohio as well as other states outside of California. Moreover, when applicant traveled to California with the Bengals for two days when they played against the San Francisco 49ers on December 5, 1993, "He knew and intended that it be for a temporary period of about two days to work in a football game." It was both the applicant's and Bengals' expectation and intent to leave the State of California when the game against the San Francisco 49ers was completed.

The WCAB noted that applicant's counsel argued and presented cases that there was California subject matter jurisdiction and no exemption since a portion of the applicant's injurious exposure, i.e., a portion of an alleged cumulative trauma claim occurred within the state. However, the WCAB noted none of the cases cited involve evidence that supported application of the section 3600.5(b) exemption as in the instant case. The WCAB ruled the Bengals consistently argued that section 3600.5(b) exempts both it and applicant from the provisions of California workers' compensation laws and presented more than sufficient evidence establishing the conditions required for the statutory exemption to apply.

The Payment of California Income Tax Argument: As indicated hereinabove, the WCJ in issuing his Findings, Award and Order as well as his Report on Reconsideration, indicated the 3600.5(b) exemption did not apply because applicant paid California income tax on the earnings attributable to his one game with the Bengals in California. In dealing with this argument, the WCAB cited language from their previous en banc decision in *McKinley*:

Applicant is correct that nonresident *professional athletes* pay California income taxes on income earned in the state, based on a 'duty day' formula established by the Franchise Tax Board. *However, the Legislature has established the basis for the WCAB's jurisdiction, and it has not seen fit to include payment of California income taxes as a ground for jurisdiction.* Moreover, no authority holds that payment of state income tax requires the WCAB to adjudicate an employee's claim for workers' compensation, and tax law does not control how California's system of workers' compensation is administered, given the very different purposes of those laws. *The fact that applicant paid income tax on earnings attributable to the game he played in California does not change our finding that he was only temporarily within California doing work for his employer when he played in that game. (McKinley, supra. 78 Cal. Comp. Cases at 31-32*, emphasis added, citations deleted.)

The Other Statutory Conditions and Elements of Labor Code Section 3600.5(b)

The WCAB then went on in detail discussing all of the required conditions and elements necessary to establish the exemption from California subject matter jurisdiction and California workers' compensation law provided by section 3600.5(b).

In addition to applicant not being regularly employed in the State of California by the Bengals, the Board indicated the evidence established the following:

- 1. The Bengals furnished workers' compensation under the laws of Ohio that covered applicant's employment while in California.
- 2. Ohio recognized the extraterritorial provisions of other states including California.
- 3. Ohio exempts California employers and employees covered by California workers' compensation laws from application of its workers' compensation laws.

In dealing with applicant's argument regarding the application of the Ohio statute of limitations would render applicants claimed injury non-compensable in Ohio, the WCAB noted it really did not matter if the Ohio statute of limitations had run and prevented applicant from bringing his workers' compensation case in Ohio. The real issue was that the Bengals provided workers' compensation coverage under the laws of Ohio that did cover applicant's work while he was temporarily in California in 1993 in the game against the San Francisco 49ers. Simply put, applicant failed to timely file a claim in Ohio when had the right to do so.

Practice Pointer: It is of critical importance analytically to distinguish between the Boards' holding in the en banc decision in *McKinley* and the en banc decision in *Carroll*. In *McKinley*, the Board emphatically stated there was California subject matter jurisdiction, but they chose not to exercise it based on what they deemed to be valid and enforceable choice of law/forum clauses in the applicable employment contract or contracts applicant had with the Arizona Cardinals. Also, there was no significant California public policy that was implicated in *McKinley* that prevented the enforcement of the contractual choice of law/forum provisions in the applicant's contract.

In contrast, *Carroll* deals with Labor Code section 3600.5(b) which is an express exemption from California subject matter jurisdiction and the workers' compensation laws of California if <u>all</u> of the statutory conditions are met. It does not involve Labor Code 3600.5(a) directly and did not involve the issue of the validity of any contractual choice of law/forum clauses or provisions.

See also *Fike v. Baltimore Ravens/Cleveland Browns* 2013 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 363 (WCAB Panel Decision) post *Carroll* case finding applicant and the Ravens and Browns were exempt from California jurisdiction since applicant was not "regularly" employed in California. (3600.5(a)). Moreover, defendant established all of the required conditions and elements of Labor Code section 3600.5(b); *Liberty v. International Basketball League* 2013 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 382 (WCAB panel decision) International Basketball League and Las Vegas Silver Bandits exempt from California jurisdiction based on Labor Code section 3600.5(b) and Nevada reciprocity statute; *Rucker v. Cincinnati Bengals* 2013 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 394 (WCAB

Panel Decision) WCAB reverses WCJ who found subject matter jurisdiction based on assertion he was not a "temporary employee" within meaning of Labor Code section 3600.5(b). WCAB in reversing WCJ noted applicant only played one game in California and defendant also met all the requirements per the *Carroll* en banc decision to establish the employer and applicant were exempt from California jurisdiction; *Sadowski v. Cincinnati Bengals* 2013 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 395 (post-*Carroll* no jurisdiction); *Young v. Baltimore Ravens/Cleveland Browns* 2013 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 404 (WCAB Panel Decision) (Browns post-*Carroll* exemption from California jurisdiction); *Sanford v. Baltimore Ravens/Cleveland Browns* 2013 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 397 (WCAB Panel Decision) (Browns exempt from California jurisdiction under *Carroll* avoiding a potential 81% permanent disability award).

<u>Love v. Tampa Bay Buccaneers</u> 2015 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 688 (WCAB panel decision)

Issue/Holding: Both the WCJ and the WCAB (in a split panel decision) found that defendant Tampa Bay was not exempt from California Workers' Compensation Laws by Labor Code §3600.5(b) or Florida statute §440.094. The Board indicated that §3600.5(b) on its face requires that the conditions required by the statute must exist, "while the employee is temporarily within this state doing work for his or her employer." The Florida statute which became effective in 2011, was not in effect when applicant was employed by the Tampa Bay Buccaneers.

Factual & Procedural Background: Applicant was employed as a professional football player from 1991 through 1998. During the time he was employed by Tampa Bay he worked in at least one game in California.

The sole issue at trial was whether Tampa Bay was exempt from California workers' compensation laws by Labor Code §3600.5(b). Tampa Bay placed into evidence a number of exhibits related to its self-insured status and Florida law during the time applicant was employed by them. Tampa Bay's general counsel also testified related to Florida statute §440.094, which allegedly contained substantially similar provisions to §3600.5(b) which provides for reciprocity with other states that have similar statutes.

The Florida reciprocity statute became effective on July 1, 2011 and applied to all claims of injury filed on or after that date regardless of the actual date of injury. Defendant relied exclusively on the WCAB's en banc decision in *Carroll v. Cincinnati Bengals* (2013) 78 Cal.Comp.Cases 655 (Appeals Board en banc) (*Carroll*).

However, both the WCJ and the WCAB in construing and applying §3600.5(b) emphasized that the statute itself indicated that another state's reciprocity statute must exist, "while the employee is temporarily within the state doing work for his or her employer." The Board pointed out that since Florida did not have a statute that reciprocated the provisions of §3600.5(b) at the time applicant incurred injurious exposure while working in California, then Tampa Bay was not entitled to the §3600.5(b) exemption from California workers' compensation law. The Board emphasized the fact that, "It does not matter that the Florida statute includes a provision that makes it effective as to claims made on or after July 1, 2011.

That provision may apply to claims made under Florida law, but the Florida legislature has no jurisdiction or authority to change the content of California's statutes." The Board further stated:

In order for an employer to claim the §3600.5(b) exemption, the extraterritorial provisions of §3600.5(b) must have been recognized in the other state "while the employee is temporarily within the state doing work for his or her employer" and employees in this state must also have been "likewise exempted" at that time from the application of the other state's workers' compensation laws. (Lab. Code, § 3600.5(b).) Those conditions did not exist when applicant worked in California for Tampa Bay and that employer cannot now claim an after-the-fact exemption from California law based upon the Florida statute that was not in existence when it employed applicant.

Commissioner Lowe in dissent would have exempted Tampa Bay from California workers' compensation laws based on the fact that "nothing in *Carroll* requires that the listed conditions must be present at the time of the employees doing work in California.

Comment: From a tactical standpoint perhaps defendant in this case should have raised both Labor Code §3600.5(b) as well as denial of due process since there was no substantial connection between the applicant's one game played in California while working for the Tampa Bay Buccaneers and his claimed injury. However, as both the WCJ and the Board stated, the "sole issue" the case was tried on was the Labor Code §3600.5(b) exemption issue under *Carroll*.

In Favel v. Colorado Rockies/New Jersey Devils, et al., 2018 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 352 the WCAB affirmed a WCJ's decision that that the Colorado Rockies/New Jersey Devils (Rockies) were exempt from California jurisdiction under former L.C. 3600.5(b) that was in effect when applicant was employed by these two teams as set forth under the WCAB en banc decision in Carroll v. Cincinnati Bengals (2013) 78 Cal.Comp.Cases 655. Both the WCJ and the WCAB rejected the argument made by one of the other defendants that the 3600.5(b) exemption should not apply since the Colorado reciprocity statute, CRS 8-46-202 was repealed in July of 1989 following applicant's employment by the Rockies, but before his workers' compensation claim was filed in California.

Both the WCJ and the WCAB rejected this argument under both *Carroll* and the split panel decision in *Love v. Tampa Bay Buccaneers*, 2015 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 688, focusing on the fact that the Colorado reciprocity statute was in effect and reciprocated provisions of L.C. 3600.5(b) at the time applicant was temporarily in California working for the Rockies and that it was essentially irrelevant that the Colorado statute had been repealed at the time applicant filed his workers' compensation claim in California.

<u>Ambrose v. Baltimore Ravens/Cleveland Browns</u> (2014) 79 Cal.Comp.Cases 704; 2014 Cal. Wrk. Comp. LEXIS 64 (writ denied)

Issues: WCJ and the WCAB both found that defendant and applicant were exempt from California subject matter jurisdiction pursuant to Labor Code section 3600.5(b). Moreover, the WCAB found the WCJ properly admitted a variety of documentary evidence over applicant's objections based on improper foundation and lack of authentication.

Factual & Procedural Background: Following trial, the WCJ found applicant was only employed (temporarily) in California pursuant to the requirements of Labor Code section 3600.5(b) and that defendants had established all of the required elements necessary to obtain an exemption from California subject matter jurisdiction as allowed by that section and based on the WCAB en banc decision in *Carroll v. Cincinnati Bengals* (2013) 78 Cal. Comp. Cases 655 (Appeals Board en banc).

In establishing the requisite elements under Labor Code section 3600.5(b), defendant relied on various sections of the Ohio Revised Code and also letters and several certificates of self-insurance.

Applicant's attorney claimed they were never served with sections of the Ohio Revised Code. However, defendant established service by way of Proof of Service. Applicant then argued that the sections of the Ohio Revised Code were "unauthenticated". However, the WCAB relying on Evidence Code section 452(a) indicated that both the WCJ and WCAB could take judicial notice of the pertinent Ohio Code Sections.

With respect to applicant's evidentiary objections related to the letters from the Interim Director of the Ohio Bureau of Workers' Compensation, the WCAB indicated the signature was presumed to be authentic in the absence of contrary showing by the applicant and it was proper for the WCJ to receive copies of the letters into evidence relying on Evidence Code section 1271. "A signature is presumed to be genuine and authorized if it purports to be the signature, affixed in his official capacity, of...A public employee of any public entity in the United States". Reliance was also made on Evidence Code section 1562 and various case citations.

Running of the Ohio Statute of Limitations and Applicant's Case: The applicant argued that since the applicant's claim with barred by the Ohio statute of limitations, i.e., that he could not file a workers' compensation claim in that State, then the exemption under Labor Code section 3600.5(b) should not apply. The WCAB citing their en banc decision in *Carroll* stated:

"Nothing in section 3600.5(b) requires that the procedural provisions of the other state's workers' compensation laws be identical to the California statutes. Instead, section 3600.5(b) only requires that extraterritorial coverage be provided at the time the work is performed. Applicant's failure to timely file a workers' compensation claim in Ohio does not mean that the Bengals' self-insurance did not cover his employment while he was temporarily working in California. Nor does it mean that he is precluded on a jurisdictional or quasi-jurisdictional basis from filing a claim in Ohio. It only means that he did not timely file a claim in Ohio." (Footnote omitted).

Booker v. Cincinnati Bengals 2012 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 114 (WCAB panel decision)

Procedural Overview: This is the second of two successive cases issued by the WCAB. This case, issued on May 1, 2012, is commonly referred to as *Booker II*. *Booker I* was decided by the Board on February 8, 2012. Both are WCAB Panel Decisions.

Applicant filed a Petition for Reconsideration of the WCAB's decision in *Booker I*. In *Booker II*, as will be discussed hereinafter, the Board acknowledged in *Booker I* they made a mistake/misstatement which they were correcting in *Booker II*. In *Booker I* the WCAB indicated that 3600.5(b) requires that the workers' compensation laws of another state must be "similar" to those in California. The Board noted the correct interpretation is as follows:

Section 3600.5(b) does not provide that the workers' compensation laws of the other State must be "similar" to those of California. Instead, section 3600.5(b) requires that the employer has furnished workers' compensation insurance coverage "under the workers' compensation insurance or similar laws" of *the other State*. This language merely recognizes that not all states regulate workers' compensation through a Workers' Compensation Act per se.

Case Summary: Applicant's Petition for Reconsideration of the Board's decision in *Booker II* basically dealt with some of the same arguments and issues that were made in *Booker I* related to whether or not defendant had satisfied all of the elements and criteria that are required/mandated by section 3600.5(b) and the nature and sufficiency of the evidence to prove the elements. Applicant also argued he paid California taxes on the one game he played in California was sufficient to vest California WCAB jurisdiction and he was without a remedy in the State of Ohio.

Certain basic facts in the case are undisputed. Applicant was born in Cincinnati and also went to high school and college in Cincinnati. He was never a resident of the State of California and he was hired outside of California in terms of any employment contract with the Cincinnati Bengals. Applicant played in the NFL for nine seasons, three of those seasons were with the Bengals encompassing the NFL seasons of 2000, 2001 and 2002. Also, in his initial contract with the Bengals entered into on approximately February 16, 2000, for five years, his NFL Player Contract contained a forum selection clause indicating any workers' compensation claim, dispute, or cause of action arising out of the applicant's employment with the Bengals would be subject to the workers' compensation laws of the State of Ohio and any action would be brought within the courts of Ohio or the Industrial Commission of Ohio or such other Ohio tribunal that has jurisdiction over the matter.

During the three seasons the applicant played for the Bengals, applicant only played one game in California on September 30, 2001.

The WCAB denied applicant's Petition for Reconsideration finding defendant had satisfied all of the elements and conditions required under section 3600.5(b) as an exception/exemption to California WCAB jurisdiction. Moreover, the mere fact applicant paid California taxes for the one game he played in California does not result in California subject matter jurisdiction.

Discussion:

The Labor Code Section 3600.5 Condition/Criteria and the Sufficiency of Proof: The WCAB indicated preliminarily that it had subject matter jurisdiction over <u>all</u> injuries sustained in California pursuant to Labor Code sections 5300 and 5301 with one exception as provided in Labor Code section 3600.5(b). In order for a non-California employer to take advantage or to utilize the 3600.5(b) exception for conditions or criteria have to be met. The Board also emphasized all of the conditions and criteria must be satisfied. The Board outlined those conditions as follows:

(1) The employee is working only "temporarily" in California; (2) the employer has workers' compensation insurance coverage under the workers' compensation insurance or similar laws of a state other than California; (3) this insurance covers the employee's work in California, and (4) the other state recognizes California's extraterritorial provisions and likewise exempts California employers and employees covered by California's workers' compensation laws from application of the laws of the other state. The certificate described in the last paragraph of section 3500.5(b) provides prima facie evidence that condition numbers two and three have been satisfied.

Applicant's primary argument with respect to Labor Code section 3600.5(b) was defendant had to produce an actual "certificate" showing the out of state employer's workers' compensation insurance provides extraterritorial coverage. The WCAB held that the actual production of a certificate was not required in every case but only provides prima facie evidence that conditions numbers two and three have been satisfied. A defendant can produce other evidence to satisfy conditions two and three.

In this case, defendant did not offer into evidence a 3600.5(b) certificate. However, defendant did introduce unrebutted and unimpeached documentary evidence in the form of separate letters and testimonial evidence that established the Bengals had the requisite extraterritorial workers' compensation insurance coverage for the single game the applicant played in California on September 30, 2001. One letter was from the director of the self-insured Department of the Ohio Bureau of Workers' Compensation and another letter from the Chief Legal Officer and General Counsel of the Ohio Bureau of Workers' Compensation. This documentary evidence was augmented by the trial testimony of an Executive Vice President with the Bengals.

The Lack of Notice Argument: Applicant also argued the WCAB had California subject matter jurisdiction because the Bengals allegedly failed to comply with the Ohio statutory requirements that it give notice to an Ohio administrative agency of this extraterritorial coverage. The Board summarily rejected this argument noting section 3600.5(b) only requires the out of state employer have valid extraterritorial insurance and does not encompass, from a jurisdictional standpoint, any alleged failure to comply with insurance notice requirements of the other state.

The No Cumulative Trauma in the Other State Argument: Applicant argued that there was no evidence that Ohio recognizes cumulative trauma injuries for professional athletes and also Ohio does not have the same statute of limitation requirements California has with respect to the employer failing to give notice to the employee of his workers' compensation rights. In essence the WCAB indicated 3600.5(b) basically requires an employer to have extraterritorial coverage

that would pay benefits for a workers' compensation injury under the other state's workers' compensation laws which may not encompass in every situation an injury as defined by California Workers' Compensation Law. The WCAB also pointed out, contrary to applicant's argument, that Ohio workers' compensation laws do cover professional athletes and also cover cumulative trauma injuries.

The Board in several instances commented on the fact a number of applicant's arguments were spurious and lacked merit. The Board also indicated a number of the authorities cited by applicant in support of their arguments were "inapposite".

Payment of California Taxes for the One Game Applicant Played in California Does Not Invoke California Subject Matter Jurisdiction: The WCAB acknowledged non-resident professional athletes pay California income taxes based on what is described as a "duty day" formula. Applicant argued and raised various legal and public policy arguments as to why payment of such taxes should furnish the basis for California subject matter jurisdiction.

While the WCAB acknowledged the payment of taxes and other contacts with California might satisfy personal jurisdiction it does not establish California WCAB subject matter jurisdiction. The WCAB stated:

The nature and extent of the WCAB's subject matter jurisdiction is established by the Legislature by statute. Section 3600.5(b) sets out the criteria for subject matter jurisdiction over an employee injured while temporarily employed in California. The employee's payment of California income taxes is not one of them. Applicant's public policy argument must be made to the Legislature.

Based on the Parties Forum Selection Clause, the WCAB Indicated That Even if it Was Assumed There Was Subject Matter Jurisdiction Under Labor Code Section 3600.5(b) the WCAB Would Not Exercise Jurisdiction: In *Booker II* the WCAB provided a detailed discussion as to various reasons why, if they were called upon to rule on the validity of the parties' contractual choice of forum clause, they would most likely find it valid and therefore choose not to exercise California subject matter jurisdiction.

The WCAB also discussed in detail and at length the distinction between the WCAB declining to exercise jurisdiction under a forum non conveniens argument as opposed to the exercise of subject matter jurisdiction pursuant to a forum selection clause. The WCAB noted an alleged statute of limitation bar is a relevant consideration when considering whether to decline jurisdiction under a forum non conveniens clause but is not relevant in terms of determining the validity of the parties' forum selection clause in an employment contract.

The Board also noted enforcement of a valid forum selection clause does not necessarily implicate Labor Code section 5000 related to the waiver of an injured worker's right to a California workers' compensation benefits. The Board in that regard stated:

We are, of course, mindful that an injured employee cannot, by contract, waive his or her right to workers' compensation benefits or exempt the employer from liability for them. (Lab. Code §§ 5000, 2804.) However, a forum selection clause neither waives the right to California benefits nor exempts the employer from liability for them. (*Cf. Intershop*

<u>Communications v. Superior Court</u> (2002) 104 Cal. App. 4th 191, 200-201 (holding that Lab. Code § 219, which provides that "no provision of this article [regarding the payment of wages] can in any way be contravened or set aside by a private agreement, whether written, oral, or implied," was not violated by enforcement of a forum selection clause). Therefore, in light of the forum selection clause in applicant's Contract with the Bengals, we would decline to exercise jurisdiction under section 3600.5(b), even if arguably we would otherwise have jurisdiction.

<u>Jameson v. Cleveland Browns</u> 2012 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 137 (WCAB panel decision)

Case Summary: Following Trial the WCJ found applicant suffered a cumulative trauma injury from April 2001 to December 31, 2003, to multiple parts of his body while employed as a professional football player. The WCJ found the injuries caused 62% permanent disability and need for further medical treatment and applicant's claim was not barred by the statute of limitations. Defendant filed a Petition for Reconsideration focusing on their assertion there was a lack of California subject matter jurisdiction over the cumulative trauma injury pursuant to Labor Code section 3600.5(b) and also applicant was not regularly employed in California as required by Labor Code section 3600.5(a). The WCAB granted reconsideration and rescinded the WCJ's Amended Findings and Award and Order and returned the matter to the trial level for further proceedings and a new final decision.

Discussion: It was undisputed in his NFL career applicant played in forty-two regular season games, one playoff game, and numerous pre-season games during a career that spanned the years 2001 to 2004. However, he only played one game in California. The parties stipulated to the fact defendant, the Cleveland Browns, were self-insured at the time of injury. The WCJ also indicated applicant was hired outside of California and he was only a temporary employee in California based on the fact he only played one game in California.

The real issue in this case is the sufficiency or insufficiency of the evidence to establish the elements under Labor Code section 3600.5(b). The WCJ erroneously concluded defendant had not provided sufficient admissible evidence with respect to the relevant Ohio laws and statutes.

The WCAB then discussed the specific provisions of Labor Code section 3600.5(b) which basically provides that if certain specific enumerated conditions are met, the laws of a state other than California will provide the exclusive remedy for an employee hired outside of California but injured while working in California. In essence Labor Code section 3600.5(b) is an exception to California jurisdiction as opposed to a jurisdictional statute itself.

The WCAB noted the defense trial brief provided a citation to Ohio Workers' Compensation Law including statutory and case law to establish that Ohio's insurance coverage met the coverage and reciprocity requirements mandated by Labor Code section 3600.5(b). They also referred to their recent decision in *Booker v. Cincinnati Bengals* wherein a panel determined, based on an analysis of relevant insurance coverage and reciprocity provisions of Ohio law, that the employer's insurance and Ohio workers' compensation law met the requirements of section 3600.5(b).

In terms of the sufficiency or necessary evidence to prove up Ohio's statutes and case law, the WCAB provided an important practice pointer for WCJs and practitioners with respect to the scope and nature of judicial notice. The WCAB indicated in Footnote 4 as follows:

There should no issue as to whether the WCJ should take judicial notice of Ohio statutes and case law, given that these matters are essential to a determination of our subject matter jurisdiction. Evidence Code section 452(a) provides that judicial notice *may* be taken of "the decisional, constitutional, and statutory law of any state of the United States..." Though a party may request judicial notice, Evidence Code section 454(a)(1) indicates that a court "in determining the propriety of taking judicial notice" may take notice of "any source of pertinent information...whether or not furnished by a party." The WCJ should ascertain whether the cited statutes and case law are the relevant and applicable law of Ohio. Given the informality of workers' compensation proceedings in California, the citations should be considered without more.

The WCAB concluded the WCJ's findings of fact failed to address various issues and also failed to consider applicable Ohio case law and statutes. The WCAB rescinded the Amended Findings and Award and Order and returned the matter to the trial court whereupon the WCJ should permit defendant to submit relevant evidence to establish that its self-insurance covers applicant's out of state claim of injury, review of the relevant law and decide whether the Workers' Compensation Appeals Board may exercise subject matter jurisdiction.

1.4 Personal Versus Subject Matter Jurisdiction

<u>Holmberg v. Oakland Raiders; Green Bay Packers; New England Patriots et al.,</u> (2024) 89 Cal.Comp.Cases 356; 2024 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 17; 52 CWCR 10 (WCAB panel decision)

Issues and Holding: The WCAB affirmed the WCJ's Findings and Award for two dates of injury involving a specific injury and a cumulative trauma injury of 73% PD and future medical care. On the issue of which defendant in the LC 5500.5 liability period the Packers or the Patriots should administer the claim, the Board reserved jurisdiction and remanded for further proceedings if the parties could not reach an informal resolution of that issue. The other issues in the case are:

- 1. Whether there was California subject matter jurisdiction over applicant's claims.
- 2. Whether there was California personal jurisdiction over defendant Geen Bay Packers and whether that defense was effectively waived by the Packers.
- 3. Whether the choice of law/forum provision in applicant's contract with the Green Bay Packers should apply and that applicant's workers' compensation claims should be decided under the laws of Wisconsin and not California.
- 4. Whether applicant's medical legal reporting was admissible and which medical-legal process and procedures should apply to applicant's claims either LC 4062.2 or LC 4062 as it existed prior to 2005.

On all of the above issues the Board ruled as follows:

In summary, we are persuaded that applicant's claimed injury provides a sufficient relationship with California for the exercise of California workers' compensation law, based on applicant's hiring by a California-based team and subsequent four years of employment in California. We further conclude that the due process analysis must encompass the entirety of the claimed injury, which is the subject matter of these proceedings, and that the analysis is not limited to the one-year period of liability pursuant to section 5500.5. We also agree with the WCJ that any claim of a lack of personal jurisdiction over the defendants was waived by the conduct of the parties, and that the issues of subject matter and personal jurisdiction were appropriately identified and decided from trial proceedings. We further conclude that the Green Bay Packers have not established that the enforcement of the choice of law/forum selection clause in the employment agreement overrides the public policy provisions as reflected in California statute. Finally, we agree with the WCJ's admission of the medical reporting obtained pursuant to former section 4062. Accordingly, we will affirm the WCJ's October 14, 2019 decision. Insofar as the issue of the identity of the party to administer the claim was not raised or decided at trial, any party may file a declaration of readiness to proceed on the issue.

Factual and Procedural Overview: Applicant filed two claims. One for a specific injury to his right knee on August 16, 1998 while playing for the Raiders. He also filed a CT injury claim for the period of April 25, 1994 to September 1, 2002 while playing for several teams.

The parties stipulated that applicant was hired and employed by the Raiders for nearly 4 years from April 25, 1994 to August 30, 1998. He also played for several other teams during the CT period including the Indianapolis Colts, New York Jets, Minnesota Vikings, New England Patriots, Carolina Panthers, and the Green Bay Packers. The parties also stipulated that applicant did not play in California after the last date he played for the Raiders and also there was no California contract of hire with any other team after applicant's employment with the Raiders.

The WCJ found that the LC 5412 date of injury was May 22, 2017 and the applicable LC 5500.5 was last year of applicant's injurious exposure. This resulted in potential liability for the Patriots, Packers, and the Panthers. The carrier for the Panthers became insolvent which led to CIGA's involvement. However, the WCJ found no liability on CIGA's part since there was "other insurance" pursuant to Ins. Code 1063.1.

The WCJ also found that both the Packers and the Patriots made general appearances in the proceedings and failed to contest personal jurisdiction at the first opportunity. Both defendants also participated in extensive joint discovery related to applicant's claims.

With respect to the WCJ's Findings and Award of October 24, 2019, both the Patriots and the Packers filed Petitions for Reconsideration.

The WCAB's Decision

California Subject Matter Jurisdiction over Applicant's Claim: The Board's analysis started with the stipulation of the parties that applicant was both hired and employed by the Raiders a California based team and as a consequence California has a legitimate interest in applicant's claim. The Board then addressed the *Johnson* due process issue raised by the Patriots based on their argument that applicant played no games in California during the LC 5500.5 liability period and had no contact with California during that period.

The WCAB described the Patriots due process argument as "analytically incomplete" since it mistakenly "limits the question of California contacts to the last year of injurious exposure." Instead, the WCAB correctly pointed out that the Court of Appeals holding in *Macklin* applies to the facts of the case as follows:

Thus, to the extent that applicant alleges a cumulative injury from 1994 to 2002, the analysis must encompass the entire claimed injury, and is not otherwise limited to the last year of injurious exposure. (*Macklin, supra*, at p. 1239; see also *Worrell v. San Diego Padres* (2020) 85 Cal.Comp.Cases 246, 254 [2020 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 1, 13-14] ("It has never been the law that each and every employer who is potentially liable must have a significant connection or nexus to the state of California in order for the WCAB to assert subject-matter jurisdiction over that employer as a matter of due process; as long as the claim as a whole has such a connection or nexus, this particular requirement is met."].) *Moreover, as the Macklin*

court observed, the applicant's time in the employ of a California-based team is sufficient, in and of itself, to make the application of California workers' compensation law reasonable. Accordingly, we are not persuaded that New England Patriots were denied due process by the WCJ's exercise of California jurisdiction herein. (emphasis added).

The Issue of a lack of Personal Jurisdiction was Waived by the Packers: The Board pointed out the critical distinction between subject matter jurisdiction and also that personal jurisdiction which is generally not subject to waiver and personal jurisdiction that can be waived.

In terms of the distinction between subject matter jurisdiction and personal jurisdiction, the board indicated that:

In addition to subject matter jurisdiction, which is the power of the court over a cause of action or to act in a particular way, the Appeals Board's authority to decide a matter is further predicated on personal jurisdiction over the parties, which is not determined by the nature of the action, but by the legal existence of the party and either its presence in the state or other conduct permitting the court to exercise jurisdiction over the party. (*Greener v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd. of California* (1993) 6 Cal.4th 1028 [58 Cal.Comp.Cases 793, 795] (*Greener*).) As we have previously observed, "subject matter jurisdiction is the court's power to hear and resolve a particular dispute or cause of action, while personal jurisdiction relates to the power to bind a particular party, and depends on the party's presence, contacts, or other conduct within the forum state. (*Worrell v. San Diego Padres* (2020) 85 Cal.Comp.Cases 246, 255 [2020 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 1, 16-17].) in terms of waiver personal jurisdiction the Board noted:

However, unlike subject matter jurisdiction which cannot be waived or consented to by the parties, a lack of personal jurisdiction is subject to waiver, and is automatically waived by a general appearance. (See, e.g., *Roy v. Superior Court* (2005) 127 Cal.App.4th 337, 341 [25 Cal.Rptr.3d 488] ["...it has long been the rule in California that a party waives any objection to the court's exercise of personal jurisdiction when the party makes a general appearance in the action."].) Moreover, and notwithstanding a party's initial assertion that it is "specially appearing," a subsequent request by that party for action by the Appeals Board or by a court on a basis other than lack of personal jurisdiction constitutes a general appearance. (*Greener, supra,* 6 Cal.4th 1028; *Roy v. Superior Court* (2005) 127 Cal.App.4th 337 [25 Cal. Rptr. 3d 488, 2005 Cal.App. LEXIS 334] [party waived objection to exercise of personal jurisdiction by making a general appearance through the filing an answer and pursuit of discovery without first moving to quash]; see also *Parker v. Indy Fuel Hockey* (November 29, 2017, ADJ10184700) [2017 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 547].)

Both the WCJ and the WCAB concurred that the conduct of the Packers and their carrier resulted in an effective waiver of "any objection it otherwise had to the exercise of personal jurisdiction." The "conduct" of the Packers referred to by the WCJ and the WCAB included the following:

- 1. While the Notice of Representation (NOR) filed reflected the Packers were making special appearance the notice was defective due to the fact "the notice does not specify the *basis* for the special appearance." (citation omitted). Specifically the Packers NOR failed to "specifically contest *personal* jurisdiction." (original emphasis). Their failure to specifically state the basis for their general appearance subjected them to the jurisdiction of the WCAB.
- 2. The Packers also failed to seek "dismissal on grounds of lack of personal jurisdiction by petition seeking dismissal or by the filing of a declaration or readiness to proceed to hearing on the issue."
- 3. Notwithstanding the Packers "averring" that they took no part in discovery efforts, the Board stated that "counsel for the Packers and Travelers appeared and participated in applicant's deposition..." and also made appearances at two hearings without indicating a special appearance was being made.

With respect to the Packers' waiver of their personal jurisdiction defense the WCAB concluded that:

Based on the foregoing, we are persuaded that the Travelers for the Green Bay Packers failed to timely specify the nature of its special appearance, failed to timely prosecute its dismissal based on lack of personal jurisdiction, failed to appropriately maintain notice of its special appearance, and substantively participated in discovery efforts herein. In addition, we observe that contrary to Green Bay Packers' Petition's assertion that it was denied due process because the issue of personal jurisdiction was not raised at the time of trial, the Minutes reflect that the issue was raised with specificity. (Minutes, at p. 5:21.) Accordingly, we agree with the WCJ's conclusion that Travelers on behalf of the Green Bay Packers waived its defense of a lack of personal jurisdiction. (Findings of Fact re ADJ10874193, Finding of Fact No. 8.) We further conclude that the WCJ reached his determination based on an issue appropriately raised with specificity at the time of trial.

For a similar holding related to waiver of a personal jurisdiction defense see, *Piurowski v. Dallas Cowboys; Miami Dolphis; Tampa Bay Bandits et al.*, 2024 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 173 (WCAB panel decision); see also *Matthews v. Tulsa Fast Breakers; Compsource Mutal Ins. Co.*, 2024 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS_____(WCAB panel decision); *Carper v. New York Yankees*, 2024 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 328 (WCAB panel decision).

The Choice of Law/Forum Provision in the Applicant's Contract with the Packers was not Enforceable: On reconsideration the Packers argued that based on the choice of law/forum provisions in applicant's player contract that ""applicant is precluded from the instant claim in a jurisdiction outside of Wisconsin."

The Board rejected this argument for several reasons. First, because the applicant was hired in California and this "....is, in and of itself, sufficient connection with California to support the application of California law to the resulting claim of workers' compensation." (citations omitted).

For other cases holding that if a contract of hire is found to be formed in California it is deemed a sufficient connection with California to result in jurisdiction rendering a forum selection clause unenforceable. (see, *Keiaho v. Indianapolis Colts* 2024 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 172 and *Luchey v. Green Bay Packers; Travelers Indemnity Co., et al.*, 2024 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS

318; Ford v. MC Carrier L.L.C.; Associated Risk Mgt, Inc. 2024 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS______(applicant's contract for hire as a truck driver for a Nevada Company was accepted and signed in California as well as applicant being a resident of California and where the specific injury occurred. Given these and other factors, the Board found the forum selection agreement mandating that Nevada would control the workers' compensation benefits provided to applicant as unreasonable and not enforceable.).

Second, the Board has previously held that "a contractual choice of law/forum selection clause will not be enforced if it contravenes California public policy embodied in a statute that prohibits the waiver of state law." (citations omitted). Third, "if a forum selection clause contravenes California public policy as embodied by a statute prohibiting waiver of state law, the burden of proof in enforcing the forum selection clause shifts to the party seeing to enforce the clause." (citation omitted).

The Board also indicated it was undisputed that applicant was hired by the Raiders and played for them for almost four years which comprised "a substantial portion of the cumulative injury that is the subject matter of this claim." Moreover, "[C]alifornia's interest in this claim is established by both the hiring in California, as well as the four years of subsequent regular work within California and is further reflected in the statutory provision for jurisdiction over the claim found in sections 5000, 5305 and 3600.5."

The Board stated the Packers had not met their burden "that the enforcement of the choice of law/forum selection clause in the employment agreement overrides these public policy provisions as reflected in California statute." As a consequence, "[w]e therefore conclude that the choice of law/forum selection clause is not enforceable because it contravenes California's public policy, and because the Green Bay Packers have not established that the choice of law/forum selection clause overrides California's interest in adjudicating applicant's claim of injury." (citation omitted).

The Medical-Legal Reporting Obtained by the Parties Based on the Medical-Legal Process Pursuant to LC Section 4062 as it Existed Prior to 2005 is Admissible: Both parties obtained medical-legal reporting based on LC section 4062 as it existed prior to 2005. The Packers argued that "any such reporting should be stricken from the record." The Board rejected this argument for a variety of reasons.

First, since the Packers failed to timely raise this issue at trial it is deemed waived. (citations omitted). Second, the WCAB relying on the case of *Tanksley v. City of Santa Ana* 2010 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 74, which applied the principles in a prior en banc decision and significant panel decision from the Board held that:

...[T]he question of the process that applies to applicant's claim does not first require a finding of the date of injury. Instead, for injuries that are claimed to have occurred prior to January 1, 2005, as alleged in this case, section 4062 as it existed before its amendment by SB 899 continues to provide the procedure by which medical-legal reports are to be obtained. (*Nunez v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd.* (2006) 136 Cal.App.4th 584 [38 Cal. Rptr. 3d 914, 71 Cal.Comp.Cases 161] (*Nunez*); *Cortez v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd.* (2006) 136 Cal.App.4th 596 [38 Cal. Rptr. 3d 922, 71 Cal.Comp.Cases 155]; *Simi v. Sav-Max Foods, Inc.* (2005) 70 Cal.Comp.Cases 217

(Appeals Board en banc); c.f. *Ward v. City of Desert Hot Springs* (2006) 71 Cal.Comp.Cases 1313 (significant panel decision), 71 Cal.Comp.Cases 1900 (writ den.).) (*Id.* at pp. 9-10.)

The most important aspect of the WCAB's analysis of this issue was that:

Our decision in *Tanksley* emphasized that the parties to a claim of injury occurring prior to January 1, 2005 should not be required to obtain a judicial determination as to the date of injury pursuant to section 5412 in order to determine the appropriate procedure by which to obtain medical-legal reporting. (*Ibid.*) Such a holding would be inconsistent with the California Constitutional mandate that the workers' compensation law "shall accomplish substantial justice in all cases expeditiously, inexpensively, and without incumbrance of any character." (Cal. Const., Article XIV, § 4; see also *Lauter v. Baltimore Ravens* (September 19, 2022, ADJ14657802) [2022 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 270]; *Cyburt v. San Francisco Giants* 2023 Cal.Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 340

The Board held that since both of applicant's injuries occurred prior to the 2005 legislative reforms that "[p]ursuant to the reasoning in *Simi* and *Tanskley*, we are persuaded that the WCJ properly admitted both applicant's and defendant's reporting obtained pursuant to section 4062 as it existed prior to 2005."

<u>Fonceca v. Cincinnati Reds; Self-Insured</u> 2024 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 95 (WCAB panel decision)

Issues and Holding: Whether there was WCAB specific personal jurisdiction over applicant's cumulative trauma claim. Both the WCJ and the WCAB on reconsideration found there was California personal jurisdiction over applicant's claim. Defendant asserted there was a lack of personal jurisdiction arguing that personal jurisdiction was lacking because all of applicant's activities including any alleged injurious exposure occurred while applicant was employed by defendant outside of California.

Bothe the WCJ and the WCAB found that defendant's direction and control of applicant's off season activities in California were "sufficient to warrant the exercise of specific personal jurisdiction over the Reds."

Procedural and Factual Overview: Applicant filed a cumulative trauma for the period of June 1, 1995 to October 1, 1996 related to various body parts and conditions. The trial in this case was solely on the bifurcated issue of personal jurisdiction. The applicant attended an open tryout in California where he was scouted by a representative of the Cincinnati Reds (Reds). Later he was also evaluated by the scout's supervisor in the Reds organization. He signed a written contract to play for the Reds in Victorville, California. After signing with the Reds he was assigned to play for a minor league team in West Virginia. At the end of the season he returned to California.

During the offseason he worked in retails sales but also continued to work with his high school coach. Also, he was instructed by the Reds scout to pitch in junior college games. The scout attended these games. At the start of the next season, applicant participated in spring training in Florida and then was sent by the Reds to play for a team in Montana until he was released at the end of the 1996 season. Applicant never played a game in California while employed by the Reds.

The WCJ determined that the Red's scout represented the Reds in California while interacting with the applicant and therefore the Reds instructed, directed, and controlled the actions of the applicant during the offseason in California and that these contacts "were sufficient to warrant the exercise of specific personal jurisdiction over the Reds."

On reconsideration, applicant's answer contended that "the formation of a contract of hire, standing alone, is sufficient to to confer jurisdiction over an industrial injury that occurs outside the state."

The WCAB's Decision: The Board cited some rather old United States Supreme Court decisions as well as a California Court of Appeal Case and some WCAB panel decisions as an overview of the applicable law related to specific personal jurisdiction. Rather than focusing on applicant's contract of hire being formed in California and that applicant was a California resident, the Board focused on the Red's scouting representatives activities and interactions with the applicant during the off season. The WCAB found applicant credible with respect to the relationship he had with defendant's scout in terms of instructing and supervising applicant's offseason baseball activities. Based on these interactions, the WCAB indicated that "[t]he Reds continued to exercise control over applicant's activities in the off-season, directing him to play in junior college games, always attended by the same scout that was responsible for his participation in the junior college games in California in the off-season...."

On these facts, we are persuaded that the contacts between the Cincinnati Reds and California were sufficient to warrant the exercise of personal jurisdiction over the defendant. As was the case in *Martin v. Detroit Lions*, the defendant "moved through this state with more than a 'footfall,' and the maintenance of [applicant's] lawsuit in a California court 'does not offend "traditional notions of fair play and substantial justice."" (*Martin v. Detroit Lions*, *supra*, 32 Cal.App.3d at p. 476.) We will affirm the January 3, 2024 Findings of Fact, accordingly.

Editor's Comment: Given the fact that applicant was a California resident and there was no dispute that he entered into and accepted a written contract of hire with the Reds while he was located in California provided a sufficient independent legal basis for conferring both California subject matter and personal jurisdiction over the Reds without the necessity of the extensive factual "instruction, control, and direction" analysis undertaken by the WCJ and the WCAB in this case. It has long been the law in California based on a legion of cases that "the formation of a contract for hire, standing alone, is sufficient to confer California jurisdiction over an industrial injury that occurs outside the state." In these circumstances, the fact that applicant did not sustain injurious exposure in California is irrelevant.

See also, Sellner v. Cincinnati Reds 2024 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS_____. In Sellner, defendant alleged a lack of WCAB personal jurisdiction over applicant's notwithstanding the fact the

applicant was a California resident, was recruited by a local scout in California, and signed several contracts with the Reds in California. As in *Fonseca* hereinabove, and a legion of other cases, the fact that applicant had no injurious exposure in California, is not an adequate basis to support a lack of personal jurisdiction defense when applicant's employment contract was formed in California in combination with other activity in California by the defendant related to actively recruiting and signing a California resident to a contract of hire.

The WCAB affirmed the WCJ's determination that no "strict causal relationship between the defendant's in-state activity and the litigation" is not necessary. (citations to several recent USSC cases omitted). The combination of the applicant's employment contracts being formed in California and the fact that defendant actively recruited and signed the applicant in California were sufficient to establish WCAB personal jurisdiction even though applicant suffered all of his injurious exposure outside of California.

<u>Slavin v. Oakland Raiders; St. Louis Rams/Los Angeles Rams; Seatle Seahawks et al.</u>, 2024 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 75 (WCAB panel decision); 52 CWCR 84 (May 2024 ed.)

Issues and Holding: In the second of two Findings and Awards, with the fist rescinded by the WCJ, The WCAB affirmed the WCJ's second Findings and Award of January 2, 2024 related to an alleged CT date of injury for the period of May 8, 2015 through March 9, 2017. The WCAB in denying the separate Petitions for Reconsideration filed by the St Louis Rams (Rams) and the Seattle Seahawks (Seahawks), adopted and incorporated the WCJ's Report on Reconsideration which the Board described as "well-reasoned." The issues delineated on reconsideration by the WCAB and the WCJ were the following:

- 1. Whether there was WCAB California personal and subject matter jurisdiction over applicant's claims. On these issues the WCAB found personal and subject matter over the both defendants.
- 2. Whether the Seahawks effectively waived their defense of lack of personal jurisdiction. The WCAB found that the Seahawks waived their defense of lack of personal jurisdiction.
- 3. Whether the formation of multiple California contracts of hire is sufficient to confer subject matter jurisdiction over a claimed injury, negating the application of the exemption/exception analysis and provisions required under LC section 3600.5(c) and (d). The WCAB found that due to the fact that applicant's contracts of hire with both defendants were formed in California that sections 3600.5(c) and (d) were not applicable.
- 4. Whether the forum selection clause in applicant's written contract with the Seahawks was valid and should be enforced. The WCAB found that the Seahawks failed to timely raise and offer this issue at the first opportunity and thus waived this defense. In addition, the Board found that the holding in the McKinley case was not applicable since applicant's contract of hire was formed in California.

5. Whether a stipulation in an addendum to applicant's written contract with Seahawks signed in Washington State that the applicant's contract was formed and negotiated in the State of Washington and no other state was effective and valid.

Factual & Procedural Overview: Applicant filed an application alleging he suffered a cumulative trauma for the period of May 8, 2015 through March 9, 2017 while employed as a professional football player. The defendants denied the claim arguing there was no subject matter jurisdiction. The Seahawks also asserted a lack of personal jurisdiction. Applicant testified at trial that his contracts for hire with both the Seahawks and the Rams were formed in California. There were two trials in the case after the WCJ rescinded his first Findings and Order on July 26, 2003. After a second trial the WCJ issued a subsequent Findings and Order on January 2, 2024, finding as follows:

[T]he St. Louis Rams and the applicant entered into an oral contract in California, that the Seattle Seahawks and the applicant entered into an oral contract in California, that the California Workers' Compensation Appeals Board has subject matter jurisdiction over the applicant's claim, that the Seattle Seahawks waived personal jurisdiction, that the applicant's claim was not barred by Labor Code Section 3600.5(c) and (d), that the Seattle Seahawks waived the Choice of Law and Choice of Forum Selection defense, and that the St. Louis Rams and Great Divide Insurance Company, as administered by Berkley Entertainment, were in the best position to administer the claim.

Both defendants filed Petitions for Reconsideration arguing the WCJ erred by "finding California contracts for hire and that the California Workers' Compensation Appeals Board had subject matter jurisdiction over the applicant's claim and personal jurisdiction over the St. Louis Rams/Los Angeles Rams and Seattle Seahawks."

Applicant's Oral Contracts of Hire with Both the Rams and Seahawks were formed in California: Both the WCJ and the WCAB found that oral contracts between the applicant and both defendants were formed over the telephone while applicant was physically located in California when he accepted both proposed oral contracts of hire thus conferring both California subject matter and personal jurisdiction over the Rams and the Seahawks even if all of applicant's injurious exposure was suffered by the applicant outside of California.

The Defendants failed to Timely Raise and thus Waived their Federal Preemption Issue: Both defendants failed to list a federal preemption issue on either the original or amended pre-trial conference statements. Moreover, defendants failed to raise this issue during trial. The WCJ and the WCAB found defendants had effectively waived this issue. Additionally, even if there had been no waiver, the fact that applicant's contracts of hire were formed in California combined with the fact he is a resident of California, Labor Code 5305 applies. Also there was no evidence "that the applicant's claim deals with a dispute involving the interpretation or application of any provision of the NFL collective bargaining agreement or contract."

Labor Code sections 3600.5(c) and (d) do not Apply to Situations Where an Athletes who have Been Hired by at least One Employer in California: Both the WCJ and the WCAB citing and relying on *Bowen v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd.*] (1999) 73 Cal. App. 4th 15 [86 Cal. Rptr. 2d 95]; *Hansell v. Arizona Diamondbacks* (April 7, 2022, ADJ10418232) [2022 Cal. Wrk. Comp.

P.D. LEXIS 83]; *Wilson v. Florida Marlins*, 2020 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 30; Neal v. San Francisco 49ers 2021 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 68]; "found that the formation of a California contract of hire was sufficient to confer subject matter jurisdiction over a claimed injury, obviating the exemption/exception analysis required under section 3600.5(c) and (d)."

Since there were Valid Oral Contracts of Hire formed in California, a Later Written Contract with a Stipulation or Provision to the Contrary will not Deprive California of Jurisdiction Over Applicant's Claim: The Seahawks argued that applicant's written contract agreed upon in the state of Washington had a provision in the addendum that provided "[t]his Contract and all of its terms and conditions was negotiated and agreed upon in the state of Washington and in no other state; its execution below is made in the state of Washington" controls over the oral contract of hire formed in California.

The WCJ and the WCAB rejected this argument finding that the standard language in addendum to the written contract signed by applicant in Washington State "appears to be standard language within player contracts that may or may not be required by the employer/team." This does not constitute a binding "stipulation" between the parties pursuant to *County of Sacramento v. WCAB* (Weatherall), (2000) 65 Cal. Comp. Cases 1. The WCAB further stated that:

"The formation of a contract of hire, standing alone, is sufficient to confer California jurisdiction over an industrial injury that occurs outside the state. 'The creation of the [employer-employee] status under the laws of this state is a sufficient jurisdictional basis for the regulation of that relationship within this state and the creation of incidents thereto which will be recognized within this state, even though the relation was entered into for purposes connected solely with the rendition of services in another state." Citation to *Rohrbach v. Colo. Rockies*, 2022 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 102.

The Seahawks Waived their Personal Jurisdiction Defense: For multiple reasons both the WCJ and the WCAB found the Seahawks had waived their personal jurisdiction defense/objection. The WCAB found that reliance on Code of Civil Procedure 418.10 was misplaced since the Seahawks failed to promptly seek a hearing after filing their Notice of Representation and Answer and failed to properly raise the issue of personal jurisdiction.

However, the Seahawks did not file a Motion to Quash. Nor did the Seahawks promptly seek a hearing to contest personal jurisdiction after filing their Notice of Representation and Answer. Rather, the Seahawks filed their Notice of Representation and their Answer in December, 2019, and then participated in a wide-ranging deposition of the applicant on January 12, 2022. The first Declaration of Readiness to Proceed (DOR) was filed more than two years after the Seahawks filed their Notice of Representation and Answer and was filed by the St. Louis Rams on issues of subject matter jurisdiction under section 3600.5, rather than personal jurisdiction. (Declaration of Readiness to Proceed to Hearing, April 8, 2022.) Thus, we concur with the WCJ's determination that the Seattle Seahawks failed to promptly raise the issue of personal jurisdiction and failed to promptly seek adjudication on the issue. As we noted in Parker, "defendant did not act to promptly and timely bring the issue of personal jurisdiction before the WCAB for determination, and it cannot now claim that it was free to pursue discovery and litigate subject matter jurisdiction and the substance of applicant's claim without those actions constituting a general appearance." (*Parker, supra*, 2017 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 547, at p. 12.)

The Seahawks also participated in general discovery related to issues beyond jurisdiction which in effect constituted a general appearance by the Seahawks.

The Seahawks Waived their Forum Selection Clause Defense and even if not Waived, would be Unenforceable: This issue was not raised at the MSC or first trial. The Seahawks raised a forum selection clause defense for the first time in its response to to applicant's Petition for Reconsideration. The Seahawks also declined the WCJ's offer to brief the issue or whether it had been waived prior to the second Findings and Award being issued. As a consequence the WCJ and the WCAB found the Seahawks had waived the issue.

Even if the Seahawks had not waived the forum selection clause issue it would not be enforceable in this case under the facts and holding in the WCAB en banc decision in *McKinley v. Arizona Cardinals* (2013) 78 Cal. Comp. Cases 23. In *McKinley*, the applicant was not a resident of California and did not enter into any employment contracts in California. In the instant case, applicant's contract of hire was "formed in California when the applicant accepted the Seattle Seahawks' offer over the phone to sign the applicant to a practice squad contract. Pursuant to California Labor Code section 3600.5(a), the California Workers' Compensation Appeals Board does have subject-matter jurisdiction over the applicant's claim, and there is sufficient contact with California to apply California's workers' compensation law. Therefore, the rule in McKinley is not applicable in this case, and the forum selection clause is unenforceable."

Lauter v. Baltimore Ravens FNA Cleveland Browns, PSI, Administered by Berkley Entertainment; San Diego Chargers, California Insurance Guarantee Association for Fremont Insurance, In Liquidation 2022 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 270; 50 CWCR 196 (WCAB panel decision)

Issues and Holding: Whether there was California WCAB personal jurisdiction over the Baltimore Ravens formerly known as the Cleveland Browns the terminal employer in this case based on either an oral or written contract of employment being formed in California between the applicant and the Browns or that the Browns' substantial and continuous contacts with California were sufficient to establish personal jurisdiction coupled with the fact that the Browns availed themselves of the benefits of conducting business in California, that applicant's employment with the Browns contributed to his injury and that dismissal of the Browns was not warranted.

The trial WCJ and the WCAB on reconsideration found there was no California personal jurisdiction over the Browns based on the fact there was no oral employment contract formed in California between the Browns and the applicant. The only contract of employment entered into by the Browns and applicant was signed outside of California. Moreover, during applicant's employment with the Browns he neither practiced nor played in any games for the Browns in California. Applicant's CT claim against the Browns in terms of specific personal jurisdiction did not arise out of or was it connected with the Browns activity in California.

Procedural and Factual Overview: Applicant filed a CT claim alleging a variety of body parts and conditions while employed as a football player in the NFL for the San Diego Chargers and the Baltimore Ravens formerly known as the Cleveland Browns. The Ravens/Browns were permissibly self-insured and administered by Berkley Entertainment and represented by Colantoni/Collins. Applicant's CT application was for the alleged period of 5/5/87 to 10/19/87. During this period, the applicant was employed by the Chargers from 5/5/87 to 7/29/87 (12 weeks and 2 days) and with the Browns the last employer from 9/30/87 to 10/19/87 (2 weeks and 5 days). The Browns entered a special appearance throughout the proceedings. The trial was bifurcated on the sole threshold issue of "personal jurisdiction." Venue was at the Santa Ana District Office and the trial WCJ was Oliver Cathey. Following trial, the WCJ issued a Findings and Order that the WCAB had no personal jurisdiction over the Baltimore Ravens/formerly the Browns. CIGA filed for Reconsideration which was denied.

There was no question of whether there was personal and subject matter over the Chargers since they are a California based employer and the applicant a California resident signed his free agent contract with the Charges and also participated various training camps with the Chargers (injurious exposure). After applicant was released by the Chargers his agent located in Arizona contacted the applicant by telephone in California and advised him that the Browns were interested in signing him. Applicant received no paperwork from the Browns while he was in California. When applicant spoke to his Arizona agent over the phone regarding the offer from the Browns, applicant was not aware of the terms of the contract and was not aware of whether his agent had negotiated any of the contract terms.

The applicant flew to Cleveland; Ohio and he did not pay for his own air travel. In Cleveland, he underwent a physical exam and signed an employment contract in Ohio. Applicant practiced regularly with the Browns until his release on October 23, 1987. The applicant played no games for the Browns, nor did he participate in any special exhibitions, appearances, or training sessions in California while he was with the Browns. After his release, the Browns paid for applicant's travel back to California. After returning to California, he received chiropractic treatment at San Diego State which was covered by insurance provided by the Browns.

CIGA's Petition for Reconsideration: On reconsideration of the WCJ's finding of WCAB personal jurisdiction over the Browns, CIGA raised two primary issues:

- 1. Whether there was an oral contract of employment reached between applicant and the Browns, which supports the exercise of California WCAB personal jurisdiction over the Browns.
- 2. Whether the Browns' substantial and continuous contacts with California were sufficient to establish personal jurisdiction and that the Browns availed themselves of the benefits of conducting business in California, that applicant's employment with the Browns contributed to his injury and that dismissal of the Browns was not warranted.

The WCAB's Decision on Reconsideration: With respect to the alleged oral contract issue raised by CIGA, the Board indicated that the record in this case, which included a transcript of the proceedings did not support an employment contract formation between applicant and the Browns while the applicant was physically present in California.

Here, the transcript of proceedings does not support CIGA's assertion of an oral agreement between applicant and the Cleveland Browns, because there is no evidence the Browns ever directly contacted applicant while he was residing in California. (Answer, at 2:16.) Rather, applicant testified that he received a call from his agent, Bruce Allen, whose office was located in Arizona. (Transcript, dated April 27, 2022, at 19:21.) The record thus does not substantiate direct contact between the Cleveland Browns and applicant, and neither CIGA nor applicant asserts that contract of hire was formed by agreement between applicant's agent and the Browns, or that applicant's agent was authorized to bind applicant to a contract. (See, generally, Johnson v. San Diego Chargers [2012 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 354].) Additionally, applicant testified that he did not know any terms of the contract, or whether his agent had negotiated any terms on applicant's behalf. (Transcript of Proceedings, at 20:12.) Applicant then traveled to Ohio, where he underwent a physical examination in Cleveland, and signed the contract in Cleveland. (*Id.* at 22:4.) In summary, the record does not establish that applicant spoke directly with the Cleveland Browns while in California, that he discussed or negotiated any terms with the team while in California, or that his agent negotiated any terms on his behalf while in California. In addition to the lack of evidence of an oral agreement, applicant neither reviewed nor signed a written contract while in California. Applicant only signed a written contract after traveling outside the state, and after passing a physical examination. On this record, we agree with the WCJ that the record does not support the formation of a contract, oral or written, in California. Accordingly, we are not persuaded that applicant entered into a binding contract of hire with the Cleveland Browns while he was still physically present in California.

The record also did not support CIGA's argument that an oral or written agreement had been made between the applicant and the Browns because there was no evidence that the Browns ever directly contacted applicant while he was residing in California or that a contract of hire was formed by agreement between the applicant's Arizona base agent and the Browns, or that applicant's agent was authorized to bind applicant to a contract. "In addition to a lack of evidence of an oral agreement, applicant neither reviewed nor signed a written contract while in California. Applicant only signed a written contract after traveling outside the state, and after passing a physical examination."

The WCAB was careful to point out that if there had been a a contract of hire made or formed in California then there would have been subject matter jurisdiction over the applicant's CT claim.

California workers' compensation subject matter jurisdiction may be conferred for injuries sustained outside California if the employee's contract of hire was made within California. (Labor Code §§ 3600.5, 5305; *Alaska Packers Assn. v. Industrial Acc. Com. (Palma)* (1934) 1 Cal.2d 250, affd. (1935) 294 U.S. 532; *Bowen v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd.* (1999)

73 Cal.App.4th 15, 27 [64 Cal.Comp.Cases 745]; *Jackson v. Cleveland Browns* (December 26, 2014, ADJ6696775) [2014 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 682].)

However, while entering into a contract of hire in California may be dispositive on the issue of WCAB subject matter jurisdiction over applicant's CT claim, "....it is not, standing alone, dispositive of the issue of personal jurisdiction."

CIGA's Argument that there was WCAB Personal Jurisdiction Over the Browns Based on the Fact the Browns had Substantial Continuous Systematic Contacts with California and also Availed Themselves of the Benefits of Conducting Business in California: From a factual standpoint, while the Browns played three games in California in 1987, these games were all played after applicant was no longer an employee of the Browns. Applicant never traveled to California during the entire time he was employed by the Browns and thus sustained no injuries or injurious exposure in California and thus the Browns had no connection with any activity or occurrence that would have caused on contributed to applicant suffering an injury in California. CIGA also argued in support of WCAB personal jurisdiction over the Browns that the Browns paid for applicant's air travel from Cleveland to San Diego, and that applicant received medical treatment in San Diego for injuries sustained while playing for the Browns outside of California. Both the WCJ and the WCAB rejected these arguments based on recent controlling USSC precedent as well as prior California case law. Quite simply, applicant's CT claim against the Browns in terms of specific personal jurisdiction must arise out of or be connected with the Browns activity in California which it clearly was not.

However, in order to exercise personal jurisdiction over a nonresident defendant, "a particular cause of action must arise out of or be connected with the defendant's forum-related activity." (Buckeye Boiler Co. v. Superior Court of Los Angeles County (1969) 71 Cal.2d 893, 899 [80 Cal.Rptr. 113].) "[S]pecific jurisdiction is confined to adjudication of issues deriving from, or connected with, the very controversy that establishes jurisdiction." (Bristol-Myers Squibb Co. v. Superior Court (2017) 137 S.Ct. 1773, 1780 [2017 U.S. LEXIS 3873].) Here, applicant played no games in California, did not travel to California, and was not injured in California during his employment with the Cleveland Browns. (Report, at p. 4.) Moreover, the basis for California contact is further attenuated by the fact that all three of the games played in California in 1987 by the Cleveland Browns occurred only after applicant's release. (Ex. E, 1987 Browns game schedule.)

There was no Waiver of the Defense of Lack of Personal Jurisdiction by the Browns: While the defense of a lack of subject matter jurisdiction cannot be waived, a lack of personal jurisdiction defense is easily waived. The Browns preserved and maintained their defense of lack of WCAB personal jurisdiction by "specially appearing throughout these proceedings for the purpose of contesting personal jurisdiction. (See, e.g. *Roy v. Superior Court* (2005) 127 Cal.App. 4th 337), "it has long been the rule in California that a party waives any objection to the court's existence of personal jurisdiction when the party makes a general appearance in the action."). See also,

Manderino v. Kansas City Chiefs et al., 2023 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 305 (contract formation case involving issues of alleged waiver of personal jurisdiction defense by a general appearance as well as whether applicant was a credible witness with respect to California contract formation facts.).

In contrast to the situation where a lack California personal jurisdiction defense is correctly preserved and maintained as the Browns did in this case, see *Solis v. Kansas City Royals* et al., 2024 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 69. In *Solis*, co-defendant the Windy City Thunderbolts Filed a Notice of Representation which failed to indicate a special appearance being made or the issue of a lack of personal jurisdiction defense being raised. Counsel for the Thunderbolts also made several general appearances at hearings without expressly stating on the Minutes of Hearing that these appearances were by way of a special appearance contesting a lack of personal jurisdiction. The WCAB found this course of conduct constituted an effective waiver of of the issue of personal jurisdiction.

Editor's Comments: There are several substantive and procedural issues in this case that warrant extended comment.

1. The *Lauter* case illustrates one of the most important distinctions between subject matter jurisdiction and personal jurisdiction that being that subject matter jurisdiction is derivative and personal jurisdiction is not. Under California case law, once subject matter jurisdiction is established over one defendant in a multi-defendant case there is generally subject matter jurisdiction over the entire CT claim and over all defendants. In Lauter, the reason CIGA tried to prove that there was a basis for California personal jurisdiction over the Browns the terminal employer in this case was to prevent a roll back of subject matter jurisdiction to the Chargers which was clearly established and to avoid CIGA's potential liability for the entire CT claim. (see also, Gorgen v. BKK Sports LLC, dba Camden Riversharks 2023 Cal.Wrk.Comp P.D. LEXIS 141 (WCAB panel decision) both the WCJ and WCAB in a single defendant case found a basis for California WCAB personal jurisdiction over applicant's claim based on the undisputed evidence he signed two separate contracts for hire with the Camden Riversharks while he was in California. Defendant tried to argue there was no personal jurisdiction based on the fact that applicant played no games in California for the Riversharks (thus no injurious exposure) and never traveled with the team to California.

Both the WCJ and WCAB citing the Court of Appeal's decision in *Bowen*, found that a hiring in California is a sufficient interest in and of itself in terms of due process to establish personal jurisdiction over applicant's claim against this single defendant even if applicant's injury or injuries were suffered outside of California. However, if there were multiple defendants in this case as opposed to just a single defendant and one or more of those defendants/employers could establish they had no contract of hire formed with applicant in California they may have been able to assert a lack of personal jurisdiction since personal jurisdiction unlike subject matter jurisdiction is not derivative and must be established for each and every defendant in a multiple defendant case.

See also, Hale v. Buffalo Bills, Houston Oilers et al., 2022 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 310 (WCAB panel decision) In Hale the WCJ and WCAB found California subject matter

jurisdiction over applicant's entire CT claim based on one of his employment contracts being formed in California. However, unlike subject matter jurisdiction as seen in *Hale*, personal jurisdiction must be established over each and every defendant in a multi-defendant case as exemplified in *Lauter* and is not derivative in nature.

- 2. It is also important to note that it was the Browns Permissibly Self-Insured as the employer who raised and litigated the defense of lack of California specific personal jurisdiction and not the TPA in this case Berkley Entertainment. If Berkley as the TPA had tried to raise the lack of California WCAB personal jurisdiction as opposed to the Browns who were still a party to the case the outcome may not have been the same since the personal jurisdictional analysis would have been fundamentally different. The same would be true in situations where a workers' compensation carrier tries to raise the lack of personal jurisdiction defense over their insured employer since they may no longer be a party to the case. California Labor Code section 3755 provides that once a workers' compensation carrier acknowledges and admits coverage, the employer is no longer a party to the proceedings by operation of law. California imposes direct liability upon an employer's workers' compensation insurance carrier. Cal. Lab. Code, § 3755 provides that "If the employer is insured against liability for compensation, and if after the suffering of any injury the insurer causes to be served upon any compensation claimant a notice that it has assumed and agreed to pay any compensation to the claimant for which the employer is liable, such employer shall be relieved from liability for compensation to such claimant upon the filing of a copy of such notice with the appeals board. The insurer shall, without further notice, be substituted in place of the employer in any proceeding theretofore or thereafter instituted by such claimant to recover such compensation, and the employer shall be dismissed therefrom. Such proceedings shall not abate on account of such substitution but shall be continued against such insurer.". (See Canton Poultry & Deli, Inc., et al. v. Stockwell, Harris, Widom & Woolverton et al. (2003) 109 Cal.App.4th 1219, 1226, [68 Cal.Comp.Cases 859].
- 3. This case also points out the importance of making and establishing a complete evidentiary record for appeal in every bifurcated jurisdictional case. The WCAB referenced the trial transcript repeatedly throughout their decision.
- 4. It is critical for any party trying to raise a lack of personal jurisdiction defense to make a special appearance throughout the proceedings. This requires careful planning and coordination between and among the employer, carrier, administrator, and defense counsel. For example, some notices, correspondence, or other documents that may be sent out by the employer or carrier before defense counsel is engaged may provide the basis for a waiver argument by applicant's counsel later in the case.
- 5. In order to effectively litigate a lack of personal jurisdiction defense it is essential that counsel be up to date and familiar with all applicable USSC and California existing and developing case law since this area is extremely complex both procedurally and substantively. While most WCJ's and the WCAB in sports cases are familiar with the large body of case law related to and involving subject matter jurisdiction, the same cannot be said for personal jurisdiction. For a recent example of the inherent complexity related to litigating cases involving the legal principles related to personal jurisdiction see, *Daimler*

Trucks North America LLC v. The Superior Court of Los Angeles County (Hu) (2022) 80 Cal.App.5th 946.

5. From a tactical standpoint it is advisable to raise and litigate the threshold issue of a lack of specific personal jurisdiction over an employer as early as possible in a bifurcated trial/hearing. In most if not all workers' compensation cases this would be initiated by a motion to quash the application for adjudication for lack of personal jurisdiction by way of a special appearance. It is also recommended that no formal discovery is commenced that is not related solely to the jurisdictional issue or question in order to avoid any argument of waiver based on conducting general discovery beyond the jurisdictional issue. Best practice would be to file the motion to quash the application for adjudication and then request a quick conference for the sole purpose of having a WCJ authorizing and limiting discovery solely to the jurisdictional issue. In some rare cases the existence or the lack of personal jurisdiction is determined based on the pleadings with accompanying affidavits and declarations filed by the parties without the necessity of a full evidentiary hearing with testimony. In the author's opinion the best course of action in almost all cases is to conduct thorough court authorized and supervised jurisdictional discovery before proceeding to trial.

Ford Motor Co. v. Montana Eighth Judicial District Court et al. 592 U.S. (2021), 1415 S.Ct. 1017

Issue: In two consolidated products liability cases whether Montana and Minnesota could exercise specific personal jurisdiction over Ford even though the two allegedly defective Ford vehicles involved in the accidents in question were designed and manufactured elsewhere and Ford had originally sold the cars outside the forum States but where both plaintiffs were residents of the states in which they brought the litigation and their injuries also occurred in the forum States.

Holding: The Supreme Court held that there was specific personal jurisdiction over Ford in the forum states. Ford purposely availed itself of the privilege of doing extensive marketing and business and serves a market for its product and that product caused injury in a State to one of its residents, then the State's courts consistent with due process may exercise specific personal jurisdiction over Ford.

Discussion: Both consolidated cases deal with plaintiffs in Montana and Minnesota filing product liability lawsuits against Ford Motor Company stemming from car accidents in both states that killed one resident and injured another. Ford moved to dismiss both suits for lack of specific personal jurisdiction arguing that personal jurisdiction could only be found if the company's conduct in each State had given rise to the plaintiff's claims. It was undisputed that both of the particular vehicles involved in the accidents were designed or manufactured in either state and also Ford originally sold the cars outside the forum states in Washington and North Dakota. The cars ended up in both Montana and Minnesota only by later resales and relocations by consumers who brought the vehicles to each state,

Both State's supreme courts rejected Ford's arguments related to a lack of personal jurisdiction holding that Ford's activities in each state established the necessary due process connection to the plaintiff's allegations that a defective Ford vehicle allegedly caused accidents in each state. Ford

argued that this causal link could exist only if the company had designed, manufactured, or sold in each State the particular Ford vehicle involved in each accident.

Ford acknowledged and effectively conceded that it had extensive business presences and activities in both states. Given this fact the court found that Ford "purposely availed" itself of the privilege of conducting activities in both states. However, Ford argued that those extensive activities from a due process standpoint were insufficiently connected to the actual lawsuits and claims by the plaintiffs. Ford's primary argument was that due process requires a direct causal link between its activities and the accidents. Without this type of direct causal link Ford argued that specific personal jurisdiction should only be found in the State where Ford sold the cars, or the States where Ford designed and manufactured the vehicles. None of these occurred in Montana or Minnesota.

The Supreme Court's Decision: The Court found that Fords "causation-only" approach was not based on or supported by the courts recent decisions related to the requirement of a "connection between a plaintiff's suit and a defendant's activities. The court described the most common

formulation of that rule as requiring that the suit must "arise out of or related to the defendant's contacts with the forum", citing *Bristol-Myers Squibb Co. v. Superior Court of Cal., San Francisco City* 582 U.S. 256 (2017), 137 S.Ct. 1773. Ford's argument only relates to the first part of that formulation of "arise out of but ignores the second half of the formulation "or relate to to defendant's contacts with the forum." The second half of the formulation extends beyond causality or causation only.

So, the inquiry is not over, if an application of the causal test alone would be jurisdiction elsewhere. "Another States's Courts may yet have jurisdiction, because of a non-causal "affiliation between between the forum and the underlying controversy, principally an activity or an occurrence involving the defendant that takes place in the State's borders," (citing *Bristol-Myers*).

In this case Ford admittedly cultivated a market for their cars in the forum state and that product malfunctioned in the forum state. All of Ford's "Montana-and Minnesota-based conduct relates to the claims in these cases, brought by state residents in the States's courts.

Put slightly differently, because Ford has systematically served a market in Montana and Minnesota for the very vehicles that the plaintiffs alleged malfunctioned and injured them in those States, there is a strong "relationship among the defendant, the forum, and the litigation"—the "essential foundation" of specific jurisdiction." *Helicopteros Nacionales de Colombia, S.A. v. Hall*, 466 U.S. 408, 414. Allowing jurisdiction in these circumstances both treats Ford fairly and serves principles of "interstate federalism." *World-Wide Volkswagen*, 444 U.S., 293 Pl. 8-15.

The Court was careful to distinguish the facts in the instant case from those in *Bristol-Myers* where they found that California lacked specific personal jurisdiction over Bristol-Myers where the non-California resident plaintiffs in that product liability case did not use the defective product in California and were not injured there and therefore Bristol-Myers activities in California lacked any connection to the non-California plaintiff's and their out of state injury claims.

However, "[t]hat is not true in these cases, where the plaintiffs are residents of the forum States, used the allegedly defective products in the forum States, and suffered injuries when those products malfunctioned there. And *Walden* does not show, as Ford claims, that a plaintiff's residence and place of injury can never support jurisdiction. The defendant in *Walden* had never formed any contact with the forum State. Ford, by contrast, has a host of forum connections. The place of a plaintiff's injury and residence may be relevant in assessing the link between those connections and plaintiff's suit."

As a consequence, the USSC affirmed the decisions of the Montana and Minnesota Supreme Court's finding there was specific personal jurisdiction over Ford.

What is clear from the Court's decision is that a defendant may be subject to specific personal jurisdiction in an injured party's resident state if the defendant contesting jurisdiction has purposely availed themselves of doing business in a manner and to a degree that established a strong relationship between and among the defendant, the forum, and the litigation.

What has not changed in the Court's refined formulation of the relatedness doctrine that the lawsuit must "arise out of or relate" to the defendant's contacts with the forum is that non-residents of the forum state who have not suffered any injury in the forum state will still find it extremely difficult to forum shop under *Ford* as they attempted to do in *Bristol Myers*.

Editors Comment: What does all this mean for litigation in Sports Cases in California?

If there is a factual and legal basis to allege a lack of California specific personal jurisdiction over a non-California team especially in a multi-team/multi-defendant cumulative trauma case it can potentially operate to offset and counter the broad net cast by the WCAB's exercise of subject matter jurisdiction over an entire alleged cumulative trauma claim based on the *Macklin* line of cases. Unlike subject matter jurisdiction, personal jurisdiction is not derivative and each defendant in a multi-defendant/employer case can potentially raise the issue if the facts and law warrant it.

As discussed hereinabove, the Court's holding in *Ford Motor Co.*, did not undermine in anyway its prior holding in *Bristol-Myers* which may be directly applicable to many California workers' compensation sports cases involving cumulative trauma claims against multiple defendants/teams. In situations where a non-California resident may have played for a non-California team or teams that played no games in California and therefore suffered no injurious exposure in California and whose contract for a particular team was not formed in California, a lack of California specific personal jurisdiction may prove to be viable defense. The pivotal question or issue under *Bristol-Myers* is not whether the applicant can maintain a workers' compensation cumulative trauma claim in California but rather against which defendant or defendants.

Specific personal jurisdiction is an extremely complex issue both substantively and procedurally. Simply raising the issue may be tempting in many cases. However, actually litigating the issue is another matter that requires a through and deep understanding of both the applicable case law and related procedural issues.

From a procedural perspective, it must always be kept in mind that unlike subject matter jurisdiction, personal jurisdiction is easily waived. A good example *Arevalo v. Raul Flores dba Flores Gardening* 2020 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 25 (WCAB panel decision). In *Arevalo*, an uninsured employer made a general appearance at an MSC alleging he was not personally served

as an allegedly uninsured employer by applicant's counsel with the required the application and special notice of lawsuit pursuant to Labor Code § 3716(d). The WCAB reversed the WCJ's order taking the case off calendar until the employer could be served on the basis that the employer made a general appearance at the MSC and therefore service of a special notice was not required.

A general appearance by a party is equivalent to personal service of summons on such party. Thus, a general appearance is sufficient to establish jurisdiction over a party. (See Code Civ.Proc., § 410.50; *Lacey v. Bertone* (1949) 33 Cal.2d 649, 651-652 (*Lacey*); *Raps v. Raps* (1942) 20 Cal.2d 382, 384 (*Raps*); *Security Loan & Trust Co.*. (1899) 126 Cal 418 (*Security Loan*),) A voluntary appearance in court for purposes other than interposing a specific object to personal jurisdiction constitutes a general appearance. (*Lacey, supra*, 33 Cal.2d at p. 650; *Raps, supra*, 20 Cal.2d at p.384-385.) Whether a particular act of the defendant reflects an intent to submit to the jurisdiction of the court, constituting a general appearance depends upon the circumstances. (citations) (*General Ins. Co. v. Superior Court of Alameda County* (1975) 15 Cal.3d 449, 453 [1975 Cal. LEXIS 243].)

For another recent case from the California Court of Appeal certified for publication dealing with personal jurisdiction see, Casey v. Hill et al., (2022) 78 Cal.App.5th 1143, 2022 Cal.App. LEXIS 444 (for subsequent history see, 2022 Cal.App. LEXIS 544 (6/21/22). While not a sports case, this decision provides a very thorough analysis of seminal USSC and California Appellate cases dealing with personal jurisdiction focusing on an alleged lack specific personal jurisdiction by a Missouri trial court over California defendants in a tort case who contracted with residents of Missouri related to adoption services provided in California by the defendants. When the Missouri plaintiffs tried to enforce and perfect an entry of judgment from a Missouri court in California, the California trial court found a lack of specific personal jurisdiction by the Missouri court that had entered a default judgement against the California defendants who had been properly served but failed to appear. However, the Court of Appeal reversed the trial court finding that the Missouri trial court had specific personal jurisdiction over the California defendants. The decision also discusses the impact a lack of specific personal jurisdiction may have on contract provisions involving choice of law and forum as well as arbitration agreements. In finding that Missouri could exercise specific personal jurisdiction over the California defendants, the Court of Appeal in reversing the California trial court below stated that:

The trial court ignored the material jurisdictional facts, which were undisputed. Defendants sent communications into Missouri that contained allegedly fraudulent misrepresentations and caused injury in Missouri, and which were the basis of the claims asserted against Defendants in the Missouri action. Under settled principles, these facts were sufficient to satisfy the first prong of the specific jurisdiction inquiry.

An additional case from the Court of Appeal dealing with the complex issues related to the principles of personal jurisdiction see, *Daimler Trucks North America LLC v. The Superior Court of Los Angeles County (Hu)* (2022) 80 Cal.App.5th 946.

<u>Denver Nuggets v. WCAB (Hollis Copeland, et al.)</u> (2017) 82 Cal.Comp.Cases 611, 2017 Cal.Wrk.Comp. LEXIS 39 (writ denied)

In this case the WCJ, the WCAB, and the Court of Appeal found no California personal jurisdiction over Pinnacol Assurance, a Colorado insurance company, who provided workers' compensation insurance to the Denver Nuggets for the period 1972 through 1982. The WCAB found that Pinnacol made no general appearance in the consolidated cases, and that Pinnacol did not have sufficient minimal contacts with California during the period of coverage and after the period of coverage in 2009 to justify a finding of personal jurisdiction. Pinnacol had offices only in Colorado and directed its advertising, marketing, and coverage exclusively to Colorado employers. Moreover, Pinnacol's contacts with California after the period of injurious exposure was not material to personal jurisdiction even through the date of applicant's cumulative trauma injury under Labor Code §5412 was no earlier than 2009. In addition, the Nuggets were not in compliance with Labor Code §3700 since they never secured workers' compensation liability insurance from a carrier authorized to provide workers' compensation insurance in California. (see Labor Code §3700).

Editor's Comment: While this case was pending before the Court of Appeal, the United States Supreme Court issued its decision in *Bristol-Myers Squibb v. Superior Court of California, et al.* (2017) 582 U.S. 256, 137 S.Ct. 1773. *Bristol-Myers* shifted the analytical focus from a pure "minimum contacts" and "purposeful availment" assessment to one in which specific personal jurisdiction is confined or limited to adjudication of issues derived from or connected with the controversy and the specific claims at issue. Where there is no such connection "specific" personal jurisdiction is lacking regardless of the extent of defendants unconnected activities in the state."

However, it is important to distinguish the facts in the USSC's recent decision in *Ford Motor Co. v. Montana Eighth Judicial District Court et al.* 592 U.S._____(2021), 141 S.Ct. 1017 on personal jurisdiction from those in *Bristol Myers*. In *Ford*, the plaintiffs were residents of the forum states and were injured in the forum states. In *Bristol-Myers*, the Court found that California did not have specific personal jurisdiction over the numerous non-California plaintiffs since they were not residents of California and did not suffer any injury in California the forum state.

<u>Thompson v. Seattle Supersonics, Washington State Department of Labor & Industry</u> 2009 Cal. Wrk. P.D. LEXIS 245 (WCAB panel decision)

Holding: California personal jurisdiction must be established by personal service or its equivalent or a voluntary appearance in the action.

Case Summary: Following trial, the WCJ found applicant incurred a cumulative trauma injury while playing professional basketball games in California for the Seattle Supersonics. Applicant was awarded 67% permanent disability and future medical treatment. The actual Award issued not only against the Seattle Supersonics as the employer, but also against the Washington State Department of Labor & Industry as the purported insurer for the Seattle Supersonics. Applicant and both defendants filed Petitions for Reconsideration. With respect to the Petition for Reconsideration filed by Washington State Department of Labor & Industry, the WCAB granted

the Petition for Reconsideration and reversed the WCJ's determination there was personal jurisdiction over the Washington State Department of Labor & Industry (Washington L&I).

Discussion: It is interesting to note it was not the applicant but rather the Seattle Supersonics who petitioned for Washington L&I to be joined as a defendant. They were claiming Washington L&I provided coverage for the Supersonics from June 1984 to July 1986. In order to accomplish that end, the Supersonics filed a Petition for Order Joining Washington L&I and the Petition for Joinder was served on Washington L&I as well as a Notice of Trial. When there was no appearance at Trial the WCJ formally joined Washington L&I as a defendant and proceeded with the Trial even in their absence. It was undisputed Washington L&I had service of the applicant's claim, the Petition for Joinder and the Notice of Trial.

In its discussion, the Board was careful to distinguish the basis for California subject matter jurisdiction as opposed to California personal jurisdiction. The WCAB noted personal jurisdiction must be established by personal service or its equivalent. There is no basis for personal jurisdiction if the party does not appear when notified by mail citing *Yant v. Snyder & Dickenson* (1982) 47 Cal. Comp. Cases 245 (WCAB en banc). The WCAB noted there was no evidence in the record Washington L&I was ever personally served or it voluntarily appeared in the action and as a consequence personal jurisdiction was never established over and contrary to the findings of the WCJ.

As an aside, the WCAB noted the issue of personal jurisdiction might be moot given the fact there was no evidence or proof Washington L&I was ever authorized to write workers' compensation insurance in California as required by Labor Code section 3700. In the absence of such a showing, the Board indicated the Supersonics should and could be found to be illegally uninsured.

The WCAB determined it was undisputed the WCAB did have subject matter jurisdiction as opposed to personal jurisdiction.

Practice Pointer: With respect to the issue of personal jurisdiction and special appearances, there is a companion case that was decided in the following year, *Johnson v. New Jersey Nets, Seattle Supersonics, Washington State Department of Labor & Industry* 2009 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 233 (WCAB Panel Decision). Washington L&I filed a Petition for Reconsideration again arguing California did not have personal jurisdiction over it and also argued they did not have subject matter jurisdiction. The WCAB determined California did have subject matter jurisdiction to determine whether applicant suffered an alleged cumulative trauma injury while allegedly regularly employed within the State of California pursuant to Labor Code sections 3600.5, 5300, 5301 and 5500.5.

However, with respect to the issue of personal jurisdiction, the Board noted while Washington L&I did make appearances, each appearance was indicated on the record to be a "special appearance" by which they were contesting both personal and subject matter jurisdiction. The Board noted special appearances to contest jurisdiction are allowed in workers' compensation proceedings (*Janzen v. WCAB* (1997) 61 Cal. App. 4th 109, 63 Cal. Comp. Cases 9). Given the fact Washington L&I made a special appearance and were never personally served, California personal jurisdiction was never established over them.

Editor's Comment: Both of the above cases are excellent examples of the critical distinction between personal jurisdiction (either "general" or "specific") versus subject matter jurisdiction. There are two recent significant United States Supreme Court cases dealing with personal jurisdiction; Daimler AG v. Bauman (2014) 571 U.S. 117, 134 S.Ct. 736 and Bristol-Myers Squibb Co. v. Superior Court of California, et al. (2017) 582 U.S. 256, 137 S.Ct. 1773. From a due process standpoint "specific" personal jurisdiction is confined or limited to adjudication of issues derived from or connected with, the very controversy that establishes jurisdiction. This requires a connection between the forum and the specific claims at issue. Where there is no such connection "specific jurisdiction is lacking regardless of the extent of the defendants' unconnected activities in the state." As a consequence, California could not exercise personal jurisdiction over the claims of 592 non-California residents since they did not claim to have suffered harm in California and all the conduct giving rise to their claims occurred outside of California. However, establishing personal jurisdiction over an out of state employer will not automatically establish "subject matter" jurisdiction.

<u>Copeland v. Denver Nuggets, Pinnacol Assurance</u> 2013 Cal. Wrk. Comp. PD LEXIS 356 (WCAB panel decision)

Issue: Where a party as in this case, a defendant insurance company made all appearances by "special" appearance contesting both personal jurisdiction and subject matter jurisdiction it was improper for the WCJ to refer any of the consolidated cases out to mandatory arbitration on an alleged "insurance coverage" issue under Labor Code § 5275 without first holding a hearing and determining whether the WCAB could exercise both personal and subject matter jurisdiction over defendant.

Factual and Procedural Background: Pinnacol Assurance (Pinnacol) was the insurance carrier for the Denver Nuggets, but argued and asserted their coverage of the nuggets based on their policy and Colorado statutes limited their liability only for claims filed in the state of Colorado, which was the domicile of both the Nuggets and Pinnacol.

Several former Nuggets players filed Applications for Adjudication in California, which were consolidated based on a Motion of the Denver Nuggets.

On January 9, 2013, the WCJ indicated he would conduct a January 31, 2013, hearing only on the issue of whether one or more of the seven consolidated cases should be referred to arbitration pursuant to Labor Code § 5275 based on the issue of "insurance coverage." Pinnacol immediately filed a Petition for Removal of each of the seven cases to the Appeals Board contending that Colorado law barred it from defending or covering Workers' Compensation Claims filed in California. While the seven Petitions for Removal were pending before the WCAB, the WCJ proceeded with the January 31, 2013, hearing. Following that hearing, the WCJ issued an Order that three of the seven cases proceed to arbitration pursuant to Labor Code § 5275. Pinnacol once again filed a Petition for Removal in these three cases.

It is important to note that Pinnacol always appeared by "special appearance" in all proceedings. On removal, Pinnacol argued that the WCAB had no personal jurisdiction over it and that the Denver Nuggets and their seven employees were exempted from the provisions of California

Workers' Compensation laws by Labor Code section 3600.5(b). In essence, Pinnacol contends there was no insurance coverage issue to be sent out to arbitration and it was an abuse of discretion to order three of the seven cases to arbitration.

The WCAB granted removal rescinding the WCJ's arbitration Order and ordered the WCJ to conduct further proceedings related to whether or not the WCAB had personal jurisdiction over Pinnacol. The WCAB ruled that the threshold issue was not "insurance coverage" but rather, "instead, the threshold issue that must be first determined at a hearing is whether the WCAB has personal jurisdiction over Pinnacol." As to that issue, the WCAB has jurisdiction to conduct hearings to determine if it has personal jurisdiction over a named party as well as determine if it has jurisdiction over an injury claim.

Comment: In many sports cases personal jurisdiction as opposed to subject matter jurisdiction is not contested. However, in situations where there is a legitimate question as to whether there is California personal jurisdiction over a particular defendant all pleadings and all appearances before the WCAB on the Minutes of Hearing should indicate the defendant is making a "special appearance."

1.5 Validity of Contractual Choice of Forum/Law Provisions

<u>McKinley v. Arizona Cardinals</u> (2013) 78 Cal. Comp. Cases 23; 2013 Cal. Wrk. Comp. LEXIS 2 (WCAB en banc decision) *(writ denied)

Case Summary: Applicant played for the Arizona Cardinals from 1999 through June 24, 2003, a period of four years. During the period of his employment, the Cardinals played a total of 80 games. Of those 80 games, 40 were played in Arizona and 40 in other states including 7 games in California. In addition, he participated in a 5-day training camp for the Cardinals in La Jolla, California.

There was no evidence applicant was a resident of California. All of his employment contracts with the Arizona Cardinals were signed and formed in the State of Arizona. Applicant resided in Arizona during the period of time he played for the Cardinals. Arizona was also the location where he performed the majority of his employment duties including practices, training, and playing in games.

Each of the employment contracts the applicant signed or entered into with the Cardinals contained identical forum selection clauses mandating any claim for workers' compensation benefits shall be filed with the Industrial Commission of Arizona and would be subject to the workers' compensation laws of the State of Arizona and "no other state". He was represented by an agent in negotiating his employment contracts with the Cardinals.

Following trial, the WCJ found that while the WCAB has jurisdiction over applicant's claim, his contacts with California were insufficient to warrant the exercise of subject matter jurisdiction, especially in light of the forum selection clauses in his multiple employment contracts. The WCJ ordered that applicant "take nothing". Applicant filed a Petition for Reconsideration. The essence of applicant's contention and arguments on reconsideration were that the WCAB had jurisdiction to adjudicate his claim. He also alleged his connection with California was sufficient and strong enough to support a claim for workers' compensation benefits within the State of California and more importantly the forum selection clauses in his multiple employment contracts were not enforceable under California law.

Discussion: In its en banc decision, the WCAB discussed and analyzed a number of critical issues and contentions. First, from a due process standpoint, California had personal jurisdiction over the Arizona Cardinals.

Moreover, California had jurisdiction to determine if California and in particular the WCAB was the proper forum to adjudicate applicant's workers' compensation claim. The Board indicated they would not address the question of whether applicant's claimed cumulative trauma itself was sufficiently connected with California to support the exercise of jurisdiction because they were going to focus on the choice of forum/law clauses in the applicant's multiple employment contracts with the Cardinals. However, the fact applicant may have suffered a portion or portions of his alleged cumulative trauma in California as a matter of California law, meant he would fall in the category of employees to whom California extends workers' compensation coverage.

The WCAB then basically articulated an overview of basic California jurisdictional principles and tenets. They articulated the basic jurisdictional principles as follows:

- 1. California workers' compensation benefits are to be provided for industrial injuries sustained in the State of California so long as statutory conditions of compensation are met.
- 2. The California Workers' Compensation Act applies to all injuries whether occurring within the State of California or occurring outside of the territorial boundaries if the contract of employment was entered into in California or if the employee was regularly employed in California.
- 3. The jurisdictional reach of the WCAB extends to both specific injuries that are the result of one incident or exposure that causes disability or need for medical treatment, but also to "cumulative injuries that occur as a result of physically traumatic activities extending over a period of time the combined effect which causes disability or the need for medical treatment".
- 4. The WCAB may also exercise jurisdiction over specific industrial injuries occurring outside of California's territorial boundaries in cases where the injured worker had more than a limited connection with the state. Most of the cases cited by the WCAB in support of this principle involved California residents where the contract for employment was made in California or a significant portion of applicant's employment was performed within the State of California.

The WCAB also acknowledged and distinguished a line of earlier cases that <u>did not</u> involve or have at issue forum selection clauses. In these earlier cases the WCAB chose to exercise jurisdiction over claims of cumulative trauma and industrial injuries where only a portion of the injurious exposure caused in the cumulative injury occurred within the state. The Board cited five cases as examples of where the Board had exercised jurisdiction where only a portion of the cumulative trauma injury occurred within the state including *Ransom*, *Carpenter*, *Whatley*, *Roundfield*, and *Crosby*. However, none of these cases involved contractual forum selection clauses.

The Labor Code Section 3600.5(b) Exemption Distinction and Its Relationship to Labor Code Section 3600.5(a): The WCAB then clarified that Labor Code section 3600.5(b) was inapplicable to the facts of this case since that section operates as an exemption statute and basically exempts certain employers and employees from coverage under California workers' compensation, but in and of itself does not establish jurisdiction over applicant's claim based on the particular facts of this case. The focal point instead should be Labor Code section 5300, where the WCAB may have jurisdiction and adjudicate a claim of industrial injury when there is sufficient connection to California and the statutory conditions of compensation are met.

Applicant's Limited Connection to California with Respect to Both the Aspects of Employment and Claimed Cumulative Injury: The WCAB noted that notwithstanding the fact applicant participated in 7 football games in California during his four years of employment with the Cardinals and also participated in a 5 day training camp in La Jolla, California, these were

insufficient and inadequate connections to California in a jurisdictional sense when viewed in the perspective of the choice of forum/law clauses in the employment contracts.

Instead, applicant's "**primary**" connection during his four years of employment with the Cardinals was with the State of Arizona as opposed to California. The Cardinals were headquartered in Arizona. Applicant regularly trained and practiced at the team facility in Tempe, Arizona. He also spent a substantial majority of his work time in Arizona. In terms of the applicant's limited connection to California, the WCAB focused on the fact he was not a resident of California when he contracted to play for the Cardinals. The actual employment contracts were formed and entered into in Arizona. They also noted that with respect to the 40 games applicant did not play in Arizona, 33 of those games were played in states other than California. Based on the applicant's limited connection to California, the WCAB indicated this was for purposes of jurisdiction, insufficient for the WCAB to elect to exercise jurisdiction over his workers' compensation claim as opposed to Arizona.

The California Income Tax Argument: Applicant argued he paid California income tax based on games he played in the state and he had a due process right to have his workers' compensation claim adjudicated in California. The WCAB acknowledged non-resident professional athletes pay California income taxes on income earned in the state based on what is characterized as a "duty day" formula established by the Franchise Tax Board. However, the basis for the WCAB's jurisdiction is statutory and the Board indicated the legislature did not include payment of California income taxes as a ground or condition for WCAB jurisdiction. Also, the workers' compensation system and the state tax system have fundamentally different purposes.

Applicant's Attempted Reliance on Alaska Packers (Palma): Applicant argued that the forum selection clause in his multiple employment agreements with the Arizona Cardinals was unenforceable citing Alaska Packers Assoc. v. I.A.C. (Palma) (1935) 294 U.S. 532 (affirming the California Supreme Court's decision at (1934) 1 Cal. 2d 250). The WCAB made short shrift of that argument, noting the applicant in Palma was a non-resident alien who entered into his contract of employment in California with an Alaska employer. In contrast, Mr. McKinley did not enter into his contract in California. The undisputed evidence indicated he entered into all of his employment contracts in Arizona.

Forum Selection Clauses are Presumed Valid and are Generally Enforced Under Straight Contract Principles Unless They are Unreasonable or Contrary to a Fundamental Public Policy: From a historical perspective, the WCAB noted that for a period of approximately 38 years, from 1934 until 1972, when the United States Supreme Court issued their decision in *M/S Bremen v. Zapata Offshore Co.* (1972) 407 U.S. 1 that forum selection clauses were not favored. However, based on the *Bremen* decision, forum selection clauses in a variety of contracts, including employment contracts, were cloaked with a presumption of validity. Based on *Bremen* the WCAB articulated a number of key/core principles as follows:

1. There is a presumption in favor of enforcement of a forum selection clause which has been regularly applied by California courts in the years following the *Bremen_decision*. A forum selection clause should control absent a strong showing that it should be set aside and only upon particular grounds.

- 2. Enforcement of a forum selection clause is based upon principles of contract not equity. Therefore, the principles of forum non conveniens are generally inapplicable.
- 3. When a defendant seeks to defend a forum selection clause, the burden of proof is upon the applicant to show the clause and selected forum are unreasonable and the factors involved in a traditional forum non conveniens analysis do not control. A forum selection clause is presumed valid and the courts have placed a substantial and heavy burden on the plaintiff to show that application of the forum selection clause would be unreasonable. Generally, forum selection agreements should be honored and enforced by the courts absent some compelling and countervailing reason for not enforcing them.

Application of These Principles to the Facts of this Case: The forum selection clauses in McKinley's contracts were not the product of fraud or overreaching based on the facts of this case. It did not matter he did not read the specific forum selection clause in his contract. The particular forum selection clauses in his contracts with the Cardinals were unambiguous. Applicant was represented by an agent during the contract negotiation process and his trial testimony demonstrated he was free to accept or reject the contracts and he accepted them without undue influence. The WCAB also indicated there was adequate consideration looking at the specific monetary amounts provided in each of the employment contracts.

The Selection of Arizona as the Proper Workers' Compensation Forum for the Applicant to Adjudicate any Workers' Compensation Claim was Reasonable: The Board indicated it was manifestly evident that Arizona had a substantial and material connection to applicant's employment and his related claim for workers' compensation. Moreover, the majority of the activities claimed to have caused applicant's cumulative trauma injury primarily occurred in Arizona. It was also objectively reasonable to identify Arizona as the proper forum to adjudicate his workers' compensation claims especially in light of the number of other states where the Cardinals played games and the potential for jurisdictional conflicts.

Applicant argued it would be unreasonable for the WCAB to enforce the forum selection clause because allegedly the statute of limitations had run on any workers' compensation claim he may have filed in Arizona. The WCAB indicated, however, this is more of an equitable argument under the forum non conveniens line of cases as opposed to the contract enforcement principles applicable to contract forum selection clauses. "In determining whether a contract forum selection clause should be enforced, it ordinarily does not matter if the statute of limitations has run in the selected forum." "Consideration of a statute of limitations would create a large loophole for the parties seeking to avoid enforcement of the forum selection clause. That party could simply postpone its cause of action until the statute of limitations has run in the chosen forum and then file its action in a more convenient forum. The unreasonableness exception to the enforcement to a forum selection clause refers to the inconvenience of the chosen forum as a place for trial, not to the effect of applying the law of the chosen forum."

The Board also posed an interesting question as to whether or not the reason the Arizona statute of limitations may have run was perhaps attributable to a delayed knowledge of injury but due to applicant's lack of diligence, or more importantly, whether applicant made a conscious decision

not to file his claim in Arizona and instead made a deliberate and conscious decision based on advice that he could receive better benefits in California than in Arizona.

There was no Evidence or Showing that Arizona was not a Convenient Forum for the Applicant: Applying the *Bremen* analysis, the Board noted there was no evidence it would have been gravely difficult or inconvenient for applicant to have filed a workers' compensation claim in Arizona. Again, the WCAB astutely recognized it appeared to them applicant had perhaps filed his claim in California solely in order to have it adjudicated under California law and perhaps for no other reason than to obtain greater benefits. Therefore, there was a choice of remedy and forum for the applicant which he, perhaps on the advice of counsel, decided not to exercise.

Applicant's desire to adjudicate his claim under California law does not provide good reason for the WCAB to exercise jurisdiction over his claim because there was limited connection with California with regard to his employment and claimed cumulative injury, and he expressly and reasonably agreed with the Cardinals that any claim for workers' compensation would be filed in Arizona and adjudicated under Arizona law. Enforcing the forum selection agreement provides certainty as to the forum where the claim should be adjudicated.

The Forum Selection Clause and Applicant's Multiple Employment Contracts with the Cardinals were not Contrary to California Fundamental Public Policy: Again, the WCAB noted applicant's argument about a violation of public policy based on Labor Code section 5000 and the *Alaska Packers/Palma* case were not well taken since his employment contract was not formed or executed in California. They noted the policy arguments that were readily apparent in *Palma* were completely absent in the instant case.

The Board concluded their assessment of the public policy aspects and considerations by stating as follows:

It is immediately apparent that the fundamental public policy considerations identified in *Palma* are not present in this case. In *Palma*, unsophisticated seasonal employees were hired in California to work for a period of short duration in Alaska before being returned to California. In this case, applicant was hired in Arizona pursuant to an employment contract made in that state and he worked primarily in Arizona for a period of several years. Applicant was represented in the negotiation of his employment agreements by a professional agent, and those agreements were supported by substantial monetary compensation. In addition, none of the barriers to filing a workers' compensation claim in the designated forum that are described in *Palma* are present in this case.

California's Public Policy to not Allow Forum Shopping or Burdening Its Courts Also Impacted this Case: The WCAB indicated that California courts and every court recognized and should recognize the decisions involving enforcement of forum selection clauses have an impact upon the delivery of justice in the forum state. California has an interest in the avoidance of overburdening local courts with congested calendars in cases in which the local community has little concern. Citing the California Supreme Court's decision in *Price_v. Atchison, T. & S. F. Ry. Co.* (1954) 42 Cal. 2d 577, 583-584, the Board stated:

[W]e are of the view that the injustices and the burdens on local courts and taxpayers...which can follow from an unchecked and unregulated importation of transitory causes of action for trial in this state...require that our courts...exercise their discretionary power to decline to proceed in those causes of action which they conclude, on satisfactory evidence, may be more appropriately and justly tried elsewhere.

Basically, the Board concluded Arizona clearly has a materially greater interest than California in determining the applicant's workers' compensation benefits since he was an Arizona resident who contracted for employment in Arizona and who was employed by an employer based in Arizona and performed most of his work duties in Arizona. The Board indicated "We have identified no California fundamental public policy that requires the WCAB to devote its limited resources to the claim in this case."

A case where the WCAB found the choice of law/forum clauses in applicant's contract with a non-California based team unenforceable see *Holmberg v. Oakland Raiders; Green Bay Packers; New England Patriots et al.*, (2023) 88 Cal.Comp.Cases 356; 2023 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 10 (WCAB panel decision). In *Holmberg*, applicant played for the Raiders for 4 years and his contracts with the Raiders were formed in California so that California had a strong interest and connection to applicant's claim. "California's interest in this claim is established by both the hiring in California, as well as the four years of subsequent regular work within California and is further reflected in the statutory provision for jurisdiction over the claim found in sections 5000, 5305 and 3600.5." The Board stated the Packers had not met their burden "that the enforcement of the choice of law/forum selection clause in the employment agreement overrides these public policy provisions as reflected in California statute."

Comment: For Federal precursor/parallel decisions dealing with the validity of contractual choice of forum/law in N.F.L. employment contracts in the context of the N.F.L. Collective Bargaining Agreement (CBA) and related arbitration decisions see:

- *Matthews v. National Football League Management Council* (2012) 688 F. 3d 1107; (9th Circuit) 77 Cal. Comp. Cases 711;
- *Miami Dolphins Ltd. v. Newson* (2011) 783 F. Supp. 2d 769 (W.D. Pa.);
- Chicago Bears Football Club, Inc. v. Haynes (2011) 816 F. Supp. 534 (N.D. Ill.);
- Cincinnati Bengals v. Abdullah (2013) 2013 WL 154077 (S.D. Ohio);
- Kansas City Chiefs Football Club, Inc. v. Allen (2013) U.S. Dist. LEXIS 46424 (W.D. Mo.);
- Atlanta Falcons Football Club v. Nat'l Football League Players Assoc. (2012) ____ F. Supp _____, 2012 WL 5392185 (N.D. Ga);
- New Orleans Saints v. Cleeland (2012) No. 11-CV-02093, ECF No. 55 (E.D. La)

<u>Walker v. Tampa Bay Buccaneers; ACE/Pacific Employers</u> 2015 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 240 (WCAB panel decision)

Issue: Whether defendant's failure to raise the applicability of a contractual choice of forum clause in applicant's contract at the outset or early in the case constituted a waiver of defendant's ability to litigate the choice of forum clause.

Holding: Both the WCJ and WCAB held that defendant effectively waived the choice of forum clause in applicant's NFL players contract by extensively litigating the case for 43 months and conducting substantial discovery without indicating it was seeking to enforce the choice of forum clause until late in the case. Based on the particular facts and circumstances of the case the WCJ and WCAB held that it would be unreasonable to enforce the forum selection clause.

Factual and Procedural Overview: The WCJ in a November 19, 2013, Findings and Award found applicant suffered a cumulative trauma injury resulting in 70% permanent disability. Moreover, the WCJ found that the choice of forum clause in applicant's player contract did not apply. Defendant filed a Petition for Reconsideration which was denied by the WCAB upholding the WCJ's finding that the choice of forum clause did not apply based on the facts and circumstances in this case.

The defendant had extensively litigated the case over a period of approximately 43 months without ever seeking an early determination of the enforceability of the forum selection clause in applicant's player contract.

Both the WCJ and the WCAB cited the case of *Trident Labs, Inc. v. Merrill Lynch Commercial Finance* (2011) 200 Cal. App. 4th 147. In *Trident*, a non-sports case, defendant made a motion to dismiss based on a forum selection clause in a contract but waited 19 months to do so. In Trident, the court denied the motion to dismiss indicating that Merrill Lynch had waived its right under the forum selection clause by litigating this case for 19 months in California.

The WCAB noted that defendant in the instant case had litigated extensively for 43 months and had conducted very significant and substantial discovery. On this basis, the WCAB indicated it would be unreasonable and unjust to enforce the forum selection clause in applicant's NFL player contract. The Board noted that to hold otherwise would encourage forum shopping and endorse delay in raising the issue while the parties seek favorable rulings on other issues.

The WCAB also pointed out that this was not a case focusing on jurisdiction but rather that if California subject matter jurisdiction applied, whether the forum selection clause in the applicant's NFL player contract would require applicant's workers' compensation claim to be litigated in another venue or forum.

Comments/Discussion: The lesson in this case is that where there is an alleged valid choice of forum/choice of law clause in a contract that a defendant before conducting extensive discovery should file a petition or motion for a bifurcated hearing as to the enforceability of the choice of forum/choice of law clauses in the relevant contracts. It would be advisable of course, at a minimum, to take applicant's deposition. However, based on this decision, other extensive

discovery including medical discovery should not be undertaken since to do so would establish a basis for applicant to argue that any applicable *McKinley* defense has been waived.

From a strategy standpoint defendant should consider once the applicant's deposition has been taken and team records obtained that a motion/petition for a bifurcated hearing on the *McKinley* choice of forum/choice of law issue be filed in order to get an early determination as the applicability of the *McKinley* defense. If a WCJ refuses to set the matter for a bifurcated hearing on the *McKinley* defense, the options of course are removal/reconsideration.

Alternatively, if the WCJ refuses to grant the bifurcated hearing and orders the parties to obtain medicals and other relevant discovery, it could later be argued by defendant that there is no basis for waiver since at the earliest possible time they filed a motion/petition for a bifurcated hearing on this matter and therefore waiver was inapplicable.

<u>Smith v. New York Giants; Gulf Insurance</u> (2014) 2014 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 109 (WCAB panel decision)

Holding: WCJ in granting defendant's Petition for Reconsideration found the contractual choice of law/forum clauses valid based on the WCAB's en banc decision in <u>McKinley</u> reversing the WCJ's decision to not enforce the forum selection clause in the applicant's contract with the New York Giants.

Factual & Procedural Overview: This case involved two trials on the same issues. After the first trial, in which the WCJ found there was a basis for California subject matter jurisdiction and awarded 71% permanent disability, defendants filed a Petition for Reconsideration which was granted by the WCAB. The case was then remanded so the WCJ could consider the effect of the parties' forum selection clause in light of the recent WCAB en banc decision in *McKinley*. However, after the second trial, the WCJ once again found a basis for California subject matter jurisdiction finding the forum selection clauses in the Giant's contracts were not enforceable and awarded 71% permanent disability. Predictably defendants filed a second Petition for Reconsideration.

At the second trial there was no additional evidence presented. The WCJ, in finding the forum selection clause should not be enforced, in contravention of the holding in *McKinley*, found the applicant did not have strong ties with New Jersey and the New York Giants were incorporated in New York, but physically located in New Jersey. The WCJ also found the forum selection clause was not reasonably based on an alleged or purported waiver since the defendant engaged in pretrial discovery and utilized Agreed Medical Examiners who were asked to apply California law. The WCJ regarded this as a waiver and also that defendant would be estopped from asserting the validity of the contractual choice of forum clauses.

In reversing the WCJ, the WCAB engaged in an extensive discussion and analysis of its previous holding in *McKinley*. Under *McKinley*, a forum selection clause is presumed to be valid and enforceable unless the party challenging it meets a heavy and substantial burden of showing that the clause is unreasonable. In this case the Board indicated applicant presented no evidence that met that heavy and substantial burden. The Board noted the contract of employment in this case

was not made in California. Also, of the 49 or 50 games he played for the Giants, only one game was played in California. Moreover, both the Giants and the applicant had a significant connection to New Jersey contrary to the WCJ's view. The Giants' headquarters were located in East Rutherford, New Jersey where the team practiced and played half of its games. Moreover, based on a review of the evidence, the WCAB indicated applicant resided in New Jersey for at least some of the time he was employed by the Giants.

They characterized the applicant's connection to New Jersey as essentially the same as the applicant's connection to Arizona in *McKinley*. And as in *McKinley*, the forum state of New Jersey based on all of the factors has a materially greater interest than California in determining what, if any, workers' compensation benefits are due to the applicant.

The WCAB also indicated they were not persuaded the Giants waived enforcement of the forum selection clause merely because they participated in reasonable pre-trial discovery and the use of Agreed Medical Examiners. The Board noted the existence of the forum selection clause was timely raised by defendant on the Pre-Trial Conference Statement when it identified the issues for trial to include jurisdiction, choice of law and venue. The Board noted "it is when a party fails to raise an issue at the first hearing where it may properly be raised that it can be said that the issue was waived." Moreover, the Board found no basis for estoppel. There was no prejudice or surprise on applicant's behalf since he knew of the forum selection clause when he signed his employment contracts. Moreover, there was no showing that defendant performed any acts or made representations that justifiably induced the applicant to take no action.

In conclusion, applicant failed to show that forum selection clause was obtained by fraud or misrepresentation or that its enforcement would otherwise be unreasonable notwithstanding its presumptive validity. Applicant expressly and reasonably agreed with the Giants that any claim for workers' compensation would be made in New Jersey and adjudicated under New Jersey law. The fact the applicant desired to adjudicate his claim in California does not provide good reason for the WCAB to exercise jurisdiction in light of the limited connection between California and applicant's employment and the claimed cumulative trauma injury.

<u>Cleveland Browns v. WCAB (Saleh)</u> (2014) 79 Cal. Comp. Cases 941; 2014 Cal. Work. Comp. LEXIS 87 (writ denied)

Issue: Whether applicant was "regularly" employed in California pursuant to Labor Code §3600.5(a) and the jurisdictional impact of applicant having played for one team under an assumed contract that did not have Choice of Law/Choice of Forum clauses and playing under a later contract that did have Choice of Law/Choice of Forum clauses.

Holding: The WCAB granted reconsideration and remanded the case back to the WCJ to determine whether applicant was regularly employed in California given the fact applicant was claiming injury within the State of California and not outside the State of California. On remand the WCJ should also consider whether applicant playing under one contract that had a Choice of Law/Choice of Forum clauses encompassed his entire employment even under the period of an assumed contract that did not have such clauses.

Procedural & Factual Overview: Applicant played for the Panthers from May 15, 1997 to February 8, 1999, and for the Browns from February 9, 1999 to January 6, 2002. When applicant first came to the Browns on February 9, 1999, he played under his Panthers contract that was assumed by the Browns at least for the period of February 9, 1999 to March 1, 2000. The applicant's Panthers contract that was assumed by the Browns and under which he played from February 9, 1999 through March 1, 2000, did not contain Choice of Forum or Choice of Law provisions.

Applicant later signed a new contract with the Cleveland Browns from March 1, 2000 to February 28, 2001, and another contract from March 1, 2001 to February 28, 2002. These two contracts with the Browns had Choice of Law/Choice of Forum clauses/provisions.

Applicant never lived in California nor were any of his contracts formed in California. Applicant traveled to California two times and played in two games for the Browns. One game was in 1999, and that would have been during the period of time applicant was playing for the Browns under the assumed Panthers contract, which did not have Choice of Law/Choice of Forum clauses in it. He played in another game for the Browns in California in 2000. He testified he was injured in both games and the injuries involved his "whole body." He also testified he had medical treatment in California. He also practiced in California before both games.

The WCJ found applicant suffered a cumulative trauma injury from May 15, 1997 to January 6, 2002, while playing for the Panthers, and from February 9, 1999 to January 6, 2002, for the Browns. However, under Labor Code §5500.5 the judge found the Panthers had no liability. She found all liability under Labor Code §5500.5 was with the Cleveland Browns. The Cleveland Browns filed a Petition for Reconsideration raising among other things, the validity of the Choice of Law/Choice of Forum clauses in the Browns' contracts and also the Labor Code §3600.5(b) exemption.

The WCAB granted defendant's Petition for Reconsideration and remanded the case back to the WCJ to reconsider a number of issues. One issue related to the Board's opinion that it could see no legal basis to conclude, as contended by the Browns, that the forum selection clauses in the Browns contracts applied to applicant's entire period of employment with the Browns, from 1999 to 2001, especially when applicant had played for the Browns under the assumed Panthers contract, from February 9, 1999 to March 1, 2000, which had no Choice of Law/Choice of Forum clauses.

With respect to Labor Code §3600.5(a), the WCAB indicated that the WCJ on remand should refocus given the fact it appeared questionable as to whether or not applicant was "regularly employed" within California and he was really claiming injury during the two games he played in California and not outside California. The real issue is whether or not California would exercise jurisdiction over claims of cumulative trauma injury when only a portion of the injurious exposure causing cumulative injury allegedly occurred within California.

With respect to the Labor Code §3600.5(b) exemption, defendant appears to have met the first prong of the defense that applicant was only temporarily employed in California. However, since the WCJ at trial had properly excluded bits of documentary evidence, there was no evidence in the record indicating the Cleveland Browns' self-insurance covered applicant's employment in California, as required by Labor Code §3600.5(b) and detailed in the *Carroll* case.

<u>Vaughn v. Seattle Seahawks</u> 2014 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 732 (WCAB panel decision)

Issue: Whether a choice of law provision in applicant's contract combined with the lack of substantial medical evidence applicant suffered only a portion of his cumulative trauma injury in California provided the basis that California should not exercise subject matter jurisdiction over applicant's claim.

Holding: The combination of a valid choice of law provision in applicant's contract combined with the lack of substantial medical evidence to establish that a portion of applicant's cumulative trauma claim was suffered in California is a sufficient basis for California not to exercise subject matter jurisdiction over applicant's claim.

Factual & Procedural Overview: During the course of his NFL career, applicant played six games in California out of a total of 80 games. While employed by the New England Patriots in 1991, he played two games in California. While with defendant Seattle Seahawks from August 25, 1993 to November 23, 1994, he played four games in California. The applicant was subsequently traded to the Kansas City Chiefs in 1994, and also later played for the Pittsburgh Steelers. He then played for an NFL Europe team before leaving professional football in 1998.

Applicant was examined by three Agreed Medical Examiners in the fields of orthopedics, internal medicine, and neurology.

The WCJ found applicant suffered a cumulative trauma injury while employed by the Seattle Seahawks from August 25, 1993 to November 23, 1994, related to various body parts and conditions with 65% permanent disability. The WCJ also found the statute of limitations did not bar applicant's claim, and the WCAB had jurisdiction over applicant's claim despite a choice of law provision in applicant's employment contract with the Seattle Seahawks. Defendant filed a Petition for Reconsideration which was granted by the WCAB who rescinded the WCJ's Findings Award and Order. The WCAB found California should not exercise subject matter jurisdiction over applicant's claim.

The Medical Evidence: In reviewing the medical evidence, the WCAB noted the AMEs in neurology and internal medicine failed to discuss the cumulative nature of applicant's injury at all let alone whether his participation in four games in California for the Seattle Seahawks contributed to his alleged cumulative trauma injury. With respect to the AME in orthopedics, the WCAB noted the AME's opinion was ambiguous and opined only in general terms the applicant had suffered a cumulative trauma over his entire career as a Professional Football Player. However, the WCAB noted a physician's mere observation and conclusion that football was a physically demanding sport without more, is not substantial evidence of industrial injury in California. Moreover, the AME in orthopedics while discussing the general dangers in Professional Football, failed to explain the basis for his opinion concerning the effects of football on the particular individual in question. "This conclusory opinion did not provide substantial medical evidence of industrial injury in California."

The WCAB also noted that applicant's testimony also failed to provide substantial evidence be sustained and industrial injury in California. After applicant stopped working for the Seattle Seahawks in 1994, he continued to play Professional Football without restrictions until he retired in 1998 for a number of other teams.

The Choice of Law Provision and Applicant's Employment Contract with the Seattle Seahawks: Applicant's employment contract with the Seattle Seahawks contained a choice of law provision and not a choice of forum provision. It should be noted the applicant never resided in California, nor was he represented by a California agent, and never signed any employment contracts in California. In a split panel decision, the WCAB focused on the lack of substantial medical evidence to establish applicant suffered an injury in California and under the Johnson case, California therefore did not have a sufficient connection to the matter in order to exercise California subject matter jurisdiction. The WCAB majority did not specifically address the distinction between a choice of law provision, as opposed to a choice of forum provision in the applicant's contract. However, in a dissent by Commissioner Sweeny, she noted that the instant case, unlike McKinley, involved an ambiguous choice of law agreement which should be distinguished from a valid choice of forum agreement as found by the WCAB in McKinley. Based on this distinction she would have found a basis for California to exercise subject matter jurisdiction noting that "in this case, however, applicant's contract did not contain a choice of forum clause, it contained only an ambiguous choice of law provision". She noted that "a choice of law agreement is not necessarily identical to a choice of forum agreement, even in the context of workers' compensation, where most states apply their own workers' compensation laws exclusively."

<u>Williams v. Jacksonville Jaguars</u> 2013 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 88 (WCAB panel decision) (Post-<u>McKinley</u>)

Holding: With respect to determining potential liability under Labor Code section 5500.5, contracts with a valid choice of forum clause/provision impacting on jurisdiction must be analyzed to determine if they fall within a defendant's period of liability pursuant to Labor Code section 5500.5(b).

Case Summary: The WCJ in a Findings & Order found applicant suffered a cumulative trauma injury for the period of January 1, 2001, through December 5, 2009, to various body parts and conditions. However, the WCJ found the contracts between the applicant and the Jacksonville Jaguars for the three-year period from 2008 to 2011, included forum selection clauses that were determined to be reasonable and enforceable and therefore the WCJ declined to exercise jurisdiction.

Applicant filed a Petition for Reconsideration arguing the WCJ applied the forum non conveniens doctrine and also that all of the applicant's contracts for the entire CT period did not contain choice of forum/choice of law clauses for all of his employment, but only for the three-year period of 2008 to 2011.

The parties stipulated at Trial that while the applicant played for the Jacksonville Jaguars he was always a resident of Florida and never a resident of the State of California. There was also a

stipulation there was no California agent involved and he did not sign his contracts within the State of California. Applicant practiced in one game in San Francisco in 2009 but did not play in the game. He did not play any games in California from 2005 to 2009 and played two games in California in 2004.

The employment contracts he signed with the Jacksonville Jaguars for the three years between 2008 and 2011 had a specific addendum indicating "the exclusive jurisdiction for resolving injury related claims shall be the Division of Workers' Compensation of Florida, and in the case of a Workers' Compensation claim the Florida Workers' Compensation Act shall govern." On reconsideration the WCAB acknowledged that "on occasion" it has exercised jurisdiction over cumulative injury claims when a portion of the injurious exposure occurred in California. Applicant's counsel relied on *Injured Workers' Ins. Fund of Maryland v. WCAB (Crosby)* (2001) 66 Cal. Comp. Cases 923 (writ denied). However, the WCAB pointed out that *Crosby* did not involve a contractual choice of forum provision or provisions.

The WCAB also noted that:

The Appeals Board will decline to exercise jurisdiction over a claim of cumulative industrial injury when there is a reasonable mandatory forum selection clause in the employment contract specifying that claims for workers' compensation shall be filed in a forum other than California, and there is limited connection to California with regard to the employment and the claimed cumulative injury. (citing *McKinley v. Arizona Cardinals* (2013) 78 Cal. Comp. Cases 23, 24) (Appeals Board en banc)

The WCAB then provided a general discussion and analysis that in general forum selection clauses are presumed valid unless the party challenging the validity of the forum selection clause is able to prove a number of factors as outlined by the WCAB in its *McKinley* en banc decision relying on the *Bremen* case.

The WCAB found no evidence of fraud or overreaching and more importantly in terms of whether the contractual forum would be gravely difficult and inconvenient for the party challenging the forum selection clause the Board stated:

On the contrary, it appears from applicant's petition that he filed in California because California's laws were more favorable to his claim, particularly the statute of limitations. But "[a]pplicant's desire to adjudicate his claim under California law does not provide good reason for the WCAB to exercise jurisdiction" when "there was limited connection with California with regard to his employment and claimed cumulative injury, and he expressly and reasonably agreed" to bring workers' compensation claims elsewhere.

With respect to applicant's forum non conveniens argument the WCAB indicated the WCJ was not using a forum non conveniens analysis but rather a straight jurisdictional argument based on forum selection clauses. With respect to the forum non conveniens argument the Board stated:

Florida's statute of limitations would be relevant to an analysis under the doctrine of forum non conveniens, but "[t]he factors that apply generally to a forum non conveniens motion

do not control in a case involving a mandatory forum selection clause." (Berg v. MTC Electronics Technologies Co., Ltd. (1970) 61 Cal. App. 4th 349, 358)

The WCAB also acknowledged that while there was an eight-year cumulative trauma period and in only three of those eight years the applicant signed contracts with forum selection clauses under Labor Code section 5500.5(b) the contracts in question with the forum selection clauses fell under and in defendant's period of liability and therefore were covered by the contracts containing the forum selection clauses resulting in no California WCAB jurisdiction over the Jaguars.

<u>Knight v. New Orleans Saints</u> 2013 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 58 (WCAB panel decision)) (Post-<u>McKinley</u>)

Case Summary: By way of a Findings and Order, the WCJ found a cumulative trauma injury from December 4, 2001, through August 25, 2005, causing 78% permanent disability and need for further medical care and treatment. Parts of body, date of injury and permanent disability were stipulated to by the parties. The primary issue was the validity of the choice of forum/law clauses in the applicant's multiple employment contracts with the New Orleans Saints. For a variety of reasons based on the WCAB's *en banc* decision in McKinley, the judge ordered applicant take nothing finding the choice of forum/law clauses in applicant's contracts to be valid and enforceable.

Discussion: Applicant was employed by the New Orleans Saints from September 6, 2001, through August 26, 2005. During this period of time, he signed five one-year contracts. All of the contracts contained the clause that with respect to any workers' compensation claim dispute or injury the workers' compensation laws of Louisiana would apply and any action would be brought and determined exclusively with the Louisiana courts.

During his employment with the Saints, applicant was never a resident of California. Also, the parties stipulated applicant never signed or accepted any of his NFL employment contracts in California and was never represented by a California agent during his employment with the New Orleans Saints.

However, the parties also stipulated applicant played two games in California during his five years of employment with the New Orleans Saints. One of the games applicant played in California was on November 7, 2004, after which applicant had his knee drained. There was also a stipulation applicant sustained a knee injury before November 7, 2004, on August 7, 2004, and again another knee injury on December 12, 2004, and had knee surgery at the end of the season. It is important to note applicant never made a claim for a specific injury in California.

The WCAB basically ran these facts through the *McKinley* analysis. The Board indicated that while the WCAB has in the past in certain cases exercised jurisdiction over cumulative injury claims where a portion of the injurious exposure occurred in California, many of those cases did not involve or deal with choice of law/forum clauses in the employment contract. Where there is a reasonable mandatory forum selection clause, the Board may decline to exercise jurisdiction over a cumulative trauma injury. This is especially true when there is a limited connection to California with regard to employment and the claimed cumulative injury. The Board noted a party challenging the validity of a mandatory selection clause has the burden of showing the clause is

unreasonable. They noted that applicant, a non-resident who was hired outside of California, had a very limited connection to California by virtue of two games played in the state while employed by the Saints. The Board noted that choice of forum/law clauses are presumed valid unless the challenging party can establish the clause was unreasonable basically pointing to four factors as follows:

(1) the clause was the product of 'fraud or overreaching,' (2) 'enforcement would be unreasonable and unjust,' (3) proceeding 'in the contractual forum will be so gravely difficult and inconvenient that [the party challenging the clause] will for all practical purposes be deprived of his day in court,' and (4) 'enforcement would contravene a strong public policy of the forum in which suit is brought, whether declared by statute or by judicial decision.'

The Board noted there was absolutely no evidence of fraud or overreaching in this case since the applicant was represented by his agent during each contract year. Also, it would be neither unreasonable or unjust to enforce an agreement between an athlete and a sports team in which both selected as the forum for workers' compensation litigation the state where the team (employer) was located and where the applicant/player resided when he began his employment and for several years thereafter. On an interesting note, the WCAB indicated nothing in the record demonstrated applicant by proceeding in the selected state, Louisiana, would be "gravely difficult". It pointed out the reason he voluntarily chose or designated to file his workers' compensation claim in California was that California laws were more favorable to his claim particularly the statute of limitations. California was not a last recourse but a reasoned selection by applicant and applicant's California attorney. "Applicant's desire to adjudicate his claim under California law does not provide good reason for the WCAB to exercise jurisdiction" when "there was limited connection with California with regard to his employment and claimed cumulative injury, and he expressly and reasonably agreed to bring workers' compensation claims elsewhere.

In an interesting footnote with respect to a discussion of the statute of limitations and its relevancy as to whether or not applicant's remedy in Louisiana may be precluded, the Board noted that "although the statute of limitations might be relevant to an analysis under the doctrine of forum non conveniens, "[t]he factors that apply generally to a forum non conveniens motion do not control a case involving a mandatory forum selection clause." (*Berg v. MTC Electronics Technologies Co., Ltd* (1970) 61 Cal. App. 4th 349, 358.)

The Board in discussing the statute of limitations and also *Alaska Packers* in dealing with the public policy argument raised by applicant pursuant to Labor Code section 5000, noted that unlike the injured worker in *Alaska Packers*, the professional athlete in this case made a reasoned and calculated decision by voluntarily choosing and selecting California to file his workers' compensation claim when he had every right to avail himself of workers' compensation benefits in Louisiana.

Applicant's counsel cited the *Crosby* case at 66 Cal. Comp. Cases 932 (writ denied), a 2001 case for the argument or proposition that all that is necessary for California to validly assert subject matter jurisdiction is the applicant play a single game in California. First, the WCAB indicated that *Crosby* was not binding authority since it was a writ denied case, and more importantly was distinguishable. *Crosby* did not involve a contractual choice of law provision. The Board also

noted they could consider the validity and enforcement of the forum selection clauses without reaching the question of whether there was jurisdiction to decide the case.

<u>Kenlaw v. Houston Comets</u> (2013) 78 Cal.Comp.Cases 1153; 2013 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 147 (writ denied)

Holding: Where there is no contractual choice of law/forum clause in the applicant's contract and if there is substantial medical evidence that a portion of the applicant's cumulative trauma injury was sustained in California, there is a basis for California subject matter jurisdiction.

Factual and Procedural Background: Following trial, the WCJ determined the applicant, a coach with the Houston Comets, suffered a cumulative trauma injury to multiple body parts over the period of January 1, 1978, to July 1, 2008. Defendant filed a Petition for Reconsideration arguing there was no valid basis for California subject matter jurisdiction since mere injurious exposure in California is insufficient to invoke California jurisdiction. Defendant also argued there were additional grounds to deny California subject matter jurisdiction, including applicant was not a resident of California and was employed by a Texas employer under a contract entered into outside of California and her injury did not occur in California. The WCAB denied defendant's Petition for Reconsideration and adopted and incorporated the WCJ's Report on Reconsideration.

Facts: The parties agreed to use an AME in orthopedics who opined that applicant's coaching activities, including the time she worked for the Houston Comets, contributed to her cumulative trauma injury. Applicant was employed by the Houston Comets for approximately six months from April 1, 2007, to October 1, 2007. During that period of time, in her capacity as an assistant coach, she came to California on three occasions with the Comets, both coaching and practicing during those three games on June 13, 2007, June 16, 2007, and August 19, 2007. Applicant testified, and it appears it was undisputed, that part of her coaching duties while in California involved body to body contact and other arduous activities.

It was also undisputed applicant's contract or contracts with the Houston Comets did not include a choice of law/forum provision as was found by the WCAB in the *McKinley* case.

Both the WCJ and WCAB indicated there was no issue with respect to an exemption from California jurisdiction under Labor Code section 3600.5(b) and therefore the issue came under Labor Code section 3600.5(a) in which the WCAB's jurisdiction extends to injuries sustained in California by employees hired outside of the state but temporarily within California doing work for the employer. Defendant's primary argument was that applicant's work-related activities in California were de minimis and therefore did not constitute injurious exposure or injury AOE/COE. However, the AME's opinion in orthopedics indicated otherwise.

Practice Pointer: Given the AME's opinion that a portion of applicant's cumulative trauma injury was suffered in California, supported the WCJ's and WCAB's finding her work activities in California were a contributing cause of her overall industrial cumulative trauma injury. In the absence of a valid contractual choice of law/forum provision it appears this case follows a long line of cases indicating that so long as there is substantial medical evidence indicating a portion of

applicant's cumulative trauma injury was suffered in California, there is a valid basis for the WCAB to exercise California subject matter jurisdiction.

<u>Jackson v. Denver Broncos and Cleveland Browns</u> 2013 Cal. Wrk. Comp. LEXIS 427 (WCAB panel decision)

Issues: 1.) Alleged denial of opportunity to cross examine applicant; 2.) Whether a defendant waived their objection to California Jurisdiction even when there were contractual choice of law/forum previsions in applicant's contract by filing an application on behalf of applicant against a co-defendant.

Procedural and Factual Background: Following Trial, the WCJ found applicant suffered a cumulative trauma injury while employed by the Cleveland Browns to multiple body parts and conditions resulting in 83% Permanent Disability. However, in a companion case involving a different CT date against the Broncos, the WCJ dismissed the Broncos. The companion case against the Broncos arose when the Cleveland Browns filed an Application on behalf of applicant against the Broncos.

The Browns filed a Petition for Reconsideration alleging they were not allowed to finish cross examining the applicant and also an issue of liability under Labor Code §5500.5. The Browns alleged the §5500.5 liability should be against the Broncos and they also argued there was no California Jurisdiction and a 2008 settlement against the Broncos barred applicant's claim against the Browns.

Applicant was a non-California resident and never signed any of his contracts in California but did have a California based agent. Applicant filed a CT application against the Browns. Initially the Browns attempted to join the Broncos as a co-defendant, but their Petition for Joinder was denied. Alternatively, the Browns strategically filed an Application of behalf of applicant against the Broncos alleging a different CT. This was assigned a different case number.

Applicant while playing for the Browns (the terminal employer), traveled to California one time on September 21, 2013, as a member of the practice team and played a contact game against his own teammates. The contract applicant signed with the Browns contained a choice of law/forum prevision.

While applicant was playing for the Broncos from September 2, 2005 to September 1, 2006 he came to California on December 31, 2005, for a game but did not practice or play in the game. His contract with the Broncos also had choice of law/forum previsions.

Applicant settled a specific 2006 injury he suffered while playing for the Broncos in 2008. With respect to the contract of employment with both the Browns and the Broncos, applicant testified his California based agent negotiated the contracts with both teams and he authorized his agent to accept and bind him to the contracts even though he actually signed the contracts outside of California.

Cross Examination Issue: The WCJ during trial on September 26, 2011, advised the parties that she was unavailable for the afternoon trial session. Initially it appeared the parties agreed to have the afternoon trial session before a different judge. However, once they appeared before the other WCJ, there was a dispute, and the afternoon trial session did not take place. The trial was continued to November 14, 2011. Applicant did not appear for trial and the case was submitted over defendant's objection since they did not complete cross examination of the applicant.

On reconsideration the WCAB found there was a denial of due process related to defendants not being able to finish cross examining the applicant. On this basis alone, the WCAB rescinded the Findings and Award and returned the matter for further proceedings.

The Jurisdiction Issue: The WCAB on remand indicated the WCJ must determine whether applicant was hired in California based on his California based agent accepting the contracts on applicant's behalf. If applicant was not hired in California then the *McKinley* jurisdictional issue related to the effect of the contract choice of law/forum clauses in applicant's contracts must be determined.

However, the WCAB noted the choice of law/forum clauses alone do not deprive the WCAB of jurisdiction but rather the WCAB may decline to exercise jurisdiction in certain limited circumstances. Moreover, the WCAB indicated the Browns may have waived and also possibly stopped to contest California subject matter jurisdiction on the basis they filed an Application on behalf of the applicant against the Denver Broncos therefore invoking California Jurisdiction.

1.6 Jurisdictional Constitutional Due Process Issues

<u>Robinson v. Chicago Bears, Minnesota Vikings and Baltimore Ravens et al.,</u> 2023 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 33 (WCAB panel decision)

Issues and Holding: Whether there was a sufficient connection between applicant's injuries and California to permit California to exercise jurisdiction over applicant's claim in order to comport with due process. Both the WCJ and the WCAB found that based on the standards articulated in *Federal Insurance Co. v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd. (Johnson)* (2013) 221 Cal.App.4th 1116, applicant's injuries lacked a sufficient connection to California to support the exercise of California WCAB jurisdiction over applicant's workers' compensation claim in terms of due process.

Factual & Procedural Overview: Applicant a professional football player filed a CT claim for the period of 4/15/97-12/31/06 while playing for three different NFL teams the Chicago Bears, Baltimore Ravens and Minnesota Vikings. None of applicant's employment contracts were signed or formed in California. Applicant testified at trial that he suffered several specific injuries or medical treatment while working in California for all three teams. He testified regarding a game he played in California in 1999 while playing for the Bears against the Oakland Raiders where he claimed sustained a cervical strain. He also alleged that he played in a game in San Diego for the Bears on 11/21/99, where he injured his elbow and received treatment in the form of a Toradol injection and ice.

While playing for the Ravens on 9/21/03 in California the applicant alleged he received a Vioxx injection before the game for wear and tear all over his body but specifically for knee pain related to a torn ACL he suffered two years previously. He also played against the Raiders in December of 2003, but there was no testimony that he suffered any injuries or received medical treatment in connection with that game or practices related to that game. He could not recall playing in a game in San Francisco in 2006 while playing for the Vikings and may have been deactivated on the day of the game and that is why he did not play.

"Under cross-examination, applicant generally agreed that the conditions of his employment while in California and the medical treatment he sustained for injuries during that time were similar to the conditions and treatment he received while employed outside California."

The WCJ's Finding & Order: The WCJ's F&O which issued back on 10/11/18 found that California did not have a legitimate and substantial interest in applicant's workers' compensation claim. The basis for the decision was that of the 146 games applicant played in his career, his CT injury or injuries stemmed from exposure during the entirety of his career and that "there was a "minimal" connection between these injuries and the state of California."

The WCAB's Decision: With respect to the due process issue the WCAB indicated that the question of "(w)hether there is a significant connection or nexus to the State of California is best described as an issue of due process, though it has also been referred to as a question of subject-matter jurisdiction. (*New York Knickerbockers v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd. (Macklin)* (2015) 240 Cal.App.4th 1229, 1238; *Johnson, supra*, 221 Cal.App.4th at 1128.)."

Given the fact that applicant never signed or formed any of employment contracts in California nor was he regularly employed in California during his professional career, "whether the claim may be heard in the California workers' compensation system is generally determined by assessing the degree to which the claimed injuries relate to activities undertaken in this state. (*Johnson, supra*, 221 Cal.App.4th at 1128; *Macklin*, 240 Cal.App.4th at 1239.)."

The WCAB summarized applicant's games in California as having "played four games in California during the course of his professional career, and also testified to participating in practices during his fifth trip to California, though he did not actually play in that game." In applying the *Johnson* due process analysis to the facts of this case the Board stated:

Applicant does not appear to contest the WCJ's finding that he played in at least 146 games across his career, each with their own associated practices.3 Therefore, even viewing matters in the light most favorable to applicant, it appears that his total California exposure amounts to at best approximately 3% of his total playing career – almost exactly the same percentage as in *Johnson*, where one game out of 34 also represented roughly 3% of the injury exposure the *Johnson* Court considered.

Applicant's Attempt to Distinguish Johnson: On Reconsideration, applicant tried to distinguish Johnson by emphasizing that he could trace specific instances of of injuries he allegedly suffered in California combined with the medical treatment he received in California. While the Board indicated they "theoretically" agreed with applicant that if there was medical evidence that an applicant's CT injury was "particularly traceable to California exposure could possibly serve to establish a sufficient connection between the applicant's injuries and this state, even if such exposure was otherwise a small portion of an injured employee's cumulative trauma injury period." The WCAB indicated that this would require an applicant to "show that their California work was uniquely damaging to their body and was responsible for a much larger percentage of their cumulative trauma injury than the percentage of time spent in California would otherwise suggest, this might well create a relationship between the injury and this state sufficient to support the application of California workers' compensation law to the claim."

In rejecting applicant's attempt to distinguish *Johnson* the Board stated based on a "quantitative/qualitative" analysis that:

To be sure, applicant did introduce evidence showing that applicant sustained injuries and received medical treatment while in this state. However, the thrust of applicant's testimony was that his job duties in California, and therefore the resulting injuries and medical treatment, were of the same kind as what he experienced in the remainder of his job. Far from showing that his cumulative trauma injury is particularly traceable to his work in California, applicant's testimony illustrates the opposite. In other words, applicant's testimony and the medical records introduced at trial show that it is in fact reasonable to infer that the percentage of applicant's games and practices played in California roughly corresponds to the degree to which his injury was caused by California-based exposure – somewhere in the region of 3%.

See also, Stallworth (Dec'd) v. Washington Capitols et. al., 2024 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 240. With respect to the Johnson due process issue, applicant's counsel argued that there was subject

matter jurisdiction over applicant's claim alleging that applicant played in two games in California during which he sustained two heart attacks. However, aside from applicant's uncorroborated testimony, newspaper articles from the 1960s and an autobiographical book by applicant, there was no substantial medical evidence that the heart attack events actually occurred. The reporting internist in the case also indicated that there was "no medical evidence to support applicant had suffered any heart attacks as alleged. As a consequence the WCJ and the Board engaged in the quantitative/qualitative analysis under Johnson to determine the connection between applicant's claimed injury and California. Applying this analysis the Board concluded that they agreed "with the WCJ's analysis and conclusion that the evidentiary record does not establish, to a preponderance of the evidence, that the games applicant played in California were sufficient, under either a quantitative or qualitative analysis, to support the exercise of California's subject matter jurisdiction over the claimed injury. (Johnson, supra, 221 Cal.App.4th at p. 1129.). Of the 522 games applicant played in over the course of his career, only 39 or 7.47% were played in California and there was nothing to indicate that the California injurious exposure allegedly suffered by applicant in California "was of a greater nature than that experienced elsewhere." Thus, from a due process standpoint "the evidentiary record does not establish sufficient contacts between California and the claimed injury to justify the exercise of subject matter jurisdiction over the claimed injury."

The WCAB's Distinguished the issue of Jurisdiction from Due Process: The WCAB modified the WCJ's Findings & Order in one critical area by modifying one of the WCJ's findings of fact to eliminate any confusion that the Johnson holding was synonymous with a lack of jurisdiction by stating that:

Although we agree with the WCJ's conclusion that applicant's injuries lack sufficient connection to this state to support the *exercise* of jurisdiction, we do not agree with Finding of Fact 5, wherein the WCJ found that "there is a lack of California jurisdiction." The *Johnson* line of case fundamentally deal not with the presence or absence of jurisdiction per se, but rather with whether the exercise of that jurisdiction comports with due process. Here, although there is statutory California jurisdiction over applicant's claim, the exercise of that jurisdiction would violate due process. Accordingly, we will amend the F&O to modify Finding of Fact 5 to reflect this distinction.

<u>Smith v. Detroit Lions</u>, 2022 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 368 (WCAB panel decision); <u>IMPORTANT Caution-Caveat</u>; this case (Smith I) superseded by subsequent WCAB panel decision in *Smith v. Detroit Lions*, *San Francisco 49ers et al.*, (*Smith II*), 2024 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. Lexis_____(WCAB panel decision 11/5/24)(WCAB rescinds its prior Decision after Reconsideration of 11/18/22 (summary below) as well as the WCJ's F&A of 3/20/20 and returns the matter to the trial level for further development of the record and a new decision by the WCJ.).

Issues: Whether in a case where there is a basis for California WCAB subject matter jurisdiction over an entire cumulative trauma claim in a multi-defendant case, can one or more of the multiple

defendants avail themselves of a *Johnson* due process insufficient nexus to applicants claim to avoid potential liability under LC 5500.5. Also, whether there can be valid LC section 4663/4664 apportionment of permanent disability among multiple defendants where there is only one cumulative trauma injury as opposed to multiple and successive injuries.

Factual & Procedural Overview: Applicant a professional football player filed one cumulative trauma injury during the period of July 21, 2000 through April 1, 2008. During the alleged cumulative trauma injury period, applicant was employed by four different NFL teams. He was initially employed by the San Francisco 49ers from 7/21/00-9/10/03 and then the Detroit Lions from 11/12/03 through 3/1/06. He was employed by the St. Louis Rams from 5/15/06-2/20/07 and finally by the Denver Broncos from 3/5/07-4/1/08. During the time he played for the 49ers they were insured by Fairmont Premier Insurance Co., from 8/1/97-2/28/02 and by Travelers from 3/1/02 to 9/5/03. Early on in the litigation the Broncos were dismissed from the case without prejudice based on an arbitration decision regarding the Broncos' employment contract containing a choice of forum provision. This issue was further clarified at trial in that the Broncos were dismissed without prejudice due to applicant's request.

The WCJ's Decision: The WCJ issued a Findings and Award on 3/20/20. In part she found while the applicant was employed by the 49ers, Lions, and St. Louis Rams he suffered a CT injury during the period of 7/21/20 through 4/1/08 to various orthopedic body parts but not to his internal or neurological systems and causing the need for future medical treatment. In terms of permanent disability, applicant was awarded 57% PD after apportionment based on a formula or methodology involving the respective liability of each team. The WCJ found that there was both personal and subject matter jurisdiction over applicant's claim with respect to all the teams he played for. However, the WCJ determined there were insufficient contacts to exercise jurisdiction over the St. Louis Rams and Detroit Lions and that the Broncos "are not a necessary party to the matter."

Both applicant and the two carriers for the 49ers filed Petitions for Reconsideration. On reconsideration, applicant argued that applicant should have been given an unapportioned award of 75% PD based on a lack of substantial medical evidence.

Defendant Travelers argued that there was subject matter jurisdiction over all of the employers and that liability should be found against employers in the last year of injurious exposure based on LC 5500.5 and that liability rests solely with the St. Louis Rams and their carrier. The other carrier for the 49ers, Fairmont argued that the Broncos must be joined as a necessary party and that the Broncos are the correct employer against whom liability should be imposed pursuant to LC 5500.5 and that the 49ers have no liability under LC 5500.5.

The WCAB's Decision

1. Subject Matter Jurisdiction and Johnson Due Process Issues: The WCAB acknowledged there was an inconsistency and contradiction in the WCJ's decision related to the WCJ finding that there was California WCAB subject matter jurisdiction over the applicant's entire CT claim while at the same time finding that based on the *Johnson* decision for two of the out of state teams there were insufficient contacts with California from a due process standpoint and therefore the WCJ declined to apply California Workers' Compensation law against the Lions and the St. Louis Rams. In that regard the Board stated:

The WCJ's finding that there is *subject matter jurisdiction* over all teams only appears to be confusing in relation to her findings that "there are insufficient contacts to exercise *jurisdiction* over the St. Louis Rams and Detroit Lions" and "the [Denver] Broncos are not a *necessary party*." That is, there is a salient distinction between the issue of having subject matter jurisdiction and the issue of whether the WCAB should exercise it. According to our understanding of *Johnson*, the Court defined the ostensibly jurisdictional issues before it as "whether one or more state compensation laws *apply* and whether...California *may provide a forum* for the claim." (*Johnson, supra, 221 Cal.App.4th at 1122*, italics added.) The Court went on to explain that the test is whether California "lacks a sufficient relationship with [the injured employee's] injuries, to require the petitioner—the employer—to defend the case here would be a denial of due process such that the courts of this state do not have authority to act. This *might be* referred to as a lack of subject matter jurisdiction." (Id. at 1128, italics added.)

In attempting to reconcile the acknowledged inherent confusing language in the WCJ's decision, the WCAB relied upon the following analysis of the facts and what they understood to be the correct application (see editor's comments below on this issue) of the *Johnson* decision:

In this case, the WCJ correctly applied *Johnson* to the facts before her, noting in her Opinion on Decision (p. 2) that applicant's contracts with the St. Louis Rams and Detroit Lions were not formed in California, and that applicant only played about three games for the Rams and one game for the Lions in California. As for the Denver Broncos, the only connection to California raised by Fairmont is that applicant played two games for the Broncos in California, in December 2007. Accordingly, we agree with the WCJ's analysis, as set forth on page four of her Report, that California does not have sufficient contacts or interest to apply California workers' compensation law against teams other than the San Francisco 49ers. The WCJ properly considered the factors of where the contracts were formed, the number of games played by applicant in California while employed by the outof-state teams, applicant having remedies for his injuries outside California, and applicant receiving apparently limited treatment in this state. As to Travelers and Fairmont, we conclude the WCJ properly followed Johnson in determining that for the out-of-state teams "there were minimal if any contacts with California," and in declining to apply California's workers' compensation law against those teams.

2. The "Roll Back" of Liability Under LC 5500.5 to the SF 49ers: Based on the chronology of which teams employed the applicant during the CT claim period, the 49ers were the first employer and not within the last year of injurious exposure. As a consequence, liability under LC 5500.5 had to be "rolled back" to the first team in applicant's CT claim period over which California could properly exercise jurisdiction. In that regard, the WCAB stated:

In addition, we note the weight of cases suggests that where California declines to apply its workers' compensation law against out-of-state teams, liability does "roll back" to the first team over which California elects to exercise jurisdiction. (*Allen v. Minn. Vikings* (2018) 2018 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 543; *Langdon v. N.J. Devils* (2017) 82 Cal.Comp.Cases 928 (writ den.), citing *Milwaukee Bucks v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd. (Mason)* (2013) 78 Cal.Comp.Cases 1173 (writ den.)

and Toronto Raptors v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd. (Foster) (2013) 78 Cal.Comp.Cases 1188 (writ den.); Tampa Bay Buccaneers v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd. (Harper) (2014) 79 Cal.Comp.Cases 595 (writ den.), citing Portland Trailblazers v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd. (Whatley) (2007) 72 Cal.Comp.Cases 154 (writ den.); Washington Wizards v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd. (Roundfield) (2006) 71 Cal.Comp.Cases 897 (writ den.); San Francisco 49ers v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd. (1996) 61 Cal.Comp.Cases 301 (writ den.), citing Employers Mutual Liability Insurance Company v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd. (Patterson) 52 Cal.Comp.Cases 284 (writ den.).

3. **The LC 4663/4664 Apportionment Issue:** While affirming the WCJ's decision in part related to the subject matter jurisdiction issue and liability under LC 5500.5, the WCAB amended the WCJ's decision with respect to her awarding applicant 57% PD after apportionment based on LC 4663 and 4664. The WCAB amended the PD award to applicant to reflect an unapportioned award of 75% PD.

The reason the WCAB awarded the applicant an unapportioned award of 75% PD was that they held that "Labor Code sections 4663 and 4664 pertain to apportionment between pathologies and injuries; they do not authorize apportionment of liability within a single cumulative trauma per Labor Code section 5500.5."

Editor's Comments: In the Editor's opinion with respect to the panel's interpretation and application of the *Johnson* decision in this case it is an outlier and inconsistent with many other panel decisions as well as both the *Johnson* and *Macklin* line of cases in the sense that it erroneously interprets and applies the holding of *Johnson* by reading *Johnson* as a quasi-personal jurisdiction case dealing with personal jurisdiction over the defendants in a CT Claim itself as applied to California subject matter jurisdiction over the claim which in this case is applicant's cumulative trauma claim.

In that regard the recent case of *Hale v. Buffalo Bills*, 2022 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 310 (WCAB panel decision), also summarized in this outline reflects the correct interpretation of both the *Johnson* and *Macklin* line of cases. In *Hale*, applicant's two employment contracts were formed in California and in terms of WCAB jurisdiction over applicant's CT claim a sufficient connection standing alone in terms of due process for California to exercise subject matter jurisdiction over the applicant's entire CT claim.

One of the multiple defendant/teams in *Hale* tried to argue the WCAB did not have subject matter jurisdiction over the claim. The panel was careful to point out that even if applicant's employment with that particular team was not formed in California the undisputed fact that one of applicant's employment contracts with a different team was formed in California provides a sufficient connection to California standing alone for the WCAB to exercise subject matter jurisdiction over the applicant entire CT claim. The WCAB in the *Hale* case was careful to explain that subject matter jurisdiction does not apply to specific defendants in a CT claim but to the claim itself! In that sense subject matter jurisdiction is derivative.

In terms of subject matter jurisdiction, in the instant case it is unclear based on the WCAB's Decision or the WCJ's Report on Reconsideration, whether applicant's employment contract or contracts with the 49ers were formed in California. If one or more of the applicant's employment

contracts with the 49ers was formed in California that would in and of itself be a sufficient connection to California in terms of due process for California to exercise subject matter jurisdiction over applicant's entire CT claim. Even if applicant's contract with the 49ers was not formed in California, the fact that he played and practiced for the 49ers for 3 years with related injurious exposure would also provide an independent basis for the WCAB to exercise subject matter jurisdiction over applicant' entire CT claim including the periods he was employed by other teams within the CT period.

A close reading of *Johnson* reflects that the due process analysis by the Court of Appeal in that case does not relate to jurisdiction over the parties to the CT claim but rather whether California has a sufficient interest in terms of due process to exercise subject matter jurisdiction as to the claim itself. It should also be stressed that unlike personal jurisdiction, subject matter jurisdiction cannot be waived except in very rare circumstances.

In contrast, personal jurisdiction, which is not derivative, focuses on whether the forum can exercise jurisdiction over a party to to the claim and unlike subject matter jurisdiction, it is not derivative and must be established against each defendant in a multiple defendant/employer case such as the instant case. It is easily waived by making a general appearance or not raising it in a timely and procedurally correct manner. In the instant case, both the Lions and the St. Louis Rams could have raised a lack of either general or specific personal jurisdiction in this case but the WCAB's decision is silent as to whether this was ever an issue and more importantly whether it was timely raised or waived.

If there was an issue related to an alleged lack of personal jurisdiction over either the Lions or Rams that issue could have been bifurcated for trial early in the case and if established would have potentially "trumped" and negated the WCAB's subject matter jurisdiction over these two out of state teams.

In conclusion, the *Johnson* holding deals with due process and subject matter jurisdiction over a CT claim and its due process analysis must be carefully and properly applied only in that context. *Johnson* should not be used as a substantively and procedurally improper legal theory not applicable to the distinct and separate issue of whether the WCAB may or may not have personal jurisdiction over a party to a claim as opposed to subject matter jurisdiction over the claim itself which in this instance is a CT claim involving multiple employers.

<u>Federal Insurance Company v. WCAB (Johnson)</u> (2013) 221 Cal. App. 4th 1116, 78 Cal. Comp. Cases 1257

Issues: Whether California based on a constitutional due process analysis has the power to adjudicate applicant's claim and whether California has a sufficient interest in the matter to apply California workers' compensation law in order to retain jurisdiction over the case.

Factual and Procedural Background: Applicant Adrienne Johnson was a professional basketball player who played for a number of years in the WNBA. The last team she played for was the Connecticut Sun. During her last full professional basketball season, she played one game in California on July 20, 2013 out of a total of 34 games played in the 2003 season. Applicant was

never employed by a California team. She never resided in California, nor did she have a California based agent. She did not suffer a specific injury in California. The last employment contract she entered into with the Connecticut Sun was signed in New Jersey. Thus, Applicant's only contact with California was one game she played in Los Angeles on July 20, 2003.

Applicant also had a history of significant injuries. She had a 1999 right knee injury which resulted in right knee surgery in the year 2000. In May of 2001 she had an Achilles tendon injury and missed the entire 2001 season. In 2003 she reinjured her right knee. She also had knee surgery in 2004 and did not play at all in the 2004 season.

Prior to filing her workers' compensation cumulative trauma claim in California, applicant filed a workers' compensation claim in Connecticut in 2003 for an injury to her right knee which was resolved by a settlement for \$30,000.00.

Trial Level Proceedings: Following trial the WCJ found applicant suffered a cumulative trauma injury from August 1, 1997 to August 7, 2003 to various orthopedic body parts and other systems resulting in 59% permanent disability without apportionment. Defendant filed a Petition for Reconsideration raising a number of issues including the lack of subject matter jurisdiction and apportionment. The WCAB granted defendant's petition for reconsideration and rescinded the Award and returned the matter to the WCJ for further proceedings related to the apportionment issue, but not on the issue of California subject matter jurisdiction.

While on remand, defendant filed a Petition for Writ of Review even though there was no final order. The Court of Appeal noted that generally review may be sought only from a final order. However, there are certain critical threshold issues which are reviewable by way of Writ of Review before any final order issues. The territorial jurisdiction of the WCAB is one of those threshold issues. Since subject matter jurisdiction is potentially dispositive of the entire case, review of such an issue may resolve the case without the time, effort, and expense of fully litigating the case.

Discussion: Initially the Court of Appeal indicated the issue in this case is which states workers' compensation law applies, not which state has personal jurisdiction. However, the court immediately noted the question of subject matter jurisdiction ordinarily precedes the conflict of laws question. "...For only after the workers' compensation commissioner determines that he has authority to entertain the action does he proceed to the "choice" of whether to award benefits under our Workers' Compensation Act or, rather, to defer to the earlier grant of benefits under the laws of another state".

The court then restated the issue characterizing it as not one of personal jurisdiction but rather one of whether one or more state compensation laws apply and whether in this case California may provide a forum for the claim. The Court of Appeal went on to discuss general principles extensively but focused primarily on the constitutional due process issue. "As we discuss, whether California workers' compensation law governs depends on the application of the due process clause of the United States Constitution. If an employer or the insurer are subject to workers' compensation law of a state that does not have a sufficient connection to the matter, they are deprived of due process." The Court of Appeal also indicated there was a full faith and credit dimension. "That is if the workers' compensation law of another state exclusively should apply

and California does not have a sufficient contact with the matter, California must, under the full faith and credit clause accede to the other state to provide a forum."

The Court of Appeal in refining its analysis noted the focus of many cases is on whether a particular state has a "legitimate interest" in the injury and its consequences. So, the question is whether or not in this particular case California has a legitimate interest in the injury and its consequences which also then in turn depends on some substantial connection between California and the particular employee-employer relationship. The Court of Appeal cited a number of United States Supreme Court cases summarizing their holdings as follows:

As stated by an authority, the cases make clear "that the test is not whether the interest of the forum state is relatively greater, but only whether it is legitimate and substantial in itself." Thus, the forum state does not weigh interests as is done in a traditional choice of law consideration. Rather, it determines whether to grant relief under its own workers' compensation law or to deny relief altogether. The forum state can grant relief if it has some substantial interest in the matter. None of the Supreme Court cases suggests that a forum state must apply its law. The Supreme Court authority has treated the determination of whether a forum state should apply its workers' compensation law or decline to hear the matter in deference to laws of other states as an issue of constitutional law.

The Court of Appeal noted that California law is consistent with United States Supreme Court authority on this issue. Labor Code § 5305 provides "The Division of Workers' Compensation, including the administrative director, and the appeals board have jurisdiction over all controversies arising out of injuries suffered outside the territorial limits of this state in those cases where the injured employee is a resident of the state at the time of injury and the contract of hire was made in this state". However, the court of Appeal made no reference to Labor Code §3600.5 (a). The Court of Appeal then analyzed and cited a number of California decisions applying the legitimate interest-substantial connection analysis.

In determining whether there is a legitimate and significant interest, the Court of Appeal noted that "Thus, California maintains a stronger interest in applying its own law to an issue involving the right of an injured Californian to benefits under California's compulsory worker's compensation act than to an issue involving torts or contracts in which the parties' rights and liabilities are not governed by a protective legislative scheme that imposes obligations on the basis of a statutorily defined status."

The Court of Appeal stated that even if an employee is able to obtain benefits under another state's compensation laws, California still retains a significant interest in ensuring the maximum application of this protection afforded by the California Legislature.

California courts historically "...have long focused on the contacts of the employment relationship with California in determining which state's workers' compensation law applies". The creation of an employment contract in California even if an injury is suffered by an individual outside of California is a legitimate and significant California interest. Referencing *Alaska Packers Assn. v. Indus. Acc. Com*. (1934) 1 Cal.2d 250, the Court of Appeal noted that "...[T]he court held that the creation of the employment relationship in California, which came about when he signed the

contract in San Francisco, was a sufficient contact with California to warrant the application of California workers' compensation law." The Court of Appeal also referenced and discussed the recent case of *Matthews v. National Football League Management Council* (9th Cir. 2012) 688 F.3d 1107. In *Matthews*, although the applicant over his almost 20-year career in the NFL played 13 games in California, he was unable to show that he sustained any specific injury in California or that he ever received medical treatment in California for an injury. In *Matthews* as in the instant case, applicant contended he sustained part of his cumulative trauma injury in California, and thus the California Workers' Compensation Act should apply.

Due Process and Section 181 of the Restatement (Second) of the Conflict of Laws: The Court of Appeal engaged in an extensive analysis and discussion of Section 181 of the Restatement of the Conflict of Laws.

The most significant impact of Section 181 of the Restatement (Second) is that it is a rule "of constitutional law." The court in summarizing the due process constitutional dimension stated:

Under the due process clause of the Fourteenth Amendment, a State of the United States may apply its local law to affect legal interests if its relationship to a person, thing or occurrence is sufficient to make such application reasonable. Section 9 of the Restatement (Second) of Conflicts of Law states that a state may not apply its local law unless such application would be reasonable in light of the relationship of the state and of other states to the person, thing or occurrence involved.

The court characterized this as the sufficient relationship test. The lynch pin of the courts due process analysis and holding was articulated as follows:

We are not, therefore, faced with an issue of which law to apply, but only with whether California workers' compensation law applies in this case. That issue has been framed as one of due process under the 14th amendment of the United States Constitution (See Res.2d. Conflicts of Law, *supra*, § 181, p. 537.) If this state lacks a sufficient relationship with Johnson's injuries, to require the petitioner-the employer- to defend the case here would be a denial of due process such that the courts of this state do not have authority to act. This might be referred to as a lack of subject matter jurisdiction. (See *Carslon v. Eassa* (1997) 54 Cal.App.4th 684, 691 ["subject matter jurisdiction 'relates to the inherent authority of the court involved to deal with the case of matter before it""]).

The Court of Appeal once again referenced *Alaska Packers*, where "... [t]he Court suggested that the interest of the forum state is to be weighed against that of another state in determining the full faith and credit issue. As case law evolved, the only test is whether the forum state has a legitimate interest. If it does, that state will grant relief. If it does not, it will deny relief. Thus, if the forum state lacks a sufficient connection to the matter, it will, in effect, give full faith and credit to workers' compensation law of another state that has such sufficient connection to the matter."

The Nature of Applicant's Alleged Injury and its Impact on Subject Matter Jurisdiction: The essence of applicant's argument was that since she was alleging a cumulative injury over the course of her entire professional career and not a specific injury, the one game she played in Los

Angeles for the Connecticut Sun on July 20, 2003, contributed to her injuries and ultimate disability.

The Court of Appeal discussed and analyzed Labor Code §3208.1(b) which defines a cumulative trauma injury and also its relationship with Labor Code §5412 which further refines and defines the date of injury in cumulative trauma cases. Perhaps the most important aspect of the court's discussion was "[a] number of cases have held that where disability results from continuous cumulative traumas or exposures, the injury occurs not at the time of each distinct, fragmented exposure or trauma, but at the time the cumulative effect of the injuries has ripened into disability." (*Fruehauf v. Workmen's Comp. App. Bd.* (1968) 68 Cal.2d 569, 579.) The Court of Appeal concluded that the date of applicant's disability was August 7, 2003 the day of her retirement as opposed to the date of the one game she played for the Connecticut Sun in Los Angeles on July 20, 2003.

In terms of the "legitimate substantial interest" analysis, the court stated "[t]he effects of participating in one of 34 games do not amount to a cumulative injury warranting the invocation of California law. As the cases show, a state must have a legitimate interest in the injury. A single basketball game played by a professional player does not create a legitimate interest in injuries that cannot be traced factually to one game. The effect of the California game on the injury is at best de minimis."

More importantly the Court of Appeal stated the site of applicant's employment relationship is often the most realistic basis for invoking a state workers' compensation law. In this case the applicant's employment relationship was exclusively in Connecticut. Moreover, she had availed herself of the Connecticut workers' compensation system and received an Award. Thus, the places of Johnson's injuries, employment relationship, employment contract and residence, all possible connections for the application of the state workers' compensation law, do not have any relationship to California.

The court concluded that from a constitutional standpoint, as a matter of due process, California does not have the power to entertain Johnson's claim.

Comment: For a number of reasons this case was a challenge to analyze. The Court of Appeal moved between references to choice of law, personal jurisdiction, subject matter jurisdiction, as well as constitutional due process and full faith and credit issues.

What is clear is that the Court articulated the need not just for a California "legitimate" interest but rather a "legitimate and substantial interest or connection" in the alleged injury and its' consequences.

What does seem clear is the court's holding that mere participation in one game in California alone or the effects of participating in one game in California does not automatically amount to a cumulative trauma injury or create a legitimate and substantial California interest in the alleged injury. The author believes the previous line of writ denied cases finding participation in one game in California as constituting a portion of a cumulative trauma sufficient to establish California jurisdiction are no longer persuasive authority. Those cases are: *Injured Workers' Ins. Fund of*

Maryland v. WCAB (Crosby) (2001) 66 Cal. Comp. Cases 923 (writ denied); John Christner Trucking v. WCAB (Carpenter) (1997) 62 Cal. Comp. Cases 979 (writ denied); Rocor Transportation v. WCAB (Ransom) (2001) 66 Cal. Comp. Cases 1136 (writ denied); Portland Trailblazers v. WCAB (Whatley) (2007) 72 Cal. Comp. Cases 154 (writ denied); Washington Wizards v. WCAB (Roundfield) (2006) 71 Cal. Comp. Cases 897 (writ denied).

<u>Farley v. San Francisco Giants; Ace American Insurance</u> 2020 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 173 Farley I (WCAB panel decision)

Issues and Holding: The WCAB in reversing and annulling the WCJ's decision on Reconsideration found there was no statutory basis for California to exercise subject matter jurisdiction over the applicant's cumulative trauma claim since there was no California contract of hire and no injurious exposure suffered by the applicant in California. In the absence of a contract of hire formed in California or injurious exposure suffered by the applicant in California, subject matter jurisdiction cannot be based solely on the fact the California based employer exercised supervision and control over the employee while he was working exclusively for various San Francisco Giants affiliate minor league baseball teams located in other states.

Factual and Procedural Overview: Applicant filed a cumulative trauma claim for the period of June 2012 through April 1, 2015 while he was employed by the San Francisco Giants (Giants). The matter went to trial only on the bifurcated issue of whether or not there was California subject matter jurisdiction over applicant's cumulative trauma claim.

Applicant's Employment History: During his entire professional baseball career, applicant was employed by the Giants. While employed by the Giants, he attended spring training in Arizona, but during each baseball season he was assigned to a Giant's affiliate team located outside of California. The parties stipulated the applicant never played a game in California while employed by the Giants.

Employment Contracts: Applicant entered into four employment contracts with the Giants. Each contract was sent by the Giants from California to the applicant who was located outside of California. Applicant signed all four of his employment contracts with the Giants while he was outside of California. It was also undisputed the Giants controlled and supervised applicant's employment from California while he was working with their affiliate teams outside California. Applicant also received paycheck stubs from the Giants home office in California.

Medical Treatment: While employed by the Giants, applicant never received any medical treatment in California. When he needed medical treatment, the Giants would send a team doctor from California to treat the applicant outside of California. If any medication was required, it would be sent to the applicant from California.

Discussion and Analysis: In reversing and annulling the WCJ's decision, the Board began their analysis by noting that benefits under California workers' compensation law for industrial injuries are contingent upon the statutory conditions of compensation being met. The Board indicated the primary applicable statutes are Labor Code §§ 3600 et seq., 5300 and 5301. "The California Workers Compensation Act applies to all injuries whether occurring within the state of California, or occurring outside of California if the contract of employment was entered into in California **or**

if the employee was regularly employed in California." (citing *King v. Pan American World Airways* (9th Cir. 1959) 270 F.2d 355 [24 Cal.Comp.Cases 244], cert den., 362 U.S. 928 (1960).)

In terms of a general rule "....the WCAB can assert subject matter jurisdiction in an alleged worker's compensation injury claim when the evidence establishes that an employment related injury, which is the subject matter has a sufficient connection or nexus to the state of California." (See §§ 5300, 5301; *King, supra,* 270 F2d at 360; *Federal Insurance Co. V. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd. (Johnson)* (2013) 221 Cal.App. 4th 1116, 1128 [165 Cal.Rptr.3d 288]).)

When an applicant sustains injurious exposure in California, subject matter jurisdiction is generally established under section 5300. However, with respect to injuries occurring outside of California, there is also a basis for California subject matter jurisdiction over those injury claims in certain circumstances. Based on section 3600.5(a) "......[I]f an employee who has been hired or is regularly working in the state receives personal injury by accident arising out of and in the course of employment outside of this state, he or she, or his or her dependents, in the case of his or her death, shall be entitled to compensation according to the law of this state."

The Board also noted that under section 5305, the WCAB may exercise subject matter jurisdiction for injuries suffered by an applicant outside of California in those cases where the injured employee is a resident of California at the time of the injury **and** the contract of hire was made in California.

The Applicant Was Not Hired in California: The WCAB found that the WCJ had erroneously found that applicant's employment contracts with the Giants were formed in California on the basis that the Giants signed the contracts in California even though the applicant signed all the contracts while he was outside of California. In reversing and rescinding the WCJ's decision, the WCAB found that the dispositive factor was that the Giants only made offers of employment to the applicant when he was outside of California. However, he accepted and signed all of the contracts outside of California.

Based on applicable appellate case law and statutes the Board found that "the location of hire for the purposes of sections 3600.5(a) and 5305 is the location the *offeree* accepts the offer of employment." (See *Bowen v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd.* (1999) 73 Cal.App.4th 15, 21-22; *Tripplett v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd.* (2018) 25 Cal.App.5th 556, 565-66.) The contracts were formed upon applicant's signature when he was outside California. The WCAB also indicated that when the applicant returned the signed contracts to the Giants in California, the Giants signature to the contracts were conditions subsequent to contract formation. As a consequence, all of applicant's employment contracts were formed outside of California and therefore sections 3600.5(a) and 5305 do not provide a statutory basis for subject matter jurisdiction over his cumulative trauma claim.

The Giant's Control and Supervision Over Applicant's Employment with the Giant's Non-California Affiliate Teams is Legally Insufficient for California to Assert Subject Matter Jurisdiction: The WCAB reiterated that "fundamental subject matter jurisdiction is limited by Statute." "Thus, in the absence of a statute affirmatively confirming subject matter jurisdiction over a claim to the WCAB, we cannot exercise jurisdiction over the claim. (*Tripplett, supra*, 25 Cal.App 5th at 562.)

The Restatement Second of Conflicts of Laws Issue: The Board noted that while the Restatement Second Conflict of Laws indicates a state may consistent with due process constitutionally exercise subject matter jurisdiction over a worker's compensation claim on the basis an employer supervised and controlled the employee from another state. However, this is legally insufficient in California since the Legislature has not enacted a statute establishing that subject matter jurisdiction can be based on the fact the California employer supervised the out of state employee from California. The Board noted that the Restatement Second of Conflict of Laws is not incorporated into California statutory law and therefore cannot serve as independent legal authority or authorization absent such a statute being enacted by the Legislature.

Burden of Proof: Since the applicant is the party seeking to establish WCAB subject matter jurisdiction, applicant has the burden to identify a statute of statutes that authorizes the exercise of subject-matter jurisdiction over his claim. On reconsideration, applicant attempted to rely on Labor code section 3600(a) as a basis for the WCAB to exercise subject matter jurisdiction. However, the WCAB indicated that section 3600(a) does not authorize the exercise of jurisdiction itself, but merely provides for compensation where such jurisdiction already exists based upon some other statute.

Past Decisions of the WCAB Have Led to Confusion and "Muddied the Waters": The WCAB panel candidly stated that past decisions of the Board on this subject have led to some degree of confusion with respect to the issues in this case "....by overlooking the fundamentally limited nature of the WCAB's jurisdiction, or by using imprecise language susceptible to different interpretations when divorced from its context." In this regard and by way of examples the WCAB discussed a number of cases.

The WCAB's Analysis and Discussion of the *Stinnett* and *Macklin* Cases: With respect to the issue of past WCAB decisions in this area muddying the waters and causing confusion, the Board pointed to *Stinnett v. Los Angeles Dodgers* (2015) 2015 Cal.Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 664 (writ denied) as an example. In *Stinnett*, the WCAB stated that for purposes of subject matter jurisdiction, California had a significant and legitimate interest in claims involving a California-based employer. *Stinnett* in turn relied on *New York Knickerbockers v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd. (Macklin)* (2015) 240 Cal.App. 4th 1229.

With respect to *Stinnett*, the Board in retrospect said the part of their decision in *Stinnett* that California subject matter jurisdiction existed on the basis that a California based employer exercised supervision over an employee out of state and for the employer's benefit, was mere dicta and standing alone is not a valid statutory basis for the WCAB to exercise subject matter jurisdiction. In *Stinnett*, the applicant actually sustained injurious exposure in California and therefore there was subject matter jurisdiction established based on Labor Code section 5300. The Board stated that:

Moreover, in citing to *Macklin*, the panel in *Stinnett* was conflating two separate questions. Pursuant to the holding in *Johnson*, even where jurisdiction over a claim is authorized by statute, as a matter of due process, the WCAB may be unable to exercise jurisdiction over the claim if there is an insufficient connection between the State of California and the applicant's injuries. (citing, *Johnson*, 221 Cal.App.4th at 1128.)

The WCAB stressed that the *Macklin* decision addresses the second question in the equation that being the question of due process. "Macklin therefore stands for the proposition that where statutory subject-matter jurisdiction is *already established*, employment by a California-based employer is sufficient to meet the *Johnson* due process requirement. It does not stand for the proposition that employment by a California-based employer is a basis for statutory subject-matter jurisdiction." (original emphasis).

The WCAB stressed the fact that their decision in this case "....is limited to the question of whether the Legislature has provided statutory authorization for the exercise of jurisdiction over workers' compensation claims in the absence of a California Contract of hire or California injurious exposure, based solely on the fact that the employer is based in California and exercised supervision over the employee from this state."

The Board concluded by stating that there was no basis for the WCAB to exercise subject matter jurisdiction over the applicant's claim, because there was no specific statute that "provides for the exercise of jurisdiction based solely on the fact that the defendant is a California-based employer that supervised applicant's employment from this state."

Editor's Comments: This panel decision would seem to call into question the Board's panel decision and writ denied case in *Totten v. Los Angeles Dodgers, Ace American Insurance* 2018 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 366 (writ denied). In *Totten*, relying in part on the prior WCAB panel decisions in *Stinnett* and *James*, the WCAB found that California had subject matter jurisdiction over applicant's entire CT claim based on the fact that applicant played for an affiliate of a California based team but did not play a single game in California. The facts in *Totten* and *Farley* appear to be similar and therefore based on *Farley*, there would be no basis for WCAB subject matter jurisdiction since there was no injurious exposure in either case.

However, in *James v. Angels Baseball, L.L.C.*, 2015 Cal.Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 634, although applicant played for an affiliate of the Angels a California based team there was an independent basis to establish subject matter jurisdiction since he suffered a portion of his CT injury in California unlike the applicant in *Totten* and *Farley* where neither applicant suffered injurious exposure or injury in California.

For another recent decision applying the *Johnson* due process analysis see *Oliver v. Philadelphia Eagles*, *ACE/ESIS* 2020 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 69. (Applicant for purposes of due process failed to establish a sufficient connection with California based in part that parties stipulated that applicant only played two of 80 games in California and there was no evidence the applicant was injured in those games. Also, the WCAB found that the defendant did not waive an objection under the *Johnson* line of cases by framing the issue as one of subject-matter jurisdiction, as opposed to due process. "Similarly, because we conclude that the objection based upon subject-matter jurisdiction adequately encompasses a due process objection based upon *Johnson*, we also disagree with applicant's contention that defendants waived any due process objection by "litigating the merits for five years."

Forsberg v. Nashville Predators; Colorado Avalanche; Philadelphia Flyers; Federal Insurance Company (2015) 80 Cal.Comp.Cases 1353, 2015 Cal.Wrk.Comp. LEXIS 133 (writ denied) (Forsberg II).

Issue: Whether under the *Johnson* case did California have a substantial and legitimate interest in order to apply California workers' compensation laws and exercise subject matter jurisdiction or whether there is more than a "di minimis" connection between applicant's work in California and his claimed a cumulative trauma injury over the period of 1995 to February 14, 2011.

Holding: In a split panel decision, the panel in *Forsberg II* reinstated the WCJ's August 12, 2014, finding of WCAB subject matter jurisdiction, and held that California has a legitimate and substantial interest in assuring that employee's injured while working in this state receive workers' compensation benefits. The connection between applicant's claimed cumulative trauma injury and California is more than "di minimis" and sufficient from a due process standpoint to support WCAB jurisdiction over the defendants.

Discussion: The previous panel decision in *Forsberg I*, which issued on October 27, 2014, found no basis for California subject matter jurisdiction applying a qualitative/quantitative analysis that applicant played 712 NHL career games with 70 games in California comprising 7% of his total NHL games. Moreover, applicant played an additional 300 professional hockey games in Sweden.

From a procedural standpoint, applicant was newly aggrieved and filed a Petition for Reconsideration of the WCAB's October 27, 2014 decision. This resulted in a new panel comprised of Commissioners' Sweeney, Caplane, and Zalewski. In *Forsberg I*, Commissioner Sweeney wrote a strong dissent. In *Forsberg II*, she wrote the majority decision joined by Chairwoman Caplane. Commissioner Zalewski dissented. Defendant then filed a writ, which was denied.

Commissioner Sweeney consistent with her dissent in *Forsberg I* focused exclusively on whether or not the connection between the applicants' claimed cumulative trauma injury and California was "di minimis". There was an extensive discussion in *Forsberg II* of the meaning of "di minimis". Moreover, defendant conceded that applicant's injurious exposure while working in California did contribute to causing his overall cumulative trauma injury. Commissioner Sweeney stressed in support of her analysis that there was more than a "di minimis" exposure since applicant, while playing games in California, had a medical evaluation related to a work-related hernia that ultimately required surgery. He also had injections of Toradol related to groin pain during two playoff games against the Los Angeles Kings, and was also evaluated by a physician in Los Angeles after some playoff games and had a subsequent splenectomy. Based on this injurious exposure in California, coupled with the AME's report in orthopedics, the majority in *Forsberg II* stated, "the records shows that it is "reasonably probable" that applicant sustained cumulative trauma industrial injury because of his work as a hockey player, and it further shows that the injurious exposure he sustained while working in California was more than a trifling that caused that injury."

There was also an extensive discussion by the majority related to the defendants Labor Code § 5412 date of injury argument and its relationship to the statute of limitations issue.

Commissioner Zalewski, in her long dissenting opinion, stressed that from a "qualitative/quantitative" analysis of the 712 career NHL games the applicant played only 70 of those games in California which equated to 7% overall. She indicated that in her opinion this did not establish a legitimate and substantial connection between the claimed injury and California for the exercise of WCAB subject matter jurisdiction consistent with due process.

Commissioner Zalewski also referenced AB 1309 and Labor Code § 3600.5 establishing a legislative intent that reflected a 20% threshold quantitatively to support the exercise of WCAB subject matter jurisdiction. She noted that while AB 1309 did not apply to this case, it was a reasonable threshold, noting the 7% of the applicant's total career NHL games in California was well below the 20% AB 1309/3600.5 threshold.

She also indicated that consistent with *Johnson* the fact the applicant or any applicant is exposed to injurious trauma in California that contributes to the cumulative trauma injury, is not sufficient in and of itself to support the exercise of WCAB jurisdiction. She also stressed that there was nothing in applicant's testimony or in the medical evidence that would support that the games applicant played in California were qualitatively more traumatic than games played outside of the state. More importantly she argued that while applicant claimed to have incurred specific injuries in California they were not at issue due to the fact applicant chose not to plead any specific injuries. Moreover, he testified to numerous specific injuries he sustained while playing outside of California.

Comment: In *Forsberg II* and other recent post *Johnson* decisions, reflect there are a number of Commissioners who are exclusively applying a "di minimis" standard of the Court of Appeal's decision in *Johnson*. What is clearly evident is that the Commissioners who are applying the "di minimis" analysis or approach will not engage in any quantitative/qualitative analysis of the particular facts of any given case.

In contrast, there are a number of other Commissioners who in applying the *Johnson* case, use a quantitative/qualitative analysis coupled with an AB 1309/3600.5 20% minimum threshold, to buttress the quantitative prong.

In the author's opinion, it is clear that an en banc decision is necessary in an attempt to reconcile what appears to be two mutually exclusive analytical approaches applying the Court of Appeals decision in *Johnson* by the WCAB.

Moreover, in the author's opinion a "di minimis" analysis must be done in a comparative context. The quantitative/qualitative analysis manifested in a majority of the WCAB's recent *Johnson* decisions, does although not expressly, articulate factors comparatively as to whether the alleged California injurious exposure when compared to non-California injurious exposure is "di minimis". The comparative analysis reflected in the quantitative/qualitative approach appears to be analytically sound. Unless there is a comparative context or analysis then virtually any exposure in California, no matter how trivial, could be deemed to be more than "di minimis." For other cases following the *Forsberg II* analysis which focus exclusively on whether the exposure is "di minimis" or not, and ignoring any quantitative/qualitative approach are *Burt v. Carolina*

Hurricanes, et al. Federal Insurance Company 2015 Cal. Work Comp. P.D. LEXIS 124. (Majority decision) finding a basis for California subject matter jurisdiction where applicant had 737 career games, 27 of which were in California and there was a basis for California subject matter jurisdiction given the fact the applicant's aggregate injurious exposure in California was not "di minimis"; Coleman v. Detroit Pistons, et al, Federal Insurance Company, (2015) 80 Cal.Comp.Cases 1073; 2015 Cal.Wrk.Comp. LEXIS 102 (writ denied) (781 career games with 49 in California less than 7% with WCAB affirming WCJ's findings of subject matter jurisdiction that the applicant's injurious exposure in California was not "di minimis." Moreover, defendant stipulated that applicant had suffered a cumulative trauma injury in California); Steeple v. New Jersey Red Dogs; Granite State Insurance/AIG 2015 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 206. WCAB on reconsideration affirmed WCJ's finding of subject matter jurisdiction where applicant had an eight-year career with only two games in California. WCAB remanded to develop the medical record concerning the relationship between the alleged cumulative trauma and the alleged portion of the cumulative trauma suffered in California; Detroit Pistons, Philadelphia 76ers, Federal Insurance Co. v. WCAB (Coleman) 2015 Cal.Wrk.Comp LEXIS 102 (WCAB on reconsideration affirmed WCJ's finding of subject matter jurisdiction where applicant played in 781 career games in the NBA, with 49 played in California. Split panel decision with majority finding injurious exposure was not de minimis. Dissenting commissioner would have found no California subject matter jurisdiction based on a "quantitative/qualitative" analysis.

<u>Telemaco v. Philadelphia Phillies, Arizona Diamond Backs et al.</u>, 2018 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 541 (WCAB panel decision)

Issue and Holding: At issue was a combination of a California based agent only as an alleged basis for contract formation in California with a *Johnson* due process issue. The WCAB panel consisted of Chairwoman Zalewski, and Commissioners Lowe, and Razo. The WCAB found that applicant failed to prove that his employment contract was formed in California and that under a *Johnson* due process analysis, California did not have a legitimate interest in applicant's injury sufficient to compel defendant to litigate the claim in California and as a consequence the WCJ and WCAB issued a take nothing.

Procedural and factual overview: From a procedural standpoint the WCAB provided a procedural lifeline to the defense. Defendant failed to list *Johnson* due process as a specific issue and instead only listed "subject matter jurisdiction" along with the contract formation issue. The WCAB or at least this panel said listing subject matter jurisdiction encompassed a *Johnson* due process issue or contention. In order to do so, the WCAB had to issue a special Notice of Intention after the initial Petition for Reconsideration was filed advising the parties they would address the *Johnson* issue along with subject matter jurisdiction on Reconsideration. But who knows what another panel would follow the same procedure under similar circumstances?

California based agent as basis for contract formation in California: In terms of the California based agent only contract formation issue, the evidence was overwhelming that the California based agent did not have authority to bind the applicant and the applicant had the final say on acceptance and he was outside of California when he accepted the contract. The California based agent testified that he could not remember where he was when he negotiated the applicant's contract and also provided other testimony that was favorable to the defense. The WCAB cited a large number of cases dealing with contract formation, and also included a full paragraph where

the Board cited and discussed the recent *Tripplett* decision from the Court of Appeal to support their decision. (*Tripplett v Workers' Comp. Appeals Board, Indianapolis Colts et al.* (2018) 25 Cal.App.5th 556, 83 Cal.Comp.Cases 1175, 2018 Cal.App. LEXIS 652).

The *Johnson* due process issue: With respect to the *Johnson* due process issue, applicant had a career 425 regular season games played with 19 games and 69 related practices in CA which constituted 88 days of injurious exposure in California. The WCAB ruled there was subject matter jurisdiction over the claim but under an independent *Johnson* due process analysis this connection to California was insufficient to support adjudication of the claim under California law. The WCAB stated:

Even if it is assumed that during his major league career Mr. Telemaco had 88 days of injurious exposure in California consisting of playing in 19 games and participating in 69 practices as set forth by applicant......that represents a small fraction of the 425 regular season games and even more practices applicant participated in during his major league career. As such, the connection to this state is insufficient to support adjudication of the claim under California law over defendant's objection based upon due process and the holding in *Johnson*.

In further support of their decision the WCAB stated:

As expressed by the Court in *Johnson*, the proper inquiry is whether the state has "a *legitimate* interest in the injury" that supports the application of state law against the defendant. (*Johnson*, supra, 221 Cal.App.4th at 1130, emphasis in original.) In this case, the number of games applicant participated in while in this state does not provide a legitimate interest in the claimed injury that is sufficient to compel defendant to litigate the claim in this state as a matter of due process under *Johnson*. (See, *Pippen v. Portland Trail Blazers* (2015) 81 Cal.Comp.Cases 73 [2015 Cal.Wrk.Comp. LEXIS 163] (writ den.).)

Editor's comments and practice pointers: If Commissioner Sweeney had been on this particular panel she would have dissented using her standard "de minimis" analysis versus Chairwoman Zalewski's "quantitative/qualitative" analysis as expressed in many of the *Johnson* panel decisions she has participated in. As a consequence, it is still a crap shoot of sorts in litigating *Johnson* at the WCAB. The composition of the panel will often be outcome determinative as opposed to the operative facts depending on which methodology/analysis of the facts is used either the quantitative/qualitative analysis used by Chairwoman Zalewski, or the diametrically opposed de minimis analysis favored by Commissioner Sweeney.

From a procedural standpoint it is strongly advisable that if you believe you have a viable *Johnson* due process defense, that you list that as a specific issue in addition to subject matter jurisdiction along with all other applicable issues and defenses and not just assume that either a WCJ or the WCAB will hold that raising subject matter jurisdiction automatically encompasses a *Johnson* due process issue.

For another recent case with similar facts see, *Oliver v. Philadelphia Eagles, ACE/ESIS et al.*, 2020 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 69 (WCAB panel decision). In Oliver, the WCJ and the WCAB on appeal found the evidence did not support a finding that applicant was hired in California due to

inconsistencies in the applicant's trial and deposition testimony combined with his acknowledged memory problems. With respect to the Johnson due process issue the WCAB held that applicant only played in two of 80 career games in California and there was no evidence that applicant and that there was no testimony or other evidence that applicant was particularly exposed to injury to a greater extent than the games he played in outside of California.

<u>Leavell v. W.C.A.B. Houston Rockets, Zenith/TIG Insurance Co./Fairmont Specialty Ins. Co., Tulsa Fast Breakers, CompSource Oklahoma</u> 2018 Cal.Wrk.Comp.LEXIS 65 (Writ Denied)

Issues: Whether under the *Johnson* case, California had a legitimate and substantial interest in applying its workers' compensation laws against the defendants based on the fact applicant played at least 92 games in California.

Holding: The WCJ found that under *Johnson*, California had a legitimate and substantial interest in applying its workers' compensation laws against the defendants based on the fact applicant played at least 92 games in California and also found there was a qualitative difference in the trauma he sustained in California as opposed to other locations. Defendant filed for reconsideration which was granted by the WCAB. In a split panel decision (Zalewski and Lowe in majority, Sweeney in dissent), the WCAB **reversed** the WCJ and found there was not a California legitimate and substantial interest in requiring defendants to litigate applicant's cumulative trauma (CT) claim before the WCAB.

Discussion: For some unexplained reason, the number of *Johnson* decisions from the WCAB trailed off somewhat last year. Applicant was represented by All Sports Law. He played for the Rockets from 1979 to 1989 and for the Tulsa Fast Breakers from February 1990 to March of 1990. He played a total of 700 games for the Rockets. Of those 700 games while temporarily employed in California, he played approximately 91 games in California for the Rockets and while with Tulsa, at least one game played in California. In addition to the cumulative trauma claim applicant also filed in January 2015 a separate specific right ankle injury that occurred on 11/4/86 when the Rockets played against Sacramento. The specific injury and the CT claims were not consolidated. Applicant was never a resident of California and none of his contracts were formed in California. The focus was on whether there was a sufficient California connection for the WCAB to exercise jurisdiction from a due process standpoint over the CT claim. In finding a lack of a California legitimate and substantial interest in the injury, the WCAB majority emphasized the following:

- 1. Applicant was never hired in the state and that basis for California WCAB jurisdiction does not exist.
- 2. Applicant was only temporarily in California for approximately 11% of the games he participated in during his career as a professional basketball player. The WCAB characterized this as a "minimal" connection under *Johnson*.

- 3. The total number of games played by applicant in California is far less than the 20% now required under AB1309/3600.5 and it is reasonable and appropriate to use this as a guide even though applicants claim was filed pre AB1309.
- 4. With respect to the rather significant right ankle specific injury applicant suffered and for which he filed a separate application not consolidated with the CT claim, the WCAB held that this does not affect the CT legitimate interest assessment since only the CT claim was before the WCAB for trial and on appeal. Moreover, there was evidence the applicant suffered and was diagnosed with other significant specific injuries to multiple body parts outside of California. See also footnote 4 for a detailed discussion of improper merger of separate injuries per LC 5303.
- 5. The mere fact that applicant was exposed to injurious exposure in California that contributed to causing his CT injury is not sufficient in itself to support adjudication of the claim before the WCAB under *Johnson*.
- 6. On the present record there is not a substantial and legitimate connection between California and the claimed injury under *Johnson* in terms of due process. Commissioner Sweeney's dissent is based on her analysis that the connection between applicant's CT injury and California was more than de minimis for a variety of reasons.

<u>Parker v. Kansas City Chiefs, et al.</u> 2017 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 17 (WCAB panel decision)

Issue and Holding: Both the WCJ and WCAB held that applicant's participation in twelve football games in California out of 176 career-total games where applicant did not claim any specific injuries in California and that a substantial portion of his injurious exposure related to an alleged cumulative trauma injury which was sustained outside of California, the connection to California was constitutionally insufficient to require defendant to litigate the claim in California as a matter of due process under *Johnson*.

Procedural and Factual Overview: Applicant filed a CT claim for the period of July 27, 1990 through June 3, 2002. He did not have a California agent during his entire football career, and he was never hired in California by any football employer. Applicant was never employed by a California-based team. Over the course of his twelve-year NFL career, he played a total of 176 games. Twelve of those games were in California.

With respect to the twelve games applicant played in California, he received specific injuries while playing games in California, including a 1995 head injury and a 1999 elbow injury while playing in games in San Francisco. However, both the WCJ and WCAB noted that applicant had not filed any claims for specific injuries that occurred in California and that the claim that was being litigated was only for a cumulative trauma injury. The Board stressed that, "In order to hold defendant liable as a matter of due process there must be sufficient and legitimate connection between California and that claimed injury. Such connection is not established on this record."

Also, the fact that applicant received various healing modalities from a physician and others while in California also does not create or establish a sufficient and legitimate connection between California and the cumulative trauma injury. In that regard, the Board stated as follows:

However, the fact that some treatment may have been provided in this state does not under *Johnson* establish sufficient contact with the injury to require a defendant to defend a claim of industrial injury in this state. Moreover, to the extent the treatment that was provided is similar to first aid; its provision does not give rise to a presumption of liability or establish a basis for jurisdiction over a claim. (see Lab. Code §§5401 & 5402."

The WCAB indicated that the threshold question raised by the *Johnson* decision is whether California's interest in adjudicating an applicant's claim for workers' compensation "is legitimate and substantial in and of itself." (*Johnson, supra,* 221 Cal.App.4th at 1124, quoting 9 Larson, §142.03 [5], p. 142-9, fn. Omitted). In essence, if a state's interest is not legitimate and substantial in itself, requiring defendant to participate in such a case in California is a denial of due process. Moreover, the WCAB clarified the distinction and relationship between subject matter jurisdiction over a claim and the due process issue in *Johnson*. In that regard, the Board stated:

Thus, the question under *Johnson* is not whether the WCAB has subject matter jurisdiction over a claim. The question raised by *Johnson* is whether the state has "a legitimate interest in the injury." (*Johnson*, *supra*, 221 Cal.App.4th at 1130, emphasis in original.) If not, a defendant is denied due process in being required to litigate applicant's workers' compensation claim before the WCAB.

The Board concluded that given the fact applicant was not claiming a specific injury or injuries in California and a substantial portion of his injurious exposure and cumulative trauma was sustained outside of California there is not a "legitimate and substantial interest in the claimed injury that allows it to compel defendants to adjudicate applicant's claim under California's laws as a matter of constitutional due process."

Editor's Comment: See also, *Boucher v. Houston Gamblers* 2017 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 126 (WCAB panel decision). WCAB reversed WCJ, finding that under *Johnson*, California's interest in adjudicating applicant's cumulative trauma injury was not "legitimate and substantial in itself." Applicant was temporarily employed in California playing in only 2 games out of 26 to 37 career total games. Moreover, applicant while alleging or claiming a specific injury in a game in California, did not file a claim for this injury in California and suffered several other specific injuries outside of California, also while applicant was "exposed" to injurious trauma in California that contributed to causing cumulative injury, this is insufficient in itself to support the exercise of WCAB jurisdiction under *Johnson*.

Wilson v. WCAB (2016) 81 Cal.Comp.Cases 1054; 2016 Cal.Wrk.Comp. LEXIS 114 (writ denied)

Issue/Holding: WCAB reversed the WCJ entering new findings that California under *Johnson* did not have a legitimate and substantial connection to the claimed cumulative trauma injury sufficient to make application of California workers' compensation laws reasonable against defendant employer, Harlem Globetrotters (HGI), despite the fact applicant over a 10 year career played and participated in 15 to 20 games and related practices and other activities in California out of approximately 200 total games played each year.

Procedural and Factual Overview: Applicant was employed by the Harlem Globetrotters for approximately 10 years (1996-2006). He filed a cumulative trauma claim for the period of 1/1/1996 to 12/31/2006. The Globetrotters corporate offices and training headquarters were located in Arizona, but they did not have a home arena in Arizona or any other state. The Globetrotters toured throughout the entire United States each year. Applicant executed all of his employment contracts in Arizona and was never a resident of California and resided in Tennessee. Applicant played fewer than 2% of his total games each year in Arizona with 98% of his employment activities taking place outside of Arizona.

Applicant played approximately 200 games each year over his ten-year career. Of those 200 games, he played and had related practices of 12 to 15 games each year in California for a total of approximately 136 games in California over his 10-year career.

The WCJ found that California had a sufficient interest in the injury under *Johnson*, and also the Labor Code §3600.5(b) exemption did not apply to defendant. As a consequence, the WCJ awarded applicant 56% PD and need for future medical treatment. Defendant filed a Petition for Reconsideration which was granted by the WCAB who reversed the WCJ's decision.

The 3600.5(a) and 3600.5(b) issues: With respect to the §3600.5(b) exemption issue, the WCAB indicated the WCJ's analysis was flawed. The fact that defendant employer did not have a "home state" was irrelevant. Contrary to the WCJ's finding the WCAB held that applicant was not regularly working or employed in California and was only temporarily in the state working for defendant, and §3600.5(a) did not apply. In that regard the WCAB stated:

In this case, as in *Carroll*, the large majority of the applicant's work was outside of California. When applicant entered the state for HGI he knew and intended that it be for a temporary period to provide basketball entertainment. When applicant and HGI entered California they both expected and intended to leave the state as soon as the work was done. Applicant's presence in California on those occasions was transitory and not permanent, and he was not "regularly working" in this state as described in §3600.5(a).

The *Johnson* due process substantial and legitimate connection issue: In reversing the WCJ on this issue and entering new findings, the WCAB applying a "quantitative/qualitative" analysis held that California did not have a legitimate and substantial connection to applicant's CT claim

sufficient enough to subject or hold defendant to California workers' compensation law without depriving it of due process, as held in *Johnson*. In that regard the WCAB stated as follows:

The WCAB added that the threshold question under *Johnson* was whether California's interest in adjudicating Applicant's workers' compensation claim "is legitimate and substantial in itself," but that, here, Applicant never resided in California, was not hired in the state, and participated in only 15 to 20 games each year in California out of approximately 200 played each year. Under *Johnson*, such minimal connection between his injury and the state was not sufficient to legitimately support exercise of WCAB jurisdiction over defendant.

From a qualitative perspective or analysis, the WCAB noted that the record did not establish or show a qualitative difference in the trauma sustained in games played in California versus those played in other states which, "supports a conclusion that the substantial and primary cause of the claimed cumulative injury is injurious exposure sustained in games outside of this state." Also, minor first aid provided to applicant while playing in California did not compel jurisdiction over the claim.

The WCAB also noted that while the recent amendments to Labor Code §3600.5(a) did not apply to this case it was still reasonable to reference it as a guideline in considering the 20 percent threshold identified by the legislature constituting a legitimate and substantial connection between California and any cumulative trauma injury claim.

<u>Palmer v. Kansas City Chiefs, Travelers</u> 2015 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 608 (WCAB panel decision)

Holding: No California jurisdiction from a due process standpoint based on the fact applicant only played five games in California out of approximately sixty-two career games in the NFL. Moreover, applicant did not claim or file for a specific injury in California and a substantial portion of his injurious exposure and cumulative trauma was sustained outside of California. In a split panel decision, the WCJ and WCAB held there was not a sufficient connection between the claimed cumulative trauma injury and California to provide California based on due process with no legitimate interest in and of itself in applying its workers' compensation laws to applicant's cumulative trauma claim.

Factual and Procedural Background: Applicant was never a resident of California nor were any of his contracts with the Chiefs formed in California. The only connection between the cumulative trauma injury and California was that applicant was temporarily employed in California for five out of the sixty-two career games he participated in during his career in the NFL.

Although applicant testified at trial he sustained injury to various body parts while playing three games in California, his trial testimony was inconsistent with his deposition testimony and the history he provided to his own QME. In his deposition testimony the applicant could not recall or remember playing any games in California. With respect to the history he gave to the QME,

applicant indicated he could not recall even the specific season when and where he may have been injured in California.

However, both the trial WCJ and the WCAB indicated that even if the applicant did incur specific injuries while playing football in California he did not file a claim for any specific injuries and only filed a cumulative trauma injury. Both the WCJ and the WCAB seemed to have significant problems with the applicant claiming specific injuries in California on three occasions and the attempt to merge these alleged unpled specific injuries with one cumulative trauma. The Board stated:

But even if applicant did incur specific injuries while playing football in California, the claim we address is for *cumulative* injury. Construing evidence of specific injuries to be evidence of a cumulative trauma will be contrary to the provisions of Labor Code §5303, which provides in pertinent part that, "No injury, whether specific or cumulative, shall, for any purpose whatsoever, merge into or form a part of another injury..." Moreover, it is reasonable to infer that applicant similarly sustained injurious exposure in the fifty-seven games he played outside of California, and that exposure was the substantial and primary cause of the claimed cumulative injury.

The Board also indicated the alleged medical treatment the applicant claimed he received after playing in the games in California consisted of icing of the knees and shoulders which the Board described as merely the provision of minor first aid and which did not give rise to a presumption of liability or establish jurisdiction.

The WCJ and the WCAB framed the issue as being "...not whether applicant sustained cumulative injury in the course of playing professional football. The question is whether there is sufficient connection between the claimed injury in this state to support adjudication of applicant's workers' compensation claim against defendant under the laws of this state. The answer to that question is no. Applicant's insubstantial contact with this state is not sufficient to support the exercise of WCAB jurisdiction over defendants."

Again, from a constitutional due process standpoint, the WCAB indicated since applicant was not claiming a specific injury and that a substantial portion of his injurious exposure and cumulative trauma was admittedly sustained outside of California that "California does not have a legitimate and substantial interest in the claimed injury that allows it to compel defendants to adjudicate applicant's claim under this state's law as a matter of constitutional due process (citing *Johnson*).

There was a long dissenting opinion from Commissioner Sweeney in which she indicated that applicant's exposure in California was more than di minimis, and there was a basis for California to exercise subject matter jurisdiction without offending or violating due process.

Comments and Practice Pointers: In a similar case, *Everett v. St. Louis Rams, et al.*, 2015 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 628, the WCAB in a split decision reversed and rescinded the WCJ's determination that there was California subject matter jurisdiction over applicant's cumulative trauma claim. The WCAB held that 5 games played in California out of 103 career NFL regular season games did not establish a sufficient connection between the claimed CT injury and California to provide California with a "legitimate and substantial connection" to the claimed CT

injury sufficient to make application of California's workers' compensation laws reasonable. More importantly, as the WCAB held in *Palmer* hereinabove, the fact applicant suffered a specific hamstring injury in California does not operate to establish California jurisdiction over an alleged CT claim. The WCAB held that attempting to construe evidence of a specific injury to be evidence of CT injury is contrary to Labor Code §5303, which prohibits the merger of separate and distinct injuries whether specific or cumulative for any purpose to merge into or form part of another injury.

<u>Davis v. Atlanta Hawks, Federal Insurance, et al.</u> 2015 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 430 (WCAB panel decision)

Issue: Whether there was a basis for California subject matter jurisdiction based on the fact that applicant's contract for hire was formed in California and he suffered a significant specific injury in California to his knee that caused him to be hospitalized in California and a later surgery in Texas, which resulted in the applicant missing the remainder of the NBA season.

Holding: The WCAB denied separate Petitions for Reconsideration filed by multiple defendants and affirmed the WCJ's determination that there was subject matter jurisdiction in this case based on the fact applicant's injurious exposure in California was more than de minimis since he suffered a significant specific injury requiring hospitalization in California and subsequent surgery (outside of California) with significant lost time from work. Moreover, applicant's contract for hire was formed in California.

Factual and Procedural Overview: Applicant was employed as a professional basketball player for twelve years from 1991 through 2003. During the course of his career, he participated in a total of approximately 254 professional basketball games with 20 of those games having taken place in California. (Less than 8% of the total number of games). It is important to note that the parties stipulated that applicant sustained cumulative trauma injury to multiple body parts while employed as a professional basketball player during the period of June 1996 through April 2003. Based on this stipulation the WCJ found applicant suffered 54% permanent disability apportionment.

The Labor Code §5500.5 liability period was determined to span the period from December 2001 through December 2002. During this period defendant, the Atlanta Hawks, was insured by both TIG and Federal Insurance/Chubb. Codefendant TIG argued that there was no basis for California subject matter jurisdiction over them since the applicant sustained no injurious exposure during the time period it provided coverage. The WCAB in this split panel decision indicated that applicant's injurious exposure in California was more than de minimis and in addition applicant sustained a tear to the anterior cruciate ligament in his right knee while playing a game against the Lakers in California in November 1996. It appears that immediately after that game, applicant was sent to a hospital in California and then when he returned to Texas he had surgery, and as a consequence missed the remainder of the Hawks' season. The WCAB was careful to distinguish these facts from the facts in *Johnson* where the applicant did not suffer a documented specific injury, but only a portion of his cumulative trauma injurious exposure was in California.

Moreover, the WCAB emphasized that there was an independent basis for California subject matter jurisdiction in that applicant's unrebutted testimony established that his employment contract was formed in California which again distinguished this case from the facts in *Johnson*.

In addition, the Board found no error in the fact that the award in this case was against both carriers for the Hawks, TIG and Chubb/Federal. It was TIG's argument that there was no basis for California subject matter jurisdiction against them since during their coverage he did not play any games in California during the Labor Code §5500.5 liability period. Citing numerous cases, the Board indicated that the public policy underlying §5500.5 permits liability to be extended over any carriers or employers in the §5500.5 liability period stating, "These important public policy concerns would be undermined if TIG was dismissed only because its insured did not play a game in California during the applicable liability period."

Comments and Practice Pointers: The author ever since the *Johnson* decision issued by the Court of Appeal has had an ongoing problem with stipulations or admissions that the injured worker suffered a cumulative trauma injury. It is one thing for applicant to try and prove a portion of their cumulative trauma injury was suffered in California and that portion of the cumulative trauma injury was more than de minimis and was also qualitatively and quantitatively different than the injurious exposure that occurred outside of California without a defendant, as in this case, stipulating to a cumulative trauma injury occurring both in and out of California.

This case on its facts is clearly distinguishable from the facts in *Johnson*. In *Johnson* there was no evidence the applicant suffered a specific injury. In this case not only did the applicant suffer a specific injury, but it was a <u>significant</u> specific knee injury that required hospitalization in California and a follow-up knee surgery with applicant being unable to play the rest of the NBA season. On its face this would clearly not be de minimis and qualitatively the specific injury was the type of injurious exposure that was different than the cumulative trauma exposure outside of California. The other distinguishing feature of course is that the contract for hire was deemed formed in California and that in and of itself appears to trump *Johnson* in terms of being an independent basis for establishing California subject matter jurisdiction.

Perhaps the most provocative issue in the case is that the WCAB found that under Labor Code §5500.5 and applicable case law that one of the codefendants who insured defendant during the Labor Code §5500.5 liability period had liability under the award even though during their period of coverage the applicant played no games in California.

New York Knickerbockers v. WCAB (Macklin) (2015) 240 Cal.App. 4th 1229; 193 Cal.Rptr. 3d 287; 80 Cal.Comp.Cases 1141

Issue/Holding: If there is a California based team in the Labor Code §5500.5 liability period and applicant was employed by that California-based team, then there is no denial of due process in California exerting jurisdiction over the claim as well as jurisdiction over a non-California team who is also in the Labor Code §5500.5 liability period, especially if the applicant while employed by the non-California-based team played games or practiced in California during the 5500.5 liability period.

Factual and Procedural Background: Both the WCJ and WCAB found there was no denial of due process since California had a sufficient relationship with the applicant's injury to make the application of California Workers' Compensation Law reasonable, which is a matter of due process.

The Knickerbockers were not the terminal employer in the Labor Code §5500.5 period, and clearly, they were not a California based team. Having lost at the trial level and also on reconsideration to the WCAB, the Knickerbockers were the only employer that filed a writ with the Court of Appeal.

The CT that was pleaded ran from August 17, 1981 to November 15, 1985. Applicant's employment history indicates he was employed by the Atlanta Hawks from August 17, 1981 to June 29, 1983 and played three games in California. Applicant was then employed by the Knickerbockers from June 29, 1983 to December 20, 1983. During the course of his employment with the Knickerbockers applicant practiced in California and played one game against the Golden State Warriors. While with the Knickerbockers he came to California on two other occasions and participated in practices and warm-ups but did not play in those two games against the Clippers and the Lakers. He then played for a minor league basketball team from late 1983 to late 1984, with no games played in California. From September 29, 1984 to October 24, 1984, applicant was employed by the Los Angeles Clippers. He attended the Clipper's training camp in California and played in some preseason games in October 1984. He was released by the Clippers on October 24, 1984.

The WCJ found 76% permanent disability without apportionment and determined there was California jurisdiction over applicant's claim.

Discussion: A significant portion of the Court of Appeal's decision dealt with the issue of the Knickerbockers' counsel's failure to file a verified Writ of Review.

The court easily distinguished the facts in the instant case from the facts in *Johnson*. (*Federal Ins. Co. v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd*. (2013) 221 Cal.App.4th 1116). Applicant in the instant case played for a California based team for a portion of the Labor Code §5500.5 liability period. Also, with respect to the Knickerbockers, the non-California-based team, applicant played one game in California and participated in pre-game warm-ups and practices in two other Knickerbockers games in California. Applicant in <u>Johnson</u> never played for a California-based team during her entire professional career.

The court stated:

Because of the employment by a California-based team, we do not have to determine if the other activities in California are sufficient by themselves to make the application of California Workers' Compensation Law reasonable, although those activities are more than the one game that *Johnson* concluded was di minimis.

The dispositive issue as framed by the Court of Appeal is, "whether Macklin's injuries have a sufficient relationship with California for the invocation of California Workers' Compensation

Law. Whether those injuries have a sufficient relationship with California is dependent on a number of factors that we set forth in *Johnson*."

It is important to note that in Footnote 7, the Court of Appeal referenced §181 of the Restatement Second of Conflict of Laws, which address the issue of when a state may award relief to a person under its workers' compensation law without running afoul of due process constraints. Section 181 of the Restatement Second of Conflict of Laws provides that a state may award relief to a person under its workers' compensation law based on a number of factors including:

- 1. If the injury occurred in that state;
- 2. If the employment is principally located in the state;
- 3. If the employer supervised the employee's activities from a place of business in the state;
- 4. If the state is that of the most significant relationship to the contract of employment with the respect to the issues of workers' compensation under the rules of §§187, 188, and 196, the Restatement Second of Conflict of Laws;
- 5. If the parties have agreed in the contract of employment or otherwise that their rights should be determined under the Workers' Compensation Act of the state; or,
- 6. If the state has some other reasonable relationship to the occurrence, the parties, and the employment.

The court concluded that where there is employment by a California team during the period of the cumulative injury, so long as the requirements of Labor Code §5500.5 are met, is sufficient in this case to make reasonable the application of the California Workers' Compensation Law. However, it is important to stress as reflected in numerous WCAB decisions subsequent to *Macklin*, the WCAB has construed and applied the holding in *Macklin* to find California subject matter jurisdiction where the applicant "played for a California team for a portion of the period of the cumulative injury" and not just during the 5500.5 liability period. (*Macklin*, 240 Cal.App. 4th at p. 1239).

Comment: If applicant was employed by a California-based team for a portion of the period of the cumulative injury, the court indicated there would be no need to engage in a "qualitative/quantitative" analysis or a "di minimis" analysis. The case is distinguishable from *Johnson* since Ms. Johnson never played for a California-based team.

However, there are some provocative issues and questions in terms of the future application of similar cases under the same facts as *Macklin*, or with slightly different facts. In the author's opinion, the Knickerbockers incorrectly framed the issue in this case. Both the WCAB and the Court of Appeal correctly articulated what the correct issue was to focus on the sufficiency of the relationship with California to the injury or action claimed.

In the author's opinion, based on a plethora of post *Macklin* decisions, the mere fact the applicant did not play for a California team during the 5500.5 liability period would not result in dismissal of the claim or action against employers outside of the 5500.5 liability period where an employment contract was formed in California, or the applicant played for a California based team for any portion or period of alleged cumulative trauma.

<u>James v. Angels Baseball, LLC, et al.</u> 2015 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 634 (WCAB panel decision)

Holding: Both the WCJ and WCAB determined there was California WCAB subject matter jurisdiction over applicant's cumulative trauma claim even though he played for a minor league affiliate of the Angels, a California based team, due to the fact he suffered a portion of his cumulative trauma injury in California and that the California employer/team directed and controlled his employment activities, his medical care, and provided workers' compensation insurance coverage for the out-of-state minor league affiliate.

Facts: Applicant played professional baseball for three major league teams and one minor league affiliate team of the California Angels; a California based employer. With respect to the first two major league baseball teams the applicant played for, the Tampa Bay Rays and Miami Marlins, there was no California subject matter jurisdiction. In 2004, the Angels, a California based employer, signed applicant to an employment contract as a free agent. There was no dispute applicant signed and formed his employment contract with the Angels at their Spring training facility in Arizona. Applicant was at the Angels Spring Training Camp facility in Arizona for one and a half weeks before he was directed to report to one of the Angels' minor league affiliates, the Salt Lake City Stingers (Stingers). The Stingers season schedule called for them to regularly play against minor league teams in California. Applicant pitched in only four games for the Stingers, two of those games were in California. While playing for the Stingers in Sacramento in 2004, applicant noticed a significant and different kind of shoulder pain. Applicant then pitched in a game in Seattle. After the Seattle game the Angels directed him to treat at a medical facility in California. He had shoulder surgery in California and was unable to play the rest of the 2004 season. When the following baseball season started the Angels directed applicant to report to another of its minor league teams. He could no longer pitch due to his shoulder problems. The Angels then directed him to return to the medical facility in California where applicant underwent a second shoulder surgery. After that surgery he was unable to continue playing professional baseball. It appeared that the Angels supervised most, if not all, of applicant's employment activities from Anaheim, California.

Discussion: The WCAB adopted and incorporated the WCJ's Report on Consideration. Defendant on reconsideration cited two cases, one a panel decision and another a trial level Findings and Order in support of their argument there was no basis for the WCAB to exercise subject matter jurisdiction consistent with due process and under *Johnson*. However, the Board distinguished both cases since the applicants in both of those cases never performed any of their job duties in California. It was undisputed in this case that the applicant did perform job duties in California for the Angels and under their direction.

Moreover, the Board also pointed to AB 1309, specifically Labor Code §3600.5(c)(1), which among other provisions indicates that even in a situation where a professional athlete has been hired outside the state and their employer would be exempt from jurisdiction, only if two conditions were satisfied. Under the facts of this case the Angels could not satisfy the requirement that the employer furnished workers' compensation insurance coverage or its equivalent under the laws of a state other than California. Also, there was no evidence that the Salt Lake Stingers had their own workers' compensation coverage independent of the Angels' workers' compensation coverage for California, which apparently covered their minor league affiliates.

More importantly, in dealing with the defense *Johnson* argument in terms of whether or not from a due process standpoint California has sufficient interest in applicant's claim, the Board cited §181, the Restatement Second of Conflict of Laws, which reflects that a state may award relief to a person under its workers' compensation law if, among other considerations, the employer supervised the employee's activities from a place of business in the state even if those activities were outside of the state.

<u>Booth v. Chicago Bulls</u> 2014 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 487 (WCAB panel decision)

Issue: Whether applicant's participation in three practices for the Chicago Bulls in California established a substantial and legitimate interest in California adjudicating his workers' compensation claim.

Holding: The WCAB reversed the WCJ and found no basis for invoking California subject matter jurisdiction under *Johnson*, in that the effects of applicant's participation in three practices in California did not amount to a cumulative trauma injury and the effects of those practices would be de minimis

Factual & Procedural Overview: Applicant played with the Chicago Bulls for two seasons. During that period of time, the Chicago Bulls had 153 games on their schedule, of which only five were scheduled to be played in California. However, applicant did not play in any of those five games, having been on the injured reserve list two times and when he did travel with the Bulls to California on three occasions, only participated in practices. At trial, the WCJ focused on the cases of *Houston Comets v. WCAB (Kenlaw)* (2013) 78 CCC 1153, as well as *Crosby* (2001) 66 CCC 923, which the WCJ found warranted invocation of California subject matter jurisdiction.

Defendant filed a Petition for Reconsideration, which was granted by the WCAB. The WCAB reversed the WCJ. The WCAB agreed with the judge that the *Johnson* case does not suggest a rigid application of a specific mathematical formula to determine jurisdiction, but rather the question to be addressed is whether or not the nature of an applicant's contacts with California are sufficient to support California's jurisdiction over an alleged injury claim.

The WCAB found the nature and sufficiency of applicant's contacts with California in participating in three practices was not substantial or legitimate under *Johnson*. In reversing the WCJ the Board stated:

However, we do not agree with the WCJ that the applicant's few contacts with the state in this case is sufficient to support the exercise of jurisdiction. The effects of applicant's participation in practices on the three occasions when Chicago was in California during the two years of his employment by that team does not amount to a cumulative injury in California that warrants the invocation of California law. At best, the effect of those practices was de minimis. Thus, consistent with the holding in *Johnson*, we find that California does not have a legitimate interest in adjudicating applicant's claim for workers' compensation benefits.

Moreover, the WCAB noted that was no significant distinction between the facts of the instant case and the *Johnson* case even though the applicant testified in the instant case and the applicant in *Johnson*_did not. The Board indicated that in both cases there was medical evidence applicant was exposed to injurious trauma that contributed to cumulative injuries. However, this may not always be enough to invoke California subject matter jurisdiction.

Johnson v. Philadelphia Eagles; California Insurance Guarantee Association for Reliance Insurance Company, in liquidation; Fairmont Premier Insurance Company 2014 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 654 (WCAB panel decision)

Issue: Whether California based on the *Johnson* decision has a sufficient interest to exercise subject matter jurisdiction were applicant played two games in California for defendant over the period of four NFL seasons and suffered only a portion of his cumulative trauma injury during the two games played in California.

Holding: Notwithstanding the fact a portion of applicant's alleged cumulative trauma injury was suffered in California during the two games he played over four seasons, the fact he had no other contact or connection with California does not establish that California has a sufficient and legitimate interest in the injury to exercise subject matter jurisdiction over applicant's claim for workers' compensation benefits.

Factual & Procedural Overview: Following trial the WCJ found applicant suffered a cumulative trauma injury from 1991 to December 24, 1994 awarding 59% permanent disability without apportionment. Defendant filed a Petition for Reconsideration which was granted by the WCAB who reversed the WCJ and found no basis under *Johnson* for California to exercise subject matter jurisdiction over applicant's claim for workers compensation benefits.

Applicant played for the Philadelphia Eagles for four seasons from 1991 through 12/24/94. During the entire four seasons he played for the Eagles, applicant only played two games in California one in 1992 the other in 1994.

The WCJ found that applicant sustained cumulative trauma injury because he suffered a portion of the cumulative trauma exposure in the two games he played in California. The applicant testified that after all of his games, including the games in California he would feel "beat up from head to toe". He also received treatment in San Francisco after the two games he played in California from team trainers consisting of pain and anti-inflammatory medications, as well as massage, heat, ice, and electrical stimulation. Both applicant's orthopedic QME and the defense

orthopedic QME found applicant suffered a cumulative trauma while playing professional football. However, neither doctor specifically mentioned that applicant had played in California, let alone concluded it was reasonably medically probable that his two games in California were a contributing cause of the cumulative injury.

In reversing the WCJ, the WCAB noted there are cases were the WCAB has exercised jurisdiction over claims by professional athletes not hired or regularly employed in California who have sustained a portion of their cumulative trauma injury while temporarily employed in California. The WCAB pointed out that even if a professional athlete suffers a portion of a cumulative trauma injury in California in order for the WCAB to "lawfully adjudicate a claim of industrial injury, California must also have sufficient interest in the injury to apply its workers' compensation laws."

The WCAB also noted as in *Johnson*, that applicant had no contacts, nor relationship to California other than the two games he played in California while employed for the Eagles over four NFL seasons. They also noted the overwhelming majority of applicant's employment activities while employed with the Eagles including games, training camps and employment related workouts that occurred outside of California.

The WCAB did agree with the WCJ that the application of the *Johnson* holding does not suggest rigid application of a mathematical formula in order to determine jurisdiction. In that regard the WCAB stated:

There is no bright line about how long an out-of state employee must have worked in California in order to justify WCAB jurisdiction over a cumulative trauma claim. Instead, each claim of jurisdiction must be assessed on a case-by-case basis. The factors relevant to that analysis include, but are not necessarily limited to the following: (1) how long the injurious employment in California was in relation to the overall injurious employment (i.e., a quantitative factor); and (2) the extent to which the microtrauma in California causally contributed to the cumulative injury, e.g., whether the microtrauma sustained in the state was relatively long, intense, or severe in relation to the out-of-state work activities that also contributed to the cumulative trauma (i.e., a qualitative factor).

The WCAB indicated that even assuming the two games in California contributed in some way to the cumulative trauma, under *Johnson* this would be "de minimus".

The Board noted that both in *Johnson* and in the instant case, there was "medical evidence that the players were exposed to injurious trauma that contributed to their cumulative injuries. However, that is not sufficient in itself to support the exercise of California jurisdiction under the holding in *Johnson*. Instead, the applicant has the burden of proving the connection between the claimed injury in California is sufficient to invoke the jurisdiction of the WCAB." In this case it was not.

The WCAB also disagreed with the WCJ's determination that CIGA had waived the jurisdictional question. The WCAB noted that subject matter jurisdiction "cannot be conferred by consent, waiver, or estoppel."

Comment: This is another case in what appears to be an ever-growing number of cases under *Johnson* were trial judges at the WCAB District Offices are narrowly construing and applying the *Johnson* holding and finding jurisdiction. However, once the case goes up on reconsideration, many of these decisions are being reversed by the WCAB finding no basis for California subject matter jurisdiction under *Johnson*.

The analytical framework currently being applied by the WCAB in numerous cases is a "qualitative/quantitative" assessment resulting in a lack of sufficient substantial interest to exercise California subject matter jurisdiction from a due process standpoint. Applying this analysis, the WCAB found no subject matter jurisdiction in all of the following cases. (Vaughn v. Seattle Seahawks 2014 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 732 (WCAB panel decision) (29 regular season games only 4 in California); Boulware v. Houston Texans 2015 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 4 (panel decision) (80 career games, 7 games in California); Byars v. N.Y. Jets (2015) 81 Cal.Comp.Cases 64; 2015 Cal. Wrk. Comp. LEXIS 154, (writ denied) (13 seasons, 240 career games, 9 games in California); Phegley v. Dallas Mavericks 2015 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 231. (WCAB panel decision) (345 career games, 23 games in California); Pippen v. Portland Trail Blazers, et al. 2015 Cal. Wrk. Comp. LEXIS 163 (writ denied) (1,145 career games, 100 games in California); Collins v. Atlanta Falcons (2015) 80 Cal.Comp.Cases 1202; 2015 Cal.Wrk.Comp. LEXIS 119 (writ denied) (68 career games, 6 games in California); Delgado v. New York Mets 2015 Cal.Wrk.Comp. LEXIS 131 (writ denied) (22 year career, 2,035 games, plus 635 minor league games, 138 in California); Wallace v. Phoenix Suns 2015 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 242 (WCAB panel decision); (8 year career, 386 career games, 19 games in California, and of these 46 games for the Suns, 7 games in California); Timmerman v. The St. Louis Rams et al. 2015 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 425 (WCAB panel decision) (12 year career, 189 games only 12 games in California. Chase v. St. Louis Blues Hockey Club; Federal Ins. Co. 2015 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 411 (WCAB panel decision). WCAB split panel decision. WCAB reversed WCJ and found no California subject matter jurisdiction utilizing a "quantitative/qualitative" analysis where applicants only contact with California consisted of 21 games played in California over an 11-year career with 485 hockey games played (equated to less than 5% of total games played in California). WCAB also referenced the 20% threshold of newly enacted Labor Code §3600.5(b).: Stryzinski v. New York Jets, et al. 2015 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 618 (WCAB panel decision) (275 career games, 21 games in California, 7.6%); Everett v. St. Louis Rams, LLC. et al. 2015 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 628 (WCAB panel decision). (8-year NFL career for multiple teams, with 103 career games, only 5 in California. WCAB reversed WCJ and found no subject matter jurisdiction on Johnson due process grounds. Applicant suffered a specific injury in California that was not plead and WCAB said to construe a specific injury as part of a CT claim is contrary to Labor Code §5303, the anti-merger statute.).

See also, *Skorupan v. New York Giants, ACE USA Insurance* 2015 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 506 (WCAB panel decision). No California WCAB jurisdiction over cumulative trauma claim filed against the Giants. In his career applicant played five games in California out of a total of 141 games. With respect to the Giants, he played in 53 games of which only 3 were played in California (5.6%). In one of those 3 games in California, on November 23, 1980, applicant suffered a specific injury to his right knee that caused him to miss the rest of the season. Notwithstanding the fact applicant suffered a specific injury in California, applicant only filed a CT claim. In this regard the Board stated:

Applicant testified to specific injuries he received while playing in games in California, but applicant has filed no claim of specific injury in this state. The claim we address is for *cumulative injury*, and for the WCAB to have **jurisdiction** over defendants there must be sufficient and legitimate connection between this state and that claimed injury. Such a connection is not established on this record. (original emphasis)

In addition to using a "quantative/qualitative" analysis in the cases cited hereinabove, the WCAB buttressed their analysis by referring to the legislative intent in AB 1309/3600.5 as guidance in establishing a 20% of games in California as a minimum quantitative threshold for establishing California subject matter jurisdiction. See also, Hulse v. Calgary Flames 2017 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 33 (WCAB panel decision). Applicant had 848 career NHL games with between 25-42 games played in California. WCJ found California had a legitimate interest from a due process standpoint in applicant's CT injury. On appeal the WCAB reversed and under Johnson applying a quantitative/qualitative analysis that there was not a significant or legitimate connection to require defendant to litigate the claim in California as a matter of due process. Applicant was never hired in California and was only temporarily in California for only 25 to 42 of the more than 848 total games he participated in. The WCAB found that despite the fact applicant testified he sustained a high ankle sprain in California, this fact was not jurisdictionally sufficient since he did not file any claim related to this specific injury in California, and his claim before the WCAB related only to a CT claim. As reflected in footnote 4, "[t]o automatically consider that (the high ankle sprain) or other specific injuries to be evidence of a cumulative trauma injury would constitute improper merger of cumulative and specific injuries contrary to the prohibition of section 5303..."

<u>Germany v. Buffalo Bills, Inc.; Travelers Insurance Company</u> 2014 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 496 (WCAB panel decision)

Issue: Whether the WCAB should decline to exercise jurisdiction due to the fact applicant had minimal contacts with the state of California and whether the choice of law clause in the applicant's employment contract was reasonable and should be enforced.

Holding: Under the *Johnson* case, the applicant's contacts with California were minimal. As a consequence, subject matter jurisdiction would not be exercised since California does not have a legitimate and substantial interest in the matter. Moreover, the Choice of Law clause was reasonable and did not violate public policy.

Factual & Procedural Overview: The parties admitted/stipulated that applicant sustained a CT injury for the period of June 9, 2001, through November 20, 2002, while playing for the Buffalo Bills to his cervical spine, lumbar spine, shoulders, elbows, wrists, thumbs, knees, and ankles. The applicant was employed for seventeen months with the Buffalo Bills during which time he played in two games. He also participated in two practice sessions for those two games in California. The applicant also filed a workers' compensation claim in the State of New York for a specific injury to his left knee. The applicant played a total of 20 games for the Buffalo Bills with only two games played in California with related practices. The applicant was never a resident of California and had no contact with California other than the two games and two related practices

in California for the Buffalo Bills. Both the WCJ and WCAB noted there was no evidence the applicant sustained any specific injury or required medical treatment while participating in the two games and two practices in California. There was no medical report indicating any history of injury occurring in California. Given applicant's minimal contact with California, the WCJ and WCAB indicated that under <u>Johnson</u>, subject matter jurisdiction should not be exercised because California did not have a legitimate substantial interest in the matter. Moreover, there was no medical treatment received or rendered in California.

With respect to the choice of law issue, the NFL player contact between the applicant and Buffalo Bills had a choice of law provision that stated, "this contract is made under and shall be governed by the laws of the state of New York". The WCAB properly characterized this as a choice of law clause as opposed to a choice of forum clause. The WCJ and WCAB found the choice of law clause was reasonable and did not violate any California public policy. Moreover, the fact applicant had adjudicated a workers' compensation case in New York for a specific injury and received an award of \$28,860.00 in temporary disability and partial permanent disability reflected the parties' contractual intent that New York state law should apply under the terms of the applicant's NFL player contact.

<u>Swinton v. Arizona Cardinals, et al.</u> (2016) 81 Cal.Comp.Cases 1078; 2016 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 305 (WCAB panel decision)

Holding: In this very complex procedural case the WCAB affirmed the WCJ's determination that there was WCAB subject matter jurisdiction over the defendant and while "true" subject matter jurisdiction cannot be waived, other affirmative defenses which may involve jurisdiction can be waived. In this case defendant failed to raise a number of affirmative defenses in a timely manner and the Board found defendant was not denied due process.

Factual and Procedural Background: As indicated hereinabove, this case is very procedurally complex. There were two trials. Following the first trial in May of 2012, the judge issued a decision finding injury AOE/COE and that applicant's claim was not barred by the Statute of Limitations. Defendant filed a Petition for Reconsideration, but at that time raised no contention or issues related to the alleged denial of due process (*Johnson*) or the applicability of a forum selection clause in applicant's player contract (*McKinley*). The WCAB denied defendant's Petition for Reconsideration and defendant sought no further review by way of writ with the Court of Appeal. As of April 12, 2013, the decision was final for all purposes.

In May of 2014, the WCJ issued an Order related to development of the medical record under Labor Code §5701 by appointment of a regular physician who examined the applicant and provided a report. In response defendant filed a Petition for Removal with the WCAB. In addition to challenging the judge's Order to develop the record under Labor Code §5701, defendant raised a number of other ancillary issues, including that the WCAB had no subject matter jurisdiction over applicant's claim. Defendant's Petition for Removal was denied by the WCAB in August of 2014, with the case being sent back down to the trial level for development of the record for decision by the WCJ. Once again, defendant did not petition for review of the WCAB's August 20, 2014, decision after removal and with respect to the issues raised, including subject matter

jurisdiction. As a consequence, the WCAB's decision became final and also became law of the case.

The Second Trial: Following a second trial the WCJ issued a Findings and Award on December 7, 2015, which found applicant properly elected to proceed against the Arizona Cardinals under Labor Code §5500.5(c) as well as the fact the WCAB had subject matter jurisdiction over the claim and applicant sustained a cumulative trauma injury while employed by three NFL teams, the Arizona Cardinals, the Dallas Cowboys, and the Seattle Seahawks. The WCJ found 52% permanent disability without apportionment and need for further medical treatment. Defendant Arizona Cardinals filed a Petition for Reconsideration arguing that the WCAB lacked subject matter jurisdiction and they were denied due process. The WCAB denied defendant's Petition for Reconsideration finding that they had been afforded ample time and opportunity to raise any applicable affirmative defenses, but due to the fact they were not timely raised, the Board found that those objections and affirmative defenses had been waived.

The January 16, 2016 Arbitration Award Issue: Before the WCAB issued their decision denying defendant's Petition for Reconsideration on June 14, 2016, they received a request from defendant on March 15, 2016, that the Board take judicial notice of a January 21, 2016, arbitration award between the National Football League Management Counsel and the National Football League Players Association in which the arbitration award indicated the applicant was to "cease and desist pursuing a claim in California for workers' compensation benefits against Arizona." Applicant objected to the Board taking judicial notice of the arbitration award. The Board indicated that, in their opinion, the stipulated January 21, 2016, arbitration award was not relevant to the contentions raised in defendant's petition, and defendant's request for judicial notice was denied.

Discussion: The WCAB in reaching their decision was careful to distinguish what they characterized as "true" subject matter jurisdiction, which cannot be conferred on a court by stipulation nor estoppel and its absence cannot be waived. (2 Witkin, California Procedure (5th ed. 2008) Jurisdiction, § 13, pp. 585-588, and cases cited therein.) In doing so the Board cited a California Supreme Court case, *Abelleira v. Dist. Court of Appeal* (1941) 17 Cal. 2d 280, 288 with respect to this distinction the court in *Abelleira* stated as follows:

Lack of jurisdiction in its most fundamental or strict sense means an entire absence of power to hear or determine the case, an absence of authority over the subject matter or the parties. (*Abelleira, supra, 17 Cal. 2d at pp. 288-289 see also ACIC, supra, 33 Cal.4th* at p. 660-661; *Macklin, supra, 240 Cal.App.4th* at p. 1232, fn. 1 "[t]he term 'jurisdiction' over the action is also used in a variety of less fundamental circumstances, requiring care in reliance on cases using the term"].)

In essence, the WCAB indicated defendant had erroneously interpreted *Johnson*, and as a result of that misinterpretation had framed the issues on appeal incorrectly. The Board held that the WCAB had subject matter jurisdiction over applicant's claim. What defendant was really asserting under *Johnson* was whether or not California had a sufficient connection to applicant's claim from a due process standpoint. The Board's reading and interpretation of *Johnson* led them to conclude that

"Johnson involved issues of conflicts of law and due process, not the existence of WCAB subject matter jurisdiction in its most fundamental sense."

The WCAB reframed the issue in the context of Johnson, Macklin, and Abelleira as follows:

Thus, the question under *Johnson* is not whether the WCAB has subject matter jurisdiction over the claim in this case, because it does. The question is whether defendant was denied due process in being found liable under California law for applicant's cumulative trauma injury. The answer to that question is no.

The WCAB then went on at great length with a detailed procedural history, indicating that from the outside of the claim defendant filed an Answer and generally appeared and in their Answer did not raise a claim of denial of due process. Defendant also failed to raise in their Answer a defense based on a forum selection clause in applicant's employment contract. In objecting to an initial Declaration of Readiness to Proceed by an applicant's counsel again defendant failed to raise a denial of due process and applicability of a forum selection clause defense. Defendant also appeared at a January 18, 2012, mandatory settlement conference and a March 29, 2012, trial. There was no identification of any due process objection by defendant and no reference to a defense based upon a forum selection clause at either hearing.

With respect to the forum selection clause issue (*McKinley*), the WCAB noted this has nothing to do with subject matter jurisdiction per se in its fundamental sense. Under *McKinley* the WCAB may "decline to exercise jurisdiction" in a case involving a forum selection clause when certain conditions are satisfied. The Board noted that under *McKinley*, it is assumed the WCAB has subject matter jurisdiction over a claim or the existence of a forum selection clause is irrelevant. It is only when a party seeks to enforce a forum selection clause that a question arises as to whether that subject matter jurisdiction should be exercised." (citing *McKinley*).

Defendant's last argument was that it was unaware for a certain period of time during the proceedings that it could raise the objections of a denial of due process (*Johnson*) and forum selection clause (*McKinley*) because those decisions did not come out until 2013.

This seems to implicate the fact that even after *Johnson* and *McKinley* were both decided in 2013, defendant made no effort to amend any of the pleadings or to timely interpose the applicability of either *McKinley* or *Johnson*. In that regard the Board stated as follows:

In sum, defendant obtained notice of applicant's claim in 2010, and actively litigated the substance and merits of the claim for several years without objection based upon due process or a forum selection clause. Defendant's participation in the case since the time of its answer and general appearance includes attendance at depositions, conferences and hearings, actions to develop the medical record, the advancement of affirmative defenses and requests for affirmative relief, including the earlier denied Petition for reconsideration of the WCJ's April 12, 2013 decision. A petitioner, "shall be deemed to have finally waived all objections, irregularities, and illegalities concerning the matter upon which the reconsideration is sought other than those set forth in the petition for reconsideration. (Lab. Code, § 5904,)

The Board indicated, supported by numerous case citations, that "due process rights may be waived by a party." Also, the WCAB noted that objections and defenses may be waived by failing to timely assert them regardless of the parties' intent not to relinquish the claim. In essence, the Board concluded, supported by numerous case citations, that objections and defenses that do not implicate pure subject matter jurisdiction issues "may also be waived when not timely asserted, even if the objection is identified as "jurisdictional" in one of the "less fundamental circumstances" noted in *Macklin*."

2. AB 1309 OPERATIVE EFFECT

<u>Walker v. WCAB</u> (2015) 80 Cal.Comp.Cases 1499; 2015 Cal.Wrk.Comp. LEXIS 149 (writ denied)

Issues/Holding: Whether applicant's claim was barred by the AB 1309 amendments to Labor Code §3600.5 for professional athletes which became operative on September 15, 2013, given the fact applicant's claim was filed on September 16, 2013, one day after AB 1309 became operative.

Factual and Procedural Overview: The WCAB reversed the trial judge's decision that applicant's claim had been timely filed pursuant to AB 1309/Labor Code §3600.5(h). The WCAB granted defendant's Petition for Reconsideration and reversed the trial judge's ruling and found that by, the plain terms of the statute, Labor Code §3600.5(h), and the amendments to Labor Code §3600.5 "apply to all claims for benefits pursuant to this division filed on or after September 15, 2013." Applicant's Petition for Writ of Review was denied by the Court of Appeal.

Discussion: Both the WCAB and the Court of Appeal framed the issue as to "whether the 9/15/2013 date specified in Labor Code §3600.5(h) was "the last day for the performance" of an act the law requires to be performed "within a specified period of time" as set forth in Code of Civil Procedure §12(a), and the "last day for exercising or performing any right or duty to act" as set forth in 8 Cal.Code.Reg. §10508.

Both the WCAB and the Court of Appeal applying fundamental statutory construction, and the plain language of Labor Code §3600.5(h), held that:

As plainly expressed in the statute, the September 15, 2013 date specified in section Labor Code §3600.5(h) is the date on which the amendments to section 3600.5 begin to apply to claims that are filed on or after that date. Thus, the fact that a claim could not be filed on September 15, 2013, is irrelevant to the question of whether the section 3600.5 amendments apply, as is the fact that the employer may or may not otherwise have had "notice of injury by the fact he was a hockey player," as discussed by the WCJ in her Report. The dispositive point is when the claim was filed. If the claim was filed before September 15, 2013, the amendments to section 3600.5 do not apply. If the claim was filed after September 15, 2014, the amendments to section 3600.5 do apply.

3. Stays and Consolidations

<u>Bladischwiler v. Detroit Lions, CNA Claims Plus, Inc.</u> 2012 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 225 (WCAB panel decision); see also, California Workers' Compensation Law & Practice, §21:114

Case Summary: The Presiding Judge of the Santa Ana WCAB District Office denied defendant's Petition/Request for Consolidation of fourteen separate cases. The Presiding Workers' Compensation Judge denied the Petition/Request and defendant filed a Petition for Removal. The removal was denied by the WCAB for a variety of reasons.

Discussion: The basis for defendant's Petition/Request for Consolidation of fourteen different cases all involving professional football players with the Detroit Lions who played from 1960 through the 1980s, was that a single proceeding would consider and adjudicate issues related to the statute of limitations, latches, California jurisdiction, and date of notice by the employer of the applicants' claimed injuries. Defendant argued there were common issues of law in fact in all of the cases with respect to all issues.

The WCAB, in denying defendant's Petition for Removal, noted with respect to each and every issue raised by defendant there were no common issues of law or facts. Instead, all of the cases reflected a unique set of facts and issues that varied as to each claim or case. With respect to California jurisdiction, each player may have played schedules that were different from the other players. The number of games in California would also vary with respect to each individual player. The issue of whether any of the players were ever California residents is unique to each case. Until such time as the facts in each individual case were developed, there would be no way of knowing applicant's place of residence at the time of employment with the Lions, and where each player entered into his employment contract with the Lions. Basically, the same variables, as opposed to a common set of facts, applied with respect to the issue of statute of limitations. Moreover, the WCAB noted that due to the variable facts as opposed to common issues would not result in judicial economy but rather a "judicial quagmire." This would place an undue burden on the court's resources and time.

Moreover, defendant failed to show it would be unduly prejudiced or irreparably harmed by litigating all fourteen cases individually.

<u>Moore v. Detroit Lions, Florida Tuskers, et.al.</u> 2012 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 426 (WCAB panel decision)

Case Summary: Defendant initially filed a Petition to Stay the proceedings basically alleging the WCAB lacked subject matter jurisdiction over the claim and attached a copy of the applicant's employment contract that contained a choice of forum/choice of law provision requiring the applicant's workers' compensation claim be litigated in Michigan and not California. The WCJ denied defendant's Petition based on a number of grounds. Defendant then filed a Petition for Removal which was denied by the WCAB.

Discussion: There were a number of procedural flaws in defendant's Petition to Stay and Petition for Removal. With respect to the Petition to Stay, it was not submitted to the Presiding Judge as required by CCR Section 10281. Moreover, defendant's Petition for Removal was not verified as required by CCR Section 10843(b).

In terms of substantive issues, while acknowledging that California will ordinarily give effect to a forum selection clause unless the opposing party meets the heavy burden of proving the clause is unreasonable, the WCJ in her Report on Removal and the WCAB which adopted the WCJ's Report basically indicated "here, the parties should be given the opportunity at the trial level to present evidence or argument that: (1) there was no valid contract between applicant and defendant or, if there was, it did not contain a forum selection clause; and (2) if there was a valid contract with a forum selection clause, that clause should not be enforced because it violates California's public policy." Defendants failed to demonstrate substantial prejudice and irreparable harm.

4. Validity and Scope of Releases and Settlements

<u>Parker v. California Angels aka Los Angeles Angels; Associated Indemnity Corp., et.al.,</u> 2024 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 386 (WCAB panel decision)

Issues and Holding: Whether applicant's cumulative trauma claim was barred by the doctrine of res judicata on the basis that applicant previously settled his case in 2017 by way of a Compromise and Release in involving the same employers, similar injuries, and the same body parts. The WCJ found that applicant's post-2017 CT claim was barred by res judicata. However, the WCAB granted applicant's Petition for Reconsideration and rescinded the WCJ's Findings and Order on the basis that res judicata did not bar applicant's new CT claim since it involved a different date of injury and body parts that were not expressly listed or settled by way of the previous compromise and release in 2017. The WCAB remanded the case to the trial level for further proceedings consistent with their decision..

Factual and Procedural Overview: While represented by a different attorney, applicant settled a CT claim with a date of injury of February 1, 1970 to October 2, 1991 by way of a C&R with an Order Approving C&R on March 9, 2017. Represented by a new attorney, applicant filed another CT claim against the same employers for the period of June 4, 1970 to November 4, 1991.

Applicant's First CT Claim: In settling applicant's first CT claim, the parties used the standard DWC-WCAB C&R form revised in 2008. The body parts settled on page 3, paragraph 1 of the C&R were expressly described as "198 head," "398 upper extremities," "498 trunk," "598 lower extremities," and "700 multiple parts." Paragraph 3 of the C&R stated, "This agreement is limited to settlement of the body parts, conditions, or systems and for the dates of injury set forth in Paragraph No. 1 and further explained in Paragraph No. 9 despite any language to the contrary elsewhere in this document or any addendum."

In addition, paragraph 3 on page 5 stated in part that "[t]his agreement resolves all injuries as pled in the application for adjudication and identified in medical legal reports. Significant disputes

between the parties exist as to injury AOE/COE, nature and extent, jurisdiction, and statute of limitations."

In terms of medical-legal reporting related to applicant's first CT claim there were three AME's in the fields of orthopedics, neurology, and internal medicine. There was no psychiatric or phycological medical-legal evaluation done. The AME in orthopedics diagnosed "chronic pain bilaterally to the low back, shoulders, elbows, wrists, hips, and ankles; as well as Hallux rigidus, left great toe; and Parkinson's disease, deferred to neurology." The AME in neurology found that applicant sustained a CT injury and resulted in "headaches, the sleep disorder, and the Parkinson's disease." With respect to Parkinson's disease the AME in neurology also referred to literature related to Parkinson's disease and a second variety of post-traumatic Parkinsonism and a Parkinson-like syndrome associated with repeated episodes of head trauma.

The internal AME reporting in applicant's first CT claim diagnosed the following: "metabolic-type syndrome, hypertension, diabetes, hypercholesterolemia, obesity, gout, headaches, gastroesophageal reflux disease, helicobacter pylori infection, and aortic stenosis."

Applicant's Second CT Claim Filed After the March 9, 2017 C&R: With respect to applicant's second CT claim filed on August 7, 2020, for the period of June 4, 1970 to November 4, 1991, applicant claimed the following body parts and conditions: "100 head - not specific," "110 brain," "841 nervous system - stress," and "842 nervous system -psychiatric/psych," He was examined by a QME in psychiatry who diagnosed applicant with:

AXIS 1 -1. Depressive disorder not otherwise specified. (311); 2. Likely psychological factors affecting medical condition (316), depression and anxiety impacting upon his apparent diagnoses of diabetes mellitus and hypertension; 3. Possible cognitive disorder not otherwise specified. (294.9)

AXIS II- 1. Avoidant and obsessive personality traits.

AXIS III- Parkinson's disease by history, etiology as determined by the appropriate evaluating medical practitioner.

The Trial Related to the Second CT Claim: The matter proceeded to trial over the course of two days on September 28, 2023 and May 2, 2023. The trial stipulations reflected that applicant claimed injury to his brain and head. The three issues framed for trial were:

- 1. Whether additional discovery is needed to determine if applicant's injury is identical to the injury in his prior claim.
- 2. Whether this claim is barred by the Statute of Limitations, latches, LC 3600(a)(10), res judicata, and/or LC 3600.5(d).
- 3. Whether CNA and the Blue Jays are exempt pursuant to LC 3600.5(c).

The WCJ's Decision: The WCJ found that applicant's claim was barred by the doctrine of res judicata based on the fact that "applicant previously settled a case involving the same employers, similar injuries, and the same body parts." Applicant filed for reconsideration that was granted by the WCAB.

The WCAB's Decision:

Requirement of Medical Evidence: Initially the WCAB discussed that with respect to cumulative trauma claims "....an employee is not charged with knowledge that his or her disability is jobrelated without medical advice to that effect. (City of Fresno v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd. (Johnson) (1985) 163 Cal.App.3d 467, 473 [50 Cal.Comp.Cases 53]; Newton v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd. (1993) 17 Cal.App.4th 147, 156, fn. 16 [58 Cal.Comp.Cases 395].)" Moreover, whether an applicant has sustained a CT injury, the WCJ and the Board "must utilize expert medical opinion. (citations omitted). Also, medical causation of a CT injury "cannot be established without corroborating expert medical opinion." (citation omitted). Moreover, the LC section 5412 dates of injury and the body parts involved "must be determined by a medical evaluation (Lab. Code, 4060(c).)."

Contract Principles Apply to Settlement of Workers' Compensation Disputes: Since compromises and releases are written contracts, "the parties' intention should be ascertained from the writing alone and, unless an absurdity is involved, the clear language of the contract governs its interpretation. (Civ. Code, §§ 1638, 1639; TRB Investments, Inc. v. Fireman's Fund Ins. Co. (2006) 40 Cal.4th 19, 27.) A contract must be so interpreted as to give effect to the mutual intention of the parties as it existed at the time of contracting, so far as the same is ascertainable and lawful. (Civ. Code, § 1636; TRB Investments, supra, at 27; County of San Joaquin v. Workers' Compensation Appeals Bd. (Sepulveda) (2004) 117 Cal.App.4th 1180, 1184 [69 Cal.Comp.Cases 193].)"

The WCAB stated that the plain language of the 2017 C&R was specific in describing the body parts being released and settled as well as the date of injury that being "198 head, 398 upper extremities, 498 trunk, 598 lower extremities, and 700 multiple parts. (C&R, ¶ 1, p. 3 and ¶ 9, comments, p. 7.) The dates of injury covered by the settlement are during the period from February 1, 1970 to October 2, 1991. (C&R, ¶ 1, p. 3.)"

The Board stressed that from this language, "[t]here is no evidence that this language was intended to include the brain, the nervous system as it relates to psych or stress, neurological problems aside from Parkinson's, or CTE." Applicant credibly testified that with respect to the 2017 C&R "it was not his intention to settle the case for brain injury, neurological, psych, or stress." He also testified that "he did not know that any of his neurological problems, aside from the Parkinson's Disease, were the result of cumulative trauma." He also testified that "he had problems with CTE, and had problems with forgetfulness." The Board noted that CTE was a brain disorder linked to repeated trauma to the head.

The Res Judicata Issue: In holding that applicant's new CT claim was not barred by the doctrine of res judicata, the WCAB stressed the following essential considerations and supporting legal authority:

1. Here, the body parts are different in the two cases, as are the claimed dates of injury (June 4, 1970 to November 4, 1991 versus February 1, 1970 to October 2, 1991) and claimed section 5412 dates of injury. However, even if two claims happen to involve the same body parts and the same claimed dates of injury, that does not, in and of itself, cause the settlement in the earlier case to be res judicata.

- 2. [I]f the section 5412 date of injury for a body part is after the date of the C&R, the parties could not have settled that body part. (See *Camacho v. Target Corp.* (2018) 24 Cal.App.5th 291, 301 [83 Cal.Comp.Cases 1014] ["[e]ven with respect to claims *within* the workers' compensation system, execution of the form does not release certain claims unless specific findings are made. [Citations.] [Emphasis in original.]"].) Moreover, the employer has the burden of proving that a claim is barred by an earlier compromise and release. (*Johnson v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd.* (1970) 2 Cal.3d 964, 975 [35 Cal Comp. Cases 362].) Defendant presented no medical evidence that describes injury to brain, to the nervous system as it relates to psych or stress, or neurological problems aside from Parkinson's as part of the settlement.
- 3. In *Navarro v. City of Montebello* (2014) 79 Cal.Comp.Cases 418 (Appeals Bd. en banc), we held that when a subsequent claim of injury is filed, and even if the subsequent claim of injury involves the same parties and the same body parts, the injured worker has the right to be evaluated by a new QME with regard to the subsequently filed claim(s) of injury. (*Navarro v. City of Montebello* (2014) 79 Cal.Comp.Cases 418, 428 (Appeals Bd. en banc).)

As a consequence the WCAB found that the record needed to be developed. The Board rescinded the WCJ's Finding and Order and returned the matter to the trial level with the recommendation "that the WCJ consider what further development of the record is appropriate with respect to applicant's claim of injury" related to his post 2017 C&R new cumulative trauma application for the date of injury of June 4, 1970 to November 4, 1991.

Editor's Comment and Practice Points: With respect to the 2017 C&R it is clear that even the few body parts that were listed by the defendant as being settled were inadequate and did not encompass all of the body parts, conditions, and systems that were pled in the Application, and determined by the three AME's. To compound matters, the body parts that were listed were vague and not specific enough given the medical reporting and the diagnosis of each AME. Defendant also tried to incorporate by reference that "this agreement resolves all injuries pled in the application for adjudication and identified in the medical legal reports." This short cut technique of incorporating by reference has been rejected by the WCAB and WCJ's for years as being inadequate and invalid to effectively settle body parts and conditions not otherwise expressly listed in detail in the C&R.

In order to draft a C&R that will be effectively bullet proof in terms of what body parts are being settled, a defendant must include with exacting specificity and detail all body parts, conditions, and systems that are pled in the applications and claim forms, as well as those referenced in medical records and medical reports either by way of the complaints made by the applicant and those diagnosed by the medical legal evaluators. Also, an applicant during the course of a deposition may testify to additional alleged injuries to body parts that must also be expressly listed and described in the C&R. Anything less, as this case graphically illustrates, may pave the way for an applicant to file additional claims for body parts that should have been settled in one comprehensive and carefully drafted C&R.

Bodishbaugh v. Southern Maryland Blue Crabs; Miami Marlins et al. 2022 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P. D. LEXIS 63 (WCAB panel decision)

Issues and Holding: Whether the settlement of applicant's entire cumulative trauma claim by way of a Compromise & Release (C&R) by one defendant is limited only to that defendant or does it settle the entire cumulative trauma claim against all defendants in a case involving multiple defendants.

The WCJ and the WCAB held that contract principles apply to settlement of workers' compensation disputes and that the legal principles governing compromise and release agreements are the same as those governing other contracts. After a careful review of the terms of the C&R between the applicant and the one settling defendant the Board found that the unambiguous plain language of key provisions of the C&R reflected that the applicant was only resolving claims against the one employer and carrier named in the C&R and not any of the other employers/defendants involved in the case

Factual and Procedural Overview: Applicant while employed as a baseball player filed an Application for Adjudication alleging a cumulative trauma from June 5, 2008 to August 1, 2015 to various body parts. Over the course of the alleged CT period applicant was employed by ten different professional baseball teams. The last team he played for in 2015 was the Southern Maryland Blue Crabs insured by Chesapeake Employers Insurance Company.

On October 6, 2020, applicant and his attorney signed a C&R between applicant and the Southern Maryland Blue Crabs. The body parts being settled were specified in the C&R and the date of injury listed was the period from June 5, 2008 to August 1, 2015. The amount of the settlement was \$35,000 minus attorney's fees. On October 15, 2020, defendant submitted the fully executed C&R to the WCJ for approval by e-filing it and it was served on all necessary parties by way of mail. The WCJ issued an Order approving the C&R (OACR), which was served on October 28, 2020.

Paragraph #2 of the C&R expressly stated that upon approval of the C&R by the WCAB and payment "the employee releases and forever discharges the *above -named employer(s)* and *Insurance carrier(s)* from all claims and causes of action....." (original emphasis). The only named employer and insurance carrier in the C&R was the Southern Maryland Blue Crabs and their carrier Chesapeake Employers Insurance Company. Paragraph 9 of the C&R also reflected that the named defendants "reserve their right to see contribution against the Miami Marlins and/or any other joined defendants." (original emphasis).

Subsequent to the service of the OACR, the applicant filed an amended application and added defendant SCIF/San Rafael Pacifics. On or about January 6, 2021, Travelers/Gary Southshore Railcats filed a petition for dismissal, alleging that the C&R encompassed applicant's entire claim. On January 6, 2021, the WCJ denied Travelers petition to dismiss without a hearing stating: "The compromise and release reserved jurisdiction over liens. There are also potential contribution issues."

The Trial: The case proceeded to trial on October 13, 2021, on the single issue of whether the Compromise and Release settled applicant's entire claim again all defendants with reservation for liens. Listed as one of the trial stipulations was that the parties stipulated that no election has been made in this case. No exhibits were entered into evidence by any of the parties although two of the defendants filed trial briefs. Following trial the WCJ issued several findings but with respect to the primary issue the WCJ found that "[t]he Compromise and Release filed and approved on October 16, 2020 is limited to the settlement of the claim against the Southern Maryland Blue Crabs and Chesapeake Employers Insurance Company." Both SCIF/San Rafael Pacifics and Travelers Indemnity Company carrier for the Southshore Railcats filed Petitions for Reconsideration contending that the parties to the C&R intended to settle applicants entire claim against all the defendants by way of the C&R between the applicant on one hand and defendant Southern Maryland Blue Crabs and Chesapeake Employers Insurance Company on the other.

The WCAB's Decision on Reconsideration: The WCAB denied reconsideration and affirmed the WCJ's Findings and Order.

In their decision the Board relied on well settled legal principles governing compromise and release agreements which are based on the same principles and controlling case law governing other contracts. The WCAB cited a plethora of applicable case law to support their decision. The Board stressed that a contract must be interpreted so as to give effect to the mutual intention of the parties as it existed at the time of contracting. In that regard the Board stated:

Here, the parties to the C&R agreement were applicant and Southern Maryland Blue Crabs, insured by Chesapeake Employers Insurance Company. (C&R, pp. 1-3.) Neither SCIF/San Rafael Pacifics or Travelers/Gary Southshore Railcats were parties to the C&R. (Id.) Southern Maryland Blue Crabs/Chesapeake Employers Insurance Company paid consideration, whereas there is no evidence of any consideration made on the part of any other defendant(s).

The WCAB indicated there was no ambiguity and that the plain language of the C&R, paragraph #9, the applicant is resolving claims only against the carrier named in the C&R. "Based on the principles of contract law generally and the evidence in the record, including DWC-CA Form 10214(c), applicant intended to resolve claims as to the defendant(s) with whom he entered into the C&R agreement, i.e., Southern Maryland Blue Crabs and Chesapeake Employers Insurance Company."

The Board also noted that the Southern Maryland Blue Crabs and their carrier explicitly reserved their right to seek contribution against any other joined defendant. As a consequence any assessment or evaluation of potential apportionment of liability and/or the right of contribution is premature.

Travelers on reconsideration attempted to rely on the case of *Appleton v. Waessil* (1994) 27 Cal.App.4th 551. However, the WCAB said that case was inapplicable since that case dealt with the admissibility of parol evidence based on a potential ambiguity in the contract language. In the instant case the Board found no such ambiguity in the terms of the C&R.

Also in a footnote the Board noted that the Miami Marlins aka Florida Marlins filed a petition for dismissal, contending that applicant allegedly stipulated to its dismissal as a party defendant. However, there was no order in EAMS regarding their petition and no record of any order approving any such dismissal.

<u>Hart v. Oakland Invaders; North River Insurance Company</u> 2021 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P. D. LEXIS 269 (WCAB panel decision)

Issues and Holding: Whether defendant sustained its burden of proof to establish that the applicant's current cumulative trauma claim against the same employer and carrier was barred by by res judicate or collateral estoppel on the basis that it was the same cumulative trauma claim applicant previously filed and allegedly settled by compromise and release for \$42,000. The pivotal contested issue described by the WCAB was "whether the prior claim involves the same "cause of actions" as the current claim."

Both the WCJ and the WCAB on reconsideration found that applicant was not barred based on res judicata or collateral estoppel from litigating his current CT claim since defendant produced no evidence in the form of settlement documents, a claim form, application, medical records or other similar evidence to establish what injuries or conditions applicant had alleged and settled in his prior cumulative trauma claim and therefore defendant did not carry its burden of proof to establish that applicant's current claim was the same as his prior claim.

Factual and Procedural Overview: Applicant had a prior CT claim for the period of January 15, 1984 through July 24, 1986. against the Oakland Invaders (Invaders) insured by North River Insurance Company (North River). At trial, a defense witness testified that based on payment records that applicant and his prior attorney were paid \$42,000. No actual settlement documents were introduced by defendant at trial to substantiate what parts of body were settled by any alleged Compromise and Release for \$42,000, nor were there any medical reports or pleadings that would establish what parts of body applicant alleged in his first CT claim.

In December of 2020, applicant filed an Application for Adjudication alleging another CT claim against the Invaders for the period of January 4, 1984 through June 15, 1991, during some of the same years included in his first CT claim and alleging injury to multiple parts of body, conditions, and systems typically referred to as a "skin and contents" type claim. Applicant did not appear and testify at trial. Defendant did not subpoena the applicant to appear at trial or send a written notice to appear to applicant's attorney at least ten days before trial.

It was undisputed at trial that a prior CT claim was brought against the same party the Invaders. Also there was a final judgment in the prior claim in the form of a compromise and release that was approved on June 21, 1991 even though a copy of the compromise and release was not introduced into evidence.

It was undisputed that prior to trial the defendant knew the identity of applicant's prior attorney as well as the identity of the orthopedist who examined applicant in connection with his prior CT claim against the Invaders. However, the "defendant did not produce any documentary or testimonial evidence from either the attorney or the orthopedist."

With respect to records from the carrier related to the prior claim, a defense witness testified that the carrier kept on the payment information, and that this was entered when the data was transferred from paper to a computer system. The WCJ indicated that "[w]hatever documentation may have existed with respect to the original claim was apparently destroyed by the carrier at the time of its conversion to a computerized system." The WCAB also stated in its decision that "[i]n this case, it is true that all records related to the prior claim were purged by the Workers' Compensation Appeals Board." Echoing the WCJ's report on reconsideration the WCAB also stated that "[i]t is also true that defendant chose to purge all records related to applicant's prior claim when it transitioned to electronic record keeping. Defendant *chose* not to retain a copy of the Compromise and Release in the prior claim." (emphasis added).

Defendant filed a Petition for Reconsideration that was denied. Applicant chose not to file an Answer.

Defendant's Arguments at Trial and on Reconsideration:

1. Defendant argued that an adverse inference should be applied it its favor where an applicant fails to appear and testify at trial regarding his knowledge of his prior CT claim.

With respect to this argument, the WCAB rejected it based on the WCJ's analysis in the WCJ's Report on Reconsideration. The WCAB found no willful suppression of evidence by the applicant that would create an adverse inference. More importantly, with respect to defendant's argument that an adverse interest should be applied due to applicant not appearing and testifying at trial the WCAB stated:

However, contrary to Petitioner's assertion there is no requirement for Applicant personally to be present at trial to testify, so long as he is represented at trial by counsel. [See: Labor Code section 5700; Reg 10756]. Applicant was represented at trial by his attorney. He was not required personally (or in this instance telephonically) to be present.

In order to guarantee a represented applicant's presence at trial, even if listed as a witness on the pre-trial conference statement, a defendant must either subpoena the applicant or send written notice to appear to the applicant's attorney at least ten days before trial. [C.C.P. 1987(a), (b); See: Martinez v Friendly Franchisees, et al, 2015 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 358; Mubina Kusljugic v Community Assistance for Retarded and Handicapped, Inc., 2015 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 135; Luis Gonzalez v. Ontic Engineering Manufacturing, 2013 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 548]. Petitioner did not subpoena the Applicant, nor did Petitioner send his attorney a written notice for Applicant to appear. Consequently, there was no legal requirement in place for Applicant personally to be present. Thus, his non-attendance raises no adverse inference

.

Petitioner knew at the time of the MSC that there was little or no documentary evidence to address the details of the prior claim. In light of that, if Petitioner believed it was necessary for Applicant to testify about the subject at hand, Petitioner should have made arrangements to compel Applicant's personal attendance at trial. This was not done.

Accordingly, inasmuch as Applicant's personal presence wasn't legally "necessary" his absence does not provide a basis for an adverse inference. Moreover, there was no obstruction on the part Applicant to Petitioner's inquiry into the prior claim, merely a failure by Petitioner to make sure Applicant was available to testify about it.

2. Defendant argued that the facts and evidence it presented at trial were sufficient to establish that Applicant's current claim for injury is duplicative of his prior claim of injury against the same employer, for the same date of injury.

Both the WCJ and the WCAB determined that the defendant "has provided no proof that the current claim is the same as the prior claim." The WCAB also states that "[t]here is also no evidence in this record to support barring any of the body parts plead by applicant in the current claim under the doctrine of issue preclusion, based on the prior claim. Again, issue preclusion will not apply if the current claim involves a different injury." In that regard the Board stated:

Mr. Hart's current claim alleges injury to multiple parts of body, including nervous system in the form of stress, nervous system in the form of psychiatric injury, trunk, lower extremities, body system, head, brain, ears, jaw, mouth, teeth, nose, neck, skull, arms, wrist, hand and fingers, abdomen including internal organs and groin, back, chest, hips including pelvis and pelvic organs, elbow, buttocks, shoulders, leg, ankle, circulatory system including heart, digestive system, respiratory system including lungs, trachea, and reproductive system. In the face of these allegations of extensive injury nothing was produced at trial to document the allegations in the prior claim and nothing was produced at trial to document what was settled in the prior claim. Consequently, no comparison of the claims can be made. As pointed out in the Opinion, "All the Court has is the fact that a cumulative trauma type claim affecting unknown parts-of body was filed against the Oakland Invaders, covering some of the years currently alleged as injurious, and that likely it was settled, maybe by a compromise & release, and a payment of \$42,000 was made to Mr. Hart and his attorney."

The Board stated that "[t]here is no evidence in the record-substantial or otherwise-to determine whether the current claim is the same claim previously settled. The doctrines of claim preclusion and issue preclusion do not apply when the prior claim involves a different injury." (citations omitted).

3. Defendant argued it would be unfair to allow Applicant to proceed with his current claim because no one would expect a Defendant to retain records of a case for over 30 years.

The WCJ refuted this argument by observing that the defendant was the architect of its own inability to produce the necessary documentation to establish res judicata or collateral estoppel. The primary impediment faced by the defendant in this case in trying to prove applicant filed duplicate CT claims was not the passage of time. More importantly "the lack of available documentation is due to a decisionin its changeover to a computerized system, elected not to retain anything other than payment information."

As the WCJ stated in his report, "[a]ny prejudice based on a lack of documentation is the result of Petitioner's own actions." As early as the MSC in this case the defendant knew "...that there was little or no documentary evidence to address the details of the prior claim..."

"Even so, defendant did not take the affirmative steps necessary to meet its burden of proof." (emphasis added).

Editor's Comment: One can assume that as in this case, there are many old claims and cases from thirty or forty years ago and even more recent claims, where carriers, employers, third party administrators and their counsel have destroyed claims files and records for a variety of reasons without retaining critical documents such as settlement documents, MMI/P&S reports, and other significant pleadings.

This case is unique and limited to its facts with respect to certain aspects of the case. However, the lack of documentation in order for the defendant to prove res judicata and collateral estoppel was further compounded by the fact that applicant did not testify at trial and that defendant failed to compel applicant's personal attendance at trial by subpoena or by serving a written notice for applicant to appear. Whether this was an oversight or a tactical decision by defendant designed to try and establish an adverse inference if applicant failed to attend and testify at trial is unknown. One can only speculate that even if applicant had testified, whether his testimony on direct or cross examination would have been sufficient without the supporting documentary evidence for the defendant to prove up res judicata or collateral estoppel.

The important lesson from this case for defendants is that when they purge or destroy old claims and litigation files to make sure that key documents are retained either electronically or physically in order to avoid costly claims arising decades later like Lazarus from the grave after claims and cases were considered to have been closed forever. As the WCJ stated, "[a]ny prejudice based on a lack of documentation is the result of Petitioner's own actions." This case will hopefully serve as a reminder for defendants to periodically reevaluate and fine tune their document retention policies and procedures.

<u>Ferragamo v. St. Louis Rams</u> (formerly known as Los Angeles Rams, et al.) 2017 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P. D. LEXIS 283 (WCAB panel decision)

Issues and Holding: Whether an Application for Adjudication applicant filed in September of 2013, alleging injury while working as a professional football player to his head, neck, upper extremities, leg, and other body parts was barred by the doctrine of res judicata given the fact applicant entered into a prior Compromise and Release related to a cumulative trauma injury for the period of April 15, 1977 to October 1, 1987, with a Compromise and Release and Order Approving issued in October 1988, in the amount of \$55,000.00. The 1988 Compromise and Release described and covered as injured body parts and conditions, "multiple parts, including but not limited to orthopedic, internal, psych, ENT, and all other parts of the body as described in the medical reports filed herein." The brain was not specifically listed as a covered body part in the 1988 Compromise and Release.

The WCJ found that applicant's 2013 cumulative trauma claim was barred by the 1988 Compromise and Release settlement. Applicant filed a Petition for Reconsideration which was

granted by the WCAB. The WCAB in a split panel decision reversed the WCJ and found that applicant's new September 2013 Application was not barred by the doctrine of res judicata.

Factual and Procedural Overview: It was undisputed that applicant had experienced headaches, concussions, and vertigo during his career as a professional football player. Moreover, there was a medical report in June of 1988, before the original October 1988 Compromise and Release was entered into in which indicated applicant had a "mild" form of "post-concussion syndrome." Defendant also argued on reconsideration that applicant should have known that he had sustained cumulative injury to his brain based upon his concussions while playing football with ongoing headaches and vertigo. In contrast, there was a report in August of 2015, obtained after applicant filed his second Application for Adjudication in 2013, alleging injury to his brain in which the physician indicated that medical reporting in applicant's claim in 1988 did not include a diagnosis of cumulative trauma injury to applicant's brain and CTE was not yet known to be an issue for professional football players. At trial, the defense expert witness also confirmed this fact.

Defendant also argued the October 1988 Compromise and Release/settlement agreement had a Civil Code §1542 waiver or release, which specifically indicated that the parties release relates to "any disability concerning applicant's condition, present and/or future nature, whether now known or unknown."

With respect to the effect of the release language in the October 1988 Compromise and Release, both the WCJ and the WCAB indicated that, "The question of whether the release bars a subsequent claim is an issue of fact that requires a determination of whether the release was "knowingly" made based upon evidence other than the language of the release. (*Casey v. Proctor* (1963) 59 Cal.2d 97, 111-112.) The WCAB indicated that in applying the *Casey* standard to the facts of this case that:

In this case, the 1988 release does not bar the pending claim because the brain injury/CTE (chronic traumatic encephalitis) now claimed by applicant did not exist and was unknown at the time of the earlier settlement. Applicant's "brain" was not expressly identified as an injured body part in the 1987 Application for Adjudication of Claim...and it is not listed as a covered body part in the subsequent compromise and release agreement.

The WCAB in finding that the prior Compromise and Release was not res judicata and did not bar applicant's new 2013 alleged injury to the brain indicated, "There is no evidence that applicant suffered from compensable disability due to brain injury at the time of the 1988 settlement, in the absence of compensable disability there is no industrial injury."

The WCAB also stated:

If the injury is known at the time of the settlement, the release is binding upon the parties, even if unknown or unexpected consequences result therefrom, but if the injury is unknown, and the parties purport to settle for all injuries sustained, then the release will not be held to be binding upon the parties as to the injury which was unknown to the parties at the time of executing the release. (citations)

The WCAB indicated that the injury claimed to applicant's brain in 2013 was unknown at the time of the 1988 general release and therefore the §1542 release and other related provisions does not apply to bar the pending claim. Moreover, since neither party was aware of the risk that was imposed in making the 1988 release the defendant would receive a windfall if the applicant's current claim was barred by the prior relief.

Editor's Comment: There is some question as to whether or not applicant's 2013 claim would be barred by res judicata if the 1988 Compromise and Release had in fact listed "brain and all related conditions and symptoms" as a body part or condition. Neither the brain nor any related symptoms were listed in the 1988 Compromise and Release and the ambiguous reference to "all other parts of the body as described in the medical reports filed herein" was simply insufficient to put applicant on notice or create an awareness he was settling or resolving all claims related to his brain, known or unknown at that time. So, the practice pointer is that since the Compromise and Release is treated as an Application for Adjudication all body parts and conditions should be listed expressly and specifically, including all related symptoms and conditions without reference to "those listed in the medical reports." (see also, *Bell v. Los Angeles Raiders, CIGA* 2015 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 338 (WCAB panel decision) (finding that earlier Compromise and Release was not res judicata as to applicant's subsequent claim for a cumulative brain injury since the earlier Compromise and Release and general release language related only to applicant's orthopedic claims and injuries.)

<u>Dorsett v. Denver Broncos and Dallas Cowboys</u> 2013 Cal. Wrk. Comp P.D. LEXIS 359 (WCAB panel decision); see also, California Workers' Compensation Law & Practice §15.50; 15:55

Issues/Holding: Where a prior Compromise and Release and Order Approving issued in 1991, included "head" and also language settling "all claims" of injuries to applicant's head effectively barred any new claim of injury related to psychological or neuropsychological injuries including post-concussion syndrome. Moreover, based on Labor Code Section 5804, there was no basis to set aside the previous 1991 Compromise and Release since the five-year jurisdictional limit had expired and there was no showing of extrinsic fraud or mistake.

Factual Background: Applicant, Anthony Dorsett played for two professional football teams in his NFL career: the Dallas Cowboys and the Denver Broncos in the years 1977 through 1989. Two years after he retired, he filed a cumulative trauma claim involving multiple body parts including neck, back, both lower extremities, upper extremities, head, spine, internal, and other parts of body referred to medicals on file. Applicant's claim against the Cowboys and Broncos was settled via Compromise and Release and Order Approving issued on September 24, 1991. Applicant received a lump sum payment of \$85,000.00.

On April 11, 2011 applicant filed another cumulative trauma claim in case number ADJ7763837 against the same employers related to the same cumulative trauma period that was alleged in the first Application for Adjudication. He essentially listed the same body parts.

At Trial, the WCJ took judicial notice of the 1991 Compromise and Release agreement and Order Approving. Also, during the course of the hearing applicant testified he did not recall his earlier

settlement by way of a Compromise and Release but did recognize and acknowledge his signature on the Application and Compromise and Release in the first case. Applicant also testified he experienced numerous hits to his head and concussions during his years of employment as a football player. The WCJ and the WCAB noted that "head" was specifically identified as an injured body part in the first application and that "head" was specifically listed in the Compromise and Release agreement. The WCJ found the 1991 Compromise and Release and Order Approving was res judicate and barred applicant from proceeding further in alleging a new claim. Applicant filed a Petition for Reconsideration. In denying applicant's Petition for Reconsideration, the Board emphasized that in addition to listing "head" as an injured body part, there was an express release, which released defendants of "all" claims of injury concerning his head based on language that indicating applicant was releasing and forever discharging the employer and carrier from "all claims" and causes of actions, whether now known or ascertained, or which may hereafter arise or develop as a result of said injury.

The WCAB also noted that applicant's reliance on old asbestosis case was misplaced and distinguishable based on the progressive and latent nature of asbestos. In this case, it was undisputed applicant acknowledged that he suffered concussions and headaches as a result of his head injuries while playing football when he filed and settled his first claim.

Discussion/Practice Pointers: Given the current focus on concussion, dementia, and CTE, this case is significant in that defendants, in drafting settlement documents, should be extremely careful in making sure that all known body parts and conditions are included in the Compromise and Release settlement with as much specificity and elaboration, as necessary. A good example of where a subsequent claim was not barred by a prior settlement by way of Compromise and Release is *Duckworth v. Los Angeles Rams, et al.* (2016) 81 Cal.Comp.Cases 234; 2016 Cal.Wrk.Comp. LEXIS 11 (writ of review dismissed). In *Duckworth*, applicant settled a 7/81-11/30/86 CT claim by C&R for \$32,000.00 in 1989. The body parts and conditions specified in the 1989 C&R related expressly to multiple listed orthopedic body parts and those listed or mentioned in the medical reports (also all orthopedic). There was no mention or reference to head and brain in the C&R. In 2013, applicant filed an Application for the same CT date of injury, but for injury to brain and nervous system.

Defendant argued the prior C&R barred applicant's new claim. Both the WCJ and the WCAB held the new claim was not barred by the prior C&R since the prior 1989 C&R reflected it was the intent of the parties to settle all claims of orthopedic injury only. It appears defendant was unable to prove (unlike in *Dorsett*) that applicant was aware of the existence of a brain injury when the 1989 C&R was executed. Moreover, there should also be similar language, as in the *Dorsett* case, related to a release of all claims and causes of action whether now known or ascertained or which may hereafter arise or develop as a result of any injury. (See also, *Giles v. Tennessee Titans* 2013 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 644 (WCAB panel decision) (same holding as *Dorsett* and *Moss v. WCAB, Golden State Warriors* (2018) 83 Cal. Comp. Cases 725 (writ denied); WCAB refused to set aside C&R for cumulative injuries in which applicant settled for the period of 1982-1996, when he played for the Warriors. No basis to support applicant allegations that C&R settlement was procured by fraud, was not supported by the evidence, and did not sufficiently address issues of permanent disability, that there was newly discovered evidence.

See also *Ford v. Houston Oilers* 2012 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 179 (WCAB Panel Decision) Parties entered into Stipulations with Request for Award that did not expressly list either neurological or dental injuries as parts of body or conditions injured. Post Award, applicant sought dental and neurological medical treatment. Treatment was denied by defendant. Applicant argued it was the parties' intent to include these body parts in the Stipulations. Both the WCJ and the WCAB on reconsideration found no mutual mistake, fraud, duress, undue influence, inadvertence, excusable neglect, or mistake of law or fact.

Also, the failure of one party to exercise due diligence does not establish good cause to set aside the Stipulated Award. "Stipulations once accepted and acted upon become an executed contract, from which a party cannot be released without good cause." (*Huston v. WCAB (Coast Rock)* (1979) 44 Cal. Comp. Cases 798) Another case dealing with the binding force and effect of stipulations on the parties and the difficulty in establishing good cause to set them aside is *County of Sacramento v. WCAB (Weatherall)* (2000) 77 Cal. App. 4th 1114; 65 Cal. Comp. Cases 1.

<u>Dupard v. Washington Redskins, The Hartford Insurance Company</u> 2012 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 279 (WCAB panel decision)

Case Summary: Applicant was a player for the Washington Redskins. While with the Redskins he suffered a specific right hip injury in December of 1989. During the course of his career with the Redskins he played one game in California against the San Francisco 49ers. With respect to the December 23, 1989, specific right hip injury that he suffered outside of California, he filed a workers' compensation claim against the Redskins and their insurance carrier Hartford in the District of Columbia. Applicant was represented by counsel. In 2004 applicant settled his 1989 specific right hip injury against the Redskins for \$30,000.00 and signed what was characterized later by the WCAB as a full and complete general indemnity release. A pertinent part of that general liability release provided as follows:

It is intended by the parties that this agreement constitutes a full and complete general indemnity release satisfying any and all claims heretofore listed in the caption and any claims which could have been filed against the Employer [the Washington Redskins] and Hartford.

In August of 2007, over three years after he settled his 1989 right hip specific injury against the Redskins, applicant filed a cumulative trauma injury claim in California. The WCJ found the provisions of the full and complete general indemnity release the applicant signed in conjunction with the settlement of his specific right hip injury in the District of Columbia precluded him and found that applicant's claim was barred based on the terms of the full and complete general indemnity release.

Applicant filed a Petition for Reconsideration.

Discussion: The WCAB reviewed and analyzed a number of cases and in reviewing the express language of the general indemnity release contained in the settlement of the applicant's 1989 right hip specific injury that was settled in 2004 in the District of Columbia. The WCAB held it barred the applicant's California CT claim and stated as follows:

In this matter, we find that the scope of the Maryland settlement agreement encompassed all of applicant's claims against the employer and Hartford and that his case is barred by the General Release provision of the Maryland settlement. Applicant acknowledged at trial that he read the settlement agreement and reviewed it with his attorney before he signed it. The settlement agreement was approved by a Judge. The General Release clause is unambiguous and clear on its face that it released the Washington Redskins and their workers' compensation insurer, the Hartford, from any claims that could be filed against them while applicant played for the Washington Redskins. The settlement agreement is a "full and complete general indemnity release" that is not limited in any manner.

It releases defendant from any and all workers' compensation claims that involve applicant and both the Washington Redskins and the Hartford Insurance Company. Applicant's argument that the General Release only applied to his injury to his right hip and shoulder would be correct if the General Release only applied to the allegations in the Application filed in Maryland. However, that is not the language of the General Release, which specifies that it applies to all claims that could be filed against those two entities.

5. Venue

<u>Alexander v. New York Giants, Berkley Specialty, Pittsburg Steelers, Arizona</u> <u>Cardinals and Carolina Panthers</u> 2012 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 399 (WCAB panel decision)

Issue: If an applicant is not a resident of California at the time the Application for Adjudication is filed and there is a timely objection by a defendant, pursuant to Labor Code section 5501.5(c) and CCR Section 10410, venue must be transferred to the WCAB District Office where the last California injurious exposure occurred.

Procedural Background and Discussion: Applicant filed an Application for Adjudication alleging a cumulative trauma injury. In the Application, choice of venue was designated at the Santa Ana WCAB District Office based on the fact this was the county where applicant's attorney had his principal place of business. Defendant, the New York Giants Football Club, and their workers' compensation insurance carrier, Great Divide Insurance Company/Berkley, filed a timely objection pursuant to Labor Code sections 5501.5(a)(3); 5501.5(c) and CCR Section 10410.

Notwithstanding defendant's timely objection, the Presiding Workers' Compensation Administrative Law Judge (PWCJ) denied defendant's Petition for Transfer of Venue to the Oakland WCAB District Office. Defendant filed a Petition for Removal which was granted by the WCAB. The WCAB rescinded the PWCJ's Order Denying Venue and returned the case to the trial level for a determination as to whether the location of the last California injurious exposure was in Alameda County and if that was the location of the last California injurious exposure then proper venue would be the Oakland WCAB District Office.

Practice Pointer: It is important to note that if a defendant makes a timely objection, i.e., within thirty days after notice of the adjudication case number and venue is received by the employer or insurance carrier, then it is mandatory that venue be changed or transferred to the county of applicant's residence or if applicant was not a resident of California at the time the Application was filed, in the California county of his last injurious exposure. There is no requirement that defendant show or establish good cause. All that is required under sections 5501.5(a)(3), 5501.5 (c) and section 10410 is a timely objection. See also, *Hobbs v. New England Patriots, Philadelphia Eagles, Great Divide Ins. Co.* 2012 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 416 (WCAB Panel Decision)

6. Statute of Limitations

<u>Vaughn v. Colorado Rockies; Tampa Bay Rays (Vaughn II)</u> 2024 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 33 (WCAB panel decision); see also, <u>Vaughn v. Colorado Rockies;</u> <u>Tampa Bay Rays (Vaughn I)</u> 2023 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 76 (WCAB panel decision).

Procedural and Factual Overview: Applicant filed a CT claim while employed as a professional baseball player for the period of June 1, 1986 to July 13, 2003 for various teams. The parties stipulated that applicant worked for the Tampa Bay Rays from December 13, 1999, to March 22, 2003, and the Colorado Rockies from April 11, 2003 to July 14, 2003. Applicant also claimed that he entered into a contract of hire with the San Diego Padres while within California's territorial limits during the CT period. Defendants argued that applicant was never hired by the Rockies or Tampa Bay in California and as a consequence these two employers were exempt from liability pursuant to LC 3600.5(c).

From a procedural standpoint, there were two trials and two separate Findings and Orders issued by the WCJ. The first trial occurred on January 16, 2020. The first Findings and Order was issued on April 9, 2020, where the WCJ found California subject matter jurisdiction over applicant's claim based on a contract of hire between the applicant and the Padres. However, the WCJ also determined that applicant's claim was barred by the LC 5405 statute of limitations. Applicant filed a Petition for Reconsideration which was granted by the WCAB who rescinded the WCJ's first Findings and Order and "directed the WCJ to revisit his analysis under section 5405, and to develop the record as necessary" and issue a new decision.

The second trial took place on August 8, 2023. The WCJ issued his second Findings and Order on November 22, 2023, finding that California did not have subject matter jurisdiction over applicant's CT claim based on LC 3600.5 and that applicant's date of injury pursuant to LC 5412 was "no later than spring of 2004." Based on this LC 5412 date if injury the WCJ found that applicant's CT claim was barred by the LC section 5405 statute of limitations. Applicant again filed a Petition for Reconsideration arguing that the statute of limitations was tolled and the the WCJ "misconstrued the exemptions to liability found in section 3600.5(c)."

The WCAB granted reconsideration and rescinded the WCJ's decision and found that applicant suffered a CT injury and that there was California subject matter jurisdiction over applicant's CT claim pursuant to LC 3600.5(a) based on a California contract of hire with the Padres. The WCAB also found the LC 5412 date of injury was November 16, 2018 and that compensation was not barred by the LC section 5405 statute of limitations.

The WCAB's Decision

1. Subject Matter Jurisdiction: The WCJ's decision that there was no California subject matter jurisdiction was premised on his belief that with respect to the Rays and the Rockies there had not been a showing that "applicant had sufficient contacts through contract or games played upon

which he can claim jurisdiction under the statute." However, the WCAB correctly ruled that the WCJ had incorrectly applied section 3600.5 since that section expressly states that "California retains jurisdiction over all injuries occurring outside its territorial boundaries if the contract of employment was entered into in California or if the employee was regularly employed in California."

With respect to defendant's argument that the Rays and the Rockies were exempt pursuant to LC 3600.5(c), because applicant was not hired in California by either team, the WCAB cited and discussed in great length their decision in *Hansell v. Arizona Diamondbacks* 2022 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 83 (*Hansell*) which is exactly on point and focused on the issue of the interaction of subdivisions (a) and (c) of section 3600.5. The Board quoted almost six pages from the *Hansell* decision! The WCAB described this situation as a "mixed claim" meaning a situation "where the applicant was hired in California for some of the cumulative trauma period, but also signed a contract outside California with the employer asserting it is exempt from subdivision (c)......"

Noting the inherent ambiguity of the statutory language in this situation, the Board based on a lengthy analysis and discussion of legislative intent found that the facts of the instant case were similar to *Hansell* stating that:

......the claimed cumulative trauma injury encompasses contracts of hire entered into both within and without California's territorial borders. Here, as in *Hansell*, we are persuaded that the applicant's contract of hire with the San Diego Padres as well as his multiple seasons of employment with a California-based-team, serve to alleviate the legislative concerns informing the amendments of section 3600.5(c) and (d). This is because applicant's contract of hire and multiple seasons of employment with a California-based team would not fall in the same category as those with "extremely minimal California contacts" whose claims the Legislature sought to exempt. Applicant's contract of hire, entered into within California's territorial borders serves to confer California jurisdiction over applicant's claimed cumulative injury. (*Hansell, supra*, at p. *31; see also *Hermanson v. San Francisco Giants* (November 20, 2023, ADJ11134795) [2023 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 328]; *Wilson v. Florida Marlins* (February 26, 2020, ADJ10779733) [2020 Cal. Work. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 30].)

The WCAB in this case as they did earlier in *Hansell*, found that subdivision (d) of section 3600.5 "was intended to render this subdivision applicable only to athletes without a California contract of hire, and therefore to bar only claims from those athletes without the strong contact with California that is created by a California contract of hire" as was the situation in the instant case. As a consequence, the WCAB rescinded the WCJ's "[f]inding of Fact No. 2, which finds no jurisdiction pursuant to section 3600.5, and substitute a Finding of Fact that applicant's California contract of hire confers subject matter jurisdiction over the claimed injury pursuant to section 3600.5(a)." see also, *Gandy v. Atlanta Falcons, Great Divide Insurance Co., et al.*, 2024 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 163 (In a case the Board held on to for 4 ½ years after granting applicant's petition for reconsideration for further study, the WCAB rescinded the WCJ's F&A finding that applicant and the Falcons were exempt California jurisdiction pursuant to LC section 3600.5(c) and (d). The Board found that based on the parties stipulated that the applicant's contract with the Los Angeles Rams was formed in California based on applicant was in California when

he signed his contract with the Rams. As a consequence pursuant to *Hansell v. Arizona Diamondbacks* 2022 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 83 this is sufficient in and of itself to confer California Jurisdiction over applicant's claimed CT injury. The Board remanded the case back to the trial level on all other issues including a determination of the correct date of injury under LC 5412 and whether compensation is barred by LC section 5405. (see also, *Gandy v. Atlanta Falcons, Great Divide Ins., Co., et.al (Gandy II)* 2024 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS _____ where WCAB reaffirmed its earlier decision in *Gandy I* holding that its prior decision in *Hansell* controls in situations where a contract of hire made within California operates to negate the application of the LC 3600.5(c) exemption provision as a basis to dismiss the Falcons.

2. The Correct Labor Code Section 5412 Date of Injury and the Statute of Limitations: In order to determine whether applicant's CT claim was barred by the LC 5405 statute of limitations, the WCAB first had to determine the correct date of injury pursuant to LC 5412. The Board stated the WCJ erroneously determined the LC 5412 date of injury to be as "no later than the Spring of 2004" and as a consequence mistakenly ruled that applicant's CT claim filed in 2018 was barred by the LC 5405 statute of limitations. In determining the correct LC 5412 date of injury related to cumulative trauma injuries the Board referenced the language of section 5412 stressing the "disability" and "knowledge" components:

The date of injury in cases of occupational diseases or cumulative injuries is that date upon which the employee first suffered disability therefrom and either knew, or in the exercise of reasonable diligence should have known, that such disability was caused by his present or prior employment.

With respect to the definition of "disability" pursuant to section 5412 the Board noted that:

The Court of Appeal has defined "disability" per section 5412 as "either compensable temporary disability or permanent disability," noting that "medical treatment alone is not disability, but it may be evidence of compensable permanent disability, as may a need for splints and modified work. These are questions for the trier of fact to determine and may require expert medical opinion." (*State Comp. Ins. Fund v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd. (Rodarte)* (2004) 119 Cal.App.4th 998, 1005 [59 Cal.Comp.Cases 579].)

As to the "knowledge" component the Board stated that ".....the "knowledge" component of section 5412, whether an employee knew or should have known his disability was industrially caused is a question of fact. (City of Fresno v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd. (Johnson) (1985) 163 Cal.App.3d 467, 471 [50 Cal.Comp.Cases 53] (Johnson).) The WCAB based on a "synthesis" of the principles articulated by the Court of Appeal in Johnson concluded that:

[A]pplicant will not be charged with knowledge that his disability is job related without medical advice to that effect unless the nature of the disability and applicant's training, intelligence and qualifications are such that applicant should have recognized the relationship between the known adverse factors involved in his employment and his disability." (*Id.* at p. 473.) Accordingly, and notwithstanding his suspicions of work-

relatedness, Johnson was not charged with knowledge that his condition was work related. (*Ibid.*)

Applying the *Johnson* analysis to the facts of the instant case, the Board indicated the record did not reflect that applicant had the requisite knowledge of the existence of a cumulative trauma or its relationship to applicant's work activities as a professional baseball player until his QME evaluation on November 16, 2018. In doing so, the Board rejected the WCJ's analysis as well as defendant's arguments. Defendant argued that since "applicant was employed in a very physical position widely known to be injurious" he should have known he had sustained disability and that the disability was related to his employment. In rejecting this argument, the WCAB stated that "[h]owever we are not persuaded that employment in a physically demanding profession confers an understanding of the relationship between the known adverse factors involved in applicant's employment and applicant's disability." The WCAB concluded that the applicant did not possess "an understanding that he had incurred a cumulative injury, or that his work activities were causative of that cumulative injury, until he received medical advice to that effect in 2018." (See also *Piurowski v. Dallas Cowboys; Miami Dolphis; Tampa Bay Bandits et al.*, 2024 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 173 (WCAB panel decision) similar holding.

The record also failed to demonstrate that prior to 2018, applicant was ever advised as to his rights to file a workers' compensation claim for a cumulative trauma in California nor any of the applicable time limits to file such a claim. Based on the entire record the Board found that the applicable LC 5412 date of injury was on November 16, 2018, the date of the QME report reflecting the first evidence of medical advice to the applicant of both the existence of a CT injury as well as it being related to applicant's work activities as a professional baseball player. Consequently, since applicant's Application for Adjudication was filed on February 21, 2018, within one year of the correct LC 5412 date of injury, "compensation is not barred by the running of the statute of limitations of section 5405."

Comment: It is unclear from the record whether there was a potential viable issue related to a lack of WCAB personal jurisdiction over the Rays and the Rockies that could have been raised initially in the case and possibly bifurcated and taken to trial as a dispositive threshold issue. The WCJ's Opinion on Decision reflected that "there has not been a showing that as against the named defendants herein, applicant had sufficient contacts through contract or *games played* upon which he can claim jurisdiction under the statute." (emphasis added). In terms of subject matter jurisdiction, the Board was correct that a contract for hire formed in California at any point in the alleged CT period is sufficient for subject matter jurisdiction over the entire alleged CT claim.

However, if the applicant played no games in California for either the Rays or the Rockies and thus had no injurious exposure in addition to no contracts of hire formed with applicant in California, then independently the issue of lack of personal jurisdiction if timely raised and not waived may have been a potential separate dispositive defense for the Rays and Rockies under the *Bristol-Myers* line of US Supreme Court Cases since unlike subject matter jurisdiction which is derivative, personal jurisdiction is not derivative and must be established as to each defendant in a multi-defendant case individually.

<u>McPherson v. Cincinnati Reds, PSI</u> 2020 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 164 (WCAB panel decision) (see editor's comment at the end of the case for a reference to and brief summary of a WCAB panel decision on this same issue, Elks v. Sharp Health Care; Ace America Ins. Co., Administered by ESIS, Inc. 2022 Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS _____(WCAB panel decision 8/15/22)

Issues and Holding: In this case the WCJ and the WCAB both found subject matter jurisdiction based on the fact that two of applicant's employment contracts with defendant were signed by applicant in California. However, the WCAB rescinded the WCJ's finding that applicant's Application for Adjudication related to a cumulative trauma claim was barred by the statute of limitations.

In rescinding the WCJ's finding that applicant's claim was barred by the statute of limitations the WCAB found the WCJ based his decision on an erroneous interpretation of sections 3208.1(b) and 5412, and as a result there has been no determination of applicant's date of injury as required by section 5412. Therefore, the WCAB returned the case to the trial level for further proceedings and development of the record consistent with its decision on the statute of limitations issue.

Procedural and Factual Overview: Applicant filed an application for adjudication of claim on April 20, 2016 alleging a cumulative trauma claim for the period of June 1, 1974 through December 31, 1977 to multiple body parts and systems while practicing and playing professional baseball. The WCJ found that two of applicant's employment contracts with the defendant were signed by him while he was physically present in San Diego, California and therefore there was a basis for California subject matter jurisdiction over applicant's CT claim. The defendant did not file a Petition for Reconsideration on the WCJ's determination there was subject matter jurisdiction.

Applicant's medical history: Applicant suffered a right knee injury in 1977 and was treated daily. No one told him he could file a workers' compensation claim and no doctor ever told him that his right knee injury caused any permanent disability. In 1978 he saw an orthopedic surgeon in Oregon who performed surgery on his right knee. The applicant paid for the surgery himself. The surgeon did not tell him he had a permanent disability and did not inform him as to whether he could file a workers' compensation case. Applicant testified that he knew his 1977 right knee injury was connected to playing baseball in 1977. He also learned that his neck injury was related to baseball in the mid-1990's. He claimed that when his baseball career ended in 1977, he did not know that his injuries were related to his professional baseball career. He retired from baseball after the 1977 season because he had an offer to work in the lumber business.

He testified that he first learned that he could file a workers' compensation claim in approximately April of 2016 while he was visiting his father and a friend who also played baseball with him for the defendant. His friend and former teammate told him that he might be able to make a claim for workers' compensation benefits.

The WCJ's Decision: The WCJ found that the WCAB had subject matter jurisdiction over applicant's CT claim based on the fact that the evidence established that two of his three

employment contracts with the defendant were California contracts for hire. The WCJ also found that section 3600.5(d) did not apply due to the two California contracts for hire.

With respect to the statute of limitations affirmative defense raised by the defendant, the WCJ found applicant's CT claim was barred by the statute of limitations based on section 5405(a) and was not tolled based on the *Reynolds* and *Martin* cases "because applicant failed to notify defendant of his cumulative trauma injury." Applicant filed a Petition for Reconsideration of the WCJ's decision barring his CT claim based on section 5412(a).

Discussion: Preliminarily the WCAB noted that since the statute of limitations is an affirmative defense the burden of proof on the issue rests with the defendant. (sections 5409, 5705). The Board also stated that "If statutes of limitation are subject to conflicting interpretations, one beneficial and the other detrimental to the employee, section 3202 requires that they be construed favorably to the employee. (*Colonial Ins. Co. v. Ind. Acc. Com.* (1945) 27 Cal.2d 437 [164 P.2d 490].)" (City of Fresno v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd. (Johnson) (1985) 163 Cal.App.3d 467, 471 [50 Cal.Comp.Cases 53].)

The statute of limitations issue raised at trial was vague: The WCAB stated that the statute of limitations issue was vaguely framed at trial as "Application is barred by statute of limitations." The WCJ's findings only dealt with the one-year statute of limitations in subdivision (a) of section 5405 with no reference or findings of fact related to the subdivisions (b) or (c) of section 5405. The Board stated that since the applicant's claim was denied there was no evidence that any disability or medical benefits were paid to the applicant, and if true it would appear that neither subdivisions 5402(b) nor (c) would apply in this case. However, the Board could not make any findings to that effect without "running afoul of applicant's right to due process."

Section 5412 date of injury: Since applicant alleged a cumulative trauma (CT) injury, as defined under section 3208.1(b) that section requires in part that "the date of a cumulative trauma injury shall be the date determined under Section 5412."

The two-part analysis required to determine the section 5412 "date of injury": The WCAB described the established two-part analysis to be used to help determine a date of injury under section 5412 as, 1.) when did the employee first suffer a compensable disability from a CT injury, and 2.) when did the employee know, or in the exercise of reasonable diligence should have known, that the compensable disability was caused by his or her employment. (See *State Comp. Ins. Fund v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd. (Rodarte)* (2004) 119 Cal.App.4th 998 [69 Cal.Comp.Cases 579].)

Did the applicant suffer a compensable disability from a CT injury? The Board indicated that the statute of limitations related to a CT injury will not begin to run "until the last day of employment exposure to such activities, **or** the compensable disability caused by such activities, **whichever is later.**" (*Rodarte, supra, 119 Cal.App.4th at p. 1002, emphasis added.*) Either compensable temporary disability or permanent disability is required to satisfy section 5412 and medical treatment alone is not disability, but it may be evidence of compensable permanent disability. "... These are questions for the trier of fact to determine and may require expert medical opinion. (*Id. at pp. 1005-1006.*)

Compensable temporary disability requires "an industrially-related inability or reduced ability to work, together with wage loss." (Stratton v. San Diego Chargers 2014 Cal.Wrk.Comp.P.D. LEXIS 697 citing Rodarte, supra, 119 Cal.App.4th at p. 1003.) Compensable permanent disability requires a "ratable permanent disability" (Id. at p. 1004 citing Chavira v. Workmen's Comp. Appeals Bd. (1991) 235Cal.App.3d 463, 474-475), and "[g]enerally...does not arise until the injured worker's condition becomes permanent and stationary." (Stratton, supra, citing Dept. of Rehabilitation v. Workers' comp. Appeals Bd.(Lauher) (2003) 30 Cal.4th 1281, 1292 [68 Cal.Comp.Cases 831]; Cal. Code Regs., tit. 8, § 10152.) "[M]odified work alone is not a sufficient basis for compensable temporary disability. But, a modification may indicate a permanent impairment of earning capacity, especially if the worker is never able to return to the original job duties." (Id. at p. 1005 (emphasis in the original) citing Allianz Ins. Group v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd. (1994) 64 Cal.Comp.Cases 83.)

It is defendant's burden to establish whether and when applicant sustained a compensable disability. The Board noted that the current record had not been developed enough to conduct a thorough analysis of the compensability issue and the WCAB could not make their own independent findings "without violating the parties' rights to due process." (see *Gangwish v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd.* (2001) 89 Cal.App. 4th 1284, 66 Cal.Comp.Cases 584).

Did the applicant have the requisite knowledge that he suffered a work-related CT injury? In terms of applicable case law, it is a question of fact for the trier of fact to determine whether an employee knew or should have known his or her disability is industrially related. (*City of Fresno v. Workers' Comp, Appeals Bd. (Johnson)* (1985) 163 Cal.App.3d 467, 471 [50 Cal.Comp.Cases 53]; *Nielsen v. Workers' Comp, Appeals Bd.* (1985) 164 Cal.App.3d 918 [50 Cal.Comp.Cases 104] (*Nielsen*); (*Chambers v. Workmen's Comp. Appeals Bd.* (1968) 69 Cal.2d 556 [33 Cal.Comp.Cases 722] (*Chambers*); *Alford v Industrial Accident Com.* (1946) 28 Cal.2d 198 [11 Cal.Comp.Cases 127] (*Alford.*)

It would not be sufficient to make such a determination "for a defendant to show that applicant "knew he had some symptoms." (*Johnson, supra*, 163 Cal.App.3d at 471, citing to *Chambers, supra*, and *Pacific Indem. Co, v. Industrial Acc.Comm.* (1950) 34 Cal.2d 726.)

As a general rule based on applicable case law, an applicant will not be charged with knowledge that their disability (as opposed to injury) is job related without medical advice indicating such a relationship. However, there are exceptions to the general rule that medical advice is required in all cases. A number of other factors may obviate the need for medical advice if "the nature of the disability and applicant's training, intelligence and qualifications are such that applicant should have recognized the relationship between the known adverse factors involved in his employment and his disability." (*Johnson, supra, 163 Cal.App.3d at p. 473.*)

In another decision from the Court of Appeal decided a month after *Johnson*, the court stated they were in general agreement with the *Johnson's* court's decision "that the absence of a medical opinion confirming industrial causation is but one important circumstance which is to be considered together with the other circumstances in determining in a particular case whether the applicant should reasonably have known his or her injury was industrially caused." (See, e.g.,

Pacific Indem. Co. v. Industrial Acc. Com., supra, 34 Cal.2d 726, 729-730; Alford v. Industrial Accident Com., supra, 28 Cal.2d 198, 204-206.)

Some of the factors that are relevant to whether an applicant either knew or reasonably should have known that an injury was industrially caused would include whether the injury that is claimed is some sort of exotic disease the causes of which might be obscure as opposed to a low back injury attributable to frequent bending and stooping and heaving lifting. Also, to be considered in the equation is the applicant's own comments, opinions, and beliefs as to whether their injury was industrially caused or a combination of industrial and non-industrial causes especially if those opinions and comments are made to the physician or physicians who first provided treatment.

Further development of the record was necessary in this case: With respect to the applicant's knowledge pursuant to the applicable case law hereinabove, the Board concluded that the current record was not developed enough but that they were unable to interpose their own findings without violating the due process rights of the parties.

The Board's decision to remand the case for further proceedings: The Board decided the case had to be remanded for further development of the record on the statute of limitations issue noting that the WCJ's finding that applicant's claim was barred by the statute of limitations was not based on a correct interpretation of the relevant statutes and applicable case law.

Thus, the WCJ based his decision on an erroneous interpretation of sections 3208.1(b) and 5412, and as a result, there has been no determination of applicant's "date of injury" pursuant to section 5412 and Rodarte, Johnson, et seq. Without a date of injury, it is impossible to determine whether the Application was timely filed within one-year of applicant's "date of injury." (Lab. Code, § 5405(a).) In addition, and as stated above, we cannot address the issue of whether or not applicant's statute of limitations is tolled under section 5405(b) or (c).

The WCAB in footnote 5 also stated that given the state of the existing record and their decision to defer issues related to to the statute of limitations pending further development of the record they were also declining to address the merits of any issues related to whether applicant's statute of limitations defense is tolled pursuant to the *Reynolds* and *Martin* cases.

Editor's Comment: Determining the correct date of injury related to cumulative trauma claims under LC 5412 in order to determine whether a claim has been filed within the applicable statute of limitations period presents an ongoing challenge even to the most experienced counsel and WCJ's. A recent case dealing with this issue is *Elks v. Sharp Health Care; Ace America Ins. Co., Administered by ESIS, Inc.* 2022 Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS _____(WCAB panel decision 8/15/22) (In a lengthy decision with an excellent discussion of applicable case law, the WCAB affirmed a WCJ's finding that applicant's claim was not barred by the statute of limitations. There was no disability arising from the injury prior to the applicant's first carpal tunnel surgery in 2017 along with lost time from work so that the correct date of injury was 10/10/17 and not 6/9/14 as alleged by defendant. Thus, the filing of an application on 11/8/17 was within the correct one year LC

5412 date of injury of 10/10/17). See also, *Jacobs v. San Francisco Giants* 2024 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 39.

O'Berry v. World League of American Football aka National Football League Europe (NFL Europe) 2017 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P. D. LEXIS 173 (WCAB panel

decision) (see editor's comment at end of case summary discussing a recent 2019 case related to the methodology for how the statute of limitations is calculated under Labor Code section 5405).

Issues: Whether California has a legitimate substantial interest in applicant's cumulative trauma injury from 4/15/95 through 6/1/97, while playing for defendant NFL Europe and whether his claim was barred by the one-year statute of limitations under Labor Code §5405 and the methodology for determining the date of injury under Labor Code §5412.

Holding: Both the WCJ and WCAB determined applicant's cumulative trauma injury was not barred by the one-year statute of limitations under Labor Code §5405 since his date of injury under Labor Code §5412 based on applicant's first documented date of knowledge of the potential connection between his employment and the cumulative trauma injury was December 17, 2015, when he filed an Application for Adjudication of Claim with the WCAB.

Procedural and Factual Overview: Applicant was initially hired in California by the St. Louis Rams and then subsequently worked briefly for teams in the Canadian Football League and NFL Europe. He retired from professional football in 1998. Applicant suffered a left knee injury while playing college football. He then sustained an additional injury to his left knee while employed by NFL Europe and underwent arthroscopic surgery both before and after his retirement in 1998. After his retirement he continued to have left knee problems. He also developed problems with his right knee and other body parts. However, none of the medical records indicated any discussion or mention by the applicant or any physicians of an industrial cumulative trauma injury as the cause of his knee problems. Moreover, there was no evidence applicant ever received notice that his left knee problems or other medical conditions might be subject to a claim for workers' compensation benefits under California law. The WCJ and the WCAB indicated the first documentary evidence that applicant knew a claim of cumulative injury could be filed under California law to his knees and other body parts was when he filed the Application for Adjudication on December 17, 2015.

Defendant filed a Petition for Reconsideration. Defendant argued that the one-year statute of limitations under Labor Code §5405 barred applicant's cumulative trauma claim. None of the applicant's employment or medical records prior to his filing an Application evidenced he had knowledge of a connection between his work as a football player and his cumulative injury.

The WCAB in denying defendant's Petition for Reconsideration provided a comprehensive overview of the law related to Labor Code §5405 and the related issue of a determination of a date of injury under Labor Code §5412. In that regard the WCAB noted as follows:

For a cumulative injury like the one claimed by applicant, proceedings are to be commenced within one year from the date of injury. (Lab, Code, §5405(a), The date of injury for a claim of cumulative injury is *not* when the injury occurs, it is the date when

the employee first suffered disability and knew, or should have known, that the disability was caused by his or her employment. (Lab. Code, § 5412.) An employee is not charged with knowledge of an employment relationship without evidence of medical advice to that effect unless the nature of the disability and the employee's training is such that the relationship between employment and disability is otherwise recognized. (*Chambers v. Workmen's Comp. Appeals Bd.* (1968) 69 Cal.2d 556 [33 Cal.Comp.Cases 722].)

In terms of Labor Code §5412, defining a date of injury for purposes of the statute of limitations under §5405, the WCAB also noted as follows:

The section 5412 date of injury identifies when the cumulative injury manifested itself through compensable temporary disability or permanent disability with the employee's knowledge that the disability was caused by industrial injury, and it is used for statute of limitation and section 5500.5 liability purposes. (citations omitted) ["The 'date of injury' is a statutory construct which has no bearing on the fundamental issue of whether a worker has, in fact, suffered an industrial injury...[T]he "date of injury" in latent disease cases 'must refer to a period of time rather than a point in time.' The employee is, in fact, being injured prior to the manifestation of disability...[T]he purpose of section 5412 was to prevent a premature commencement of the statute of limitations, so that it would not expire before the employee was reasonably aware of his or her injury" (citations omitted)]

The WCAB noted the WCJ made no express finding of the date of injury. However, it appeared to the WCAB that the WCJ determined the date of applicant's knowledge of the cause of his disability was July 19, 2016. This date was based on a medical report reflecting the earliest medical record of the relationship between applicant's employment and his cumulative trauma injury. However, since the Application for Adjudication was filed on December 17, 2015, earlier than the medical report of July 19, 2016, the Application as opposed to the medical report "provides the earliest documented date of applicant's knowledge of the applicant's relationship of the cumulative injury to his employment, and that is the date of injury that is entered as a finding in this case."

Editor's Comment: It is important to emphasize that it is the filing of the application for adjudication and not the filing or service of a claim form, which commences proceedings for collection of benefits and therefore the filing date of the application for adjudication is highly relevant when evaluating how the statute of limitations under Labor Code section 5405 is calculated also whether the statute of limitations was tolled. See, *Savard v. Pan Pacific Plumbing Mechanical* 2019 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 371 (WCAB panel decision)

Banks v. Cincinnati Bengals 2017 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 1 (WCAB panel decision)

Case Summary: The WCAB rescinded and remanded for further development of the record the WCJ's finding that applicant's cumulative trauma injury claim for the period of May 1, 1967 through August 25, 1969, was not barred by the Labor Code §5405(a) Statute of Limitations based on insufficiency of the evidence.

Discussion: The trial proceedings related to a bifurcated trial on the single issue of defendant's statute of limitations defense. Defendant argued that applicant's claim was barred by the Labor Code §5405(a) statute of limitations based on applicant's testimony as to the date of his CT injury under §5412. Moreover, defendant argued the *Reynolds* case was inapplicable since *Reynolds* did not apply to the notice requirements in effect at the time of applicant's cumulative trauma injury, i.e., 1967 to 1969, under former and repealed California Code of Regulations Title 8, §9816. The critical issues related to the statute of limitations pursuant to Labor Code §5405(a), Labor Code §5405(b), Labor Code §5405(c).

With respect to all three issues, the WCAB indicated there was insufficient evidence to substantiate any finding of fact related to these three separate subdivisions. There was insufficient evidence in the record to allow any finding of fact regarding whether defendant ever paid applicant benefits or provided medical treatment for purposes of Labor Code §5405(b). In fact, the Pre-Trial Conference Stipulations at the Mandatory Settlement Conference and trial reflected that defendant stipulated to providing "some" medical treatment to applicant. Then later, contrary to the stipulation and in arguing that applicant's claim was barred by the one-year statute of limitations, defendant argued they never paid applicant compensation or provided any medical treatment. The WCAB said there was insufficient evidence in the record for the WCJ to make any findings of fact or orders related to §5405(b) or (c). As a consequence, the WCAB was unable to engage in a meaningful process of reconsideration of the WCJ's decision on whether defendant met its burden of proof on these two subsections.

The WCJ's decision was also defective because there was no specific finding as to compensable disability related to either temporary or permanent disability. On reconsideration the WCAB expressly found that "the WCJ made no findings and did not determine when and if applicant sustained compensable disability." Moreover, there was no evidence in the record to determine this issue.

With respect to insufficiency of the evidence, the WCAB noted the mandatory requirements of Labor Code §5313, that every WCJ must make and file findings upon all facts involved in the controversy and an award, order, or decision stating the determination as to the rights of the parties. (*Blackledge v. Bank of America, Ace American Insurance Company (Blackledge)* (2010) 75 Cal.Comp.Cases 613, 621-22).

A WCJ's compliance with the findings requirement under Labor Code §5313, "enables the parties, and the Board if reconsideration is sought, to ascertain the basis for the decision, and makes the right of seeking reconsideration more meaningful."

In remanding the case for further development of the record the WCAB stated:

Accordingly, as there is insufficient evidence to substantiate any finding of fact with respect to section 5405(a), (b) or (c), and insufficient evidence to establish when applicant knew or should have known that his claimed CT injury was industrially related pursuant to section 5412, it is our decision after reconsideration to rescind the Findings and Order and return the matter for further proceedings.

Wenzel v. San Diego Chargers, Zenith Insurance Company 2016 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 628 (WCAB panel decision)

Whether the Labor Code §5405 one year Statute of Limitations was tolled based on applicant's alleged "incompetency" under Labor Code §5408: The WCAB remanded the case back to the trial level for further development of the record on the issue of whether applicant was competent for 365 days (not necessarily continuous), between the Labor Code §5412 date of injury and the date the Application was filed related to applicant's cumulative claim.

Discussion: Following trial the WCJ found applicant's claim was barred by the Statute of Limitations. Applicant filed a Petition for Reconsideration alleging the WCJ erred in finding that the applicant's cumulative trauma claim was barred by the Statute of Limitations, contending that it was tolled pursuant to Labor Code §5408 based on applicant's alleged mental incompetency.

Applicant filed a cumulative trauma claim ending on December 31, 1973. Applicant passed away during the pendency of the workers' compensation proceedings. The WCJ determined applicant's Labor Code §5412 date of injury was July 1, 2002. However, the actual Application for Adjudication for applicant's CT claim was not filed until April 5, 2010. Defendant contended the filing of the Application for Adjudication on April 5, 2010, was outside the one-year limitations period imposed by Labor Code §5405(a).

The primary argument with respect to applicant's Petition for Reconsideration was Labor Code §5408, which provides in pertinent part that, "no limitation of time provided by this division shall run against any...incompetent unless and until a guardian or conservator of the estate or trustee is appointed."

There was conflicting evidence with respect to the nature and degree of applicant's alleged incompetency based on testimony from applicant's wife and his treating physician in the late 1990s and early 2000s. Moreover, there was evidence that even during the first part of 2012, applicant had been substitute teaching a couple of days a month.

The definition of incompetency for purposes of Labor Code §5408. The WCAB pointed to two separate definitions of "incompetent" for purposes of Labor Code §5408, in that regard the WCAB stated:

The California Supreme Court has interpreted "incompetent" in this context to mean "any person who, though not insane, is, by reason of old age, disease, weakness of mind, or from any other cause, unable, unassisted, to properly manage and take care of himself or his property, and by reason thereof would be likely to be deceived or imposed upon by artful or designing persons." (*Francisco v. Industrial Acci. Com. (Mack)* (1923) 192 Cal. 635 [10 I.A.C. 357].) Similarly, the test for tolling of the statute of limitations in civil cases under the analogous civil statute is whether a plaintiff "is incapable of caring for his property or transacting business, or understanding the nature or effects of his acts." (*Hsu v. Mt. Zion Hosp.* (1968) 259 Cal.App.2d 562, 571; see Code. Civ. Proc., § 352, subd. (a).)

The WCAB indicated that neither party had introduced any expert evidence on the question of whether applicant was able to care for his property in the period following the \$5412 date of injury of July 1, 2002, up to and including when the Application for Adjudication was filed on April 5, 2010.

The Board stated that it was their belief that "an expert must get a precise history of the relevant period and offer an expert opinion regarding whether applicant was rendered "incompetent" prior to the expiration of the statute of limitations."

In remanding the matter back to the trial level for further development of the record under *Tyler v. WCAB* (1997) 56 Cal.App.4th 389, [62 Cal.Comp.Cases 924], the WCAB provided guidance to the WCJ as follows:

In the further proceedings, the parties should agree on an agreed medical evaluator, and if an agreement cannot be made, the WCJ should consider the appointment of an independent expert. The expert should take a thorough history, ensuring that the history is consistent with Dr. Schilder's contemporaneous reports, and then determine whether there were 365 days (not necessarily continuous) between the July 1, 2002 date of injury and the date the application was filed that applicant was competent pursuant to Labor Code Section 5408.

Moreover, in terms of burden of proof as it relates to the development of record, the WCAB indicated it was applicant's burden of proof to show the statute was tolled pursuant to Labor Code §5804. In that regard, the WCAB stated, "as a general rule, where a claimant asserts exemptions, exceptions, or other matters which will avoid the statute of limitations, the burden is on the claimant to produce evidence sufficient to prove such avoidance." Citing (*Permanente Medical Group v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd. (Williams)* (1985) 171 Cal.App.3d 1171, 1184 [50 Cal.Comp.Cases 491].)

Comment: For another case dealing with incompetency and the statute of limitations, see *Houston Astros v. WCAB (Richard)* (2014) 79 Cal.Comp.Cases 1451

<u>Estrella v. WCAB</u> (2016) 81 Cal.Comp.Cases 525; 2016 Cal.Wrk.Comp. LEXIS 57 (writ denied); see also, *Benard v. San Francisco Giants* 2016 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 85 (WCAB panel decision)

Holding/Issues: In this writ denied case the Court of Appeal affirmed the decision of the WCJ and the WCAB (split panel decision *Sweeney* dissenting) finding that applicant's cumulative trauma claim was barred by the Labor Code §5405 one year statute of limitations. No tolling of statute of limitations based on the fact that applicant had actual knowledge of his right to seek workers' compensation benefits in 2007 or 2008, based on his filing and adjudicating a specific right elbow injury against the Kansas City Royals. In addition, applicant's deposition and trial testimony reflected the fact that he made a correlation between his orthopedic symptoms and playing professional baseball and that those same symptoms forced him to retire. The WCAB majority also found no requirement by defendant to provide applicant with a *Reynolds* notice since there was no evidence defendant knew of applicant's cumulative trauma injury.

Procedural and Factual Overview: Applicant was employed by several Major League Baseball (MLB) teams from 1993 to 2007. The last MLB team he played for was the Kansas City Royals. The last game he played in for the Royals was on 3/17/2007, when he suffered a specific right elbow injury which effectively ended his MLB career. He continued to play baseball in the Dominican Republic until 2009, when he retired.

With respect to the 3/17/2007 specific right elbow injury with the Royals, applicant filed and adjudicated this claim in Missouri in 2007 and 2008. He received extensive medical treatment, rehabilitation, and temporary disability benefits related to the 3/17/2007 specific injury before he settled the claim in Missouri in 2008. In 2013, applicant filed his cumulative trauma claim in California against defendants, Milwaukee Brewers, and the San Francisco Giants, which apparently were the only teams he believed were subject to California jurisdiction. The WCJ determined applicant's CT claim was barred by the Labor Code §5405 statute of limitations. Applicant filed for Reconsideration, which was denied by the WCAB. A writ with the Court of Appeal was also denied.

Determination of the Date of Injury Under Labor Code §5412 for application of the one year statute of limitations under Labor Code §5405: On reconsideration applicant argued that the statute of limitations should be tolled since he was unaware of his right to file for workers' compensation benefits until his attorney advised him of his right to do so in 2013, and that the first medical evidence in the record that he suffered disability due to an industrial cumulative trauma claim was based on a QME report that issued after applicant filed his cumulative trauma claim.

The WCJ concluded and held that by at least 2009, applicant clearly understood that his orthopedic physical symptoms were related to his employment as a professional baseball player but decided not to assert or file a second workers' compensation injury claim against his MLB employers based on his belief that, if he filed another claim, he would be unable to secure future employment contracts with any other professional baseball teams. "Applicant's knowledge regarding his prior specific injury coupled with his physical symptoms, were sufficient to give him knowledge of this CT claim, even absent medical or legal confirmation of the industrial nature of the injury," The WCJ and the WCAB cited and discussed in detail the Court of Appeal's decision in *Basset-McGregor v. Workers' Compensation Appeals Board* (1988) 205 Cal.App.3d 1102; 53 Cal.Comp.Cases 502; 1988 Cal.App. LEXIS 1045.

The WCJ and the WCAB as well as the Court of Appeal elaborated on the determination that the correct date of injury under §5412 for applying the §5405 one year statute of limitations was in late 2008 or 2009, and not 2013, as asserted by applicant as follows:

The Trial Court observes that, in calculating the commencement date for the one year statute of limitations under Labor Code §5405(a), an injured employee does not have to know whether he has a potential injury claim for either a specific as opposed to a cumulative trauma injury under Labor Code §5412, the injured employee only needs to know, or in the exercise of reasonable diligence, should have known, that his injury or physical complaints are related to his employment activities. (See *Bassett McGregor*, supra.)

The Trial Court further observes that it is not always necessary that an injured employee obtain medical advice and medical confirmation from a physician that his physical symptoms or injury are employment related, in circumstances where he is already aware that there is an industrial correlation based upon his own lay common sense knowledge, such as when "the nature of the disability" is such that the employee "should have recognized the relationship between the known adverse factors involved in his employment and his disability." (*Bassett McGregor*, supra, 472-473, emphasis supplied [by WCJ].)

In the present case, the applicant confirmed that he himself made the correlation that his injury or physical symptoms were caused by his employment as a baseball player, in that he knew that his hands, his right elbow, his right knee and his low back were all injuriously exposed as a result of his pitching activities and as a result of other employment activities, such as batting, running, and sliding. The Trial Court notes that the types of physical symptoms and problems which are involved in the applicant's case are not unusual and exotic, and therefore, are the types of injuries and physical symptoms which a lay person, such as the applicant, can easily correlate to his employment activities.

The applicant confirmed at both his deposition and at trial proceedings that he was aware that his physical symptoms were related to his employment by late 2008 or early 2009, but that he did not go ahead and make a claim for workers' compensation benefits against any of his prior employers, with the exception of the 2007 specific injury claim with the ROYALS filed on applicant's behalf, because he felt that if he did file an injury claim during this time frame of 2008 and 2009, that he would not be able to play for any other professional baseball teams. [Citations to record omitted]

No Duty by Defendants to Provide *Reynolds* **Notice Issue:** There was no duty under Labor Code §5402(a) and *Reynolds v. WCAB* (1974) 12 Cal.3d 726, 39 Cal.Comp.Cases 768 for applicant's employers to notify him of his actual or potential workers' compensation rights resulting in the statute of limitations not being tolled on the cumulative trauma claim. In support of this conclusion and holding the Court stated:

....[T]here were no contemporaneous medical reports/records or team reports from Defendants in evidence demonstrating that Applicant sustained any injury or injurious exposure while in their employ that would have alerted Defendants that they had a duty to investigate and ascertain whether Applicant might be entitled to workers' compensation benefits in connection with any type of work-related injury. Moreover, Applicant went on to play for other teams after leaving his employment with Defendant.

<u>Polk v. Chargers Football Company, LLC.</u> 2016 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 23 (WCAB panel decision)

Holding/Issue: Applicant's cumulative trauma claim for the period of April 22, 2001 through August 30, 2008, was not barred by the statute of limitations since defendant failed to establish that applicant had actual knowledge of his worker's compensation rights at a time earlier than he was advised by a former teammate that he could file a workers' compensation claim in California.

Discussion: Applicant was employed by the San Diego Chargers from April 22, 2001 through August 30, 2008. Both the WCJ and the WCAB on reconsideration held defendant had failed to establish their affirmative defense of the statute of limitations. The WCJ found applicant's testimony credible, that he first learned of his right to file a workers' compensation claim from a former teammate. Defendant claimed that applicant had actual knowledge of his cumulative trauma injury as early as his first training camp. Defendant asserted the team had provided applicant with "notices and materials" as to his right to file a workers' compensation claim from 2001 to 2008. Defendant tried to establish that applicant had actual knowledge of his right to file a workers' compensation claim by introducing selected portions of the Charger's medical authorization form as well as an NFL Player Retirement Plan document.

With respect to the medical authorization document, there was a separate paragraph the WCJ indicated was in much smaller print and without a particular designation, which purported to provide notice of workers' compensation rights. That paragraph specifically provided as follows: "WORKERS COMPENSATION: I acknowledge that I have received a copy of the updated pamphlet entitled facts about Workers Compensation. I have read this and understand it."

The WCJ emphasized there was no evidence offered as to the actual nature or contents of the pamphlet that was allegedly given to the applicant. Applicant testified he did not recall receiving such information. The WCJ indicated applicant's testimony was not contradicted. As a consequence, the WCJ and the WCAB found this was insufficient evidence to establish applicant had actual knowledge of his right to file a workers' compensation claim.

Williams v. Miami Dolphins, San Francisco 49ers, Fireman's Fund (2016) 81 Cal.Comp.Cases 816 (writ denied), 2016 Cal.Wrk.Comp. LEXIS 99

Holding: Both the WCAB and Court of Appeal found that applicant's cumulative trauma claim, and nine specific injuries were not barred by the Labor Code §5405 one year statute of limitations even though he filed them approximately 30 years after he retired from playing professional football.

Procedural and Factual Overview: In 2010, applicant filed 12 separate worker's compensation claims. Four specific injuries and a cumulative trauma claim were filed against the San Francisco 49ers and seven specific injuries and a cumulative trauma claim were filed against the Miami Dolphins. There was a bifurcated trial on the issues of statue limitations and jurisdiction. All other issues were deferred. Applicant last played in the NFL in 1981. He then played very briefly for a few weeks with the Oakland Invaders in the United States Football League in 1983, and never worked again as a professional football player.

In 1982, applicant filed three workers compensation specific injury claims against the San Francisco 49ers. In one of those three cases he was represented by an attorney and in the other two cases applicant represented himself. In the case where he was represented by an attorney, it settled by way of a Compromise and Release for \$6,500.00 in 1983. Applicant in pro per also filed a specific injury claim against the Oakland Invaders in approximately 1984. In both 1983 and again in 1995, applicant filed for NFL retirement line of duty disability benefits. He was eventually approved for these benefits. Also, in 1989, applicant filed a civil complaint in California Superior Court against the Miami Dolphins and the Green Bay Packers.

With respect to the cumulative trauma injury, the WCJ determined that it was reasonable to infer that applicant obtained knowledge that it caused him permanent disability following his 1995 examination by a physician in connection with his second application for NFL line of duty disability benefits. Medical reports from this physician indicated applicant's disability was directly related to cumulative traumas during his employment as a professional football player in the NFL. The WCJ also concluded that applicant had knowledge of the cause of his permanent disability for more than a year preceding the filing of his Application for a cumulative trauma injury in 2010. However, the WCJ found that the statute of limitations was not tolled since the employers did not provide applicant with the required *Reynolds* notices. The WCJ stated as follows with respect to the *Reynolds* notices:

As discussed above, it can be inferred from applicant's earlier filing of Applications for specific injuries in 1976 and 1983, that he had a basic and general knowledge of his worker's compensation rights; however, an employer is not relieved of the obligation to provide notice of worker's compensation rights merely because the employee has a basic and general knowledge of worker's compensation. Instead, the employee's knowledge must encompass all the information the employer is obligated to provide upon learning of an injury.

As a consequence, the WCJ found the statute of limitations was tolled until the time applicant actually filed his claims in 2010. Both defendants filed Petitions for Reconsideration asserting that all of applicant's claims should be barred by the statute limitations. In a split panel decision, the WCAB affirmed the WCJ's decision with respect to the statue limitations, not barring the applicant's multiple specific injury claims and CT claim.

There was a strong dissent by former Chairwoman Caplane. In her dissent, she emphasized the fact that the preponderance of evidence presented by defendant showed applicant had extensive contact with lawyers and litigation for over 30 years following his retirement from professional football that directly involved statutes of limitations and claims for worker's compensation or disability as a result of football injuries. This evidence reasonably supports the inference that at some point during those 30 years, and more than one year before filing the pending claims, applicant obtained the requisite knowledge that the statute of limitations might bar additional claims by him for worker's compensation.

Editors Comment: The facts of this case are more consistent with the facts in *Rudd v. Oakland* Raiders 2011 Cal.Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 243 in which the WCAB held that failure of a defendant to give an applicant the required Reynold's notice will not automatically toll the statute of limitations where there was evidence applicant was represented by multiple law firms and engaged in extensive litigation as the applicant in Williams did. The writ denied case cited by Chairwoman Caplane in her dissent, Myer v. WCAB (2010) 75 Cal.Comp.Cases 1210 as well as Nairne v WCAB 2013 Cal.Wrk.Comp. LEXIS 127 another writ denied case also lend support to establishing a viable statute of limitations defense. See also, Brandes v. San Francisco 49ers 2016 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 418 (WCAB panel decision). Applicant's claim for a cumulative trauma from 5/11/87 to 2/17/94, was not barred by the Labor Code §5405 one-year statute of limitations even where he signed a sworn and notarized affidavit in connection with an injury settlement with the New York Giants. Also, the fact applicant filed for retirement under the NFL Retirement Fund, did not indicate his application included any information related to his rights to file for workers' compensation benefits. Defendant was also estopped from claiming the affirmative statute of limitations defense since they failed to provide applicant with the required statutory notices under Reynolds.

<u>Neu v. Los Angeles Dodgers, et al.</u> 2015 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 603 (WCAB panel decision)

Holding: Applicant's cumulative trauma claim was not barred by the Labor Code §5405 one year statute of limitations. Moreover, Labor Code §3600.6(e) did not exempt the Dodgers from their obligation to provide applicant with notice of his workers' compensation rights, including a DWC-1 claim form. The WCAB found that applicant was employed by a "California-based team" even though he played for the Dodgers minor league team located in Nevada.

Case Summary: The WCJ found applicant suffered a cumulative trauma involving orthopedic body parts for the period of August 12, 1999 through October 15, 2005. The WCJ also found applicant's claim was not barred by the statute of limitations. Moreover, the Dodgers and their minor league team, the Nevada 51's, were not exempt from their duty to provide applicant with notice of his workers' compensation rights under Labor Code §3600.5(e), applicable to claims filed after September 15, 2013. Defendant filed a Petition for Reconsideration, which was denied by the WCAB who adopted and incorporated the WCJ's Report on Reconsideration.

Discussion: Although the applicant testified at trial that he knew his symptoms even a year before he last played were related to playing baseball, the WCJ and the WCAB found this was insufficient to prevent the tolling of the statute of limitations. With respect to the statute of limitations issue, the WCAB stressed there was no concurrence of disability coupled with the applicant's knowledge that his cumulative trauma claim was industrially caused. There was no dispute there was evidence of disability from the time the applicant stopped playing baseball. However, in this case both the judge and the WCAB found the applicant had never received any medical advice or a medical opinion in the one year preceding the onset of disability that he sustained a cumulative trauma injury. It is insufficient and inadequate that an injured worker knows that his symptoms may be related to his industrial activities. The WCJ and the WCAB also stressed that it is the employer's burden of proof to avoid the tolling of the statute of limitations period to show that the applicant

had the necessary knowledge of his workers' compensation rights more than one year before filing the claim, and in this particular case defendant failed to meet their burden of proof.

Defendant's secondary argument related to Labor Code §3600.5(e) also failed. In essence, defendant argued that it had no obligation to provide applicant with a notice of his workers' compensation rights under §3600.5(e) since his claim was filed after September 15, 2013. However, both the WCJ and the WCAB noted that they found the defense argument had no merit because when applicant was injured in the period of 2005 through 2006, Labor Code §3600.5(e) did not exist and could not apply to his injury. The Board noted that even if they determined Labor Code §3600.5(e) applied retroactively, the Dodgers would not be exempt from these provisions because they are a "California-based team." Defendant argued that because applicant played for a minor league team in Nevada, even though that team was owned by the Los Angeles Dodgers, his employment with the Nevada minor league team would not meet the definition of a "California-based team." (See also, *Stinnett v. Los Angeles Dodgers* 2015 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 644 (WCAB panel decision).

Both the WCJ and WCAB indicated that applicant signed his minor league contract with the Los Angeles Dodgers and that applicant was a California resident. His contract with the Los Angeles Dodgers specifically directed him to perform his employment activities for the Dodgers minor league team in Las Vegas. Moreover, in the 2005 season, applicant played sixteen scheduled games in California for the Nevada minor league team. The Board noted that "All of applicant's professional baseball activities while employed by Los Angeles were subject to the direction and control of Los Angeles, and they were performed for the benefit of that "California-based team." Los Angeles is not exempt from the obligation to provide its employees with notice of their workers' compensation rights when they sustain injury arising out of and in the course of employment."

<u>McCardell v. Chargers Football, Co. et al.</u> 2013 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 65 (WCAB panel decision); see also, California Workers' Compensation Law & Practice §18.53

Holding: Applicant's claim was not barred by the statute of limitations set forth in Labor Code section 5405(a) and defendant failed in its burden of proving by a preponderance of the evidence the affirmative defense that applicant's date of injury occurred more than a year before he filed for benefits (Labor Code sections 5405, 5705).

Case Summary: The WCJ following Trial found that applicant, a professional athlete, and former NFL player, suffered a cumulative trauma injury from January 1, 2007, through January 5, 2008, causing 66% permanent disability after apportionment to a variety of orthopedic body parts and conditions but did not sustain an industrial injury to his neurological system or in the form of hypertension or hernia. The WCJ also found applicant's claim was not barred by the statute of limitations. Defendant filed a Petition for Reconsideration arguing applicant's claim was barred by the statute of limitations.

Discussion: The record reflected applicant was a player representative during the 1997 - 2004 seasons and served on the executive committee of the NFL Players' Association during the period

of 2004 – 2008. Applicant's final game in the NFL was played in January of 2008. Applicant also had an independent medical evaluation for "line of duty" disability benefits in 2009; however, there was no reference to a repetitive cumulative trauma injury anywhere in the medical reporting related to that evaluation. Applicant testified he did not know the difference between a specific or cumulative trauma injury and was never advised or informed by his employers of how and when to file a claim and he allegedly learned of his right to file a workers' compensation claim in California in November of 2008.

Applicant acknowledged he advised other players about the existence of workers' compensation benefits in his role as a player representative. However, he again stressed he did not know the difference between cumulative and specific injuries and testified he learned of his right to file his own claim during a conversation with a friend and a similar conversation with his agent.

The WCAB acknowledged applicant was required to commence his workers' compensation claim within one year of the date of injury pursuant to Labor Code section 5405(a). However, that section also references Labor Code section 5412 defining the date of a cumulative injury as the date upon which the applicant first suffered disability from the cumulative trauma and either knew, or in the exercise of reasonable diligence should have known, that such disability was caused by his present or prior employment.

The WCAB indicated that section 5412 was not satisfied just because an employee is aware of his or her symptoms and those symptoms are related to work.

Although both applicant and defendant in their pleadings concentrated on the knowledge prong of section 5412, the Board emphasized the disability prong also has to be met. The WCJ indicated the evidence supported a conclusion that the applicant was only aware he suffered specific incidents or injuries. The WCJ and the WCAB concluded that because the period of disability began with the end of applicant's employment on February 28, 2008, and the requisite knowledge under Labor Code section 5412 was not gained until sometime in November of 2008, the date of injury for purposes of Labor Code sections 5412 and 5405 was an unspecified date in November of 2008. Hence the Application for Adjudication was timely filed within one year of the date of injury.

In terms of the disability prong of Labor Code section 5412, the WCAB emphasized that disability means either temporary or permanent disability. Temporary disability requires wage loss. It was undisputed, and applicant acknowledged, he missed games as a result of a specific injury but there was nothing in the record to suggest he lost work as a result of a cumulative trauma injury.

The other remaining issue is whether or not the applicant suffered permanent disability as a result of any alleged cumulative trauma injury that would have triggered the statute of limitations. The applicant testified he did receive daily medical care during his football career but the WCAB emphasized citing the *Rodarte* case, that medical treatment alone does not prove disability. Applicant stated and testified he was ready and willing to continue working as a football player after January of 2008, and there was no evidence he was medically incapable of doing so. There was nothing in the evidentiary record that indicated applicant's earning capacity had been diminished by his cumulative injury at the time his employment ended on February 28, 2008.

Although the Board noted work modification or modified work maybe evidence of disability under 5412 if it indicates impairment of earning capacity.

On the record in this case, the first evidence of disability did not appear in the record until applicant sought line of duty benefits in July of 2009. Therefore, regardless of when applicant first had knowledge his disability was employment related to his date of injury under section 5412 occurred less than a year before he filed his workers' compensation claim.

Comment: See also: Brandes v. San Francisco 49ers, et al., 2016 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 418 (WCAB panel decision). Cumulative trauma claim from 5/11/87 to 2/17/94, not barred by Labor Code §5405 one-year statute of limitations despite the fact applicant settled a prior workers' compensation claim in New Jersey for \$20,000.00 for which he claimed no knowledge of and denied receiving any settlement proceeds in which he was not represented. Also, applicant suffered multiple injuries in California for which he received treatment beyond first aid and loss of time from work. Defendant also had actual and constructive notice of applicant's injuries and failed to provide applicant with a *Reynolds* notice of his potential right to workers compensation; Weibl v. St. Louis Cardinals 2012 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 107 (WCAB Panel Decision) Applicant's cumulative trauma claim not barred by the statute of limitations since prior symptomatology and even a prior specific injury insufficient to establish the requisite knowledge requirement of Labor Code section 5412. No evidence applicant received any medical advice that he suffered an industrial cumulative trauma one year before he filed his application. This case has a good discussion of the legal principles and cases related to cumulative trauma claims and the application of the statute of limitations. Also, Houston Astros v. WCAB (Richard) (2014) 79 Cal. Comp. Cases 1451 (effect of incompetency on tolling of statute of limitations and whether cognitive impairments effected applicant prematurely dismissing his case.); Stabler v. KS Adams, et al. 2015 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 424 (WCAB panel decision) (applicant's claim not barred by statute of limitations).

Also in a non-sports case, see *Northrop Grumman v. WCAB (Elachlar)* (2012) 72 Cal. Comp. Cases 187; 2012 Cal. Wrk. Comp LEXIS 7 (writ denied) for an excellent discussion of the methodology for determining the date of injury under Labor Code section 5412 and the one year statute of limitations pursuant to section 5405. The WCAB and the Court of Appeal found applicant's claim was <u>not</u> barred by the statute of limitations.

<u>Swinton v. Arizona Cardinals</u> 2013 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 182 (WCAB panel decision)

Holding: The voluntary furnishing of medical treatment beyond first aid effectively extends the statute of limitations for five years pursuant to Labor Code sections 5405(a) and 5410.

Factual and Procedural Background: This case involves a bifurcated trial on the issues of injury AOE/COE and the application of the statute of limitations. Following trial, the WCJ found a cumulative trauma injury from February 24, 2000, to March 11, 2006, against the elected defendant, the Arizona Cardinals. In doing so, the WCJ found the one-year statute of limitations under section 5405(a) was tolled and the five-year statute of limitations under Labor Code section 5410 was triggered. Defendant filed a Petition for Reconsideration claiming the statute of limitations effectively barred applicant's claim.

Applicant was employed by the Arizona Cardinals from September 5, 2005, to March 11, 2006, a period of approximately six months. During the course of applicant's employment, he received medical treatment beyond first aid during the period of September 18, 2005, to December 11, 2005, consisting of medication in the form of prescription medication, the use of a lowboy or short boot/cam walker, orthotics, med-x laser therapy, hot-whirlpool, ice, ultrasound, Iontophonesis, microcurrent, massage, H.V. Galvanic, hydorcollator, inferential unit and MRI diagnostic scanning. Applicant was also prescribed pain medication and muscle relaxers.

The critical chronology in the case, as indicated hereinabove, applicant received treatment from approximately September 18, 2005, until December 29, 2005. The WCJ determined the date of injury under Labor Code section 5412 was May of 2007. The Application for Adjudication of Claim was filed on November 30, 2009, approximately 30 months after the date of injury under section 5412, i.e., May 2007. Defendant denied the claim on January 8, 2010.

In denying defendant's Petition for Reconsideration, the WCAB adopted and incorporated the WCJ's Report on Reconsideration.

Discussion: Based on the medical records in this case, it appears to be undisputed applicant received medical treatment beyond first aid which effectively tolled the one-year statute of limitations under Labor Code section 5405(a) and triggered the five-year statute of limitations under Labor Code section 5410.

Since the last effective date of medical treatment was approximately December 11, 2005, or December 29, 2005, applicant had five years from either date to file the Application for Adjudication. Given the fact the Application for Adjudication was filed on November 30, 2009, applicant was well within the effective extended statute of limitations. Alternatively, it appears applicant also had an additional period of time to file the Application for Adjudication which would have been one year after the claim was denied on January 8, 2010.

<u>Geren v. WCAB</u> (2012) 77 Cal.Comp.Cases 999; 2012 Cal. Wrk. Comp. LEXIS 147 (writ denied)

Holding: Applicant's cumulative trauma claim was barred by the one-year statute of limitations ("SOL") in Labor Code section 5405(a). It was factually undisputed applicant had been told by an examining physician in 2006 that her disability was work related by failed to file an Application until November 4, 2010. Although this is not a sports case, it is instructive in understanding SOL basic principles.

Procedural and Factual Summary: The applicant was a long-term employee of Warner Brothers Studio. She was employed as a driver. She filed a cumulative trauma claim alleging injuries to her neck, back and psyche as well as lower extremities from May 6, 2004, to May 6, 2005. Her last day of work was May 6, 2005.

During the course of applicant's deposition, she testified that while working in one department she realized her job was causing injury to her back and neck. She also testified in her deposition that

in 2006 she was told by a specific physician that her physical problems were work related. At trial, applicant testified that while she knew her work was causing her physical pain, she did not know she could file a workers' compensation claim until she saw a television commercial discussing the concept of cumulative injury shortly before consulting with an attorney and filing her Application for Adjudication of Claim on November 4, 2010.

Following trial, the WCJ determined applicant's claim was not barred by the statute of limitations. Defendant filed a Petition for Reconsideration.

Discussion: The WCAB granted defendant's Petition for Reconsideration and in a split panel decision reversed the WCJ and determined applicant's claim was barred by the statute of limitations. First, the WCAB noted applicant's date of disability was May 6, 2005, the last day she worked due to her injuries. Also based on applicant's deposition testimony, the WCAB found applicant undisputedly became aware her injuries were work related no later than 2006, when she was advised by a physician. It was on that date in 2006, when applicant was advised by a physician that her injuries were work related, that applicant knew she was disabled and knew her disability was work related. Therefore, applicant had one year pursuant to Labor Code section 5405(a) to file an Application for Adjudication of Claim which should have been filed sometime in 2006 in order to avoid her claim being barred by the statute of limitations. However, applicant did not file her Application for Adjudication of Claim until November 4, 2010, well outside the one-year time frame mandated by Labor Code section 5405(a).

On reconsideration, applicant also argued the statute of limitations should be tolled because defendant failed to inform her of her compensation rights pursuant to the holding in the *Reynolds* case. (*Reynolds v. WCAB* (1974) 12 Cal. 3d 726, 39 Cal. Comp. Cases 768) However, the WCAB indicated that applicant's *Reynolds* argument did not apply since there was no evidence defendant had knowledge or notice of applicant's work related injury sufficient to trigger defendant's duty to provide applicant notice of her workers' compensation rights. Therefore, the lack of the *Reynolds* notice did not toll the statute of limitations.

The panel majority rendered a very detailed discussion analyzing a number of cases in the statute of limitations area specifically indicating that in this case they were declining to follow the cases of *Zenith Insurance Company v. WCAB (Yanos)* (2010) 75 Cal. Wrk. Comp. Cases 1303 (writ denied) and *Kaiser Foundation Hospitals v. WCAB (Ochs)* (2000) 65 Cal. Comp. Cases 933 (writ denied) for the sweeping proposition that the statute of limitations on a cumulative injury claim never begins to run until an applicant has his or her full legal rights explained in detail by an attorney.

Given facts in this case were undisputed where applicant testified under oath at her deposition that she was advised by a doctor not only that her injuries were work related but that she knew her disability was also work related.

<u>Rudd v. Oakland Raiders/ACE/USA</u> 2011 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 243 (WCAB panel decision)

Holding: Failure by a defendant to give an applicant the required notice of his workers' compensation rights will not automatically toll the statute of limitations if defendant proves applicant was not prejudiced by the lack of notice and there was evidence applicant had actual knowledge of his workers' compensation rights.

Factual and Procedural Overview: Following trial, the WCJ found applicant suffered a cumulative trauma injury while employed and playing for a number of teams. The WCJ also found applicant's claim was not barred by the one-year statute of limitations and defendants were estopped to assert the defense of the statute of limitations because they failed to comply with the notice requirements under Labor Code section 5401. (Often referred to as the *Reynolds* notice.)

Applicant filed three successive separate Applications for Adjudication dated January 4, 2007, December 9, 2008, and January 28, 2010. With respect to each Application that was filed, he was represented by a separate law firm or attorney. The first two Applications were dismissed without prejudice based on applicant's failure to prosecute his claim. In addition to filing his first Application for Adjudication on January 4, 2007, applicant also completed and signed a DWC-1 Claim Form dated January 4, 2007, which contained a detailed notice of potential eligibility for workers' compensation benefits.

Both co-defendants, the Oakland Raiders and the Tampa Bay Buccaneers, filed Petitions for Reconsideration arguing the WCJ should have found applicant's claim was barred by the one-year statute of limitations. The WCAB granted defendants' Petition for Reconsideration and reversed the WCJ finding applicant's claim was barred by the statute of limitations.

In reversing the WCJ and finding applicant's claim was barred by the statute of limitations, the WCAB provided an extensive discussion of the applicable case law and focused on the case of *Reynolds v. WCAB* (1974) 12 Cal. 3d 726, 1, 39 Cal. Comp. Cases 768.

The WCAB noted the mere fact a defendant fails to provide an applicant with the required notice of his workers' compensation rights will not in every case toll the statute of limitations. If a defendant proves applicant gained the requisite actual knowledge of his workers' compensation rights from any source there is no prejudice to the applicant from not receiving notice by the defendant of his workers' compensation rights.

In finding that applicant did gain the requisite knowledge of his workers' compensation rights the Board noted as follows:

Though applicant here testified that he received no notices from defendant about his rights, and was apparently completely in the dark about any of the work performed on his behalf by the attorneys he retained, it is readily apparent that he had sufficient knowledge of his right to workers' compensation benefits to seek out multiple law firms to obtain benefits on his behalf.

The WCAB noted it was undisputed applicant signed a DWC-1 Claim Form on January 4, 2007, that included the mandatory pre-printed notice of potential eligibility. Moreover, he retained three separate law firms who obtained his signature on Applications for workers' compensation benefits. The fact applicant chose not to participate in prosecuting his prior claims is not proof of lack of knowledge of his potential right to workers' compensation benefits.

The Board noted "It stretches credulity to believe that applicant retained a law firm to obtain workers' compensation benefits but was unaware of the reasons for this representation. There is no reason to toll the statute of limitations after applicant had filed two prior claims for workers' compensation benefits." The Board stated "The failure to provide the requisite notices alone does not support the application of estoppel. There must be prejudice to applicant from this failure. In the face of evidence that applicant had actual knowledge of his rights, there is no prejudice."

See also, *Nairne v. W.C.A.B.* 2013 Cal. Wrk. Comp. LEXIS 127 (writ denied). A non-sports case where WCAB reversed WCJ who found defendant was estopped from asserting the statute of limitations defense. The WCAB in reversing the WCJ found applicant had actual knowledge of his workers' compensation rights when he consulted with a civil attorney after receiving a denial. Since defendant paid no benefits and provided no medical treatment, applicant had only one year under Labor Code section 5405 to file a claim for benefits. Since neither applicant nor his civil attorney did so, the statute of limitations barred his claim and defendant was not estopped to assert this affirmative defense. See also, *Stratton v. San Diego Chargers; Zenith North America; Buffalo Bills, PSI* (2014) (WCAB Panel Decision) (Labor Code §5405 limitations period was not tolled and barred applicant's cumulative trauma injury ending in 1973 was not filed until 2012. No evidence employers/teams breached an existing statutory or regulatory duty since CT date was prior to *Reynolds* case and subsequently enacted regulations.

7. Injury AOE/COE

<u>Coquillette v. Pittsburgh Pirates; Travelers Ins., Co., et al.,</u> 2023 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS ____ (WCAB panel decision)

Issues & Determination: The WCAB granted the respective Petitions for Reconsideration filed by applicant and defendant with the WCAB "deferring" a final decision after reconsideration pending further review of the merits and further consideration of the entire record. While both the applicant and defendant each raised several issues in their Petitions for Reconsideration, the WCAB in deferring a final decision focused on only one of the issues raised by the Pittsburgh Pirates that pursuant to the "plain language" LC section 3208.3(d), applicant's claim of a psychiatric injury against the Pirates is barred unless the employee has been employed by the Pirates for at least six months.

Factual & Procedural Overview: Applicant filed a claim for an alleged cumulative trauma injury for the period of June 7, 1993 to October 15, 2005 while employed as a professional baseball player for five different teams. For four of the five teams applicant played for he was employed for more than six months. However, applicant elected to proceed only against the Pittsburgh Pirates

pursuant to LC 5500.5. The parties stipulated that applicant was employed by the Pirates for less than six months for the period of March 26, 2002 to July 3, 2002.

The WCJ's Decision: The WCJ issued a Findings and Award and Order of Commutation on September 8, 2023, finding that as a result of a CT injury for the period June 7, 1993 to October 15, 2005, applicant sustained industrial injury to his cervical and lumbar spine, bilateral upper and lower extremities, psyche, posttraumatic head, sleep, headaches, and internal. The WCJ found applicant suffered 76% PD after apportionment and required further medical treatment.

With respect to the LC section 3208.3(d) six-month employment requirement barring applicant's psychiatric claim, the WCJ found it did not bar applicant's psychiatric claim stating in her Report on Reconsideration:

Section 3208.3(d) does not explicitly define whether the six-month rule is satisfied by the fact the Applicant worked for 12 years as a professional baseball player, albeit for different employers. The statute's intent appears to prevent fraudulent psyche claims by probationary and newly hired employees, but this rationale would not apply. Due to the fact Applicant has a long, 12-year period of employment as a professional baseball player, a reasonable interpretation of Section 3208.3(d) is that the statute does not bar the Applicant's psyche claim.

The WCAB's Decision: With respect to the LC section 3208.3(d) six-month threshold of six months of employment required for a compensable psychiatric claim the WCAB reviewed the language of the statute as well as the legislative history as reflected in *Hansen v. Workers' Compensation Appeals Bd.* (1993) 18 Cal.App.4th 1179; 58 Cal.Comp.Cases 602. In granting the Pirates Petition for Reconsideration the WCAB framed the issue as:

Accordingly, we must consider how the election process available to the applicant under section 5500.5 interacts with the six-month employment requirement for compensability in psychiatric claims pursuant to section 3208.3(d), as well as the resulting liability of the parties.

In doing so the WCAB did not follow their previous practice of "granting reconsideration for further study", but instead implemented a new policy "that a final decision after reconsideration is *deferred* pending further review of the Petition for Reconsideration and further consideration of the entire record in light of the applicable statutory and decisional law." (emphasis added).

Editor's Comment and Practice Pointers: It will be interesting to see whether the WCAB's new procedure of granting reconsideration and then "deferring" a final decision for an indeterminate period as opposed to the WCAB's previous practice of granting reconsideration for "further study" also for an indeterminate period of time will be the subject of further litigation before the Court of Appeal based on an alleged denial of due process and other grounds.

While the WCAB is presently labeling or characterizing its practice of not acting on a party's Petition for Reconsideration within 60 days as required by LC 5909 as a "deferral" pending further review, it has the same effect as the WCAB's prior practice of "granting for further study" that being the WCAB not rendering a final decision on a Petition for Reconsideration for an indeterminate period of time which in the past in many cases was years down the road. (See, *Earley v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd.*, (2023) 94 Cal.App. 5th 1; 88 Cal.Comp.Cases 769.

In a recent decision issued by the Second District Court of Appeal on December 18, 2023, in a case where a defendant CIGA filed a Petition for Reconsideration on August 31, 2021, the Court strictly interpreted LC 5909. "We conclude the language and purpose of section 5909 show a clear legislative intent to terminate the Board's jurisdiction to consider a petition for reconsideration after 60 days have passed, and thus, decisions on the petition made after that date are void as in excess of the agency's jurisdiction." (*Zurich American Ins. Co., v Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd.*, 97 Cal.App. 5th 1213; 89 Cal.Comp.Cases 1; 2023 Cal.App. LEXIS 968 The Court of Appeal in *Zurich* also held that:

After 60 days the administrative process is final, and a petitioner has 45 days under section 5950 in which to seek a writ of review of the decision of the workers' compensation judge or arbitrator by the Court of Appeal or Supreme Court. The Board's contrary interpretation—that it retains jurisdiction to consider a petition well after the 60-day deadline has run—would deprive the parties of finality and create uncertainty as to when the clock begins to run on a petitioner's right to seek judicial review.

In this case CIGA the party who filed the petition for reconsideration did not file a writ with the Court of Appeal or the Supreme Court within 45 days after their petition was deemed denied by operation of law when the WCAB failed to act within the LC 5909 60-day time period. Since the WCAB had no power to act on CIGA's petition for reconsideration after the LC 5909 60-day time period, the Court of Appeal directed the Board to rescind its order granting CIGA's petition for reconsideration and also ordered Zurich dismissed as a party defendant.

The Court of Appeal advised parties to be "diligent" with respect to "promptly inquiring of the Board as to the status of their petitions and, if the Board does not act within the 60-day time period, seeking review of the deemed-denied petition under section 5950 within 45 days."

Practice Pointers: In light of the Court of Appeal's decisions in both *Early* and *Zurich American* hereinabove it is suggested that any defendant who has filed a Petition for Reconsideration with the WCAB consider at a minimum the following:

- 1. Each time a petition for reconsideration is filed by any party, a diary entry be made for 60 days after the filing date.
 - a. That is the date the petition will be deemed denied by operation of law pursuant to LC 5909 and the WCAB loses jurisdiction if the WCAB fails to act on the petition for reconsideration and when the 45 days begins to run under LC 5950 for a party to file a timely writ.
- 2. Every time a petition for reconsideration is filed, a diary entry should be made 40 days after the petition filing date.
 - a. That is when a defendant should send a letter of inquiry to the Appeals Board copied on all parties making an inquiry as to the status of their petition for reconsideration in order to demonstrate due diligence per *Zurich American*.

3. If a pending petition for reconsideration has been denied by operation of law pursuant to LC 5909, a defendant must decide whether to file a writ with the Court of Appeal or Supreme Court within the 45 day jurisdictional deadline from the date their petition for reconsideration was denied by operation of law. Based on the Court of Appeal's decision in *Zurich American* hereinabove, failure to do so will foreclose further judicial review of that party's petition for reconsideration.

<u>Hyder v. St. Louis Rams</u> 2013 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 56 (WCAB panel decision)

Case Summary: This is another post *McKinley* jurisdictional case but one that does not involve a choice of forum/law clause. Following trial, the WCJ determined applicant suffered a one-year cumulative trauma from March 1, 2000, to March 1, 20001, and sustained industrial injury to a variety of orthopedic body parts resulting in 44% permanent disability without apportionment. However, the WCJ found he did not suffer injuries to any other body parts and conditions except for orthopedic.

Applicant filed a Petition for Reconsideration claiming or alleging the WCJ should have found industrial injury to the applicant's kidneys and cardiac system. Defendant filed their own Petition for Reconsideration arguing that California did not have subject matter jurisdiction but acknowledging the basis for their contention there was no California subject matter jurisdiction was not premised on a choice of law or forum issue. Basically, defendant's argument was based on the medical evidence of the case there being no substantial medical evidence to establish applicant had ever suffered an industrial injury in California.

Discussion: The WCAB rescinded the WCJ's Findings of Fact, Award and Orders and determined the WCAB had no jurisdiction over applicant's claim because applicant failed to show he had sustained an industrial injury of any kind in California.

In its Summary of Facts, the Board pointed out that in the original Application for Adjudication, applicant alleged a cumulative injury sustained in St. Louis, Missouri but the Pre-Trial Conference Statement indicated the location of the injury was "various".

Applicant played for the St. Louis Rams from August 2, 1999, through July 5, 2001. Although he played for a number of NFL teams and other professional teams the only named defendant was the St. Louis Rams. The record reflected applicant came to California while employed and playing for the Rams only one time on October 29, 2000. He testified at trial that he participated in a pregame warm-up that consisted of stretching, running, jumping, tackling other players, diving, and rolling for between thirty minutes and an hour. There was no dispute he participated in the pregame warm-up against the San Francisco 49ers but was deactivated before game time and did not actually play in the game. It was also found applicant injured his right knee three weeks before he came out to California with the Rams while playing against the Atlanta Falcons and again reaffirmed he was deactivated before the October 29, 2000, game in California began.

Both parties used respective QMEs. The QME reporting on behalf of defendant basically indicated applicant had given a history to him that he practiced in a warm-up in San Francisco on October 29, 2000, performing drills with some contact hitting and was on the field for approximately thirty-five to forty minutes prior to the start of the game. He also advised the defense QME that he did not recall if any symptoms increased during the warm-up. The defense

QME determined applicant did not sustain an injury to his right knee during the warm-up exercises in San Francisco with the St. Louis Rams on October 29, 2009.

Applicant's QME in orthopedics, although noting a number of specific injuries, concluded all of the applicant's symptoms and disability were secondary to one continuous trauma over the course of his career as a professional football player and apportionment was impossible. The WCAB in their analysis indicated the facts of this case did not involve Labor Code section 3600.5(b) dealing with employees hired outside of the state that are injured while temporarily working in California if specific conditions are met. Their analysis focused on Labor Code section 3600.5(a). The Board also acknowledged under McKinley that in some cases the WCAB has exercised jurisdiction over claims of cumulative industrial injury where only a portion of the injurious exposure occurred within the State of California. The Board again acknowledged that in certain circumstances although one day of work may contribute to a cumulative trauma injury, applicant still has the burden of showing, by a preponderance of the evidence; he sustained an industrial injury within California during the limited time he was employed in the state. The WCAB distinguished the facts in this case from the Crosby case, indicating there was a basis for California jurisdiction in Crosby, based on the fact that while applicant only played a single game in California a particular incident occurred during the game which contributed to the alleged cumulative trauma. Based on the facts in the present case, there was no substantial medical evidence that applicant's participation in the October 29, 2000, pre-game warm-up caused any portion of his alleged cumulative trauma injury.

The WCAB also distinguished *Crosby* as not being applicable, since *Crosby* dealt with Labor Code section 3600.5(b) which concerns an exception to the exercise of jurisdiction over California injuries but never dealt with Labor Code section 3600.5(a) or the concept of "regular employment" within the State of California. The Board went on to state:

We emphasize that there is no strict rule that an athlete who has played one game in California is regularly employed in the state-on the contrary, cases finding regular employment under 3600.5(a) have usually involved applicants who spent a significant amount of time working in California, often combined with applicants' California residency. (See, e.g., *Dick Simon Trucking Co. v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd.* (1999) 64 Cal. Comp. Cases 98 (writ den.); *John Christer Trucking, Inc. v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd. (Carpenter)* (1997) 62 Cal. Comp. Cases 979 (writ den.).) Evidence of a single day's work in the state, without more, does not constitute regular employment.

The WCAB concluded they always have jurisdiction to initially determine whether it has jurisdiction in a given case and in this particular case emphasized there was insufficient evidence applicant sustained an industrial injury in California and he has not shown the basis for the WCAB

to adjudicate in a jurisdictional sense, his out of state injury based on regular employment within the state.

<u>Johnson v. Pittsburgh Steelers</u> 2013 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 112 (WCAB panel decision)

Holding: In order to constitute substantial medical evidence on injury AOE/COE for an applicant who was hired outside of California, but temporarily employed in California, a medical opinion must determine whether the applicant suffered a specific or cumulative trauma injury during the time of temporary employment in California.

Factual and Procedural Overview: In a January 2, 2013, decision following trial, the WCJ found applicant suffered a cumulative trauma injury for the period of April 15, 1999, to November 14, 2000, finding 39% permanent disability with the 15% bump up, a period of temporary total disability and need for further medical treatment. Defendant filed a Petition for Reconsideration raising a number of issues including lack of jurisdiction based on Labor Code section 3600.5(b) and that applicant's medical reporting did not constitute substantial medical evidence AOE/COE.

Facts: Applicant was employed by the Pittsburgh Steelers. He was nor hired in California. His connection with California, from a jurisdictional perspective, was based on his traveling to California with the Steelers to play a game against the San Francisco 49ers that was scheduled for November 7, 1999. On Saturday, November 6, 1999, applicant's work activities in California consisted of riding a bus, walking through the San Francisco 49ers facilities, and attending a 10-to-25-minute meeting in a locker room. It appears there were no physical activities performed or required on Saturday, November 6, 1999, the day before the scheduled game against the San Francisco 49ers on November 7, 1999.

On Sunday, November 7, 1999, applicant went to the stadium wearing sweats, cleats, helmet, and gloves. He was engaged in a pre-game practice for approximately 45 minutes to an hour that consisted of warm-ups including stretching, sprinting, some light running and route running. Applicant testified he performed his entire running route and ran at approximately 75% to full speed. He was occasionally but typically not tackled during practice. However, he could not specifically recall having been tackled in practice on November 7, 1999. Applicant did not play in the game. Following the pre-game warm-up and practice, he showered and changed into street clothes and watched the game from the sidelines. More importantly at trial applicant testified he did not have any injury, physical complaints or need for treatment as a result of his activities on November 7, 1999.

The Medical Reporting: Applicant's QME in orthopedics found and opined applicant sustained a continuous trauma during the entire course of his career as a professional football player. However, applicant's QME did not discuss, let alone find, that applicant suffered or sustained a specific or cumulative injury while he was in California on November 6 and 7, 1999. In fact, applicant's QME report did not even contain a history regarding applicant's work activities in California.

The defense QME's opinion suffered essentially the same defects as applicant's QME's report in that the defense QME opined applicant sustained a cumulative trauma injury throughout the course of his professional football career but did not render an opinion as to whether or not applicant suffered a specific or cumulative trauma injury during his temporary employment in California.

Discussion/Analysis

Defendant's 3600.5(b) Argument with Respect to Exemption from California Jurisdiction: The WCAB summarily noted defendant basically failed to prove the essential and required statutory elements under Labor Code section 3600.5(b) to establish that applicant and the Steelers were exempt from California subject matter jurisdiction. Defendant failed to introduce key documentary evidence and also failed to request judicial notice of essential Pennsylvania statutes. As a consequence, defendant failed to establish that applicant and the Steelers were exempt from California subject matter jurisdiction.

Lack of Substantial Medical Evidence: As indicated hereinabove, neither applicant's QME or the defense QME rendered an opinion on the critical injury AOE/COE issue whether applicant, during his temporary employment in California with the Steelers in the pre-game practice on November 7, 1999, suffered either a specific or cumulative trauma injury that would establish his work activities were in fact a contributing cause of any alleged injury AOE/COE. The mere fact a physician renders an opinion that a professional athlete temporarily employed in the State of California has suffered a cumulative trauma injury over the course of his entire employment does not constitute substantial medical evidence. As a consequence, the WCAB rescinded the WCJ's decision and remanded the case back to the trial level for development of the record for the parties either through deposition or supplemental medical reports to obtain opinions from the respective QMEs as to whether or not applicant suffered either a specific or cumulative trauma injury while temporarily employed in California.

3600.5(a) and the Issue of "Regular" vs. "Temporary" Employment: For purposes of clarification, the WCAB discussed and elaborated on the issue of California's extraterritorial jurisdiction under Labor Code section 3600.5(a) and how it relates to the issues of "regular" versus "temporary" employment. The Board wanted to make sure there was no confusion when the case was remanded back to the trial level as to whether or not California jurisdiction extended to any injuries the applicant may have allegedly suffered while employed outside of California. In that regard the Board stated as follows:

We briefly observe that the WCAB also has extraterritorial jurisdiction over injuries sustained *outside* of California by employees *regularly* employed here. (Lab. Code, 3600.5(a).) However, we conclude as a matter of law that applicant's single trip to California with the Steelers in November 1999 did *not* constitute "regular" employment here. Indeed, if a single business trip of one or two days were to be deemed "regular" employment under section 3600.5(a), this would mean that virtually any work in California, no matter how abbreviated, would constitute "regular employment." Such an interpretation would render "regular" meaningless. (See *People v. Lara* (2010) 48 Cal.4th 216, 227 ["we must follow the fundamental rule of statutory construction that requires every part of a statute be presumed to have some effect and not be treated as

meaningless"].) Moreover, there is nothing in section 3600.5(a) which suggests that the Legislature intended to have California's extraterritorial jurisdiction to be almost boundless, i.e., limited only if an employee essentially *never* worked in California. The statutes establishing the scope of the WCAB's subject matter jurisdiction reflect a legislative determination regarding California's legitimate interest in protecting industrially-injured employees. (See 9-142 *Larson's Workers' Compensation Law*, § 142.03 (LexisNexis 2012); *Alaska Packers Ass'n v. Industrial Acc. Com. (Palma)* (1935) 294 U.S. 532 [55 S. Ct. 518, 79 L.Ed. 1044, 20 IAC 326]; *King v Pan American World Airways* (9th Cir. 1959) 270 F.2d 355 [24 Cal. Comp. Cases 244], cert den., 362 U.S. 928 [80 S. Ct. 753, 4 L.Ed.2d 746](1960).) Therefore, we conclude that California does not have jurisdiction with respect to any injury or injuries applicant might have sustained while playing football *outside* of California.

8. Labor Code Sections 5412 Date of Injury and 5500.5 Liability Period Issues.

Introduction

One of the most frequently disputed and perplexing issues in sports cases is defining a date or dates of injury for purposes of the statute of limitations defense and also imposition of liability pursuant to Labor Code section 5500.5. Defining dates of injury is also important in cases where there is established California jurisdiction with possible application of the reduction of liability principles set forth in the Benson case.

Statutory Definitions:

In many sports cases, reporting physicians take the path of least resistance and find one cumulative trauma injury spanning the applicant's entire career notwithstanding there is medical and factual evidence establishing numerous specific injuries and possibly multiple cumulative trauma injuries. The two key Labor Code sections defining specific and cumulative injuries are Labor Code section 3208.1, and the general prohibition of combining injuries as set forth in Labor Code section 3208.2.

Labor Code section 3208.1 provides as follows:

An injury may be either: (a) "specific," occurring as the result of one incident or exposure which causes disability or need for medical treatment; or (b) "cumulative," occurring as repetitive mentally or physically traumatic activity extending over a period of time, the combined effect of which causes any disability or need for medical treatment. The date of cumulative injury shall be the date determined under section 5412.

Labor Code section 3208.2 provides as follows:

When disability, need for medical treatment, or death results from the combined effects of two or more injuries, either specific, cumulative, or both, all questions of fact and law shall be separately determined with respect to each such injury, including, but not limited to, the apportionment between such injuries of liability for disability benefits, the cost of medical treatment, and any death benefit.

As can been seen by the definition of a specific injury as set forth in Labor Code section 3208.1, it is not much of a medical or analytical challenge to determine whether an injured worker/applicant has suffered a specific injury. However, what is complex both medically and factually in many sports cases, is to determine whether or not an applicant has suffered one cumulative trauma or multiple cumulative traumas during the course of their employment for one or more sports teams. In a recent case *Guerrero v. Wellpoint Health Network* 2012 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 129 (WCAB Panel Decision) the WCAB rendered an opinion that provides an extraordinarily helpful analytical framework for determining in a particular case whether an applicant has suffered one cumulative trauma or multiple cumulative traumas. In *Guerrero*, the WCJ, as often is the case, found one cumulative trauma injury.

On reconsideration, the WCAB indicated it appeared there were two cumulative trauma injuries instead of one cumulative trauma and remanded the case back to the trial level for the WCJ to make additional findings. The WCAB provided a comprehensive analysis and discussion of the key cases in this area in a 13-page decision. Basically, the WCAB provided an analytical template consistent with Labor Code sections 3208.1, 3208.2 and Labor Code section 5303 and applicable case law, to assist in determining whether there is one cumulative trauma injury or multiple cumulative trauma injuries. The WCAB's analysis was as follows:

Labor Code section 3208.1 provides that a cumulative industrial injury occurs whenever the repetitive physically traumatic activities of an employee's occupation cause any disability or a need for medical treatment. The date of injury for an industrial cumulative trauma injury is defined by Labor Code section 5412, as follows: "The date of injury in cases of occupational diseases or cumulative injuries is that date upon which the employee first suffered disability therefrom and either knew, or in the exercise of reasonable diligence should have known, that such disability was caused by his present or prior employment." As used in Labor Code section 5412, "disability" means either compensable temporary disability or permanent disability. (*Chavira v. Worker's Comp. Appeals Bd.* (1991) 235 Cal. App. 3d 463 [56 Cal. Comp. Cases 631]; *State Compensation Insurance Fund v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd.* (*Rodarte*) (2004) 119 Cal. App. 4th 998 [69 Cal. Comp. Cases 579].)

Here, the issue presented is whether there were two cumulative trauma injuries with different dates of injury per *Aetna Casualty & Surety Co. v. Workmen's Comp. Appeals Bd. (Coltharp)* (1973) 35 Cal. App. 3d 329 [38 Cal. Comp. Cases 720] and *Ferguson v. City of Oxnard* (1970) 35 Cal. Comp. Cases 452 (Appeals Board en banc) (separate cumulative injuries occur where "periods of disability and/or need for medical treatment are interspersed within the alleged course of the repetitive activities); or there was a single cumulative trauma with one date of injury (i.e., the first period of compensable temporary disability) because the periods of temporary disability were linked by a continued need for medical treatment under *Western Growers Ins. Co. v. W.C.A.B. (Austin)* (1993) 16 Cal. App. 4th 227 [58 Cal. Comp. Cases 323]. Of course, the number and nature of the injuries suffered are questions of fact for the WCJ or the Appeals Board. (*Western Growers Ins. Co. (Austin)*, 16 Cal. App. 4th at pp. 234-235; *Aetna Cas. & Surety Co. (Coltharp)* 35 Cal. App. 3d at p. 341.)

When Western Growers (Austin) is read in conjunction with the Labor Code section 3208.1 definition of "cumulative injury," the anti-merger provisions of Labor Code sections 3208.2 and 5303, and the holding of Aetna Casualty (Coltharp), the following principles apply: (1) if, after returning to work from a period of temporary disability and a need for medical treatment, the employee's repetitive work activities again result in injurious trauma (i.e., if the occupational activities after returning to work from a period of temporary disability cause or contribute to a new period of temporary disability, to a new or an increased level of permanent disability, or to a new or increased need for medical treatment), then there are two separate and distinct cumulative injuries that cannot be merged into a single injury (Lab. Code §§ 3208.1, 3208.2, 3208.3; Aetna Casualty (Coltharp), supra, 35 Cal. App. 3d at p. 342); and (2) if, however, the employee's occupational activities after returning to work from a period of industrial temporary

disability are *not* injurious (i.e., if any new period of temporary disability, new or increased level of permanent disability, or new or increased need for medical treatment result solely from an *exacerbation* of the *original* injury), then there is only a *single* cumulative injury and no impermissible merger occurs. (Lab. Code §§ 3208.1, 3208.2, 5303; *Western Growers (Austin), supra,* 16 Cal. App.4th at p. 235.)

Applying the analytical template hereinabove to the particular facts of any given case, should assist counsel and the reporting physicians in correctly determining whether a particular applicant has suffered one or more cumulative trauma injuries along with any specific injuries that meet the definition set forth in Labor Code section 3208.1.

As expressly required by Labor Code section 3208.2, any disability, need for medical treatment or death that results from the combined effects of two or more injuries, either specific or cumulative, or both, all questions of fact and law shall be separately determined with respect to each injury. As can be readily seen by reading cases in this area, each case is very fact specific with the applicable medical history being filtered through the Austin, Coltharp, and Rodarte cases. See also, Alea Work Comp Project v. WCAB (2012) 77 Cal. Comp. Cases 681; 2012 Cal. Wrk. Comp. LEXIS 87 (writ denied) finding of one cumulative trauma injury and not two as asserted by one of two employers/carriers; (see also, Bass v. State of California 2017 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 213, where WCAB found one cumulative trauma injury and not two separate cumulative trauma injuries since there was one period of injurious exposure.) Matthews v. San Diego Chargers et.al. 2016 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 240 (WCAB panel decision), WCAB found two separate cumulative traumas where there was a one year gap in applicant's employment due to a players strike resulting in cessation of treatment and injurious exposure; Guillen v. Pro American Premium Tools 2015 Cal.Wrk.Comp.P.D. LEXIS 662 (WCAB panel decision) (WCAB amended WCJ's decision and found two separate cumulative trauma instead of one cumulative trauma based on two separate periods of TTD).

Interaction between Labor Code Sections 5500.5 and 5412:

In many cases there is understandable confusion engendered by Labor Code section 5500.5 in defining a date of injury or injuries as opposed to injurious exposure. As will be set forth hereinafter, both dates are not synonymous.

Section 5412 was originally enacted to codify the holding in *Marsh v. I.A.C.* (1933) 217 Cal. 338; 19 I.A.C.159. In many cumulative trauma cases it is not the last date of injurious exposure to the harmful work environment that determines the date of injury, but the first date "when the accumulated effects culminate in disability" and the injured worker knows through reasonable diligence, of the industrial origin of the disability." This essentially translates to the formula of both knowledge and resultant disability which are often not simultaneous or synonymous. (See, *State Compensation Insurance Fund v. WCAB (Rodarte)* (2004) 119 Cal. App. 4th 998 [69 Cal. Comp. Cases 579.]

In *Rodarte*, the WCJ and the WCAB found the applicant had knowledge that her disability was caused by her work when she filed a claim in October of 1997. However, she did not "suffer disability" pursuant to Labor Code section 5412 until ten months later on August 7, 1998, which

was her last day of work. The lesson of *Rodarte* is that Labor Code section 5412 requires compensable disability and medical treatment. Modified work alone without wage loss does not constitute disability for purposes of Labor Code section 5412 and Labor Code section 5500.5. However, the Court of Appeal did clarify that medical treatment and permanent disability, even without wage loss could constitute "disability" under Labor Code section 5412 and Labor Code section 5500.5.

Liability for an industrial cumulative trauma injury is limited, pursuant to section 5500.5 to those employers who employed the employee during a period of one year immediately preceding either the date of injury, as determined pursuant to Labor Code section 5412, or the last date on which the employee was employed in an occupation exposing him to cumulative injury, whichever occurs first. For an excellent discussion and analysis of the genesis and operative effect of 5500.5, see *Stabler v. KS Adams, et al.* 2015 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 424 (WCAB panel decision) (detailed discussion of the California Supreme Court's en banc decision in *Flesher v. WCAB* (1979) 23 Cal.3d 322, 44 Cal.Comp.Cases 212).

In order to properly determine liability of an employer or employers under section 5500.5, an initial threshold determination must be made as to the date of injury as defined by section 5412 and also the period of injurious exposure. In many situations these could be different dates. Once this initial determination is made, then liability can be properly imposed on the employer or employers who employed the employee during the one-year period immediately preceding the date of injury (per Labor Code section 5412) or the last date of injurious exposure, whichever occurs first.

The interaction of 5500.5 and 5412 and calculating the legally correct liability period is challenging both factually and legally especially when an applicant files a CT claim many years after the last date of injurious exposure or conversely gains knowledge of a CT mechanism of injury combined with disability before the last date of injurious exposure. In a recent case, *Villa v. Joe Cardoza Dairy et al.*, 46 CWCR 245 (November 2018), the applicant filed a CT injury to his left knee for the period of 4/7/00 to 9/20/11 more than ten years after suffering a specific injury to the same knee in 1998 and receiving a 32% PD award for the specific injury and having 15 surgeries. He remained employed with the same employer after the 32% award. With respect to the CT, applicant testified at deposition that he first became aware of his ability to file a CT claim when he retained an attorney on 9/4/12.

Two reporting physicians opined applicant suffered a CT for the same period plead in the application, 4/7/00 to 9/20/11. The WCJ relying on *Western Growers* (*Austin*) and consistent with the medical reporting found applicant suffered a CT from 4/7/00 to 9/20/11. One of the defendants appealed arguing that the correct CT period pursuant to 5500.5 and 5412 was either 12/7/05 to 12/7/06 or 9/4/11 to 9/4/12, with the later CT period ending when applicant first consulted an attorney on 9/4/12. The WCAB granted reconsideration and amended the WCJ's CT date determination under 5500.5 and 5412. The WCAB found applicant had suffered a CT from 9/4/11 to 9/4/12 the end date of the CT being the day the applicant met with his attorney. The WCAB reasoned that there was no evidence applicant "was aware of the legal concept of a cumulative trauma until he met with his attorney." Prior to meeting with his attorney no physician had ever advised applicant that his symptoms were attributable to or caused by a CT mechanism of injury.

In Cole v Marconi Conference Center 2018 Cal.Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 422, 46 CWCR 247 (WCAB panel decision), the WCAB reversed a WCJ's decision that was based on an opinion from an AME that the 5500.5 liability period was the one year preceding applicant's last day of work and injurious exposure on 8/29/16. Instead, the WCAB ruled that the correct date of injury under 5412 was an earlier date than the last date of work and injurious exposure. The earlier date was on 12/10/14 when she had previously suffered disability caused by work and acquired knowledge she suffered a CT mechanism of injury when she first consulted an attorney on 12/10/14. The WCAB determined the correct 5500.5 liability period was from 12/10/13 to 12/10/14. As a consequence, an entirely different carrier became liable for applicant's workers' compensation benefits. The WCAB stated, "Here, the last date of occupational exposure was August 29, 2016. Thus, the decisive question is whether applicant's Labor Code section 5412 date of injury was prior to that date." In cases where an applicant sustains disability and then later obtains knowledge that the disability suffered was industrial, "the date of injury will be the date of knowledge." Conversely, "where applicant already has knowledge that a condition is industrial, but has not yet sustained temporary or permanent disability, as a result of the condition, the date of injury will be the date that applicant finally sustains disability."

To illustrate this point the Board in *Cole* cited *City of Los Angeles v WCAB (Calvert)* (1978) 88 Cal.App.3d 19, 43 Cal.Comp.Cases 1280. In *Calvert*, the applicant suffered an industrial heart attack in October of 1971 resulting in his being hospitalized for almost 3 weeks. He returned to work in December of 1971. However, the applicant first acquired knowledge of the industrial nature of his disability in 1975. The Court of Appeal found that the "date of injury" for purposes of 5412 was 1975 since that was the first time there was concurrence of both "disability" and "knowledge."

As used in section 5412 "disability" means <u>either</u> temporary total disability or permanent disability which are not synonymous with medical treatment alone or mere symptoms. (*Chavira v. WCAB* (1991) 235 Cal. App. 3d 463 [56 Cal. Comp. Cases 631]; *State Compensation Insurance Fund v. WCAB* (*Rodarte*) (2004) 119 Cal. App. 4th 998 [69 Cal. Comp. Cases 579].)

For example, a treating physician may prescribe wrist splints and physical therapy as well as modified work but these alone, without any indication of permanent disability or temporary total disability resulting in wage loss, will not be sufficient to establish a date of injury for purposes of Labor Code section 5412. (See generally Hanna Cal. Law of Emp. Inj. and Worker's Comp. 2nd §§4.71, 24.3[6]).

For other cases examples dealing with the interaction of Labor Code section 5500.5 and 5412 please see cases in this outline under the heading "Permanent Disability".

In conclusion, the anomaly of Labor Code section 5412 as used in section 5500.5 can operate to define a date of injury for purposes of determining the statute of limitations and assessing entitlement to benefits, before the last date of injurious exposure under Labor section 5505.5(a).

<u>Rose v. Los Angeles Dodgers</u>, 2024 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 77 (WCAB panel decision)

Issues and Holding: In a thirty-one page decision, the WCAB rescinded the WCJ's May 6, 2019 Findings and Award involving a cumulative trauma injury where the WCJ found injury AOE/COE and that applicant sustained 64% PD. On reconsideration, the WCAB issued new Findings of Fact on a number of complex issues but also remanded the matter back to the trial level on numerous other complex issues where the record needed to be developed and for the WCJ to conduct additional proceedings and to issue a new decision if the parties were unable to settle the case.

The WCAB issued new Findings of Fact related to employment, injury AOE/COE to some body parts, there was insufficient evidence to establish California jurisdiction over applicant's employment with the Edmonton Capitals, the correct date of injury pursuant to LC 5412, applicant's claim was not barred by the LC 5405 one-year statute of limitations and that applicant was in need of future medical treatment to cure and relive from the effects of his injury. The Board also issued Orders as follows:

- a. The issue of applicant's weekly earnings is deferred.
- b. The issue of temporary disability is deferred.
- c. The issue of the body parts of psyche and sleep are deferred.
- d. The issues of the permanent and stationary date, permanent disability, apportionment, and attorney fees are deferred.
- e. The issues of the period of liability pursuant to Labor Code section 5500.5 as well as defendant's pro rata liability for the claim pursuant to Labor Code section 5005 are deferred
- f. The issue of the Appeals Board's reservation of jurisdiction over the claim pursuant to *General Foundry Serv. v. Workers' Compensation Appeals Bd. (Jackson)* (1986) 42 Cal.3d 331 [51 Cal.Comp.Cases 375] is deferred.

Factual and Procedural Overview: The first significant procedural issue relates to the fact that the F&A in this case issued on May 6, 2019. The Board granted reconsideration for "further study" and then held on to the case for almost five years before issuing its decision on February 29, 2024!

Applicant a professional baseball player, was found to have suffered a cumulative trauma injury for the period of June 5, 1995 to September 2, 2010 while employed by twelve different teams. During his career he played for the Dodgers for two different periods, February 2, 2009 to November 9, 2009, and previously from December 6, 2004 to October 14, 2005. In addition to the Dodgers he played Edmonton Capitals, Chico Outlaws, Colorado Rockies, Cleveland Indians, St. Louis Cardinals, Tampa Bay Rays, Oakland Athletics, Kansas Cit Royals, Boston Red Sox, Arizona Diamondbacks, and Houston Astros.

Applicant obtained medical reporting from Dr. Einbund in orthopedics, Dr. Nudleman in neurology, Dr. Berman in otolaryngology and Dr. Greenzang in psychiatry. The parties selected Zan Lewis as the QME in orthopedics.

In addition to finding injury AOE/COE and 64% PD, the WCJ found that applicant's date of injury pursuant to LC 5412 was September 16, 2013, applicant's earning capacity was \$500 per week, and that the Dodgers by their carrier Ace Insurance was liable for 63.5% of the benefits awarded. With respect to the WCJ's Findings and Award of May 6, 2019, both the applicant and defendant filed Petitions for Reconsideration.

On reconsideration applicant raised the following issues:

- 1. Applicant has sustained injury resulting in permanent mental incapacity, and that his disability is conclusively presumed to be total, without apportionment pursuant to LC 4662(a)(4) or alternatively applicant is permanently totally disabled "in accordance with the fact" pursuant to section 4662(b).
- 2. Applicant argued that his condition is progressively deteriorating, warranting an ongoing award of temporary disability and the reservation of jurisdiction over the injury.
- 3. Applicant contends the WCJ erred in excluding reports obtained after the close of discovery.
- 4. The date of injury should be November 15, 2017 or April 7, 2018, based on applicant's first knowledge of a cumulative trauma injury to his brain based on when he received the results of a brain scan or the date of the last report from Dr. Nudleman.
- 5. Applicant contends that his earnings should be fixed as of the time of injury resulting in an earning capacity in excess of the \$500 determined by the WCJ.
- 6. That applicant's settlement with co-defendant State Compensation Insurance Fund (SCIF) should not be analyzed under section 5005 if applicant is deemed permanently and totally disabled.

Defendant raised the following issues on reconsideration:

- 1. Defendant contends that its pro rata share of liability under sections 5005 and 5500.5 is 16 percent.
- 2. That the medical evidence offered by applicant was obtained in contravention of sections 4600 and 4062.2 and cannot serve as the basis for a disability award.
- 3. The reporting of treating psychiatrist Dr. Greenzang is not substantial evidence.
- 4. Applicant's injury is not catastrophic as contemplated by section 4660.1(c)(2)(B).

The WCAB's Decision

The Admissibility of Applicant's Medical Reporting: Defendant argued that all of applicant's medical reporting except of the mutually obtained QME report from Dr. Lewis was "obtained in contravention of section 4062.2 and 4600 and cannot serve as the basis for a disability award." Defendant also argued that all of applicant's physicians are "are cloaked as treating physicians in an effort to avoid the medical-legal process prescribed by section 4062.2."

Following an extensive analysis of all of the applicable statutes and regulations as well as relevant case law, the Board found all of applicant's medical reporting was admissible primarily on the basis that defendant denied liability for applicant's claim and the claim was in a denied status when applicant selected his physicians. As a consequence, defendant also failed to authorize referrals to

physicians in multiple specialties. The WCAB also agreed with the WCJ's analysis that all of applicant's physicians were "examining physicians" and further where the WCJ in his Report on Reconsideration stated:

Petitioner appears to argue that because some of the treatment reports are prepared in the format of a medical-legal report, the physicians aren't really treating Applicant but merely writing reports to get Applicant around the need to follow the steps to secure a Panel QME. A medical-legal report is one prepared to help prove a contested claim. Rule 9793 describes the types of medical-legal reports and all can be done by a treating physician. Obtaining such a report from a treating physician is especially appropriate where the claim has been denied and where there are issues of permanent disability.

Labor Code section 4060 permits medical-legal evaluations by a treating physician, as does section 4061. Petitioner's claim that the medical reports submitted in this matter are invalid as circumventing the QME process because they were prepared by a treating physician is misplaced.

In terms of an independent basis to admit applicant's medical reporting the WCAB noted that defendant failed to object to the admissibility of applicant's medical reporting at trial and it was also not an "issue identified with particularity among the issues submitted for decision."

Earnings: With respect to the applicant's earning and calculation of average weekly earnings, applicant emphasized applicant's earnings of \$73,000 in 2009 and \$43,000 in 2010. However, the WCJ found that there was "widely divergent" evidence related to what applicant's earning were after the end of his professional career. As a consequence, the WCJ felt that a wage capacity analysis pursuant to LC 4453(c)(4) should be applied to the variations in applicant's earnings after his career ended. The reasons the WCJ applied a wage capacity analysis were as follows:

"[i]t would not be reasonable to use Applicant's earnings as a professional athlete to determine earning capacity because even without injury professional athletes end their careers when age diminishes skill and later earnings outside of the athletic arena are usually not anywhere near the amounts earned within it ... [a]pplicant offers no evidence to suggest that Applicant's earning capacity is substantially greater than what was determined by the Court after trial."

Using this analysis the WCJ determined applicant's earning capacity to be \$500 per week. However, the WCAB while agreeing with the WCJ's use of an earnings capacity analysis found that it was unclear how the WCJ determined an earning capacity figure of \$500 per week. Since the record did not adequately explain how the WCJ made his earnings capacity determination, the WCAB rescinded the related Finding of Fact and deferred the issue of applicant's earnings capacity pending further proceedings on remand.

Determining the Correct LC 5412 Date of Injury: The WCJ found a LC 5412 date of injury of September 16, 2013 based on when the Application for Adjudication was filed. Applicant argued the correct 5412 date of injury should be November 15, 2017, when applicant first received the results of a brain scan indicating a cumulative trauma, or in the alternative, when the reporting Orthopedist, Dr. Einbund issued his first report related to an orthopedic date of injury.

The WCAB engaged in a comprehensive review of the applicable case law relevant to determining the correct date of injury pursuant to LC 5412. Based on their analysis the WCAB agreed with the WCJ that the correct LC 5412 date of injury was September 16, 2013.

Here, the WCJ has determined that applicant's preexisting disability, coupled with his meeting with an attorney and filing the instant claim of cumulative injury fixes the concurrence of section 5412 knowledge and disability as the date of the filing of the application, September 16, 2013. (Opinion on Decision, at pp. 23-25.) While applicant contends that the date of injury should correspond to applicant's first knowledge of the existence of injury to his head/brain, the WCJ correctly notes that applicant's alleged brain injuries are but one part of his claim, which includes multiple orthopedic injuries which were not occult at the time of the filing of the application, and which were alleged to be cumulative in nature. (Report on Applicant's Petition, at p. 9.) Following our review of the evidence occasioned by both Petitions, we agree with the WCJ's analysis, and conclude that the appropriate date upon which applicant received notice of his rights to pursue a cumulative injury herein is the date of the filing of the Application for Adjudication. (Bassett-Mcgregor v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd. (1988) 205 Cal.App.3d 1102, 1115 [53 Cal.Comp.Cases 502].) Accordingly, we will not disturb the WCJ's determination that the section 5412 date of injury is September 16, 2013.

Whether Applicant's Industrial Injuries Resulted in the Application of the Presumption of Permanent and Total Disability Pursuant to LC 4662(a)(4) An Injury to the Brain Resulting in Permanent Mental Incapacity: Applicant argued that a determination by a physician that a brain injury that results in Dementia, "which is disabling in itself, is sufficient to trigger" the 4662(a)(4) presumption of permanent and total disability. The WCJ found that there was no question that applicant suffered a brain injury and to a certain degree impair the applicant and disrupt his family life. However, the WCJ found that even if applicant had "partial cognitive impairments" that this is an "insufficient basis upon which to invoke the statutory presumption."

The WCAB reviewed and discussed extensive applicable case law on this issue and concluded that:

Our jurisprudence with respect to section 4662(a)(4) has thus required a showing that applicant has sustained injury to the brain resulting in profound cognitive compromise as described in the medical evidence. Additionally, the opinions of the evaluating medical-legal physicians are highly relevant to any determination concerning presumptive total disability.

The Board ruled that further development of the record was necessary on this issue and as a consequence rescinded the the WCJ's findings and deferred the issue of applicant's final levels of permanent disability.

Should Applicant's Disability be Deemed Permanent and Total "in Accordance with the Fact" pursuant to LC section 4662(b) or based on his Diminished Earning Capacity: The Board ruled that LC section 4662(b) does not provide a separate path to a finding of permanent and total disability and that section 4660 "governs how a finding of permanent and total disability

may be made "in accordance with the fact." The Board cited *Department of Corrections & Rehabilitation v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd.* (*Fitzpatrick*) (2018) 27 Cal.App.5th 607, 610 [83 Cal.Comp.Cases 1680).

Whether Applicant's Vocational Evidence Supports a Conclusion he Sustained Permanent and Total Disability: The WCJ found that applicants vocational reporting was based on an incorrect understanding of the record and was therefore unpersuasive. The WCAB concurred with the WCJ's analysis and added additional reasons why the reporting of applicant's vocational expert does not constitute substantial evidence since it "impermissibly purports to substitute impermissible vocational apportionment in place of otherwise valid medical apportionment." In doing so, the WCAB cited their recent en banc decision in *Nunes v. State of California Dept. of Motor Vehicles* (2023) 88 Cal.Comp.Cases 741 [2023 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 30] (Appeals Bd. en banc) (*Nunes*).

Applicant's vocational expert impermissibly discounted "the nonindustrial apportionment identified by the evaluating physicians by asserting that the factors of apportionment did not impair applicant's ability to work "fully duty." (sic). As a consequence the WCAB ruled that the record required further development on this issue pursuant to the Board en banc decision in *Nunes*, *supra*.

Applicant's Claimed Psychiatric Injury: The WCJ found that applicant suffered a consequential injury to his psyche. Defendant argued on reconsideration that applicant's medical reporting from Dr. Greenzang did not constitute substantial evidence for multiple reasons including overlooking "non-industrial apportionment."

With respect to psychiatric injuries the WCAB reviewed Labor Code section 3208.3 as well as applicable case law as to the issue of "predominant as to all causes" as well as the predominant causation threshold applicable to psychiatric injuries pled as a "compensable consequence to a physical injury." The Board found applicant's medical expert's opinions related to predominance as "internally inconsistent" and therefore did not constitute substantial evidence. The WCAB also found applicant's medical reporting on causation as well as apportionment was also defective.

As a consequence, the WCAB amended the WCJ's F&A deferring the issue of psychiatric disability returning the matter to the trial level for further development of the record on this issue.

Here, the reporting of Dr. Greenzang is internally inconsistent as to the predominant cause of applicant's claimed psychiatric injury, and further offers significant changes to the apportionment analysis without corresponding discussion of the causation analysis. We will therefore amend the F&A to defer then issue of psychiatric disability and return this matter to the trial level for development of the record.

Whether Applicant Sustained Chronic Traumatic Encephalopathy (CTE) and if this is an Insidious and Progressive Disease Invoking the WCAB's Jurisdiction over the Issue of Permanent Disability as well as an Interim Award of Ongoing TTD: The Board began their analysis by referencing the LC Sections 5410 and 5804 general five year limitations periods related to the WCAB's jurisdiction. The Board then noted the exception related to "cases involving "insidious progressive disease process that results from a remote, undramatic work exposure." In such cases the WCAB indicated that:

However, in cases involving "insidious progressive disease process that results from a remote, undramatic work exposure," the Appeals Board may tentatively rate a known disability and order advances based on that tentative rating. (*General Foundry Serv. v. Workers' Compensation Appeals Bd. (Jackson)* (1986) 42 Cal.3d 331 [51 Cal.Comp.Cases 375] (*Jackson*).) The Appeals Board may then reserve its jurisdiction for a final determination of permanent disability when either the employee's condition becomes permanent and stationary, or the permanent disability is total (100 percent) and further deterioration would be irrelevant for rating purposes. (*Id.* at p. 340.)

The Board then discussed a number of cases where they applied the "*Jackson* doctrine: to reserve jurisdiction in cases involving insidious and progressive diseases.

However, with respect to the instant case the WCAB indicated that with the exception of one opinion from applicant's treating psychotherapist, "there is no comprehensive medical-legal reporting in evidence that identifies the existence of CTE or that characterizes CTE as an insidious, progressive disease." Applicant's treating neurologist failed to diagnose CTE or the "likely progression of the disease" if it was applicable. As a consequence the Board found "that there is an insufficient evidentiary basis upon which to determine whether the reservation of WCAB jurisdiction is appropriate under *Jackson*. The Board found that the record on this issue needed to be developed stating:

Accordingly, we find that there is an insufficient evidentiary basis upon which to determine whether the reservation of WCAB jurisdiction is appropriate under *Jackson*. We will therefore return the matter to the trial level for development of the record. Upon return of this matter, the WCJ may wish to consider directing the parties to develop the medical-legal regard with regard to whether applicant has an established diagnosis of CTE or similar injury, whether the injury was caused by a "remote" and "undramatic" work exposure, whether the disease will worsen over time, but at a rate so gradual that it is well established before becoming apparent and whether it has a "long latency period" between exposure to the risk and the onset of symptomatology.5 (*Ruffin v. Olson Glass Co., supra,* 52 Cal.Comp.Cases 335.) The parties also need to clarify whether it is possible to determine whether the contemplated reservation of jurisdiction is a result of the alleged cumulative trauma injury, in full or in part, as distinguished from the sequelae of applicant's 2000 armed robbery incident.

Applicant's Prior Settlement with SCIF: Applicant argued that his prior settlement by way of a Compromise and Release with one of the co-defendant's the Chico Outlaws, insured by SCIF should not reduce the overall percentage of liability of the Dodgers pursuant to the F&A. Applicant contends there should be no reduction since there was a mutual understanding with SCIF "that the settlement would leave codefendant Los Angeles Dodgers jointly and severally liable for the entirety of the instant claim."

The Board cited LC 5005 as well as the pro rata liability as to each codefendant calculated by the WCJ and the WCJ "then calculated the total disability arising out of applicant's claim, and reduced it by "that portion of liability attributable to the portion or portions of the exposure so released." The WCJ and the Board also noted that the actual Compromise and Release agreement between

applicant and SCIF does not reflect the "mutual understanding" claimed by applicant and that even if it did, such an agreement would be "binding as to the parties to the agreement."

Applicant also refined his argument as it related to liability for any psychiatric disability must "inure" only to the Dodgers since applicant's employment with the Chico Outlaws "was less than the six months required for compensable claims by section 3208.3(d). The Board pointed out the the minimum six months of employment required by section 3208.3(d) need not be continuous and that applicant had two separate periods of employment with the Dodgers.

With respect to this issue, since the WCAB rescinded the WCJ's award of psychiatric disability they elected to return "the matter to the trial level for development of the record" deferring the "pending a determination of compensable psychiatric injury and corresponding liability."

As a follow up to their analysis of LC 5005 the Board observed whether the allocation of liability should be deferred to arbitration proceedings by stating:

We also observe that section 5005 provides that upon approval of the underlying compromise and release, the WCJ "need not make a final actual determination of the potential liability of the employer or employers for that portion of the exposure being released." (Lab. Code, § 5005.) We have also previously held that, "[t]he internal references in Labor Code Section 5005 to Labor Code Section 5500.5 demonstrate an intended interrelationship between the two sections and suggest a statutory scheme for a procedure to facilitate resolution of litigation in multiple defendant cases." (*Greenwald v. Carey Distrib. Co.* (1981) 46 Cal.Comp.Cases 703, 713 [1981 Cal. Wrk. Comp. LEXIS 3275] (Appeals Board en banc).) Accordingly, the WCJ may wish to consider whether the allocation of liability pursuant to sections 5005 and/or 5500.5 is appropriately deferred to arbitration proceedings.

<u>Hermanson v. San Francisco Giants, Ace American Ins. Co.</u> 2023 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 328 (WCAB panel decision)

Issues: This case involves a multiplicity of challenging issues:

- 3. Whether there was California jurisdiction over applicant's CT claim pursuant to LC 3600.5(a) based on his playing for and signing multiple employment contracts with California based teams.
- 4. The correct date of injury under LC 5412.
- 5. The correct liability period under LC 5500.5.
- 6. Whether and in what circumstances liability "rolls back" to the first team over which California elects to exercise jurisdiction.
- 7. Whether there are any applicable exemptions or non-exemptions in light of LC section 3600 subdivisions (b) (c) and (d).

On all these issues the WCAB rescinded the WCJ's Findings and Order and returned the case to the trial level for further proceedings.

Factual & Procedural Overview: The WCJ determined applicant a professional baseball player suffered a CT injury during the period of April 1, 1995 to April 1, 2007 to various body parts while employed by eight different teams during the CT period. Applicant played four or five seasons for two California based teams the San Diego Padres and the San Francisco Giants. He also signed at least two employment contracts in California within the claimed CT period with these two California teams. Following trial the WCJ issued a take nothing further order. Applicant filed for reconsideration which was granted by the WCAB who rescinded the take nothing order and remanded the case back to the trial level for further proceedings and a new decision. In doing so the Board stated:

Based on our review of the record and applicable law, we conclude that the WCJ's take-nothing order does not follow from the WCJ's finding that applicant's claim is not barred by Labor Code section 3600.5. Therefore, we conclude that the WCJ must revisit Labor Code sections 3600.5, 5412 and 5500.5 and provide a separate analysis of each of the three statutes. Accordingly, we will rescind the WCJ's decision and return this matter to the trial level for further proceedings and new decision by the WCJ.

The WCAB's Decision

1. Whether the WCAB could properly exercise jurisdiction over applicant's CT claim based on LC 3600.5(a): The WCAB cited *Wilson v. Florida Marlins* (2020) 2020 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 30 indicating that it was undisputed that applicant in the instant case was hired in California multiple times. As a consequence the WCAB can exercise jurisdiction over applicant's CT claim (absent any applicable exemptions or other special defenses) and it also calls into question under *Wilson* whether LC 3600.5(c) and (d) are applicable at all since those subdivisions "are intended to apply only to athletes who cannot establish jurisdiction under section 3600.5, subdivision (a) or section 5305."

Here, as in *Wilson*, there is jurisdiction over applicant's claim against the California teams pursuant to section 3600.5(a). To the extent the WCJ's decision remains unclear as to whether she made a contrary finding based on subdivisions (c) and (d) of section 3600.5, we conclude the WCJ must revisit and resolve the issue based on the analysis of the statute set forth in *Wilson*, *supra*.

2. Determining the Correct LC 5500.5 Liability Period: With respect to the LC 5500.5 liability issue the Board noted that the WCJ found that the San Francisco Giants (Giants) had no liability for applicant's injury pursuant to LC 5500.5 an issue which the WCAB indicated the WCJ must revisit and resolve on remand. As a preliminary matter the Board with some concern stated that the record in the case raises an issue of whether all parties were provided due process related to LC 5500.5 which concerns the division of liability amongst multiple employers in a CT case and that the record reflects the LC 5500.5 issue was not specifically raised at trial! The Board emphasized the interaction of LC 5412 with LC 5500.5 noting that:

Section 5500.5(a) speaks to the issue of determining liability for a cumulative injury, while section 5412 speaks to the issue of the date of

cumulative injury for purposes of applying the Statute of Limitations. The two issues are related but distinct, in that part of the analysis to determine liability under section 5500.5(a) requires an analysis of the date of cumulative injury under section 5412. (*County of Riverside v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd.* (*Sylves*) (2017) 10 Cal.App.5th 119 [82 Cal.Comp.Cases 301] ("*Sylves*").)

The critical analytical error the WCJ made was that she "applied section 5500.5(a) without undertaking the required analysis of the date of cumulative trauma injury pursuant to section 5412. In order to apply section 5500.5(a) correctly, we conclude that the WCJ must revisit and determine the date of cumulative trauma injury pursuant to section 5412......"

3. Determining the Correct LC 5412 Date of Injury: With respect to this issue, the Board in order to assist the WCJ on remand reviewed the statutory provisions of LC 5412 and the applicable case law as follows:

Section 5412 requires a convergence of two elements: (1) the date when the employee first suffers disability; and (2) the employee's acquisition of knowledge that such disability was caused by the employee's present or prior employment. Relevant to the first element, there is no "disability" within the meaning of section 5412 until there has been either compensable temporary disability or permanent disability. (State Comp. Ins. Fund v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd. (2004) 119 Cal.App.4th 998, 1003 [69 Cal.Comp.Cases 579] ("Rodarte"); Chavira v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd. (1991) 235 Cal.App.3d 463, 474 [56 Cal.Comp.Cases 631].) Relevant to the second element, it is settled law that "an applicant will not be charged with knowledge that his disability is job related without medical advice to that effect unless the nature of the disability and applicant's training, intelligence and qualifications are such that applicant should have recognized the relationship between the known adverse factors involved in his employment and his disability." (Sylves, supra, 10 Cal.App.5th at 124-125, quoting City of Fresno v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd. (1985) 163 Cal.App.3d 467, 473.)

The Board for guidance to the WCJ on remand summarized the relevant facts noting that of significance was the fact that applicant's testimony reflected "that the first time he found out he had permanent disability was when he was informed of the same by Dr. Aval, the Agreed Medical Evaluator ("AME") in Orthopedics." Applicant was first examined by Dr. Aval on July 26, 2018 and issued his report on August 2, 2018. The WCAB then instructed the WCJ on remand to carefully review the facts again and to apply the applicable law in order to make a new determination with respect to "applicant's cumulative trauma injury under section 5412." In so doing the WCJ may further develop the record "as necessary or appropriate toward that end."

4. The 5500.5 Liability Period and "Rollback"/"Relation Back" of Liability: With respect to the LC 5500.5 liability period, the Board noted that for the period of April 2006 to April of 2007, applicant was employed by non-California based teams the Chicago White Sox and the Cincinnati Reds. Both teams were insured during this period. However, the White Sox were

dismissed by the WCJ as a party defendant, "leaving the Reds as an ostensibly insured employer of the applicant from March 2, 2007 to April 1, 2007."

The WCAB indicated the WCJ had erroneously determined the Reds were exempt from liability under LC 3600.5(b) based on "an approved alternative to workers' compensation coverage and therefore, this Court will not apply the "relation back" doctrine." In addition the WCJ erroneously concluded that the applicant was limited to pursing his claim against the Reds outside of California and there would be no relation back of liability under LC 5500.5 to the San Francisco Giants. The Board stated that it was unclear as to why the WCJ relied on LC 3600.5(b) under these facts and the applicable law.

Moreover, the WCJ's erroneous conclusion hereinabove was inconsistent with her own finding that "applicant's California claim is not barred by Labor Code section 3600.5(b) as well as the holding in *Wilson*. In that regard the Board stated "it is uncertain how any part of section 3600.5, except subdivision(a), is correctly applied in this case. We conclude that the WCJ must revisit the issue and make a new determination."

In terms of the WCJ's determination that there was no basis to apply the "relation back" doctrine the WCAB took issue with the WCJ's analysis.

We believe there are two problems with the WCJ's analysis. First, the WCJ imports the issue of the Reds' non-exemption into the analysis, but as discussed before the relevance of exemption or non-exemption under section 3600.5, subdivisions (b), (c) and (d), is questionable in this case. Secondly, although the WCJ posits that the Cincinnati Reds were "insured for workers' compensation coverage" during the last year of exposure, the apparent *effect* of the WCJ's take-nothing order is that there is *no* insurance coverage on applicant's claim for California workers' compensation benefits.

With respect to the 'relation back"/"roll back" doctrine the Board also stated:

[T]he weight of cases suggests that where California declines to apply its workers' compensation law against out-of-state teams, liability does "roll back" to the first team over which California elects to exercise jurisdiction. (See: Allen v. Minn. Vikings (2018) 2018 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 543; Langdon v. N.J. Devils (2017) 82 Cal. Comp. Cases 928 (writ den.), citing Milwaukee Bucks v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd. (Mason) (2013) 78 Cal.Comp.Cases 1173 (writ den.) and Toronto Raptors v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd. (Foster) (2013) 78 Cal.Comp.Cases 1188 (writ den.); McKinley v. Arizona Cardinals (2013) 78 Cal.Comp.Cases 23, 27-28 [Appeals Board en banc], citing with approval *Injured Workers' Ins. Fund* of Maryland v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd. (Crosby) (2001) 66 Cal. Comp. Cases 923 (writ den.); Tampa Bay Buccaneers v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd. (Harper) (2014) 79 Cal.Comp.Cases 595 (writ den.), citing Portland Trailblazers v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd. (Whatley) (2007) 72 Cal.Comp.Cases 154 (writ den.); Washington Wizards v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd. (Roundfield) (2006) 71 Cal.Comp.Cases 897 (writ den.); San

Francisco 49ers v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd. (1996) 61 Cal.Comp.Cases 301 (writ den.), citing Employers Mutual Liability Insurance Company v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd. (Patterson) 52 Cal.Comp.Cases 284 (writ den.).)

In remanding the case back to the trial level, the WCAB concluded their decision with the following guidelines for the WCJ to follow:

In conclusion, we are persuaded that the WCJ must revisit the date of cumulative trauma injury under section 5412, as well as the possible "relation back" of liability to the San Francisco Giants under section 5500.5, in light of our discussion of sections 3600.5, 5412, 5500.5, and relevant case law. We express no final opinion on these questions. When the WCJ issues a new decision, any aggrieved party may seek reconsideration as provided in Labor Code sections 5900 et seq.

For a similar holding see, *Piurowski v. Dallas Cowboys; Miami Dolphis; Tampa Bay Bandits et al.*, 2024 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 173 (WCAB panel decision)

<u>Bates v. Cincinnati Reds, PSI</u> 2023 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 349 (WCAB panel decision)

Issues and Holding: The WCAB rescinded the WCJ's decision of September 13, 2023, and substituted its own Findings of Fact and Orders. The WCAB found that:

- 1. Applicant was an employee of the Cincinnati Reds (Reds) during the period of June 1, 1989 to March 31, 1991, even though the contracts of hire he entered into and later signed were with minor league affiliates of the Reds.
- 2. The correct date of injury under LC 5412 in a latent disease cumulative trauma case is a fixed date and not over a period of time. In this case the LC 5412 date of injury based on a concurrence of knowledge and disability was July 31, 2019 following applicant's receipt of a medical report which established a cumulative injury with industrial causation.
- 3. The correct liability period under LC 5500.5 based on the one-year period prior to the *earlier* of the date of injury pursuant to section 5412, or the last date of injurious exposure is the one year period preceding March 31, 1991, the applicant's last date of injurious exposure.
- 4. The WCAB noted that the WCJ in his report on reconsideration acknowledged there was an error related to applicant's AWE which is corrected to reflect an average weekly wage of \$209.69.
- 5. The WCAB concurred with the WCJ that applicant's claimed psychiatric injury is not barred by the six-month employment requirement of section 3208.3(d).
- 6. California has subject matter jurisdiction over applicant's cumulative trauma claim.
- 7. The defense of estoppel is not applicable.
- 8. The medical-legal record must be developed with respect to a variety of issues including permanent disability and psyche related only to LC 4660.1 liability as well as the periods of TTD.

The WCAB took the matter off calendar and returned the case to the trial level for further development of the record on the issues of permanent disability, apportionment, periods of TTD and the psychiatric injury related to LC 4660.1 liability factors.

.

Factual & Procedural Overview: Applicant claimed injury to the head, eyes (vision), jaw, neck, back, shoulders, elbows, wrists, hands, fingers, hips, knees, ankles, feet and toes, psyche, neurological systems, sleep, internal, ENT, dental, and neuropsyche. while allegedly employed as a professional baseball player by defendant Cincinnati Reds from June 1, 1989 to March 31, 1991.

The WCAB found that applicant suffered injury on a cumulative trauma basis to his to his head, eyes (vision), jaw, neck, back, shoulders, elbows, wrists, hands, fingers, hips, knees, ankles, feet and toes, psyche, neurological systems, sleep, ears, nose, throat, teeth, mouth, internal systems and neuropsyche.

Trial proceedings were conducted over two separate dates on June 1, 2023 and August 22, 2023

The WCAB's Decision

Whether Applicant was an Employee of the Cincinnati Reds: At the outset, the WCAB noted that on the issue of employment there was a contradiction since defendant both stipulated to and also contested applicant's employment with the Reds! On the employment issue, the Board indicated the applicant offered credible and in many instances unrebutted testimony that he was employed by the Reds. Defendant focused on the fact that the teams identified in the contracts of hire were all minor league affiliates of the Reds. However, the WCAB noted that the at least one of the affiliates of the Reds was actually owned by the Reds. It was the Reds not their affiliates that paid the applicant. Both the WCJ and the WCAB found that applicant provided "services" to the Reds by playing baseball for its minor league teams and affiliates.

There was also photographic evidence of applicant signing multiple employment contracts with representatives for the Reds in California. On the issue of employment the WCAB stated:

Thus, applicant's credible and unrebutted testimony supports the assertion that applicant negotiated his contract with representatives for the Cincinnati Reds, and signed contracts with those same representatives in 1989 and again in 1990. Applicant's testimony further establishes that applicant performed services for and conferred a benefit on the Reds. Accordingly, and on the record before us, we concur with the WCJ's determination that applicant has made prima facie showing of an employment relationship with the Cincinnati Reds, by a preponderance of the evidence.

In response, defendant offered no persuasive evidence to rebut applicant's testimony and other supporting documentary and photographic evidence. The fact that applicant's contracts of hire did not expressly indicate that his employment was with the Reds was not dispositive since the totality of the evidence established the minor league affiliates were owned by the Reds and applicant was paid by the Reds and thus he was an employee of the Reds from June 1, 1989 to March 31, 1991.

Determining the Correct Date of Injury pursuant to LC 5412: At trial and on Reconsideration, defendant contended the LC 5412 date of injury was early 2004 based on medical records that applicant discussed his symptoms with physicians at UC Davis. With respect to the correct LC 5412 date of injury, the WCAB stated they agreed with the WCJ's analysis that the applicant's discussion of symptoms with physicians at UC Davis did not support a finding that at that time applicant had the requisite training and knowledge "to have known he retained a right to file a CT claim." However, the Board disagreed with the WCJ's determination of the LC 5412 date of injury being the period of June 1, 1989 to July 31, 2019.

The WCAB held that with respect to a 5412 date of injury in a CT injury claim is always a *fixed* date, rather than a period of time. The WCAB held the correct LC 5412 date of injury in this case was July 31, 2019, which reflects the date of the concurrence of knowledge and disability since this was the date "following applicant's receipt of the reporting of Dr. Einbund which established cumulative injury with industrial causation".

The Correct LC 5500.5 Liability Period: Pursuant to LC 5500.5(a) the WCAB stated that "the period of liabilityis the one-year period prior to the *earlier* of the date of injury pursuant to section 5412, or the last date of injurious exposure." In this case the last date of injurious exposure was March 31, 1991, and the LC 5412 date of injury was July 31, 2019. Since the earlier date of the two is March 31, 1991, the correct LC 5500.5 liability period is the one year preceding March 31, 1991.

Applicant's Alleged Psychiatric Injury is not Barred by the Six-Month Employment Requirement of LC 3208.3(d): At trial and on Reconsideration defendant contended that applicant's alleged psychiatric injury is barred pursuant to the six-month employment requirement of section 3208.3(d). In finding that the six-month employment requirement did not bar applicant's psychiatric claim the WCAB adopted and incorporated the WCJ's analysis as their own.

Relying on specific unambiguous provisions of applicant's employment contracts, the WCAB held that:

There appears no substantial evidence of termination of Applicant's employment according to contractual terms. Further there appears no substantial evidence of "the delivery of written or telegraphic notice to Player" required for Applicant's termination. The mutual, agreed upon end-date of a contract is not found the equivalent of termination of Applicant's employment for purposes of Labor Code §3208.3(e) by the undersigned.

As a consequence, applicant's psychiatric claim was not barred by the six-month employment requirement since under his contract he was employed by the Reds during calendar years 1989 and 1990 and was last employed by the Reds until he last played pro baseball IN 1990 and the Reds "owned his contract rights" until March 1, 1990.

<u>Penrose v. Denver Gold, North River Insurance Co., et al.,</u> 2023 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 256 (WCAB panel decision)

Issues: This 26 page decision is a roadmap on how to litigate an old CT claim filed by a professional athlete decades after they have retired. In this case the applicant retired as a professional football player in 1985. These old CT cases filed by professional athletes decades after they stop playing raise a series of challenging issues. There are a multiplicity of issues in this case including determining the correct date of injury under LC 5412, determining the correct MMI/P&S date, the correct rating schedule to apply, which medical-legal procedures apply, and the methodology involved in determining the correct indemnity rates.

There was also a threshold issue related to the extent of the WCAB's continuing jurisdiction once reconsideration has been granted and applicant's contention that the WCAB under section 5804 no longer had jurisdiction to alter or amend a prior award of compensation. With respect to this threshold issue applicant did not prevail but the WCAB's discussion of this issue should be read since it comes up frequently.

The LC 5412 Date of Injury: The WCAB ruled on how to correctly determine the date of injury pursuant to LC 5412 in these old CT cases. In this case, defendant contended the correct 5412 date of injury was 1986 or no later than the date of the filing of the application in 2011. However, the WCAB and the WCJ found the correct date of injury pursuant to 5412 was March 20, 2014. The WCAB engaged in a very detailed discussion and analysis of the applicable case law on this issue. The Board stated that the primary purpose of section 5412 is to prevent the premature commencement of the statute of limitations in these old CT latent disease cases so that the statute of limitations would not expire before an employee is reasonably aware of his or her injury. There is an also an extensive discussion of the "knowledge" and "disability" components of the 5412 date of injury equation. In this case the WCAB determined that the first documented evidence of compensable disability arising out of the applicant's CT claim was the QME reporting of Dr. Nudelman on March 19, 2014, 29 years after the applicant retired.

Another issue related to the 5412 date of injury issue was defendant's argument that applicant's job in insurance sales after retiring from the NFL, which included the sale of California workers' compensation policies, supports a finding that applicant should have recognized the relationship between his employment as a professional athlete and his disability. However, the WCJ found applicant credible that while he did sell California workers' compensation policies he had received no special training regarding CT claims. Moreover, there was nothing in the record of how applicant's experience in insurance sales would qualify him to reach a medical determination that he had sustained a CT injury arising out of industrial exposures while playing professional football.

It is important to note the WCAB acknowledged that applicant's first date of knowledge for purposes of section 5412 was the date he met with his attorney and caused his application to be filed on 6/21/11. However, section 5412 requires both knowledge and compensable disability and the first date of compensable disability identified in the record i.e., the concurrence of knowledge and disability was 3/20/14 based on the medical reporting of Dr. Nudleman.

Determining the Correct P&S/MMI Date in Old CT Cases: The WCAB spends 4 ½ pages discussing this issue. You should read this section of the case carefully because it is a reoccurring issue that is important in these old CT cases. In this case the WCJ initially determined the applicant was P&S on 12/31/86 based on the reporting of Dr. Nudelman. The Board found that the medical reporting from two QME's did not constitute substantial evidence on applicant's P&S date. In that regard the WCAB stated:

The inherent difficulties in reaching competent medical conclusions with respect to applicant's medical status more than 25 years after his last football game are evident in the medical-legal reporting herein. Dr. Nudleman's initial report concludes that "[n]eurologically, [applicant] is permanent and stationary, and he became permanent and stationary one year after completing his professional football career." (Ex. 8, Report of Kenneth Nudleman, M.D., dated March 19, 2014, at p. 3.) However, the report fails to disclose any reasoning behind this conclusion. The report does not reflect a review of contemporaneous medical records from 1985 or 1986, and we find the retroactive assessment of a permanent and stationary status more than 30 years prior to be inherently speculative and otherwise unsupported in the record.

Similarly, orthopedic QME Dr. Einbund opined that applicant's condition became permanent and stationary "approximately two to three months following his retirement from professional football." (Ex. 3, Report of Michael Einbund, M.D., dated March 20, 2014, at p. 18.) Dr. Einbund's initial record review encompassed records from 1976 to 1981, and the report does not disclose the basis for the assessment that applicant reached a permanent and stationary plateau shortly after he stopped playing professional football in 1985. An expert opinion is insufficient to support a board determination when that opinion is based on surmise, speculation, conjecture, or guess. (*Owings v. Industrial Acc. Com.* (1948) 31 Cal.2d 689, 692 [192 P.2d 1]; *Spillane v. Workmen's Comp. App. Bd.* (1969) 269 Cal.App.2d 346, 351 [74 Cal.Rptr. 671]; *Industrial Indem. Co. v. Industrial Acc. Com.* (1949) 90 Cal.App.2d 262, 265-266 [202 P.2d 585]; see *Garza, supra*, 3 Cal.3d 312, 317.)

The WCAB concluded that the retroactive assessment in 2014 that applicant reached a P&S status in in 1986 was "inherently speculative." Instead, relying on the deposition testimony of Dr. Einbund, they found applicant P&S on the date of his evaluation on 3/20/14.

Determining which Rating Schedule Applies in These old CT Cases: In this case the issue was whether applicant's PD should be determined using the 1997 PDRS or the 2005 PDRS. Initially both the WCJ and the WCAB determined the 1997 PDRS should apply. However, the Board revisited the issue pursuant to their grant of reconsideration to study the case and acknowledged it was error to apply the 1997 PDRS. Based on their analysis of section 4660.1 and 4660(d) and related case law the Board concluded that applicant's PD should be rated under the AMA Guides as reflected in the 2005 PDRS.

Which Medical-Legal Procedures Apply: Defendant argued that if the date of injury of March 20, 2014 is established the parties should be required to follow the medical-legal procedures set forth in LC 4062.2 i.e., the QME panel process. However, the WCAB relying on the *Tanksley* case found that with respect to injuries that are claimed to have occurred before 1/1/2005, section 4062 as it existed before SB 899 "continues to provide the procedure by which medical-legal reports are to be obtained." That procedure allows the parties to select their own QME's or electing to use AME's.

Determining the Correct Indemnity Rates for Benefits in Old CT Claims: It takes the WCAB 4 ½ pages to deal with this complex and thorny issue. Defendant argued that the correct disability schedule and rates are determined by the date upon which the employee first suffered compensable disability and not based on the date of injury as defined by LC 5412. The Board engaged in an extensive discussion and analysis of applicable case law and found that controlling and persuasive case law "sets the concurrence of knowledge and disability under section 5412 as the appropriate date for determining benefit dates and applicable indemnity rates in this case.

For another case dealing with the challenging issue of determining the correct indemnity rates and rating in these old CT cases see *Johnston v. California Golden Seals*; CIGA 2023 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS_____. (WCAB grants reconsideration and remands case back to the trial level for WCJ to obtain another consultative rating based on a finding that the correct date of injury under LC 5412 was January 29, 2019, even though the last date of injurious exposure was February 19, 1974 which will result in the 2005 PDRS being applied in this old CT case).

<u>Holmes v. Kansas City Chiefs, Baltimore Ravens et al.,</u> 2022 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 375 (WCAB panel decision)

Issues: Whether the WCJ properly determined the correct date of applicant's cumulative trauma injury under LC 5412 as well as the applicable liability period pursuant to LC 5500.5. Additional issues included whether there was California subject matter jurisdiction over applicant's CT claim and whether the applicable methodology to "roll back" liability to another defendant earlier in the CT claim period of June 1, 1997 through December 31, 2007.

The WCAB rescinded the WCJ's decision and remanded the case back to the trial level with its own findings of fact and for further proceedings and new determinations of the outstanding issues by the WCJ consistent with the WCAB's Opinion on Reconsideration.

Factual & Procedural Overview: Applicant a professional football player filed an application alleging a cumulative trauma injury for the period of 6/1/97 through December 31, 2007. The CT period was stipulated to by the parties at trial and conceded by applicant based in the medical reporting of Dr. Luciano in his Petition for Reconsideration. During the CT period applicant was employed by the Baltimore Ravens for the period of June 1, 1997 through January 14, 2001, and then by the Kansas City Chiefs for the period of April 23, 2001 through December 31, 2007. During the applicant's employment with the Chiefs from 2001 through 2003 there were no forum selection clauses or provision in applicant's employment contract with the Chiefs. However, there

were forum selection clauses in his employment contract(s) with the Chiefs for the period of 2006 through 2007.

There was a factual dispute as to how many games applicant actually played in California. Applicant testified he played one game for the Ravens in California in 2001. He also testified he played four games in California for the Chiefs from 2001-2002 and applicant obtained medical treatment in California. However, the Kansas City Chiefs admitted in their Answer that that applicant played eight games for them in California from 2001-2003.

The WCAB's Decision

- 1. Whether the WCAB had a Sufficient and Legitimate Interest over Applicant's CT claim in terms of Due Process under Federal Insurance Co. v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd. (Johnson) (2013) 221 Cal.App.4th 1116 [165 Cal. Rptr. 3d 288, 78 Cal.Comp.Cases 1257] ("Johnson"): The WCAB noted the WCJ was unclear with respect to her conflicting analysis as to the extent to which applicant's cumulative trauma injury had sufficient contacts to California from 2001-2003 under Johnson. Due to unresolved issues related to applicant's injurious exposure in California, "[u]pon further proceedings at the trial level, the WCJ must revisit and clarify this factual issue."
- 2. Determining the Correct Date of Injury Under LC 5412 as well as the Correct LC 5500.5 Liability Period: The WCAB noted the WCJ's confusion with respect the distinction between determining the correct date of injury under LC 5412 and the applicable liability period and the correct allocation of liability under LC 5500.5. The Board stated that while liability may in some circumstances "roll back" to an earlier period in the CT claim, an injury does not roll back to change the date of injury. The WCAB indicated there was undisputed evidence there was just one CT injury encompassing the period of 6/1/97 through December 31, 2007. The challenging issue for the WCJ on remand is to correctly determine the allocation/apportionment of liability during the CT period especially in light of the periods during the CT claim when there were forum selections clauses in the applicant's employment contracts and the period or periods when there were no forum selection clauses.

In that regard the WCAB discussed *New York Knickerbockers v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd.* (*Macklin*) (2015) 240 Cal.App.4th 1229 [193 Cal. Rptr. 3d 287, 80 Cal.Comp.Cases 1141] with respect to the issues of whether California had a legitimate interest in the applicant's CT claim that was sufficient to satisfy due process requirements but more importantly the impact *Macklin* might have on the issue of LC 5500.5 apportionment or allocation of liability. The WCAB stated:

Of further interest is the final sentence of the *Macklin* opinion, in which the Court stated, "[t]he allocation of liability in cumulative injury cases under Labor Code section 5500.5, subdivision (a) is not the same as determining whether California can apply its workers' compensation law to Macklin's injuries. As he admittedly was [the New York Knickerbockers'] employee for part of the critical year, Labor Code section 5500.5, subdivision (a) applies." (*Macklin*, 240 Cal.App.4th at 1239-1240.) It bears further noting that in *Macklin*, the claimed period of cumulative trauma was August 17, 1981 to October 15, 1985 but liability under section 5500.5 evidently was apportioned to the New York Knickerbockers earlier in time, from June 29, 1983 to December 20, 1983 — the time when they employed the applicant. In this case, the WCJ should consider whether *Macklin* has any bearing, the cumulative

trauma period here being June 1, 1997 through December 31, 2007 and the forum selection clauses being of no avail to the out-of-state teams from 2001 to 2003.

3. On Remand, the WCJ Must Address and Determine Whether or Not any of the Liability Under LC 5500.5 for the Cumulative Trauma for the Period of June 1, 1997 through December 31, 2007 may be "Rolled Back" to Applicant's Employment by the Out-Of-State teams from 2001-2003.

In addition to the WCAB's guidance to the WCJ on remand related to *Macklin*, the Board also endorsed and explicitly stated that in certain situations liability under LC 5500.5 may be "rolled back" to an earlier team/defendant in the CT period without changing the date of injury by stating:

In addition, we note the weight of cases suggests that where California declines to apply its workers' compensation law against out-of-state teams, liability does "roll back" to the first team over which California elects to exercise jurisdiction. (Allen v. Minn. Vikings (2018) 2018 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 543; Langdon v. N.J. Devils (2017) 82 Cal.Comp.Cases 928 (writ den.), citing Milwaukee Bucks v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd. (Mason) (2013) 78 Cal.Comp.Cases 1173 (writ den.) and Toronto Raptors v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd. (Foster) (2013) 78 Cal.Comp.Cases 1188 (writ den.); Tampa Bay Buccaneers v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd. (Harper) (2014) 79 Cal.Comp.Cases 595 (writ den.), citing Portland Trailblazers v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd. (Whatley) (2007) 72 Cal.Comp.Cases 154 (writ den.); Washington Wizards v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd. (Roundfield) (2006) 71 Cal.Comp.Cases 897 (writ den.); San Francisco 49ers v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd. (1996) 61 Cal.Comp.Cases 301 (writ den.), citing Employers Mutual Liability Insurance Company v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd. (Patterson) 52 Cal.Comp.Cases 284 (writ den.)1.

However, the WCAB expressed no opinion whether such a "roll back" is applicable and legally permissible in this case.

<u>Hale v. Buffalo Bills et al.</u>, 2022 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 310 (WCAB panel decision)

Issues: Whether the applicant's two contracts for hire that were entered into and formed in California were a sufficient connection to support subject matter jurisdiction over the applicant's entire cumulative trauma claim including claims against subsequent employers. Whether the WCJ correctly determined the LC 5412 date of injury and the corresponding LC 5500.5 liability period related to applicant's CT claim. Whether applicant's QME reports on injury AOE/COE were obtained in compliance with LC sections 4060 and 4062.2 and were thus admissible

Factual & Procedural Overview: The WCJ issued a Findings & Order on 12/31/21 finding that the WCAB had personal jurisdiction over the Houston Oilers and their carrier Travelers Insurance and that the WCAB also had subject matter jurisdiction over applicant's CT claim. The WCJ also found that the medical reports from applicant's neuropsychological QME and neurology QME

were obtained in violations of LC section 4062.2 and thus were not admitted into evidence by the WCJ.

Applicant provided credible unrebutted testimony that he agreed to all of his Buffalo Bills employment contracts in California as well as signing his contract with the Oilers in Irvine California. The only medical evidence in the case addressing the issue of whether the applicant sustained a cumulative trauma injury were QME reports in neurology and neuropsychology obtained by applicant without obtaining a panel list from the medical unit pursuant to LC section 4062.2 which defendant argued were inadmissible.

The WCAB's Decision

1. The Subject Matter Jurisdiction Issue: Defendant argued that the WCAB did not have subject matter over the Houston Oilers. However, the Board citing large sections of the WCJ's Report on Reconsideration and numerous cases holding that an applicant's hiring in California is a sufficient connection standing alone to support the Board's subject matter jurisdiction over the entire claim. It appeared that the Oilers were under the mistaken impression that subject matter jurisdiction applies to specific defendants. The WCAB stated that to the contrary, subject matter jurisdiction applies as to applicant's entire claim based on applicant's contract with the Bills being formed in California. The Board noted that this is consistent with the Court of Appeal's decision in New York Knickerbockers v. WCAB (Macklin) (2015) 240 Cal.App. 4th 1229; 193 Cal. Rptr. 3d 287; 80 Cal.Comp.Cases 1141. See also, Ohman v. Washington Nationals et.al., 2024 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 162. In *Ohman*, the WCJ found that applicant's contract was not formed in California based on the determination that applicant's agent could not bind applicant to any employment agreement, and that there is no California jurisdiction in this matter pursuant to Labor Code section 3600.5. However, applicant's attorney filed a Petition for Reconsideration that was granted by the WCAB who rescinded the WCJ's Finding and Order and instead found that the WCAB did have subject matter jurisdiction over the claimed injury and deferred all other issues for further determination.

On reconsideration applicant argued that he was employed by the Los Angeles Dodgers during the alleged CT injury period and that he signed employment contracts while physically located in California covering eight years of his employment. The Board in reversing the WCJ focused on applicant's unrebutted testimony "that he signed his first multi-year contract with the Chicago Cubs in 1998 while physically located at his future father-in-law's home in Menlo Park, CA." Applicant's testimony that he signed his major league contract with the Los Angeles Dodgers while physically located at Dodger Stadium in Los Angeles was also unrebutted. The WCJ found applicant's testimony of these events to "be fully credible." In terms of subject matter jurisdiction the WCAB stated that "[t]he record thus establishes that applicant entered into at least two contracts during his professional baseball career while physically located in California. Pursuant to sections 3600.5(a) and 5305, the formation of these contracts of hire within California's territorial borders confers on the WCAB subject matter jurisdiction over the claimed cumulative injury. (Lab. Code, §§ 3600.5(a), 5305; *Palma, supra*, 1 Cal.2d 250; *Benguet Consol. Mining Co. v. Industrial Acci. Com., supra,* 36 Cal.App.2d 158, 159; *McKinley, supra,* 78 Cal.Comp.Cases 23.)." Citing a plethora of cases the Board stated:

We also concluded that, "[i]f a hire in California during the injury period is a compelling connection to the state, by definition such athletes would not fall into

the category of those with 'extremely minimal California contacts' whose claims the Legislature sought to exempt." (*Ibid.*) Accordingly, we found that the formation of a California contract of hire was sufficient to confer subject matter jurisdiction over a claimed injury, obviating the exemption/exception analysis required under section 3600.5(c) and (d). (See also *Neal v. San Francisco 49ers* (March 9, 2021, ADJ9990732) [2021 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 68]; *Wilson v. Florida Marlins* (February 26, 2020, ADJ10779733) [2020 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 30]; cf. *Harrison v. Texas Rangers* (May 26, 2023, ADJ13604193) [2023 Cal. Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 151] [no jurisdiction over injury where applicant had no California contract of hire, played more than seven seasons with out-of-state teams, and worked less than 20 percent of duty days in California].) We therefore conclude that in conjunction with section 5305, the conferral of subject matter jurisdiction under section 3600.5(a) based on a hiring in California obviates the analyses that would otherwise be required under section 3600.5(c) and (d). (Report, at pp. 8-9.)

2. The LC section 5500.5 Liability Period and LC 5412 Date of Injury Issues and the Impact on the Statute of Limitations: The WCAB did an extensive review of both Labor Code sections 5412 and 5500.5 as well as applicable case law. The Board initially observed that there are certain factual scenarios where an applicant's last date of injurious exposure, resulting in a CT injury may be before the worker first suffered disability and knew that the disability was caused by his or her employment under section 5412. In these circumstances, the last date of employment with the liable employer based on section 5500.5, would not be the same date as the date of injury under section 5412. "In short, section 5500.5 is the statutory basis for determining the employer liability for cumulative injuries whereas section 5412 is used for establishing the date of injury."

With respect to the statute of limitations issue and how it relates to a cumulative trauma injury and the Labor Code section 5412 methodology to determine the correct date of injury the WCAB stated:

Based on section 5412, the statute of limitations on a cumulative injury claim does not begin to run until the worker suffers disability and has knowledge that the disability was caused by his or her employment. (*Lozano v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd.*, (2015) 236 Cal. App. 4th 992, fn. 5, 186 Cal. Rptr. 3d 905 [Cal.Comp.Cases 407]; *Western Growers Ins. Co. v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd.* (1993) 16 Cal. App. 4th 227 [20 Cal. Rptr. 2d 26, 58 Cal.Comp.Cases 323]; see also *Hamilton v. Asbestos Corp.*, (2000) 22 Cal.4th 1127, fn. 9, 95 Cal. Rptr. 2d 701, 998 P.2d 403.) Otherwise stated, the *section 5412* date of injury is the date that the injured worker had disability and knew or should have known that the disability was caused by an industrial injury.

[T]he 'date of injury' in latent disease cases 'must refer to a period of time rather than to 'a point in time.' (citation.) The employee is, in fact, being injured prior to the manifestation of disability...[T]he purpose of section 5412 was to prevent a premature commencement of the statute of limitations, so that it would not expire before the employee was reasonably aware of his or her injury.(*J. T. Thorp v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd. (Butler)* (1984) 153 Cal.App.3d 327, 340 - 341 [200 Cal. Rptr. 219, 49 Cal. Comp. Cases 224].)

The other critical aspect of the Labor Code section 5412, 5500.5, and statute of limitations equation is that before you can determine the date of injury and applicable LC 5500.5 liability period requires a determination of whether the applicant has sustained a CT injury which is a medical question that requires an expert medical opinion.

3. The Admissibility of Applicant's Medical Reporting on Injury AOE/COE: Applicant obtained medical reporting from two medical-legal evaluators in the fields of neurology and neuropsychology. Applicant argued he did not have to comply with the SPQME panel process and instead used two QME's of his own choosing.

Both the WCJ and the WCAB ruled that based on the alleged date of injury of September 12, 2018, the correct procedure for both parties under LC sections 4060 and 4062.2 was to go through the QME panel process. Since both parties had not participated in the proper QME process, the WCAB remanded the case for further development of the record specifically deferring the issues of injury AOE/COE and the correct LC 5412 date of injury as well as the admissibility of applicant's medical reporting.

<u>Decelle v. Tampa Bay Rays; Travelers Indemnity Co., Successor in Interest by</u> <u>Merger with Gulf</u> 2022 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P. D. LEXIS_____ (WCAB panel decision, 8/19/22)

Issues and Holding: Whether defendants trial stipulations as to employment and applicant's period of employment with the Tampa Bay Rays we're binding notwithstanding the fact there appeared to be a unilateral mistake of fact by defendant with respect to the correct dates the applicant was employed by the Tampa Bay Rays.

The WCAB held that based on applicable case law defendant's trial stipulations as to employment and periods of employment were binding and that there was no good cause established to set aside defendant's trial stipulations based on a unilateral mistake. Defendant failed to meet its burden of proof by obtaining and introducing competent evidence and that it does not accomplish substantial justice to rescue a party by ordering the record to be developed in this situation. (*San Bernardino Community Hospital v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd. (McKernan)* (1999) 74 Cal.App.4th 928 [64 Cal.Comp.Cases 986]; *Telles Transport Inc. v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd.*, (2001) 92 Cal.App.4th 1159 [66 Cal.Comp.Cases 1290].)

Procedural and Factual Overview: in a Findings Order and Award dated May 24, 2022, the WCJ found that applicant sustained injury arising out of and in the course of employment with the Tampa Bay Devil Rays during the period from June 1996 until September 1999 to various body parts which resulted in temporary disability for the period from August 1, 1999 through November 1, 1999.

The trial stipulations reflected that Travelers Indemnity Company, successor in interest by merger with Gulf was the Devil Rays workers compensation carrier from 1/1/1998 through 1/1/1999. The parties also stipulated that the applicant "while employed during the period 6/1/1996 through 9/1/1999, as a professional baseball player, Occupational Group Number 590, by Tampa Bay Devil Rays, applicant claims to have sustained injury arising out of and in the course of employment to lumbar spine, left shoulder, and bilateral knees."

Traveler's Petition for Reconsideration: In its petition for reconsideration, Travelers argued that the WCJ erred in finding liability because the applicant was not employed by the Devil Rays through the last year of exposure under Labor Code section 5500.5, and also that applicant's period of temporary disability was subsequent to his employment with the Devil Rays since the last day he was employed by the Devil Rays was on 3/30/98. To support their contentions on reconsideration, Travelers cited to applicant's deposition testimony that he was employed by another baseball team during the last year of injurious exposure and that there was California subject matter jurisdiction over that team based on a contract of hire made in California. Travelers also cited documentary evidence in the form of a website that was never entered into evidence at trial nor judicial notice requested that confirmed that applicant's last date of employment with the Devil Rays would have been no later than 3/30/98.

The WCAB's Decision on Reconsideration: The Board denied Travelers's Petition for Reconsideration and also indicated that any issue related to potential contribution was premature. The WCAB adopted and incorporated key portions of the WCJ's report on reconsideration. The Board focused on the trial stipulations of the parties especially Travelers stipulations related to applicant being employed by the Devil Rays and also most importantly his period of employment from 6/1/1996 through 9/1/99. "Notably, defendant stipulated to the cumulative injury period of June 1996 until September 1999 and employment by the Devil Rays." With respect to trial stipulations being binding on the parties the WCAB stated that "[s]tipulations are binding on the parties unless, on a showing of good cause, the parties are given permission to withdraw from their agreements. (Lab. Code, § 5702; Cal. Code Regs., tit. 8, § 10835; *County of Sacramento v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd. (Weatherall)* (2000) 77 Cal.App.4th 1114, 1121 [65 Cal.Comp.Cases 1].) Here, we will not disturb the stipulations of the parties."

Essentially Travelers was asking the Board to relieve them of their unilateral mistake of stipulating to applicant's employment for a period he was not actually employed by them! The WCAB flatly rejected this contention stating that Travelers

Editor's Comments: This case graphically illustrates the critical importance of the binding nature of trial stipulations and Travelers fatal mistake of stipulating to applicant being employed by them during a period he was actually employed by another team and also failing to introduce critical

documentary evidence that would have conclusively established that he was not employed by the Devil Rays during the applicable Labor Code 5500.5 liability period.

<u>Tiffany v. Los Angeles Dodgers, Tampa Bay et. al.</u> 2022 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P. D. LEXIS_____ (WCAB panel decision, 3/1/22)

Issues and Holding: Whether applicant suffered one cumulative trauma or two cumulative traumas and also the correct date of injury under Labor Code 5412 and the correct liability period under Labor Code 5500.5.

In an Amended Findings and Award the WCJ found injury AOE/COE as the result of one cumulative trauma and determined the liability period under Labor Code 5500.5 was the last year of injurious exposure from August 29, 2009 through August 28, 2010 during which period the applicant was employed for 29 days by the Golden Baseball League Insured by SCIF. SCIF filed a Petition for Reconsideration that was granted by the WCAB. On Reconsideration the Board affirmed the WCJ's determination of injury AOE/COE but rescinded the amended F&A and deferred the issues of the Labor Code section 5412 date of injury as well as the determination of the correct Labor Code section 5500.5 liability period. On remand the WCAB ordered that the record be developed on the deferred issues.

Factual and Procedural Overview: During his professional baseball career, applicant played for several major and minor league teams. He was initially employed by the Los Angeles Dodgers from 8/6/03 through 1/14/06. He then played for the Tampa Bay Rays from 1/14/06 to 3/31/09 and again for the Dodgers from 4/18/09 to 6/17/09. His next team was the Grand Prairie Airhogs in 2009 and then by the Freedom from 2009 to 2010. His last team was the St. George Roadrunners/Golden Baseball League from 7/31/10 through 8/28/10.

Applicant's Medical History: While employed by Tampa Bay, applicant had left rotator cuff surgery on 7/13/06. He had extensive treatment and rehabilitation for approximately two years. The the first game he played in again for Tampa Bay after his surgery was in August of 2008. During his long rehabilitation period he received his full salary. After he stopped playing and filed his workers' compensation claim he started to receive treatment from Dr. Capen in October of 2012.

The WCJ's Decision: Although defendant SCIF asserted applicant sustained two cumulative trauma injuries the WCJ found there was no evidence of compensable TTD or permanent disability prior to the last year of injurious exposure and therefore applicant only suffered one cumulative trauma injury with a Labor Code section 5500.5 liability period spanning the last year of injurious exposure from 8/29/09 through 8/28/10.

The WCAB's Decision on Reconsideration: The WCAB agreed with the WCJ that there did not appear to be a period of compensable TTD related to the two year period that applicant received medical treatment and rehabilitation after his shoulder surgery in July of 2006 since there was no actual wage loss during that period. The Board also stated that the fact an injured worker is receiving medical treatment is not always evidence that the worker is TTD.

The WCAB noted that Dr. Capen as the PTP first started treating applicant 6 years after his left shoulder surgery and his reporting and deposition testimony was deficient with respect to applicant's actual activity during the two year period he rehabilitated from his surgery. The major issue the Board focused on was a lack of substantial medical evidence as well as testimonial evidence from the applicant upon which to base a finding of whether there was compensable permanent disability prior to the last date of injurious exposure for purposes of determining a date of injury under Labor Code section 5412. In terms of the lack of substantial evidence the WCAB stated:

For these reasons, we conclude that the trial record does not contain substantial evidence addressing the issues of when applicant first suffered disability as a result of the claimed cumulative injury, nor when he knew or should have known, that his disability was caused by his employment as a professional baseball player. In turn, it does not contain substantial evidence to support a finding as to the section 5412 date of injury. The Appeals Board has the discretionary authority to develop the record when the record does not contain substantial evidence to fully adjudicate the issues submitted for decision. (Lab. Code §§ 5701, 5906; *Tyler v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd.* (1997) 56 Cal.App.4th 389, 394 [62 Cal.Comp.Cases 924].) Upon return of this matter, we recommend that discovery be reopened so the parties may obtain and submit evidence addressing the issues discussed herein.

The WCAB also concluded that the record needed to be further developed with respect to the correct identity of at least one of applicant's employers "the Freedom" since the Board on reconsideration was unable to determine whether this entity "was a team in, or associated with, the Golden Baseball League, or whether it was the "Florence Freedom" a member of the Frontier League." The reason this issue had to be clarified was that since a cumulative trauma injury claim was at issue there was potential liability of an entity that may have to be joined as a party.

<u>Garcia v. Atlanta Braves; Long Beach Armada</u> 2021 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 97 (WCAB panel decision)

Issues and Holding: Whether the WCJ correctly determined the Labor Code 5412 date of injury as well as the applicable liability period under Labor Code 5500.5 based on the last date of injury under 5412 or the last date of injurious exposure, whichever occurs first.

On Reconsideration the WCAB affirmed the WCJ's determination that under LC 5412 the correct date of injury was March 23, 2013 when applicant first met with his attorney and there was a concurrence of preexisting permanent disability and applicant's knowledge that he suffered a potential cumulative trauma injury. The WCAB also affirmed the WCJ's determination that the last date of injurious exposure suffered by the applicant was on June 8, 2012 and that pursuant to LC 5500.5(a) since applicant's last date of injurious exposure on June 8, 2012 occurred before applicant's date of injury on March 23, 2013, the correct LC 5500.5 one-year liability period was June 8, 2012 and defendant had coverage for the Long Beach Armada during the period of June 8, 2011 to June 8, 2012.

Procedural Overview: Defendant SCIF was the elected against defendant with coverage for the professional baseball team the Long Beach Armada ("Armada"). Also appearing but not participating in the proceedings was the unelected defendant ACE American Insurance carrier for the applicant's first team the Atlanta Braves. The first trial took place in 2018 on a variety of issues including the period of liability under LC§ 5500.5. The matter was submitted for decision, but the submission was vacated in order for development of the record under the *McDuffie* case. Supplemental reporting was obtained from the QME, but it did not cure the defects identified by the WCJ. The parties were encouraged to select an AME by the WCJ but were unable to do so. As a consequence, the WCJ appointed a regular physician under LC§ 5701.

Following a second trial and submission on February 8, 2021, the WCJ found injury AOE/COE to a number of orthopedic body parts. There were no jurisdictional issues given the fact the Armada was a California-based team. The WCJ also determined the date of injury under LC\\$ 5412 was March 23, 2013 the date applicant met with his attorney and also the last date of injurious exposure pursuant to LC\\$ 5500.5(a) was June 8, 2012 and that SCIF had coverage for the Armada for the applicable 5500.5 liability period.

Defendant SCIF filed a Petition for Reconsideration alleging that the date of injury under LC\\$ 5412 was an unspecified date in 2007 or alternatively in 2008, both dates that would place the LC\\$ 5500.5 liability date with carriers for teams the applicant played for before the Armada. The WCAB denied defendant's petition for reconsideration adopting and incorporating the WCJ's entire report and recommendation on reconsideration.

Factual Overview: Applicant filed an alleged CT claim for the entire period of his professional baseball career from June 24, 2005 to June 8, 2012. During that time, he played for several different professional baseball teams located in and outside of California. Applicant played for the Armada during the end of his professional baseball career. He suffered an elbow injury in 2007 and a right throwing arm injury in 2008. The applicant did not see a doctor and did not receive any medical treatment for his throwing arm injury. He was out half of one season due to the elbow injury and was on the disabled list. However, the applicant felt that in terms of the injuries he suffered his worst year was in 2009 or 2010. Applicant continued to play professional baseball for five years after his right throwing arm injury. He also testified to a long series of microtraumas over the entire course of his seven-year career as a catcher. He was never treated by a licensed physician for any of his injuries, instead being treated by team trainers or kinesiologists.

There was no evidence the applicant had any particular background or training in identifying the industrial nature of a cumulative trauma injury or that he knew his cumulative trauma injury was work related until he was advised by his attorney on March 23, 2013. Applicant filed an Application for Adjudication shortly after he met with his attorney for the first time on March 23, 2013.

Medical Reporting: The parties selected a QME who evaluated the applicant and issued his initial report on January 12, 2017, which was the first medical evidence that applicant suffered a work-related cumulative trauma injury over the course of his professional baseball career.

Applicant's Date of Injury under LC 5412: On reconsideration defendant argued that the LC 5412 date of injury should be when applicant sustained an elbow injury in 2007 or alternatively

when he suffered a throwing arm injury on an unspecified date in 2008. Both of these alternative dates of injury would place liability under LC 5500.5 for the CT claim on another team.

However, both the WCJ and the WCAB rejected defendant's arguments and found that the correct date of injury under LC 5412 to be March 23, 2013 when applicant met with his attorney and there was an imputed concurrence of preexisting permanent disability and knowledge that applicant suffered a cumulative trauma claim.

Applicant's Last Date of Injurious Exposure and the Applicable LC 5500.5 Liability Period: The WCJ and the WCAB ruled that applicant's last date of injurious exposure was June 8, 2012 the last day he played professional baseball. In terms of liability under LC 5500.5, the applicable one-year liability period is based on the earlier of the date of injury under section 5412 or the last date of injurious exposure. Since applicant's date of injurious exposure on June 8, 2012 was earlier than the 5412 date of injury on March 23, 2013, the correct LC 5500.5 liability period would be from June 8, 2011 to June 8, 2012.

The Public Policy Considerations Underlying the LC 5412 Date of Injury Determination: The WCAB emphasized the public policy considerations that underlie the statutory construct that defines the applicable date of injury under LC 5412 as follows:

The 'date of injury' is a statutory construct which has no bearing on the fundamental issue of whether a worker has, in fact, suffered an industrial injury...[T]he 'date of injury' in latent disease cases 'must refer to a period of time rather than to a point in time.' (citation.) The employee is, in fact, being injured prior to the manifestation of disability...[T]he purpose of section 5412 was to prevent a premature commencement of the statute of limitations, so that it would not expire before the employee was reasonably aware of his or her injury."

The Board also noted that "[t]he jurisprudence in this regard has historically been grounded in basic principles of fairness and due process - an injured work will not lose benefits to the statute of limitations prior to knowledge that the injury sustained may have been caused in full or in part by industrial exposures."

Editor's Comments: Determining the LC 5412 date of injury especially in cumulative trauma claims often proves difficult for a defendant since it involves the concurrence of knowledge of an industrial injury in the form of a cumulative trauma as well either compensable temporary or permanent disability. For another recent non-sports case dealing with the LC 5412 knowledge requirement being strictly construed in a CT case see *Cuevas v. A-1 Machine Manufacturing* 2021 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 47 (WCAB panel decision).

<u>Terry Allen v. Minnesota Vikings, PSI</u>. 2019 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 331 (WCAB panel decision), prior history <u>Allen v. Minnesota Vikings</u> 2018 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 543 (WCAB panel decision)

Issues and Holding: This case has a complex procedural history. The WCAB in *Allen v. Minnesota Vikings* 2018 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 543, on reconsideration affirmed the

erroneous second amended Findings and Award of the WCJ awarding the applicant 76% PD related to a cumulative trauma solely against the Vikings after the New Orleans Saints the terminal employer had been dismissed without prejudice at the request of applicant's counsel. Following the WCAB's denial of their Petition for Reconsideration where the Vikings had argued that the WCJ had erroneously misapplied *Federal Insurance Co. v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd. (Johnson)* (2013) 221 Cal.App.4th 1116 [78 Cal.Comp.Cases 1257], the Vikings filed a writ with the Court of Appeal. The Court of Appeal then remanded the case back to the WCAB after the WCAB acknowledged error and requested the Court of Appeal to annul its decision of November 26, 2018 in *Allen v. Minnesota Vikings* 2018 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 543.

The WCAB stated that "[i]n light of the proceedings before the Court of Appeal, we agree that the WCJ misapplied *Johnson* to bar applicant's claim against the Saints by focusing not upon the relationship of the *entire claim* to the State of California, but instead on the relationship of the particular defendant-the Saints-to this state."

Discussion: Since two of applicant's employment contracts of hire were entered to in California, under *New York Knickerbockers v. WCAB (Macklin)* (2015) 240 Cal.App.4th 1229 ("Macklin") the WCAB would have subject matter jurisdiction over the applicant entire alleged cumulative trauma claim including over any employers/teams that played no games in California. *Johnson* deals only with due process and not strictly with subject matter jurisdiction, there would be no bar to finding the Saints potentially liable for applicant's injuries since under *Macklin* there would be subject matter jurisdiction over them notwithstanding their assertion that an alleged forum selection clause in applicant's employment contracts with the Saints bars the Saints being found liable for applicant's injuries as the terminal employer under Labor Code 5500.5.

In this regard the WCAB stated that "[w]e have subsequently issued a number of decisions holding that *Johnson* applies to a claim as a whole, not against, any particular employer. (See, e.g., *Sutton v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd.* (2018) 83 Cal.Comp.Cases 1613 (board panel decision).) Moreover, as stated in *Macklin*, the issue in *Johnson* is one of due process, not of subject matter jurisdiction per se. (See *Macklin*, supra, 240 Cal.App.4th at 1238.)"

Although the Saints had been initially named and joined as defendants to applicants claim they were erroneously dismissed without prejudice compounded by the WCJ's refusal to rejoin them. However, based on the fact that under *Macklin* there is subject matter jurisdiction over applicant's entire alleged CT claim, the WCAB held they must be rejoined. The WCAB ruled that ".....consistent with the Court of Appeal's Order of May 22, 2019, we will grant the Vikings Petition for Reconsideration and rescind the Second Amended Findings and Award issued by the WCJ on October 17, 2017. The matter will be returned to the WCJ in order to rejoin the Saints to the litigation, and for further proceedings consistent with the analysis set forth above."

Editors Comment: The WCJ's erroneous decision in this case stems from a common misunderstanding of the Court of Appeal's holding in *Macklin*. The court in *Macklin* held that where there is employment by a California team at any time during the period of the alleged cumulative trauma injury and so long as the requirements of Labor Code §5500.5 are met, it is sufficient to make reasonable the application of California Workers' Compensation Law. However, it is important to stress as reflected in at least 17 other WCAB decisions subsequent to *Macklin*, that the WCAB has construed and applied the holding in *Macklin* to find California subject matter jurisdiction where the applicant "played for a California team for

a portion of the period of the cumulative injury" and not just during the 5500.5 liability period. (Macklin, 240 Cal.App. 4th at p. 1239).

If applicant had been employed by a California-based team for a portion of the period of the cumulative injury, the *Macklin* court indicated there would be no need to engage in a "qualitative/quantitative" analysis or a "de minimis" analysis. *Macklin* is distinguishable from *Johnson* since the applicant in *Johnson* never played for a California-based team.

In the author's opinion, based on an analysis of a plethora of post-*Macklin* decisions, the mere fact the applicant did not play for a California team during the 5500.5 liability period would not result in the automatic dismissal of the claim or action against employers outside of the 5500.5 liability period where as in this case an employment contract or contracts were formed in California **or** the applicant played for a California based team for any portion or period of alleged cumulative trauma.

<u>Totten v. Los Angeles Dodgers, Ace American Insurance</u> 2018 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 366 (WCAB panel decision; Writ denied 10/30/18)

Issue: Whether California subject matter jurisdiction can be based on the fact applicant played for The Los Angeles Dodgers ("Dodgers") a California-based team during the cumulative trauma period even if applicant never played a game in California for the Dodgers and only played for a number of its minor league affiliates.

Holding: Both the WCAB and the WCJ relying in part on prior WCAB panel decisions in *Stinnett* and *James* held that applicant while playing for Dodger minor league teams located outside of California was deemed to be an employee of the Dodgers a California based major-league team.

Factual Overview: Applicant filed a cumulative trauma for the period of June 1, 2000 to October 25, 2011. During his entire period of employment, he played for minor league teams that were part of the Dodger organization. The Dodgers supervised most, if not all of applicant's employment activities from California. The Dodgers supervision included but was not limited to deciding when the applicant would play, where he would play, and how often he would play, and whether he would play at all. Entered into evidence was a letter from Dodgers which indicated that applicant is "a Dodger minor league player and the program is an investment by the Dodgers and you in your future." Applicant also received bonuses and pay directly from the Dodgers. Applicant was also sent for medical treatment by the Dodgers.

Both the WCJ and the WCAB cited the *Johnson* case, specifically the reference in *Johnson* to the Restatement Second of Conflict of Law section 181 which states "[a] state may award relief to a person under its workers' compensation law if the employer supervised the employee's activities from a place of business in the state."

No evidence was presented that the minor-league clubs or affiliates the applicant played for provided a workers' compensation policy separate from that provided by the Dodgers. Also of significance was the fact there were numerous DWC-1 claim forms for specific injuries suffered by applicant over several years. Each DWC-1 claim form indicated applicant was employed by the

Dodgers. Both the WCJ and the WCAB concluded the evidence presented was that of an employment contract with only the Dodgers and the applicant and not the minor league teams. Moreover, the WCAB stated that subject matter jurisdiction is found over the entire claim and not part and parcel for each Dodger minor-league team applicant played for. Given the fact that the Dodgers are a California employer and employed the applicant during his period of alleged industrial injury, it was found there was California WCAB subject matter jurisdiction over the entire cumulative trauma claim.

<u>Fauria v. Carolina Panthers; Washington Redskins; New England Patriots;</u> <u>Seattle Seahawks</u> 2013 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 543; (WCAB panel decision); see <u>Fauria v. Carolina Panthers</u> 2017 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 263 for subsequent decision by the WCAB after Reconsideration finding applicant <u>was not hired</u> in California by the Carolina Panthers.

Issues:

- 1. Proper determination of the Labor Code section 5500.5 liability period;
- 2. Whether there was substantial evidence to establish a portion of the applicant's cumulative trauma claim was suffered in California:
- 3. Application of the "relation back" doctrine;
- 4. Impact of California residency on California subject matter jurisdiction when the California residency may have had no relationship to the applicant's actual work for the Seahawks and Patriots.

Factual and Procedural Background: Following trial, the WCJ found applicant suffered a cumulative trauma from July 17, 1995 to February 27, 2008, resulting in 93% permanent partial disability without apportionment and that the Seattle Seahawks and New England Patriots were liable for the benefits through June 2002, pursuant to Labor Code section 5500.5. Both the Seahawks and the Patriots filed separate Petitions for Reconsideration alleging and asserting various arguments and issues. Both Petitions for Reconsideration were granted. The WCAB rescinded the Findings and Award and remanded for further development of the record.

Applicant was employed by the Seahawks from July 17, 1995 to February 28, 2008, and then by the New England Patriots from March 22, 2002 to March 11, 2006. Applicant lived in California through high school and then resided in California from 1995 until 2003 or 2004. He was employed by the Washington Redskins from March 13, 2006 to February 38, 2007 and finally by the Carolina Panthers from September 11, 2007 to February 2, 2008. While employed by the Redskins and Panthers he played no games in California. Applicant testified that while playing for the Seahawks he was treated by team doctors and also underwent surgery in California and Seattle as a result of those injuries.

The basis for the WCJ finding California subject matter jurisdiction was based on Labor Code section 3600.5(a) that the applicant was "regularly employed" within the state and therefore there

was jurisdiction for injuries sustained outside of California.

On reconsideration, the WCAB discussed in depth the issue of whether applicant was "regularly employed" in California. The Board noted that while employed by the Seahawks and Patriots, the applicant played only a limited number of games in California. They also noted the only difference between the instant case and the facts in <u>Carroll</u> were that applicant was a resident of California while he was employed by the Seattle Seahawks and New England Patriots.

However, the Board carefully distinguished a number of cases that found that California residents, who spend a portion of their employment in California, may be "regularly employed within the state." The WCAB distinguished those cases from the facts in the instant case, noting there was no evidence applicant's work for the Seattle Seahawks and the New England Patriots had any connection to applicant's California residence. Also, unlike the other cases discussed and distinguished by the WCAB, there was no evidence the Seahawks or Patriots derived any special or significant extra benefits from the fact applicant may have resided in California during a portion of his employment with the Seahawks and Patriots. The Board stated:

"There is no evidence that applicant's work for the Seattle Seahawks and the New England Patriots had any connection to applicant's California residence. Nor is there any evidence that those teams benefited from applicant's residency in any way. We must therefore rescind the October 23, 2012 Findings and Award because applicant was not "regularly employed" in California under section 3600.5(a)."

However, the WCAB noted that on remand, even if the applicant was not regularly employed in California, there were still issues as to whether or not he sustained an industrial injury in California or was hired in California and then suffered an industrial injury outside of the state.

Substantial Medical Evidence Issue: The WCAB noted the AME in orthopedics in this case had generally opined the applicant had suffered a cumulative trauma injury over the entire period of his professional sport career. However, "Dr. Morgan did not discuss the mechanism of injury or provide any other information about whether applicant's activities in California contributed to his cumulative injury." The Board also referenced the AME in neurology and again focused on what they perceived as a lack of substantial medical evidence due to the fact that "Dr. Richman did not discuss applicant's injuries in California or the way in which games or practices contributed to applicant's overall cumulative injury." In determining whether or not a medical report constitutes substantial medical evidence as to whether an applicant suffered a cumulative trauma injury or a portion of the cumulative trauma injury in California, the Board stated:

"The mere observation that football involves physical activity, by itself, is not enough to constitute substantial evidence of injury in California. The AMEs did not explain the way in which individual games contributed to the cumulative trauma or otherwise discuss the issue of injury in California"...[A]n expert's opinion which does not rest upon relevant facts...cannot constitute substantial evidence upon which the board may base an apportionment finding." (*Zemke v. Workmen's Comp. Appeals Bd.* (1968) 68 Cal.2d 794, 798 [33 Cal. Comp. Cases 358].)

Whether Applicant was Hired in California: On remand the WCAB also indicated the WCJ must determine whether or not applicant had been hired within the state. If a contract for hire is made in California and the applicant sustains an injury outside of California, the employee shall be entitled to compensation according to the law of California (citing numerous cases). The WCAB also noted that consistent with a long line of California cases an employment contract that is formed over the telephone is deemed a California contract of hire, if it is accepted in California. They noted that for purposes of sections 5305 and 3500.5(a) "a contract of hire may be formed even if some conditions must still be satisfied after acceptance." They also noted that "a contract may also be formed in California even when particular terms are to be determined later, outside the state."

In this particular case, applicant apparently testified relating to the negotiation and acceptance of his employment contracts and his relationship with his agent.

The Labor Code Section 5500.5 and the "relation back" Issue: The WCAB in discussing Labor Code section 5500.5 liability and what is generally referred to as the "relation back" doctrine stated as follows:

"Jurisdiction is exercised over applicant's claims against the various defendants, not over a particular span of time. Once the WCJ had determined that the WCAB has jurisdiction over applicant's claim for industrial injury, the relevant time period is the period of liability according to Section 5500.5. Under that statute, liability for a cumulative injury is limited to the employer or employers for whom the applicant worked during the year "immediately preceding either the date of injury, as determined pursuant to section 5412, or the last date on which the employee was employed in an occupation exposing him or her to the hazards of the ...cumulative injury, whichever occurs first." (Lab. Code. § 5500.5(a).) If the WCAB lacks jurisdiction over applicant's claims against the final employer(s) during the period of cumulative injury under section 5500.5, the one-year period will be extended back to the time during which applicant was working for an employer subject to California workers' compensation law. (*Ibid.; Whatley, supra;* San Francisco 49ers v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd. (Green) (1996) 61 Cal. Comp. Cases 301 (writ den.); *Employers Mutual Liability Insurance Co. v. Workers' Comp Appeals Bd.* (*Patterson*) (1987) 52 Cal. Comp. Cases 284 (writ den.).)

Basically, the WCAB provided guidance to the WCJ that if there was no jurisdiction over a team that employed applicant during the final one-year period established by section 5500.5(a), then the WCJ should then work backwards considering applicant's claim against his employer in each preceding year. If the WCJ finds jurisdiction over applicant's claim against a team or teams for a given year, she may issue an Award without evaluating jurisdiction over any earlier employers.

Comment: see *Fauria v. Carolina Panthers* 2017 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 263 (WCAB panel decision) for subsequent decision by the WCAB after Reconsideration finding applicant was not hired in California by the Carolina Panthers.

<u>Huscroft v. Calgary Flames, Fresno Falcons, et al.</u> 2017 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P. D. LEXIS 220 (WCAB panel decision); see also, *Huscroft v. Calgary Flames, Fresno Falcons, et. al*, 2017 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 367 (defense Petition for Reconsideration of the WCAB's May 19, 2017, Decision after Reconsideration).

Issue: Whether applicant having been hired and played for a California based team during a portion of the alleged cumulative trauma period and not necessarily the Labor Code §5500.5 liability period, provides a basis for subject matter jurisdiction pursuant to Labor Code §\$3600.5(a) and 5305 even where applicant was exposed to injurious exposure outside of California.

Factual and Procedural Overview: Applicant was employed as a professional hockey player by several teams. He filed a cumulative trauma for the period of January 17, 1988 to January 12, 2000. In late 1994, during the alleged cumulative trauma period applicant signed an employment contract in California for a California-based team, the Falcons during the National Hockey League Player Lockout and Labor dispute. He practiced with the Fresno Falcons and played in 3 games for them. It appears his employment by the Falcons was during 1994 and 1995. Following his employment with the Falcons, applicant played for several NHL hockey teams and while playing for those teams he played an additional 20 games in California. He also claimed specific injuries in California, including being knocked out in a game in San Jose, breaking his nose, and obtaining a black eye in a game in Anaheim. There was a bifurcated hearing on subject matter jurisdiction.

Following trial, the WCJ found that the WCAB did not have subject matter jurisdiction and ordered applicant's claim dismissed on that basis. In finding no basis for WCAB subject matter jurisdiction the WCJ indicated that the applicable Labor Code §5500.5 liability period was 1/12/99 to 1/12/00. During that period, the applicant played 3 games in California. The WCJ indicated that under the *Johnson* case the applicant played fewer than 10 games in California during the Labor Code §\$5500.5 liability period and, therefore, even though applicant may have suffered injurious exposure in California, it would be deemed de minimus in comparison to applicant's overall work activity and injurious exposure and the last year. The WCJ also distinguished the *Macklin* case as requiring employment by a California team during the last year of a cumulative trauma and not by games played in the state while employed elsewhere.

The applicant filed a Petition for Reconsideration, which was granted by the WCAB. The WCAB reversed the WCJ and found a basis for California subject matter jurisdiction since applicant was hired in California and employed by a California-based team during a portion of the alleged cumulative trauma period and not just the Labor Code §§5500.5 liability period. The WCAB also indicated that the WCJ had erroneously interpreted and applied the *Macklin* case. In that regard the WCAB stated:

Here, the WCJ writes in his Report that he did not find subject matter jurisdiction under sections 3600.5(a) and 5305 because applicant's California employment occurred outside of what the WCJ concluded was the section 5500.5 "liability period" in this case, and he cites the decision in *Macklin* in support of his conclusion. The WCJ's conclusion that *Macklin* requires proof of hiring in California during the section 5500.5 "liability period" in order for the WCAB to obtain subject matter jurisdiction under sections 3600.5(a) and

5305 is incorrect. While the California employment in *Macklin* did occur toward the end of the worker's career in that case, that was *not* a determining factor. To the contrary, the Court in *Macklin* wrote that the "dispositive" factor in that case, which was present in *Johnson*, was that applicant "played for a California team *for a portion of the period of the cumulative injury.*" (*Macklin, supra,* 240 Cal.App.4th at p. 1239.) As the evidence shows, applicant's employment by Fresno in 1994 and 1995 was during "a portion of the period of the cumulative injury" that ran the entire length of applicant's professional hockey career from 1988 to January 2000.

The key issue for the WCAB was that applicant was hired in California by a California-based team, and as a consequence that fact alone is a "sufficient connection with California to support WCAB subject matter jurisdictions pursuant to sections 3600.5 and 5305 notwithstanding the number of games applicant participated in while in this state."

With respect to the WCJ's issue that the employers outside of the Labor Code §5500.5 liability period would be denied due process, was negated by the WCAB in that an allocation of liability under Labor Code §5500.5 had not been determined at the trial level since this was only a bifurcated trial on subject matter jurisdiction. The WCAB indicated that the *Johnson* case and decision addresses the due process rights of employers and not subject matter jurisdiction per se.

As a consequence, the WCAB rescinded the WCJ's finding and substituted its own findings, finding subject matter jurisdiction, indicating the remainder of the case was being remanded with all other issues deferred.

Webster v. Montreal Expos 2017 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P. D. LEXIS 78 (WCAB panel decision)

Issue and Holding: Whether a determination California had a legitimate substantial interest in applicant's cumulative trauma claim based upon an analysis as it applies to a particular defendant as opposed to the entire claim and whether California should decline jurisdiction where an applicant's California-based employment is outside the last year of liability, as determined by Labor Code §5500.5. Both the WCJ and the WCAB held that based on *New York Knickerbockers v. WCAB* 80 Cal.Comp.Cases 1141, 1149 (*Macklin*), where there is employment by a California-based team the WCAB does not have to determine if the other activities in California are sufficient by themselves to make the application of California Workers' Compensation law reasonable, although those activities are more than the one game that *Johnson* concluded was de minimis. Moreover, subject matter jurisdiction based on the facts of this case relates to the entirety of applicant's cumulative trauma claim against multiple employers/defendants and not individual defendants.

Factual and Procedural Overview: Applicant, a professional baseball player, alleged a cumulative trauma claim from August 19, 1985 through September 23, 2000. He was initially employed by the Minnesota Twins from 1985 until early 1989. In March 1989, the applicant was optioned by the Twins to the Visalia Oaks located in Visalia, California. He

traveled to California and signed a contract with the Oaks. He played for the Oaks in 63 games in California and in addition, there were team practices in California. He was with the Visalia Oaks from March 1989 until June 11, 1989.

After leaving the Visalia Oaks, applicant played for several other minor and major league teams before he ended his career with the Montreal Expos on October 31, 2000.

The WCJ found that California had subject matter jurisdiction based upon applicant's employment with a California-based team the Visalia Oaks in 1989. More importantly, the judge and the WCAB found that applicant's last exposure under Labor Code §5500.5 was while he was employed with the Montreal Expos in the year 2000, almost 11 years after he played his last game with the Visalia Oaks on June 11, 1989. Defendant filed a Petition for Reconsideration, which was denied by the WCAB. Defendant advanced two primary arguments. First, the determination of whether California had a legitimate substantial interest to invoke subject matter jurisdiction should apply to each individual defendant and not the applicant's entire claim. Second, that applicant's employment with the Visalia Oaks in 1989 was well outside the last year of liability as determined under Labor Code §5500.5 since it was almost 11 years before applicant played for the Montreal Expos in 2000.

The WCAB adopted the WCJ's Report on Reconsideration in its entirety. The WCAB relied on three cases to deny defendant's Petition for Reconsideration, including *New York Knickerbockers* v. WCAB (Macklin) 80 Cal.Comp.Cases 1141, Gordon v. New York Jets (2016), and Stinnett v. Los Angeles Dodgers 2015 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 644.

With respect to *Macklin*, the WCAB indicated that due to applicant's employment by a California-based team for a period during the applicant's entire employment period as reflected in the CT claim, there did not have to be an independent determination if the other activities in California were sufficient in and of themselves to make the application of California workers' compensation law reasonable.

In *Gordon*, the "...WCAB had subject matter jurisdiction over applicant's claim because he was hired and regularly employed in California by <u>one</u> of his employers during the period of the cumulative trauma." The WCAB pointed out that in *Gordon* there was no requirement that applicant's employment with a California-based team fall in the Labor Code §5500.5 liability period, as applicant's last year of employment in that case was not with the team located in California.

In the *Stinnett* case it was found that California had a significant and legitimate interest in applicant's injury and claim because he was regularly employed by the Los Angeles Dodgers, a California-based employer for a portion of the period of cumulative trauma that caused his injury.

The WCAB in finding that employment by a California-based team at any point in the applicant's cumulative trauma claim was adequate or sufficient to establish subject matter jurisdiction stated as follows:

Subject matter jurisdiction in this case relates to the entirety of applicant's claim for

cumulative trauma. Applicant's employment with the California-based Visalia Oaks is sufficient to establish subject matter jurisdiction over applicant's claim. The fact that applicant was also employed by out-of-state entities does not work to negate California taking subject matter jurisdiction, neither does it operate on a party-by-party basis.

<u>Harper v. Tampa Bay Buccaneers</u> (2014) 79 Cal.Comp.Cases 595; 2014 Cal. Wrk. Comp. PD LEXIS 62 (writ denied 5/1/14)

Holding: Where there is no California subject matter jurisdiction over the last employer or employers in the Labor Code section 5500.5 liability period, it is permitted to relate back to an earlier period where there is an employer over which California subject matter jurisdiction may be found. It is that employer who is liable for benefits under Labor Code section 5500.5.

Factual/Procedural Background: Following trial, the WCJ found the applicant suffered a cumulative trauma injury from March 8, 1995 to February 2001, without apportionment resulting in 94% permanent partial disability. Defendant filed a Petition for Reconsideration alleging that no liability should have been found on the part of the Buccaneers since they were outside of the Labor Code section 5500.5 liability period. They also argued the WCJ should have found the applicant's Award was subject to apportionment pursuant to Labor Code section 4663.

The applicant was employed by the Tampa Bay Buccaneers from March 8, 1995 through 1996. After he left the Buccaneers he played for a few teams, usually not for full seasons but only a few games. He played for the Saints in 1997. He did not play at all in 1998. He played three games for the Cowboys in 1999 and then played one game for an XFL team. With respect to any other teams the applicant played for subsequent to the Tampa Bay Buccaneers, there was no basis for California subject matter jurisdiction. The parties stipulated the last team for which applicant played for in California was the Tampa Bay Buccaneers.

The Relation Back Issue: Defendant argued that Labor Code section 5500.5 should be construed and applied to prohibit finding liability for any employer that was outside the last year of injurious exposure and liability under Labor Code section 5500.5. If there was no California subject matter jurisdiction over the last employer or employers under Labor Code section 5500.5, then there should be no relation back or claw back methodology to find liability over an earlier employer.

The WCAB denied defendant's Petition for Reconsideration and adopted and incorporated the WCJ's Report on Reconsideration.

First, there was an issue with respect to whether or not the Tampa Bay Buccaneers were insured or self-insured. At the time of trial there was a stipulation by the parties that the Buccaneers were self-insured, when in fact they were insured. The WCJ impliedly found, based on the stipulations of the parties, the Buccaneers would be assumed to be self-insured pursuant to the stipulation. Moreover, the WCJ pointed out defendant failed to note or discuss various cases that held that the WCAB could relate back to a previous employer prior to the Labor Code section 5500.5 period in order to find liability were there was no California subject matter jurisdiction for any employer in the last section 5500.5 liability period. The cases cited by the WCAB included *Tampa Bay Buccaneers v. WCAB (Curry)* (2008) 73 Cal. Comp. Cases 944 (writ denied), as well as *Portland*

Trailblazers v. WCAB (Whatley) (2007) 72 Cal. Comp. Cases 154 (writ denied). The WCAB and the WCJ also cited *Employer's Mutual Liability Insurance Company v. WCAB (Patterson)* (1987) 52 Cal. Comp. Cases 284 (writ denied).

The WCAB found Labor Code section 5500.5 permits liability to be determined over a prior employer or employers that preceded the last year of injurious exposure under Labor Code section 5500.5. This would permit the WCAB to relate back until they found California subject matter jurisdiction over a particular employer and then impose liability for the entire cumulative trauma, even though the prior employer may have been years before the last date of injurious exposure in the cumulative trauma period.

The WCAB indicated a legislative intent as well as the practical implication that if Labor Code section 5500.5 did not have a relation back proviso, an applicant would be left without benefits even if there was California subject matter jurisdiction over one of the earlier employers.

There are also situations where the "relation back" provision of Labor Code §5500.5(a) can be misapplied. In *Riley v. Kansas City Chiefs* (2015) (WCAB panel decision), the WCAB reversed a WCJ's decision improperly relating back liability to a defendant (the Chiefs) outside of the Labor Code §5500.5 liability period. The New Orleans Saints were in the Labor Code §5500.5 liability period, but had been dismissed without prejudice at applicant's request, but over the Chiefs' objection. There is an extensive discussion by the Board of the Labor Code §5500.5 relation back provision and its proper application. "The provision for relation back in §5500.5(a) has been held to apply when the WCAB does not have personal jurisdiction over an employer during the otherwise applicable liability period and there is no other employer with insurance during that period." (citations)

The Board found there was no valid basis to relate liability back to the Chiefs since there was no finding that the Saints were not insured for workers' compensation and no finding the WCAB lacked personal jurisdiction over the Saints. In fact, during two seasons with the Saints, applicant played games in California.

The author questions whether the result would have been the same if the Saints had been dismissed "with" prejudice and that order of dismissal had become final. (See also, *Anderson v. New Orleans Saints* (2015) (WCAB panel decision), WCAB reversed a WCJ who permitted an improper election that resulted in a misapplication of the "relation back" provisions of Labor Code §5500.5(a).

Apportionment: In the *Harper* case, the WCAB indicated there was no substantial evidence to support apportionment of the applicant's permanent disability award. Defendant's QME, in an attempt to apportion 20% of the applicant's disability to activities pre-existing or subsequent to the applicant's professional football career, did not adequately explain "how and why" these particular non-industrial factors were a contributing cause of the applicant's overall permanent disability. Moreover, it appears there was an attempt by defendant's QME to apportion on a pro rata basis which is not permitted under Labor Code section 5500.5.

Comment: It is questionable whether or not there would have been the same result in *Harper* subsequent to the Court of Appeal's published decision in *Federal Insurance Company v. WCAB* (*Johnson*) (2013) 221 Cal.App.4th1116. While applicant was playing for the Tampa Bay Buccaneers, it was unclear whether from a constitutional due process standpoint, if applicant played only a few games in California for the Tampa Bay Buccaneers, California would have a legitimate and substantial interest in providing a forum as opposed to the greater interest of Florida.

<u>Rawley v. Boston Red Sox and Philadelphia Phillies</u> 2011 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 184 (WCAB panel decision)

Holding: Under Labor Code section 5500.5 in a situation or scenario where applicant's employment involves injurious exposure but there is no California subject matter jurisdiction over one or more terminal employers, then the Labor Code section 5500.5 liability period will be determined by relating back to a liability period where there was both injurious exposure and California subject matter jurisdiction over the employer or employers.

Procedural and Factual Background: Applicant's professional baseball career spanned a period from 1984 to 1990. During this period of time, applicant played for three professional baseball teams including the Philadelphia Phillies, the Minnesota Twins, and the Boston Red Sox. Applicant was employed by the Phillies from January 30, 1985, to October 24, 1988, the Twins from October 24, 1988, to October 30, 1989, and finally the Red Sox from January 9, 1990, to April 2, 1990.

Applicant's last employment with the Boston Red Sox from January 9, 1990, to April 2, 1990, essentially involved spring training. Although it appears there was injurious exposure during the period of time applicant was employed by the Red Sox, there was no California subject matter jurisdiction over the Boston Red Sox.

Following trial, the WCJ found a date of injury over the course of the applicant's entire employment, i.e., 1984 through 1990. However, the WCJ indicated that for purposes of the Labor Code section 5500.5 liability period, the correct date was October 2, 1988, to October 1, 1989, given the fact there was "other insurance" during the Labor Code section 5500.5 liability period. The WCJ found the Philadelphia Phillies were liable for the entire award.

The Philadelphia Phillies filed a timely Petition for Reconsideration asserting and arguing that the correct Labor Code section 5500.5 liability period should be April 2, 1989, to April 2, 1990. The WCAB denied the Phillies' Petition for Reconsideration and adopted and incorporated the WCJ's Report on Reconsideration.

Discussion: Although this is a panel decision it is a significant case since it illustrates the Labor Code section 5500.5 "relation back" imposition of liability in situations where an applicant, while employed and suffering injurious exposure by one or more employers, there is no basis to assert California subject matter jurisdiction over the terminal/last employer or employers.

In this case it was undisputed the terminal employer was the Boston Red Sox from January 9, 1990, to April 2, 1990. During his employment with the Red Sox, the applicant participated in

spring training and there is little doubt there was injurious exposure. However, there was no California subject matter jurisdiction over the Boston Red Sox.

In relating back to the last employer or employers over which there was California subject matter jurisdiction, i.e., the Philadelphia Phillies and the Minnesota Twins. The WCJ in relating back and imposing the Labor Code section 5500.5 liability period over only those employers where there was an established California subject matter jurisdiction relied on *Portland Trailblazers*, *et. al. v. WCAB (Whatley)* (2007) 72 Cal. Comp. Cases 154 (writ denied) and *Tampa Bay Buccaneers v. WCAB (Curry)* (2008) 73 Cal. Comp. Cases 944 (writ denied).

In the *Whatley* case, applicant was employed by two professional basketball teams, one in Europe and one in the United States where there was injurious exposure but there was no California jurisdiction over either team. Therefore, the trial judge in *Whatley* had to go all the way back to 1995 in order to find an employer over which there was California subject matter jurisdiction even though the applicant played professional basketball until 1998. In the *Curry* case, there was no California subject matter jurisdiction over the professional football team the applicant played for in the last three or four years of his professional career. Therefore, Labor Code section 5500.5 liability had to relate back and was imposed over the previous employer or employers where there was established California subject matter jurisdiction.

Practice Pointer: This case as well as the *Whatley* and *Curry* cases, illustrate the interaction between Labor Code section 5500.5 liability and California subject matter jurisdiction. If the Labor Code section 5500.5 liability period is determined based merely on the last employment and last injurious exposure this would in many cases lead to a result where the applicant would be without a remedy since there would be no California subject matter jurisdiction. Hence, the practical necessity of relating back in time to find an employer where there is California subject matter jurisdiction and injurious exposure and then determining the correct Labor Code section 5500.5 liability period. (See also, *Employers Mutual v. WCAB (Patterson)* (1987) 52 Cal. Comp. Cases 284, 295 (writ denied); *Roundfield v. Washington Wizards, aka Washington Bullets et.al.* 2006 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 26 (WCAB panel decision); *San Francisco 49ers v. WCAB (Green)* (1996) 61 Cal. Comp. Cases 301).

Caveat: It remains to be seen what impact AB 1309 will have on the "rollback" or "relation back" cases and whether a distinction will be made between claims filed before September 15, 2013, or only to claims filed after that date. (See Labor Code § 3600.5 (d)(1).)

9. Contribution

Brown v. Arizona Cardinals, Saint Louis Rams, Carolina Panthers, et al., 2019 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 237 (WCAB panel decision); see also <u>Ventura v Dana Point Cleaners</u> 2019 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 114 (WCAB panel decision) summarized under Editor's Comments below with respect to post election compromise and release and effect on non-settling co-defendant where both defendant/carriers provided coverage for a portion of the alleged CT claim)

Issues and Holding: During trial on the issue of jurisdiction the WCJ Granted applicants motion to elect against co-defendant the Detroit Lions even though the Lions only had one third of the potential liability under the applicable Labor Code section 5500.5 liability period and co-defendant the Jaguars had two thirds of the potential liability. The Lions petition for removal was denied by the WCAB on the basis that a decision to allow an election is reviewable under the abuse of discretion standard. Even though a defendant's share of the potential Labor Code 5500.5 liability should be considered in the exercising of the discretion, it is permissible to allow the election against a defendant even with minimal coverage exposure. (*Mendez v Coos Manufacturing, Inc.*, 2017 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 41 [Election against a defendant with 2.5% liability was allowed].). Since the Jaguars did not object to applicant's election of the Lions at trial they were not prejudiced by the election and because like the Lions, the Jaguars will be given the full opportunity to present evidence and witness testimony at the trial de-novo in the subsequent contribution proceedings.

Factual Overview: Applicant a professional football player filed a cumulative trauma for the period from September 27, 2002 to September 5, 2009. During this period, applicant played for 5 different NFL teams including the Arizona Cardinals, Saint Louis Rams, Carolina Panthers, Jacksonville Jaguars, and the Detroit Lions. It was undisputed that the Labor Code section 5500.5 liability encompassed the period from September 5, 2008 to September 5, 2009. The only two teams who employed the applicant during the Labor Code section 5500.5 liability period were the Jaguars and the Lions. The Jacksonville Jaguars employed the applicant for 67 days and the Detroit Lions employed the applicant for 24 days. This equated to the Jaguars having 2/3 of the potential liability and the Lions 1/3 of the potential liability under Labor Code section 5500.5.

The only issue at trial was whether or not there was California jurisdiction over applicant's claim. Before any testimony was taken the Jaguars renewed their argument related to an alleged lack of California personal jurisdiction. At trial and before any testimony was taken, applicant moved to elect against the Detroit Lions over the Lions objection. The Lions subsequently filed a petition for removal making a number of arguments including that their share of the potential liability under Labor Code 5500.5 was di minimis and the fact that the Jaguars were excluded from trial was a denial of due process for the Lions.

Discussion: In denying the Lions petition for removal, the WCAB indicated that under Labor Code section 5500.5(b) and (c), an applicant may elect to proceed against one or more named employers to prevent delay, expense, and hardship of proving a claim against multiple employers and carriers, *Sanchez v. Unilever/Ins. Co. Of the State of PA/Alberto Culver Co./Ace American Ins.* (2017) 45 CWCR 239. A decision by a trial WCJ with respect to allowing an election is reviewable under the abuse of discretion standard. More importantly even though a defendant's share of

liability should be considered in the exercising of the discretion, it is permissible to allow the election against a defendant with even minimal coverage and liability exposure under Labor Code section 5500.5, *Mendez v. Coos Manufacturing, Inc.*, 2017 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 41 [Election against a defendant with 2.5% liability was allowed]. However, the elected employer may seek contribution against the unelected employers at a trial de novo in supplemental contribution proceedings under Labor Code section 5500.5.

The WCAB held that even though applicant waited until the day of trial and before testimony was taken before electing against the Lions, there was still a rational and good faith basis for the applicant electing against the Lions. By electing against the Lions, the applicant can reduce his complex litigation burden to one single employer and carrier and the single issue of subject matter jurisdiction with the Lions. Applicant simplified the trial by eliminating the issue of personal jurisdiction and burden of proof on contracts of hire through his California agent/contract adviser with the Jaguars. Thus, the decision to elect against the Lions was consistent with the intent of Labor Code section 5500.5 in preventing delay and the difficulty in proving his case against multiple employers/carriers.

Editors Comment: With respect to the effect of a post-election settlement by way of a Compromise & Release by the elected against co-defendant and other co-defendants, see *Ventura v. Dana Point Cleaners* 2019 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 114. (The WCAB in denying reconsideration affirmed WCJ's decision that applicant's settlement by C&R with one defendant who had been elected against did not release the liability of another co-defendant related to a cumulative trauma claim that both defendants insured. WCAB held that pursuant to Labor Code 5500.5, an injured worker who is injured as a result of a cumulative trauma covered by multiple insurers can either settle each portion of the CT with each insurer or can elect against a single insurer and settle the entire claim with that insurer. However, if the injured worker elects against only one insurer of the CT claim, that insurer can recover from the other liable insurers by filing a petition for contribution and arbitrating the dispute. In this case one of the insurers of the CT claim was not joined as a party defendant until after approval of the C&R and there was no language in the C&R agreement that the non-joined carrier was included in the C&R settlement and therefore, the WCJ correctly determined the C&R did not resolve any liability the non-elected against non-settling insurer might have for applicant's claim).

<u>Matthews v. San Diego Chargers et.al.</u> 2016 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 240 (WCAB panel decision)

Holding/Issues: Whether in contribution proceedings there was one cumulative trauma injury, or two separate cumulative trauma injuries and the respective contribution rights and liabilities related to multiple cumulative trauma injuries and prior dismissal of CIGA who had coverage for the entire §5500.5 liability period.

Factual and Procedural Overview: Applicant was employed by the Chargers from 8/3/74-12/29/79, with coverage by Zenith. He was then with the NY Giants from 8/4/80-11/6/81, insured by ESIS. He played for the Dolphins from 12/2/81-1/2/82. Applicant sat out the entire 1982 NFL season because of a player's strike. When he returned to the NFL he played for Denver from

3/6/83-2/2/85, with coverage by Mission Insurance (CIGA) and NRIC. NRIC's coverage for Denver ended on 2/1/84, one day before the second cumulative trauma injury began.

There was a settlement by way of a joint Compromise and Release in 2014, for \$75,000.00. Zenith paid \$25,000.00 of the settlement and NRIC paid \$50,000.00. NRIC evidently paid their portion of the C&R mistakenly believing they had provided coverage for a portion of the \$5500.5 liability period that constituted "other insurance" pursuant to Insurance Code 1063.1(c) and CIGA had no liability. It appears CIGA was mistakenly dismissed as a party defendant at or before the C&R was entered into and approved. Both Zenith and NRIC filed timely Petitions for Contribution against ESIS, the carrier for the Giants.

The Arbitration Proceedings: Consistent with the medical reporting from one of the QMEs, the arbitrator found two cumulative trauma injuries relying on the *Coltharp* decision. Initially, the Arbitrator ordered ESIS to pay/contribute \$25,000.00 to NRIC. ESIS then filed for reconsideration. In his Report and Recommendation on Reconsideration the Arbitrator recommended that his decision be amended and modified since there was no equitable or legal basis for requiring ESIS to contribute a portion of the money NRIC mistakenly paid as part of the 2014 Compromise and Release. The Arbitrator in that regard stated:

"He notes that CIGA should not have been dismissed as a defendant, as it appears it would have had stand-alone liability under §5500.5 for the second cumulative trauma injury because Mission was the sole insurer during the last year of applicant's employment. As the Arbitrator now views it, NRIC is not "other insurance" under Insurance Code §1063.1 (c)(9) and it has no liability for the second cumulative trauma injury through February 2, 1985, because its coverage ended outside of the one-year §5500.5 liability period."

Discussion: This case has an excellent and comprehensive discussion of both the *Coltharp* and *Austin* cases and how they both impact the anti-merger doctrine and provisions of Labor Code §§3208.1 and 3208.2. The fact that applicant did not play the entire 1982 NFL season was significant because it was the basis for separating and creating two separate and distinct periods of cumulative trauma. As a consequence, there were separate periods of disability and separate need for medical treatment.

Also of significance is the fact that if CIGA had not been erroneously dismissed, they would have had the entire stand-alone coverage and resultant liability under the last year of injurious exposure for the second cumulative trauma and there would have been no "other insurance." Both Zenith and NRIC should not have prematurely and mistakenly dismissed CIGA at or before the time the Compromise and Release was entered into. It is also assumed for purposes of this case summary that CIGA was dismissed with prejudice.

<u>Garner v. Tampa Bay Buccaneers; Oakland Raiders</u> 2014 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 320 (WCAB panel decision)

Issue: Whether the arbitrator in contribution proceedings erroneously determined the Labor Code §5500.5 liability period by failing to consider unrebutted medical evidence that applicant's mandatory participation in a vigorous team rehabilitation program and post-injury workouts for

the Tampa Bay Buccaneers exposed him to the hazards of a cumulative injury pursuant to Labor Code § 5500.5.

Holding: The WCAB reversed the arbitrator's Findings and Order wherein it was found that the Tampa Bay Buccaneers were entitled to contribution from the Oakland Raiders of 45% of the benefits paid to the applicant. The WCAB found the arbitrator miscalculated the Labor Code §5500.5 liability period.

Factual & Procedural Overview: This is a complicated case both factually and procedurally. Applicant started his NFL career in 1994. He was in the NFL until he was terminated by the Tampa Bay Buccaneers on August 30, 2005. Applicant played for the Oakland Raiders for three NFL seasons. He voided his contract with the Oakland Raiders on March 2, 2004, and then signed with the Tampa Bay Buccaneers on March 9, 2004. While playing for the Tampa Bay Buccaneers three games into the 2004 regular season, he suffered a ruptured patella on September 26, 2004, in a game against co-defendant the Oakland Raiders. Two days later he was placed on injured reserve. He underwent surgery to repair his injured patella. While on injured reserve he continued to be paid his regular salary.

Unrebutted evidence established that while applicant was on injured reserve, Tampa Bay expressly advised and informed him that he was required by the terms of his NFL Player Contract to attend mandatory appointments scheduled by the Club's trainer and/or physician and to participate in the team strength and conditioning program, and any other related directives given to him. Applicant testified in detail as to the nature of the Tampa Bay Buccaneers mandatory team rehabilitation program and post-injury workouts. He participated and continued in his rehabilitation program through the 2004 season and into the 2005 season. Prior to the commencement of the 2005 regular season, he participated in mini-camp in late or early May 2005. Also, after mini-camp, he participated in organized team activities (OTA's) which consisted of four separate short training camps, each four days in duration. He then reported to pre-season camp in mid-July 2005 and participated in pre-season camp for approximately six weeks until he was terminated by Tampa Bay on August 30, 2005. He never played in the NFL again.

In 2011, long before the contribution proceedings took place, applicant entered into separate Stipulations with Request for Award with Tampa Bay, with a stipulated Award issuing on October 18, 2011, with Permanent Disability stipulated to be 88%. Subsequently, the Tampa Bay Buccaneers filed a Petition for Contribution under Labor Code §5500.5 seeking contribution from the Oakland Raiders. The arbitrator issued a Findings and Order in 2012, finding the Tampa Bay Buccaneers were entitled to contribution from the Oakland Raiders of 45% of the benefits paid to the applicant.

The Oakland Raiders filed a Petition for Reconsideration, primarily raising the issue that the arbitrator had erroneously determined the liability period under Labor Code §5500.5, and that if it were correctly calculated, the Tampa Bay Buccaneers would not be entitled to any contribution from the Oakland Raiders.

The WCAB granted the Raiders Petition for Reconsideration and reversed the Findings and Order of the arbitrator. The WCAB determined the correct liability period under Labor Code §5500.5

was from August 30, 2004 to August 30, 2005, and not September 26, 2003 to September 26, 2004 as found by the arbitrator.

The WCAB in reversing the arbitrator, indicated the arbitrator failed to consider the unrebutted testimony from the applicant, that he had suffered injurious exposure while on injured reserve for the Tampa Bay Buccaneers from March 28, 2004, until he was terminated by Tampa Bay on August 30, 2005. Moreover, there was unrebutted medical evidence that supported the fact applicant's participation in a mandatory rehabilitation program and post-injury workouts, as well as mini camps and training camps constituted injurious exposure. The panel QME in orthopedics was deposed and confirmed his previous assessment that applicant's rehabilitation program and practices constituted injurious exposure while with the Tampa Bay Buccaneers.

Co-defendant Tampa Bay raised the issue that in the Stipulations with Request for Award and stipulated Award of October 18, 2011, applicant stipulated the end date of the cumulative trauma injury was September 26, 2004 not August 30, 2005. However, the WCAB indicated the stipulated Award was effectuated without the Oakland Raiders participation and was not binding on Oakland. Moreover, Petitions for Contribution under Labor Code §5500.5 constitute de novo proceedings with respect to determining the correct or proper date of injury.

In analyzing and determining the correct Labor Code §5500.5 liability period, the WCAB indicated that Labor Code §5500.5 states the one-year liability period dates back from the **earlier** of the Labor Code §5412 date of injury, or the last date of injurious exposure, whichever occurs first. The WCAB indicated that based on the unrebutted medical and testimonial evidence in the case "it appears uncontested in this case that the last date of injurious exposure was earlier than the section 5412 date of injury. Given the fact applicant while on injured reserve was paid full salary and received his full salary until he was terminated by the Tampa Bay Buccaneers on August 30, 2005, there was no compensable temporary disability until applicant suffered a wage loss."

Also, the WCAB indicated the arbitrator incorrectly determined which co-defendant had the burden of proof in this case. The WCAB indicated that Oakland did not have the burden of proof, but rather the burden of proof rested with Tampa Bay. It was the Buccaneers burden to show that applicant was not subjected to the hazards of cumulative trauma injury after March 9, 2005.

In finding that the correct Labor Code §5500.5 period was from August 30, 2004 to August 30, 2005, the WCAB reversed the arbitrator's Findings and Order and indicated that Tampa Bay was not entitled to any contribution from the Oakland Raiders.

<u>Gordon v. Oakland Raiders; Atlanta Falcons</u> 2011 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 163 (WCAB panel decision)

Holding: In contribution proceedings, allocation/apportionment of liability for reimbursement among multiple employers is limited to employers and periods of employment during the Labor Code section 5500.5 liability period only.

Procedural and Factual Overview: Contribution proceedings were initiated by the Oakland Raiders. Following the arbitration proceedings, the Workers' Compensation Arbitrator (WCA)

found that the Oakland Raiders were entitled to reimbursement from co-defendant Atlanta Falcons for 39% of all sums paid to the applicant. The Falcons filed a Petition for Reconsideration asserting/arguing their liability for reimbursement to the Raiders should be limited to 4% as opposed to the 39%. The WCAB granted reconsideration and rescinded the WCA's decision finding the Oakland Raiders were entitled to only 4% reimbursement from the Falcons as opposed to 39%.

Discussion: This case is significant since it deals with the interaction/interplay of Labor Code section 5500.5(a) and Labor Code section 5412. It was undisputed that pursuant to Labor Code section 5412 and Labor Code section 5500.5(a), the Labor Code section 5500.5 liability period was from February 28, 2002, to February 28, 2003. The erroneous formula the arbitrator used in allocating/apportioning liability for reimbursement to the Raiders was based on total periods of employment the applicant had with each of three teams, the Falcons, the Packers, and the Raiders excluding those periods where the applicant was not engaged in any injurious exposure during his entire period of employment.

In reversing the arbitrator's use of this formula, the WCAB indicated that Labor Code section 5500.5(a) does not permit or allow for apportionment of liability between employers in contribution proceedings to contract dates or employment outside the last year of employment. Under the facts in this case, liability is properly assessed according to the proportionate periods of employment during which each team employed the applicant only during the Labor Code section 5500.5(a) period from February 28, 2002, to February 28, 2003, not counting time within the year during which the applicant was unemployed. The arbitrator erroneously went outside of the Labor Code section 5500.5 period and looked at all periods of employment which included 141 days for the Falcons, 147 days for the Packers, and 77 days for the Raiders, much of which was outside the Labor Code section 5500.5(a) liability period.

The WCAB indicated that focusing exclusively on the Labor Code section 5500.5 period the Falcons employed applicant for only 2 days as opposed 141 days, if one were to include periods outside the Labor Code section 5500.5 period. Therefore, the WCAB reversed the WCA's decision and found the Atlanta Falcons liable for only 4% reimbursement to the Raiders as opposed to 39%. Also of note is the fact that it was improper to include the Green Bay Packers in the Labor Code section 5500.5 analysis since there appears to have been no California subject matter jurisdiction over the Green Bay Packers and the Packers were not involved in the case in chief before the arbitration proceedings commenced again based on a lack of California subject matter jurisdiction.

10. Permanent Disability

<u>Oliver v. Tampa Bay Buccaneers: ESIS</u> 2022 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 251; 50 CWCR 190 (WCAB panel decision)

Issues and Holding: Whether applicant a former professional football player who was awarded 98% PD related to his CT claim was entitled to the conclusive presumption of permanent total disability under LC 4662(a)(4) related to his traumatic brain injury resulting in a cognitive disorder. Whether he was entitled to permanent total disability under section 4662(b) "in accordance with the fact" based on a combination of his combined PD coupled with the effects of his medication and also whether he should be awarded ongoing TTD until his condition becomes permanent and stationary based on the progressive nature of his neurological disorder. Applicant also claimed TTD for the period of 11/1/13 to 12/16/16. Also whether applicant's lawyer who was not licensed to practice law in California at the time the F&A issued was entitled to a fee of 18% of the benefits awarded applicant due to the complexity of the case, the work performed, and the results obtained.

The WCAB held that applicant was not entitled to the 4662(a)(4) conclusive presumption of PTD since based on the opinion of the QME in neurology he did not suffer sufficient disability to trigger the conclusive presumption. With respect to PTD under 4662(b), the WCAB based on the Fitzpatrick case and on the record in this case there was no basis to conclude that applicant was permanently totally disabled based on a rating of 98% PD and that there was no vocational evidence or other evidence that rebuts the 98% PD found by the WCJ.

As to applicant's claim of TTD for the period of 11/1/13 to 12/16/16 the WCAB noted there was no basis in the record to award TTD for the period claimed by applicant. Applicant was employed as a high school vice principal and high school principal until he retired in 2014 and that based on the reporting of the QME there was no substantial medical evidence that he was precluded from returning to his job as a principal or to return to the work force following his retirement.

The WCAB under the Supreme Court's decision in *Gen. Foundry Serv. v. Worker's Comp. Appeals Bd. (Jackson)* (1986) 42 Cal.3d 331, [51 Cal.Comp.Cases 375], that based on the medical evidence related to progressive nature of applicant's neurological disability, WCAB jurisdiction should be reserved over the issue of ultimate permanent disability but that applicant was not entitled to ongoing TTD until he was determined to be permanent and stationary, but would be paid his provisional PD award of 98% commencing from 12/16/16.

Procedural and Factual Overview: Applicant a former NFL professional football player during the period of 3/1/75 to 10/1/81 was employed by the San Francisco 49ers, Buffalo Bills, and Tampa Bay Buccaneers. Applicant elected against the Buccaneers who were insured Insurance Company of North America administered by ESIS. There was California subject matter over applicant's claim. Applicant was examined by a variety of medical specialists and QME's. In Neurology the WCJ relied on the QME reporting in neurology from Dr. Nudleman as well as the reporting from Dr. Kim the orthopedic QME. "Dr. Nudleman determined that pursuant to the AMA Guides (Guides), applicant has a posttraumatic head syndrome, that is "constant slight becoming

occasionally slight to moderate," posttraumatic headaches that are "intermittent and slight," a sleep disorder that is "constant and slight becoming intermittently moderate," and a panic and anxiety disorder that is "frequent and slight." Dr. Nudleman found that these disabilities resulted in applicant having a 20% Whole Person Impairment under the Guides."

The orthopedic QME "Dr. Kim noted in his report that applicant stopped working on February 28, 2014 because of multiple conditions including Parkinson's disease, hypertension, heart attack, arterial stent, hip replacement, hip provision, left knee replacement, tinnitus, torn rotator cuff, bulging discs, diabetes, and GERD." However, in a December 16, 2016 report Dr. Kim indicated that with respect to applicant's ability to return to work that "[i]n consideration of the above-noted findings [concerning applicant's work restrictions], Mr. Oliver will be unable to return to his prior occupation as a professional football player. The patient is currently retired from the open labor market; however, should he wish to return to the work force, he may do so within the parameters outlined above."

Based on the medical evidence the WCJ awarded applicant 98% PD based on a strict AMA Guides rating. Applicant offered no vocational or other evidence to rebut the 98% PD found the the WCJ.

Discussion: Applicant tried several different theories to obtain a 100% permanent total disability award instead of the 98% PD awarded by the WCJ. All of them failed. However, based on the argument that his head injuries and related cognitive impairments/ neurological disability should be considered an insidious progressive disease, the WCAB reserved jurisdiction over the issue of applicant's final neurological permanent disability notwithstanding the normal jurisdictional limits of Labor Code sections 5410 and 5804 pursuant to *Gen. Foundry Serv. v. Worker's Comp. Appeals Bd. (Jackson)* (1986) 42 Cal.3d 331, [51 Cal.Comp.Cases 375]. In doing so the WCAB rejected applicants argument that he was entitled to ongoing TTD after December 16, 2016, when he was found to be permanent and stationary. Instead the WCAB awarded the applicant a "provisional" permanent disability award of 98% payable in the usual fashion.

Editor's Comments: This case is instructive due to the WCAB's extensive analysis and discussion with respect to the extensive body of case law applicable to defining and characterizing various injuries and conditions as insidious progressive diseases. The reporting neurologist in this case opined that applicant's traumatic head syndrome and CTE would progress over time leading the WCAB to characterize it as an insidious progressive disease and that the need to reserve jurisdiction over applicant's neurological permanent disability was justified.

Boss v. Oakland Raiders, Ace American Insurance c/o Tristar Risk Mgt. 2022 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 211 (WCAB panel decision)

Issues and Holding: Whether the WCJ's Findings, Order, and Award of 42% permanent disability after apportionment based on combining ratings derived from two different medical-legal evaluators in different medical specialties was contrary to and inconsistent with a rating and impairment formula based on an approximate rating that accurately reflected the applicant's actual impairment.

The WCAB affirmed but amended the WCJ's Findings, Order, and Award by reducing the WCJ's 42% permanent disability award after apportionment to 30% permanent disability without apportionment in order to reflect a valid impairment rating under *Milpitas Unified School Dist. v. Workers Comp. Appeals Bd. (Almaraz-Guzman)* (2010) 187 Cal.App. 4th 808 [75 Cal.Comp.Cases 837] which the Board indicated is the rating that accurately reflects the injured employee's actual impairment. A rating that accurately reflects an applicant's impairment under *Almaraz-Guzman* may not always be the highest rating, depending on the particular facts of each individual case.

Procedural and Factual Overview: Applicant while employed as a professional football player by the Oakland Raiders during the period of August 6, 2011 to January 1, 2012 sustained industrial injury in the form of post-concussive syndrome and mild neurocognitive disorder due to traumatic brain injury. However, the WCJ did not find injury to applicant's psyche, face, neck, shoulders, elbows, wrists, hip, back, knees, ankles, feet, toes or internal system.

In determining whether the applicant suffered 42% permanent partial disability after apportionment the WCJ relied on the opinions of two different medical specialists. There was an AME in neuropsychology and there was also an osteopath. The reporting osteopath rated applicant's cognitive impairment by analogy to Table 13-5 of the AMA Guides-the Clinical Dementia Rating scale assessing applicant with a WPI of 23%. The WCJ also followed the osteopath's opinion on apportionment of 50% which resulted in an adjusted permanent disability rating of 17% PD.

The WCJ also relied on the reporting of the AME in neuropsychology who used Table 13-6, Criteria for Rating Impairment Related to Mental Status and assessed applicant with a WPI of 20%. However, the WCJ found no valid apportionment. By combining the ratings derived from both doctors, the WCJ determined that applicant sustained 42% PD after apportionment.

Defendant's Petition for Reconsideration: On reconsideration defendant argued that the WCJ erred in finding that applicant's injury caused permanent partial disability of 42%, because the WCJ's rating was based on an alleged duplication of whole person impairments found by both the osteopath and by the AME in neuropsychology.

The WCAB's Decision on Reconsideration: In granting reconsideration the WCAB affirmed the findings, order and award of the WCJ but amended the WCJ's finding on the extent of PD. Instead of 42% PD after apportionment, the WCAB found that applicant's injury in the form of post-concussive syndrome and mild neurocognitive disorder, due to traumatic brain injury on an industrial basis caused permanent partial disability of 30% without apportionment. The WCAB's amended PD award was based solely on the neuropsychologist's WPI rating of 20% without apportionment that most accurately reflected applicant's actual impairment even though it was not necessarily the highest rating. In doing so the Board stated:

We note, however, that the goal of formulating a valid impairment rating under *Milpitas Unified School Dist. v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd.* (*Almaraz-Guzman*) (2010) 187 Cal.App.4th 808 [75 Cal.Comp.Cases 837] is to approximate the rating that accurately reflects the injured employee's actual impairment, which may or may not be the highest rating, depending on the facts of the case at hand. (*City of Sacramento*

v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd. (Cannon) (2013) 222 Cal.App.4th 1360, 1364-1365 [79 Cal.Comp.Cases 1].)

Also, since the WCAB based its revised assessment of the applicant's PD only on the AME's opinion there was no resulting duplication in the permanent disability rating which was the sole contention of defendant on reconsideration.

Editor's Comments: This case is an extremely rare application of an *Almaraz-Guzman* alternative rating in that the rating that most accurately reflected the applicant's actual impairment was not the highest rating. The overwhelming majority of reported *Almaraz-Guzman* alternative rating cases result in a higher rating when used to rebut a standard AMA-Guides rating.

<u>Paddio v. Cleveland Cavaliers; Seattle Supersonics et al.</u>, 2018 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 489 (WCAB Panel Decision)

Issues: The two primary issues presented were determination of the correct permanent disability indemnity rate and whether the rate is to be determined by the last date of injurious exposure, as opposed to the date of injury as defined under Labor Code §5412. The other issue was whether applicant was entitled to the Labor Code §4658(d)(2) 15% increase in permanent disability indemnity.

Holding: In terms of determining the correct disability rate, the WCAB held that in cumulative trauma injury cases the last date of injurious exposure does not automatically equate to a "date of injury" for determining the correct indemnity schedule and disability rate. Instead, the WCAB indicated that in cumulative trauma cases, the permanent disability compensation rate is the rate in effect on the date of injury per Labor Code §5412 which by definition may be when the applicant first suffered compensable disability and when the right to claim benefits under a cumulative trauma injury arose.

Procedural & Factual Overview: The ancillary issues in this case related to determining the applicable permanent disability indemnity rate and the 15% increase in benefits pursuant to Labor Code§4658(d)(2). These two issues were left open, when the Board deferred these issues after the primary issue of whether or not the WCAB had subject matter jurisdiction over applicant's claim was resolved in a prior proceeding. In that bifurcated proceeding the WCAB reversed the WCJ and found there was WCAB subject matter jurisdiction over the applicant's entire claim based on the fact that one of applicant's contracts during the cumulative trauma period was formed in California.

Defendant in the instant case contends they were newly aggrieved by the July 10, 2018, decision by the WCAB on reconsideration in that the WCAB "improperly ordered the WCJ to make a determination on benefits due pursuant to Labor Code §4658(d)(2) and improperly instructed the WCJ on the application of Labor Code §5412 in determining the permanent disability benefits rate."

The WCAB's Decision: On remand to the WCJ on the deferred issues, the WCAB ordered further development of the record on determining the correct permanent disability indemnity rate. The

Board instructed the judge that based on prior case law, the weekly rate of permanent disability benefits should be based upon the rate in effect on the §5412 date of injury. The WCAB noted the dual operation of Labor Code §5412 which on one hand identifies the date of injury for purposes of the statute of limitations, and also establishes the date for measurement of compensation payable.

On reconsideration, defendant argued that the date of compensable disability (last date of injurious exposure) establishes which indemnity schedule applies. Defendant on reconsideration cited several Court of Appeal cases to support their argument. The WCAB however, carefully distinguished those cases and contrary to defendant's argument, those decisions established that the correct permanent disability indemnity rate to apply is the one in existence when the right to claim benefits arises, and not necessarily the date of injury i.e., the last date of injurious exposure in a cumulative trauma claim.

In Argonaut Mining Company v. Industrial Acc. Com. (Gonzalez) (1951) 104 Cal.App.2d 27 [16 Cal.Comp.Cases 118] (Gonzalez). Applicant's last date of injurious exposure and allegedly his date of injury was in 1928 when he last worked for a mining company. However, the Court of Appeal ruled that the correct date of injury for determining permanent disability benefits and later death benefits was when the applicant first suffered compensable disability in 1948 twenty years after his last date of work and last date of injurious exposure. The reason for the court's ruling was because the applicant had no right to seek benefits until he suffered compensable disability. "When the right comes into existence certain rates are applicable. It would seem that these are the rates by which compensation should be payable." (Gonzalez, supra, 104 Cal.App.2d at p. 31). The Court of Appeal applied the same analysis in Dickow v. Workmen's Comp. Appeals Bd. (1973) 34 Cal.App.3d 762 [38 Cal.Comp.Cases 664]. Applicant suffered a cumulative trauma by way of exposure to dust that led to the development of lung disease. The Court of Appeal held the applicable compensation rate and benefit schedule was that which was in effect when the applicant first sustained compensable disability, as opposed to when his last date of work was, or last date of injurious exposure.

In the instant case, the WCAB indicated that while the examining physician opined that applicant had compensable disability at the time he stopped working as a professional basketball player, the actual record showed that applicant was unaware until later that he could claim workers' compensation benefits due to an industrial cumulative injury. In this situation the WCAB said "it is appropriate to rely upon the section 5412 date of injury as the date for the measure of compensation, consistent with the above cited cases and set forth in the July 10, 2018 decision and others." (citations omitted)

The Labor Code §4658(d)(2) 15% Increase in Permanent Disability.

On reconsideration defendant argued that because applicant did not miss time from work while employed by the Las Vegas Slam, one of the teams he played for, and he continued to work after that employment ended, section 4658(d)(2) should not apply to the award.

However, the WCAB stated that it is irrelevant whether the applicant continued to work while he was employed by the Las Vegas Slam team or even that he continued to work after that

employment ended. The Board stated "....4658 does not provide for an exception depending on whether the injured worker requested work, or whether the employer was aware of section 4658 work or depending upon when the workers' condition became permanent and stationary."

Instead,..... "if the conditions described in section 4658(d)(2) exist, the injured worker is entitled to the increased benefit provided by that section. (See, *Stinnett v. Dodgers* (2015) (October 22, 2015, ADJ8499686 [2015 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 644] (panel dec.); *Horton v. Oakland Raiders* (November 7, 2014, ADJ7826039) [2014 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 592] (panel dec.)."

<u>Hurley v. Sacramento Kings; Vancouver Grizzlies; TIG</u> 2014 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P. D. LEXIS 124 (WCAB panel decision)

Issues: Whether the 1997 or 2005 Permanent Disability Rating Schedule should be used to rate applicant's permanent disability related to a cumulative trauma injury that had a last date of injurious exposure of July 1, 1998, but with a definable date of injury under Labor Code section 5412 of 2011.

Factual & Procedural Background: Following trial the WCJ found the applicant suffered a cumulative trauma injury from January 1, 1993 through July 1, 1998, resulting in 81% permanent partial disability without apportionment and need for future medical care and treatment. The WCJ used the 1997 Permanent Disability Rating Schedule (PDRS) to determine applicant's permanent disability. Defendant filed a Petition for Reconsideration which was granted. The WCAB rescinded the WCJ's decision in its entirety and remanded the case for further development of the record.

In this case there was really no basis to challenge California subject matter jurisdiction since the applicant played more than 269 games while employed by both the Kings and the Grizzlies, many of those games were played in California. The primary focus of defendant's Petition for Reconsideration was their contention that the WCJ should have applied the 2005 Permanent Disability Rating Schedule as opposed to the 1997 Permanent Disability Rating Schedule.

The WCJ, in finding applicant's permanent disability should be determined using the 1997 PDRS, felt there was an exception under Labor Code section 4660(d) in that defendant was required to provide notice per Labor Code section 4061 given the fact applicant was on paid injured reserve status at some period and defendant had paid salary continuance in lieu of temporary disability. The WCJ reasoned that when the applicant returned to regular duty after each injury, defendant was required to provide notice under Labor Code section 4061. Since they did not, the 1997 PDRS applied as opposed to the 2005 PDRS.

In reversing the WCJ and finding the 2005 PDRS applied, the Board noted that section 4061(a) provides that notice regarding permanent disability indemnity is to be provided to the injured worker "with the last payment of temporary disability indemnity." If a defendant is not obligated to make the last payment of temporary disability indemnity until after January 1, 2005, the section 4660(d) exception to the use of the 2005 PDRS will not apply.

Although the last date of injurious exposure under the cumulative trauma injury was the period through July 1, 1998, the actual date of applicant's injury under Labor Code section 5412 was the date applicant first suffered disability there from and either knew, or in the exercise of reasonable diligence should have known, that such disability was caused by his present or prior employment. The WCJ determined that applicant did not have knowledge of the cumulative trauma injury until 2011, which was within one year of the date the actual claim was filed. Given this fact "The plain language of section 4660(d) cannot be construed to require a defendant to provide notice to an injured worker about an injury claim that has not yet come into existence".

In this regard the board further stated:

In that the cumulative injury claim did not exist when applicant was on the injured reserve list in 1994, 1996 and 1998 as described by the WCJ in his Report, defendant had no obligation to provide applicant with a section 4061(a) notice regarding the cumulative injury at those times. In that the cumulative injury claim did not come into existence until 2011, defendant had no obligation to serve any notices concerning that injury claim prior to January 1, 2005. Thus the third exception to the use of the 2005 PDRS described in section 4660(d) does not apply to the cumulative injury in this case, and no other exception has been shown to apply.

Maxwell v. The Los Angeles Rams National Union Fire Insurance Company of Pittsburgh Pennsylvania (Third Party Administrator Chartis, Seattle Seahawks; Phoenix Cardinals) 2013 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 498

Holding: Applicant deemed 100% permanently totally disabled under <u>LeBoeuf v. WCAB</u> not withstanding having only 52 days of employment for the Los Angeles Rams during training camp.

Procedural and Factual Background: Applicant played in the NFL for several teams for a cumulative trauma period of 1983 to July 31, 1991. He also played one season in the Canadian Football League after his NFL career ended. He only played for the Los Angeles Rams for 52 days during training camp from June 10, 1991 to July 31, 1991.

The WCJ found the applicant to be 100% permanently totally disabled. Defendants filed a Petition for Reconsideration raising several issues with the primary issue being whether applicant was permanently totally disabled based on the fact he could not compete in the open labor market. The WCAB denied defendants Petition for Reconsideration adopting and incorporating the WCJ's report on Reconsideration.

Discussion: In addition to the 100% permanent total disability finding based in part on <u>LeBoeuf</u> there were a few provocative side issues.

Following trial the WCAB found applicant's claim was not barred by the statute of limitations but also concluded it was insufficient to establish California subject matter jurisdiction over the Arizona Cardinals based only on the fact the applicant had a California agent. Also the Seattle Seahawks' contract with the applicant had a choice of law and venue provision which the WCJ

found unenforceable due to the fact the applicant's contract with the Seattle Seahawks was not signed by his agent even though an agent represented him.

Each party chose their own respective QMEs since this was a pre-2005 case. The QMEs were selected in the fields of psychology, orthopedics, and neurology. The respective QME in psychology arrived at similar permanent partial disability based on GAF scores of 45 and 42. Both orthopedists found approximately 30% whole person impairment. Both neurologists diagnosed dementia and imposed the same whole person impairment for headaches and for post-traumatic head syndrome manifesting itself in memory and concentration deficits.

It was of some interest that the defense QMEs in orthopedics and psychology never asked applicant to describe in detail his seven weeks of training camp activity with the Rams. In contrast, applicant testified in detail with respect to the twice a day training camp routine and numerous hits to his head. Defendant put on no rebuttal evidence on behalf of the Rams to rebut the applicant's description of training camp and its attendant rigours. Applicant also had a history of documented concussions even before his 52 days of training camp with the Rams. The WCJ in finding applicant's testimony credible about training camp activities stated, "After all is said and done, petitioner presented no witness to testify that applicant's description of training camp is incorrect or untrue."

Moreover, with respect to the *LeBoeuf* issue and its relationship to providing a basis for determining the applicant was 100% permanently disabled, applicant presented a vocational expert who testified the applicant's math, reading comprehension and problem-solving abilities were that of only a third or fourth grader. Defendant put on no vocational rebuttal evidence and did not have a vocational expert. There was no substantial evidence to support apportionment under either Labor Code section 4663 or Labor Code section 4664.

Defendant also argued applicant was only employable in a sheltered employment environment, should preclude a finding of 100% disability which the WCJ and the WCAB rejected based on the reporting of psychologist Rothberg and a vocational expert that applicant was not feasible for any occupation in the open labor market.

<u>Parker v. The Georgia Force</u> 2012 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 250 (WCAB panel decision)

Holding: For dates of injury before January 1, 2013, every employer with more than 50 employees is obligated, pursuant to Labor Code section 4658(d)(2), to offer regular, modified, or alternative work within 60 days, plus 5 days for mailing, of receipt/knowledge of a medical report indicating the applicant's MMI/permanent and stationary status. Moreover, the obligation to send the required notice applies and is required even if the employer is no longer is business, and if in business, does not conduct its primary business in the State of California.

Factual and Procedural Background: Following trial, the WCJ found applicant suffered a cumulative trauma injury resulting in 59% permanent disability. The WCJ also indicated the applicant was entitled to the 15% increase (bump up) as set forth in Labor Code section 4658(d).

The WCJ indicated that the 15% increase was payable and retroactive to 60 days from when the applicant was deemed to have been permanent and stationary on August 1, 2007.

Defendant filed a Petition for Reconsideration arguing that the WCJ had erroneously calculated the start date for payment of the 15% increase and applicant's employer, The Georgia Force, was no longer in business and had conducted business outside of the State of California and therefore should be exempt from providing the required notice and payment of the 15% increase. The WCAB granted defendant's Petition for Reconsideration finding applicant was still entitled to the 15% increase/bump up but the WCJ had erroneously calculated the start date. Therefore, the WCAB issued an amended Findings of Fact that the correct start date for the 15% increase was November 21, 2010, and not August 1, 2007.

Discussion: In recalculating when an employer/defendant is obligated to send out the 60-day notice related to an offer of regular work, modified work or alternative work, the WCAB noted a literal interpretation of Labor Code section 4658(d) was "nonsensical". They cited the case of *Ornelaz v. Albertsons, Inc.* 2008 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 724 (WCAB Panel Decision) in which they held that "common sense dictates that defendant's duty cannot arise or begin before it knows the time period is running."

The WCAB also indicated Labor Code section 5316 and CCP 1013 extends the 60 day notice 5 additional days for mailing.

Applying this reasoning to this case, the WCAB noted it was undisputed that defendant had not received the AME report from Dr. Wilson until September 17, 2010. Therefore, adding 60 plus 5 days for mailing the Labor Code section 4658(d) notice was due on or before November 21, 2010, and not August 1, 2007.

Even with the recalculated date, defendant failed to send the required notice and they were still liable and obligated to pay the 15% increase. Moreover, the WCAB indicated there was no authority to exempt an employer from its obligation to provide the Labor Code section 4658(d)(2) notice if they were no longer in business or that its primary business was not conducted in the State of California.

Practice Pointer: The 15% bump up or down provisions of Labor Code section 4658(d)(2) do not apply to dates of injury after January 1, 2013. This case is a pre-SB 863 decision, and it is still good case law for all dates of injury prior to January 1, 2013, for all employers who have more than 50 employees.

<u>Nittel v. San Jose Sharks, Chubb Group</u> (2010) 76 Cal.Comp.Cases 545; 2011 Cal.App.Unpub. LEXIS 4704 (Unpublished Court of Appeal)

Issue/Holding: Defendant breached duty to applicant pursuant to Labor Code §4061(a) of notice of entitlement to permanent disability at time last payment of temporary disability was made.

Discussion: Applicant suffered a pre-1/1/2005 injury while employed by the San Jose Sharks. For the 2001/2002 season applicant's National Hockey League Standard Player's Contract showed

that his full salary was supposed to be \$400,000.00. However, applicant was transferred or assigned to a minor league club and the evidence showed he earned a little over \$40,000.00 in the minor leagues for the 2001/2002 season. It was undisputed he was on injured reserve, but the issue was whether or not he received TTD benefits based on his "full" salary or salary continuation of his "full salary".

The Court of Appeal in reversing the WCAB held that while on injured reserve, applicant received his full salary of \$40,000.00 pursuant to his Standard Player's Contract. As a consequence, the court held that the employer/defendant had an obligation to provide a section 4061(a) notice and therefore there was an exception under Labor Code section 4660(d) which required the application of the 1997 Permanent Disability Rating Schedule and not the 2005 PDRS.

Practice Pointer: See also, *Barlow v. Oakland Raiders*, 2009 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 483 (WCAB Panel Decision), where it was established that applicant was paid full salary while on injured reserve. If it can be shown that the applicant/player, as in *Barlow*, received his full salary while on injured reserve or TTD then defendant would, under *Barlow*, be obligated to provide the Labor Code section 4061(a) notice and if they did not, then the 1997 Permanent Disability Rating Schedule would apply in a pre-1/1/2005 injury case as in *Nittel*.

11. APPORTIONMENT

<u>Godfrey v. San Diego Chargers; Great Divide Insurance Company</u> (2014) (WCAB panel decision)

Holding: Reporting physicians cannot ignore prior specific injuries where there is documented lost time from work and significant medical treatment and merge those injuries into one cumulative trauma injury. Such a report would not constitute substantial medical evidence.

Factual and Procedural Background: Following trial, the WCJ found applicant suffered 77% permanent disability without apportionment. The WCJ also found applicant was entitled to the 15% increase in permanent disability pursuant to Labor Code section 4658(d).

Over the course of his career, spanning the years 1996 to March 21, 2007, applicant was employed by five different teams. The terminal employer was the San Diego Chargers. From a procedural standpoint, applicant elected to proceed against the Chargers and the other defendants were excused for purposes of trial.

Applicant was a defensive linebacker and also participated on special teams. During his career he had nine surgeries involving his right shoulder, twice to his elbows, as well as his left wrist and bilateral knees. After each surgery he underwent rehabilitation and returned to full duty after being cleared by a team doctor.

However, applicant also testified that because of the surgeries he missed games as well as off-season workouts. Specifically, in 2001, while he was playing for the Tennessee Titans, he missed games after he tore his left meniscus and had surgery. While playing for the Chargers in 2005, he missed one game due to a neck injury when he thought his neck was fractured.

Applicant's primary treating physician prepared five reports. There was also a reporting SPQME in orthopedics. The SPQME identified several specific injuries and provided a permanent disability rating for each body part and offered an apportionment determination. Applicant's treating physician, while taking a history of the applicant's numerous specific injuries and related surgeries, still concluded that applicant's permanent disability and current symptomatology were all attributable to one continuous cumulative trauma during the entire period he was employed as a professional football player. Applicant's primary treating physician refused to apportion any of applicant's disability to "non-industrial factors, specific traumas, or to specific injuries/incidences."

Following trial, the WCJ vacated the submission of the case based on the fact applicant's primary treating physician did not have an accurate history of applicant's injuries. The WCJ concluded the reporting SPQME had never worked on a professional athlete case before and appeared to lack an understanding of how to determine the date of injury for a cumulative trauma injury and apportionment. The WCJ ordered the parties to obtain supplemental reports from both physicians. The primary treating physician's supplemental report indicated his opinion regarding apportionment was unchanged, i.e., that there was only one single cumulative trauma and no specific injuries. The reporting SPQME, in a supplemental report, did provide an apportionment

determination, but emphatically stated that he believed whether the applicant suffered one cumulative trauma versus multiple cumulative traumas or specifics was a legal question and not a medical question.

Following resubmission, the WCJ relied on the primary treating physician's reports and opinions, finding, as indicated hereinabove, 77% permanent disability with no apportionment. Defendant filed a Petition for Reconsideration contending there was an impermissible merger of specific injuries with a cumulative trauma injury and there was a basis for apportionment and that the San Diego Chargers should not be liable for the 15% increase pursuant to Labor Code section 4658(d).

The WCAB's Decision on Reconsideration: The WCAB granted defendant's Petition for Reconsideration vacating the WCJ's decision and remanding the case for further development of the record. The Board indicated the opinion of the primary treating physician that there was only one cumulative trauma was clearly not supported by the medical evidence in this case and there was an impermissible merger of specific injuries with a cumulative trauma injury. It was also clear the SPQME's report did not constitute substantial medical evidence. Given the respective reporting of the primary treating physician and the SPQME, the WCAB indicated on remand the parties should attempt to reach an agreement on an AME, or, if that was not possible, then the WCJ should appoint a "regular physician" as provided in Labor Code section 5701 to conduct an examination and to prepare a report.

In criticizing the primary treating physician's analysis and opinion that there was only one indivisible cumulative trauma the Board stated as follows:

His determination is essentially a finding that there should be no apportionment because it is too difficult. He bases his finding of a single period of cumulative trauma upon the fact that after applicant sustained an injury requiring surgery or other medical treatment, he was cleared to continue playing football by the medical staff on each team. Accordingly to Dr. Fonseca's logic, because applicant played despite his injuries, he could not have sustained any specific injuries. The matter of record of multiple surgeries and periods of rehabilitation where applicant missed games and scheduled work-outs is an indication of a specific injury. That he was able to continue to play football does not negate the existence of a specific injury.

The WCAB also commented with respect to not only the issue of whether there were possible multiple specific injuries and a cumulative trauma but also whether there might be apportionment pursuant to Labor Code sections 4663 and 4664 as follows:

Where there is evidence that there are multiple causes contributing to the current level of disability that an apportionment determination be made to parcel out the causes of each source of disability. (Citations).

Editor's Note: For a recent case where the WCJ found and the WCAB upheld valid legal apportionment under LC 4663 in a sports case see, *Dietrick v. San Antonio Spurs/Chicago Bulls* 2022 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 124 (WCAB panel decision 4/29/22) (WCJ finds

and WCAB affirms valid 50% apportionment of applicant's lumbar spine to nonindustrial factors related to multi level degenerative changes confirmed by diagnostic studies and related in part to applicant's aging process that developed in the 30 years after applicant ceased playing professional basketball. The reporting physician also found the PD related to applicant's left knee was 90% industrial and 10% apportionable to a recent fall the applicant suffered.).

Also, for multiple comprehensive outlines and summaries of California apportionment cases similar to this outline, see he Editor's apportionment case outlines at the Pearlman, Brown & Wax website https://www.pbw-law.com/ under the "Resources" tab.

12. Medical-Legal (Admissibility and Costs)

<u>Chandler v. St. Louis Rams, Chicago Bears et al.</u>, 2024 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 377 (WCAB panel decision)

Issues: The WCAB granted applicant's Petition for Reconsideration and rescinded the WCJ's Findings and Order of January 8, 2020, and returned the case to the trial level for further proceedings and a new decision from the WCJ consistent with the WCAB's opinion there were various unresolved issues that must be revisited and redetermined by the WCJ. The Board found "several unexplained inconsistencies" in the WCJ's decision. The primary issues in the case the WCAB identified and discussed were as follows:

- 1. Whether the stipulations of the parties with respect to injury AOE/COE and specified body parts relieved the applicant of his burden to prove injury AOE/COE.
- 2. Whether the issue of applicant's alleged alcoholism was a viable basis to reject applicant's cumulative trauma injury claim or relevant to possible apportionment of permanent disability.
- 3. Whether applicant's medical legal reporting was admissible and which medical-legal process and procedures should apply to applicant's claims either LC 4062.2 or LC 4062 as it existed prior to 2005
- 4. Which permanent disability rating schedule (PDRS) applies to determine applicant's permanent disability.

Factual and Procedural Overview: Applicant a professional football player filed an application for adjudication alleging a cumulative trauma during the period of July 1998 through January 15, 2005. During portions of the CT period the applicant was employed at various locations including within California by the St. Louis Rams and the Chicago Bears. He alleged injury to various body parts, conditions and systems. The WCJ found that applicant failed to prove he sustained injury AOE/COE and that his CT exposure was from January 15, 2004 through January 15, 2005. The WCJ also found that "the medical reports and vocational evaluation reports are inadmissible."

Applicant filed a petition for reconsideration that was summarily granted by the Board for "further study."

The WCAB's Decision

The Issue of the Parties Stipulation at Trial that Applicant Sustained Injury AOE/COE to Various Body Parts and Conditions: One of the inconsistencies the Board found in the WCJ's decision was the issue of industrial injury. The WCJ found no injury AOE/COE despite the fact the parties stipulated at trial to injury AOE/COE as well as to a number of specified body parts, conditions, and systems.

The WCAB stated that the WCJ failed to recognize or consider the significance of the stipulation to injury at trial and from the record applicant was thus "relieved of his burden to prove injury, because it was stipulated at trial that applicant sustained industrial injury......" In that regard the Board stated:

The very purpose of a stipulation is to obviate the need for proof, and ordinarily a trial stipulation is binding on the parties absent a showing of good cause. (*Robinson v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd.* (1987) 194 Cal.App.3d 784 [52 Cal.Comp.Cases 419]; *Brannen v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd.* (1996) 46 Cal.App.4th 377 (61 Cal.Comp.Cases 554) [party not permitted to withdraw from stipulation absent showing of good cause].)

The Board indicated that if the WCJ believed there was some uncertainty with respect the parties' stipulation to injury then "the correct approach would have been to clarify and confirm the nature and extent of the stipulation, as opposed to issuing a summary-like denial of applicant's claim of injury. (See *Telles Transport, Inc. v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd.* (2001) 92 Cal.App.4th 1159, 1164 (66 Cal.Comp.Cases 1290) [WCAB may not leave undeveloped matters which its acquired specialized knowledge should identify as requiring further evidence].)"

Whether the issue of applicant's alleged alcoholism was a viable basis to reject applicant's cumulative trauma injury claim or relevant to possible apportionment of permanent disability: The Board noted that the WCJ's rejection of applicant's alleged cumulative trauma injury seemed to them "largely based on the WCJ's supposition that alcoholism caused most if not all of applicant's medical problems." The WCAB stressed the fundamental distinction between injury AOE/COE as opposed to apportionment of permanent disability.

We find the WCJ's reasoning unsound on this point. The issue of applicant's alleged alcoholism is potentially relevant to apportionment of permanent disability. (Lab. Code, § 4663.) However, in light of the parties' stipulation that applicant sustained industrial injury by reason of his seventeen-year football career, the WCJ's supposition that alcoholism caused his medical problems is contradicted by the stipulated facts and by the law. That is, the percentage to which an applicant's injury is causally related to his or her employment is not necessarily the same as the percentage to which an applicant's permanent disability is causally related to his or her injury. The analyses of these issues are different and the medical evidence for any percentage conclusions may be different. (*Reyes v. Hart Plastering* (2005) 70 Cal.Comp.Cases 223 [Significant Panel Decision].) Moreover, it appears the WCJ

disregarded any possibility that applicant's alcoholism, or the worsening of it, was aggravated by the serious injuries he evidently sustained while playing professional football. (See *City of Los Angeles v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd. (Clark)* (2017) 82 Cal.Comp.Cases 1404 (writ den.) [exacerbation of preexisting condition is not an industrial injury, but the acceleration, aggravation or lighting-up of a preexisting condition by the injured employee's job may constitute an industrial injury].)

Which Medical-Legal Reporting Procedures are Applicable to Applicant's Cumulative Trauma Claim?

With respect to this issue the Board discussed whether LC Section 4062 as it Existed Prior to 2005 or LC 4062.2 as Amended by SB 899 should apply. The WCJ found applicant's CT exposure was from January 15, 2004 through January 15, 2005 and as a consequence the WCJ found this limited the parties to the SPQME process pursuant to LC 4062.2 as amended by SB 899. Based on this analysis, the WCJ found that all of the medical reporting obtained in the case was "invalid" because it was obtained using the pre-2005 QME process. However, the WCAB noted that the legislative intent and case law reflect that "former sections 4060 et seq. to remain operative for represented cases with a date of injury before January 1, 2005," the term "date of injury" in those cases referred to the date of the occurrence of the specific injury, rather than a judicial determination as to the date of injury in a cumulative injury pursuant to section 5412."

The WCAB found the WCJ erred in ruling that LC 4062.2 since the Board found contrary to the WCJ that the applicant did not suffer injurious exposure in January 2005. Moreover the WCAB relying on the case of *Tanksley v. City of Santa Ana* 2010 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 74, which applied the principles in a prior en banc decision and significant panel decision from the Board held that with respect to applicant's CT claim:

...[T]he question of the process that applies to applicant's claim does not first require a finding of the date of injury. Instead, for injuries that are claimed to have occurred prior to January 1, 2005, as alleged in this case, section 4062 as it existed before its amendment by SB 899 continues to provide the procedure by which medical-legal reports are to be obtained. (*Nunez v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd.* (2006) 136 Cal.App.4th 584 [38 Cal. Rptr. 3d 914, 71 Cal.Comp.Cases 161] (*Nunez*); *Cortez v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd.* (2006) 136 Cal.App.4th 596 [38 Cal. Rptr. 3d 922, 71 Cal.Comp.Cases 155]; *Simi v. Sav-Max Foods, Inc.* (2005) 70 Cal.Comp.Cases 217 (Appeals Board en banc); c.f. *Ward v. City of Desert Hot Springs* (2006) 71 Cal.Comp.Cases 1313 (significant panel decision), 71 Cal.Comp.Cases 1900 (writ den.).) (*Id.* at pp. 9-10.)

The most important aspect of the WCAB's analysis of this issue was that:

The panel's decision in *Tanksley* emphasized that the parties to a claim of injury occurring prior to January 1, 2005 should not be required to obtain a judicial determination as to the date of injury pursuant to section 5412 in order to determine the appropriate procedure by which to obtain medical-legal reporting. (*Ibid.*) Such a holding would be inconsistent with the California Constitutional mandate that the workers' compensation law "shall accomplish substantial justice in all cases expeditiously, inexpensively, and without incumbrance of any character." (Cal.

Const., Article XIV, § 4; see also *Lauter v. Baltimore Ravens* (September 19, 2022, ADJ14657802) [2022 Cal.Wrk Comp. P.D. LEXIS 270]; *Cyburt v. San Francisco Giants* 2023 Cal.Wrk. Comp. P.D. Lexis 340 and also *Hobson v. New York Yankees* 2024 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS _____)(WCAB rescinded WCJ's Findings & Order where the WCJ found applicant did not sustain injury AOE/COE on the basis that the QME medical reporting obtained by the parties was inadmissible since they used the pre-2004 dueling QME reporting system where each party obtained their own QME. The WCAB found that since applicant's claimed date of injury was in 2013 the parties should have followed the SPQME panel process in LC 4062.2. The Board remanded the case back to the trial level for the parties to develop the medical record and obtain medical reporting pursuant to LC 4062.2 since the alleged CT injury occurred on or after January 1, 2005.).

The Board contrary to the WCJ, held that the parties could obtain medical evaluations and reporting consistent with LC 4062 as it existed prior to 2005. For a similar holding see *Piurowski v. Dallas Cowboys; Miami Dolphis; Tampa Bay Bandits et al.*, 2024 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 173 (WCAB panel decision)

Whether the fact a Medical Report does not Constitute Substantial Medical Evidence Automatically Renders it Inadmissible: The WCAB disagreed with the WCJ's ruling that all the medical reports were inadmissible because they were "corrupted by false and inaccurate histories told by the applicant to the doctors" as well as due to "internal inconsistencies and speculative conclusions" by both the defense and applicant's Qualified Medical Examiners. The Board stated that insubstantiality does not automatically result in inadmissibility.

The fact that a medical report may be insubstantial evidence does not make it inadmissible; nor does the fact that a medical report may be substantial make it admissible. Furthermore, the trial record shows that *after* defendants raised the issue of "AMA Guides dates of employment/injuries exposure through 2-22-05 and need for Panel QME evaluations," all the medical and vocational reports presented by applicant, and all the medical reports presented by defendants, were admitted into evidence *without objection*. (Minutes of Hearing, 01/24/19, pp. 4-7.) At minimum, the WCJ's admission of all this evidence into the record and then reversing himself to support rejection of applicant's injury claim, raises significant due process concerns. (*Gangwish v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd.* (2001) 89 Cal.App.4th 1284, 1295 [66 Cal.Comp.Cases 584]; *Rucker v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd.* (2000) 82 Cal.App.4th 151, 157 [65 Cal.Comp.Cases 805]. See also, *Urlwin v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd.* (1981) 126 Cal.App.3d 466 [46 Cal.Comp.Cases 1276].)

Whether the 1997 or 2005 PDRS Applies: At trial applicant contended the 1997 PDRS applied and defendant argued that the 2005 PDRS should apply. For guidance to the WCJ and the parties on remand the WCAB indicated that based on Labor Code 4660(d) neither of the two exceptions listed in subdivision (d) applied. In this situation "section 4660 requires injuries occurring before January 1, 2005 be rated under the 2005 PDRS......"

Remand: On remand the WCAB indicated there appeared to be no good cause for the WCJ to relieve the Parties of their stipulation that applicant sustained a cumulative trauma injury. As a consequence, the WCJ on remand "must address and finally resolve all other issues raised by the

parties." The Board concluded "that the WCJ must revisit this case anew, in light of the outstanding issues" discussed by the Board including development of the record related to medical reporting including authority to appoint "regular physicians" in any appropriate medical specialties.

Editors Comment: While not acknowledged by the WCAB, the Board summarily granted applicant's Petition for Reconsideration in early 2020 for further study and then held on to the case for approximately four years before they issued a decision remanding the case on January 23, 2024 in a posture that calls for possible additional medical reporting and a new trial! To put this in perspective, applicant last played professional football in January of 2005 and filed an application for adjudication on September 11, 2013. From filing of the application to trial decision by way of an F&O issued on January 8, 2020, took approximately 6 years and four months. Add another four years while the Board held on to the case after granting reconsideration for further study without issuing a decision and you have a total of ten years and four months where applicant's case has not resolved.

The case has been remanded back to the trial level for development of the medical and vocational reporting and a new trial. How much additional time will be involved for the additional discovery and a possible new trial and decision is hard to predict but perhaps in the neighborhood of two years! So the parties are looking at a span of approximately twelve plus years until the case may resolve from start to finish. So much for the California Constitutional mandate that the workers' compensation law "shall accomplish substantial justice in all cases expeditiously, inexpensively, and without incumbrance of any character." (Cal. Const., Article XIV, § 4; see also *Lauter v. Baltimore Ravens* (September 19, 2022, ADJ14657802) [2022 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 270]; *Cyburt v. San Francisco Giants* 2023 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 340

<u>Boucher v. Houston Gamblers</u> 2019 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 164 (WCAB panel decision); see also <u>Batten v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd.</u> (2015) 241 Cal.App. 4th 1009; 80 Cal.Comp.Cases 1256 (issue of admissibility of medical reports in a non-lien trial where employee consults with a doctor at his or her expense under LC 4605 or treating physician's reports pursuant to LC 4061(i). with neither section permitting the admission of a report by an expert who is retained solely for the purpose of rebutting the opinion of the panel qualified medical expert's opinion)

Issues and Holding: Whether the WCAB in supplemental lien proceedings could determine whether there was California WCAB subject matter jurisdiction related to a Petition for Determination of a non-IBR Medical-legal Expense Dispute filed by a lien claimant where the WCAB had previously determined in a prior proceeding that under *Federal Insurance Co. v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd. (Johnson)* (2013) 221 Cal.App. 4th 1116, 78 Cal.Comp.Cases 1257 that applicant did not establish a sufficient relationship between his employment in California and his alleged injury to allow the application of California workers' compensation law against the employer as a matter of constitutional due process.

The WCAB in reversing the WCJ, held that the WCAB retained the power to determine the existence of subject matter jurisdiction in supplemental proceedings related to lien claimant's Non-IBR Petition and to award reimbursement to a medical-legal evaluator since the previous determination under *Johnson* was not the equivalent of a finding or determination of a lack of WCAB subject matter jurisdiction. Instead, the question raised by *Johnson* and determined in the

prior proceeding was not a finding of a lack of subject matter jurisdiction but rather a separate finding all together as to whether under *Johnson* the WCAB based solely on due process grounds had a legitimate interest in the injury that supports the application of state law against the defendant. Both issues are separate and distinct. There was never a finding in the prior proceedings that the WCAB lacked subject matter jurisdiction over applicant's claim.

Procedural & Factual Overview: Applicant was employed by the Houston Gamblers for the period of November 28, 1982 to November 8, 1987. In conjunction with his claim applicant selected Dr. Jay as a QME in internal medicine. Dr. Jay produced numerous reports over a number of years as well as a report requested by the WCJ to develop the record on the issue of apportionment. On December 30, 2016, the WCJ found applicant sustained injury to multiple body parts causing 91% PD. The WCJ determined that applicant's contacts with California were not de minimis under *Johnson* allowing the WCAB to assert subject matter jurisdiction.

Defendant filed a Petition for Reconsideration that was granted by the WCAB who reversed the WCJ and found applicant did not establish a sufficient relationship between his employment in California and his alleged injury to allow the application of California workers' compensation law against the employer as a matter of constitutional due process consistent with *Johnson*.

In subsequent supplemental lien proceedings, the QME Dr. Jay filed a Petition for Determination of non-IBR Medical-Legal Expense Dispute. The WCJ issued a Findings and Order on April 12, 2018 denying the Petition on the basis the "Court lacks subject matter jurisdiction over the case prevents the Court from making an award against defendant or having jurisdiction over applicant's Petition......" In support of his decision the WCJ cited the case of *Williams v. San Francisco 49ers* 2012 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 323. The QME filed a Petition for Reconsideration that was granted by the WCAB who reversed the WCJ.

Discussion: In reversing the WCJ and remanding the case back to the trial level for further proceedings the WCAB held that its prior determination under *Johnson* that California from a due process standpoint did not have a legitimate interest in applicant's alleged injury is not the equivalent of a finding of a lack of subject matter jurisdiction. Both questions and issues are separate and distinct. As to this issue the WCAB stated:

However, in this case, as discussed in the March 22, 2017 Opinion and Order Granting Defendant's Petition for Reconsideration and Decision after Reconsideration, the Appeals Board found that California lacked sufficient interest in applicant's claimed injury to require defendant to litigate it in this state as a matter of due process. The question raised by *Johnson* is not whether the WCAB has subject matter jurisdiction over the claim. The question raised by *Johnson* is whether the state has "a legitimate interest in the injury that supports the application of state law against the defendant." Contrary to the WCJ's analysis in his report, the Appeals Board did not find that it lacked subject matter jurisdiction. Therefore the WCJ can still exercise jurisdiction to award reimbursement to a medical-legal evaluator.

The WCAB also found that the WCJ's reliance on the *Williams* case was not warranted since it was clearly distinguishable since the 49ers did not dispute subject matter jurisdiction and the WCAB never determined whether it had jurisdiction over the two other non-California teams. All

the *Williams* case stands for is that the WCAB could not award medical-legal costs if the WCAB lacked subject matter jurisdiction.

Unlike *Williams* in the instant case the WCAB did not find that the WCAB lacked subject matter jurisdiction to adjudicate applicant's claim. Furthermore, with respect to any supplemental pleadings on remand, "the WCJ and the WCAB may consider medical-legal evidence in determining whether California has a sufficient interest in the claimed injury to support the application of California law against a particular defendant. "Accordingly, the WCAB has jurisdiction to award reimbursement of medical-legal expenses and we will return this matter to the trial level for the WCJ to adjudicate the petition."

<u>Burnett v. Anaheim Ducks Hockey Club, et al.</u> (October 7, 2015; (AHM 0152213); ADJ4558864) (trial level decision Findings, Award and Orders).

Holding: All of applicant's treating physicians' reports were excluded on the basis they violated Labor Code §4062.2 since they were obtained primarily as medical-legal opinions and were disguised as treating physician reports.

Case Summary: The trial judge found jurisdiction and 68% permanent disability after significant nonindustrial apportionment. However, the WCJ also excluded all of the reports of applicant's multiple treating physicians.

In excluding the reports, the WCJ emphasized a number of factors. First, the distance applicant had to travel for the multiple evaluations. Second, the fact that all four specialists evaluated applicant on the same day (which suggests that all of the evaluations were scheduled in advance), before the "primary" treating physician could even determine whether other evaluations were necessary. Third, the fact applicant only saw each physician one time.

In excluding the reports, the judge stated, "The court believes it is more likely than not that the evaluations were scheduled in order to obtain medical-legal opinions regarding the various injuries alleged by applicant rather than actual medical treatment many years after applicant stopped playing."

Discussion: In many sports cases even when the applicant resides out-of-state they usually have a regular treating physician or physicians in their home state and are covered by insurance. Some applicants' attorneys will bring the applicant out to California and schedule multiple "treating evaluations" on the same day, as was done in this case. Based on the particular facts in this case and similar cases, the reports generated from these "treating physicians" are really medical-legal reports being disguised as treating physician reports. Frequently, three or four examinations are scheduled on the same day with no initial examination by a purported primary treating physician, who in normal circumstances would make referrals out to other medical specialties. To the author this appears to be a clear abuse of the system and it needs to be monitored carefully by the WCAB.

<u>Ransom v. Jacksonville Jaguars</u> 2013 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 122 (WCAB panel decision)

Holding: A defendant is not liable and cannot be ordered to pay medical-legal expenses including diagnostic testing until there is a determination of whether there is California subject matter jurisdiction over the particular defendant.

Factual and Procedural Background: During the course of litigation, defendant the Jaguars were named by applicant on a request for a selection of a SPQME evaluator in orthopedics. The SPQME in his initial report indicated that in order for him to complete his evaluation certain diagnostic testing was required. The applicant lived in Ohio and some of the recommended diagnostic testing was to be done in Ohio. However, the Ohio facility that was to perform the diagnostic testing indicated by the SPQME in orthopedics, refused to proceed with the diagnostic testing unless payment was assured and guaranteed before diagnostic testing was initiated. The Jaguars refused to pre-authorize the diagnostic tests recommended by the SPQME. Applicant in turn filed a Declaration of Readiness to Proceed seeking an order to compel the Jaguars to preauthorize the diagnostic tests recommended by the SPQME. Following trial, the WCJ issued an order requiring the Jaguars to pay for medical-legal expenses including the recommended diagnostic testing pending a determination on the issue of whether there was California subject matter jurisdiction. Predictably, the Jaguars filed a Petition for Reconsideration which was granted by the WCAB who in turn rescinded the WCJ's order. The WCAB indicated the Jaguars were entitled to a hearing on the issue of California subject matter jurisdiction before they could be ordered or compelled to pay for or authorize medical-legal expenses including diagnostic testing.

Discussion: From a procedural standpoint, the WCAB indicated the proper remedy for defendant was to file a Petition for Reconsideration, as opposed to removal, since the finding that a party is liable for payment of certain expenses, including expenses not yet incurred, constitutes a final order since the consequence of the failure of a defendant to seek reconsideration would preclude them from contesting its liability for the expense in future proceedings.

In this case the Jaguars argued on reconsideration that California subject matter jurisdiction was seriously in doubt since applicant did not play a single game in California while playing for the Jaguars. Therefore, they argued they should not be liable for payment of any medical-legal costs, including diagnostic testing, before a determination of the threshold issue as to whether or not applicant had any injurious exposure in California that contributed to his alleged cumulative trauma injury.

The Board held that in a situation where defendant from the outset of the case has raised the issue of subject matter jurisdiction they should not be held liable to pay lien claims including medicallegal costs in advance. "The issue of jurisdiction should be determined prior to concluding defendant is liable for payment."

Practice Pointer: This is a significant case post *McKinley* in which the WCAB indicated that in a number of situations, including the scenario in this case, a defendant should be entitled to a bifurcated hearing/trial on the issue of California subject matter jurisdiction. While the Board indicated that if the case could not proceed without payment of medical-legal expenses the judge

may issue an award against another defendant which would then be subject to contribution in later proceedings. However, it is assumed the WCAB meant that in a situation where none of the multiple co-defendants were arguably subject to California subject matter jurisdiction then there should be a bifurcated/expedited hearing on the threshold issue of subject matter jurisdiction.

<u>Williams v. San Francisco 49ers, Miami Dolphins, and Green Bay Packers</u> 2012 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 323 (WCAB panel decision)

Issue: The affirmative defenses of statute of limitations and lack of subject matter jurisdiction may not shield defendants from liability for medical-legal expenses reasonably and necessarily incurred to prove a contested claim.

Case Summary: Applicant was employed by three professional NFL teams, the San Francisco 49ers, the Miami Dolphins, and the Green Bay Packers. He filed an Application for Adjudication alleging a cumulative trauma injury and thirteen specific injuries. Applicant filed a Declaration of Readiness to Proceed seeking a Mandatory Settlement Conference on the issue of unpaid medical-legal expenses. At the trial on this issue all three teams asserted the affirmative defense of statute of limitations and the Green Bay Packers, and the Miami Dolphins also asserted the affirmative defense of lack of California subject matter jurisdiction. Following trial, the WCJ declined to order payment of medical-legal expenses by any defendant. Applicant filed a Petition for Removal which was granted by the WCAB who in turn rescinded the WCJ's order denying payment of any outstanding medical-legal costs.

Discussion: In reversing the WCJ, the WCAB focused on Labor Code section 4621(a) and numerous cases in interpreting and applying that section. The WCAB also noted there was no dispute that the applicant was an employee of all three NFL teams. In essence, the WCAB indicated that Labor Code section 4621(a) and a long line of cases hold that a claimant, whether successful or not, is entitled to be reimbursed for medical-legal expenses reasonably and necessarily incurred. They noted the only general exception is where employee fraud is established, and in such a case an award of medical-legal costs may be denied. The WCAB noted that even if one or more of the defendants established an affirmative defense of statute of limitations, applicant would be entitled to reimbursement of medical-legal expenses reasonably, actually, and necessarily incurred provided the WCAB has subject matter jurisdiction against the various individual defendants. As a consequence, the 49ers were ordered to pay the outstanding medical-legal costs since there was undisputed California subject matter jurisdiction over them.

Practice Pointer: This case appears to make a distinction between the affirmative defense of statute of limitations as opposed to subject matter jurisdiction and whether medical-legal costs are reimbursable. The Board indicated that even if one or more of the defendants was successful in establishing the affirmative defense of statute of limitations there would still be liability for reimbursement of medical-legal expenses reasonably and necessarily incurred. However, the WCAB implied the same would not be true if there was a lack of WCAB subject matter jurisdiction. (See, *Ransom v. Jacksonville Jaguars* 2013 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 122 (WCAB panel decision) California subject matter jurisdiction must be determined first before subjecting a defendant to payment of medical-legal costs.) The WCAB ordered defendant the San Francisco 49ers, over which there was no dispute as to California subject matter jurisdiction, to

immediately reimburse applicant for medical-legal expenses reasonably, actually, and necessarily incurred to be later adjusted by the parties with jurisdiction reserved. However, the question remains as to whether the 49ers could ever be successful in recovering medical-legal costs in any contribution proceedings absent California subject matter jurisdiction over the Packers and Dolphins.

13. Bifurcated Trials for Dispositive Issues

Ortega v. Hinas Mercy Southwest Pharmacy, State Farm & Casualty Company) 2013 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 335 (WCAB panel decision)

Issues: Whether a party upon a showing of good cause may obtain a bifurcated trial on dispositive/threshold issues such as subject matter jurisdiction and statute of limitations.

Procedural and Factual Overview: Three separate cases were set before the WCJ. State Farm one of the defendants, requested a bifurcated hearing/trial on the sole issue of whether applicant's application/claim for a specific injury of April 17, 2007 was barred by the statute of limitations.

Applicant suffered an admitted April 17, 2007, psychiatric injury related to a robbery. Defendant provided treatment and then approximately 2½ years later notified applicant they were closing her file. Applicant first filed an Application for Adjudication of Claim related to the April 17, 2007, injury on August 29, 2012, which was more than one year from the date of the notice from defendant they were closing their file and more than five years from the date of injury. Based on these facts, State Farm requested a bifurcated trial on their case related to the statute of limitations issue. This request was denied by the WCJ and the matter taken off calendar. Defendant then filed a timely Petition for Removal which was granted by the WCAB.

Discussion: The WCAB granted defendant's Petition for Removal ordering the case to be set for a Mandatory Settlement Conference followed by a bifurcated trial on the issue of statute of limitations. The WCAB noted that WCAB rule 10560 provides that generally parties are expected to submit all matters at a single trial including multiple cases. "However, a Workers' Compensation Judge may order that the issues in a case be bifurcated and tried separately upon a showing of good cause." The WCAB without addressing whether or not the statute of limitations is a "threshold issue" held State Farm had shown good cause to bifurcate this issue due to the fact the disposition of the statute of limitations defense would avoid litigation expenses and the parties in the other two cases would not be required to prepare for litigation of this case in conjunction with the remaining cases.

Comment: Former WCAB rule CCR 10560 now CCR 10787 (a) provides that a party upon a showing of good cause is entitled to a bifurcated hearing or trial. This is especially true with respect to any critical threshold or dispositive issue such as the statute of limitations or subject matter jurisdiction. Without the ability for a party to obtain a bifurcated trial on a critical threshold issue such as subject matter jurisdiction or statute of limitations, they would be exposed unreasonably and unnecessarily to litigation costs and medical/legal costs which they would otherwise, be able to avoid altogether if they prevailed at a bifurcated hearing. It is incumbent upon any party seeking

a bifurcated trial to file a detailed petition or points and authorities establishing a good cause for a bifurcated hearing. (See also: *Ware v. Arizona Cardinals Football Club* 2023 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. 67 (WCAB Panel Decision) (WCAB grants defense removal and rescinds WCJ's decision to set case for an MSC on all issues and returns the case to the WCJ to set the case for a bifurcated trial on both subject matter and personal jurisdiction). *Ransom v. Jacksonville Jaguars* 2013 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 122 (WCAB Panel Decision) and also supporting language in *Federal Insurance Company v. WCAB (Johnson)*. See also *Banks v. Cincinnati Bengals* 2017 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 1 (WCAB panel decision). Bifurcated trial on issue of statute of limitations defense.

14. Dismissals, Joinder & Rejoinder

<u>Mickens v. Cleveland Browns; New England Patriots et al.</u>, 2023 Cal.Wrk.Comp. LEXIS 102 (WCAB panel decision)

Issues and Holding: Whether the WCJ's rejoinder of two defendants the Cleveland Browns and the New England Patriots by a Minute Order who were previously dismissed with prejudice without affording the parties an opportunity to be heard violated the defendant's due process rights to be heard.

Holding: The WCAB rescinded the WCJ's order rejoining the Browns and Patriots and returned the matter to the trial level for further proceedings. The WCAB determined that the WCJ's rejoinder of the two defendants without allowing them a chance to specially appear to contest the joinder violated the parties" due process rights to be heard prior to their rejoinder after having been previously dismissed with prejudice.

Factual & Procedural Overview: Applicant filed an Application for Adjudication alleging a cumulative trauma claim during the period of 1996 to 2007, while employed by the Browns, the Patriots, and the New York Jets. Applicant agreed, based on out-of-state litigation involving the NFL Management Council and the NFL Players Association to a dismissal of the Browns and the Patriots with prejudice. Consequently, an Order of Dismissal of the Browns and the Patriots issued.

In October 2018, the applicant's claim against the one remaining defendant the Jets was scheduled to go forward. After a discussion between the WCJ and the parties, the WCJ determined the Browns and the Patriots were necessary parties and issued a Minute Order rejoining the Browns and the Patriots pursuant to LC section 5307.5(b) notwithstanding the prior order of dismissal with prejudice dismissing the Browns and the Patriots.

The Browns and the Patriots filed a Petition for Reconsideration and/or Removal seeking review of the Minute Order issued on October 17, 2018, rejoining them as necessary parties to the claim.

The WCAB's Decision: In terms of whether an appeal of the WCJ's order should have been by way of a Petition for Removal or Reconsideration, the Board characterized the WCJ's Minute Order rejoining the Browns and the Patriots as not a final order since it did not determine "any substantive right or liability, nor is it a threshold issue that is fundamental to the claim for benefits."

As a consequence the WCAB considered defendant's combination/joint petition labeled a "Petition for Reconsideration and/or Removal," as a Petition for Removal.

The WCAB restated the standards governing removals and the showing required for this "extraordinary remedy". Petitioner must show substantial prejudice or irreparable harm will result if removal is not granted. In addition, a petitioner must demonstrate that reconsideration will not be an adequate remedy if a final decision adverse to the petitioner ultimately issues.

Due Process and Decisions and Orders to Rejoin Parties Previously Dismissed with Prejudice: At the outset, the Board stated that "[a]ny decision to rejoin parties previously dismissed with prejudice should be based upon an adequate record after providing the parties an opportunity to be heard, in the same manner as any other order touching on the parties due process rights." (citations omitted). This is true even though a WCJ has broad powers to joint interested parties to a case. Failure to object to joinder (and one can assume rejoinder) in a timely manner ordinarily waives any later objection to the propriety of joining the party to the case. (*Superior Care Facilities v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd.* (1994) 27 Cal.App.4th 1015, 1023.)

Dismissals With Prejudice of Parties, Portions of a Claim, and an Entire Claim-Important Distinctions: The effect of a dismissal with prejudice which is the modern name for a common law retraxit which operates to bar any future action on the same subject matter. As a consequence, "the doctrine of res judicata bars further litigation of issues after a voluntary dismissal with prejudice to the same extent it does after a judgment on the merits." (citations omitted)

"Res judicata precludes further litigation of issues when the same issue has already been litigated and finally decided in a case involving the same parties. (*Pac. Coast Medical Enters. v. Dep't of Benefit Payments* (1983) 140 Cal.App.3d 197, 214, *quoting Henn v. Henn* (1980) 26 Cal.3d 323, 329-330.) However, since res judicata is not jurisdictional it may be waived if not timely and properly raised by pleading or evidence. (*Busick v. Workmen's Comp. Appeals Bd.* (1972) 7 Cal.3d 967, 977.)

Dismissal of Entire Action or Claim: The WCAB stressed the importance of distinguishing the effect of a voluntary dismissal of an entire action as opposed to dismissal of a party or parties to an action or claim. "A voluntary dismissal of an an entire action deprives the court of **both** subject matter jurisdiction and personal jurisdiction. (emphasis added, citation omitted). Thus, "an order issued after voluntary dismissal of an entire action is void on its face for lack of subject matter jurisdiction, and may be set aside at any time; the doctrine of waiver does not apply." (See *Harris v. Billings* (1993) 16 Cal.App.4th 1396, 1405.)

Dismissal of a Portion of a Claim or Lawsuit: In situations where the dismissal relates only to a portion of lawsuit or some but not all parties to a claim as opposed to dismissal of an entire claim or case operates to deprive the court **only** personal jurisdiction over the dismissed party or parties with the Court retaining subject matter jurisdiction over the case/claim. (*Casa de Valley View Owner's Assn. v. Stevenson* (1985) 167 Cal.App.3d 1182, 1192.)

The Board noted that personal jurisdiction unlike subject matter jurisdiction "can be waived by a further appearance in the case without objection, when a party is no longer before the court due to a dismissal but further action is taken against that party by the court without objection, the court's action is not void for lack of subject matter jurisdiction." (See *Ibid*.)

The Due Process Aspect: The WCAB reiterated that the Browns and the Patriots had been "voluntarily dismissed with prejudice based upon the stipulation of the parties. These dismissals preclude further litigation against defendants pursuant to the doctrine of res judicata, to the same extent as if the case had been finally litigated and decided in defendants' favor."

From a due process standpoint "....instead of providing the effected parties the opportunity to be heard, the WCJ simply rejoined them, without allowing them the chance specially (sic) appear to contest the joinder. Under the circumstances, we believe this course of action violated the parties' due process rights to be heard prior to having such action taken against them." As a consequence, the Board rescinded the WCJ's Order rejoining both defendants and returned the matter to the WCJ for further proceedings consistent with their opinion.

Editor's Comment and Practice Pointer: A significant number of sports claims that are filed before the WCAB involve multiple defendants. This is attributable to a variety of factors, such as the arbitration and Federal Court decisions related to litigation between the NFL Management Council and the NFL Players Association as in the instant case, as well as coverage and a variety of other issues. As a consequence, WCJ's handling sports cases routinely issue a disproportionately larger number of dismissals of a party or parties with and without prejudice when compared to non-sports cases.

The main practice point to take away from this case as well as an earlier WCAB panel decision in this Outline, *Noble v. Washington Redskins; Dallas Cowboys; San Francisco 49ers et. al.*, 2018 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 631) (WCAB panel decision) relates specifically to dismissals with prejudice of a party or parties to a claim versus dismissal of the entire claim. There may be a temptation or inclination for a party who has been dismissed with prejudice from a claim to simply ignore any Notice of Intention, actual Order of rejoinder, or petitions for joinder or rejoinder they receive under the mistaken impression the WCAB no longer has any jurisdiction over them. However, ignoring any orders, proposed orders, and pleadings such as petitions to rejoin or joinder may prove to be a fatal procedural mistake.

As reflected in the instant case as well as *Noble*, dismissal of a party or party with prejudice only deprives the WCAB of personal jurisdiction over the dismissed party or parties. The WCAB still retains subject matter jurisdiction over the claim. As stressed in these cases, since personal jurisdiction unlike subject matter jurisdiction is waivable, a party dismissed with prejudice should always object by way of a special appearance to the joinder or rejoinder by way of a verified petition or other appropriate pleading.

What cannot be stressed enough is that in these situations, any appearance by way of pleading or in person before the WCAB must be made by way of special appearance. Making a general appearance by a party where the entire claim has not been dismissed after having been previously dismissed with prejudice may be treated as a waiver of the WCAB's lack of personal jurisdiction over that party or parties and they would be back in the case!

The other procedural practice pointe is that any objection to joinder or rejoinder of by a party previously dismissed with prejudice should be done as soon as possible. Failure to object to joinder or rejoinder in a timely manner ordinarily constitutes a waiver to any later objection to the propriety of joining or rejoining a party to a case.

Noble v. Washington Redskins; Dallas Cowboys; San Francisco 49ers et. al., 2018 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 631) (WCAB panel decision)

Issue and Holding: Whether the Redskins untimely objection to an Order of Rejoinder after a prior dismissal by way of an Order of Dismissal with Prejudice constituted waiver. The WCAB overruled the WCJ and held that the Redskins untimely objection and other actions served to waive their objection to the Order of Rejoinder even when there had been a prior order dismissing them as a party in the case with prejudice.

Factual and Procedural Overview: Applicant's last employer was the Redskins. He also had significant periods of employment with the Cowboys and the 49ers. On 8/20/14, applicant's attorney filed a Petition for Dismissal of the Redskins. It appears the basis for the dismissal was an arbitration award. The Order of Dismissal of the Redskins with prejudice was issued by the Presiding Judge on 9/10/14. There is nothing in the record that applicant's counsel ever filed and served a verified Petition to Rejoin the Redskins. On 3/13/17 a WCJ issued an Order rejoining the Redskins even in the face of the prior 9/10/14 Order of Dismissal with Prejudice. A hearing was scheduled on 5/19/17. The Redskins made no appearance. Another hearing was scheduled on 7/25/17 at which the Redskins appeared for the first time. At the 7/25/17 hearing, counsel for the Redskins made a general appearance and also made no objection to the Order of Rejoinder.

The first time the Redskins objected to rejoinder as a party was in a joint pre-trial conference statement dated 10/19/17. The matter was then set for trial which took place over two days on 12/14/17 and 2/22/18. Applicant testified at both trials. As indicated by the WCAB "The issues of the prior dismissal of the Redskins and the arbitration were raised in post-trial briefing. The Redskins' brief argues that it could not have been validly rejoined to the case because it had been previously dismissed with prejudice. The brief does not explain why the Redskins neglected to raise the issue until trial, approximately 8 months after the Order rejoining them. The brief also argues that applicant should be precluded from bringing his claim in California based upon the arbitration agreement."

The WCJ issued a Findings and Order dismissing the Redskins with prejudice based on no good cause being established by applicant to reverse or overturn the Prior Order of Dismissal with Prejudice of the Redskins on 9/10/14. The WCJ also issued a take nothing on the basis there was no other defendant liable for applicant's injuries pursuant to 5500.5. AA filed a Petition for Reconsideration which was granted by the WCAB. The WCAB reversed the WCJ's decision and found that the Redskins had waived any valid objection to the Order of Rejoinder by not objecting in a timely manner.

The WCAB's Decision: The WCAB initially discussed that a WCJ has broad powers to join interested parties per LC 5703.5(b). They also set forth a general discussion of the law related to dismissals with prejudice. The first defense to an order of rejoinder is the doctrine of res judicata. However, the Board also stressed that the defense and doctrine of "res judicata is not jurisdictional and is subject to waiver if not properly raised by pleading or evidence."

More importantly, the WCAB pointed out the significant difference between a dismissal of an entire action or case versus dismissal of just a party to the action. "A voluntary dismissal of an

entire action deprives the court of subject matter jurisdiction as well as personal jurisdiction of the parties." Subject matter jurisdiction over the dispute as opposed to personal jurisdiction "cannot be conferred by consent, waiver, or estoppel...." Any "order issued after voluntary dismissal of an entire action is void on its face for lack of subject matter jurisdiction, and may be set aside at any time, the doctrine of waiver does not apply."

However, when only a portion of an action or case is dismissed or a party is dismissed as opposed to the entire case or action, the Court is only deprived of personal jurisdiction and still has subject matter jurisdiction over the case. **Personal jurisdiction is subject to waiver** such as by a further appearance on the case without objection. The Board noted that the Redskins could have easily objected to their rejoinder to the case after receipt of the rejoinder order dated 3/3/17 based on the prior dismissal with prejudice. They failed to do so. They did not object until 10/9/17. There was no explanation why defendant waited almost seven months to assert an objection, nor did they explain their failure to timely object in their Answer to applicant's Petition for Reconsideration.

The WCAB stated that the key question was whether the Redskin's objection to rejoinder was subject to waiver. The Board held that it was subject to waiver based on the fact only a party was dismissed and not the entire action or case by the prior Order of Dismissal with Prejudice issued on 9/10/14. The court still retains subject matter jurisdiction under these circumstances since the order rejoining the Redskins while "presumably erroneous in light of the dismissal with prejudice, was not void on its face for want of subject matter jurisdiction."

By failing to timely object to the rejoinder order of 3/13/17, and raising that issue at the first opportunity, the Redskins waived the issue. The WCAB said the last opportunity the Redskins had to object was at the 7/25/17 hearing when they first appeared on the case subsequent to their rejoinder by the order dated 3/13/17. The Redskins did not object at that time and also made a general appearance. "Instead, they merely requested time to get back up to speed on the case after rejoinder, implying some level of acquiescence or at the very least no objection."

The Redskins also belatedly raised the issue of their being rejoined to the case without AA filing a Petition and without being afforded a hearing on the issue. The WCAB said this may have been a valid objection if it had been timely raised or asserted, but it was not raised by the Redskins until 10/19/17. To compound matters even further, while this issue was listed on the PTCS, it was not listed in the Minutes of Hearing and Summary of Evidence or in the Redskin's post-trial brief. The Board found that under these facts the Redskins waived this issue also.

Editor's Comment and suggested practice pointers: If there is an attempt to rejoin any party defendant that has been previously dismissed with prejudice, the involved named party must immediately file and serve a verified written objection in the form of a pleading. It is suggested that the pleading be entitled "Objection to Rejoinder after Prior Order of Dismissal with Prejudice." The verified objection must also expressly indicate that a "special appearance" is being made to object to the rejoinder.

Failure to make a special appearance via pleadings or at any appearance on the case may constitute waiver in and of itself.

A party may receive notice of the attempted rejoinder by various methods such as via Petition, letter, Notice of Intention from a WCJ, or an actual Order of Rejoinder issued by a WCJ. If the Petition seeking rejoinder is not verified, this can also be a separate basis to object to rejoinder.

In drafting an "Objection to Rejoinder after Previous Order of Dismissal with Prejudice" consider the following guide:

- 1. The objection pleading must be verified. Attach and prepare verification.
- 2. Make sure your Objection pleading is based upon, but not limited to the following grounds:
 - A. The prior Order of Dismissal With Prejudice is res judicata and bars any rejoinder.
 - B. If there is a final Order of Dismissal With Prejudice there is a lack of WCAB personal jurisdiction to rejoin the dismissed party.
 - C. Make sure that in your pleading that you expressly indicate and include the wording that you are making a "Special Appearance" to object to rejoinder under the case title and again in the body of the pleading.
 - D. If an Arbitration Award or agreement is one basis for seeking rejoinder, you should attach to your objection a copy of any favorable arbitration award or agreement and other related documents and request judicial notice.
 - E. If the Petition for Rejoinder is not verified, also include that as an independent ground to object to rejoinder.

If any appearance is necessary, you must expressly indicate in the Minutes of Hearing that defendant is making a "special appearance" contesting the personal jurisdiction of the WCAB to set aside the prior final Order of Dismissal With Prejudice.

In light of *Noble*, a party that has been previously dismissed with prejudice can no longer simply assume that an Order of Dismissal with Prejudice that relates only to an individual party as opposed to the entire action or entire case is not subject to challenge or an attempt to set it aside for alleged good cause. In order to avoid any issue of waiver, the party subjected to the rejoinder action must act **immediately** to oppose any attempt to rejoin any party defendant that has been previously dismissed with prejudice.

<u>Booty v. New York Giants</u> 2014 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 167 (WCAB panel decision)

Issue: Whether it was improper for a WCJ to dismiss a co-defendant with prejudice even though there was no objection when there had been no Compromise and Release entered into between the applicant and the dismissed co-defendant.

Holding: Since there had been no Compromise and Release entered into between the co-defendant that had been dismissed with prejudice and the applicant, it was error on the part of the WCJ to prematurely dismiss the co-defendant since there were still triable issues including potential contribution rights among one or more remaining non-dismissed co-defendants.

Factual & Procedural Overview: The applicant filed a cumulative trauma claim against a number of teams and their carriers including the New York Giants, Arizona Cardinals, New York Jets, and the Philadelphia Eagles. In 2011, applicant entered into a proposed Compromise and Release agreement with the Arizona Cardinals and their carrier. However, within a short period of time, the assigned WCJ issued an order suspending action on the proposed Compromise and Release based on a lack of medical reports being filed with the WCAB. The WCJ's order suspending action was maintained at a hearing in the same month. The WCJ indicated she would not approve the proposed Compromise and Release between the applicant and the Arizona Cardinals since there was lack of information to explain the partial settlement involving only one defendant. However, the WCJ dismissed one of the four co-defendants, the Philadelphia Eagles and their carriers based on a joint request by applicant and the Eagles in 2012. No other co-defendant objected to the dismissal.

In late 2013, applicant filed a Petition to Dismiss the Arizona Cardinals and their carrier with prejudice. The Petition was served on all parties of record including co-defendant the New York Giants. The Giants along with the other remaining co-defendants did not object to the dismissal of the Arizona Cardinals. A newly assigned WCJ issued an order dismissing the Arizona Cardinals and their carrier with prejudice. That order was issued on January 12, 2014. There was a hearing scheduled three days later on January 16, 2014, were the parties who appeared learned of the Order of Dismissal with Prejudice had already issued and the case was taken off calendar. Although counsel for the New York Giants was present there was no objection interposed at the hearing to the dismissal of the Arizona Cardinals with prejudice. However, shortly thereafter, co-defendant the New York Giants filed a Petition for Reconsideration indicating the WCJ had erred in dismissing the Arizona Cardinals with prejudice.

In her report on reconsideration the WCJ recommended that reconsideration be denied since the Giants did not timely object to applicant's request to dismiss the Cardinals and its carrier and fact failed to object timely on two occasions. The primary argument raised by co-defendant the New York Giants, was that since no Compromise and Release had been approved between applicant and the Arizona Cardinals, there were still triable issues including dates of injurious exposure and potential contribution.

The WCAB granted the Giants' Petition for Reconsideration and while indicating the WCJ was correct in issuing the Dismissal, the Order of Dismissal should have been without prejudice as opposed to with prejudice.

The WCAB was careful to distinguish a scenario or situation where there was an approved Compromise and Release agreement between the applicant and the Cardinals, and it's insured in which case a dismissal with prejudice may have been appropriate. However, in the instant case, there was no Compromise and Release between the Cardinals and the applicant and therefore, there were still potential issues related to the contribution rights of at least one of the remaining

co-defendants the New York Giants under Labor Code §5500.5. The potential right of contribution would have been significantly impaired by a dismissal with prejudice. (See also, *Rutledge v. New York Giants* 2013 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 581 (WCAB panel decision) ("informal" dismissal of co-defendants did not bar later re-joinder when there was never a "formal" order of dismissal.)

Editor's Comment: Even in situations where a defendant has been dismissed without prejudice and there is a subsequent attempt to rejoin that defendant back into the case, due process requires notice and an opportunity to be heard before an Order of Rejoinder is issued. Metzger v. Atlanta Braves et. al., 2023 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS _____ (WCAB panel decision) involves a due process notice issue where defendant the New York Mets previously dismissed from a case without prejudice were rejoined 3 years later. The WCJ without setting the case for hearing or issuing a Notice of Intention to rejoin the Mets previously dismissed without prejudice simply issued an order rejoining the Mets fifteen days after the filing of a petition for joinder without first issuing a Notice of Intention (NOI) under CCR 10832 or alternatively setting the matter for hearing. The WCAB granted the defense petition for reconsideration holding the WCJ should have either set the case for hearing or alternatively issued a NOI to rejoin the Mets before actually rejoining them. "Accordingly, any decision to rejoin parties previously dismissed should be based upon an adequate record after providing the parties an opportunity to be heard, in the same manner as any other order touching on the parties' due process rights. (Lab. Code § 5313; Cal. Code Regs., tit. 8, § 10382; Hamilton v. Lockheed Corporation (Hamilton) (2001) 66 Cal.Comp.Cases 473, 476 (Appeals Board en banc), citing Evans v. Workmen's Comp. Appeals Bd. (1968) 68 Cal.2d 753, 755 [33 Cal.Comp.Cases 350, 351].)"

15. Employment Issues

Gray v. Arena Football League, San Jose SaberCats, Zurich American Insurance, Uninsured Employer Benefits Trust Fund. 2018 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 378 (WCAB panel decision)

Issues & Holding: Both the WCJ and WCAB found that applicant a professional football player who suffered an admitted left knee injury on April 24, 2015, was jointly employed by the San Jose SaberCats (SaberCats) who were insured by Zurich American Insurance company and the Arena Football League (Arena) who were uninsured for workers' compensation purposes for the 2015 season.

Based on the record as a whole, the evidence established both the SaberCats and Arena were engaged in a joint enterprise for the benefit of both based on their operating and employment agreements. The WCAB's finding of joint employment resulted in joint and several liability. The SaberCats, who were the only insured entity, filed a Petition for Reconsideration arguing that applicant was solely employed by Arena on the date of injury and that the head coach who supervised the applicant was an employee of Arena only assigned to the SaberCats.

Factual Overview and Discussion: The only issue at trial was employment. Arena the uninsured entity admitted the injury but denied employment. It was undisputed that applicant was an employee of Arena as evidenced by his employment agreements with Arena as well as the fact that

payroll checks and tax documents were issued to him by Arena. However, the fact applicant's pay checks were issued by Arena is only one factor to consider and is not determinative of the issue of employment.

The WCAB noted that ".....the fact that applicant was an employee of Arena on the date of injury does not end the inquiry because the possibility of joint and dual employment is well recognized in the law." (Kowalski v. Shell Oil Company (1979) 23 Cal.3d 168, 44 Cal.Comp.Cases134; Miller v. Long Beach Oil Dev. Co. (1959) 167 Cal.App.2d 546, 549, 24 Cal.Comp.Cases 77 ["Where an employer sends an employee to do work for another person, and both have the right to exercise certain powers of control over the employee, that employee may be held to have two employershis original or "general" employer and a second, the "special employer"].)

The WCAB noted that both the operating and employment agreements between Arena and the SaberCats clearly established they were engaged in a joint enterprise. Applicant's activities while playing in games as well as other special events and functions benefited both entities. Applicant was identified by San Jose as its representative at games and at the numerous special events it hosted where applicant wore the team's Jersey and interacted with fans. In addition, the team provided the SaberCats players with equipment and uniforms, arranged for their medical treatment, and provided them with housing, the practice field, the venue for home games and special events, and travel for away games.

The WCAB and WCJ found that applicant's trial testimony that he understood the SaberCats to be his employer was objectively reasonable because it acted and operated as his employer. He testified he entered into a contract with the Arena Football league and was paid solely by the league and not the team. He also testified that each year he signed a player contract with the league through the coaches of each team. However, player schedules and day-to-day activities were managed by the team coaches. He also believed he was employed by the SaberCats because that was the team he played for. At various events applicant promoted the SaberCats and not the league. His jerseys had both the league and SaberCats but the SaberCats logo was larger and more prominent. More importantly, players were instructed to report to the team trainer and also to seek treatment with the SaberCats team doctor. The team doctor treated him for his work injury.

The fact applicant was paid by Arena was not dispositive and controlling. In that regard the WCAB stated:

Joint employment occurs when there is a joint hiring, two employers engage in a joint enterprise for their mutual benefits, and the employee engages in common work for both employers at the time of the injury. Again, the fact that the employee receives his entire salary from one employer nor the fact that only one employer pays workers compensation premium on an employee's salary will preclude a finding that the employee has more than one employer. *National Automobile and Casualty Insurance Co. v. IAC* (1947) 12 Cal.Comp.Cases 150.

16. Reimbursement Issues

Stabler v. KS Adams, dba Houston Oilers; New Orleans Louisiana Saints; Travelers Indemnity Company 2022 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 129 (WCAB panel decision)

Issues/Holding: Whether the New Orleans Saints (Saints) were illegally uninsured during applicant's last year of injurious exposure due to a lack of workers' compensation insurance coverage based on a failure to secure coverage with an insurer licensed to write workers' compensation in California combined with coverage under an insurance agreement in which an "All States Endorsement" that provided the carrier to reimburse the employer for liability imposed under the compensation laws of states other than Louisiana but did not require the carrier to directly pay benefits to California applicants.

The WCAB, in reversing the WCJ in part held that the Saints were illegally uninsured since they did not secure payment of workers' compensation insurance by an insurer licensed to write workers' compensation in California as required by Labor Code 3700. The Board also ruled that the workers' compensation insurance coverage the Saints obtained and which had an "All States Endorsement" was similar to an excess policy where the carrier promised reimbursement to the Saints but did not provide or require the carrier to pay workers' compensation benefits directly to California applicants. As a consequence the WCAB ordered the Saints to reimburse Travelers for any benefits paid by Travelers as a result of the Saints failure to secure payment of compensation.

Factual & Procedural Background: It should be noted that this is another case where the WCAB under their "grant reconsideration and further study" procedure did not issue a decision for several years. The Findings and Order in this case issued on February 22, 2018, long before any Covid related issues could be used to justify or rationalize such a delay, but the WCAB did not issue their decision until May 6, 2022!

Applicant sustained an industrial CT injury while employed as a professional football player from January 1, 1970 through September of 1984. During that period he was employed by the Oakland Raiders, Houston Oilers, and the Saints. The Saints were insured by Travelers from approximately August 25, 1982 through April 1, 1983 prior to applicant's last year of injurious exposure but they were held liable for applicant's benefits pursuant to Labor Code 5500.5. Subsequent to Travelers coverage, the Saints alleged they were covered for workers' compensation by North-West Insurance Company from September 17, 1983 through April 1, 1984 and by Horizon Insurance Company after April 1, 1984 through the last date of applicant's injurious exposure on September 17, 1984. Based on a prior Amended Findings and Award issued on May 13, 2015, benefits were awarded against the the Saints and Travelers. Applicant passed away shortly thereafter and Travelers and applicant's estate settled the previously awarded benefits on January 28, 2016. On April 8, 2016, Travelers filed a Petition for Reimbursement against the Saints seeking reimbursement of \$87,083.53 for benefits paid to the applicant Saints based on Labor Code section 5500.5.

With respect to any alleged coverage by North-West Insurance, the Saints were unable to locate any alleged policy and so there was none in evidence. North-West was also liquidated by the

Oregon Insurance Guaranty Association effective November 23, 1999. As a consequence the WCJ and subsequently the WCAB found that the Saints did not demonstrate by a preponderance of the evidence that they were covered by a workers' compensation policy issued by North-West for the period of September 17, 1983 through April 1, 1984. The Board concluded that "...[W]e agree with the WCJ that there is insufficient evidence that there was a workers' compensation policy issued by North West. Without the insurance contract, we cannot find that North West provided coverage."

With respect to the alleged coverage for the Saints by First Horizon Insurance Company (First Horizon) the WCJ found that the Saints did have workers compensation coverage, including coverage in California from April 1, 1984 through September 17, 1984 and therefore were not illegally uninsured during applicant's last year of injurious exposure. However, as will be discussed hereinafter, the WCAB reversed the WCJ and found that the Saints did not have valid workers compensation coverage in California under their policy with First Horizon and therefore were illegally uninsured during applicant's last year of injurious exposure.

The Basis for the WCAB's Determination that the Saints did not have valid Workers Compensation coverage in California under their Policy With First Horizon Insurance Company: The WCAB did an extensive review of the applicable statutes and regulations related to all employers with employees working in California being required to have valid workers compensation insurance. "This mandate is satisfied by "being insured against liability to pay compensation by one or more insurers duly authorized to write compensation insurance in this state...." The Saints were unable to introduce any persuasive evidence that First Horizon was duly authorized to write workers compensation insurance in California pursuant to Labor Code 3700.

The Saints did have a policy which provided workers' compensation coverage for the Saints from April 1, 1984 through April 1, 1987. However, under a part of that policy what was described as Coverage A applied to the workers' compensation law and any occupational disease law of Louisiana only. But there was also a provision in the policy commonly referred to as an "All States Endorsement" that operated if the Saints undertook operations in certain specified states outside of Louisiana. In those situations, First Horizon agreed to reimburse the Saints "for all compensation and other benefits required of the insured under the workmen's compensation or occupational disease law of such state." Of note was that First Horizon was liquidated by the Indiana Insurance Guarantee Association on December 18, 1998. The WCAB indicated that First Horizon's agreement to reimburse the Saints for liability imposed on them outside of Louisiana is not an agreement that First Horizon will actually directly pay benefits to a California applicant for workers' compensation benefits. In that regard the WCAB stated:

Unlike "Coverage A," the "All States Endorsement" is an agreement that Horizon will reimburse the employer for liability imposed on the employer under the workers' compensation laws of states other than Louisiana. The Saints could obtain reimbursement from First Horizon for California claims but the insurance agreement does not require First Horizon to directly pay benefits to a California applicant. The coverage provided for California claims is similar to an excess policy--First Horizon promises reimbursement not payment. Thus, the Saints did not secure the payment of compensation as required by Section 3700 and they were illegally uninsured.

17. Legislative Developments

Cheerleaders for California based professional sports teams now classified as employees.

On July 15, 2015, Governor Brown signed into law AB 202 adding section 2754 to the Labor Code.

It requires that "cheerleaders" for California based professional sports team that play a majority of their games in California be classified as employees for purposes of wage and hour requirements, workers' compensation, as well as California's Fair Employment and Housing Act (FEHA). A California based professional sports team is defined as either a minor or major league team in the sports of baseball, basketball, football, ice hockey, or soccer.

Also, a "cheerleader is specifically defined as an individual who performs acrobatics, dance, or gymnastic exercises on a recurring basis." However, this definition expressly does not include or apply to an individual who is not otherwise affiliated with a California-based professional sports team and is used or utilized during its exhibitions, events, or games no more than one time in a calendar year.

It is also important to note that the new law applies to "cheerleaders" used by California based sports teams whether they are hired directly by the California based team or through a labor contractor or employment agency.

Editor's Comment: See also, AB 5 effective January 1, 2020 that will have widespread impact on whether workers are characterized as independent contractors or employees. AB 5 adopted the 3 prong *Dynamex* test to determine whether a worker is an employee or independent contractor as opposed to the prior *Borello* test. AB 5 has numerous occupations that were granted either permanent or temporary exceptions as to whether the *Borello* test would still be applicable as opposed to the new *Dynamex* test.

Table of Cases

<u>Abelleira v. Dist. Court of Appeal</u> (1941) 17 Cal. 2d 280, 288	212
Ace American Ins. v. WCAB (Totten) (2018) 83 Cal.Comp.Cases 1902 (writ denied)	91
ACIC , 33 Cal.4 th at p. 660-661	212
ACIG Insurance Company, insurer for KS Industries, L.P. v. WCAB (Brock) (2013) 79	
Cal.Comp.Cases 68; 2013 Cal. Wrk. Comp. LEXIS 192 (writ denied)	57
Aetna Casualty & Surety Co. v. Workmen's Comp. Appeals Bd. (Coltharp) (1973) 35 C 329 [38 Cal. Comp. Cases 720]	
Alaska Packers Assn. v. Industrial Acc. Com. (Palma) (1934) 1 Cal.2d 250, affd. (1935) 2	294 U.S.
532	
Alea Work Comp Project v. WCAB (2012) 77 Cal. Comp. Cases 681; 2012 Cal. Wrk. Cor. 87 (writ denied)	_
Alexander v. New York Giants, Berkley Specialty, Pittsburg Steelers, Arizona Cardinal Carolina Panthers 2012 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 399 (WCAB panel decision)	
Alford v Industrial Accident Com. (1946) 28 Cal.2d 198 [11 Cal.Comp.Cases 127]	238, 239
Allen v. Milwaukee Bucks, et al. 2013 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 138 (WCAB panel de	
Allen v. Minnesota Vikings 2018 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 543 180, 278,	286, 294, 295
Allianz Ins. Group v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd. (1994) 64 Cal.Comp.Cases 83	238
Allstate Ins. Co. v. Hague (1981) 449 U.S. 302, 317, fn. 23	87
Ambrose v. Baltimore Ravens/Cleveland Browns (2014) 79 Cal.Comp.Cases 704; 2014 Comp. LEXIS 64 (writ denied)	
Anderson v. New Orleans Saints (2015) (WCAB panel decision)	304
<u>Appleton v. Waessil</u> (1994) 27 Cal.App.4 th 551	221
Arevalo v. Raul Flores dba Flores Gardening 2020 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 25 (WCA decision)	•

Argonaut Mining Company v. Industrial Acc. Com. (Gonzalez) (1951) 104 Cal. App. 2d 27	16
Cal.Comp.Cases 118]	317
<u>Arriaga v. County of Alameda</u> (1995) 9 Cal. 4 th 1055, 1061 [60 Cal Comp Cases 316]	5, 27, 51
Adama Falance Fada II Claber Nadi Fada II I arma Dianan Arra (2012)	_
Atlanta Falcons Football Club v. Nat'l Football League Players Assoc. (2012) F. Supp	
2012 WL 5392185 (N.D. Ga)	163
Audette v. Los Angeles Kings, Dallas Stars, Atlanta Thrashers et al., 2019 Cal.Wrk.Comp.	ΡD
LEXIS 137 (WCAB panel decision)	
22/13 157 (Well panel decision)	
Audette v. WCAB, Montreal Canadiens, Florida Panthers, Los Angeles Kings, et al., 84	
Cal.Comp.Cases 829, 2019 Cal.Wrk.Comp. LEXIS 63	108
Ballard v. Savage (9 th Cir. 1995) 65 F.3d 1495	43, 45
Banks v. Cincinnati Bengals 2017 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 1 (WCAB panel decision)	241, 335
D. A. D. A. M. J. A. C. A. D. D. A. D. D. A. D. A. D. A. D. A. D. D. A. D. A. D. D. A. D. A. D. A. D. A. D. D. A. D. A. D. A. D. A. D. D. A. D.	
Banta v. Detroit Lions 2017 Cal.Wrk.Comp.P.D. LEXIS 232 (WCAB panel decision)	59
Barlow v. Oakland Raiders, 2009 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 483 (WCAB Panel Decision)	. 222
Dariow V. Oakianu Kaiuers, 2009 Car. Wik. Comp. 1 .D. LLAIS 463 (WCAB I and Decision)	1
Barrow v. WCAB (2012) 77 Cal.Comp.Cases 988 (writ denied)	. 52, 59, 62
	, ,
Bass v. State of California 2017 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 213	266
<u>Basset-McGregor v. Workers' Compensation Appeals Board</u> (1988) 205 Cal.App.3d 1102;	
Cal.Comp.Cases 502; 1988 Cal.App. LEXIS 1045	5, 246, 272
Bates v. Cincinnati Reds, PSI 2023 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 349 (WCAB panel decision)) 279
Potton v. Workows? Comp. Appeals Pd. (2015) 241 Cal App. 4th 1000: 80 Cal Comp. Cases 10	256
Batten v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd. (2015) 241 Cal.App. 4th 1009; 80 Cal.Comp.Cases 12	
Bell v. Los Angeles Raiders, CIGA 2015 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 338 (WCAB panel deci	sion)
	•
Benard v. San Francisco Giants 2016 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 85 (WCAB panel decision	ı) 244
Benguet Consol. Mining Co. v. Industrial Acci. Com. (1939) 36 Cal. App. 2d 158, 159 [1939 I FXIS 28]	Cal. App. 13–65–287
LEALS (AL	1 5 D5 /X/

Berg v. MTC Electronics Technologies Co., Ltd (1970) 61 Cal. App. 4 th 349
Blackledge v. Bank of America, Ace American Insurance Company (Blackledge) (2010) 75
Cal.Comp.Cases 613
Bladischwiler v. Detroit Lions, CNA Claims Plus, Inc. 2012 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 225 (WCAB panel decision)
Bodishbaugh v. Southern Maryland Blue Crabs; Miami Marlins et al. 2022 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P. D. LEXIS 63 (WCAB panel decision)
Booker v. Cincinnati Bengals 2012 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 114 (WCAB panel decision)129
Booth v. Chicago Bulls 2014 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 487 (WCAB panel decision)206
Booty v. New York Giants 2014 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 167 (WCAB panel decision)340
Boss v. Oakland Raiders, Ace American Insurance c/o Tristar Risk Mgt. 2022 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 211 (WCAB panel decision)
Boucher v. Houston Gamblers 2017 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 126 (WCAB panel decision) 197
Boucher v. Houston Gamblers 2019 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 164 (WCAB panel decision)329
Boulware v. Houston Texans 2015 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 4 (panel decision)
Bowen v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd. (1999) 73 Cal. App.4 th 15, 25 [64 Cal. Comp. Cases 745, 753]
Brandes v. San Francisco 49ers, et al., 2016 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 418 (WCAB panel decision)
Brannen v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd. (1996) 46 Cal.App.4th 377 (61 Cal.Comp.Cases 554)
Bristol-Myers Squibb Co. v. Superior Court of California, et al. (2017) 582 U.S. 256, 137 S.Ct. 1773
Brock v. San Francisco Giants et al., 2023 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 291
Brown v. Arizona Cardinals, Saint Louis Rams, Carolina Panthers, Detroit Lions et al., 2019 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 460 (WCAB panel decision)

Buckeye Boiler Co. v. Superior Court of Los Angeles County (1969) 71 Cal.2d 893, 899 [80 Cal	l.Rptr.
113]	
Bundsen v. WCAB (1983) 147 Cal. App. 3 rd 106 [48 Cal. Comp. Cases 673]	52
Burnett v. Anaheim Ducks Hockey Club, et al. (October 7, 2015; (AHM 0152213); ADJ4558864	l) (trial
level decision Findings, Award and Orders)	331
Burt v. Carolina Hurricanes, et al. Federal Insurance Company 2015 Cal. Work Comp. P.D. Ll	EXIS
124 (Majority decision)	192
Busick v. Workmen's Comp. Appeals Bd. (1972) 7 Cal.3d 967, 977	336
Byars v. N.Y. Jets (2015) 81 Cal.Comp.Cases 64; 2015 Cal. Wrk. Comp. LEXIS 154, (writ denied)	
<u>Calder v. Jones</u> (1984) 465 U.S. 783	45
<u>Camacho v. Target Corp.</u> (2018) 24 Cal.App.5th 291, 301 [83 Cal.Comp.Cases 1014]	219
Canton Poultry & Deli, Inc., et al. v. Stockwell, Harris, Widom & Woolverton et al. (2003) 109	9
Cal.App.4 th 1219, 1226, [68 Cal.Comp.Cases 859]	
Carper v. New York Yankees, 2024 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 328 (WCAB panel decision)	54, 137
Carreon v. Cleveland Indians, et al., 2019 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 428 (WCAB panel decision	
<u>Carroll v. Cincinnati Bengals, PSI, et.al.</u> (2013) 78 Cal.Comp.Cases 655; 2013 Cal. Wrk. Comp. LEXIS 102 (WCAB en banc decision)	<u>?</u> 7, 128
<u>Carslon v. Eassa</u> (1997) 54 Cal.App.4th 684	185
Casa de Valley View Owner's Assn. v. Stevenson (1985) 167 Cal.App.3d 1182, 1192	336
<u>Casey v. Hill et al.</u> , (2022) 78 Cal.App.5 th 1143, 2022 Cal.App. LEXIS 444 (for subsequent history 2022 Cal.App. LEXIS 544 (6/21/22)	
<u>Casey v. Proctor</u> (1963) 59 Cal.2d 97, 111-112	226
<u>Cash v. Detroit Lions, Atlanta Falcons</u> 2011 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 567 (WCAB panel de (California subject matter jurisdiction found)	

St. Louis Blues Hockey Club; Federal Ins. Co. 2015 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 411 (WCAB panel decision)	Chambers v. Workmen's Comp. Appeals Bd. (1968) 69 Cal.2d 556 [33 Cal.Comp.Cases 722]	
St. Louis Blues Hockey Club; Federal Ins. Co. 2015 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 411 (WCAB panel decision)	238, 2	241
Chase v. St. Louis Blues Hockey Club; Federal Ins. Co. 2015 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 411 (WCAB panel decision)	Chandler v. St. Louis Rams, Chicago Bears et al., 2024 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 377 (WCAB	
(WCAB panel decision) 209 Chavira v. WCAB (1991) 235 Cal. App. 3d 463 [56 Cal. Comp. Cases 631] 238, 265, 268, 277 Chevron U.S.A., Inc. v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd. (Steele) (1999) 19 Cal.4th 1182, 1195 [969 P.2d 613, 81 Cal. Rptr. 2d 521] [64 Cal.Comp.Cases 1] 17 Chicago Bears Football Club, Inc. v. Havnes (2011) 816 F. Supp. 534 (N.D. Ill.) 163 Christman v. Seattle Mariners, Ace American Insurance Co., et al., 2019 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. 11, 22, 29, 34 Cincinnati Bengals v. Abdullah (2013) 2013 WL 154077 (S.D. Ohio) 163 Cirillo v. Arizona Diamondbacks; Minnesota Twins; San Diego Padres; Seattle Mariners; Milwaukee Brewers; Insured by Ace American Ins., Co./Chubb et al. 2024 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 376 (WCAB panel decision) 64 City of Fresno v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd. (Johnson) (1985) 163 Cal.App.3d 467, 471 [50 Cal.Comp.Cases 53] 218, 234, 237, 238, 277 City of Los Angeles v WCAB (Calvert) (1978) 88 Cal.App.3d 19, 43 Cal.Comp.Cases 1280 268	panel decision)3	325
Chavira v. WCAB (1991) 235 Cal. App. 3d 463 [56 Cal. Comp. Cases 631]	Chase v. St. Louis Blues Hockey Club; Federal Ins. Co. 2015 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 411	
Chevron U.S.A., Inc. v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd. (Steele) (1999) 19 Cal.4th 1182, 1195 [969 P.2d 613, 81 Cal. Rptr. 2d 521] [64 Cal.Comp.Cases 1] 17 Chicago Bears Football Club, Inc. v. Haynes (2011) 816 F. Supp. 534 (N.D. Ill.) 163 Christman v. Seattle Mariners, Ace American Insurance Co., et al., 2019 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. 11, 22, 29, 34 Cincinnati Bengals v. Abdullah (2013) 2013 WL 154077 (S.D. Ohio) 163 Cirillo v. Arizona Diamondbacks; Minnesota Twins; San Diego Padres; Seattle Mariners; Milwaukee Brewers; Insured by Ace American Ins., Co./Chubb et al. 2024 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 376 (WCAB panel decision) 64 City of Fresno v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd. (Johnson) (1985) 163 Cal.App.3d 467, 471 [50 Cal.Comp.Cases 53] 218, 234, 237, 238, 277 City of Los Angeles v WCAB (Calvert) (1978) 88 Cal.App.3d 19, 43 Cal.Comp.Cases 1280 268	(WCAB panel decision)2	209
613, 81 Cal. Rptr. 2d 521] [64 Cal.Comp.Cases 1] 17 Chicago Bears Football Club, Inc. v. Haynes (2011) 816 F. Supp. 534 (N.D. Ill.) 163 Christman v. Seattle Mariners, Ace American Insurance Co., et al., 2019 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. 11, 22, 29, 34 Cincinnati Bengals v. Abdullah (2013) 2013 WL 154077 (S.D. Ohio) 163 Cirillo v. Arizona Diamondbacks; Minnesota Twins; San Diego Padres; Seattle Mariners; Milwaukee Brewers; Insured by Ace American Ins., Co./Chubb et al. 2024 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 376 (WCAB panel decision) 64 City of Fresno v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd. (Johnson) (1985) 163 Cal.App.3d 467, 471 [50 Cal.Comp.Cases 53] 218, 234, 237, 238, 277 City of Los Angeles v WCAB (Calvert) (1978) 88 Cal.App.3d 19, 43 Cal.Comp.Cases 1280 268	<u>Chavira v. WCAB</u> (1991) 235 Cal. App. 3d 463 [56 Cal. Comp. Cases 631]238, 265, 268, 2	277
Chicago Bears Football Club, Inc. v. Haynes (2011) 816 F. Supp. 534 (N.D. Ill.) 163 Christman v. Seattle Mariners, Ace American Insurance Co., et al., 2019 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. 11, 22, 29, 34 LEXIS 363 (WCAB panel decision, 8/16/19) 11, 22, 29, 34 Cincinnati Bengals v. Abdullah (2013) 2013 WL 154077 (S.D. Ohio) 163 Cirillo v. Arizona Diamondbacks; Minnesota Twins; San Diego Padres; Seattle Mariners; Milwaukee Brewers; Insured by Ace American Ins., Co./Chubb et al. 2024 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 376 (WCAB panel decision) 64 City of Fresno v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd. (Johnson) (1985) 163 Cal.App.3d 467, 471 [50 Cal.Comp.Cases 53] 218, 234, 237, 238, 277 City of Los Angeles v WCAB (Calvert) (1978) 88 Cal.App.3d 19, 43 Cal.Comp.Cases 1280 268	Chevron U.S.A., Inc. v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd. (Steele) (1999) 19 Cal.4th 1182, 1195 [969 P.	.2d
Christman v. Seattle Mariners, Ace American Insurance Co., et al., 2019 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 363 (WCAB panel decision, 8/16/19) 11, 22, 29, 34 Cincinnati Bengals v. Abdullah (2013) 2013 WL 154077 (S.D. Ohio) 163 Cirillo v. Arizona Diamondbacks; Minnesota Twins; San Diego Padres; Seattle Mariners; Milwaukee Brewers; Insured by Ace American Ins., Co./Chubb et al. 2024 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 376 (WCAB panel decision) 64 City of Fresno v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd. (Johnson) (1985) 163 Cal.App.3d 467, 471 [50 Cal.Comp.Cases 53] 218, 234, 237, 238, 277 City of Los Angeles v WCAB (Calvert) (1978) 88 Cal.App.3d 19, 43 Cal.Comp.Cases 1280 268	613, 81 Cal. Rptr. 2d 521] [64 Cal.Comp.Cases 1]	. 17
LEXIS 363 (WCAB panel decision, 8/16/19)	Chicago Bears Football Club, Inc. v. Haynes (2011) 816 F. Supp. 534 (N.D. Ill.)	L63
Circinnati Bengals v. Abdullah (2013) 2013 WL 154077 (S.D. Ohio)	Christman v. Seattle Mariners, Ace American Insurance Co., et al., 2019 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D.	
Cirillo v. Arizona Diamondbacks; Minnesota Twins; San Diego Padres; Seattle Mariners; Milwaukee Brewers; Insured by Ace American Ins., Co./Chubb et al. 2024 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 376 (WCAB panel decision)	LEXIS 363 (WCAB panel decision, 8/16/19)	34
Milwaukee Brewers; Insured by Ace American Ins., Co./Chubb et al. 2024 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 376 (WCAB panel decision) 64 City of Fresno v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd. (Johnson) (1985) 163 Cal.App.3d 467, 471 [50 Cal.Comp.Cases 53 218, 234, 237, 238, 277 City of Los Angeles v WCAB (Calvert) (1978) 88 Cal.App.3d 19, 43 Cal.Comp.Cases 1280 268	Cincinnati Bengals v. Abdullah (2013) 2013 WL 154077 (S.D. Ohio)	L63
LEXIS 376 (WCAB panel decision)	Cirillo v. Arizona Diamondbacks; Minnesota Twins; San Diego Padres; Seattle Mariners;	
City of Fresno v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd. (Johnson) (1985) 163 Cal.App.3d 467, 471 [50 Cal.Comp.Cases 53]	•	
Cal.Comp.Cases 53]	LEAIS 570 (WCAB panel decision)	. 04
City of Los Angeles v WCAB (Calvert) (1978) 88 Cal.App.3d 19, 43 Cal.Comp.Cases 1280268	City of Fresno v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd. (Johnson) (1985) 163 Cal. App. 3d 467, 471 [50	
	Cal.Comp.Cases 53]	277
City of Los Angeles v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd. (Clark) (2017) 82 Cal. Comp. Cases 1404 (writ	<u>City of Los Angeles v WCAB (Calvert)</u> (1978) 88 Cal.App.3d 19, 43 Cal.Comp.Cases 12802	268
	City of Los Angeles v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd. (Clark) (2017) 82 Cal. Comp. Cases 1404 (writ	
den.)	den.)3	327
City of Sacramento v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd. (Cannon) (2013) 222 Cal. App. 4th 1360, 1364-	City of Sacramento v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd. (Cannon) (2013) 222 Cal. App. 4th 1360, 1364-	
1365 [79 Cal.Comp.Cases 1]	1365 [79 Cal.Comp.Cases 1]	315
Clemons v. Indianapolis Colts 2017 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P. D. LEXIS 187 (WCAB panel decision); (writ denied 8/31/17)	Clemons v. Indianapolis Colts 2017 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P. D. LEXIS 187 (WCAB panel decision); (writ denied 8/31/17)	
Cleveland Browns v. WCAB (Saleh) (2014) 79 Cal. Comp. Cases 941; 2014 Cal. Work. Comp. LEXIS 87 (writ denied)		

Cole v Marconi Conference Center 2018 Cal.Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 422, 46 CWCR 247 (WCA)	3
panel decision)	268
Coleman v. Detroit Pistons, et al, Federal Insurance Company, (2015) 80 Cal.Comp.Cases 1073;	
2015 Cal.Wrk.Comp. LEXIS 102 (writ denied)	193
Collins v. Atlanta Falcons (2015) 80 Cal.Comp.Cases 1202; 2015 Cal.Wrk.Comp. LEXIS 119 (write	
denied)	
Colonial Ins. Co. v. Ind. Acc. Com. (1945) 27 Cal.2d 437 [164 P.2d 490]	227
Colomai Ins. Co. v. Ind. Acc. Com. (1743) 27 Cal.2d 437 [1041.2d 470]	237
Copeland v. Denver Nuggets, Pinnacol Assurance 2013 Cal. Wrk. Comp. PD LEXIS 356 (WCAE	,
panel decision)	150
Coquillette v. Pittsburgh Pirates; Travelers Ins., Co., et al., 2023 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS	
(WCAB panel decision)	256
<u>Cortez v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd.</u> (2006) 136 Cal. App. 4th 596 [38 Cal. Rptr. 3d 922, 71	
Cal.Comp.Cases 155]	, 327
County of Riverside v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd. (Sylves) (2017) 10 Cal. App 5th 119, 126-127	′
[2017 Cal.App. LEXIS 269]46	, 277
County of Sacramento v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd. (Weatherall) (2000) 77 Cal. App. 4th 1114	1,
1121 [65 Cal.Comp.Cases 1]	, 290
County of San Joaquin v. Workers' Compensation Appeals Bd. (Sepulveda) (2004) 117 Cal. App	.4th
1180, 1184 [69 Cal.Comp.Cases 193]	
<u>Crosby</u> (2001) 66 CCC 923	. 206
<u></u>	,
Cuevas v. A-1 Machine Manufacturing 2021 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 47 (WCAB panel decisi	on)
Cuevas v. 74-1 Machine Manufacturing 2021 Cal. Wik. Comp. 1. D. ELZAIS 47 (WCAS) panel uccisi	
	234
Cyburt v. San Francisco Giants 2023 Cal.Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 340	220
Cyburt v. San Francisco Giants 2023 Cal. Wik. Comp. P.D. LEAIS 340	, 329
D. H. D. H. G. J. G. (1005) 10 G. L. H. H. 700 707	
<u>Dailey v Dallas Carriers Corp.</u> (1996) 43 Cal.App.4 th 720,727	, 11/
<u>Daimler AG v. Bauman</u> (2014) 571 U.S. 117, 134 S.Ct. 736	156
<u>Daimler Trucks North America LLC v. The Superior Court of Los Angeles County (Hu)</u> (2022)	
Cal.App.5 th 946	, 153

Davis v. Atlanta Hawks, Federal Insurance, et al. 2015 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 430 (WCAB	
panel decision)	201
<u>Davis v. Oakland Athletics; Ace American Ins. Co.</u> 2023 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS (W	
panel decision)	69
Decelle v. Tampa Bay Rays; Travelers Indemnity Co., Successor in Interest by Merger with Gu	.1 £
2022 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P. D. LEXIS (WCAB panel decision, 8/19/22)	289
Delgado v. New York Mets 2015 Cal.Wrk.Comp. LEXIS 131 (writ denied)	209
Denver Nuggets v. WCAB (Hollis Copeland, et al.) (2017) 82 Cal.Comp.Cases 611, 2017	
Cal.Wrk.Comp. LEXIS 39 (writ denied)	154
Cui. WikiComp. DE2110 37 (with defined)	154
Department of Corrections & Rehabilitation v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd. (Fitzpatrick) (20	18)
27 Cal.App.5th 607, 610 [83 Cal.Comp.Cases 1680)	
- · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
Dept. of Rehabilitation v. Workers' comp. Appeals Bd.(Lauher) (2003) 30 Cal.4th 1281, 1292 [6	8
Cal.Comp.Cases 831]	
•	
Detroit Pistons, Philadelphia 76ers, Federal Insurance Co. v. WCAB (Coleman) 2015 Cal.Wrk.0	Comp
LEXIS 102	193
<u>Dick Simon Trucking Co. v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd.</u> (1999) 64 Cal. Comp. Cases 98 (write	len.)
	260
<u>Dickow v. Workmen's Comp. Appeals Bd.</u> (1973) 34 Cal.App.3d 762 [38 Cal.Comp.Cases 664]	
	317
<u>Dietrick v. San Antonio Spurs/Chicago Bulls</u> 2022 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 124 (WCAB pane	
decision 4/29/22)	324
Dorsett and Moss v. WCAB, Golden State Warriors (2018) 83 Cal. Comp. Cases 725 (writ denied	1/
Dorsett and Woss V. WCAB, Golden State Warriors (2016) 85 Car. Comp. Cases 725 (with defined	
	220
Dorsett v. Denver Broncos and Dallas Cowboys 2013 Cal. Wrk. Comp	227
<u>Douglas v. New York Giants; World League of American Football, et al.</u> 2012 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P	
LEXIS 510 (WCAB panel decision)	50
Duckworth v. Los Angeles Rams, et al. (2016) 81 Cal.Comp.Cases 234; 2016 Cal.Wrk.Comp. LEX	
11 (writ of review dismissed)	228

Dupard v. Washington Redskins, The Hartford Insurance Company 2012 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D.
LEXIS 279 (WCAB panel decision)
Earley v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd., (2023) 94 Cal.App. 5 th 1; 88 Cal.Comp.Cases 769 70, 25
Elks v. Sharp Health Care; Ace America Ins. Co., Administered by ESIS, Inc. 2022 Wrk.Comp. P.D LEXIS(WCAB panel decision 8/15/22)236, 239
Employer's Mutual Liability Insurance Company v. WCAB (Patterson) (1987) 52 Cal. Comp. Cases 284 (writ denied)
Estrella v. WCAB (2016) 81 Cal.Comp.Cases 525; 2016 Cal.Wrk.Comp. LEXIS 57 (writ denied)
Evans v. Workmen's Comp. Appeals Bd. (1968) 68 Cal.2d 753, 755 [33 Cal.Comp.Cases 350, 351]
Everett v. St. Louis Rams, LLC. et al. 2015 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 628 (WCAB panel decision)
Farley V. San Francisco Giants; Ace American Insurance 2020 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 173 Farley I (WCAB panel decision)
<u>Farley v. San Francisco Giants</u> 2020 Cal.Wrk.Comp. LEXIS 9490
<u>Farley v. San Francisco Giants; Ace American Insurance</u> 2020 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 292 (Farley II-WCAB panel decision, Garcia, Sweeney, and Lowe)
Fauria v. Carolina Panthers 2016 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 17 (WCAB panel decision)
Fauria v. Carolina Panthers 2017 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P. D. LEXIS 263 (WCAB panel decision) 41, 297, 299
<u>Fauria v. Carolina Panthers; Washington Redskins; New England Patriots; Seattle Seahawks</u> 2013 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 543; (WCAB panel decision)29
Favel v. Colorado Rockies/New Jersey Devils, et al., 2018 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 352
<u>Federal Insurance Company v. WCAB (Johnson)</u> (2013) 221 Cal. App. 4 th 1116, 78 Cal. Comp. cases 1257

Ferguson v. City of Oxnard (1970) 35 Cal. Comp. Cases 452 (Appeals Board en banc)	65
<u>Ferragamo v. St. Louis Rams</u> (formerly known as Los Angeles Rams, et al.) 2017 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P. LEXIS 283 (WCAB panel decision)	
<u>Fike v. Baltimore Ravens/Cleveland Browns</u> 2013 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 363 (WCAB Panel Decision)	.25
<u>Finn v. New York Football Giants</u> 2017 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXS 132 (WCAB panel decision)	50
<u>Flesher v. WCAB</u> (1979) 23 Cal.3d 322, 44 Cal.Comp.Cases 212	67
Fonceca v. Cincinnati Reds; Self-Insured 2024 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 95 (WCAB panel decision)	.39
Ford Motor Co. v. Montana Eighth Judicial District Court et al. 592 U.S(2021), 1415 S.Ct. 1017	.54
Ford v. Houston Oilers 2012 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 179 (WCAB Panel Decision)2	29
Ford v. MC Carrier L.L.C.; Associated Risk Mgt, Inc. 2024 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS	.38
Forsberg v. Nashville Predators; Colorado Avalanche; Philadelphia Flyers; Federal Insurance Company (2015) 80 Cal.Comp.Cases 1353, 2015 Cal.Wrk.Comp. LEXIS 133 (writ denied) (Forsberg II)	_
<u>Francisco v. Industrial Acci. Com. (Mack)</u> (1923) 192 Cal. 635 [10 I.A.C. 357]	:43
Fruehauf v. Workmen's Comp. App. Bd. (1968) 68 Cal.2d 569	.86
Gandy v. Atlanta Falcons, Great Divide Insurance Co., et al., 2024 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 163	
<u>Gangwish v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd.</u> (2001) 89 Cal.App. 4 th 1284, 66 Cal.Comp.Cases 584	28
Garcia v. Atlanta Braves; Long Beach Armada 2021 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 68 (WCAB panel decision)	92
Garner v. Tampa Bay Buccaneers; Oakland Raiders 2014 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 320 (WCA panel decision)	

<u>Garza</u> , 3 Cal.3d 312, 317	283
General Foundry Serv. v. Workers' Compensation Appeals Bd. (Jackson) (1986) 42 Cal.3d 333	
Cal.Comp.Cases 375]	.3, 314
General Ins. Co. v. Superior Court of Alameda County (1975) 15 Cal.3d 449, 453 [1975 Cal. LE 243]	
<u> </u>	250
Geren v. WCAB (2012) 77 Cal.Comp.Cases 999; 2012 Cal. Wrk. Comp. LEXIS 147 (writ denied)	
Germany v. Buffalo Bills, Inc.; Travelers Insurance Company 2014 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS	
(WCAB panel decision)	
Giles v. Tennessee Titans 2013 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 644 (WCAB panel decision)	228
Globe Cotton Oil Mills v. Industrial Acc. Com. (1923) 64 Cal.App. 307, 309-310 [1923 Cal. App LEXIS 130	
Godfrey v. San Diego Chargers; Great Divide Insurance Company (2014) (WCAB panel decisi	
Gomez v. Superior Court (2005) 35 Cal. 4th 1125, 1153 [29 Cal. Rptr. 3d 352]	17
Gordon v. New York Jets (2016)	302
Gordon v. Oakland Raiders; Atlanta Falcons 2011 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 163 (WCAB padecision)	
Gorgen v. BKK Sports LLC, dba Camden Riversharks 2023 Cal.Wrk.Comp P.D. LEXIS 141 (Value panel decision)	
Grahe v. Philadelphia Phillies et al., (2018) 84 Cal. Comp. Cases 123, 2018 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D LEXIS 480 (WCAB Panel Decision)	
Gray v. Arena Football League, San Jose SaberCats, Zurich American Insurance, Uninsured	
Employer Benefits Trust Fund, 2018 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 378 (WCAB panel decision	
Greener v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd. of California (1993) 6 Cal.4th 1028 [58 Cal.Comp.Cas	es
793, 7951	136

Greenwald v. Carey Distrib. Co. (1981) 46 Cal. Comp. Cases 703, 713 [1981 Cal. Wrk. Comp. LEXIS	3
3275] (Appeals Board en banc)	275
<u>Guerrero v. Wellpoint Health Network</u> 2012 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 129 (WCAB Panel	
Decision)	264
Guillen v. Pro American Premium Tools 2015 Cal.Wrk.Comp.P.D. LEXIS 662 (WCAB panel	200
decision)	266
Hafkey v. American Airlines, Inc., National Fire Insurance Company of Pittsburgh 2018	
Cal.Wrk.Comp P.D. Lexis 283 (WCAB panel decision)	.36
Cur 1110 curp 1 2 2011 curp 2 2011 c	
Hale v. Buffalo Bills, Houston Oilers et al., 2022 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 310 (WCAB panel	
decision)	286
Hamilton v. Asbestos Corp., (2000) 22 Cal.4th 1127, fn. 9, 95 Cal. Rptr. 2d 701, 998 P.2d 403	288
<u>Hamilton v. Lockheed Corporation (Hamilton)</u> (2001) 66 Cal.Comp.Cases 473, 476 (Appeals Board	
en banc)	342
Hansallan Andrews Plantan Blacks at al. 2022 Cal Wat Come D.D. I EVIC 92 (WCAD and deciding	\
Hansell v. Arizona Diamondbacks, et al. 2022 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 83 (WCAB panel decision 76, 142, 233, 2002)	
	<u> 2</u> 54
Hansen v. Workers' Compensation Appeals Bd. (1993) 18 Cal.App.4th 1179; 58 Cal.Comp.Cases 60)2.
(1990) 10 Campana (1990) 10 Ca	
Harper v. Tampa Bay Buccaneers (2014) 79 Cal.Comp.Cases 595; 2014 Cal. Wrk. Comp. PD LEXI	S
62 (writ denied 5/1/14)	303
<u>Harris v. Billings</u> (1993) 16 Cal.App.4 th 1396, 1405	336
W. J. T. D. 2000 G.I. W.I. G. D.D. V.T.W.G. 151	
<u>Harrison v. Texas Rangers</u> 2023 Cal. Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 151	288
Hart v. Oakland Invadance North Divan Ingurance Company 2021 Cal Web Comp. D. D. I. EVIS 26	:O
Hart v. Oakland Invaders; North River Insurance Company 2021 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P. D. LEXIS 26 (WCAB panel decision)	
(WC/ID panel decision)	
Helicopteros Nacionales de Colombia, S.A. v. Hall, 466 U.S. 408, 414	151
Henn v. Henn (1980) 26 Cal.3d 323, 329-330	336
Hermanson v. San Francisco Giants, Ace American Ins. Co. 2023 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 328	,
(WCAB panel decision) 233.	275

<u>Hobbs v. New England Patriots, Philadelphia Eagles, Great Divide Ins. Co.</u> 2012 Cal. Wrk. Comp.
P.D. LEXIS 416 (WCAB Panel Decision)
Hobson v. New York Yankees 2024 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 328
Holmberg v. Oakland Raiders; Green Bay Packers; New England Patriots et al., 89 Cal.Comp.Cases 356; 2024 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 17; 52 CWCR 10 (WCAB panel decision)
Holmes v. Kansas City Chiefs, Baltimore Ravens et al., 2022 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 375 (WCAB panel decision)
Horton v. Oakland Raiders 2014 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 592 (panel dec.)
House v. Green Bay Packers; Great Divide Ins. Co., 2023 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 265
<u>Houston Astros v. WCAB (Richard)</u> (2014) 79 Cal.Comp.Cases 1451244, 252
<u>Houston Comets v. WCAB (Kenlaw)</u> (2013) 78 CCC 1153
<u>Hsu v. Mt. Zion Hosp.</u> (1968) 259 Cal.App.2d 562
Hulse v. Calgary Flames 2017 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 33 (WCAB panel decision)210
Hurley v. Sacramento Kings; Vancouver Grizzlies; TIG 2014 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P. D. LEXIS 124 (WCAB panel decision) 318
<u>Huscroft v. Calgary Flames, Fresno Falcons, et al.</u> 2017 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P. D. LEXIS 220 (WCAB panel decision)
Huscroft v. Calgary Flames, Fresno Falcons, et. al., 2017 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 367 (defense Petition for Reconsideration of the WCAB's May 19, 2017, Decision after Reconsideration)300
<u>Huston v. WCAB (Coast Rock)</u> (1979) 44 Cal. Comp. Cases 798
Hyder v. St. Louis Rams 2013 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 56 (WCAB panel decision)259
<u>Industrial Indem. Co. v. Industrial Acc. Com.</u> (1949) 90 Cal.App.2d 262, 265-266 [202 P.2d 585]
Injured Workers' Ins. Fund of Maryland v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd. (Crosby) (2001) 66 Cal. Comp. Cases 923 (writ den.)
International Shoe Co. v. Washington (1945) 326 U.S. 310 [66 S. Ct. 154, 90 L. Ed. 95]

<u>Intershop Communications v. Superior Court</u> (2002) 104 Cal. App. 4 th 191, 200-201131, 132
<u>Ioane v. Oakland Raiders</u> 2010 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 416 (WCAB panel decision) 59, 63
<u>J. T. Thorp v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd. (Butler)</u> (1984) 153 Cal.App.3d 327, 340 - 341 [200 Cal. Rptr. 219, 49 Cal. Comp. Cases 224]
Jackson v. Cleveland Browns 2014 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 682
<u>Jackson v. Denver Broncos and Cleveland Browns</u> 2013 Cal. Wrk. Comp. LEXIS 427 (WCAB panel decision)
Jacobs v. San Francisco Giants 2024 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 39
James v. Angels Baseball, LLC, et al. 2015 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 634 (WCAB panel decision) 96, 190, 205
<u>Jameson v. Cleveland Browns</u> 2012 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 137 (WCAB panel decision) 132
<u>Janzen v. WCAB</u> (1997) 61 Cal. App. 4 th 109, 63 Cal. Comp. Cases 9
Jenkins v. Arizona Cardinals, Dallas Cowboys, Arizona Rattlers, et.al. 2012 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 189 (WCAB panel decision) 28, 58
John Christer Trucking, Inc. v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd. (Carpenter) (1997) 62 Cal. Comp. Cases 979 (writ den.)
Johnston v. California Golden Seals; CIGA 2023 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS284
<u>Johnson v. New Jersey Nets, Seattle Supersonics, Washington State Department of Labor & Industry</u> 2009 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 233 (WCAB Panel Decision)
<u>Johnson v. Philadelphia Eagles; California Insurance Guarantee Association for Reliance</u> <u>Insurance Company, in liquidation; Fairmont Premier Insurance Company</u> 2014 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 654 (WCAB panel decision)
<u>Johnson v. Pittsburgh Steelers</u> 2013 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 112 (WCAB panel decision) 261
Johnson v. San Diego Chargers 2012 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 354 (WCAB panel decision)
<u>Johnson v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd.</u> (1970) 2 Cal.3d 964, 975 [35 Cal Comp. Cases 362]219

Kaiser Foundation Hospitals v. WCAB (Ochs) (2000) 65 Cal. Comp. Cases 933 (writ denied)254
Kansas City Chiefs Football Club, Inc. v. Allen (2013) U.S. Dist. LEXIS 46424 (W.D. Mo.)
Keiaho v. Indianapolis Colts 2024 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 172
Kenlaw v. Houston Comets (2013) 78 Cal.Comp.Cases 1153; 2013 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 147 (writ denied)
<u>King v. Pan American World Airways</u> (9 th Cir. 1959) 270 F.2d 355 [24 Cal.Comp.Cases 244], cert den., 362 U.S. 928 (1960)
Knight v. New Orleans Saints 2013 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 58 (WCAB panel decision)171
<u>Konan (Matthew) v. WCAB.</u> , (2022) 88 Cal.Comp.Cases 47; 2022 Cal.Wrk.Comp. LEXIS 64 (Writ denied)
Kouzmanoff v. Texas Rangers; Miami Marlins; et al., 2024 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 189 (WCAB panel decision)
<u>Kowalski v. Shell Oil Company</u> (1979) 23 Cal.3d 168, 44 Cal.Comp.Cases134
Kropog v New York Giants et al., 2020 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 112 (WCAB panel decision)11, 22, 30
<u>Lacey v. Bertone</u> (1949) 33 Cal.2d 649, 651-652
<u>Laeng v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Board</u> (1972) 6 Cal 3d 771 [37 Cal Comp Cases 185]
Langdon v. New Jersey Devils, Montreal Canadiens, Federal Insurance Company (2017) 82 Cal.Comp.Cases 928, 2017 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P. D. LEXIS 196 (WCAB panel decision)
Lauter v. Baltimore Ravens FNA Cleveland Browns, PSI, Administered by Berkley
Entertainment; San Diego Chargers, California Insurance Guarantee Association for Fremont
<u>Insurance, In Liquidation</u> 2022 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 270; 50 CWCR 196 (WCAB panel decision)
<u>Leavell v. W.C.A.B, Houston Rockets, Zenith/TIG Insurance Co./Fairmont Specialty Ins. Co.,</u> <u>Tulsa Fast Breakers, CompSource Oklahoma</u> 2018 Cal.Wrk.Comp.LEXIS 65 (Writ Denied)

<u>Ledbetter Erection Corp. v. WCAB</u> (1984) 156 Cal.App. 3d 1097, 49 Cal.Comp.Cases 47	18
Levrault v. Milwaukee Brewers; Miami Marlins et. al. 2022 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 116; 50 CWCR 83 (WCAB panel decision)	32
<u>Liberty v. International Basketball League</u> 2013 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 382 (WCAB panel decision)	25
Love v. Tampa Bay Buccaneers 2015 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 688 (WCAB split panel decision)	27
<u>Lozano v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd.</u> , (2015) 236 Cal. App. 4th 992, fn. 5, 186 Cal. Rptr. 3d 905 [Cal.Comp.Cases 407]	38
Luchey v. Green Bay Packers; Travelers Indemnity Co., et al., 2024 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 313	
<u>Luis Gonzalez v. Ontic Engineering Manufacturing</u> , 2013 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 548 22	23
<u>Luke v. Los Angeles Dodgers</u> 2007 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 125 (WCAB panel decision)	58
M/S Bremen v. Zapata Offshore Co. (1972) 407 U.S. 1	50
Manderino v. Kansas City Chiefs et al., 2023 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 305	18
<u>Marsh v. I.A.C.</u> (1933) 217 Cal. 338; 19 I.A.C.159	56
<u>Martin v. Detroit Lions, Inc.</u> (1973) 32 Cal.App.3d 472	10
Martinez v Friendly Franchisees, et al, 2015 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 358	23
Matthews v. National Football League Management Council (2012) 688 F. 3d 1107; (9 th Circuit) 77 Cal. Comp. Cases 711	35
Matthews v. San Diego Chargers et.al. 2016 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 240 (WCAB panel decision) 266, 30	
Matthews v. Tulsa Fast Breakers; Compsource Mutal Ins. Co., 2024 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS(WCAB panel decision)	37

Maxwell v. The Los Angeles Rams National Union Fire Insurance Company of Pittsburgh Pennsylvania (Third Party Administrator Chartis, Seattle Seahawks; Phoenix Cardinals) 2013
Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 498
McCardell v. Chargers Football, Co. et al. 2013 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 65 (WCAB panel
decision)250
McKinley v. Arizona Cardinals (2013) 78 Cal. Comp. Cases 23; 2013 Cal. Wrk. Comp. LEXIS 2
(WCAB en banc decision) *(writ denied 7/11/13) 13, 65, 88, 119, 124, 144, 158, 170, 278, 287
McPherson v. Cincinnati Reds, PSI 2020 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 164 (WCAB panel decision)
Mendez v Coos Manufacturing, Inc., 2017 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 41307, 308
Metzger v. Atlanta Braves et. al., 2023 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS (WCAB panel decision)
<u>Miami Dolphins Ltd. v. Newson</u> (2011) 783 F. Supp. 2d 769 (W.D. Pa.);
(
Mickens v. Cleveland Browns; New England Patriots et al., 2023 Cal.Wrk.Comp. LEXIS 102 (WCAB
panel decision)
Miller v. Long Beach Oil Dev. Co. (1959) 167 Cal.App.2d 546, 549, 24 Cal.Comp.Cases 77343
Milpitas Unified School Dist. v. Workers Comp. Appeals Bd. (Almaraz-Guzman) (2010) 187 Cal. App.
4th 808 [75 Cal.Comp.Cases 837]
Milwaukee Bucks v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd. (Mason) (2013) 78 Cal. Comp. Cases 1173 (writ
den.)
Moore v. Browns, 2023 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 74
Moore v. Detroit Lions, Florida Tuskers, et.al. 2012 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 426 (WCAB panel
decision)
<u> </u>
Mora v. Trident Seafoods Corp. 2013 Cal. Wrk. Comp. PD LEXIS 388 (WCAB panel decision) 56
<u>Moradi v. Northwest Colorado Transport, LLC</u> 2018 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 576 (WCAB panel
decision)
Mubina Kusljugic v Community Assistance for Retarded and Handicapped, Inc., 2015 Cal. Wrk.
Comp. P.D. LEXIS 135
A -

<u>Myer v. WCAB</u> (2010) 75 Cal.Comp.Cases 1210
Nairne v. WCAB 2013 Cal. Wrk. Comp. LEXIS 127 (writ denied)
National Automobile and Casualty Insurance Co. v. IAC (1947) 12 Cal.Comp.Cases 150343
Navarro v. City of Montebello (2014) 79 Cal.Comp.Cases 418 (Appeals Bd. en banc)
Neal v. San Francisco 49ers 2021 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P. D. LEXIS 68 (WCAB panel decision)
Neu v. Los Angeles Dodgers, et al. 2015 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 603 (WCAB panel decision)
<u>New Orleans Saints v. Cleeland</u> (2012) No. 11-CV-02093, ECF No. 55 (E.D. La)
<u>New York Knickerbockers v. WCAB (Macklin)</u> (2015) 240 Cal.App. 4 th 1229; 193 Cal.Rptr. 3d 287; 80 Cal.Comp.Cases 1141
39, 44, 46, 47, 65, 78, 86, 90, 96, 107, 120, 135, 176, 177, 189, 202, 204, 212, 285, 287, 295, 301, 302
<u>Newton v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd.</u> (1993) 17 Cal.App.4th 147, 156, fn. 16 [58 Cal.Comp.Cases 395]
<u>Nielsen v. Workers' Comp, Appeals Bd.</u> (1985) 164 Cal.App.3d 918 [50 Cal.Comp.Cases 104]
Nittel v. San Jose Sharks, Chubb Group (2010) 76 Cal.Comp.Cases 545; 2011 Cal.App.Unpub. LEXIS 4704 (Unpublished Court of Appeal)
Noble v. Washington Redskins; Dallas Cowboys; San Francisco 49ers et. al., 2018 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 631) (WCAB panel decision)
Nokes v. Joliet Jackhammers; Liberty Mutual Ins. Co., et al., 2022 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 295 (WCAB panel decision)
Northrop Grumman v. WCAB (Elachlar) (2012) 72 Cal. Comp. Cases 187; 2012 Cal. Wrk. Comp. LEXIS 7 (writ denied)
Nunes v. State of California Dept. of Motor Vehicles (2023) 88 Cal.Comp.Cases 741 [2023 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 30] (Appeals Bd. en banc)

Nunez v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd. (2006) 136 Cal. App. 4th 584 [38 Cal. Rptr. 3d 914, 71
Cal.Comp.Cases 161]
O'Berry v. World League of American Football aka National Football League Europe (NFL
Europe) 2017 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P. D. LEXIS 173 (WCAB panel decision)240
Ohman v. Washington Nationals et.al., 2024 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 162287
Oliver v. Philadelphia Eagles, ACE/ESIS et al., 2020 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 69 (WCAB panel
decision)
Oliver v. Tampa Bay Buccaneers: ESIS 2022 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 251; 50 CWCR 190
(WCAB panel decision)
Ornelaz v. Albertsons, Inc. 2008 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 724 (WCAB Panel Decision)321
Ortega v. Hinas Mercy Southwest Pharmacy, State Farm & Casualty Company 2013 Cal. Wrk.
Comp. P.D. LEXIS 335 (WCAB panel decision)
Owings v. Industrial Acc. Com. (1948) 31 Cal.2d 689, 692 [192 P.2d 1]
Pac. Coast Medical Enters. v. Dep't of Benefit Payments (1983) 140 Cal.App.3d 197, 214336
Pacific Indem. Co, v. Industrial Acc.Comm. (1950) 34 Cal.2d 726
Paddio v. Cleveland Cavaliers et al. 2017 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 242, 2017 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 375 (WCAB panel decision)
Paddio v. Cleveland Cavaliers; Seattle Supersonics et al., 2018 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 489
(WCAB Panel Decision)
Palmer v. Kansas City Chiefs, Travelers 2015 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 608 (WCAB panel
decision)
Parker v. California Angels aka Los Angeles Angels; Associated Indemnity Corp., et.al., 2024
Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 386 (WCAB panel decision)
Parker v. Indy Fuel Hockey 2017 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 547
Parker v. Kansas City Chiefs, et al. 2017 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 17 (WCAB panel decision)
Parker v. The Georgia Force 2012 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 250 (WCAB panel decision) 320

<u>Paula Insurance Co. v. Workers' Comp. Appeal Bd.</u> (2000) 65 Cal.Comp.Cases 426
Penn. v. WCAB (Myers) (1997) 62 Cal.Comp.Cases 1128 (writ denied)
Penrose v. Denver Gold, North River Insurance Company, et al. 2018 Cal.Wrk.Comp.P.D. Lexis 290 (WCAB Panel Decision)
Penrose v. Denver Gold, North River Insurance Co., et al., 2023 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 256 (WCAB panel decision)
People v. Alvarez (2002) 27 Cal.4th 1161, 1176 [46 P.3d 372, 119 Cal. Rptr. 2d 903]
People v. Lara (2010) 48 Cal.4 th 216
Perez v. WCAB (2013) 78 Cal.Comp.Cases 729; 2013 Cal. Wrk. Comp. LEXIS 91 (writ denied) 55
Permanente Medical Group v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd. (Williams) (1985) 171 Cal.App.3d 1171, 1184 [50 Cal.Comp.Cases 491]
Peter Kiewit Sons v. Industrial Acci. Com. (McLaughlin) (1965) 234 Cal.App.2d 831, 839 [30 Cal.Comp.Cases 188]
Phegley v. Dallas Mavericks 2015 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 231. (WCAB panel decision)209
Pierce v. Washington Redskins, ACE American Insurance and Travelers 2017 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P. D. LEXIS 244 (WCAB panel decision)
Pippen v. Portland Trail Blazers (2015) 81 Cal.Comp.Cases 73 [2015 Cal.Wrk.Comp. LEXIS 163] (writ den.)
Piurowski v. Dallas Cowboys; Miami Dolphis; Tampa Bay Bandits et al., 2024 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 173 (WCAB panel decision)
Polk v. Chargers Football Company, LLC. 2016 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 23 (WCAB panel decision)
Portland Trailblazers v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd. (Whatley) (2007) 72 Cal.Comp.Cases 154 (writ den.) 181, 187, 278, 286, 299, 303, 306
<u>Price v. Atchison, T. & S. F. Ry. Co.</u> (1954) 42 Cal. 2d 577
Provost v. Regents of University of California (2011) 201 Cal.App.4th 1289, 1305290

Quong Ham Wah Co. v. Industrial Accident Com. (1939) 36 Cal.App.2d 158
Randle v. Seattle Seahawks, Permissibly Self-Insured, Administered by CCMSI; Minnesota Viking
2014 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 106 (WCAB panel decision)
Ransom v. Jacksonville Jaguars 2013 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 122 (WCAB Panel Decision)
Raps v. Raps (1942) 20 Cal.2d 382, 384
Rawley v. Boston Red Sox and Philadelphia Phillies 2011 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 184 (WCAB panel decision)
Rex Club v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd. (Oakley-Clyburn) (1997) 53 Cal App 4 th 1465 [62 Cal.Comp.Cases 441]
Reyes v. Hart Plastering (2005) 70 Cal.Comp.Cases 223 [Significant Panel Decision]
Reynolds Electrical & Engineering Co v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd. (Egan) (1966) 65 Cal.2d 429 [31 Cal.Comp.Cases 415]
Reynolds v. WCAB (1974) 12 Cal. 3d 726, 1, 39 Cal. Comp. Cases 768
Riggs v. Miami Marlins, Ace American Ins. Co., (2022) 88 Cal.Comp.Cases 170; 2022 Cal.Wrk.Comp.P.D. LEXIS 343
Riley v. Kansas City Chiefs (2015) (WCAB panel decision)
Roberts v. Tampa Bay Lightning (2016) 2016 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 404
Robinson v. Chicago Bears, Minnesota Vikings and Baltimore Ravens et al., 2023 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 33 (WCAB panel decision)
Robinson v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd. (1987) 194 Cal.App.3d 784 [52 Cal.Comp.Cases 419]
Rocor Transportation v. WCAB (Ransom) (2001) 66 Cal. Comp. Cases 1136 (writ denied)
Rohm v. Atlanta Braves; Ace American Insurance, 2024 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 389(WCAB panel decision)

Rohrbach v. Colorado Rockies; Ace American Insurance Company Southern 2022 Cal.Wrk.Comp.
P. D. LEXIS 102 (WCAB panel decision)
Rose v. Los Angeles Dodgers 2024 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 77 (WCAB panel decision)
Roundfield v. Washington Wizards, aka Washington Bullets et.al. 2006 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS
26 (WCAB panel decision)306
Roy v. Superior Court (2005) 127 Cal.App.4th 337 [25 Cal. Rptr. 3d 488, 2005 Cal.App. LEXIS 334]
Royster v. NFL Europe 2014 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 445 (WCAB panel decision)
Rucker v. Cincinnati Bengals 2013 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 394 (WCAB Panel Decision)125
Rucker v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd. (2000) 82 Cal.App.4th 151, 157 [65 Cal.Comp.Cases 805]
Rudd v. Oakland Raiders/ACE/USA 2011 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 243 (WCAB panel decision) 249, 255
Ruffin v. Olson Glass Co., 52 Cal.Comp.Cases 335
Ruhl v. Kansas City T-Bones, 2022 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 372 (WCAB panel decision)
Rutledge v. New York Giants 2013 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 581 (WCAB panel decision) 342
Sadowski v. Cincinnati Bengals 2013 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 395
San Bernardino Community Hospital v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd. (McKernan) (1999) 74 Cal.App.4th 928 [64 Cal.Comp.Cases 986]
<u>San Francisco 49ers v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd. (Green)</u> (1996) 61 Cal. Comp. Cases 301 (writ den.)
Sanchez v. Unilever/Ins. Co. Of the State of PA/Alberto Culver Co./Ace American Ins. (2017) 45 CWCR 239
Sanford v. Baltimore Ravens/Cleveland Browns 2013 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 397 (WCAB Panel Decision)
Savard v. Pan Pacific Plumbing Mechanical 2019 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 371 (WCAB panel
decision)

<u>Security Loan & Trust Co.</u> (1899) 126 Cal 418	153
Sellner v. Cincinnati Reds 2024 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS	140
Serwanga v. New York Giants; Indianapolis Colts; Travelers Indemnity Ins. Co., 2023	
Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 365 (WCAB panel decision)	7
Simi v. Sav-Max Foods, Inc. (2005) 70 Cal.Comp.Cases 217 (Appeals Board en banc)	.138, 327
Skorupan v. New York Giants, ACE USA Insurance 2015 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 506 (Vapanel decision)	
Slavin v. Oakland Raiders; St. Louis Rams/Los Angeles Rams; Seatle Seahawks et al., 2024 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 75 (WCAB panel decision); 52 CWCR 84 (May 2024 ed.)	
Smith v. Detroit Lions, 2022 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 368 (WCAB panel decision)	178
Smith v. Detroit Lions, San Francisco 49ers et al., (Smith II), 2024 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D.	
Lexis(WCAB panel decision 11/5/24)	178
Smith v. New York Giants; Gulf Insurance 2014 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 109 (WCAB par decision)	
Smith v. St Louis Rams, et al., 2016 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 250 (WCAB panel decision)	52
Solis v. Kansas City Royals et al., 2024 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 69	148
Soward v. Jacksonville Jaguars 2014 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 140 (WCAB panel decision	•
Spillane v. Workmen's Comp. App. Bd. (1969) 269 Cal. App. 2d 346, 351 [74 Cal. Rptr. 671]	283
Stabler v. KS Adams, dba Houston Oilers; New Orleans Louisiana Saints; Travelers Indem Company 2022 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 129 (WCAB panel decision)252,	
Stallworth (Dec'd) v. Washington Capitols et.al., 2024 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 240	24, 177
<u>State Comp. Ins. Fund v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd. (Rodarte)</u> (2004) 119 Cal.App.4th 99 Cal.Comp.Cases 579]	

Steeple v. New Jersey Red Dogs; Granite State Insurance/AIG (2015) Cal. Work Con 206	-
Stinnett v. Los Angeles Dodgers 2015 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 644 (WCAB panel of the company of the comp. 91, 95, 18	·
Stratton v. San Diego Chargers 2014 Cal.Wrk.Comp.P.D. LEXIS 697	238
Stryzinski v. New York Jets, et al. 2015 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 618 (WCAB pane	
Sullivan v. Delta Air Lines, Inc. (1997) 15 Cal. 4 th 288	55
Summers v. Superior Court (1959) 53 Cal. 2d 295	55
Superior Care Facilities v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd. (1994) 27 Cal. App. 4 th 1015,	1023336
Sutton v. San Jose Sharks; Federal Insurance Company c/o Chubb Group of Insura 2018 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. Lexis 249 (WCAB Panel Decision)	
Sutton v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd. (2018) 83 Cal.Comp.Cases 1613 (board panel of	decision) 295
Swinton v. Arizona Cardinals 2013 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 182 (WCAB panel de	ecision)252
Swinton v. Arizona Cardinals, et al. (2016) 81 Cal.Comp.Cases 1078; 2016 Cal.Wrk.C. LEXIS 305 (WCAB panel decision)	•
<u>Tampa Bay Buccaneers v. WCAB (Curry)</u> (2008) 73 Cal. Comp. Cases 944 (writ denie	ed)303, 306
Tampa Bay Buccaneers v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd. (Harper) (2014) 79 Cal.Com (writ den.)	_
<u>Tampa Bay Devil Rays v. WCAB (Luke)</u> (2008) 73 Cal Comp Cases 550 (writ denied).	52
Tanksley v. City of Santa Ana 2010 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 74	138, 327
<u>Telemaco v. Philadelphia Phillies, Arizona Diamond Backs et al.</u> , 2018 Cal.Wrk.Com 541 (WCAB panel decision)	-
Telles Transport Inc. v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd., (2001) 92 Cal. App. 4th 1159 [6	
Cal.Comp.Cases 1290]	289, 290, 326

<u>Terry Allen v. Minnesota Vikings, PSI.</u> 2019 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 331 (WCAB panel decision)
294
<u>Thomas v. Washington Gas Light Co.</u> , (1980) 448 US 261 [65 L.Ed.2d 757; 100 S.Ct. 2647]
Thompson v. Seattle Supersonics, Washington State Department of Labor & Industry (2009) Cal.
Wrk. P.D. LEXIS 245 (WCAB panel decision)
<u>Tidewater Oil Co. v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd.</u> (1977) 67 Cal.App.3d 950, 957 [42
Cal.Comp.Cases 220]45
<u>Tiffany v. Los Angeles Dodgers, Tampa Bay et. al.</u> 2022 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P. D. LEXIS
(WCAB panel decision, 3/1/22)291
<u>Timmerman v. The St. Louis Rams et al.</u> 2015 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 425 (WCAB panel
decision)
<u>Tomb v. Balboa City Schools; Oak River Ins. Co., C/O Berkshire Hathaway</u> 2022 Cal.Wrk.Comp.
P.D. LEXIS(WCAB panel decision 7/8/22)6
Toronto Raptors v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd. (Foster) (2013) 78 Cal.Comp.Cases 1188 (writ den.)
Totten v. Los Angeles Dodgers, Ace American Insurance 2018 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 366 (WCAB panel decision; Writ denied 10/30/18)
<u>Travelers Indemnity Co., v. W.C.A.B. (Zeber)</u> (2023) 88 Cal.Comp.Cases 489
<u>Travelers Ins. Co. v. WCAB (Coakley)</u> (1967) 68 Cal.2d 7, 14 [32 Cal. Comp. Cases 527]
TRB Investments, Inc. v. Fireman's Fund Ins. Co. (2006) 40 Cal.4th 19, 27
<u>Trident Labs, Inc v. Merrill Lynch Commercial Finance</u> (2011) 200 Cal. App. 4 th 147
<u>Tripplett v. Indianapolis Colts</u> 2017 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 123 (WCAB panel decision)
<u>Tripplett v Workers' Comp. Appeals Board, Indianapolis Colts et al.</u> (2018) 25 Cal.App.5 th 556, 83 Cal.Comp.Cases 1175, 2018 Cal.App. LEXIS 652
5, 7, 10, 11, 12, 17, 23, 25, 32, 33, 92, 95, 188, 194

Tyler v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd. (1997) 56 Cal.App.4th 389, 394 [62 Cal.Comp.Cases
924]244, 29
<u>Urlwin v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd.</u> (1981) 126 Cal.App.3d 466 [46 Cal.Comp.Cases 1276]
<u>Valdez v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd.</u> (2013) 57 Cal.4th 1231, 1239 [78 Cal.Comp.Cases 1209]
<u>Vaughn v. Colorado Rockies; Tampa Bay Rays (Vaughn I)</u> 2023 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 76 (WCAB panel decision)
Vaughn v. Colorado Rockies; Tampa Bay Rays (Vaughn II) 2024 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 33 (WCAB panel decision) 232
<u>Vaughn v. Seattle Seahawks</u> 2014 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 732 (WCAB panel decision)
<u>Ventura v Dana Point Cleaners</u> 2019 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 114 (WCAB panel decision)
<u>Villa v. Joe Cardoza Dairy et al.</u> , 46 CWCR 245 (November 2018)
Walker v. Tampa Bay Buccaneers; ACE/Pacific Employers 2015 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 240 (WCAB panel decision)
<u>Walker v. WCAB</u> (2015) 80 Cal.Comp.Cases 1499; 2015 Cal.Wrk.Comp. LEXIS 149 (writ denied)
Walker v. WCAB (2016) 81 Cal.Comp.Cases 461; 2016 Cal.Wrk.Comp. LEXIS 53 (writ denied)4
Wallace v. Phoenix Suns 2015 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 242 (WCAB panel decision)
Ward v. City of Desert Hot Springs (2006) 71 Cal.Comp.Cases 1313 (significant panel decision), 71 Cal.Comp.Cases 1900 (writ den.)
Ware v. Arizona Cardinals Football Club 2023 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. 67 (WCAB Panel Decision)
Washington Wizards v. WCAB (Roundfield) (2006) 71 Cal. Comp. Cases 897 (writ denied)
Webster v. Montreal Expos 2017 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P. D. LEXIS 78 (WCAB panel decision)30

Weibl v. St. Louis Cardinals 2012 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 107 (WCAB Panel Decision) 252
Wenzel v. San Diego Chargers, Zenith Insurance Company 2016 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 628
(WCAB panel decision) 243
<u>Western Growers Ins. Co. v. W.C.A.B. (Austin)</u> (1993) 16 Cal. App. 4 th 227 [58 Cal. Comp. Cases 323]
323 _] 203, 200, 200
Williams v. Jacksonville Jaguars 2013 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 88 (WCAB panel decision) (Post-McKinley)
<u>Wextilicy</u>)
Williams v. Miami Dolphins, San Francisco 49ers, Fireman's Fund (2016) 81 Cal.Comp.Cases 816 (writ denied), 2016 Cal.Wrk.Comp. LEXIS 99
Williams v. San Francisco 49ers, Miami Dolphins, and Green Bay Packers 2012 Cal. Wrk. Comp.
P.D. LEXIS 323 (WCAB panel decision)
Wilson v. Florida Marlins et al., 2020 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 30 (WCAB panel decision)
<u>Wilson v. WCAB</u> (2016) 81 Cal.Comp.Cases 1054; 2016 Cal.Wrk.Comp. LEXIS 114 (writ denied)
Withrow v. St. Louis Rams 2017 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 249 (WCAB panel decision) 38, 39
<u>World-Wide Volkswagen</u> , 444 U.S., 293 Pl. 8-15
Worrell v. San Diego Padres, Ace American Insurance Company/Chubb 2020 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D.
LEXIS 1 (WCAB panel decision)
<u>Yant v. Snyder & Dickenson</u> (1982) 47 Cal. Comp. Cases 245 (WCAB en banc)
Young v. Baltimore Ravens/Cleveland Browns 2013 Cal. Wrk. Comp. P.D. LEXIS 404 (WCAB Panel Decision)
Zapata v. Arizona Diamondbacks, Los Angeles Dodgers, Los Angeles Angeles et al., 2024
Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 374(WCAB panel decision)
Zeber v. New York Yankees; Travelers Indemnity Company, (2022) 88 Cal.Comp.Cases 489; 2022 Cal.Wrk.Comp. P.D. LEXIS 11 (WCAB panel decision)
Zemke v. Workmen's Comp. Appeals Bd. (1968) 68 Cal.2d 794 [33 Cal. Comp. Cases 358]

Zenith Insurance Company v. WCAB (Yanos	(2010) 75 Cal. Wrk. Comp. Cases 1303 (writ denied)
	254
Zurich American Ins. Co., v Workers' Comp.	. Appeals Bd., 97 Cal.App. 5th 1213; 89 Cal.Comp.Cases
1; 2023 Cal.App. LEXIS 968	70, 258